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BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of Atmos Energy
Corporation's Tariff Revision Designed
to Consolidate Rates and Implement a
General Rate Increase for Natural Gas
Service in the Missouri Service Area
of the Company.

STATE OF MISSOURI )
ss

COUNTY OF COLE

	

)

AFFIDAVIT OF BARBARA A. MEISENHEIMER

Barbara A. Meisenheimer, of lawful age and being first duly sworn, deposes and states :

1 .

	

My name is Barbara A. Meisenheimer . I am Chief Utility Economist for the
Office of the Public Counsel .

2 .

	

Attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes is my direct testimony
consisting of pages 1 through 20 and Schedules 1-8 .

3 .

	

I hereby swear and affirm that my statements contained in the attached
testimony are true and correct to the best ofmy knowledge and belief.

Subscribed and sworn to me this 30th day of June 2006 .

JERENEA.BUCKMAN
My Commission Expires

August 10, 2009
Cole County

Commission #0954036

My Commission expires August 10, 2009.

Case No. GR-2006-0387

Barbara A. Meisenheimer

Jertne A. Buckman
Notary Public
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Introduction and Summarv

A. No.

DIRECT TESTIMONY

OF

BARBARA A. MEISENHEIMER

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

(RATE DESIGN)

CASE NO. GR-2006-0387

Q.

	

PLEASE STATE YOURNAME, TITLE, AND BUSINESS ADDRESS .

A.

	

Barbara A. Meisenheimer, Chief Utility Economist, Office of the Public Counsel

(OPC or Public Counsel), P . O. Box 2230, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102. I am

also employed as an adjunct Economics and Statistics Instructor for William

Woods University .

Q.

	

HAVE YOU TESTIFIED PREVIOUSLY IN THIS CASE?

Q.

	

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR TESTIMONY?

A.

	

In this testimony I will present Public Counsel's recommendations regarding rate

design and class cost of service . I will also discuss the economic basis and

development of the allocation factor for transmission and distribution mains that I

used in the class cost of service study .
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Barbara A. Meisenheimer
Case No. GR-2006-0387

Q. DID THE COMPANY PREPARE A CLASS COST OF SERVICE STUDY (CCOS) IN THIS

CASE OR DEVELOP REASONABLY COMPREHENSIVE DISTRICT SPECIFIC COST

MEASURES?

A.

	

No. The Company has requested substantial changes to both intraclass and

interclass rates with little, if any, cost support for its proposals .

	

In response to a

number of data requests that I sent to the Company requesting district and class

specific cost and cost causative information, I received numerous responses

stating that the information was "not readily available ."

Q.

	

WHAT IS THE RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF COOS STUDY RESULTS IN RATE DESIGN?

A.

	

ACCOS study provides the Commission with a general guide for a service based

on costs to determine the just and reasonable rate .

	

Other relevant factors must

also be considerated when setting rates, such as the value of a service, the

affordability of service, the rate impact, and rate continuity, to highlight a few.

The Commission must on a case by case basis balance the results of a cost of

service study with other relevant factors that go into the rate making decision

process . The company has failed to affirmatively address this vital factor or its

rate case . It failed to conduct a CCOS or show sufficient data to support its rate

proposals .

Rate Desip-n

Q. WHAT IS YOUR PRIMARY RECOMMENDATION WITH RESPECT TO RATE DESIGN IN

THIS CASE?
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A.

	

Without district specific class cost of service information it is difficult to evaluate

if the changes in the relative class revenue responsibility (either within or across

districts) are reasonable . Atmos controls properties previously owned by at least

three different gas companies . The service area previously served by Greeley Gas

has never had a Missouri rate review . The service areas previously owned by

United Cities Gas have not had the rates reviewed since about 1994. The

properties previously owned by Associated Natural Gas have not had rates review

since about 1997 . The Commission should reject the Company's proposal and

any other proposals to realign base rates among classes within a district or to

blend district rates without an adequate cost based showing that such changes are

warranted . Issues of class shifts within a district or potential district

consolidations should be addressed in a separate rate design case in which the

Company should develop and present comprehensive cost support and customer

impact analyses .

Q.

	

DO YOU PROPOSE ANYCHANGE IN THE RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER CHARGE?

A.

	

No. The lack of district specific information such as the actual cost of meters by

customer type and district specific actual service cost by customer type provide

insufficient support for altering the existing customer charge rates .
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Q. IN ABSENSE OF THIS DISTRIC SPECIFIC INFORMATION, WOULD IT BE

REASONABLE TO IMPLEMENT ANY CHANGES IN DISTRICT REVENUE

REQUIREMENTS AS AN EQUAL PERCENTAGE CHANGE TO ALL OTHER RATE

ELEMENTS?

A.

	

Yes. Because the Company provided inadequate support for its proposed rate

design so an across the board adjustment by district seems reasonable as the best

option .

Class Cost ofService Studies

Q.

A. Yes, I have prepared CCOS studies and formulated a rate designed

recommendation . Although I think that a greater level of cost detail is needed

prior to realigning class rates, I developed class cost of service studies for the

districts using the information that is currently available. With respect to rate

design, these studies should be used as a guide and must be weighed against

considerations of customer rate impact and affordability.

Q-

IF THE COMMISSION DECIDES TO IMPLEMENT CLASS COST OF SERVICE

ADJUSTMENTS IN THIS CASE, DO YOU HAVE CLASS COST OF SERVICE STUDIES

AND A RATE DESIGN RECOMMENDATION FOR THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER?

WHAT CONCLUSIONS ARE SUGGESTED BY PUBLIC COUNSEL'S COST OF SERVICE

STUDY?

A.

	

Based on the results of my class cost of service studies, (BAM DIRECT Schedule

1 through BAM DIRECT Schedule 7), the following conclusions can be drawn,
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Q.

the Residential class ranges from about 2.79% above cost of service in the United

Cities district to about 17% below cost of service in the Greeley district .

The Small General Service class ranges from about 4 'h % above cost of service

in the Kirksville district to about 35% above cost of service in the Greeley

district .

Large customers, including the Large General Service and Large Volume classes,

range from about 50% below cost of service in the Palmyra district to 40% above

cost of service in the Greeley district .

Special Contract customers in the SEMO and United Cities districts appear to be

paying substantially below cost of service.

The percent above or below cost of service is shown for each class, by district on

Line 27 in schedules BAM DIRECT Schedule 1 through BAM DIRECT Schedule

7.

WHAT RATE DESIGN WOULD YOU PROPOSE BASED ON YOU CCOS STUDY

RESULTS?

A.

	

Where the existing revenue structure departures greatly from the class cost of

service, the Commission should impose, at a maximum, class revenue shifts equal

to one half of the "revenue neutral shifts" indicated by Public Counsel's class cost

of service study.

	

Revenue neutral shifts are shifts that hold overall company

revenue at the existing level but allow for the share attributed to each class to be

adjusted to reflect the cost responsibility of the class . In addition to moving half

way to the revenue neutral shifts, I recommend that if the Commission determines
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Q.

	

IF THE COMMISSION DETERMINES IT REASONABLE IN THIS CASE, CAN YOUR

RATE DESIGN METHODOLOGY BE APPLIED TO DIFFERENT REVENUE

REQUIREMENTS?

A.

Q.

	

WHAT IS THE REGULATORY PURPOSE OFA CLASS COST OF SERVICE STUDY?

A.

that an overall increase in revenue requirement is necessary, then no customer

class should receive a net decrease as the combined result of: (1) the revenue

neutral shift that is applied to that class, and (2) the share of the total revenue

increase that is applied to that class . Likewise, ifthe Commission determines that

an overall decrease in revenue requirement is necessary, then no customer class

should receive a net increase as the combined result of: (1) the revenue neutral

shift that is applied to that class, and (2) the share of the total revenue decrease

that is applied to that class .

Yes, it can . This method could be utilized to calculate class revenue requirements

for any practical level of overall revenue requirement .

Class Cost ofService Studies

A Class COS Study is a tool used by regulators to aid in determining an

appropriate rate structure . A class cost of service study can be used as a guide in

identifying, on a cost causative basis, the cost of serving a particular group of

customers . A Class COS Study can also be used to evaluate the relative cost of

service among classes . This comparison of relative cost is the focus of Public

Counsel's study and is reflected in the study assumption that the company's

revenue requirement is equal to the level of current revenue.
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Q. WHAT ARE THE REPRESENTATIVE CLASSES INCLUDED IN PUBLIC COUNSEL'S

CLASS COSSTUDY?

A. In performing a Class COS Study, customers are grouped into "classes" based on

type of customer and utilization patterns . Public Counsel's Class COS Study

identifies five distinct classes of customers : Residential, Small General Services,

Large General Services, Large Volume and Special Contract. These are the same

classes identified by Staff in its Class COS Study with the exception of the

Special Contract class .

Q. WHAT DISTRICTS ARE USED IN YOUR STUDIES?

A. I prepared a class cost of service study for the Butler, Greeley, Kirksville,

Neelyville, Southeast MO (SEMO), Palmyra, and United Cities Districts .

Q. PLEASE DESCRIBE THE ASSIGNMENT OF COST TOTHE CUSTOMER CLASSES.

A. The assignment of costs to customer classes is a three-step process in which costs

are first functionalized, then classified, and finally allocated. Public Counsel's

Class COS Study primarily reflects the booked cost incurred through the test year.

Q. PLEASE DESCRIBE THE FUNCTIONALIZATION OF COSTS.

A. Functionalization is achieved by categorizing cost accounts by associated

function . Functional categories include ; Production, Storage, Transmission,

Distribution, Customer Accounts and Administrative and General (A&G) . Some
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Q.

functional categories contain accounts that are identifiable as being directly or

jointly caused by particular customer classes . Other functional categories contain

costs associated with common facilities or common overheads .

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE CLASSIFICATION OF COSTS.

A.

	

Classification is achieved by further categorizing costs into customer related,

commodity related, demand related or "other related" costs .

Q.

	

PLEASE DESCRIBE CUSTOMER RELATED COSTS.

A.

	

Customer related costs vary directly with the number of customers served .

Examples of customer related costs include : expenses associated with metering,

reading, billing, and the costs associated with metering equipment and service

connections

Q .

Q.

PLEASE DESCRIBE COMMODITY RELATED COSTS.

A.

	

Commodity related costs vary with the quantity of gas purchased . Historically,

commodity related costs primarily have included purchased gas cost . Today local

distribution companies recover purchased gas cost through the PGA but other

plant accounts may still be categorized as commodity related .

PLEASE DESCRIBE DEMAND RELATED COSTS.

A.

	

Demand related costs vary with the capacity requirement of plant or equipment .

They are related to the maximum system requirements that reflect the capacity

necessary to serve demand during peak periods . Demand related costs include :
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Q.

production, transmission and storage costs and expenses associated with these

types of plant.

	

In addition, some distribution plant and related expenses are

demand related costs .

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE ALLOCATION PROCESS .

A.

	

Following functionalization and classification, allocation factors are applied to

distribute a reasonable share of jurisdictional costs to each customer class . Some

allocation factors are based on a simple ratio of a particular class' share of total

costs . Other allocation factors are based on usage, sales, or weighted share of

customers . Allocation factors are designed to reflect the appropriate classification

in allocating costs .

Q .

	

ARE PURCHASED GAS COSTS TREATED DIFFERENTLY THANOTHER COSTS?

A.

	

Yes. The Company's base tariffrates recover only its non-gas or margin costs. A

purchased gas adjustment cost factor is used to recover gas costs . The cost of

service study will develop the non-gas or margin costs incurred by the LDC in

delivering gas from the city-gate to its customers .

Q.

	

ON WHAT DATA IS YOUR CLASS COS STUDY BASED?

A.

	

The Missouri Public Service Commission Staff (Staff) Accounting Schedules that

were filed with the Staff s non-rate design testimony were the source of most of

the financial data that I utilized in preparing my studies .

	

Most of the billing

determinant information that I utilized was also provided by the Commission

Staff. This data is from the year ending Sept, 30, 2005 . 1 have also utilized data
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Q.

received from Atmos in response to Public Counsel's Data Requests . My use of

this information should not be viewed as an endorsement of either Staff's or the

Company's methods for calculating accounting costs, billing determinants or peak

demands. I have used this information because it contained the best level of detail

available to perform my studies .

IS THERE IS POSSIBILITY THAT SOME INFORMATION USED IN YOUR STUDY WILL

BE UPDATED AND REVISED AS THIS CASE PROGRESSES?

A.

	

Yes. I will update my studies to reflect any significant changes .

Q.

	

HOW ARE INTANGIBLE PLANT ACCOUNTS ALLOCATED?

A.

	

Intangible plant accounts include expenses related to organizing the enterprise,

obtaining franchise and consent and other miscellaneous items . These costs are

not attributable to a particular subset of customer classes, instead they are

considered to be common costs and are allocated on the basis of the portion of

total non-general plant cost assigned to each customer class .

Q.

A.

	

Gas storage costs are allocated on the basis of weather normalized sales volumes.

Q.

HOWARE GAS STORAGE COSTS ALLOCATED?

HOWARE TRANSMISSION PLANT ACCOUNTS ALLOCATED?

A.

	

Transmission plant is allocated on the basis of the modified RSUM allocation

factor discussed in this testimony.
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Q. HOWARE DISTRIBUTION PLANT ACCOUNTS ALLOCATED?

A. Land and Land Rights, Structures and Improvements, and Mains Plant (Accounts

374, 375, and 376) are allocated on the basis of a distribution mains allocator.

Measuring and Regulating Station Equipment (Accounts 378 and 379) are

classified as commodity related and allocated on the basis of annual margin sales .

Accounts 380 through 386 are customer related . The following summary

identifies the allocation factor for each account .

Table 1 .

Account Description Allocator

380 Services Services Allocator

381 Meters Meter Allocator

382 Meter Installations Meter Allocator

383 House Regulators Regulator Allocator

384 House Regulators Installation Regulator Allocator

385 Mess. and Reg . Station Equip . - Industrial Commercial and Industrial Customers

Q. HOW ARE GENERAL PLANT ACCOUNTS ALLOCATED?

A. General plant accounts are allocated on the basis of the overall class cost of

service.
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Q.

	

PLEASE DESCRIBE HOW OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSES ARE

Q.

ALLOCATED?

A.

	

For allocating most of the accounts in this category, I used the "expenses follow

plant principle" .

HOW ARE CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, CUSTOMER SERVICE, AND SALES PROMOTION

EXPENSES ALLOCATED?

A.

	

Customer service expenses are customer related and are allocated on the basis of

number of customer bills . Sales promotion expenses are allocated on the basis of

the overall class cost of service and the following summary outlines the allocation

of customer accounts expenses .

Table 2.

Account Description Allocator

901 Supervision Meter Weighted Customers Allocator

902 Meter Reading Expenses Meter Reading Weighted Customers

903 Customer Records and Collections Meter Weighted Customers Allocator

904 Uncollectible Accounts Class Cost of Service

905 Misc . Customer Accounts Meter Weighted Customer Allocator
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Q. HOW ARE ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL (A & G) EXPENSES ALLOCATED?

A.

	

Property insurance (Account 924) is allocated on the basis of gross non-general

plant . Injuries and damages and employee pensions and benefits (Accounts 925

and 926) are allocated on the basis ofpayroll . The remainder ofA & G expenses

are allocated on the basis of the overall class cost of service .

Q.

	

HOWARETAXES ALLOCATED?

A.

	

Property taxes are allocated on the basis of the total plant previously allocated to

each class . Franchise taxes are allocated on the basis of rate base . Payroll taxes

are allocated as a function of payroll expense .

	

Income taxes are allocated

according to the rate base attributable to each class .

Mains Cost Economies ofScale Factor

Q.

	

WHAT ARE THE CHARACTERISTICS OF MAINS COST?

A.

	

Mains are "shared" in the sense that they are facilities generally available and

used to provide service to multiple customers and customer classes . Therefore,

from an economic perspective, they should be treated as a shared cost recovered

from all customers and classes that benefit from the facilities availability . Local

distribution companies (LDCs) are generally believed to be natural monopolies .

For natural monopolies, operation of fewer producers tends to result in the most

cost effective market structure for providing service . One such cost reducing

characteristic typical to natural monopolies such as LDCs is called "economies of
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scope" .

	

The term "economies of scope" refers to the ability to achieve cost

savings by utilizing the same equipment, facilities and/or expertise to provide

multiple products at lower cost than if the products were produced on a stand-

alone basis. In this case, the Company's investment in transmission and

distribution mains provides the Company with the means to deliver natural gas to

the locations of all customer classes in response to its customers' year-round

demands for natural gas or have it available as a back-up fuel sources .

Another such cost reducing characteristic typical to natural monopolies such as

LDCs is the presence of "economies of scale." The term "economies of scale"

describes the phenomenon where larger scale production can achieve cost

savings . In this case, the average cost of producing goods or services declines as

the output level increases . According to various flow formulas, with other factors

held constant, a 4" pipe has a flow capacity of about 6 times of that of a 2" pipe

while, the per foot cost to install the 4" pipe may be less than 2 times the cost to

install the 2" pipe . This means that the cost of the incremental capacity needed to

serve during higher demand periods (peak periods) is less expensive than the

average cost of capacity . Taking advantage of economies of scale benefits the

utility by increasing use of facilities and in turn increasing revenues . It benefits

those who do not use the system as much in peak periods because any revenue

generated above incremental cost helps offset costs that would otherwise have to

be recovered during normal use periods . It can also benefit the peak period user if

some of the cost savings are reflected as per unit rate reductions . The cost study

OPC has prepared and submitted includes an adjustment to allocating mains cost
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to reflect the economies of scale inherent in providing service during peak

Q.

periods.

Since all customers benefit from the existence of the system, all customers should

contribute to the recovery of the cost of the system . Economic theory suggests

that if each customer or class of customers is responsible for at least the

incremental cost that this customer brings to the system, and that if no customer

or class of customers is responsible for more than the stand alone cost that would

be needed to serve this customer individually, then there is no cross-subsidy and

the allocation of cost can be acceptable . However, both the incremental cost and

the stand-alone cost of each customer class are hard to measure or determine. To

accurately pinpoint the cost responsibility of each specific customer class is

inherently impossible.

HOW SHOULD ECONOMIES OF SCOPE RELATED TO THE COST OF MAINS BE

REFLECTED IN THE ALLOCATION OF MAINS?

A.

	

When economies of scope are present, the total cost of the transmission and

distribution system for delivering gas to the residential, commercial and industrial

classes would be less than the sum of the stand-alone costs of the separate

distribution systems for delivering gas to each of the customer classes . Generally,

when allocating the shared cost ofjoint production, the general principle is that no

cross subsidization should be present . The term cross subsidization, in this

context, describes a situation where the revenue earned on part of the total output

of the industry is more than the stand-alone production cost of that part .

	

This

general principle attempts to ensure that no group of customers should pay more

than they would have paid if they were to provide their own products and services

- is -
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using the best available production technique. Similarly, for utilities that are

"one-way" in nature, the revenue requirement for any customer class should be at

least as large as the incremental cost to provide services to this class because

otherwise somebody else will be forced to pay for more than its stand-alone cost.

The implication of this characteristic is that a just and reasonable cost allocation

to a customer class ranges from the incremental cost to the stand-alone cost of

providing services to that class . A judgment call is required to determine which

point along this range is the most appropriate cost allocation . In fact, different

viewpoints about whether the stand alone cost, the incremental cost, or a cost that

is somewhere in the middle should be allocated to a product or a customer is one

of the main reasons why different parties have different cost of service study

results and different rate designs to recover the costs . However, absent other

policy considerations, a just and reasonable solution should ask each customer

class to pay for more than their respective incremental cost . The total cost will

not be covered if each class only pays for its incremental cost .

Q.

	

HOW SHOULD ECONOMIES OF SCALE RELATED TO THE COST OF MAINS BE

REFLECTED IN THE ALLOCATION OF MAINS?

A:

	

When economics of scale are present, there is not a one-to-one relationship

between the incremental cost burden that the system peak load imposes upon the

transmission and distribution system and that imposed by the average load .

Therefore, we should not allocate cost corresponding to demand as if there is a

direct one to one relationship between costs and the level of demand . Instead, we

need to develop an allocation ofmains costs that reflects an appropriate non-linear

relationship .

	

For example, if the peak demand is twice the average demand,
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simply allocating half of the total cost of mains to customers who use natural gas

at the peak period and half to customers who use at the base period does not

reasonably apportion the per unit savings associated with production levels that

achieve economies of scale . A better method would be to estimate the cost that

are incurred to satisfy the increment of peak demand over average demand and

allocate that portion of cost to those customers who use natural gas in the peak

period . In this manner they receive an offsetting cost benefit associated with

driving the system to higher use where economies of scale are achieved.

Q.

	

PLEASE DISCUSS THE ORIGIN AND OF OPC'S NON-LINEAR ECONOMIES OF SCALE

FACTOR USED IN THE ALLOCATION OF MAINS?

A.

	

Barry Hall, an engineer that worked for our office during the 1990s, initially

developed the basis for OPC's non-linear allocator . Using Company data, and

mathematical and engineering relationships, he identified a nonlinear relationship

between capacities and cost which he attributed to economies of scale .

Q.

	

HAVE YOU UPDATED OPC'S NON-LINEAR ECONOMIES OF SCALE FACTOR FOR USE

IN THIS CASE?

A.

	

Yes, I have . For this case, I have performed a study to update OPC's economies

of scale factor using information provided by the Staff and Company . The result

of my study is an economies of scale factor of .24, which I used in OPC's cost of

service study. Appendix 1 contains a description of the methods used to estimate

this factor . Plots of the data points illustrating the declining cost per capacity unit

and the functional form of the cost equation related to Appendix 1 are provided in

BAM DIRECT Schedule 8 .
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Appendix 1

Q.

	

Please describe the mathematical and engineering relationships relied upon to

develop the economies of scale factor .

A.

	

Based on page 6 of the direct testimony of Barry Hall in Case No. GR-97-393, the

flow capacity (Q) of a pipe is related to the diameter (d) according to the

equation ;

(1)

	

Q=28.05[(p,2-p0)d5.33/sL] .5

where L is the pipe length, pi and po are the inlet and outlet pressures respectively

and s is the gravity of the gas . Assuming the inlet and outlet pressures, and the

length and gravity of the gas are constants the flow capacity in (1) can be

expressed as;

(2)

	

Q=a d2.665

where a is a constant .

Based on review of data plots of the general relationship between capacity and

cost, I relied on an equation of the following form to fit a curve to express cost as

a function of capacity ;

(3)

	

C(Q,) = R* Q.' ;

(3 is a constant.

From (2) we know Qoa d2.665 .

	

Since a is a constant, it is the exponent r that

causes differences in the relative costs at different diameters and in turn causes

different capacity levels . Therefore, the exponent r embodies the "economies of
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scale" effect that causes cost to increase at a decreasing rate . In order to

determine r it is acceptable to use the simplifying assumption d2'665 =Q.1 This

yields the equation ;

(4) C(Q) = bQr

where Q= d2.665 .

In order to estimate r, since equation (4) is non-linear, I applied the natural log

(Ln), which allows for estimation of r based on a linear regression;

(5)

	

LnC(Q) = Ln{bQ'} or Ln C(Q) = Ln b +r Ln Q.

This is a linear equation of the form ;

(6)

	

y= a +mx

where a is a constant and m=r.

I performed two regressions utilizing data on steel and PE mains. I n averaged the

two r values to obtain r=.24 which is the factor I used in my class cost of service

study .

1 C(d) = as r *(d2
.665 r -

	

,~

	

r
)

	

-b,

	

( d2.665)

	

. A constant b exists such that C(d) =C(Q) when Q= d2'665
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Q.

	

DOES TIIIS CONCLUDE YOUR DIRECT TESTIMONY?

A. Yes.
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PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .
BUTLER DISTRICT

HAM DIRECT SCHEDULE 1

Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

1 0 & M Expenses 567,416 388,269 121,662 57,485

2 Depreciation Expense 101,368 71,911 22,346 7,111

3 Taxes 184,091 117,582 42,413 24,096

4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $852,875 $577,762 $186,421 $88,691

5
6 TOTAL RATE BASE $3,728,560 $2,326,841 $889,485 $512,234

7
8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 8 .33% 6 .38°s 13 .93% 7 .48 °s

9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
11 EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 310,566 $193,811 $74,089 $42,666

12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 1,163,441 771,574 260,510 131,357

14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 6,427 4,011 1,714 702

15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $1,157,014 $767,563 $258,795 $130,656

16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0

19 Non-gas margin 1,157,014 722,109 308,618 126,287

20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $1,157,014 $722,109 $308,618 $126,287

21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming constant revenues) $0 $45,454 ($49,823) $4,369

25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% 6 .29°x -16 .14% 3 .46%

28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 62 .41% 26 .67% 10 .91%

30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 66 .34% 22 .37% 11 .29%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER'S DIRECT
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .
GREELY DISTRICT

Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

1 0 & M Expenses 75,173 60,259 14,914
2 Depreciation Expense 26,131 20,318 5,813
3 Taxes 27,985 21,710 6,274
4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $129,289 $102,288 $27,002
5
6 TOTAL RATE BASE $667,034 $522,724 $144,310
7
8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 8 .93°s 4 .78% 23 .98%
9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
11 EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 59,598 $46,704 $12,694
12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 188,887 148,992 39,895
14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 1,352 911 441
15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $187,535 $148,081 $39,454
16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0
19 Non-gas margin 187,535 126,374 61,161
20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $187,535 $126,374 $61,161
21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming Constant revenues) $0 $21,707 ($21,707)
25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% 17 .18% -35 .49%
28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 67 .39% 32 .61%
30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 78 .96% 21 .04%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER'S DIRECT
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .
KIRKSVILLE DISTRICT

HAM DIRECT SCHEDULE 3

Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

1 0 & M Expenses 623,194 392,135 139,671 29,797 61,591
2 Depreciation Expense 131,828 88,136 30,320 4,607 8,766
3 Taxes 235,787 131,705 56,818 15,045 32,219
4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $990,809 $611,976 $226,809 $49,448 $102,575
5
6 TOTAL RATE BASE $5,079,532 $2,661,471 $1,274,929 $362,656 $780,476
7
8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 7 .678 4 .58% 8 .90$ 16 .08% 12 .32%
9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
il EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 389,766 $204,222 $97,829 $27,828 $59,888
12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 1,380,575 816,198 324,638 77,276 162,463
14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 9,497 5,048 2,341 741 1,367
15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $1,371,078 $811,150 $322,297 $76, 535 $161,096
16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0 0
19 Non-gas margin 1,371,078 728,728 337,966 107,026 197,359
20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $1,371,078 $728,728 $337,966 $107,026 $197,359
21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming constant revenues) $0 $82,422 ($15,669) ($30,491) ($36,262)
25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00$ 11 .311 -4 .64 -28 .491 -18 .37%
28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100.00% 53 .155k 24 .65% 7 .81% 14 .39%
30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100.00% 59 .16% 23 .518 5 .58% 11 .75%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER'S DIRECT
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .
NEELYVILLE DISTRICT

BAN DIRECT SCHEDULE 4

Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

1 0 & M Expenses 77,873 56,854 21,019
2 Depreciation Expense 36,685 26,509 10,176
3 Taxes 2,857 1,938 919
4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $117,414 $85,301 $32,113
5
6 TOTAL RATE BASE $619,221 $426,325 $192,896
7
8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 1 .75$ 0 .76& 3 .94%
9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
11 EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 10,824 $7,452 $3,372
12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 128,238 92,753 35,485
14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 0 0 0
15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $128,238 $92,753 $35,485
16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0

19 Non-gas margin 128,238 88,528 39,710
20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $128,238 $88,528 $39,710

21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming constant revenues) $0 $4,225 ($4,225)

25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% 4 .77& -10 .60

28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00$ 69 .03% 30 .97%

30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00 72 .33& 27 .67%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER'S DIRECT
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .
PALMYRA DISTRICT

HAM DIRECT SCHEDULE 5

Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

1 0 & M Expenses 222,414 152,597 47,151 22,666

2 Depreciation Expense 92,899 61,294 20,735 10,871

3 Taxes (10,873) (9,549) (1,670) 346

4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $304,440 $204,342 $66,216 $33,883

5
6 TOTAL RATE BASE $1,438,435 $1,045,427 $290,769 $102,240

7
8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 5.22% 4 .40% 12 .08% -5 .88%

9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
11 EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 75,142 $54,611 $15,189 $5,341

12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 379,582 258,954 81,405 39,224

14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 63,877 42,135 17,053 4,690

15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $315,705 $216,819 $64,352 $34,534

16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0
19 Non-gas margin 315,705 208,246 84,282 23,178

20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $315,705 $208,246 $84,282 $23,178

21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming constant revenues) $0 $8,573 ($19,929) $11,356

25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% 4 .12% -23 .65% 49 .00%

28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 65 .96% 26 .70% 7 .34%

30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 68 .68% 20 .38°% 10 .94%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER'S DIRECT
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .

SEMO DISTRICT

Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

SPECIAL
CONTRACT

1 0 & M Expenses 3,893,051 2,525,492 655,655 65,970 303,272 342,662
2 Depreciation Expense 1,882,151 1,154,690 335,972 35,509 166,850 189,130
3 Taxes 1,674,433 979,833 291,613 34,238 172,123 196,625
4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $7,449,635 $4,660,015 $1,283,239 $135,717 $642,296 $728,417
5
6 TOTAL RATE BASE $25,759,184 $14,393,849 $4,620,841 $572,347 $2,880,842 ##########
7
8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 6 .49$ 3 .59$ 14 .878 19 .864 13 .268' -0 .86$
9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
11 EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 1,670,618 $933,517 $299,686 $37,120 $186,838 $213,458
12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 9,120,253 5,593,532 1,582,925 172,837 829,083 941,676
14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 63,877 36,253 13,800 1,747 7,174 4,903
15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $9,056,376 $5,557,279 $1,569,126 $171,090 $821,909 $936,973
16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0 0 0
19 Non-gas margin 9,056,376 5,139,948 1,956,489 247,643 1,017,176 695,120
20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $9,056,376 $5,139,948 $1,956,489 $247,643 $1,017,176 $695,120
21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming constant revenues) $0 $417,331 ($387,363) ($76,553) ($195,267) $241,853
25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00$ 8 .128 -19 .804 -30 .91% -19 .20% 34 .798'
28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .0096 56 .768 21 .604 2 .734 11 .23& 7 .68%
30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 61 .36& 17 .334' 1 .89'% 9 .088' 10 .35$

RAM DIRECT SCHEDULE 6
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BARB MEISENHEIMER'S DIRECT
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY CORP .

UNITED CITIES DISTRICT

SMALL LARGE LARGE SPECIAL
Line TOTAL RESIDENTIAL GS GS VOLUME CONTRACT
1 0 & M Expenses 1,917,175 1,278,397 390,878 68,112 46,797 132,992
2 Depreciation Expense 1,606,712 1,032,384 342,185 63,101 43,798 125,244
3 Taxes 757,504 476,658 163,455 31,547 22,150 63,694
4 TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $4,281,391 $2,787,439 $896,518 $162,760 $112,745 $321,929

TOTAL RATE EASE $17,143,785 $10,647,372 $3,757,837 $737,009 $516,617 $1,484,949

8 IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 4 .89% 5 .77% 11 .39% -3 .13% -8 .85& -9 .11%
9
10 OPERATING INCOME WITH
11 EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 838,436 $520,722 $183,781 $36,044 $25,266 $72,623
12
13 TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 5,119,827 3,308,161 1,080,299 198,804 138,011 394,552
14 LESS OTHER REVENUE 62,464 41,504 16,161 1,705 818 2,276
15 REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $5,057,363 $3,266,657 $1,064,138 $197,099 $137,193 $392,276
16
17 CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
18 Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0 0 0
19 Non-gaS margin 5,057,363 3,360,356 1,308,482 138,022 66,203 184,300
20 TOTAL RATE REVENUE $5,057,363 $3,360,356 $1,308,482 $138,022 $66,203 $184,300
21
22 REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
23 CLASS RATES OF RETURN
24 (assuming constant revenues) $0 ($93,699) ($244,344) $59,077 $70,990 $207,976
25
26 PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
27 TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% -2 .79% -18 .673 42 .80% 107 .23% 112 .85%
28
29 CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 66 .44% 25 .87% 2 .73% 1 .31% 3 .643
30
31 COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 64 .593 21 .043 3 .903 2 .71% 7 .76%

RAM DIRECT SCHEDULE 7
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BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of Atmos Energy
Corporations Tariff Revision Designed
to Consolidate Rates and Implement a
General Rate Increase for Natural Gas
Service in the Missouri Service Area
of the Company.

STATE OF MISSOURI )
ss

COUNTY OF COLE

	

)

Case No. GR-2006-0387

AFFIDAVIT OF BARBARA A. MEISENHEIMER

Barbara A. Meisenheimer, of lawful age and being first duly swom, deposes and states :

1 .

	

My name is Barbara A. Meisenheimer . I am Chief Utility Economist for the
Office of the Public Counsel .

2 .

	

Attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes is my surrebuttal
testimony consisting of pages 1 through 13 and Schedules 1-7.

3 .

	

I hereby swear and affirm that my statements contained in the attached
testimony are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

~rr

Barbara A. Meisenheimer

Subscribed and sworn to me this 13th day of November 2006 .

a.IHLEEN HARRISON
rotary Public - Notary Seal
of Missouri - County of Cole

~' :ommission Expires Jan . 31, 2010
Commission #06399239

My Commission expires January 31, 2010 .
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SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY

OF

BARBARAA. MEISENHEIMER

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

(RATE DESIGN)

CASE NO. GR-2006-0387

Q.

	

PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME,TITLE, AND BUSINESS ADDRESS.

A.

	

Barbara A. Meisenheimer, Chief Utility Economist, Office of the Public Counsel (OPC

or Public Counsel), P. O . Box 2230, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102. I am also employed

as an adjunct Economics and Statistics Instructor for William Woods University.

Q.

	

HAVEYOUTESTIFIED PREVIOUSLY IN THIS CASE?

A.

	

Yes. I filed direct testimony and rebuttal testimony on the issues of class cost of

service and rate design.

Q.

	

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR TESTIMONY?

A.

	

In this testimony I will respond to the rebuttal testimony of Staff witnesses Steve

Rackers, Anne Ross andTom Imhoff and Company witness Gary Smith.

Q.

	

WHAT IS THE STAFF'S POSITION ON THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT?

A.

	

The Staff updated its calculation of revenue requirement in rebuttal testimony.

	

Staff

witness Rackets explains in his rebuttal testimony (p . 1-2) that, the Staff continues to

believe the Company is recovering an excess of approximately $1 .2 million in earnings

on a total company basis.
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Surrebuttal Testimony of
Barbara A. Meisenheimer
Case No . GR-2008-0387

COMMENT ON THE STAFF'S POSITION THAT A ZERO REVENUE

MENT INCREASE WILL RESULT IN JUST AND REASONABLE RATES AND

ESPITE ITS I1DENTIFICATION OF $1.2 MILLION IN EXCESS REVENUE, THE

TATES THAT IT DOES NOT INTEND TO FILE AN OVERCHARGE CASE.

Counsel is very concerned about the Staff's position which appears to

e 1.2 million dollars despite maintaining its belief that the Company is

rning by this amount. The Staffs position is even more troubling given

ffs rate design proposal in which the Staff proposes to eliminate virtually

ther related risk but proposes no offsetting reduction in the rate of retum.

Counsel encourages the Commission to reject the Staff s rate design and to

rates by the amount of any overings it finds in this case.

COMMENT ON THE PROPOSAL BY STAFF WITNESS IMHOFF THAT NO

BETWEEN RATE CLASSES OCCUR AT A ZERO REVENUE REQUIREMENT

ASE.

e 3 of his rebuttal testimony, Mr. Imhoff states :

Yes. Over half of the difference between Staffs CCOS
and OPC witness Meisenheimer's CCOS is related to the
mains allocator . However, since the rebuttal testimony of
Staff witness Steve Rackers indicates that a zero increase
in revenue requirement is appropriate, I recommend that
there be no shifts between classes in this case as proposed
by Atmos.

Does Staff have any comments regarding the direct
testimony ofOPC witness Barbara Meisenheimer?

Are there other reasons for no shifts between the rate
classes?

Q. PLEASE

2 REQUR

3 THAT

4 STAFF

5 A. Public

6

7 concedover-eathe

8 St

9 all we

10 Public

II reduce

12 Q. PLEASE

13 SHIFTS

14 INCR

15 A. On
16

pagQ
.

17

18 A.
19
20
21
22
23
24

25 Q.
26
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Surrebuttal Testimony of
Barbara A. Meisenheimer
Case No. GR-2006-0387

A.

	

Yes. The proposed consolidation of districts and rate
design changes would have rate impacts within the classes
even without shifts in class revenue responsibilities . The
additional rate shifts between the classes would result in
further impacts, and therefore, a zero increase in revenue
requirement would support no class revenue shifts .

From Mr. Imhofrs testimony it appears that Staffrecommends consolidation, but

proposes that the recovery from each consolidated rate class be limited to the sum

of the current recovery from the district rate classes.

As stated in my rebuttal testimony, Public Counsel strongly opposes consolidation

and even more strongly opposes the Staff's proposed delivery charge . To isolate

the consolidation let's set aside the issues of the delivery charge recovery

mechanism for a moment. Public Counsel could agree with Mr. Imhoffs

proposal if the Commission allows the Company to consolidate and approves a

zero total Company revenue requirement increase .

	

If the Commission adopts

Public Counsel's recommendation to reject consolidation at this time, the

retention of the current class proportions of revenue would still be appropriate . In

direct testimony, I raised concerns regarding the lack of comprehensive data on

which to base consolidation or district specific class shifts .

	

Staff witness Dan

Beck raises more concerns regarding allocation methods that impact district class

revenues . By maintaining the current class revenue proportions, the Commission

need not address class shifts in this proceeding and can wait until sufficient data is

available to reasonably support anyproposed class shifts .
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Q. HAVE YOU ANALYZED THE RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER IMPACTS OF

CONSOLIDATION ASSUMING A ZERO REVENUEINCREASE?

A.

	

Yes. Using the Staff reported customer count and Company reported customer

charges and volumetric rates, I calculated the difference in the average bill under

current rates versus the average bill assuming consolidation . Under consolidation,

the average bill ranges from 29% less to 67% more depending on the district.

There is no reason to substantially impact customers simply to reduce some

perceived, company administrative burden .

Q.

	

THE COMPANY POINTS OUT THAT YOUR MAINS ALLOCATION METHOD WAS

PREVIOUSLY REJECTED BY THIS COMMISSION. WAS IT YOUR INTENTION TO

RAISETHE SAME ISSUES RELATED TO THE MAINS ALLOCATOR?

A.

	

No. Although I continue to believe that theRSUM method is reasonable, I do not

intend to rehash an issue that Commission rejected in the last Laclede case, so

although Mr. Imhoffs proposal for a zero revenue increase retains current class

revenue proportions would make the need for class cost of service studies moot.

I revised my class cost of service studies to utilize the Staffs method for

allocating mains. The results of my revised studies are illustrated in Schedules

BAM SUR 1-7.

The mains allocators used in my studies and those used by Staff are

differences in the Residential and SGS peaks and an adjustment to the number of

days used to compute the large customer peaks. In direct testimony, I used Staff's
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Residential and SGS peaks on its original regression analysis .

	

The Staff later

used a different method for calculating Residential and SGS peaks.

	

Staffs

change in method has little effect on the mains allocator.

The second difference between OPC and Staff relates to the number of

days used to calculate the large customer peaks. The Staffusually uses 20 instead

of 30 days to calculate the peaks, but, according to Staff witness Dan Beck's

testimony; this change in the number of days was not intentional.

	

I used more

conservative 23 days rather than the Staffs traditional 20 days, this makes my

allocators less favorable to Residential and SGS if the Staff had used 20 days .

See Table 1 for a summary of the differences in the mains between Staff s

unadjusted mains allocators and those that would result if the Staffs allocators

were adjusted for 23 instead of 30 days . Table 1 also illustrates differences

between the Staffs consolidated districts and the existing districts and the

differences in use of Special Contracts as a unique class .
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Barbara A . Meisenheimer
Case No . GR-2006-0387

Q.

	

DID YOU MAKE ANYOTHERCHANGESTO YOUR STUDIES?

A.

	

Yes. I corrected a cell error that affected Other Revenues for UCG and also

adjusted the SGS revenues for Greeley based on additional discussions with Staff.

Q.

Tabb 1 .

IN STAFF WITNESS ROSS'S REBUTTAL TESTIMONY (P . 2) SHE STATES THAT IT IS

REASONABLE TO CONCLUDE THAT THE COST TO SERVE SIMILARLY SITUATED

CUSTOMERS IN CONTIGUOUS DISTRICTS IS APPROXIMATELY THE SAME.

	

DO

YOU AGREE WITH THIS CONCLUSION?

A.

	

No. Ms. Ross stated that while costs support may be informative it is unnecessary

because the costs are substantially the same.

	

I believe that if the Staff had

prepared cost studies for each of the districts instead of consolidating them into

SmffW estCental RES SGS LGS LVS Contact

Unadjysted 6424$ 24 .45$ 1131$ 0 .00W NA

Adjysted fDr# days 62 .08% 23 63$ 1429% 0 )DOW NA

Adjyetedfor#days wSpCOntact 62 .08$ 2363$ 1429$ OAO$ OAO$

"PCButbrAdjyshdwSpContact 60 .76$ 23 A8$ 15.76% 0 .00$ O A0%

"PCG~YyAdjmtedwSpCmtact 7491% 25 .091, 0DO$ 0.009 0 .00$

Smffs~dyeast RES SGS WS LVS Contact

Unad3mted 49 .78$ 2226% 220% 25 .70 NA

AdjysmdfDr#days 4521$ 20 .09% 265% 31 .05$ NA
Adjtsledfor#days wSpCOnact 4561$ 20 .00$ 3 .06% 14 D9$ 16851,

OPC SEMO Adjystedw SpCmtact 4557% 2060% 265$ 1421% 1697$

0PCNeelyvZpAdystedwSpCmtact 9469% 531% 0 .001, 0A0$ 0 .001,

SmffNotheast RES SGS IGS LVS Contract

Unadjis~ 5368$ 3062$ 438% 1132$ NA

Ad3~tedfor#days 5123% 2922% 5 .068 14 A9$ NA

Adjystedfor#dayswSpCmtact 5123% 2922% S A6% 9,53% 557%

0PCKnksv3l-AdjystdwSpConta~ 4580% 30 .48$ 764$ 16 .08% 0 .00%

CPC PahtymRdj~wSpCmtmct 5081% 30 A3$ 0 .00% 18 .76$ 0 .00%
OPC UCG Adjvstedw SpCmtact 5418% 2828$ 515% 317$ 923%
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Q.

three, it would have found significant differences in the portion of mains allocated

to classes.

Contrary to the implication in Staff witness Ross's testimony mains costs

constitute a significant share of costs, and,the share per customer varies

significantly by district .

	

In particular, Ms. Ross argues in her testimony that the

Company does not purchase things like meters and mains in the exact quantity needed to

serve one district . However, she fails to take into account that the cost of meters and

mains as well as other plant costs and associated expenses that a Company can be

recovered in a rate case, depend on the original investment, the depreciation rates, the

values previously depreciated and adjustments. Current rates were set to recover those

embedded costs on a district specific basis.

	

Ms Ross has not submitted evidence that

demonstrates that the embedded district costs are the same . For example, she has not

submitted evidence that the Company has replaced a substantial amount ofmains at equal

costs per customer in Butler and Rich Hume. Her conclusion ignores factors that affect

the allocation o£ costs to classes in a district . For example, density is one relevant factor'

generally, the lower the density, the higher the cost allocated to each customer. Ms Ross

simply assumes away the real differences in embedded costs and factors that affect cost

allocations .

ON PAGE 3, OF STAFF WITNESS ROSS'S REBUTTAL TESTIMONY SHE SEEMS

CONFUSED BY YOUR REFERENCE TO THE LACK OF ACTUAL METERCOST DATA BY

CUSTOMER TYPE. SHETHEN ATTEMPTS TO DISCREDIT YOUR POSITION THAT THE

CUSTOMER CHARGE SHOULD NOT CHANGE WITHOUT CONSIDERATION OF SUCH

DATA. IN THIS ATTEMPT SHE REFERENCES A COMPANY DATA REQUEST
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RESPONSE PROVIDED BY THE COMPANY THAT SHE CLAIMS INDICATES THE COST

OF METERS, REGULATORS AND SERVICE LINES, IS THE SAME FORALL DISTRICTS.

PLEASE RESPOND TO HERSTATEMENT.

A.

	

Any confusion about the need for such data can be clarified by reviewing Staff

witness Dan Beck's direct testimony . He indicates that similar information by

customer type would be useful in determining the appropriate costs. The

importance of identifying costs by customer type is that costs are allocated based

on the classes' relative share of costs. Underestimating one class's share of costs

leads to over allocation to other classes .

My rebuttal testimony references Mr. Beck's testimony where he

discusses deficiencies in the Company data,` apparently he had the same concern

regarding the accuracy of the cost study results. Although he recommended that

the Company's allocators for service lines be used in the cost studies, he

recommended caution about the relative accuracy of the class cost of service

since service lines accounts for approximately 25% of the cost-of-service. He also

recommends that Atmos perform a typical service cost study based on a

reasonable sample size of customers from each customer class. , His rate design

direct testimony (page 4, line 20) he discusses concerns with the Company's

regulator and meter allocators . His initial review indicated that the Company's

allocators for meters and regulators produced reasonable allocations to the

residential and Small General Service classes and they can be used in the class

cost of service studies. Buthe acknowledged that the relative accuracy of the class
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cost of service be recognized since they account for approximately 15% of the

cost-of-service . Here again, he recommends that Atmos perform a typical service

cost study that is based on a reasonable sample size of customers from each

customer class .

Ms . Ross references a data request answer but she did not provide the DR

response number. My review of DR responses led me to Staff DR No. 0110 response

which refers to a file containing the Company's meter cost analysis . But the contains a

study that estimates the typical cost of investment, installation and overheads associated

with a Residential installation . It does not purport to represent the embedded cost by

district .

Q.

	

HAVE YOU PERFORMED AN ANALYSIS IN THIS CASE THAT COMPARES LOW-INCOME

HOUSEHOLDUSE TO AVERAGEUSEPER CUSTOMER?

A.

	

Yes. For each district, I compared the average LIHEAP customer use to the average

customer use and found them to be very similar in every district .

Q.

	

STAFF WITNESS ROSS LISTS 6 REASONS SHE OPPOSES YOUR RATE DESIGN

RECOMMENDATIONS. (REBUTTAL, P. 6) PLEASE RESPOND TO THE FIRST.

A.

	

For her first reason, she claims that retaining the current rate design forces residential

customers greater than average usage to pay more than the cost required to serve them,

while smaller customers underpay their cost-of-service . Ms . Ross has not provided

calculations based on embedded costs or district specific customer information to support

this assertion. With the exceptions of the service line and meter costs, the majority of an

LDC's plant investments are best characterized as joint and common costs that are not
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attributable to any particular customer and must be allocated based on some reasonable

mechanism .

Ms . Ross apparently believes that the sole value of service provided by the

Company is access to natural gas. Typical rate designs composed of a customer charge

and volumetric charge are supportable based on the value of service is both in access to

gas as well as in use of gas .

	

In my opinion, recovery through a customer charge and

volumetric rate is reasonable and fair from both economic and policy perspectives .

Historically, the Commission has found that it is appropriate for those who use more to

pay more . Public Counsel encourages the Commission to retain the status quo.

PLEASE RESPOND TO HER SECOND REASON FOR OPPOSITION THAT THE EXISTING

RATE DESIGN DISCRIMINATES BETWEEN IDENTICAL RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS IN

CONTIGUOUS DISTRICTS BY CHARGING DIFFERENT NON-GAS MARGIN RATES.

A.

	

The existing residential rates vary . The Commission found that the differences between

residential rates in the different districts are just and reasonable based on cost and other

non-cost based factors it considered when the rates were implemented. Since the Staff

did not prepare district specific cost studies, I can not illustrate the significant differences

between contiguous districts that I believe a Staff study would show . However, from

Staff s accounting data, I can show an example of the significant differences in per

customer bill mains investment by contiguous district. The results are illustrated in

Table 2 .
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A.

Table 2 shows that based on embedded costs there may be significant

differences between districts. Ms. Ross did not submit evidence that it is

appropriate to aggregate districts with such dissimilar investment. Further, she

did not submit evidence that current rates are not appropriate based on embedded

costs. In reviewing the revenues from the sales classes included in Table 2, I

found some general consistency in the revenue per bill versus the net distribution

mains plant per bill . Kirksville's revenue per bill was lowest, as is its dollars of

net distribution mains, followed in both net distribution mains plant and revenue

by Palmyraand finally in both cases by UCG.

PLEASE RESPOND TO HER THIRD POSITION THAT THE EXISTING RATE DESIGN

CREATES UNNECESSARY VOLATILITY IN CUSTOMER BILLS BY COLLECTING A

LARGER PORTION OF CUSTOMERS' COST-OF-SERVICE IN THEWINTER

While I agree that the current rate structure increases the possibility of higher

recovery of non gas costs in colder than normal winters, I do not consider creating

an inescapable fixed delivery charge to be a better option . As I explained in

rebuttal testimony, the delivery charge proposal could nearly double the non gas

Table 2.

Palmyra UCG Kirksville
Distribution Mains Investment $1,027,705 $14,257,517 $2,694,466
Distribution Mains Reserve $409,964 $5,755,538 $837,403
Net Plant-Distribution Mains $617,741 $8,501,979 $1,857,063
Sales Customer Bills 16961 150638 71564
Net Distribution Mains Plant per, $36.42 $56.44 $25.95
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A.

	

I address this issue in my rebuttal testimony . There is no assurance that the

delivery charge proposal instead of the current rate structure will secure an LDC's

support of conservation or align its interests with those of its customers without

further concessions. The Staff has not proposed a specific program to promote

conservation; and instead, Staff appears willing to rely on the Company to come

forward with conservation proposals in the future . That reliance is misplaced

since the Company has not done so . The delivery charge proposal shifts

additional risk to rate payers based on a hope of promoting conservation . In

previous cases, the Staff has supported concrete proposals to promote

conservation without the large concessions it now seems willing to accept . Public

Counsel states to the Commission that an inescapable delivery charge mechanism

and the concession of $1 .2 million in conceded and foregone rate reductions are

too high for consumers to pay.

recovery on some low use customers' bills who do not have the ability to avoid

the increase by curbing use.

PLEASE RESPOND TO HER FOURTH CLAIM THAT THE EXISTING RATE DESIGN

PROVIDES NO INCENTIVE FOR UTILITIES TO AGGRESSIVELY PROMOTE

CUSTOMER EFFICIENCY AND CONSERVATION SINCE THAT IS CONTRARY TO ITS

SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS.

PLEASE RESPOND TO HER FIFTH CLAIM THAT THE EXISTING RATE DESIGN SENDS

INCORRECTPRICE SIGNALS TO RESIDENTIALCUSTOMERS.
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A.

	

My responses to Ms. Ross's first and second claim address this claim on cost

considerations . Ms. Ross sees paying more when you use more as a distortion of

price signals, but is unconcerned by the "all-you-can-eat-buffet" price signal sent

by the Staff's delivery charge proposal. The non gas portion of the bill is small

compared to the commodityportion of the bill, but I see merit in sending a correct

price signal through the non gas portion of the bill at issue in this case .

Q. PLEASE RESPOND TO HER SIXTH CLAIM THAT THE EXISTING RATE DESIGN DOES

NOTHING TO ADDRESS SENATE BILL 179.

A.

	

In my opinion, taking no action in response to Senate Bill 179 in this case is

preferable to taking the wrong action . For example, in the "straw-man" rule

posted on the Commission Chair's webpage, there is a provision that would allow

the Commission to consider reductions in return based on any reduction in risk .

The Staff did notmake a proposal to reduce the return even though it proposed a

weather mitigation rate design even more attractive to the Company than the

Company's own request. The Staffs delivery charge proposal is the wrong

action . Public Counsel urges the rejection the delivery charge proposal .

Q.

	

DOES THIS CONCLUDE YOUR TESTIMONY?

A. Yes.
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BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY

BUTLER DISTRICT

SCHEDULE BAM SUR 1

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

0 & M Expenses 567,416 409,773 118,420 39,223
Depreciation Expense 101,368 74,327 21,982 5,059
Taxes 184,091 126,991 40,995 16,105

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $852,875 $611,092 $181,396 $60,387

TOTAL RATE BASE $3,728,560 $2,527,247 $859,271 $342,042

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 8 .33$ 4 .55$ 15 .01% 19 .47%

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 310,566 $210,504 $71,572 $28,490

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 1,163,441 821,596 252,966 88,877
LESS OTHER REVENUE 6,427 4,011 1,714 702

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $1,157,014 $817,585 $251,254 $88,176

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0
Non-gas margin 1,157,014 722,109 308,618 126,287
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $1,157,014 $722,109 $308,618 $126,287

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $95,476 ($57,364) ($38,112)

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0.00% 13 .22% -18.59% -30 .18%

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 62 .41% 26 .67& 10 .91%

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 70 .66% 21 .72% 7 .62%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY

GREELY DISTRICT

SCHEDULE SAM SUR 2

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

0 & M Expenses 75,173 61,194 13,979
Depreciation Expense 26,131 20,793 5,338
Taxes 27,985 22,247 5,738

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $129,289 $104,233 $25,056

TOTAL RATE BASE $667,034 $532,975 $134,059

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 4 .49% 4 .36$ 5 .0294

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 29,959 $23,938 $6,021

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 159,248 128,171 31,077
LESS OTHER REVENUE 1,352 1,082 270

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $157,896 $127,089 $30,807

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 0
Non-gas margin 157,896 126,374 31,522
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $157,896 $126,374 $31,522

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $715 ($715)

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .006 0 .5794 -2 .27&

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .006 80 .046 19 .966

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .0094 80 .496 19 .516

282 of 1082



BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY
KIRKSVILLE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE BAM SUR 3

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

0 & M Expenses 623,194 408,221 149,208 22,756 43,008
Depreciation Expense 131,828 90,533 31,741 3,558 5,997
Taxes 235,787 140,206 61,858 11,324 22,398

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $990,809 $638,960 $242,807 $37,638 $71,404

TOTAL RATE BASE $5,079,532 $2,865,105 $1,395,657 $273,529 $545,241

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 7 .67% 3 .31$ 6 .99% 25 .64$ 23 .35$

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 389,766 $219,847 $107,093 $20,989 $41,838

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 1,380,575 858,808 349,900 58,626 113,241
LESS OTHER REVENUE 9,497 5,048 2,341 741 1,367

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $1,371,078 $853,760 $347,559 $57,885 $111,874

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0 0
Non-gas margin 1,371,078 728,728 337,966 107,026 197,359
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $1,371,078 $728,728 $337,966 $107,026 $197,359

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $125,032 $9,593 ($49,141) ($85,484)

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% 17 .16% 2 .84% -45 .91% -43 .31%

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 53 .15% 24 .65$ 7 .81% 14 .3996

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00$ 62 .27% 25 .35$ 4 .22% 8 .16$
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BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY
NEELYVILLE DISTRICT

SCHEDULE BAM SUR 4

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

0 & M Expenses 77,873 66,027 11,846
Depreciation Expense 36,685 31,095 5,590
Taxes 2,857 2,517 340

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $117,414 $99,640 $17,775

TOTAL RATE BASE $619,221 $538,999 $80,222

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 1 .75% -2 .06$ 27 .34$

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 10,824 $9,421 $1,402

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 128,238 109,061 19,177
LESS OTHER REVENUE 0 0 0

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $128,238 $109,061 $19,177

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 0
Non-gas margin 128,238 88,528 39,710
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $128,238 $88,526 $39,710

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $20,533 ($20,533)

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0.00$ 23 .19$ -51 .718

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100.00% 69 .038 30 .978

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100.008 85 .058 14 .958
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BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY

PALMYRA DISTRICT

SCHEDULE SAM SUR 5

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

0 & M Expenses 222,414 155,771 49,644 16,999
Depreciation Expense 92,899 64,003 21,518 7,378
Taxes (10,873) (9,803) (1,783) 714

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $304,440 $209,970 $69,379 $25,092

TOTAL RATE BASE $1,438,435 $1,108,737 $305,200 $24,498

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 1.10% 0 .12% 5 .28& -6 .44&

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 15,848 $12,215 $3,362 $270

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 320,288 222,185 72,741 25,361
LESS OTHER REVENUE 4,583 3,023 1,223 336

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $315,705 $219,162 $71,518 $25,025

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 O 0
Non-gas margin 315,705 208,246 84,282 23,178
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $315,705 $208,246 $84,282 $23,178

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $10,916 ($12,764) $1,847

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0.00& 5 .24$ -15 .14% 7 .97$

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100.00% 65 .96% 26 .70% 7 .34%

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00% 69 .42% 22 .65& 7 .93&
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BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY

SEMO DISTRICT

SCHEDULE HAM SUR

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

0 & M Expenses 3,893,051 2,683,909 705,542 55,704 209,648
Depreciation Expense 847,591 606,781 161,019 10,936 32,926
Taxes 1,674,433 1,066,757 321,255 28,551 119,622

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES $6,415,074 $4,357,448 $1,187,815 $95,191 $362,196

TOTAL RATE BASE $25,759,184 $15,810,641 $5,122,151 $479,234 $2,016,062

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 9 .99$ 5.18$ 15 .2894 32 .18% 32 .85$

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 2,574,255 $1,580,043 $511,884 $47,892 $201,476

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 8,989,329 5,937,491 1,699,700 143,083 563,672
LESS OTHER REVENUE 63,877 36,785 14,002 1,772 7,280

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $8,925,452 $5,900,705 $1,685,698 $141,311 $556,393

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0 O
Non-gas margin 8,925,452 5,139,948 1,956,489 247,643 1,017,176
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $8,925,452 $5,139,948 $1,956,489 $247,643 $1,017,176

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $760,757 ($270,791) ($106,332) ($460,783)

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00& 14 .80% -13 .849' -42 .94% -45 .30%

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00$ 57 .59$ 21 .92$ 2 .77$ 11 .40$

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .00$ 66 .11% 18 .89$ 1 .58$ 6 .23%
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BARB MEISENHEIMER SURREBUTTAL
GR-2006-0387

PUBLIC COUNSEL COS SUMMARY
ATMOS ENERGY COMPANY

UNITED CITIES DISTRICT

TOTAL EXPENSES AND TAXES

TOTAL RATE BASE

$3,753,762

$17,143,765

$2,565,099

$11,196,951

$828,118

$4,005,897

$114,684

$604,023

$65,487

$352,669

IMPLICIT RATE OF RETURN 7 .90% 7 .476 12 .406 4 .156 0 .446

OPERATING INCOME WITH
EQUALIZED RATES OF RETURN 1,353,503 $884,000 $316,266 $47,688 $27,843

TOTAL COST OF SERVICE 5,107,265 3,449,099 1,144,384 162,372 93,330
LESS OTHER REVENUE 62,464 41,607 16,201 1,709 820

REQUIRED RATE REVENUE $5,044,801 $3,407,491 $1,128,182 $160,663 $92,510

CURRENT NON-GAS RATE REVENUES
Purchased Gas 0 0 0 0 0
Non-gas margin 5,044,801 3,360,356 1,308,482 138,022 66,203
TOTAL RATE REVENUE $5,044,801 $3,360,356 $1,308,482 $138,022 $66,203

REVENUE SHIFTS TO EQUALIZE
CLASS RATES OF RETURN
(assuming constant revenues) $0 $47,135 ($180,300) $22,640 $26,308

PERCENTAGE MARGIN REVENUE CHANGE
TO EQUALIZE RATES OF RETURN 0 .00% 1 .40& -13 .78& 16 .40& 39 .74&

CURRENT REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .006 66 .61& 25 .94% 2 .746 1 .31&

COS INDICATED REVENUE PERCENTAGES 100 .006 67 .546 22 .366 3 .186 1 .836

SCHEDULE BAM

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL
SMALL
GS

LARGE
GS

LARGE
VOLUME

0 & M Expenses 1,919,128 1,331,533 413,487 55,773 31,639
Depreciation Expense 1,077,130 732,785 240,486 33,181 18,850
Taxes 757,504 500,781 174,145 25,731 14,997
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In the Matter of Atmos Energy Corporation's
Tariff Revision Designed to Consolidate Rates
and Implement a General Rate Increase for
Natural Gas Service in the Missouri Service
Area of the Company .

STATE OF MISSOURI

COUNTY OF COLE

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

Case No. GR-2006-0387

AFFIDAVIT OF RUSSELL W. TRIPPENSEE

Russell W. Trippensee, oflawful age and being first duly sworn, deposes and states:

I .

	

My name is Russell W. Trippensee . I am the Chief Public Utility Accountant for the
Office of the Public Counsel.

2 .

	

Attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes is my rebuttal testimony
consisting ofpages 1 through 18 and Schedule RWT-1 .

3 .

	

I hereby swear and affirm that my statements contained in the attached testimony are
true and correct to the best ofmy knowledge and belief.

Subscribed and sworn to me this 31 st day ofOctober 2406 .

KATHLEEN HARRISON
Notary Public - Notary Seal

State of Missouri - County of Cole
My Commission Expires Jan . 31, 2010

Commission #06399239

My commission expires January 31, 2010.

ssell W. Trippensee

Kathleen Harrison
Notary Public
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REBUTTAL TESTIMONY

OF

RUSSELL W . TRIPPENSEE

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

CASE NO . GR-2006-0387

Q. PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND ADDRESS .

A. Russell W. Trippensee . I reside at 1020 Satinwood Court, Jefferson City, Missouri 65109, and my

business address is P.O . Box 2230, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102.

Q . BY WHOM ARE YOU EMPLOYED AND IN WHAT CAPACITY?

A. I am the Chief Utility Accountant for the Missouri Office of the Public Counsel (OPC or Public

Counsel) .

Q. PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND .

A . I attended the University of Missouri at Columbia, from which I received a BSBA degree, major in

Accounting, in December 1977 . I also acquired the requisite hours for a major in Finance . I attended

the 1981 NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies Program at Michigan State University .

Q . ARE YOU A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT?

A. Yes, 1 hold certificate/license number 2004012797 in the State of Missouri .

Q . PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR WORK EXPERIENCE .

A. From May through August, 1977, I was employed as an Accounting Intern by the Missouri Public

Service Commission (MPSC or Commission). In January 1978 1 was employed by the MPSC as a

Public Utility Accountant I. 1 left the MPSC Staff(Staff) in June 1984 as a Public Utility Accountant

III and assumed my present position .

Q. PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS .
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A.

	

I served as the chairman of the Accounting and Tax Committee for the National Association of State

Utility Consumer Advocates from 1990-1992 and am currently a member of the committee. 1 am a

member ofthe Missouri Society of Certified Public Accountants.

Q .

	

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR WORK WHILE YOU WERE EMPLOYED BY THE MPSC

STAFF .

A.

	

Under the direction of the Chief Accountant, I supervised and assisted with audits and examinations

of the books and records of public utility companies operating within the State of Missouri with

regard to proposed rate increases.

Q .

	

WHAT IS THE NATURE OF YOUR CURRENT DUTIES WITH THE OFFICE OF

THE PUBLIC COUNSEL?

A.

	

1 am responsible for the Accounting section of the Office ofthe Public Counsel and coordinating our

activities with the rest of our office and other parties in rate proceedings. I am also responsible for

performing audits and examinations of public utilities and presenting the findings to the MPSC on

behalfof the public of the State ofMissouri .

Q .

A.

HAVE YOU PREVIOUSLY FILED TESTIMONY BEFORE THE MPSC?

Yes.

	

I filed testimony in the cases listed on Schedule RWT-1 of my testimony on behalf of the

Missouri Office ofthe Public Counsel or MPSC Staff.

Q .

	

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR REBUTTAL TESTIMONY?

A. ,

	

To address the revenue requirement implications of the proposed changes in rate design contained in

the direct testimony of Staffwitness Anne Ross and Atmos Energy Corporation (Antics or Company)

witness Gary L Smith. These witnesses have proposed rate design changes that will significantly

reduce the risk associated with the Company's ability to earn its authorized rate of return . However
2
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A .

neither the Staff nor the Company direct case make any allowance in their return on equity

recommendation to recognize these proposed dramatic changes in the rate structure for the weather

sensitive customer classes . Inherent in return on equity is a risk component and the change in this risk

must be accounted for, if the proposed change in rate design is adopted .

I will also address the recommendation of Staff witness Guy C. Gilbert in which he proposes to utilize

monies previously paid by ratepayers to the Company, as a "return of the investment Atmos has in

Missouri, to be used to reduce current rates . Such a process will require that future ratepayers repay

these monies. Public Counsel does not believe it is appropriate to use monies paid by previous

ratepayers in order to reduce current rates with the result being that future ratepayers will be required

to repay these monies.

In the last section of my testimony, I will set out the basis for Public Counsel's opposition to the

Company's proposal to include uncoliectible expense in the Purchase Gas Adjustment clause which

should only be used for direct expenditures by Atmos in order to secure natural gas for distribution .

Rate Design Proposal-Risk Reduction

PLEASE EXPLAIN HOW PUBLIC COUNSEL'S WITNESSES WILL ADDRESS

CONCERNS REGARDING THE RATE DESIGN PROPOSALS OF STAFF AND

ATMOS .

I will address the revenue requirement impacts of the rate design proposals . Public Counsel witness

Barb Meisenheimer will also address specific concerns with the rate design proposals as crafted by

Staffand Atmos.
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Q . PLEASE EXPLAIN THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN REVENUE REQUIREMENT

AND THE RATE DESIGN PROPOSALS BY STAFF AND ATMOS .

A.

	

Under traditional regulatory processes used in Missouri, the revenue requirement is only minimally

affected by the rate design . In fact, even though mechanisms such as the Infrastructure Replacement

Surcharge reduce a utility's risk, explicit adjustments to return on equity are not usually proposed.

Rate structures are not used as a vehicle for virtually guaranteeing that a utility will earn it authorized

return on equity .

	

In this case, both the Staff and Company have proposed rate designs that

significantly change the risks faced by Atmos with respect to variability of earnings . The return on

equity is an integral part of the revenue requirement.

	

Elimination of the earnings variability has a

major impact on the appropriate rate of return this Commission should authorize for Atmos.

Q . COULD YOU DEFINE THE RISK AND THE EXPLAIN THE FUNDAMENTAL

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BUSINESS RISK AND FINANCIAL RISK?

A.

	

Yes. Risk can be defined as the possibility that actual earnings from an asset or an investment may

differ from expected earnings .

	

The wider the range of -possible earnings, the greater the risk

associated with that asset or investment.

Business risk is the uncertainty (variability) associated with earnings due to fundamental business

conditions faced by the company, such as cyclical markets, weather-sensitive sales, changing

technology, unforeseen events, or competition. Business risk is the inherent riskiness of a firm's

assets due to the operations of the company and the industry in which in operates . In other words,

business risk is not connected to the way the firm finances its assets . The following summarizes

business risk.
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Business risk is defined as the uncertainty inherent in the projections of future
returns on assets (ROA), and it is the single most important determinant of capital
structure. -
(Fundamentals of Financial Management, Eugene F Brigham & Joel F. Houston,
Eighth edition, page 493)

Financial risk is the uncertainty associated with earnings available to common shareholders due to

debt and/or preferred stock being used to finance the firm's assets. This additional risk stems from

the fact that cash flows to common shareholders are subordinate to a firm's required debt service (i .e .

a firm must pay its debt service and any preferred dividends before it can pay common dividends.)

From a common shareholder's perspective, a firm with less debt and preferred stock in its capital

structure has fewer bills to pay before it can allocate earnings to common dividends, and is therefore

less risky . Thefollowing summarizes financial risk .

financial risk is the additional risk placed on the common stockholders as a result of
financial leverage .
(Fundamentals of Financial Management, Eugene F Brigham & Joel F. Houston,
Eight edition, page 498)

Q .

	

DO THE RATE DESIGN PROPOSALS OF BOTH STAFF AND THE COMPANY

SIGNIFICANTLY REDUCE THE VARIABILITY OF REVENUES?

A.

	

Yes.

	

Staff witness Anne Ross proposes that all non-gas costs be recovered from customers on a

100% fixed customer charge (Ms. Ross uses the term Delivery Charge) for the weather sensitive

customer classes, specifically residential and small general service customers .

	

That is, the total non-

gas cost paid by the individual customer will not change, regardless of usage. Absent a decline in the

number of customers connected to the system, the Commission determined non-gas revenue

requirement (including ROE) intended to be collected will in fact be collected .
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Q .

	

WHAT IS THE IMPLICATION OF A FIXED DELIVERY CHARGE ON THE

EARNINGS OF THE COMPANY?

A.

	

For the customer classes in which customers are paying a fixed delivery charge as proposed by Ms

Ross, the revenues (including the imbedded earnings in the class cost of service) anticipated to be

collected from these customers will be collected with virtual certainty. Since the gas cost associated

with serving the customer is collected in total through a process that includes the Purchase Gas

Adjustment Clause and the Actual Cost Adjustment Clause (PGA), Atmos would effectively be

guaranteed earn the authorized rate of return for serving these customer classes. Thus the risk of

earnings variability will be virtually eliminated for these customer classes and greatly reduced for its

Missouri jurisdictional operations .

Q .

	

HAS THE COMPANY ALSO PROPOSED A RATE DESIGN THAT CREATES A

REDUCTION IN THE VARIABILITY OF EARNINGS AND THUS THE RISK

THE ATMOS FACES?

A.

	

Yes. Atmos has proposed a Weather Normalization Adjustment (WNA) that levelizes revenues by

adjusting the tariff rate charged to weather sensitive customers by a factor dependent on actual

weather heating degree days compared to the normalized heating degree days used in the

determination of the tariff rate .

	

The request for a WNA is contained in the direct testimony of

Company witness Gary L. Smith.

Q .

	

DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL SUPPORT A WNA IN THIS CASE?

A.

	

No. Public Counsel does not believe the Commission should authorize a ANA prior to the enactment

of rules implementing Senate Bill 179 passed by the 93d General Assembly and signed into law by

Governor Matt Blunt that authorized the Commission to consider ;
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The MPSC was also authorized to promulgate rules prior to the implementation of any such

mechanism.

rate adjustments outside of general rate proceedings to reflect the non-gas revenue
effects of increases or decreases in residential and commercial customer usage due to
variations in either weather, conservation, or both.
(Section 386.266.3 RSMo 2005 Supp.)

Q .

	

TO DATE, HAS THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZED SUCH RULES?

A.

	

No.

	

A draft of the rules addressing a weather normalization clause can be found on the MPSC

website but proposed rules have not been put out for public comment.

Q . IS THE COMMISSION OBLIGATED TO AUTHORIZE WEATHER

NORMALIZATION CLAUSE AS A RESULT OF SB179?

A.

	

No. The language in the statutes allows the Commission to "approve, modify, or reject adjustment

mechanisms".

Q .

	

SHOULD THE ELIMINATION OR SIGNIFICANT REDUCTION OF BUSINESS

RISK RESULTING FROM A WNA HAVE AN IMPACT ON THE RATE OF

RETURN ON EQUITY AUTHORIZED BY THE MPSC?

A .

	

Yes. Failure to recognize the reduction in business risk resulting from a significant decline in the

potential variability of earnings would result in rates being paid by customers that compensate

stockholders for a risk they no longer have, therefore such rates would not be just and reasonable .

Q . HAVE OTHER AUTHORITIES AND UTILITIES RECOGNIZED THAT A

PROCESS THAT MITIGATES THE IMPACT OF WEATHER ON EARNINGS

SHOULD BE CONSIDERED IN THE AUTHORIZED RATE OF RETURN?

A.

	

Yes. SB179 contained the following language

7
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The commission may take into account any change in business risk to the
corporation resulting from implementation of the adjustment mechanism in setting
the corporation's allowed return in any rate proceeding, in addition to any other
changes in business risk experienced by the corporation.
(Section 386.266.8 RSMo 2005 Supp.)

The following statement is attributable to Laclede Gas Company in the First Amended Partial

Stipulation and Agreement filed in Case No. GR-2002-356:

The Company agrees that the adoption of a weather mitigation rate design in an
LDC's rate structure reduces its weather-related business risk and therefore the
business risk ofthe utility .
(Attachment B, Page 4 of7)

The draft rule found on the Commission's web site also contains language mirroring the language

found in SB179 regarding the reduction in risk .

Q .

	

IF THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZES A RATE DESIGN THAT SIGNIFICANTLY

REDUCES VARIABILITY IN EARNINGS WHAT OTHER RISK OR COST

CONSIDERATIONS SHOULD BE TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT WHEN AUTHORIZING

A RETURN ON EQUITY?

A.

	

The primary consideration should be the components of risk inherent in a rate of return beginning

with the risk free rate of return . 1 agree with Staff witness Matt Barnes where he quantifies the risk

free rate as being equal to the Thirty-Year U.S . Treasury Bond with an average yield of 5 .13%

(Barnes Direct, page 16, lines 17 -20). A second consideration should be the cost of long-term debt

included in the capital structure supporting rate base . Mr. Barnes has quantified this cost as 6.03%

(Barnes direct, Schedule 21) .

Q . WHY IS THE COST OF LONG-TERM DEBT A CONSIDERATION?
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As previously stated, financial risk recognizes that cash flows for stockholders are subordinate to the

legal rights ofdebt holders. Therefore in order to compensate equity investors, the return opportunity

provided should be in excess ofthe cost of debt .

Q . DOES THE STAFF'S RATE DESIGN PROPOSAL ELIMINATE FINANCIAL

RISK?

A.

	

No. Common stock's subordinate status to secured debt with respect to debt service is a legal

principle that is not changed by rate design or other actions by this Commission .

Q .

	

IS BUSINESS RISK THE FINAL CONSIDERATION THAT SHOULD BE TAKEN

INTO ACCOUNT?

A.

	

Yes. However as previously discussed, a rate design as proposed by Staffor Atmos will significantly

reduce business risk.

	

A rate design that dramatically alters the assurance of the level of revenue

recovery and reduces the variability ofearnings should be recognized if this Commission is going to

fulfill its obligation to ensure that ratepayers pay just and reasonable rates.

Q . DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL BELIEVE THAT STAFF'S RETURN ON EQUITY

RECOMMENDATION HAS TAKEN THIS RISK REDUCTION INTO

CONSIDERATION?

A.

	

No.

	

A review of Mr. Barnes' testimony does not address the significant change in rate design

proposed by the Staff. Likewise, a review ofhis analysis and calculations of a Discounted Cash Flow

model (DCF) and a Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) fail to indicate any consideration of the

fixed delivery charge rate design change proposed by Staff.
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Q . DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL BELIEVE THAT ATMOS'S RETURN ON EQUITY

RECOMMENDATION HAS TAKEN THIS RISK REDUCTION INTO

CONSIDERATION?

A.

	

No. Atmos witness Smith claims that a Weather Normalization Adjustment does not reduce risk . He

states :

Q. Does a WNA reduce the Company's risk?

A.

	

No.

	

WNA reduces a downside risk only if actual weather is warmer than
normal . However, it also removes an upside opportunity when weather is colder
than normal .
(Smith Direct, page 10, lines I 1 - 14)

Incredibly, Mr. Smith's rationale in support of his assertion that risk is not reduced is in the basic

definition of risk . Mr. Smith fails to recognize that variability is risk and that the lack of variability

results in a reduction in risk .

Q . DO YOU AGREE WITH STAFF WITNESS ROSS'S ASSERTION THAT

"EVERYBODY LOSES" UNDER TRADITIONAL RATE DESIGN?

(Ross direct, page 12, lines 5-21)

A.

	

No. Ms. Ross's answer beginning on line 16 appears to be predicated on the assumption that only

downside risk exists. If rates are based on the appropriate weather normal, there will be equal periods

above and below the normal weather used to develop rates in the regulatory process. Using a

fundamental concept that the investor market is comprised of informed investors, they would be well

aware of regulatory practices and the variability of earnings that result from business risks such as

weather. The one-way only trend of earnings envisioned by Ms. Ross does not equate to actual

expectations ofthe market .

10

300 of 1082



Rebuttal Testimony of
Russell W. Trippensee
Case No. GR-2006-0387

1 Q . DOES RISK ALSO PROVIDE AN IMPORTANT INCENTIVE TO STOCKHOLDERS

2 AND MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY?

A. Yes. It is reasonable to believe that utility managers are risk adverse. Therefore, in order to mitigate

4 the effects of risks such as weather, management has an incentive to take steps to operate the utility in

5 an efficient manner . If a level of earnings is assured via a rate design such as that proposed by Ms.

6 Ross, the incentive to operate the utility efficiently is also reduced because the risk to which

7 management would be adverse has been reduced or eliminated. It could be argued that the reduction

8 in risk as a result of a change in rate design would similarly reduce the incentive to find new

9 efficiencies or at least reduce the level of priority placed on such activities . Public Counsel does not

10 believe ratepayers are protected by removing financial incentives for management efficiency leaving

11 only the possibility ofafter-the-fact regulatory oversight through prodency reviews as an incentive for

12 management efficiency .

13 Q . DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL HAVE A RECOMMENDATION ON THE APPROPIRATE

14 RETURN ON EQUITY IF THE COMMISSION STEPS OFF INTO UNCHARTED

15 REGULATORY PRACTICES, ABANDONS PROVEN RATE DESIGN PRINCIPLES,

16 AND ADOPTS THE STAFF'S PROPOSED RATE DESIGN FOR A DELIVERY

17 CHARGE?

18 A. Yes. Public Counsel would recommend the Commission use a 7% return on equity . Public

19 Counsel's recommendation utilizes the spread (.87%) between the risk free rate (5 .13%, Barnes

20 Direct, page 16, lines 17 -20) and cost of debt (6.03%, Barnes direct, Schedule 21) and incorporates

21 that spread between the cost of debt and its equity recommendation with the result (6.03% + .87% _

22 6.90%) rounded up to 7%.
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Neeative Depreciation Expense -Reversal ofAccumulated Depreciation Reserve

Q .

	

PLEASE EXPLAIN THE STAFF'S PROPOSED ADJUSTMENT THAT CREATES

NEGATIVE DEPRECIATION EXPENSE AND RESULTS IN A REVERSAL OF

THE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RESERVE .

A.

	

Staff witness Gilbert proposes that the Commission authorize Atmos to continue using the current

authorized depreciation rates for all districts except Greeley for which the Commission should

authorize the use of the depreciation rates authorized for the Butler district .

	

Staff uses these

depreciation rates to determine its traditional depreciation expense. Mr . Gilbert then goes on to

recommend (Gilbert direct, page 9, lines 9 - 13) that the Commission recognize the result of the

Company's proposed depreciation expense calculation by reducing the annual depreciation expense

accrual resulting from Staff's proposal by the amount of $591,000 as contained in the direct

testimony ofCompany witness Donald S. Roff(Rolfdirect, page 3, line 8) .

Staff's calculated annual depreciation expense using the depreciation rates proposed is $3,037,871

(Staff accounting schedules 7, 9, & 10) after recognition of the capitalized portion of depreciation

expense. This amount will accrue to (increase) the Accumulated Depreciation Reserve and is a

"return of the capital investment of the utility by the customers. Staff's proposal to accept the result

of Atmos's proposed depreciation rates results in a reduction in the Accumulated Depreciation

Reserve, thus a reversal of the "return of' the capital investment by the customers, in effect requiring

the Company to reinvest monies they previously received from ratepayers in order to hold current

rates lower.

Q .

	

WHY DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL OPPOSE A REDUCTION IN THE ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION RESERVE?

12
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A.

	

The Accumulated Depreciation Reserve represents the total dollars that ratepayers have provided

from the inception of the utility to pay for the plant-in-service currently used to serve customers .

Once paid, the customers are no longer required to pay a "return on" that portion of plant-in-service

that has been paid for via depreciation expense . The regulatory accounting for this can be found on

Schedule 2 ofthe Staffs Accounting Schedules, lines 2, 3, and 4. The Staff's proposal would utilize

a portion of the Accumulated Depreciation Reserve dollars (line 2 of Schedule 2) to reduce current

rates by reversing prior year entries to record depreciation expense by the amount of $591,000 via a

negative amortization on an annual basis. The result is that monies paid to the Company by prior

ratepayers will be taken back and used to reduce current depreciation expense (determined by

multiplying authorized depreciation rates applied to plant-in-service) and thus current revenue

requirement and the resulting tariff rates . However, future ratepayers will be required to repay these

monies as the Company, under normal circumstances, has the right to a "return of its investment

while the property is in-service . Future ratepayers will also have to pay a "return on" these

investments until such time as the "re-return of'these funds is completed.

Q .

	

PLEASE EXPLAIN THE TERMS "RETURN OF" AND "RETURN ON ."

A.

	

Ifan expenditure is recorded on the income statement as an expense it is compared dollar for dollar to

revenues . This comparison is referred to as a "return of because a dollar of expense is matched by a

dollar ofrevenue in the determination of revenue requirement.

"Return on" occurs when an expenditure is capitalized within the balance sheet because it increased

the value of a balance sheet asset or investment . This capitalization is then included in the rate base

calculation, which is a preliminary step in determining the earnings the company achieves on its total

regulatory investment .

1 3
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1 Q. IS THE $591,000 REDUCTION IN DEPRECIATION EXPENSE BASED ON A

2 DEPRECIATION STUDY BY THE COMPANY AND ADDRESSED IN ITS DIRECT

3 TESTIMONY?

4 A. Yes.

5 Q . IS THE .COMPANY'S DEPRECIATION STUDY BASED ON COMPANY SPECIFIC

6 INFORMATION REQUIRED TO DO A DEPRECIATION STUDY?

7 A. No. Company witness Roff stated :

8 "Because the existing mortality characteristics are not known, only generalizations
9 can be made regarding the effect of the current study parameters on the

10 recommended depreciation rates."
11 (Roff direct, page 3, lines 12 - 15)
12
13 Mortality characteristics are the parameters necessary to calculate depreciation rates.
14 (Roff direct, page 7, line 14)

15 Q . DOES STAFF WITNESS GILBERT ALSO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE BOOKS

16 AND RECORDS OF THE COMPANY ARE INADEQUATE TO PERFORM A

17 DEPRECIATION STUDY?

18 A. Yes. Mr. Gilbert states :

19 "My testimony also addresses what the staff believes to be a Commission rule
20 violation by Atmos regarding the Company's lack of property and property
21 retirement data."
22 (Gilbert direct, page 1, line 23 -page 2, line 2)
23
24 "The mortality records ofproperty and property retirement are incomplete ."
25 (Gilbert direct, page 3, line 1)

26 Mr. Gilbert makes several other references to the problems with the Company's continuing property

27 records over the next several pages ofhis testimony .
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1 Q . DOES MR . GILBERT ASSERT THAT ATMOS IS IN VIOLATION OF

2 COMMISSION RULES REGARDING ITS PROPERTY RECORDS?

3 A. Yes. On page 2, lines I - 10, Mr. Gilbert discusses Staff belief that Atmos is in violation of 4 CSR

4 240-40.040 (3) . Mr. Gilbert goes on to state that :

5 "In violation of the Commission's rules, there does not appear to be any property
6 retirements listed in the CPR. Specifically, 4 CSR 240-40.040 (3)(A) requires a
7 company to :
8 Maintain plant records of the year of each unit's retirement as part of the
9 "continuing plant inventory records," as the term is otherwise defined in

10 Part 201 Definitions, 8. and paragraph 20,001 .8"
11 (Gilbert direct, page 4, line 22-page 5, line 5)

12 Q . ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE TERM "THEORETICAL DEPRECIATION

13 RESERVE"?

14 A. Yes. Simply stated, the Theoretical Depreciation Reserve is the level that the Accumulated

15 Depreciation Reserve should equal given that the related plant-in-service has been depreciated at rates

16 equal to the depreciation rates currently estimated to be appropriate . The result is that the actual

17 Accumulated Depreciation Reserve will be alleged to have either excess funds or have a deficiency .

18 The resulting difference is referred to as a theoretical excess or deficiency .

19 Based on my experience, utilities have sometimes asserted that any identified accumulated

20 depreciation reserve deficiency should be recovered from ratepayers over a time period less than the

21 estimated remaining life of the property . The utilities would propose a positive amortization to

22 depreciation expense to accomplish the recovery from ratepayers ofthe alleged deficiency .

23 Q. WOULD A POSITIVE AMORTIZATION OF A THEORETICAL RESERVE

24 DEFIENCY REPRESENT A "RETURN OF" THE INVESTMENT IN PLANT-IN-

25 SERVICE?
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1 A. Yes .

2 Q . DOES STAFF WITNESS GILBERT BELIEVE THAT SUFFICIENT DATA

3 EXISTS TO MAKE A CALCULATION OF A THEORETICAL DEPRECIATION

4 RESERVE?

5 A. No. Mr. Gilbert states :

6 Because of the lack of data to perform an accurate depreciation analysis, it was not
7 possible for Staffto accurately determine a theoretical reserve for each account .
8 (Gilbert direct, page 8, lines 15 - 17)

9 Q . DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL BELIEVE THE $591,000 NEGATIVE

10 DEPRECIATION ADJUSTMENT IS BASED ON KNOWN AND MEASUREABLE

11 DATA?

12 A. No, based on our review of the direct testimony of Staff witness Gilbert and the direct testimony of

13 Atmos witness Roft:

14 Q . DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL BELIEVE THE $591,000 WOULD RESULT IN THE

15 UTILITY HAVING TO PROVIDE CAPITAL IN ORDER TO REDUCE CURRENT

16 RATES?

17 A. Yes .

18 Q . SHOULD THE COMMISSION ADOPT STAFF'S PROPOSAL?

19 A. No.

20 Uncollectible Exuense in Purchase Gas Adiustment

21 Q. WHAT IS THE COMPANY REQUESTING REGARDING THE REGULATORY

22 TREATMENT OF UNCOLLECTIBLE EXPENSE?
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A.'

	

Atmos is requesting to classify Uncollectible Expense (often referred to as bad debt expense) as a cost

of natural gas and include the costs in the Purchase Gas Adjustment (PGA) charge to customers.

Company's request is contained in the direct testimony of Atmos witness Patricia J . Childers (page 3,

line 22-page 8, line 22).

Q .

	

PLEASE SET OUT HOW PUBLIC COUNSEL WILL ADDRESS THIS ISSUE .

A.

	

Public Counsel witness Barb Meisenheimer and I will both address the Company's position regarding

uncollectible expense.

Q . DOES PUBLIC COUNSEL SUPPORT THE INCLUSION OF UNCOLLECTIBLE

EXPENSE IN THE PGA?

A.

	

No.

	

Uncollectible expense does not represent an expenditure of cash by the Atmos.

	

It is a paper

entry recorded on the Company's financial records in anticipation that some customers may not pay

an obligation to Atmos. It is not a cost ofgas that merits inclusion in the PGA. The Uniform System

ofAccounts (USDA) clearly defines Uncollectible Expense:

904 Uncollectible Accounts
This account shall be charged with amounts sufficient to provide for losses from
uncollectible utility revenues. Concurrent credits shall be made to account 144,
Accumulated Provision for Uncollectible Accounts - Credit . Losses from
uncollectible accounts shall be charged to account 144.

Account 904 is included under the general heading Customer Accounts Expense.

Q . DOES THE USOA SET OUT SPECIFIC ACCOUNTS FOR PURCHASED GAS

EXPENSE?

A.

	

Yes. Account 807, Purchase Gas Expense, is the account that applies to gas distribution companies

such as Atmos's Missouri operations.

1 7
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807 Purchase gas expense
A.

	

This account shall include expenses incurred directly in connection with the
purchase of gas for resale .
(emphasis added by OPC)

Q . DESPITE THE USOA, DOES ATMOS ASSERT THAT UNCOLLECTIBLE

EXPENSE IS A GAS COST?

A.

	

Yes.

	

Ms. Childers asserts that:

Q.

	

Can a reasonable argument be made that gas costs somehow become
something other than gas costs if customers do not reimburse the Company for such
costs?

A.

	

Absolutely not. In fact, it defies logic to argue that such costs are gas costs
at the time they are incurred but somehow become something different if the
Company is not reimbursed for them by customers.

	

There is no logical support for
an argument that would define a cost on the basis of whether or not a customer pays
their bill for such cost .

(Childers direct, page 6, lines 1 - 8)

Q . IS MS . CHILDERS POSITION CONSISTENT WITH THE USOA AND

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES?

A.

	

No. As set out in her testimony, she fails to differentiate between cash expenses ofthe Company and

the inability for whatever reason to collect revenues from customers .

Q .

	

DOES THIS CONCLUDE YOUR REBUTTAL TESTIMONY?

A. Yes.
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Rebuttal Testimony
Russell W. Trippensee
Case No . GR-2006-0387

Missouri Power& Light Company, Steam Dept., Case No. HR-82-179
Missouri Power& Light Company, Electric Dept., Case No. ER-82-180
Missouri Edison Company, Electric Dept., Case No. ER-79-120
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, Case No. TR-79-213
Doniphan Telephone Company, Case No. TR-80-15
Empire District Electric Company, Case No. ER-83-43
Missouri Power & Light Company, Gas Dept., Case No. GR-82-181
Missouri Public Service Company, Electric Dept., Case No. ER-81-85
Missouri Water Company, Case No. WR-81-363
Osage Natural Gas Company, Case No. GR-82-127
Missouri Utilities Company, Electric Dept., Case No. ER-82-246
Missouri Utilities Company, Gas Dept., Case No. GR-82-247
Missouri Utilitites Company, Water Dept., Case No. WR-82-248
Laclede Gas Company, Case No. GR-83-233
Great River Gas Company, Case No. GR-85-136 (OPC)
Northeast Missouri Rural Telephone Company, Case No. TR-85-23 (OPC)
United Telephone Company, Case No. TR-85-179 (OPC)
Kansas City Power & Light Company, Case No. ER-85-128 (OPC)
Arkansas Power& Light Company, Case No . ER-85-265 (OPC)
KPL/Gas Service Company, GR-86-76 (OPC)
Missouri Cities Water Company, Case Nos . WR-86-11 1, SR-86-112 (OPC)
Union Electric Company, Case No. EC-87-115 (OPC)
Union Electric Company, Case No. GR-87-62 (OPC)
St. Joseph Light and Power Company, Case Nos . GR-88-115, HR-88-116 (OPC)
St. Louis County Water Company, Case No . WR-88-5 (OPC)
West Elm Place Corporation, Case No. SO-88-140 (OPC)
United Telephone Long Distance Company, Case No. TA-88-260 (OPC)
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, Case No. TC-89-14, et al . (OPC)
Osage Utilities, Inc ., Case No. WM-89-93 (OPC)
GTE North Incorporated, Case Nos . TR-89-182, TR-89-238, TC-90-75 (OPC)
Contel of Missouri, Inc ., Case No. TR-89-196 (OPC)
The Kansas Power and Light Company, Case No. GR-90-50 (OPC)
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, Case No. TO-89-56 (OPC)
Capital City Water Company, Case No. WR-90-118 (OPC)
Laclede Gas Company, Case No. GR-90-120 (OPC)
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, Case No. TR-90-98 (OPC)
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Empire District Electric Company, Case No. ER-90-138 (OPC)
Associated Natural GasCompany, Case No. GR-90-152 (OPC)
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, Case No. TO-91-163
Union Electric Company, Case No . ED-91-122
Missouri Public Service, Case Nos. EO-91-358 and EO-91-360
The Kansas Power and Light Company, Case No. GR-91-291
Southwestern Bell Telephone Co., Case No. TO-91-163
Union Electric Company, EM-92-225 and EM-92-253
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, TO-93-116
Missouri Public Service Company, ER-93-37, (January, 1993)
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, TO-93-192, TC-93-224
Saint Louis County WaterCompany, WR-93-204
United Telephone Company of Missouri, TR-93-181
Raytown WaterCompany, WR-94-300
Empire District Electric Company, ER-94-174
Raytown WaterCompany, WR-94-211
Missouri Gas Energy, GR-94-343
Capital City Water Company, WR-94-297
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, TR-94-364
Missouri Gas Energy, GR-95-33
St . Louis County WaterCompany, WR-95-145
Missouri Gas Energy, GO-94-318
Alltel Telephone Company of Missouri, TM-95-87
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, TR-96-28
Steelville Telephone Exchange, Inc ., TR-96-123
Union Electric Company, EM-96-149
Imperial Utilites Corporation, SC-96-247
Laclede GasCompany, GR-96-193
Missouri Gas Energy, GR-96-285
St . Louis County Water Company, WR-96-263
Village Water and SewerCompany, Inc. WM-96-454
Empire District Electric Company, ER-97-82
UtiliCorp d/b/a Missouri Public Service Company, GR-95-273
Associated Natural Gas, GR-97-272
Missouri Public Service, ER-97-394, ET-98-103
Missouri Gas Energy, GR-98-140
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St. Louis County Water, WO-98-223
United Water Missouri, WA-98-187
Kansas City Power & Light/Westem Resources, Inc. EM-97-515
St . Joseph Light& PowerCompany, HR-99-245
St . Joseph Light& PowerCompany, GR-99-246
St . Joseph Light& PowerCompany, ER-99-247
AmerenUE, EO-96-14, (prepared statement)
Missouri American Water Company, WR-2000-281
Missouri American Water Company, SR-2000-282
UtiliCorp United Inc./St. Joseph Light & Power Company, EM-2000-292
UtiliCorp United Inc./Empire District Electric Company, EM-2000-369
St . Joseph Light & PowerCompany, EO-2000-845
St . Louis County Water Company, WR-2000-844
Union Electric Company, EO-2001-245
Laclede Gas Company, GM-2001-342
Empire District Electric Company, ER-2001-299
Missouri-American Water Company, et . at., WM-2001-309
AmerenUE, EC-2002-152, GC-2002-153
UtiliCorp United Inc., ER-2001-672
Aquila~ Inc., GO-2002-175
AmerenUE, ER-2002-001
Laclede Gas Company, GA-2002-429
AmerenUE, GR-2003-0517
Algonquin Water Resources of Missouri & Silverleaf Resort, Inc. WO-2005-0206
Kansas City Power & Light Company, Case No. EO-2005-0329
Empire District Electric Company, Case No. ER-2006-0315
Kansas City Power & Light Company, Case No. ER-2006-0314
Atmos Energy Corporation, Case No. GR-2006-0387
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Corrections Testimony of Barbara Meisenheimer
Case No. GR-2006-0387

Direct Testimony

Delete "so" on Line 6, Page 4.
Change "company's" to "Company's" on Line 21, Page 6.

Rebuttal Testimony

Surrebuttal Testimony

Replace "." with "," on Line 15, Page 4.
Replace "are differences" with "differ" on Line 19-20, Page 4 .
Insert "than" following "SGS" on Line 9, Page 5.
Delete "in the mains" on Line 10, Page 5 .
Replace

	

with ", " on Line 15, Page 7.
Replace

	

apparently" with ". Apparently" on Line 15, Page 7 .
Replace ", His" with "In" on Line 17, Page 8.
Replace " . But" with "that" on Line 7, Page 9.
Insert "with" following "customers" on Line 18, Page 9.

FILE
DEC 2 0 2006

Missouri Public
Service Commissinn

Delete "create" on Line 5, Page 29.
Delete "(see Schedule RK-1)" on Line 11, Page 32.
Replace "3� with "4" on Line 4, Page 35 .
Replace the text on Line 17, Page 39, with "repay as they choose . A reasonable payment
for gas withdrawn is important to ensure"
Begin the answer on Line 9, Page 40, with "I do not support a"

OPQ Exhlblt No. act
Case No(s)- AR8ao6-D
Date 11-~v a- Rpv_P.t--
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 1                   P R O C E E D I N G S 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  This is Case Number 

 3   GR-2006-0387 in the matter of Atmos Energy 

 4   Corporation's Tariff Division Design to Consolidate 

 5   Rates and Implement a General Rate Increase for 

 6   Natural Gas Service in the Missouri Service Area of 

 7   the Company. 

 8                My name is Nancy Dippell.  I'm the 

 9   regulatory law judge assigned to this case, and we've 

10   come here today for an evidentiary hearing in this 

11   matter.  It is -- we're having a winter storm outside 

12   so I appreciate everyone braving the weather to be 

13   here today, and we're gonna work our schedule around 

14   that as we go along. 

15                So I'd like to begin with entries of 

16   appearance.  Can we start with Staff? 

17                MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge.  Appearing on 

18   behalf of the Staff of the Public Service Commission, 

19   Robert S. Berlin, Kevin Thompson, Lera Shemwell, 

20   Steve Reed, Post Office Box 360, Jefferson City, 

21   Missouri 65102. 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  And Public Counsel? 

23                MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  Appearing on 

24   behalf of the Office of Public Counsel and the 

25   public, Mark Poston, P.O. Box 2230, Jefferson City 
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 1   Missouri 65102. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  And Atmos? 

 3                MR. FISCHER:  Appearing on behalf of 

 4   Atmos Energy Corporation, James M. Fischer and 

 5   Larry W. Dority with the law firm of Fischer & 

 6   Dority.  Our address is 101 Madison Street, Suite 

 7   400, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101.  Also appearing 

 8   today is Doug Walter who is in-house counsel with 

 9   Atmos out of Dallas, Texas and he will be assisting 

10   as well. 

11                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Remind everybody 

12   to turn off your cell phones and other wireless 

13   devices, Palm Pilots, PDA's.  Sometimes they 

14   interfere with our internet transmission.  And 

15   Noranda? 

16                MR. FULTON:  Yes.  Rob Fulton appearing 

17   on behalf of Noranda Aluminum.  My address is P.O. 

18   Box 151, Fredericktown, Missouri 63645. 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  And is anyone present 

20   for Hannibal Regional Hospital? 

21                (NO RESPONSE.) 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I had a call this 

23   morning.  Actually I had a message this morning -- it 

24   may have been a call yesterday -- from Mr. Woodsmall 

25   on behalf of Hannibal Regional, and he asked to be 
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 1   excused from the hearing.  And he may or may not be 

 2   present today.  While I can't actually excuse him 

 3   from the hearing, I will state that I will not hold 

 4   any penalties against him.  However, anyone who's not 

 5   present gives up any right to cross-examination or 

 6   recitation of evidence at that point in the hearing 

 7   and loses rights to objections and so forth. 

 8                Okay.  We had a partial nonunanimous 

 9   stipulation and agreement filed yesterday, and I just 

10   wanted to have a brief statement from the parties as 

11   to what that covers and give us a little bit of 

12   background on that.  Mr. Berlin, would you like to -- 

13   or Atmos, whichever? 

14                MR. BERLIN:  Judge, going back to the 

15   filing of the joint issues, list of witnesses and the 

16   order of cross-examination, that filing was done on 

17   the 14th of November, and in that filing the parties 

18   indicated that there were seven resolved issues.  The 

19   seven resolved issues formed the basis of this 

20   partial nonunanimous stipulation and agreement.  The 

21   partial stipulation was signed by Staff, Public 

22   Counsel and Atmos.  In looking at this, and I would 

23   refer you to this, I presume you have a copy of it in 

24   front of you? 

25                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, I do. 
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 1                MR. BERLIN:  Okay.  Roman numeral I, 

 2   Billing Determinants, the parties have agreed to 

 3   those billing determinants as represented in 

 4   Attachment A to this stipulation.  I have Roman 

 5   Numeral II, Other Post-Retirement Benefits 

 6   Contribution.  The parties have agreed that, as 

 7   stated, Atmos has made a catch-up contribution in the 

 8   amount stated and will begin funding the annual OPEB 

 9   cost for its operations in Missouri. 

10                Roman Numeral III -- and I'm kind of 

11   water-skiing over this -- 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's fine. 

13                MR. BERLIN:  -- but I would like to just 

14   add that we do have Staff witnesses who can discuss 

15   this in greater technical detail, but I can't at this 

16   point.  But Roman Numeral III is the class share of 

17   revenue by district and class cost of service, and I 

18   think it's important to note the parties have agreed 

19   there will be no revenue shifts among the classes, 

20   and that the normalized present gas not -- let me go 

21   back. 

22                The "normalized present non-gas revenues 

23   of each customer class" shall be the amount shown in 

24   Attachment A which represents the weather-normalized 

25   class test year revenues. 
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 1                And I think it's important to note Roman 

 2   Numeral III, paragraph B, that Atmos has agreed that 

 3   they will file a class cost-of-service study 

 4   consistent with the Commission's decision regarding 

 5   however this Commission decides on the issue of 

 6   district consolidation.  And they will do that class 

 7   cost-of-service study as part of a filing -- its 

 8   filing in the next general rate case. 

 9                And then you can see there's language in 

10   there whereby the company agrees to submit certain 

11   data to the Staff and to Public Counsel so that Staff 

12   and Public Counsel may perform their own study.  And 

13   so this we believe is adequately covered. 

14                Roman Numeral IV deals with customer 

15   service requirements and reporting, and there are 

16   certain -- there are certain requirements in here 

17   that Atmos must meet with regard to customer service, 

18   certain reporting requirements to Staff and to Public 

19   Counsel and I won't get into all of these, but we do 

20   have a Staff representative, Lisa Kremer, who is a 

21   Staff witness who can address this in greater detail. 

22                I know one of the Commissioners will 

23   have probably some questions on this, but Roman 

24   Numeral V has to do with the PGA minimum filing 

25   requirement, and what we've asked Atmos to do is that 
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 1   concurrently with its annual cost adjustment filing 

 2   it will provide certain documentation to support the 

 3   company's ACA that will be used to reconcile the 

 4   company's actual gas cost with its billed revenues. 

 5   And you can see that from paragraph A through 

 6   paragraph D, we have pretty well defined what that 

 7   documentation is that Atmos is to provide in its PGA 

 8   filing. 

 9                Roman Numeral VI deals with the subject 

10   of depreciation recordkeeping and reporting, that 

11   Atmos will make certain -- will perform certain 

12   actions with regard to addressing the current 

13   depreciation rates that serve -- the plants that 

14   serve all Missouri operations. 

15                And this -- this particular paragraph 

16   just basically addresses any of the concerns that 

17   Staff and Public Counsel had with regard to 

18   recordkeeping and reporting.  And again, Staff 

19   witness Guy Gilbert could certainly address that if 

20   there's technical questions on that issue. 

21                We also settled the issue of gas loss 

22   reporting, Roman Numeral VII, and permit Atmos to use 

23   its proposed 2 percent methodology.  And we are 

24   asking Atmos to actually make reports to Staff 

25   regarding its progress with regard to managing gas 
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 1   loss reporting.  And so we feel we have certain 

 2   management protections in place so that the 

 3   customer's protected from unaccounted for gas loss. 

 4   And that is a topic or subject issue area that Staff 

 5   witness Mike Ensrud could answer some more detailed 

 6   questions on. 

 7                And with regard to Roman Numeral VIII, 

 8   the nonsignatory parties, Noranda and Hannibal 

 9   Regional Hospital.  And then, of course, Roman 

10   Numeral IX is the general boilerplate language of the 

11   stipulation agreement.  I kind of water-skied over 

12   that I know, but that's just the gist of this 

13   particular stipulation and agreement. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I appreciate that. 

15   Thank you very much.  Okay.  With that, I will also 

16   say that we did -- I issued an order earlier and the 

17   parties premarked the exhibits with exhibit numbers, 

18   and we will accept those exhibit numbers. 

19                MR. BERLIN:  Judge, if I may interrupt? 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Excuse me, yes. 

21                MR. BERLIN:  We do have a revised 

22   November 30th exhibit list that we will -- 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

24                MR. BERLIN:  We've been scrutinizing our 

25   list of exhibits and have tried to correct certain 
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 1   details with regard to the prefiled testimony.  Do 

 2   you have that?  And Judge, I have a copy. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Yes, if you 

 4   could -- are there major revisions or -- 

 5                MR. BERLIN:  No, no major revisions. 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Okay.  We'll try 

 7   to follow those as we go along.  I think we'll do 

 8   each parties' exhibits as we go, and prior to going 

 9   on the record, the parties indicated they would be 

10   willing to waive the preliminary address, name and so 

11   forth of the witnesses as they come up, and would 

12   there be any objection to that procedure to save 

13   time? 

14                (NO RESPONSE.) 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I see no -- no 

16   objection.  Are there any other preliminary matters 

17   that we should resolve before beginning with opening 

18   statements? 

19                MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I just want to alert 

20   you to -- and unless the situation has changed, one 

21   key Staff witness, Anne Ross, is coming in from out 

22   in the country north of Columbia -- 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right. 

24                MR. BERLIN:  -- will be coming in late, 

25   and while I look at the order of issues, I don't 
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 1   think that will present a problem, and I would expect 

 2   that she would be able to be here because I think 

 3   that particular issue is the last issue scheduled for 

 4   today. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Well, like I say, we'll 

 6   work around people being able to be here.  I don't 

 7   want anyone risking life or limb to be here today. 

 8   We actually have a whole week reserved next week for 

 9   this hearing still, so we'll work around people and 

10   their traveling. 

11                MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I would also 

12   request, the list of issues and order of witnesses 

13   has Don Murray going first for the company.  He's our 

14   ROE witness.  However, Pat Childers is actually the 

15   policy witness that gives the overview of the company 

16   and addresses the overall situation on revenue 

17   requirement.  And with the approval of the parties, 

18   I'd put her up first just to give a broader 

19   perspective on that. 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any objection 

21   to the change in the order of witness? 

22                (NO RESPONSE.) 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, that would 

24   be allowed.  All right, then, let's go ahead and 

25   begin with opening statements, and the parties 
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 1   previously agreed to the order of that, and we'll 

 2   begin with Atmos.  And you may stay at your seat, if 

 3   you'd rather, than come to the podium, that's fine. 

 4   Wherever you're speaking from, I'd appreciate it if 

 5   you would speak into the microphone. 

 6                MR. FISCHER:  May it please the 

 7   Commission, my name is Jim Fischer and I'm 

 8   representing Atmos Energy Corporation today.  I also 

 9   have with me my partner, Larry Dority, and I wanted 

10   to introduce Doug Walter who's in-house counsel to 

11   the company out of Dallas.  Doug was actually with 

12   the Office of the General Counsel here at the 

13   Missouri Public Service Commission back in the 

14   1980's, and he's back here right behind my seat. 

15                Atmos is the largest pure natural gas 

16   distribution company in the United States.  It has 

17   its offices located in Dallas, Texas but it has 

18   regional and state offices for Missouri operations in 

19   Hannibal, Jackson and Sikeston. 

20                Atmos serves about 60,000 customers in 

21   Missouri including residential, commercial and 

22   industrial customers.  It has a Missouri-based work 

23   force of approximately 75 employees, and its plant in 

24   Missouri covers -- or includes about 2,150 miles of 

25   both mains and distribution facilities. 
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 1                The Missouri operations are actually 

 2   compromised of six districts located in the 

 3   northeast, the southeast and west-central areas of 

 4   Missouri.  I noticed on the screen whenever I came 

 5   in that there was a map that may be used later in 

 6   the hearing that shows exactly where those areas 

 7   are. 

 8                The company came together as a result of 

 9   three acquisitions:  The Greeley Gas Company was 

10   purchased in 1993, the United Cities Gas Company was 

11   purchased in 1997, and more recently, the Associated 

12   Natural Gas Company was purchased in the year 2000. 

13                Now, Atmos has not filed a rate case 

14   since acquiring these particular service areas, so 

15   all the rates that exist today go back to those days 

16   when the other companies owned the systems.  So for 

17   example, Greeley, which serves a small number of 

18   companies in western Missouri, they haven't had a 

19   rate increase in that area since before Greeley Gas 

20   Company actually acquired that system from the Rich 

21   Hill Hume Gas Company back in 1994. 

22                The last time the rates for the Greeley 

23   district were actually increased was in 1983, nearly 

24   23 years ago.  The last rate increase for United 

25   Cities Gas was filed in 1994 or about 12 years ago, 
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 1   and the last rate increase for the Associated area, 

 2   Associated Natural Gas, was in 1997.  So it's been 

 3   about a decade since the most recent look at any of 

 4   these areas, and some of these rates have been in 

 5   effect for almost 23 years. 

 6                In 2002, the Commission approved the 

 7   consolidation of the company's rules and regulations 

 8   in its tariff so that at least the rules and the 

 9   regulations for this company are uniform 

10   throughout -- throughout the state. 

11                But more importantly, the rates and the 

12   miscellaneous charges are not uniform in Missouri. 

13   They all go back to that time when Greeley set them 

14   years ago, United Cities rate case and then the 

15   Associated Natural Gas case.  And those rates are 

16   still the ones that are in effect in the Atmos tariff 

17   today. 

18                As a result, each of these Atmos 

19   districts have different margin or base rates, and 

20   they also have different PGA rates and tariffs 

21   relating to how the PGA operates and also how the 

22   transportation rates are implemented. 

23                At present, Atmos has six sets of 

24   non-gas rates or margin rates and six sets of PGA 

25   rates.  Even the miscellaneous charges, like bad debt 
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 1   charges, reconnection fees and other miscellaneous 

 2   charges are not uniform throughout the state. 

 3                While the company's made every effort to 

 4   operate as efficiently as possible and it is proud of 

 5   its well deserved reputation as one of the lowest- 

 6   cost providers of natural gas service in the United 

 7   States, since the last United Cities rate case, the 

 8   company has invested more than $22 million in direct 

 9   Missouri gross plant, including additions that have 

10   occurred since the acquisition of the Associated 

11   Natural Gas properties. 

12                Atmos has also made significant 

13   technological investments in customer call centers 

14   and billing systems since that last look at its rates 

15   in the Associated case. 

16                On April 7th, 2006, Atmos filed tariffs 

17   in this case which proposed to increase the rates by 

18   approximately $3.4 million.  Now, one of the primary 

19   reasons the company filed this rate case was an 

20   attempt to consolidate these rates and to make the 

21   miscellaneous charges uniform throughout the -- 

22   throughout the state of Missouri. 

23                It also sought to make rate design 

24   changes that would mitigate the effects of weather on 

25   the customers' bills and on the company's earnings. 
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 1   In that regard, one of the original recommendations 

 2   contained in the Atmos testimony in this case was the 

 3   recommendation that the Commission permit the company 

 4   to use a weather normal -- weather normalization 

 5   adjustment mechanism similar to the type of mechanism 

 6   that has already been approved for the company in 

 7   four of its other jurisdictions. 

 8                As I'm gonna discuss in a minute, 

 9   however, Atmos has changed its position on this 

10   particular issue and is now supporting the Staff's 

11   rate design recommendations which will also mitigate 

12   the effects of weather on the customers' bills and on 

13   the company's earnings. 

14                As is discussed in the rebuttal 

15   testimony of Atmos witness Pat Childers, the company 

16   has thoroughly reviewed and compared its case with 

17   the Staff's case, has analyzed and compared the 

18   various adjustments to the test period in both cases 

19   and has considered the impact of the Staff's proposed 

20   rate design on the company as we reviewed our various 

21   cases. 

22                The company has concluded that if the 

23   Commission approves the Staff's proposed rate design 

24   and the other positions enunciated by Staff in its 

25   testimony and accepted by the company, then Atmos 
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 1   believes it will have a reasonable opportunity to 

 2   earn a fair return without the need for rate increase 

 3   in this case. 

 4                With only a couple of very minor 

 5   exceptions, Staff and company have no areas of 

 6   disagreement remaining in the case.  Specifically, 

 7   with regard to the overall revenue requirement, Staff 

 8   witness Steve Rackers, who I think was the head 

 9   auditor in the audit, has testified that -- and I'm 

10   gonna quote it:  "The Staff believes that no change 

11   in cost of service on a total company basis will 

12   still result in just and reasonable rates as a result 

13   of this case." 

14                The company has accepted this 

15   recommendation in light of the rate design proposals 

16   that are being suggested by the -- by the Staff. 

17   While the Office of the Public Counsel did not file 

18   any direct testimony in this case regarding the 

19   overall revenue requirement, its accountant, Mr. Russ 

20   Trippensee, has sponsored rebuttal testimony on the 

21   subject of cost of equity suggesting that the 

22   Commission approve a 7 percent rate of return on 

23   equity for Atmos in this proceeding. 

24                I think the evidence will show that 

25   Mr. Trippensee did not perform any discounted cash 
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 1   flow analysis or other traditional analysis of the 

 2   cost of capital issue.  Instead, his testimony 

 3   recommends that the Commission lower the ROE 

 4   recommended by Staff as an apparent response to the 

 5   Staff's proposed delivery charge on the rate design 

 6   issue. 

 7                Obviously, a 7 percent ROE is much lower 

 8   than any ROE previously authorized by the Commission, 

 9   at least in the last 30 years or so that I can 

10   remember.  Both Staff witness Matt Barnes and Atmos 

11   witness Don Murray thoroughly discuss and rebut 

12   Mr. Trippensee's calculation of the appropriate cost 

13   of capital for Atmos. 

14                Regarding Public Counsel's approach and 

15   the punitive ROE recommendation, Dr. Murray observes 

16   in his surrebuttal, "That is not analysis.  This is 

17   just unorthodox opinion."  Mr. Trippensee's 

18   recommendation is not supported by a commonly 

19   accepted rate of return analysis.  He did not analyze 

20   the cost of equity of the companies that have similar 

21   risk to Atmos. 

22                In fact, he didn't acknowledge in his 

23   testimony that many of the comparable companies 

24   analyzed by Staff and the company have weather 

25   mitigation rate designs that minimize the effects of 

 

330 of 1082



0019 

 1   weather on the -- on the customers' bills and on the 

 2   company's earnings. 

 3                As Dr. Murray explains in his 

 4   surrebuttal testimony, seven of the eight companies 

 5   that Mr. Barnes identified as comparable to Atmos 

 6   Energy operate under some type of revenue 

 7   stability -- or excuse me, revenue stabilization 

 8   mechanisms for their residential and small commercial 

 9   customers. 

10                Finally, the other legal flaw in the 

11   Public Counsel's position on the revenue requirement 

12   issue in this case is that the Office of the Public 

13   Counsel has not filed a complaint against the 

14   reasonableness of Atmos's existing rates. 

15                As the Commission knows, according to 

16   Section 386.270, all rates of a public utility that 

17   have been approved by the Commission are prima facie 

18   lawful and reasonable until found otherwise in a suit 

19   brought for that purpose pursuant to the provisions 

20   of Chapter 386. 

21                The Office of Public Counsel has chosen 

22   not to file a complaint against the reasonableness of 

23   existing rates of the company.  As a result, there is 

24   no pending complaint proceeding alleging that Atmos's 

25   existing rates are unjust and unreasonable, and, of 
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 1   course, if they did file a complaint case, the 

 2   complainant would have the burden of proof.  So we're 

 3   basically at a point here, from our perspective, that 

 4   we have a revenue-neutral rate design proceeding that 

 5   we are asking the Commission to resolve. 

 6                Now, on the rate design issue, Staff has 

 7   recommended that the Commission combine the current 

 8   districts into three -- three different districts: 

 9   The northeast, the southeast and the midwest. 

10   Staff's proposal to consolidate base rates into three 

11   geographic areas is quite similar to the company's 

12   original recommendations offered in the testimony of 

13   Pat Childers, and Atmos supports the Staff's 

14   proposal. 

15                Atmos also supports the Staff's proposal 

16   to consolidate the PGA part of the tariff into four 

17   areas.  Although we had originally proposed a 

18   state-wide consolidation so there would just be one 

19   PGA, we are certainly accepting the Staff's proposal 

20   to have four, which is certainly a step in the right 

21   direction. 

22                Staff is also recommending that the 

23   non-gas or the margin part of the rate, the margin 

24   costs, be recovered through a fixed monthly charge 

25   which is known as a delivery charge for residential 
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 1   and small commercial customers. 

 2                As Anne Ross explains in her testimony, 

 3   the delivery charge removes the disincentives for 

 4   utilities to encourage and assist customers in making 

 5   conservation and efficiency investments, and 

 6   secondly, reduces the effects of weather on the 

 7   utilities' revenues and on customers' bills. 

 8                I think she explains very well the many 

 9   benefits to customers in her testimony, and I would 

10   encourage you to review her testimony and ask her 

11   questions about the impact for consumers and the 

12   benefits.  This type of rate structure would provide 

13   Atmos with the opportunity to earn on its non-gas 

14   revenue requirement without regard to the weather 

15   impacts from any given year. 

16                While the company's original proposal 

17   contained this weather normalization adjustment 

18   mechanism, which is sometimes shorthanded as a WNA, 

19   after carefully considering the Staff's proposal on 

20   the delivery charge rate structure, the company is 

21   now supporting the adoption of Staff's rate design 

22   proposals in lieu of its original weather 

23   normalization adjustment mechanism. 

24                Atmos does recommend one minor 

25   modification to the Staff's proposal, and that is 
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 1   that it would seasonably sculpt that delivery charge 

 2   so that it would be slightly higher in the winter and 

 3   slightly lower in the summer.  However, Atmos can 

 4   accept Staff's delivery charge as its proposed if 

 5   that's the preference of the Commission.  Our 

 6   witness, Gary Smith, can discuss that sculpting 

 7   proposal. 

 8                The company is committed to educating 

 9   customers about the delivery charge prior to and 

10   during the implementation to ensure that customers 

11   understand the delivery charge will exist and the 

12   basis for that and understanding what it's all about. 

13   And Pat Childers can talk to you about that if you 

14   have an interest in that. 

15                In addition, the company has reviewed 

16   Ann Ross's rebuttal testimony encouraging the company 

17   to initiate energy audits for all residential 

18   customers, or at least to make them available to all 

19   residential customers. 

20                She also recommends the development of a 

21   home weatherization program for at least 30 

22   low-income customers on an annual basis.  Pat 

23   Childers, in her surrebuttal testimony, accepts that 

24   proposal and agrees to implement these proposals as 

25   described by the Staff. 
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 1                Now, having reviewed the Staff's 

 2   proposed customer classes, including the proposal to 

 3   split the general service into a small and a 

 4   general -- and a medium general service class, and 

 5   also its proposal to set the classes on a uniform 

 6   basis across the State of Missouri, the company has 

 7   agreed or is willing to accept the Staff's proposal 

 8   on rate design in that regard as well. 

 9                Now, Atmos does oppose the rate design 

10   proposal that's being advocated by the Office of the 

11   Public Counsel in this proceeding.  That proposal 

12   would essentially maintain the status quo.  Under 

13   Public Counsel's recommendation, there would be no 

14   progress toward the consolidation of these base rates 

15   in the PGA areas, and the company would not have an 

16   opportunity to mitigate the effects of weather on its 

17   customers' bills or on the company's earnings. 

18                Public Counsel also opposes the economic 

19   development rider and many of the other miscellaneous 

20   proposals that I'm gonna discuss shortly. 

21                Atmos is willing to accept the Staff's 

22   proposals on the miscellaneous utility-related 

23   charges.  Staff supports Mike Ensrud's 

24   recommendations in that regard regarding the 

25   reconnection fee to offset any delivery charges 
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 1   avoided by customers when they disconnect from the 

 2   system. 

 3                There are also a number of other 

 4   miscellaneous areas which Staff and Atmos are in 

 5   agreement.  These include changes to the 

 6   transportation tariffs including what are known as 

 7   cash-out provisions for the transportation tariff. 

 8   Staff also supports in their testimony the proposed 

 9   economic development rider that is endorsed by Atmos. 

10                Staff and Atmos are also in agreement, I 

11   think, on the company's main extension policy.  Staff 

12   has advocated only one exception to the company's 

13   main extension policy by proposing some additional 

14   language regarding refunds, and Atmos has accepted 

15   Staff's position on that and is willing to add the 

16   language suggested by Mike Ensrud in that -- in their 

17   final tariffs in this case. 

18                Now, as you just heard from Mr. Berlin 

19   yesterday, Atmos, the Staff and Public Counsel filed 

20   a stipulation and agreement which resolved a number 

21   of issues, and I'm not gonna repeat that at this 

22   point, but we'd be happy to answer any questions 

23   about that. 

24                We've withdrawn the proposal that we had 

25   included in our testimony on the research development 
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 1   rider and our suggestion that the uncollectible 

 2   expense be recovered through the PGA.  Also, issues 

 3   related to the Noranda contract have been resolved. 

 4                As more fully described in our 

 5   prehearing brief, Atmos and the Staff have no 

 6   significant areas of disagreement remaining in this 

 7   case.  While the Office of the Public Counsel 

 8   continues to object to the delivery charge rate 

 9   design advocated by Staff, such objections have been 

10   thoroughly discussed and rebutted by the prefiled 

11   testimony of Staff and the company witnesses. 

12                Resolution of this particular issue in 

13   favor of the Staff and Atmos's position will result 

14   in just and reasonable rates, and it's certainly 

15   going to be in the public interest. 

16                As stated by the Staff witness Anne Ross 

17   who sponsors this testimony, Staff believes that its 

18   rate design is a simple, understandable, appropriate 

19   recovery mechanism that decouples the cost of 

20   serving the customer from the customers' energy 

21   consumption. 

22                I want to point out that this is a 

23   wonderful opportunity for this Commission to do a 

24   great deal of good for a great number of people.  We 

25   have an opportunity in Missouri to align the interest 
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 1   of shareholders and customers. 

 2                Judge, on that point more than any 

 3   other, I think the company would agree with Staff, 

 4   and we would strongly urge you to accept this 

 5   delivery charge proposal that the Staff has 

 6   suggested.  This proposal is progressive and it 

 7   results in benefits to consumers as well as to the 

 8   company.  It will reduce the volatility of the 

 9   company's earnings, and it will give the customer the 

10   opportunity to better manage his energy bill in the 

11   future. 

12                Thank you very much for your attention, 

13   and we'll be happy to answer any questions. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you, Mr. Fischer. 

15   An opening statement from Staff? 

16                MR. BERLIN:  Just a minute, Judge. 

17   We're trying to get ready technically.  We're making 

18   an attempt to use the Smart Board technology.  I'm 

19   gonna have my assistant pull up a -- an overhead of 

20   the state that depicts the service area that 

21   Mr. Fischer talked about, and I have a copy that I 

22   can pass out. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

24                MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I think the Smart 

25   Board has outsmarted us. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I applaud you for giving 

 2   it a try. 

 3                MR. BERLIN:  What we're attempting to do 

 4   is put this overview of Atmos's service areas on the 

 5   screen so that it would provide an easy reference to 

 6   pointing out these particular areas.  Okay.  Thank 

 7   you, Sarah. 

 8                During my opening comments, I'll 

 9   probably use two other charts that are part of Ann 

10   Ross's surrebuttal and rebuttal testimony just for 

11   purposes of illustration. 

12                Good morning.  I'm Bob Berlin, and may 

13   it please the Commission, I am assisted today as a 

14   lead attorney by Kevin Thompson who will be 

15   addressing the issue of rate of return, return on 

16   equity and revenue requirement; Lera Shemwell who 

17   will be addressing the issue of depreciation; Steve 

18   Reed who will be addressing the issue of tariff 

19   charges and miscellaneous charges and related tariff 

20   issues.  I will be addressing the issue of rate 

21   design and PGA consolidation, district consolidation. 

22                I would like to begin my statement by 

23   saying that we have a really unique case here.  In 

24   fact, this is a case of first impression and a case 

25   of first impression for a number of reasons which I 
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 1   will go into. 

 2                Mr. Fischer talked about some of those 

 3   reasons, and I will attempt to flesh those reasons 

 4   out, and attempt to make it very clear what this case 

 5   is about. 

 6                First, I think we need to take a look at 

 7   Atmos's service areas on the map on the screen and 

 8   the map that is before you, and understand today that 

 9   Atmos is composed of seven separate districts that 

10   are spread across three distinct geographic service 

11   areas:  We have northeast Missouri, southeast 

12   Missouri, and we have western Missouri or west 

13   central Missouri on the opposite end of the state. 

14                Now, in northeast Missouri -- and I'm 

15   pointing to it now -- you can see that there are 

16   three separate districts in that geographic area. 

17   Kirksville area district on the western side is part 

18   of the old Associated Natural Gas Company acquired by 

19   Atmos in 2000.  In the middle is Hannibal, Canton, 

20   Bowling Green.  That district is part of the old 

21   United Cities Gas that was purchased by Atmos in 

22   1997. 

23                And on the far side of the northeast 

24   Missouri area is the Palmyra district.  That too is 

25   part of the old United Cities Gas Company acquired in 
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 1   1997. 

 2                Going to southeast Missouri, there are 

 3   two separate districts.  Now, on your map you can see 

 4   that on the far western southwestern corner of 

 5   southeast Missouri appear to be two counties that are 

 6   bolden out.  You should see a bold line.  Those two 

 7   counties represent approximately the service area of 

 8   the Neelyville district.  Neelyville -- and I'm 

 9   pointing to it -- is part of the old United Cities 

10   Gas Company bought in 1997. 

11                The remainder of southeast Missouri that 

12   I point to here is part of the old Associated Natural 

13   Gas Company acquired in 2000. 

14                Going to western Missouri, there's the 

15   Butler district.  Butler is the larger district and 

16   that is -- Butler district is part of the old 

17   Associated Natural Gas Company purchased in 2000. 

18                The southern western corner is called 

19   the Greeley district, and as Mr. Fischer explained, 

20   that is the old Greeley Gas Company, and that was 

21   purchased by Atmos in 1993. 

22                So today what we have is that Atmos is 

23   operating seven separate districts across the state. 

24   These seven separate districts are based on 

25   operational realities of Atmos's three predecessor 
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 1   companies:  The Greeley Gas Company purchased in 

 2   1993, United Cities bought in 1997, and the old 

 3   Associated Natural Gas Company bought in 2000. 

 4                What does this mean?  Well, with seven 

 5   districts, you have seven different customer charges, 

 6   you have seven different volumetric commodity 

 7   charges, you have seven PGA filings and there are 

 8   seven sets of miscellaneous charges. 

 9                In short, what Staff sees here are seven 

10   opportunities to create customer confusion, seven 

11   opportunities for needless customer confusion over 

12   billing, especially among the customers in adjoining 

13   or contiguous districts. 

14                As I point to the northeast Missouri 

15   district, there's three separate districts all 

16   adjoining each other.  One can only imagine the 

17   administrative inefficiencies involved in managing 

18   seven separate districts. 

19                In short, Atmos is an amalgamation, much 

20   like many of this state's utilities, but it operates 

21   a hodgepodge of old LDC's whose costs represent 

22   operational realities of the past.  Atmos Energy has 

23   never appeared in a general rate case before this 

24   Commission. 

25                Greeley Gas Company that I mentioned in 
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 1   the western part of Missouri, acquired in 1993, never 

 2   had a rate case before this Commission.  Its rates 

 3   were actually set on nonexistent costs in an 

 4   application case.  United Cities Gas, acquired in 

 5   1997, had its last rate case in 1994 in which its 

 6   rates were implemented in 1995.  Associated Natural 

 7   Gas, acquired in 2000, had its last rate case in 1997, 

 8   and its rates were implemented that same year. 

 9                Now, Staff believes quite strongly that 

10   the time is now to consolidate districts.  Staff 

11   proposes the consolidation of these seven separate 

12   districts into three separate operating areas and 

13   four separate PGA districts, and let me explain 

14   again. 

15                For purposes of determining cost of 

16   operations, cost of service to the customer, Atmos 

17   will have the three geographic areas that you see on 

18   the screen or on your map:  Northeast Missouri, 

19   southeast Missouri and western Missouri.  And again, 

20   I can't emphasize enough that these three operational 

21   areas represent today's operational realities and 

22   today's operational costs. 

23                Now, going to PGA, Atmos, in Staff's 

24   opinion and Staff's proposal, should have four 

25   separate PGA districts.  Now, why the number four? 
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 1   Well, let me explain:  The number of PGA districts 

 2   was determined by Staff based upon how the interstate 

 3   pipelines serve those particular areas, or where the 

 4   gas supply comes from, what particular supply basin 

 5   the pipeline brings the gas. 

 6                Staff witness Tom Imhoff can provide 

 7   many of the answers to any questions you have with 

 8   regard to the cost of those interstate pipelines and 

 9   how they relate. 

10                I would like to point out that with four 

11   PGA districts, the geographical area that will have 

12   two districts for PGA purposes is northeast Missouri. 

13   There will be a Kirksville PGA district, and the 

14   remainder of the northeast Missouri service area will 

15   be another district.  The driver, again, for that is 

16   how the interstate pipelines serve those areas and 

17   the costs related to those interstate pipelines. 

18                I would also like to mention that on a 

19   statewide basis the Staff proposes that miscellaneous 

20   charges which are based on Atmos's true cost of 

21   operations, true cost of service, that the services 

22   related to those charges such as things like 

23   reconnection or insufficient funds, that those 

24   charges be uniform throughout the state.  It just 

25   makes sense. 
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 1                Now, when I started my opening 

 2   statement, I said this is a case of first impression, 

 3   and I need to go into the other reasons why this -- 

 4   this case is a case of first impression.  It is 

 5   certainly a landmark case for Staff.  And why is 

 6   that?  Well, to begin with, this is a zero revenue 

 7   requirement case.  The Staff's proposed rate design 

 8   in a zero revenue requirement situation, customers 

 9   will pay no more to Atmos than what they are paying 

10   now.  Atmos will take the same amount of revenue from 

11   the State as they are taking today. 

12                Now, in its direct case, Atmos filed for 

13   a $3.6 million rate increase.  The Staff, based on 

14   its audit and analysis, determined in its direct case 

15   a negative $1.2 million revenue requirement.  After 

16   holding a rate design technical conference and a 

17   week-long settlement conference, Staff became aware 

18   of the various positions of the parties on many 

19   different issues. 

20                And in consideration of the positions of 

21   the parties on other issues, Staff firmly believes 

22   that the current rates are just and reasonable under 

23   this revenue requirement.  And let me give you an 

24   example.  Staff developed its $1.2 million negative 

25   requirement in its direct case using a 9.0 return on 
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 1   equity. 

 2                Staff -- Staff recognizes that this 

 3   Commission has never awarded a single-digit return on 

 4   equity.  Though Staff believes that it can defend its 

 5   9.0 return on equity, we are being realistic and 

 6   recognize that this Commission has, in the past, 

 7   awarded any number from 10 to 10.5 on return on 

 8   equity.  And I understand that the Commission 

 9   recently awarded 11 percent return on equity in a 

10   past rate case.  I believe it might have been Empire. 

11                Now, that was just one piece of it. 

12   There was a couple other issues.  There was the issue 

13   of amortization, the issue of uncollectibles.  When 

14   considering the positions of the parties on those 

15   issues, all three of those issues, it's quite 

16   possible that if the Commission were to adopt those 

17   positions, that that negative $1.2 million would be 

18   erased and could possibly move this case into a 

19   positive revenue requirement.  That is possible. 

20                Now, Staff witness Steve Rackers can 

21   fully explain how these different positions affect 

22   the revenue requirement.  But what I have tried to 

23   explain is that there is a certain flex in that 

24   number.  Staff firmly believes that that number 

25   represents -- the number of the zero revenue 
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 1   requirement -- represents a very fair revenue 

 2   requirement at just and reasonable rates. 

 3                I think that you will see that Staff, 

 4   based on its prefiled testimony and any evidence from 

 5   the testimony presented here today, that that zero 

 6   revenue requirement is, indeed, just and reasonable. 

 7                Now, moving forward, the real 

 8   centerpiece of Staff's case here, what makes this 

 9   truly a case of first impression, is Staff's rate 

10   design proposal.  Staff's rate design is a design 

11   that strikes the greatest fairness for all customers 

12   of Atmos. 

13                Staff proposes a simple two-part rate 

14   design.  First, we break out the fixed delivery 

15   charges to cover the cost of service, simply the cost 

16   of providing gas service to the customer.  That cost 

17   of service.  The other piece of a customer's bill is 

18   the PGA.  That is the pass-through to the customer, 

19   the actual cost of the gas that that customer uses. 

20                We believe that is simple -- that is a 

21   simple approach, certainly one that would be easily 

22   understood.  But as Mr. Fischer talked about, Staff 

23   really believes it strikes the very best fair and 

24   equitable approach to rate design for the customer. 

25                And yes, it does balance the interest of 
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 1   the customer with the shareholder.  And I'll talk a 

 2   little bit more about that in a minute, but I think 

 3   it's important now to take a look at what is an 

 4   average residential customer and what does that 

 5   customer use, what do they use gas for and how much 

 6   do they use?  And so I'd like to go to -- can you, 

 7   Sarah?  And what -- what she's bringing up is the 

 8   average residential annual CCF usage and typical 

 9   residential usage that is part of Staff witness Anne 

10   Ross's testimony.  That's okay.  I think we can go 

11   there.  And I do have copies of that too, to provide 

12   to you. 

13                What you see on the screen and on the 

14   handout that I just passed out to you is a graph 

15   prepared by Anne Ross in her surrebuttal testimony 

16   just showing the average residential annual CCF gas 

17   usage by service territory, the service territory 

18   being the three geographic areas in the state: 

19   Northeast Missouri, west-central or southeast 

20   Missouri. 

21                And you can see what the average gas 

22   consumption is per residence.  Sarah, if you could 

23   scroll down.  Now, what are typical residential end 

24   uses?  And this is on Anne Ross's surrebuttal, I 

25   should point out for the record, on page 6. 
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 1                Well, pretty easy to understand that 

 2   space heating is the big driver of gas consumption, 

 3   640 CCF annual.  The next big driver is water heating 

 4   at 288, gas fireplace inserts, 84, and then stove 

 5   cooking, 24.  I don't know if that includes barbecue 

 6   grills or not, but -- 

 7                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  At least we hope 

 8   so. 

 9                MR. BERLIN:  But if you've got a 

10   gas-fired barbecue grill, you can understand a little 

11   bit about what you're consuming as a result of using 

12   it.  And that's a snapshot of what a typical resident 

13   uses gas for and how much they use it in each of the 

14   three geographic service areas served by Atmos. 

15                Now, I think we should take a look at 

16   the status quo.  What is happening today?  What you 

17   see on the screen, I believe on the second page of 

18   this handout, is today's situation, and I'd like to 

19   just walk you through this. 

20                This is also part of Anne Ross's -- this 

21   is part of her rebuttal testimony, but this gives you 

22   an overview of what's happening today.  You can see 

23   that we've broken this out by the seven operating 

24   districts served by Atmos today. 

25                We can take a look here and see, for 
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 1   example, the northeast service area.  We have the 

 2   Kirksville district, the Palmyra district, and then 

 3   that Hannibal/Canton/Bowling Green district.  And you 

 4   can see that the -- there's a variety of customer 

 5   charges there:  $7 at Kirksville, 9.05 in Palmyra and 

 6   seven and a quarter over at Hannibal/Canton/Bowling 

 7   Green.  Each of those districts also has a different 

 8   volumetric rate that is charged to the commodity. 

 9   You can see that it varies from seven and a half 

10   cents all the way to over 25 cents. 

11                So what does that mean in terms of what 

12   the customer is paying in the non-gas margin costs? 

13   Well, if you're -- if you live in Kirksville, you're 

14   getting a pretty good deal because during the year, 

15   if you're using 720 CCF, that is, a year, you're only 

16   gonna pay $138 in margin costs. 

17                However, if you happen to live in 

18   Hannibal, Canton or Bowling Green, you will pay 

19   substantially more in non-gas margin costs at the 

20   same amount of gas consumption at $269.  And you can 

21   see, going down that chart, the western district -- 

22   western operating area or western service area of 

23   Greeley district and Butler district, there's a 

24   really low service charge for Greeley, but of course, 

25   we know that that was set in an application case back 
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 1   in 1993. 

 2                But they make up for it, though, when 

 3   you look at their volumetric commodity charge there 

 4   at 31 -- almost 32 cents.  That cost of service for 

 5   non-gas margin is $290.  Butler's is a little bit 

 6   more reasonable at 213, certainly still far ahead of 

 7   Kirksville.  Going to southeast Missouri, you can see 

 8   pretty much similar results.  If you live in 

 9   Neelyville, you're paying a lot more.  If you're 

10   living in Sikeston or New Madrid, you got a good 

11   deal. 

12                That's today's rate design.  That is the 

13   status quo rate design.  That is the rate design that 

14   Public Counsel is embracing for Missouri customers. 

15                Now, Staff believes that this is the 

16   best time for this Commission to recognize these 

17   inequities caused by the status quo, and that the 

18   rate that Public Counsel wants to inflict on 

19   customers, well, it's just time to make a change, 

20   it's time to do the right thing. 

21                And before I -- I leave this topic, I'd 

22   kind of like to give you a little bit of background 

23   on the why and how these different charges came into 

24   being because in light of today's environment, they 

25   just radiate, you know, a question of why.  How is 
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 1   this reflective of what is happening today?  What are 

 2   the operational cost realities we experience today? 

 3                Well, I think it's important to know 

 4   that these rates were set long ago, back in the day 

 5   when utilities were developing and implementing huge 

 6   capital investments, huge capital investments that 

 7   were needed to achieve a critical mass so that they 

 8   could offer gas service to customers in their 

 9   respective certificated areas. 

10                Utilities we all know are capital- 

11   intensive businesses.  And as any business person 

12   knows, you can't make money or get any return on your 

13   investment unless you have a customer who is willing 

14   to buy your service and, of course, a customer who 

15   actually pays for your service. 

16                Why did the utilities price their 

17   service charges so low?  Well, back in that day, it 

18   was needed to attract customers, possibly customers 

19   who were using propane service.  Perhaps they were 

20   all electric.  But those low service charges were 

21   needed to bring them onboard.  And the utility needed 

22   those customers to help pay for that massive capital 

23   investment. 

24                And they did that knowing that they 

25   would recover their fixed cost or a portion of them 
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 1   in that service charge, but they also knew at the 

 2   time that they'd recover hopefully the balance of 

 3   their fixed costs, their cost of service from the 

 4   commodity charge, a commodity charge passed onto 

 5   customers, paid by customers based upon the amount of 

 6   gas that they bought, whether they're firing up a 

 7   barbecue grill or whether they're space and 

 8   water-heating their homes. 

 9                And this made perfect -- perfectly good 

10   sense back then because, as you remember, most of us, 

11   many of us were around back then, those were the days 

12   of very cheap gas, a cheap commodity that was priced 

13   very attractively in the market and could entice 

14   customers to come onboard the gas utility. 

15                And that old pricing mechanism, the one 

16   that is in effect today, allowed the recovery of 

17   fixed cost and let the utility offer truly low and 

18   unrealistic service charges in light of today's 

19   costs. 

20                Now, we know the days of cheap gas are 

21   long gone.  Gas costs today are about 80 percent of a 

22   customer's bill.  There's been a turnaround in what 

23   that bill looks like.  Customers are getting walloped 

24   on cost of gas.  Service charges are but a small 

25   portion of customers' bills today.  The service 
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 1   charges are approximately 20 percent.  It's an 80/20 

 2   break, couple percent either way. 

 3                Now, Staff proposes a fixed delivery 

 4   charge for the cost of service for each of the three 

 5   geographical areas.  Those three service areas are 

 6   based -- or the customer charge would be based on the 

 7   company's cost of providing service to that area. 

 8                Now, what Staff's rate design does, is 

 9   that it represents the operational realities of 

10   today.  It ensures that each customer pays the right 

11   price for gas service, the true price, and that no 

12   customer overpays for service, no customer underpays. 

13   Similarly situated residential customers will pay the 

14   same delivery charge.  What does that mean? 

15                It means that if I'm space and 

16   water-heating my home and using gas to cook with, and 

17   fire up a fireplace, it means that my cost of that 

18   service will be the same as that customer that has 

19   decided to only use it for cooking or maybe even a 

20   fireplace purpose. 

21                Because when you think of this, the cost 

22   of providing service to one house is the same cost of 

23   providing that gas service to another house.  Cost of 

24   providing gas service to a resident is not a function 

25   of how much gas flows through the line; it's a 
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 1   function of all the fixed cost that the company has 

 2   to put that service -- bring that service to 

 3   residents. 

 4                Now, Staff believes its rate design is 

 5   truly a sea change from the way business was done in 

 6   the past.  We know that.  You know, it's never too 

 7   late to make the right decision, and this is what 

 8   Staff believes that it is doing with this rate design 

 9   because it is simply the most efficient way to price 

10   service to customers.  It's the best way to send a 

11   very clear price message and to allow that customer 

12   to make their own decisions regarding how they use 

13   gas or whether they use gas. 

14                Staff's design is all about fairness. 

15   No customer subsidizes another.  Each customer pays 

16   their fair share.  Now, with this hodgepodge of old 

17   gas LDC's that make up today's Atmos, and today's 

18   operational cost realities and the unique opportunity 

19   that a zero revenue requirement case presents to this 

20   Commission, Staff believes quite strongly its rate 

21   design offers the fairest deal to customers. 

22                It not only balances the interest of 

23   customers with the shareholders, but it truly 

24   balances the interests of the customers so that the 

25   customer who uses more gas need not subsidize that 
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 1   customer who uses less gas for some discretionary 

 2   purpose.  And a customer who uses -- and we know the 

 3   customer who uses the most gas is one who's using it 

 4   for space and water heating.  This is about equity, 

 5   it's about fairness. 

 6                And before I close, I want to address 

 7   how Staff's rate design affects this issue of 

 8   business risk.  Much is talked about business risk, 

 9   and it's certainly a valid issue.  Staff's design 

10   does remove weather as a business risk when compared 

11   against today's status quo rate design because 

12   Staff's rate design is intended for the company to 

13   have an opportunity, not a guarantee, but an 

14   opportunity to recover its fixed costs of service in 

15   a -- in a fixed delivery charge as opposed to a 

16   commodity charge. 

17                Now, much is talked about this reduction 

18   of business risk, but it is a two-way street here. 

19   Staff's rate design also removes risk from the 

20   customer with regard to bad weather because under 

21   today's rate design, and the ways of the old rate 

22   design with high fixed commodity charges that are 

23   passed through to that customer on buying, the 

24   situation is, you've got the gas utility in one 

25   corner of the room, you have the customer in the 
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 1   other, they come to the middle and they sit at the 

 2   table and place their bets today. 

 3                The gas utility bets on, well, we sure 

 4   hope that we don't have a warmer-than-normal winter 

 5   because we're not gonna recover our fixed costs, our 

 6   cost of service.  The customer, on the other hand, 

 7   and not much is ever talked about this, and there's a 

 8   pretty obvious reason why, because we have been 

 9   fortunate and experienced warmer-than-normal weather. 

10                But when that cold weather hits, that 

11   customer will be pulling out cash out of its pockets 

12   and throwing it at the utility and the utility will 

13   be glad to take that money because that's the way the 

14   rate design today is designed. 

15                And there is a fairness issue involved 

16   here.  I don't think that's fair.  And I think, 

17   recognizing that today's rate design, the status quo 

18   is designed to recover fixed costs on a volumetric 

19   basis, those costs are paid by the customer today in 

20   four months of the year. 

21                And so when you look at Staff's rate 

22   design, you have to understand that those costs are 

23   spread out across the year.  And so the customer, 

24   most customers will experience lower gas bills in the 

25   winter, because under the volumetric design, when 
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 1   you're buying the most gas and the customer needs the 

 2   most help, you're not -- you won't be paying as much 

 3   when you're -- as when -- in the current way where 

 4   you front all those costs during a four-month period 

 5   when you're just sucking gas out of a line to heat 

 6   your house. 

 7                We have Staff witness Anne Ross who will 

 8   provide the testimony on rate design and 

 9   consolidation, and the other witnesses that I have 

10   talked about who will be present today. 

11                And in closing, I would just like to 

12   urge this Commission that now is the opportunity to 

13   do the right thing.  Now is the opportunity to strike 

14   a truly fair balance of interest and to protect 

15   customers and to remove the situation where one high- 

16   use customer may subsidize the low discretionary use 

17   of another customer, and it is simply the fairest 

18   pricing mechanism that can be made to that customer. 

19   And we think it's the right thing for this Commission 

20   to do to protect Missouri customers. 

21                And I appreciate your attention, and 

22   that concludes my opening remarks, and we are 

23   available to answer questions as may be needed. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you, Mr. Berlin. 

25   I just have a couple questions for you before you 
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 1   step down. 

 2                MR. BERLIN:  Sure. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is the map that you have 

 4   of the service territories, is that what you had 

 5   premarked on your exhibit list as Exhibit 100? 

 6                MR. BERLIN:  Correct. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And in your -- 

 8   the information that you put up also that was out of 

 9   Ms. Ross's testimony, there was a slight discrepancy, 

10   and maybe this is accounted for elsewhere, but on the 

11   presentation information, the very beginning it said 

12   northeast, the average residential annual CCF usage 

13   was 836, and I believe in her testimony it says 835. 

14   Is that just an error? 

15                MR. BERLIN:  I would have to have her 

16   answer the difference of 835 and 836.  I can't answer 

17   that. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We'll -- we'll 

19   clarify that when we get to her testimony which 

20   number is correct there.  Okay.  That's all.  I also 

21   just wanted to state for those of you that noticed, 

22   before we begin, Ms. Shemwell did hand me a Diet 

23   Coke, and if anyone thinks that that will bias me 

24   toward Staff, I just want to get that on the record. 

25                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Judge, can I ask 
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 1   one? 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Oh, sure.  Commissioner 

 3   Appling, you had a question? 

 4                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Mr. Berlin, will 

 5   you step back one step and put your map back up there 

 6   again? 

 7                MR. BERLIN:  Sure.  Sarah, are you able 

 8   to call that back up? 

 9                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  If you can't, 

10   then I think everybody probably has a copy of it.  I 

11   just -- this is just serving as a reminder, and I'm 

12   not trying to get ahead of anyone here.  And what I 

13   hear you saying, there is just and reasonable rates 

14   and I will listen to OPC very carefully. 

15                But I just want this to serve as a 

16   reminder that the south part of this map down there 

17   in Moreland and Caruthersville and all that, if 

18   you've been down there lately or earlier or years 

19   ago, you realize that this is one of the most 

20   economic depressed areas in the whole state. 

21                And I get in front of the company, you 

22   or anyone else here, I'm just saying as we march down 

23   the road to the south, just before we get to 

24   Arkansas, we need to be reminded that this is a low, 

25   depressed economical area.  Just keep that in mind. 
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 1   Thank you very much, sir. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there an 

 3   opening statement from Public Counsel? 

 4                MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you.  Good 

 5   morning.  My name is Mark Poston, and I'm here on 

 6   behalf of the Office of Public Counsel and the 

 7   public.  And I wish I could point to a team of 

 8   attorneys behind me that were supporting me here but 

 9   I'm all you're gonna get today. 

10                As you know, Mr. Fischer -- as 

11   Mr. Fischer stated, Atmos came in originally asking 

12   for a more than $3 million increase in rates.  And 

13   after a thorough review, the Commission's Staff 

14   replied that not only is that Atmos entitled -- not 

15   entitled to any revenue increase, but Atmos is 

16   earning more from ratepayers than necessary by 

17   approximately $1.2 million annually. 

18                Despite this, Staff and Atmos appeared 

19   to have agreed to no increase and no decrease.  This 

20   begs the question, why is Staff not pursuing the 

21   $1.2 million of annual over-earnings?  We haven't 

22   seen any agreement filed between Staff and Atmos 

23   where concessions have been made, but apparently 

24   concessions have been made. 

25                And what does Atmos get out of this 
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 1   deal?  Atmos gets a lot.  First, they get Staff to 

 2   back off and not file a complaint due to Atmos's 

 3   excess earnings.  Second, Atmos gets Staff's support 

 4   for a rate design proposal that would essentially 

 5   guarantee Atmos will receive more than a mere 

 6   opportunity to earn a fair return as required by law, 

 7   but will instead guarantee a return by completely 

 8   removing all weather-related risk, removing all 

 9   conservation-related risk and other risk factors. 

10                And this unprecedented change in rate 

11   design was more than enough to convince Atmos to 

12   quickly back off every penny of its rate increase and 

13   settle with Staff for zero.  That alone is very 

14   telling of what the rate design proposal will do. 

15                Atmos also gets a number of other perks 

16   including changes designed to reduce its 

17   administrative burden such as consolidated rates and 

18   miscellaneous charges up front, recovery of the cost 

19   of certain main extensions and more.  What does Staff 

20   get out of this deal?  In our opinion, very little. 

21   What do ratepayers get out of the deal?  Even less. 

22                One of the biggest detriments to Staff's 

23   decoupling rate design proposal is that it will 

24   eliminate entirely any benefits the customers will 

25   receive from conservation related to the service 
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 1   regulated by this Commission. 

 2                At a time when NARUC, NASUCA, and state 

 3   commissions around the company are encouraging 

 4   conservation and efficiency and implementing programs 

 5   to achieve those goals, Staff presents the Commission 

 6   with a rate design proposal that should be labeled a 

 7   conservation mitigation rate design. 

 8                Customers expect to be rewarded for 

 9   their conservation efforts, and the Staff's proposal 

10   will deny customers that opportunity and will be 

11   contrary to their expectations. 

12                Another criticism of the Staff's rate 

13   design proposal is that it makes absolutely no 

14   adjustment for the reduction in risk that will happen 

15   if all weather-related risks are removed and the 

16   other risks identified.  Staff did not take the 

17   reduction of risk into account when it proposed its 

18   rate of return which would suggest that the Staff's 

19   1.2 million excess calculation should be even 

20   greater. 

21                Mr. Fischer stated that OPC's 7.0 return 

22   on equity proposal was lower than any previously 

23   approved by the Commission and I believe he said the 

24   past 30 years.  I would reply that the Commission has 

25   not completely eliminated weather and other risks 
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 1   like it would do if it approves Staff's decoupling 

 2   proposal. 

 3                The evidence presented at this hearing 

 4   and the argument made in Public Counsel's post 

 5   hearing brief will show that Staff's decoupling 

 6   proposal was terribly understudied before its 

 7   proposal.  Decades of ratemaking by this Commission 

 8   has resulted in a traditional rate design that allows 

 9   gas distribution companies to recover their margin 

10   costs through a two-part rate, a fixed rate element 

11   and a volumetric element. 

12                This Commission has repeatedly found 

13   this former rate design to be just, reasonable in the 

14   public interest.  Now the Staff wants to make a 

15   historical change.  Change alone is not bad.  There 

16   can be better ways to do things, and the Commission 

17   must be able to respond to new problems that arise 

18   under the old ways of doing things. 

19                But to make a huge change to something 

20   as important as how you design the rates paid by the 

21   public, the public deserves nothing less than a 

22   thorough review of all data necessary to fully 

23   analyze the impact the change will make on ratepayers 

24   in the industry.  And the Commission itself 

25   deserves -- deserves nothing less than all necessary 
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 1   data and the best study possible. 

 2                Unfortunately, the coupling rate design 

 3   proposal before the Commission was proposed before 

 4   any real data analysis was performed, and is 

 5   insufficient to remotely support what is being 

 6   proposed.  Sure, the supporters have come in after 

 7   the proposal and tried to prop it up, but those 

 8   attempts are based on unsupported reasoning rather 

 9   than hard data. 

10                And then there's the policy aspect of 

11   the recommended change.  Is it good public policy for 

12   the Commission in a case where the evidence suggests 

13   a rate decrease should be the result because the 

14   company's over-earning, is it good public policy for 

15   the Commission to make a change that could be 

16   detrimental to all small low-use customers to the 

17   benefit of the larger gas users? 

18                In the last MGE rate case, this 

19   Commission got it right and concluded just two years 

20   ago that dumping cost on low-use customers is 

21   contrary to good public policy.  Nothing has changed 

22   to make this shift to low-use customers suddenly to 

23   become good public policy. 

24                We see the value in ensuring that Atmos 

25   has a reasonable opportunity to earn a fair return, 
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 1   allowing it to continue providing safe and reliable 

 2   gas service.  In that scenario everyone wins, 

 3   shareholders and customers alike, but this proposal 

 4   is extremely lopsided.  Where are the consumer 

 5   protections?  What do consumers get?  They get 

 6   Staff's hope that Atmos will encourage conservation 

 7   efficiency while removing a portion of the economic 

 8   incentive to customers to conserve. 

 9                Atmos will be getting a rate design 

10   unprecedented in Missouri and unprecedented 

11   nationally.  Nothing like this exists anywhere and 

12   for good reason.  Other states that have moved toward 

13   to weather mitigation, former rate design, couple 

14   that with conservation and efficiency programs. 

15   Because when you take away a customer's ability to 

16   see benefits from conservation, the customer deserves 

17   something in return. 

18                The Staff proposes absolutely no new or 

19   net customer benefits with its rate design proposal. 

20   We ask that you reject this rate design.  If there 

21   comes a time when the current rate design proves to 

22   be insufficient, which it does not appear to be since 

23   the company is earning 1.2 million more than 

24   necessary, then make changes.  But here we have a 

25   company over-earning, and in no need of locking in a 
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 1   rate design that will ensure it continues to 

 2   over-earn. 

 3                If the Commission agrees with Staff and 

 4   wants to guarantee Atmos's recovery of all margin 

 5   costs, the public deserves that the rates 

 6   guaranteeing such recovery are initially set to allow 

 7   recovery of no more than is necessary to cover margin 

 8   costs.  The rates should not be set to cover margin 

 9   plus 1.2 million. 

10                In fact, it's hard to see how the 

11   Commission could resolve this case at zero increase 

12   and zero decrease without including that certain 

13   aspects of Staff's testimony is reasonable and 

14   likewise for Atmos's testimony. 

15                Staff, however, appears to be saying 

16   that our expertise has determined -- or their 

17   expertise has determined that Atmos is already 

18   recovering more than necessary.  We're not going to 

19   allow that. 

20                Oh, and by the way, for you low-use 

21   customers, even though the company's not getting a 

22   rate increase and deserves a rate decrease, we're 

23   raising your rates by as much as 173 percent.  This 

24   absolutely does not make sense. 

25                Something else that does not make sense 
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 1   is consolidating districts under the extremely false 

 2   premise that the cost to serve a customer is equal 

 3   in every -- excuse me, in every district.  This 

 4   premise in Staff's testimony completely ignores a 

 5   study by another Staff witness that shows there 

 6   really are differences in costs per district.  The 

 7   costs of each district are different. 

 8                I'm not going to address each and every 

 9   remaining issue, but I will address one last issue 

10   and that's depreciation.  Staff's intentions here are 

11   good.  They see a benefit from lowering depreciation 

12   expense by 591,000.  Normally, you would expect 

13   Public Counsel to be in favor of a proposal that 

14   lowered expenses. 

15                But this time we cannot support this 

16   proposal for two reasons:  One, by taking 591,000 

17   from accumulated depreciation reserve and adding it 

18   back into rate base, the Commission would essentially 

19   be requiring rate fares to once again pay for a plant 

20   that already depreciated and force them to pay a 

21   return on top of this addition to rate base. 

22                The second reason we don't support this 

23   proposal is that it would constitute poor accounting 

24   practices and we cannot support that.  Staff's 

25   testimony is clear in stating Atmos has failed to 
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 1   follow the Commission's rules and has failed to keep 

 2   data to enable anyone, Staff, Atmos, OPC, the 

 3   Commission, to conduct a proper depreciation analysis 

 4   based on known and measurable data.  Despite this, 

 5   Staff agrees to go along with the 591,000 reductions 

 6   to depreciation reserves simply because Atmos -- 

 7   Atmos's management thinks it's a good idea.  That 

 8   reasoning is absurd and it's clearly not supported by 

 9   any data in this record. 

10                I'm the first to admit that depreciation 

11   is a very complex issue, so I strongly encourage you 

12   to ask Mr. Trippensee to walk you through this 

13   reasoning.  He's been doing this for a long time, and 

14   he can explain this to you even if it takes him 

15   getting up on the Smart Board and doing a little 

16   accounting 101 which he had to do with me and explain 

17   why this proposal should be rejected. 

18                In conclusion, we see the most important 

19   issue before the Commission to the rate design 

20   proposal.  I think everyone agrees with that. 

21                Staff's decoupling rate design proposal 

22   is harmful to consumers because, one, the impact of 

23   the proposal is truly not known without sufficient 

24   studies; two, customer efforts to conserve energy 

25   will be negated; three, no conservation or efficiency 
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 1   programs have been introduced; and four, it will be 

 2   contrary to good public policy in that it will shift 

 3   a substantial portion of the cost to the lowest use 

 4   customers.  We encourage you to reject this proposal 

 5   and not disrupt customers in a case where the company 

 6   has backed off its requested rate increase and where 

 7   no changes are necessary.  Thank you. 

 8                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there an 

 9   opening statement from Noranda? 

10                MR. FULTON:  Yes, briefly.  May it 

11   please the Commission, Commissioner Appling, Noranda 

12   is located in that poor -- poor part of the state 

13   down in the Boot Heel of Missouri.  In testimony 

14   filed by Mr. George Swogger, who, unfortunately, was 

15   caught up by the weather up in Kingdom City and won't 

16   be here, we have spelled out how important Noranda is 

17   to the Boot Heel area, not just New Madrid County 

18   where it's located and which it supplies over 

19   one-third of the revenues -- the tax revenues for the 

20   school districts and for the county, but also for the 

21   entire region down there. 

22                We've also incorporated in there some 

23   testimony from two of the representatives down there, 

24   the county administrator.  And at the hearing in 

25   Sikeston, the administrator of the -- director of the 
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 1   sheltered workshop testified about the importance of 

 2   Noranda. 

 3                Noranda is a large company.  Its a 

 4   corporation.  Its revenues are derived by what the 

 5   world economy dictates.  We do not center on prices, 

 6   we do not have guaranteed -- well, we don't have the 

 7   opportunity to earn a fair rate of return if the 

 8   economy does not see fit to do so. 

 9                As such, we have to watch what our 

10   expenses are.  If we do not pare our expense to the 

11   bone, we cannot compete, we cannot support our 

12   community.  We are part of the community, but we have 

13   to be able to keep our expenses down.  There has been 

14   a couple of statements made during the course of 

15   these opening statements that I think are important 

16   to note. 

17                Well, by way of background, 

18   approximately four years ago in an effort to keep our 

19   costs down, Noranda entered into a special contract 

20   with Atmos whereby they'd provide delivery services 

21   to us.  We purchase our gas elsewhere but they 

22   provide the transportation services to us under 

23   special contract. 

24                In the initial phase of this proceeding, 

25   it appeared that the special contract was going to be 
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 1   at issue.  However, during the course of a -- some 

 2   discussions, it was asked of us what does Noranda 

 3   want?  Noranda believes that it's actually paying 

 4   more than what the cost of service is under the 

 5   special contract.  But we have six more -- we have 

 6   been under this contract for four years, we have six 

 7   more years to run.  We've met our contract, we're 

 8   willing to live with our contract notwithstanding 

 9   it's a little bit above what we believe the costs 

10   are. 

11                When asked what it was that Noranda 

12   wanted at these conferences, we specified we want to 

13   be left alone.  What you have heard today by 

14   Mr. Fischer and also by Mr. Berlin is that they're 

15   going to leave Noranda and its contract alone. 

16   They're also going to leave alone the management to 

17   the Hannibal hospital contract. 

18                As such, Noranda no longer has a dog in 

19   this fight.  They're going -- it's -- the statements 

20   are that the rates are just and reasonable, we're 

21   prepared to live with that.  And as such, we would 

22   ask permission of this Commission to go home so we 

23   can save Noranda a little bit more money.  We will 

24   waive our right to cross-examine the witnesses, and 

25   we will also waive our right to object to the other 
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 1   testimony.  I thank you.  Anybody have any questions 

 2   I'll be happy to answer any. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Appling, 

 4   did you have any questions? 

 5                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I think just a 

 6   couple.  Mr. Fulton, how are you doing this morning? 

 7                MR. FULTON:  I'm doing fine, Judge, 

 8   Commissioner. 

 9                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I wish I was 

10   a judge, but I'm not, so I'll just stick with the 

11   Commissioner for a while. 

12                But anyway, what you're telling me this 

13   morning that Noranda is pleased with what the Staff 

14   is putting forth. 

15                MR. FULTON:  What -- what we're 

16   telling -- what I'm telling you today is Noranda is 

17   not taking a position with regards to the other 

18   issues before this Commission to specifically -- the 

19   rate design issues which is, I really believe, the 

20   fundamental thing, that do not impact upon our 

21   contract.  Those rate design issues do not impact 

22   Noranda. 

23                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Is that correct, 

24   Staff? 

25                MR. BERLIN:  Yes. 
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 1                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Okay. 

 2   Mr. Fulton, thank you very much, and you need to stay 

 3   around a little bit and get a little of this cold 

 4   weather.  It's kind of warm down in your district, 

 5   okay? 

 6                MR. FULTON:  Well, I'm in Fredericktown, 

 7   and actually, it's about 50 miles -- 100 miles north 

 8   of where Noranda is, so I'm going to be getting it 

 9   too.  But I appreciate it, Commissioner.  Thank you. 

10                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Thank you very 

11   much. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  And 

13   Mr. Fulton, you -- with the caveat that, of course, 

14   you will give up any rights to cross-examine and to 

15   present further evidence and so forth, you may be 

16   excused from your presence here when you're ready to 

17   go.  I will ask that if there would happen to be a 

18   question tomorrow from some of the Commissioners, 

19   that your witnesses be available by telephone if 

20   that's possible. 

21                MR. FULTON:  That's certainly possible, 

22   and I will also be available by telephone. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right. 

24                MR. FULTON:  Thank you. 

25                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I think that this 
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 1   is a good place then to take a short break.  We'll 

 2   break for 15 minutes and we'll come back just like 17 

 3   after the hour.  Thank you. 

 4                (A RECESS WAS TAKEN.) 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go ahead 

 6   and go back on the record.  Remind everyone that if 

 7   you were using your cell phones while you were out at 

 8   break, if you'd make sure those are turned back off. 

 9                Okay.  I think we're ready to begin then 

10   with Atmos's case, and we've rearranged the order of 

11   the witnesses just a little bit.  Atmos has given the 

12   court reporter a copy of all of its exhibits that 

13   were premarked. 

14                Mr. Fischer? 

15                MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your -- well, at any 

16   rate, we'll call Pat Childers. 

17                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And we also 

18   previously dispensed with the preliminaries for the 

19   witnesses, but I will swear Ms. Childers in.  Please 

20   raise your right hand. 

21                (The witness was sworn.) 

22   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

23         Q.     Good morning, Ms. Childers.  I wanted to 

24   let you know that your testimony's been marked as 

25   Exhibit 5, your direct; rebuttal, 6; and surrebuttal 
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 1   is 7.  Do you have any corrections or changes you 

 2   need to make to any of those testimonies? 

 3         A.     No, I do not. 

 4                MR. FISCHER:  Judge, then I tender her 

 5   for cross-examination. 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I did have one question. 

 7   I notice that her -- on the premarked exhibit list, 

 8   her testimony was marked as 5 HC and NP, but I didn't 

 9   see actually that there was any highly confidential; 

10   is that correct? 

11                MR. FISCHER:  There are two schedules 

12   that have some special-contracts revenues on the HC 

13   version that are redacted from the other, and that's 

14   the only change. 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Is that the same 

16   as filed in EFIS originally? 

17                MR. FISCHER:  I believe there was a 

18   subsequent filing that did clarify that. 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Oh, okay.  Okay.  So I 

20   just looked at it and it was not confidential on 

21   EFIS, but there's a subsequent filing with the 

22   confidential information? 

23                MR. FISCHER:  That's correct. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right, then.  Are 

25   you offering that? 
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 1                MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  We would offer 

 2   Exhibits 5 NP, 5 HC, Exhibit 6 and then Exhibit 7. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

 4   objection to Exhibit 5 NP and HC and 6 and 7? 

 5                (NO RESPONSE.) 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objection, I 

 7   will receive it into the record. 

 8                (EXHIBIT NOS. 5 NP, 5 HC, 6 AND 7 WERE 

 9   RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE 

10   RECORD.) 

11                (TELEPHONIC INTERRUPTION.) 

12                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I'm always afraid 

13   that's gonna happen to me in church. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  It threw me off 

15   just a little bit.  We will begin with 

16   cross-examination then.  Staff? 

17                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Judge. 

18   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

19         Q.     What is it that you do for Atmos? 

20         A.     I'm the vice president of regulatory 

21   affairs. 

22         Q.     So you would be familiar with what an 

23   Atmos bill looks like? 

24         A.     Yes. 

25         Q.     Now, from the point of view of a 
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 1   customer, if a customer uses less gas during a 

 2   billing period than another customer, is the customer 

 3   that uses less gas, is that bill going to be lower, 

 4   equal to or higher than the bill of a customer who 

 5   uses more gas? 

 6         A.     If a customer uses less gas -- 

 7         Q.     Yes, ma'am. 

 8         A.     -- is the bill going to be higher or 

 9   lower? 

10         Q.     Yes, ma'am. 

11         A.     It depends on what -- well, what area 

12   they're in.  You know, we -- right now we have 

13   various -- 

14         Q.     Let's say they're in the same area. 

15         A.     If they're in the same area -- 

16         Q.     Yes, ma'am. 

17         A.     -- and they use less gas, they would pay 

18   the same customer charge, they would pay the same 

19   distribution charge and they would pay the same gas 

20   rate, the same PGA. 

21         Q.     Well, now, when you say the same rate, 

22   isn't that a charge that's multiplied by the amount 

23   of gas that's used to reach the final bill to that 

24   customer? 

25         A.     Yes, they would pay the same unit rates 
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 1   but they would pay a different total dollar bill 

 2   amount. 

 3         Q.     And is that going to still be true if 

 4   the rate design that Staff has proposed in this case 

 5   is implemented? 

 6         A.     That will be true because the customer 

 7   that uses less gas is still going to be charged 

 8   volumetrically for the PGA, the gas cost portion of 

 9   the bill. 

10                MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'd like to 

11   object.  I believe this is nothing but friendly 

12   cross.  These parties have no issues where they're in 

13   disagreement. 

14                MR. THOMPSON:  Well, your Honor, first 

15   of all, traditionally in Commission proceedings, 

16   friendly cross is prohibited in the procedural 

17   schedule or in what used to be called the hearing 

18   memorandum.  I'm not aware of any order issued in 

19   this case that has stated that there will not be 

20   so-called friendly cross.  And secondly, when 

21   Mr. Poston stands at that lectern and 

22   mischaracterizes the facts for this Commission, I 

23   believe we should have an opportunity to bring out 

24   the reality and the truth. 

25                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm going to allow you 
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 1   to cross-examine, but I would appreciate it if you 

 2   would not make it repetitive. 

 3                MR. THOMPSON:  I am absolutely 

 4   uninterested in repetition, your Honor. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Proceed, please. 

 6                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

 7                THE WITNESS:  Could I further clarify my 

 8   response?  Would that be appropriate? 

 9   BY MR. THOMPSON: 

10         Q.     You certainly may. 

11         A.     The delivery charge that Staff is 

12   recommending, the customers would both pay that same 

13   delivery charge.  But I think it's important to keep 

14   in mind that 80 percent of a customer's bill is 

15   purchased gas cost.  So the customer that's going to 

16   use less consumption is going to pay less in the 

17   wholesale cost of gas than the customer that uses 

18   more.  So there would be a total difference in the 

19   bill, but it's going to be largely driven by the gas 

20   cost itself, not by the delivery charge. 

21         Q.     So do I understand you to say in answer 

22   to my question, that if the rate design that Staff 

23   has proposed in this case is implemented, it will, in 

24   fact, continue to be true that the customer in the 

25   same area that uses more gas will, in fact, pay more 
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 1   money? 

 2         A.     That's correct. 

 3         Q.     So would you agree with me that there is 

 4   still a reason to practice conservation in gas use? 

 5         A.     Absolutely.  The gas cost is, again, 80 

 6   percent of what a customer pays, so they have every 

 7   incentive to conserve and use less. 

 8                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  No further 

 9   questions. 

10                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

11   anything from Public Counsel? 

12   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

13         Q.     Good morning. 

14         A.     Good morning. 

15         Q.     I don't have very many questions for you 

16   and I'll kind of -- kind of jump around.  Has Atmos 

17   prepared a class cost-of-service study in this case? 

18         A.     No, we did not prepare one in this case. 

19         Q.     Has Atmos prepared a replacement study 

20   for the cost of mains in the last ten years? 

21         A.     Not to my knowledge. 

22         Q.     Does the design of Atmos's main system 

23   include consideration of future load? 

24         A.     I am probably not the most appropriate 

25   witness to ask of that.  I believe witness Mike Ellis 
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 1   would be better able to respond to that.  That's 

 2   really outside my area. 

 3                MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'd like to 

 4   approach the witness with a document, a data request. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Show it to her attorney 

 6   and then proceed. 

 7   BY MR. POSTON: 

 8         Q.     Can you please describe the document I 

 9   handed you? 

10         A.     Yes.  It appears to be a data request 

11   from the office of OPC.  Shall I read the question? 

12         Q.     Yeah.  Who is -- it's from OPC to? 

13         A.     Requested from Josh Stull. 

14         Q.     And the date of that? 

15         A.     The date is September 1, 2006. 

16         Q.     And that's for this case, correct? 

17         A.     That's correct. 

18         Q.     Okay.  If you could please read the 

19   request and the response. 

20         A.     Certainly.  "Please describe in detail 

21   how the company designs and plans its main's system 

22   to meet design day peak system requirements.  Other 

23   than design day peak requirements, what factors might 

24   enter into the design of the main system?" 

25                The response:  "The engineering 
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 1   department designs each major main extension or 

 2   system modification and would use expected future 

 3   load information, existing system capacity and would 

 4   utilize system modeling software to conduct the 

 5   study." 

 6                MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  I have a few 

 7   more of these that I'd also like to ask that she 

 8   read, if I may approach as well. 

 9   BY MR. POSTON: 

10         Q.     I handed you -- the first one I'm gonna 

11   ask you to read is data request 732. 

12         A.     Yes. 

13         Q.     If you could identify that document, 

14   please? 

15         A.     Again, this is a data request from the 

16   office of OPC requested of Josh Stull.  The date of 

17   the request is September 1, 2006.  The information 

18   requested:  "Are distribution mains of the size 

19   two-inch or below used in serving large volume 

20   interruptible or transportation customers?  If yes, 

21   approximately what percentage of the two-inch or 

22   below distribution mains is used in serving customers 

23   in each of these classes?" 

24                The company responds:  "This information 

25   is not readily available but we probably do have some 
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 1   large volume accounts served off of two-inch 

 2   distribution mains.  However, if this is the case, 

 3   the system delivering capacity would have been 

 4   modeled to make sure it was capable of maintaining 

 5   deliveries to firm customers." 

 6         Q.     Okay.  And data request 704, there is a 

 7   subpart D.  If you could first identify that 

 8   document? 

 9         A.     Yes.  Yes.  Again, a data request from 

10   Public Counsel requested of Josh Stull.  Date of the 

11   request, September 1, 2006.  Subpart D:  "What other 

12   factors does the company believe to be relevant in 

13   designing the company's rates?" 

14                Company response:  "Other factors that 

15   the company has considered include changing patterns 

16   of use such as declining use, the fixed nature of the 

17   company's cost of service, the value of service to 

18   customers and the risk of customers leaving the 

19   system and gradualism in making changes to minimize 

20   impact." 

21         Q.     And the last one, 724? 

22         A.     Again, a data request from the office of 

23   OPC of Josh Stull, date of request, September 1, 

24   2006.  Information requested:  "Please provide any 

25   information available in the last five years 
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 1   regarding actual experienced average cost-per-foot 

 2   cost for various types of main-installation projects 

 3   on a rolling 12-month basis.  Please identify the 

 4   type of main projects, such as new business 

 5   extension, relocation, reinforcement, maintenance, 

 6   replacement, et cetera.  Please also explain the 

 7   approximate proportion of each type of main projects." 

 8                Company response: "This information is 

 9   not readily available." 

10         Q.     Does the design of main system include 

11   modeling considerations? 

12         A.     According to the response, yes. 

13         Q.     Do those modeling considerations for 

14   Atmos include customer density? 

15         A.     Again, I'm going to defer to witness 

16   Mike Ellis.  He's much more familiar with mains and 

17   services and those types of expenditures than I am. 

18                MR. POSTON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  I did not 

20   ask if there were questions from Noranda or Hannibal 

21   Regional because those parties are no longer present, 

22   so I just wanted to clarify that. 

23                Are there any questions from the 

24   Commissioners for this witness regarding these 

25   issues?  Ms. Childers will be testifying about other 
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 1   issues later.  Commissioner Appling, did you have 

 2   anything? 

 3                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  No, no.  Go ahead, 

 4   Commissioner Appling. 

 5   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 

 6         Q.     I'm sorry but I missed you.  Good to see 

 7   you again. 

 8         A.     Thank you.  Good to see you. 

 9         Q.     I came in a little late then.  I didn't 

10   adjust my head space in time in order to ask the 

11   question that I need to ask, but you'll be back up 

12   again, won't you? 

13         A.     Yes, Commissioner, I will. 

14         Q.     Color for me again exactly what you done 

15   on this case again, please. 

16         A.     Okay.  I am a vice president of 

17   regulatory affairs. 

18         Q.     Right. 

19         A.     I work with six of the regulatory 

20   jurisdictions in which we serve, Missouri being one 

21   of those.  I have filed direct, rebuttal and 

22   surrebuttal testimony on the rate design, utility 

23   related charges, things of that matter, which I 

24   believe I'll actually be back before you two more 

25   times -- 
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 1         Q.     Okay. 

 2         A.     -- to answer any questions you might 

 3   have on the rate consolidation for the base portion 

 4   of the rates, as well as the proposal to consolidate 

 5   the PGA's. 

 6                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Okay.  Thank you 

 7   very much.  I have some for you the next time you're 

 8   up then.  Thank you. 

 9                THE WITNESS:  You're welcome. 

10                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Chairman? 

11   QUESTIONS BY CHAIRMAN DAVIS: 

12         Q.     Ms. Childers, when's the last time Atmos 

13   filed a class cost-of-service study in Missouri? 

14         A.     The last time we had a case was ten 

15   years ago, and Chairman, I really cannot tell you 

16   whether we filed a cost-of-service study in that case 

17   or not.  I could probably get that answer for you, 

18   and when I come back before you, I could respond to 

19   that.  My memory is just -- I just can't recall. 

20         Q.     Okay.  When's the last time Atmos filed 

21   a class cost-of-service study in another state? 

22         A.     I believe we have recently filed one 

23   perhaps in the states of Tennessee -- again, I can -- 

24   on the next break I can verify that with some of the 

25   other people that are here today with the company. 
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 1   And if I have misspoken, I will be happy to correct 

 2   that. 

 3         Q.     And then I believe Mr. Poston also 

 4   inquired if Atmos conducted a study, what was it, 

 5   main replacement; is that correct, Mr. Poston? 

 6         A.     Not to my knowledge.  Again, I believe 

 7   witness Mike Ellis would know the answer to that if 

 8   it's different than no, we have not. 

 9         Q.     Okay.  So would you have any idea of 

10   when Atmos would have ever conducted one in Missouri, 

11   if they'd ever conducted one at all? 

12         A.     No, I would not have that knowledge. 

13         Q.     Is it Atmos's practice to perform those 

14   studies in other states? 

15         A.     I know that we have ongoing pipe 

16   replacement programs in Tennessee and Georgia, and I 

17   know we have studies in those states. 

18         Q.     Do you have an ongoing pipe replacement 

19   program in Missouri? 

20         A.     No, we do not, not a Commission-ordered 

21   pipe replacement program.  Obviously, we continue to 

22   replace pipe in all of the jurisdictions in which we 

23   serve. 

24         Q.     Okay. 

25         A.     But not a formalized program such as 
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 1   what we have in Tennessee and the state of Georgia. 

 2                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  Okay.  No further 

 3   questions at this time, Judge. 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there any 

 5   further cross-examination from Staff based on 

 6   questions from the bench? 

 7                MR. THOMPSON:  No, ma'am. 

 8                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 

 9                MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor.  I'd just 

10   like to apologize for asking my questions out of 

11   order.  She's up here on policy rate of return, and I 

12   asked my district consolidation questions, but I hope 

13   I didn't throw things off too bad.  Thank you. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Did you have any policy 

15   rate of return -- 

16                MR. POSTON:  No. 

17                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm sorry.  I didn't 

18   clarify that when we got started that we were going 

19   to go by issue the way that... 

20                MR. POSTON:  No, I have no questions or 

21   redirect -- or recross. 

22                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Judge, could I 

23   ask some questions, just a short question? 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Certainly. 

25                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Sorry to slow you 
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 1   down. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's all right. 

 3   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 

 4         Q.     Mrs. Childers, Mr. Poston testified this 

 5   morning -- not testified but spoke to the fact that 

 6   in one of the areas the percentage will go up about 

 7   173 percent? 

 8         A.     Yes, that's correct.  I would first like 

 9   to say that I think percentages can be very 

10   misleading when you use percentages or you use dollar 

11   impact, but I also believe that OPC's analysis 

12   excluded the gas cost portion of the bill which, 

13   again, represents 80 percent.  When you roll back in 

14   80 percent of the bill, the customer cost, obviously 

15   the percent comes down.  But again, I think you have 

16   to be careful at looking at percents as opposed to 

17   looking at dollar -- dollar impact. 

18         Q.     Can you answer what one of the areas 

19   that he was referring to? 

20         A.     Well, this might be helpful.  Attached 

21   to my -- attached to my surrebuttal testimony -- 

22         Q.     Right. 

23         A.     -- there is page 2 of 2 of Exhibit 2 

24   which does show the consolidated delivery charge 

25   based on Staff's recommendation and the consolidated 
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 1   PGA's.  The PGA's that are shown on this exhibit are 

 2   the PGA's that have been most recently filed by the 

 3   company which are substantially less than the PGA's 

 4   that are in effect today, which is good news for 

 5   the -- for the consumer. 

 6                It also includes that ACA component 

 7   which is the true-up component. 

 8         Q.     Right. 

 9         A.     And if you, for example, look at -- 

10   well, let's just say Kirksville, for example, because 

11   they currently have the lowest rates.  If you look at 

12   the impact in Kirksville, the dollar amount is $105, 

13   but the percentage is 12.4.  Again, when you 

14   calculate percent, not only using the base rate but 

15   the gas cost which is a larger portion of the bill, 

16   you get a substantially reduced percentage. 

17                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Thank you. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any further 

19   cross based on Commissioner Appling's question from 

20   Staff? 

21                (NO RESPONSE.) 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 

23                MR. POSTON:  No. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there redirect from 

25   Atmos? 
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 1                MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly, your Honor. 

 2   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 3         Q.     Ms. Childers, you were asked some 

 4   questions from the bench regarding Atmos's 

 5   cost-of-service studies. 

 6         A.     Yes. 

 7         Q.     And is that one of the issues that is 

 8   the subject -- that is the subject of the partial 

 9   stipulation and agreement that was filed last night? 

10         A.     Yes, we have agreed at our next filing 

11   to file a cost-of-service study and provide all the 

12   information to all parties to assist them in 

13   performing the cost-of-service study on their own as 

14   well. 

15         Q.     I believe the chairman wasn't available 

16   this morning.  That -- that stipulation also includes 

17   Staff, Public Counsel and the company, they were 

18   signatories; is that right? 

19         A.     That's correct. 

20         Q.     You were also asked some questions about 

21   past cost-of-service studies.  Is it correct that if 

22   past cost-of-service studies would have been done, 

23   that that would have been done by your predecessor 

24   companies, United Cities or Associated Natural Gas 

25   and not Atmos? 
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 1         A.     Yes, that's -- that's definitely 

 2   correct, yes. 

 3                MR. FISCHER:  That's all I have.  Thank 

 4   you. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  I'm gonna 

 6   allow you to step down, Ms. Childers.  We'll have you 

 7   back for further questions.  And some of the 

 8   Commissioners are not able to be here today, and they 

 9   may have questions about this topic also tomorrow. 

10                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

11                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Uh-huh. 

12                MR. THOMPSON:  I apologize, Judge.  Did 

13   you admit her testimony into the record? 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, I did. 

15                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's move on 

17   with the next witness.  And we are going -- we are 

18   trying to go by issue, revenue requirement, rate of 

19   return and return on equity.  To begin, I realize the 

20   testimony is all -- covers all of the subjects, so 

21   obviously, if there was objections to the testimony 

22   on other subjects, you should make those when the 

23   testimony is offered as a whole instead of trying to 

24   offer the testimony piecemeal.  Dr. Murray? 

25                (The witness was sworn.) 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Mr. Fischer? 

 2   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 3         Q.     Yes.  Dr. Murray, your direct 

 4   testimony's been marked as Exhibit 14, and your 

 5   surrebuttal's been marked as Exhibit 15.  Do you have 

 6   any changes or corrections you need to make to those 

 7   exhibits? 

 8         A.     I have -- I have one minor change to 

 9   each. 

10         Q.     Okay. 

11         A.     On page 10, line 7 of my direct 

12   testimony, there is a word 40 and that should be the 

13   word 30.  And on -- in the rebuttal testimony of 

14   page 6, line 8, the word "to" should be the word 

15   "from." 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm sorry.  What page 

17   was that? 

18                THE WITNESS:  That was in surrebuttal, 

19   page 6, line 8. 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

21   BY MR. FISCHER: 

22         Q.     Any other changes that need to be made? 

23         A.     No, sir. 

24                MR. FISCHER:  All right.  Your Honor, 

25   with that, then, I'd move for the admission of 
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 1   Exhibit 14 and 15 and tender Dr. Murray for cross. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

 3   objection to Exhibits 14 and 15? 

 4                MR. THOMPSON:  No objection. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objections, 

 6   then I will enter those into evidence. 

 7                (EXHIBIT NOS. 14 AND 15 WERE RECEIVED 

 8   INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE RECORD.) 

 9                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Sorry.  I seem to be 

10   losing my voice.  Is there cross-examination from 

11   Staff? 

12                MR. THOMPSON:  None, your Honor. 

13                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there 

14   cross-examination from Public Counsel? 

15                MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Is there -- are 

17   there any questions from the Commissioners? 

18   Commissioner Appling? 

19   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 

20         Q.     Good morning, Dr. Murray. 

21         A.     Good morning, Commissioner. 

22         Q.     Where are you from? 

23         A.     Oklahoma, Norman, Oklahoma. 

24         Q.     Norman, Oklahoma, huh?  That's pretty 

25   close to Fort Sill, isn't it? 
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 1         A.     Yes. 

 2         Q.     Yeah. 

 3         A.     Have you been to Fort Sill, sir? 

 4         Q.     Yeah.  I spent two days too long there. 

 5         A.     We both did. 

 6         Q.     It's redneck country, artillery.  That's 

 7   where we train all our rednecks. 

 8         A.     Yes, sir, I went -- I went through 

 9   there. 

10         Q.     Yeah.  Oklahoma is a great -- great 

11   state and -- did you recommend the ROE on this -- on 

12   this -- on this case? 

13         A.     Yes, sir, I did. 

14         Q.     Talk to me a little bit about it. 

15         A.     Well, my -- my testimony and analysis, 

16   of course, preceded what I understand is now in 

17   agreement with the Staff which states -- 

18         Q.     Do you understand what the Staff and 

19   Atmos is talking about right now? 

20         A.     I can't say that I've analyzed it, but I 

21   think I understand some of the basic elements to that 

22   agreement. 

23         Q.     Share your thoughts on it with me, 

24   please. 

25         A.     Well, this is not so much a rate of 
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 1   return response, because I'm not privy to all the 

 2   issues. 

 3         Q.     Correct. 

 4         A.     And as I understand it, it's a -- I 

 5   guess we use the term black box agreement, but the 

 6   stipulation for a straight fixed variable rate, and I 

 7   know that's one of the issues in this case, now I'm 

 8   speaking as an economist and my experience which at 

 9   the time was the Federal Power Commission, and the 

10   movement to straight -- straight fixed variable rates 

11   for the pipelines, as an economist I view that as an 

12   efficient rate schedule. 

13                There was much discussion this morning 

14   about equity, and I'm not disagreeing with that 

15   concept.  But as I -- listening to that and thinking 

16   back, my recollection in dealing with the regulation 

17   pipelines and moving to that sort of rate structure, 

18   was to create a stable revenue stream for the 

19   investment in maintaining the pipeline system or 

20   expanding the system, the capacity requirement, if 

21   you will. 

22                And if you think about it, that 

23   guarantees the revenues that are going into the 

24   investment.  And so looking at it again now from an 

25   investment, economic efficiency standpoint, that made 
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 1   it possible for the pipelines to go into the market 

 2   and borrow money and maintain the system.  I know 

 3   that was one of the considerations. 

 4                And in separating that from the 

 5   volumetric requirement of natural gas, that puts the 

 6   burden, the cost of the gas on the volumetric charge. 

 7   And so in that sense, it's dividing those two issues, 

 8   the capacity requirements and the volumetric charge. 

 9                Now, as I understand in this agreement, 

10   there's also a provision for -- for -- to treat the 

11   weather normalization, and I'm using that term, I 

12   guess, generically as part of that fixed charge. 

13                And as an economist and also looking at 

14   the financial issues, to me that also makes sense 

15   because you're essentially going to a normal weather 

16   basis and smoothing out the variability, the highs 

17   and the lows, and looking at those kinds of weather 

18   provisions as an -- again, as an economist. 

19                And the way an investor would look at 

20   it, you're not -- you're not increasing the return to 

21   the company.  What you're doing is you're reducing 

22   the variability.  And so it's beneficial on one hand 

23   to the ratepayers because they don't get hit with 

24   these heavy shocks when the weather is severe, and on 

25   the other hand, the company doesn't have to dip into 
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 1   short-term borrowing and periods to cover gas at 

 2   those points in time. 

 3                And so it -- it's really narrowing 

 4   the range of the revenue stream as opposed to 

 5   raising the revenue stream.  And that's my 

 6   understanding of the agreement, and I think it makes 

 7   economic sense. 

 8                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I think that's 

 9   all I need. 

10                THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir. 

11                COMMISSIONER APPLING.  I haven't read 

12   your testimony and all that, so I think the rest of 

13   the question is somewhat hindsight.  Today is the 

14   only day you're going to be -- at least you're hoping 

15   so, right? 

16                THE WITNESS:  I was going to say, if I 

17   can make a plane in St. Louis and get out today, I... 

18                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Yeah, that's the 

19   way I felt about Oklahoma is that it's the only way 

20   to see Fort Sill was in your rear-view mirror.  Thank 

21   you very much, sir. 

22                THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Chairman, do you 

24   have questions? 

25                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  No. 
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 1   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 

 2         Q.     Dr. Murray, I just have one question and 

 3   it's sort of a basic -- basic question. 

 4         A.     Certainly, your Honor. 

 5         Q.     And that is, in your testimony -- let's 

 6   see, your direct testimony at page 10, you talked 

 7   about the comparable companies that you looked at in 

 8   a group of gas companies, and -- well, let me just 

 9   ask first, were any of those companies Missouri 

10   companies? 

11         A.     I would have to look to tell you.  No, 

12   ma'am. 

13         Q.     And why is that? 

14         A.     The criteria I used -- well, to begin 

15   with, I don't think it's necessary to select a 

16   Missouri company or not to select a Missouri company, 

17   because we're concerned with the cost of capital in a 

18   national capital margin, and so it's country-wide. 

19   And so I don't consider that a necessary criterion. 

20                And so the selection process that I 

21   think was important -- the criteria that I think are 

22   important are such things as size of the company and 

23   the equity ratios, and the factors that I think 

24   investors would look -- look to.  Missouri companies 

25   didn't fit those criteria. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 2                THE WITNESS:  Certainly. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any further 

 4   cross-examination based on questions from the bench? 

 5                MR. THOMPSON:  No, your Honor. 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 

 7                MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor. 

 8                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Any redirect? 

 9                MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly. 

10   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

11         Q.     You were just asked a question about the 

12   comparable companies that you looked at.  Did you 

13   also look at the comparable companies that Staff 

14   included in their testimony? 

15         A.     I did in my surrebuttal, yes, sir. 

16         Q.     And why did you do that? 

17         A.     That was in response to the testimonies 

18   I read and the testimony by Mr. Trippensee that 

19   essentially accused the Staff witness of ignoring 

20   weather adjustments, weather normalizations.  And so 

21   I looked specifically as to -- as to whether or not 

22   those companies had weather provisions, and I 

23   detailed that in my surrebuttal testimony. 

24                In fact, seven out of the eight of the 

25   companies that Staff witness analyzed do have weather 
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 1   normalization provisions of one form or another.  And 

 2   so if you take -- if you take the theoretical 

 3   implications of the discounted cash flow, for 

 4   example, which he also used, those data would reflect 

 5   the fact that these companies had some weather 

 6   adjustment provision. 

 7                MR. FISCHER:  That's all I have, your 

 8   Honor.  Dr. Murray is available by phone if any of 

 9   the other Commissioners would have questions, but if 

10   possible, we would like to let him get on the road. 

11                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

12                MR. FISCHER:  The other company 

13   witnesses are available, though. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm -- yeah, I'm gonna 

15   try to contact the other Commissioners and make sure 

16   that that's gonna work out.  And if you'll give us a 

17   little bit of time, Dr. Murray, we'll have an answer 

18   for you shortly. 

19                THE WITNESS:  Certainly.  I appreciate 

20   that. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  For now, you can 

22   step down. 

23                MR. THOMPSON:  We would call Steve 

24   Rackers, your Honor. 

25                (The witness was sworn.) 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go ahead, Mr. Thompson. 

 2                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, your Honor. 

 3   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

 4         Q.     Mr. Rackers, you prepared or caused to 

 5   be prepared Exhibits 103, your direct testimony; 104, 

 6   your rebuttal testimony; 105, Staff accounting 

 7   schedules and 106 which is a corrected Schedule 10; 

 8   is that correct? 

 9         A.     Yes. 

10         Q.     Do you have any corrections or changes 

11   to those four exhibits? 

12         A.     Yes.  On Exhibit 103, my direct 

13   testimony, page 2, line 8, the word "Arkansas" should 

14   be "associated."  And I have the same correction on 

15   page 8, line 13.  The word "Arkansas" should be 

16   "associated." 

17                MR. THOMPSON:  As I understand it, we 

18   are waiving the other standard questions, so at this 

19   time I would move for the admission of Exhibits 103 

20   through 106 and tender the witness for 

21   cross-examination. 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

23   objection to Exhibits 103 through 106? 

24                MR. FISCHER:  No objection. 

25                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objection, I 
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 1   will enter those into evidence and I guess I just 

 2   have one question. 

 3                (EXHIBIT NOS. 103, 104, 105 AND 106 WERE 

 4   RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE 

 5   RECORD.) 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  The accounting schedule 

 7   105 and then it was later corrected as 106, is -- I 

 8   guess my question is, do we need both accounting 

 9   schedules to understand the testimony or the numbers? 

10                THE WITNESS:  I think the second 

11   accounting schedule is just -- might just be a single 

12   page. 

13                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Oh, okay. 

14                THE WITNESS:  I think from our original 

15   direct filing, we were missing a page out of one of 

16   the districts. 

17                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  That's right. 

18   I'm sorry.  I -- that's probably why I couldn't find 

19   the other volume.  Okay.  Is there any 

20   cross-examination from Atmos? 

21                MR. FISCHER:  Just one, your Honor. 

22   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

23         Q.     Mr. Rackers, I quoted your testimony in 

24   my opening statement where you indicated that Staff 

25   believes that no change in the cost of service on a 
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 1   total company basis would still result in just and 

 2   reasonable rates as a result of this case.  I just 

 3   wanted to make sure that that's still your present 

 4   testimony; is that right? 

 5         A.     Yes. 

 6                MR. FISCHER:  That's all I have. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any 

 8   cross-examination from Office of Public Counsel? 

 9                MR. POSTON:  Yes, Judge, thank you. 

10   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

11         Q.     Good morning. 

12         A.     Good morning. 

13         Q.     Mr. Rackers, what was the amount of 

14   revenue increase requested by Atmos? 

15         A.     I believe it was 3.2 million. 

16         Q.     Isn't it true that in the Staff's direct 

17   case filed on September 13th, 2006, the Staff 

18   calculated revenue excess for Atmos of approximately 

19   1.2 million on a total company basis? 

20         A.     That's correct. 

21         Q.     And in your rebuttal testimony, you 

22   state that Staff made corrections to this calculation 

23   but that these corrections did not significantly 

24   change results of Staff's calculation; is that 

25   correct? 
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 1         A.     Yes. 

 2         Q.     Would you agree that Staff's latest 

 3   calculations continue to reflect a revenue in excess 

 4   of approximately 1.2 million? 

 5         A.     Yes, they do. 

 6         Q.     Are you aware of any errors to Staff's 

 7   calculations? 

 8         A.     Not at present. 

 9         Q.     But Staff isn't pursuing a complaint 

10   case against Atmos requesting a revenue reduction, is 

11   it? 

12         A.     Staff is not pursuing a complaint case 

13   to reduce rates in this case. 

14         Q.     Has the Staff reached some form of an 

15   agreement with Atmos whereby Staff agreed not to 

16   pursue the 1.2 million over-earnings? 

17         A.     No. 

18         Q.     What does Staff get for giving up the 

19   1.2 million?  What, in your opinion, is the benefit 

20   of this? 

21         A.     Well, I think in every case that I've 

22   ever participated in, you go through an assessment of 

23   what issues you think are strong, what issues you 

24   think are weak.  I think that's -- I'm not an 

25   attorney but I think that's what we often refer to as 
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 1   litigation strategy. 

 2                And there are certain manpower and 

 3   resource requirements to pursue a complaint.  And we 

 4   also participated in a prehearing and had additional 

 5   discussion on many of these issues.  And as I say in 

 6   my testimony, I think at this time Staff believes 

 7   that unless it prevailed on each and every one of 

 8   those issues, which I think is extremely unlikely, 

 9   that it believed that zero is -- would result in just 

10   and reasonable rates. 

11         Q.     Did Staff meet with Atmos without Public 

12   Counsel's involvement in any meetings where the 

13   company and Staff talked about settling certain 

14   issues and talked about agreeing to a zero revenue 

15   increase? 

16         A.     No. 

17         Q.     Okay.  How about where they just talked 

18   about settling certain issues and didn't talk about 

19   the zero revenue increase? 

20         A.     I don't recall that Public Counsel 

21   either wasn't present or wasn't invited. 

22         Q.     If the Commission were to direct the 

23   Staff to pursue a complaint case against Atmos, do 

24   you believe Staff's position of 1.2 million is 

25   reasonable and defendable, and if accepted by the 
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 1   Commission, would result in just and reasonable rates? 

 2                MR. THOMPSON:  Objection, calls for 

 3   speculation. 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Sustained. 

 5   BY MR. POSTON: 

 6         Q.     Let me rephrase this.  If the Commission 

 7   were -- just a minute.  Mr. Rackers, did you 

 8   previously testify that the Staff's 1.2 million 

 9   over-earning position is reasonable and defendable? 

10         A.     Yes, I think that's in my rebuttal 

11   testimony. 

12         Q.     Thank you.  Assuming Staff's 1.2 million 

13   negative revenue requirement has a reasonable 

14   level -- level of cost built in, what level of return 

15   on equity would be needed to bring Staff's 

16   1.2 million to zero? 

17         A.     I think roughly 12 percent return on 

18   equity would nearly erase Staff's negative case. 

19         Q.     Would you accept, subject to check, 

20   12. -- almost 12.6? 

21                MR. THOMPSON:  I object to that, your 

22   Honor.  Testifying subject to check is speculative. 

23   I mean, he either knows or he doesn't know. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I was starting to say, I 

25   don't know that it's speculative, but it's not really 
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 1   an answer if you get one but -- 

 2                MR. POSTON:  I can rephrase. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

 4   BY MR. POSTON: 

 5         Q.     Would you have reason to believe that 

 6   your 12 percent number would not -- is not -- if 

 7   calculated, would not be 12.59? 

 8         A.     I'm sorry.  I don't understand your 

 9   question. 

10         Q.     You just testified you believe it would 

11   be close to 12 percent.  Do you have reason to 

12   believe that if you actually sat down and did the 

13   calculations, it would not be actually 12.59? 

14         A.     Are you asking me if it would take a 

15   return on equity in Staff's case, having everything 

16   else equal, to bring Staff's revenue requirement 

17   calculation to zero? 

18         Q.     Yes. 

19         A.     I don't know. 

20         Q.     Can you explain how that calculation 

21   would be made? 

22         A.     Well, in easiest terms, I would take 

23   Staff's current revenue-requirement run, change the 

24   return on equity.  I guess if you were -- if your 

25   goal was to try to get the number to zero, you could 
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 1   continue to earn -- excuse me, insert different 

 2   returns on equity until the revenue-requirement 

 3   number was zero.  I haven't tried to do that. 

 4                MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank 

 5   you. 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Other 

 7   questions from the bench for Mr. Rackers? 

 8   Commissioner Appling? 

 9   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 

10         Q.     Mr. Rackers, how are you doing this 

11   morning? 

12         A.     Pretty good.  How are you, sir? 

13         Q.     It's a little cold out and I'm moving 

14   slow today so bear with me, okay? 

15         A.     Sure. 

16         Q.     There was a couple numbers thrown 

17   around, the 3.2, you recall? 

18         A.     Yes. 

19         Q.     And a 1.2 over-earning? 

20         A.     Yes. 

21         Q.     And then there's another leg to this 

22   whole stew, is the fact that this company has seven 

23   districts right now, if it's -- districts is right, 

24   or seven areas of operation, which they would 

25   certainly get some -- some equity here in their 
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 1   billing process and all the other things in the cost. 

 2                I'm just trying to get my arms around 

 3   that 1.2.  I'm trying to level that in my own mind, 

 4   the justification for you-all to move ahead on the 

 5   1.2. 

 6                I think I understand exactly what you're 

 7   doing and why you're doing it, but would you just 

 8   touch on that for me again, how you got to that?  And 

 9   also I read your testimony which is on page 2 of your 

10   rebuttal testimony.  Help me out just a little bit 

11   because I'm trying to get level on it if I can, okay? 

12         A.     Sure, I'll try.  As I say on page 2, 

13   after having prehearing and after discussing the 

14   various positions that parties have taken in 

15   opposition to where Staff's revenue requirement 

16   calculation currently is, we believe that if we had a 

17   full hearing on those positions, that it's likely 

18   that that level of revenue requirement would be 

19   modified such that it could completely wipe out the 

20   excess, and it's certainly possible that you could 

21   wind up with a rate increase on a total company 

22   basis.  And because of that, we are not pursuing a 

23   complaint. 

24         Q.     So what you're telling me is that as 

25   Mr. Berlin described this morning, this is a case of 
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 1   first impression, is that good results for the 

 2   ratepayers, for the company and for everyone that is 

 3   involved; do you agree with that? 

 4         A.     Yes. 

 5                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  No further 

 6   questions, Judge. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

 8   Mr. Chairman, did you have any questions? 

 9   QUESTIONS BY CHAIRMAN DAVIS: 

10         Q.     Mr. Rackers, in your opinion, is Atmos 

11   over-earning? 

12         A.     Based on my revenue calculation, if 

13   Staff won every issue it proposed, yes. 

14         Q.     And -- well, I mean -- okay, but 

15   that's -- I mean, that's -- that's a qualified 

16   response, Mr. Rackers.  And I don't want to put words 

17   in your mouth, but I believe you've given previous 

18   testimony here just a few minutes ago that you did 

19   not believe that you would win every issue; is that 

20   correct? 

21         A.     That's correct. 

22         Q.     So that over -- could you please tell 

23   me -- could you please walk through the assumptions 

24   that you have to make to get -- to get to that 

25   $1.2 million worth of over-earning?  I mean, the 
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 1   Commission would have to find for you on all issues. 

 2   What are those -- what are those issues? 

 3         A.     Well, I can talk to you about some of 

 4   the significant ones. 

 5         Q.     I want all of them, Mr. Rackers, not 

 6   just the significant ones.  I want all of them. 

 7         A.     Return on equity in and of itself, 

 8   between company's position and Staff's position, I 

 9   believe is worth in excess of $1 million.  We have 

10   rate base differences, both in the level of plant 

11   reserve, different items we have included in rate 

12   base as opposed to the company, that are worth 

13   $400,000 worth of revenue requirement. 

14                And we have included certain revenue and 

15   expense items in our case, or not included them, or 

16   calculated them differently than the company has in 

17   their case, and that is worth $3 million, for a total 

18   difference between our negative 1.2 and the company's 

19   positive 3.2, of $4.4 million. 

20                Now, as I said before, we've made 

21   certain assumptions or we've tried to determine, can 

22   we maintain that level of over-earnings or negative 

23   revenue requirement calculation if this case went to 

24   a full hearing before the Commission. 

25                And our assessment is that those 
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 1   positions are likely to be modified such that, based 

 2   on your decision, such that the excess would be 

 3   reduced to zero or very close, or possibly would end 

 4   up as a positive number for the company. 

 5         Q.     Mr. Rackers, can you please state your 

 6   reasons for believing that those positions would be 

 7   modified? 

 8         A.     That would be based on my experience 

 9   with other Commission orders recently, my assessment 

10   of the strength and weaknesses of the company's 

11   arguments in opposition to our positions.  Those are 

12   the two -- oh, and there is -- those are the two most 

13   important reasons. 

14         Q.     So Mr. Rackers, I'm gonna ask you this 

15   question:  Is it your belief, in fact, that they are 

16   over-earning by $1.2 million or is that position a 

17   negotiated position? 

18         A.     Well, Judge, I'm having some trouble 

19   answering your question because -- 

20         Q.     It's a -- is it a negotiating position 

21   or are they over-earning?  It's one or the other, 

22   Mr. Rackers.  And if you don't know, that's fine too. 

23         A.     Based on our assessment of the issues, I 

24   don't believe that we can support an over-earnings of 

25   1.2 million. 
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 1         Q.     Okay.  Is there an over-earnings 

 2   position that you believe you can support?  And if 

 3   so, what would it be? 

 4         A.     I don't know. 

 5                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  No further questions at 

 6   this time, Judge. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

 8   further cross-examination based on questions from the 

 9   bench? 

10                MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your Honor, just 

11   briefly. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go ahead. 

13   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

14         Q.     Mr. Rackers, in other cases where the 

15   Staff has assessed its litigation position and 

16   decided that there was an over-earnings it could 

17   support, has Staff filed a complaint against public 

18   utilities? 

19         A.     Yes. 

20         Q.     And Staff has not done that in this 

21   case; is that correct? 

22         A.     That's correct. 

23         Q.     And when you talk about assessing 

24   litigation risk, would that include more than just 

25   ROE in your assessment? 
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 1         A.     Yes. 

 2         Q.     And I believe in answer to Chairman 

 3   Davis's questions you listed quite a number of issues 

 4   that represent differences between the Staff and 

 5   company; is that right? 

 6         A.     Yes. 

 7         Q.     Those all would be taken into account in 

 8   your assessment of that risk? 

 9         A.     That's correct. 

10                MR. FISCHER:  I have no further 

11   questions. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I believe the 

13   chairman has one more question before we go any 

14   further. 

15   QUESTIONS BY CHAIRMAN DAVIS: 

16         Q.     Mr. Rackers, are you the case manager in 

17   this case? 

18         A.     I share those duties with Mr. Solt, Tom 

19   Solt. 

20         Q.     And just for the record, what cases out 

21   there are you the case manager?  What pending cases 

22   are you a case manager in right now, just so I'm 

23   aware of it? 

24         A.     This is the only one. 

25         Q.     This is the only one? 
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 1         A.     The only rate case, yes. 

 2                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  The only rate case. 

 3   Thank you. 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Anything 

 5   further, Mr. Fischer? 

 6                MR. FISCHER:  No, your Honor. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 

 8   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 9         Q.     I'm confused.  Your response to Chairman 

10   Davis's question about the 1.2 million, did you 

11   answer that you do not believe that you can support 

12   the 1.2 million? 

13                MR. THOMPSON:  I object.  The record 

14   speaks for itself.  What he said is what he said. 

15                MR. POSTON:  I'm following up too.  I 

16   have a question to follow up.  I'm trying to clarify 

17   what was said. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm gonna let him 

19   answer. 

20                MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Judge, I don't 

21   think that Mr. Poston's confusion should take up time 

22   in the hearing today. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm gonna overrule your 

24   objection and let him answer. 

25                THE WITNESS:  I believe Staff's current 
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 1   case is defendable, but I don't believe that we would 

 2   prevail on enough issues that we can support filing a 

 3   complaint to reduce rates by $1.2 million. 

 4   BY MR. POSTON: 

 5         Q.     Are there mistakes in your testimony -- 

 6   in any of the testimony, prefiled testimony? 

 7         A.     Not that I'm aware of.  Oh, I'm sorry. 

 8   In the prefiled case?  There were some errors that 

 9   were corrected.  They weren't significant enough to 

10   change the run very much. 

11                MR. POSTON:  That's all I have. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any redirect? 

13                MR. THOMPSON:  Why, thank you, your 

14   Honor. 

15   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

16         Q.     Have you ever been sued, Mr. Rackers? 

17         A.     No, thankfully. 

18         Q.     You probably got a pretty good idea what 

19   it feels like today, haven't you? 

20         A.     I doubt it. 

21         Q.     Would you agree with me that Mr. Poston 

22   has done a good job of putting you and Staff on trial 

23   here today? 

24         A.     Somewhat, yes. 

25         Q.     Now, as I understand your testimony, 
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 1   Staff didn't pursue the $1.2 million punitive 

 2   over-earnings because Staff believed it was more 

 3   likely that a rate increase would result; isn't that 

 4   correct? 

 5         A.     I see the possibility that a rate 

 6   increase could be the outcome of a fully -- of a full 

 7   hearing. 

 8         Q.     Now, from the point of view of a 

 9   ratepayer, when a company comes in for its first rate 

10   case in quite a few years and the result is no 

11   increase in revenue requirement, isn't that something 

12   that ratepayers can be happy about? 

13         A.     Yes. 

14                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, no further 

15   questions. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Mr. Rackers, 

17   you may be excused for now, but I will ask you to 

18   remain and be available tomorrow if there are further 

19   Commission questions. 

20                THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Your next witness? 

22                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  Judge, something tells 

23   me that's not as big a problem for Mr. Rackers as it 

24   might be for other witnesses here. 

25                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm afraid with the 
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 1   weather forecast it may be a problem for all of us. 

 2                MR. THOMPSON:  Staff calls Matt Barnes. 

 3                (The witness was sworn.) 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

 5   Mr. Thompson? 

 6                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, your Honor. 

 7   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

 8         Q.     Mr. Barnes, you're responsible for 

 9   preparing, or you did prepare Exhibits 101, your 

10   direct testimony, and 102, your surrebuttal 

11   testimony; is that correct? 

12         A.     Yes. 

13         Q.     Do you have any corrections or changes 

14   to those exhibits? 

15         A.     I have two changes to my direct 

16   testimony.  The first one on schedule 16, column 7 

17   and 8, WGL Holdings Incorporation, the high and low 

18   stock price are switched.  The high stock price 

19   should read "$30.32", and the low stock price should 

20   read "$28.44." 

21                And then on schedule -- let's see, I'm 

22   sorry.  Schedule 18, below the company names it says 

23   "Great Plains Energy."  It should say "Atmos Energy 

24   Corporation."  That's it. 

25                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Barnes. 
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 1   Understanding again, your Honor, that we're waiving 

 2   the traditional questions, I would move for the 

 3   admission of Exhibits 101 and 102 and tender 

 4   Mr. Barnes for cross-examination. 

 5                MR. FISCHER:  No objection. 

 6                MR. POSTON:  No objection. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objection, I 

 8   will enter those exhibits into evidence. 

 9                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

10                JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's Exhibits 101 and 

11   102. 

12                (EXHIBIT NOS. 101 AND 102 WERE RECEIVED 

13   INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE RECORD.) 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Is there any 

15   cross-examination from Atmos? 

16                MR. FISCHER:  No, thank you, your Honor. 

17                JUDGE DIPPELL:  From Public Counsel? 

18                MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 

19   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

20         Q.     Mr. Barnes, is the purpose of your 

21   testimony in this case to present Staff's 

22   recommendation on the appropriate overall rate of 

23   return? 

24         A.     Yes. 

25         Q.     And you recommend an overall rate of 
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 1   return of 7.12 percent to 7.46 percent based on a 

 2   recommended return of equity of 8.5 to 9.3 roughly, 

 3   correct? 

 4         A.     Correct. 

 5         Q.     And in your direct testimony, you 

 6   explained two steps that you took to determine your 

 7   recommended cost of common equity.  One, you 

 8   developed the cost of common equity by applying the 

 9   discounted cash flow model to a comparable group of 

10   natural gas distribution companies, correct? 

11         A.     Correct. 

12         Q.     And then the second step is you 

13   evaluated a number of factors to test the 

14   reasonableness of your recommendations, correct? 

15         A.     Correct. 

16         Q.     But before you explained your analysis, 

17   you highlight what you call legal principles and cite 

18   to the landmark cases of Hope and Bluefield; is that 

19   correct? 

20         A.     Yes. 

21         Q.     And on page 5 of your direct, you state 

22   that in the 1923 Bluefield case, the United States 

23   Supreme Court ruled that a fair return for a public 

24   utility would have three qualities; is that correct? 

25         A.     Could you refer to what lines you're 
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 1   referring to? 

 2         Q.     Very top of the page.  I guess "quality" 

 3   was my term.  But you listed what the Supreme Court 

 4   determined that a fair return would be; is that 

 5   correct? 

 6         A.     Yes. 

 7         Q.     Would you please read -- I'm sorry. 

 8   Scratch that.  Would you please read lines 2 through 

 9   8 on page 5 of your testimony for me? 

10         A.     Sure.  "Answer:  In the Bluefield case 

11   the Supreme Court ruled that a fair return would be, 

12   one, a return generally being made at the same time 

13   in that general part of the country; two, a return 

14   achieved by other companies with corresponding risk 

15   and uncertainties; and three, a return sufficient to 

16   ensure confidence in the financial soundness of the 

17   utility." 

18         Q.     Okay.  And that second one you listed, 

19   that a fair return would be achieved by other 

20   companies with corresponding risks and uncertainties, 

21   what are the primary risks and uncertainties facing 

22   most local distribution companies today? 

23         A.     The main risk would be weather.  There's 

24   also other business risks associated besides weather. 

25   There's also financial risk for the company, the 
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 1   ability for the company to be able to attract capital 

 2   to maintain certain credit ratings.  Those are the 

 3   main ones that come to my mind right now. 

 4         Q.     And the business risks, what would those 

 5   be, other business risks? 

 6         A.     The risk of customers leaving the 

 7   system, customers not paying their bills, maintenance 

 8   expenses, payroll expenses, those are just a few. 

 9         Q.     Could conservation be a business risk, 

10   if a customer is conserving and reducing their usage? 

11         A.     Yes. 

12         Q.     Why does weather create a risk? 

13         A.     Well, weather changes all the time 

14   throughout the year.  The colder it is, the more a 

15   customer is likely to use more gas, and the warmer it 

16   is, the less likely they are to use gas. 

17         Q.     If a significant risk factor is 

18   completely removed for the company, would that 

19   generally make the company a less risky investment if 

20   all else is equal? 

21         A.     If all else is equal, yes. 

22         Q.     Turning to your cost of common equity 

23   recommendation, you performed a comparable company 

24   analysis of eight companies, correct? 

25         A.     Correct. 
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 1         Q.     And you found these companies from the 

 2   Edward Jones Natural Gas Industry Summary dated 

 3   March 1st, 2006, correct? 

 4         A.     Correct. 

 5         Q.     And you state that they listed 14 

 6   companies that they considered to be natural gas 

 7   distribution companies? 

 8         A.     Yes. 

 9         Q.     Did they list more than 14 and you just 

10   chose 14 or was that the total list? 

11         A.     That was the total list. 

12         Q.     And of these 14, you applied certain 

13   criteria that you list on page 14 of your direct 

14   company -- or I'm sorry, of your direct testimony; is 

15   that correct? 

16         A.     Yes. 

17         Q.     And you used this criteria to select 

18   your -- what you called a proxy group, I believe? 

19         A.     Correct. 

20         Q.     Was similar weather risk a criteria that 

21   you used? 

22         A.     No, it was not. 

23         Q.     On that same page, there is a Q and A 

24   and there's a sentence in there I'd like you to read. 

25   It starts on line 9 with the word "because."  Could 
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 1   you read that sentence for me? 

 2         A.     "Because Atmos is a natural gas 

 3   distribution utility, this helps to ensure the 

 4   selection of companies that are similar in risk 

 5   profile of that of Atmos's business operations." 

 6         Q.     When you make that statement, are you 

 7   saying that the only tests you applied to determine 

 8   whether the proxy companies with corresponding risks 

 9   to that of Atmos was whether the company was simply 

10   another local distribution company? 

11         A.     Could you repeat that question? 

12         Q.     Are you saying in that sentence that the 

13   only -- well, strike that. 

14                Is the only test you applied to 

15   determine whether your proxy companies had 

16   corresponding risks to that of Atmos was whether 

17   those companies were simply another local 

18   distribution company? 

19         A.     That was one of my criterion of -- if I 

20   understand your question, yes, it's -- the first 

21   criterion is if they are a limited distribution 

22   company. 

23         Q.     In the sentence you read, you state that 

24   because Atmos is a natural gas distribution company, 

25   this helps ensure the selection of companies that are 
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 1   similar in risk, correct? 

 2         A.     Yes. 

 3         Q.     So just because they are a local 

 4   distribution company, these companies that you 

 5   selected, that's the only basis for your 

 6   determination that this risk is similar? 

 7                MR. THOMPSON:  Objection, he's 

 8   mischaracterizing the testimony. 

 9                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I think he's asking the 

10   witness to clarify that. 

11                MR. THOMPSON:  I think he asked him to 

12   agree that this was the only criterion, and the 

13   sentence states "this helps ensure." 

14                MR. POSTON:  I'm asking is this -- is 

15   this the only -- 

16                MR. THOMPSON:  Could I get a ruling, 

17   your Honor? 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Sustained.  Mr. Poston, 

19   could you rephrase your question? 

20   BY MR. POSTON: 

21         Q.     That sentence that we're highlighting, 

22   are you saying in there that the only factor that you 

23   have considered to determine whether the risk 

24   associated with your companies is similar to Atmos is 

25   whether it was -- these companies are also a natural 
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 1   gas distribution utility? 

 2         A.     No, that's not my only criterion for 

 3   selecting these companies. 

 4         Q.     That's not what I asked.  Was that your 

 5   only criteria for determining whether the risk is 

 6   similar? 

 7         A.     No. 

 8         Q.     Okay.  What -- what else did you 

 9   consider? 

10         A.     Well, starting -- the criteria in here 

11   that I selected to determine what companies were 

12   comparable to Atmos, if you want me to read those, I 

13   can.  On page 14, the stock publicly traded to -- is 

14   the information printed in Value Line. 

15         Q.     That's okay. 

16         A.     Okay. 

17         Q.     This criteria you list, these one 

18   through six, is that the only criteria that you used? 

19         A.     Yes. 

20         Q.     In the Bluefield case that you quoted 

21   from your testimony, the three items that you list, 

22   did the Supreme Court say a fair return must be that 

23   earned by companies that simply offer the same 

24   service or did they say companies with corresponding 

25   risks and uncertainties? 
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 1         A.     They said companies with corresponding 

 2   risks and uncertainties. 

 3         Q.     And before you made your rate of return 

 4   recommendation in your direct testimony, did you read 

 5   the direct testimony of Staff witness Anne Ross that 

 6   was filed in this case regarding rate design? 

 7         A.     I briefly looked over it, yes. 

 8         Q.     So you were aware that the rate design 

 9   Staff would propose would eliminate all 

10   weather-related risk and uncertainty for Atmos? 

11         A.     Yes. 

12         Q.     In your direct testimony analysis, did 

13   you look into each company's rate design and first 

14   determine whether each comparable company had no 

15   weather risk similar to that being proposed by Staff 

16   or Atmos? 

17         A.     I didn't look at the details of it.  I 

18   researched the Standard & Poor's research reports 

19   that they issue for each of the companies and 

20   determined that seven out of eight have some sort of 

21   weather mitigation rate design in place. 

22         Q.     And did you do that research before or 

23   after your direct testimony? 

24         A.     After. 

25         Q.     Would it be safe to say that your cost 
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 1   of common equity analysis that you conducted for your 

 2   direct testimony did not specifically take the 

 3   weather risk elimination of Staff's rate design 

 4   proposal into consideration? 

 5         A.     My analysis does take into account the 

 6   fact that Staff's rate design proposal indirectly 

 7   takes in the weather mitigation rate design as being 

 8   proposed. 

 9         Q.     Can you point to anywhere in your direct 

10   testimony where you explain how you've taken the 

11   elimination of weather risk into consideration? 

12         A.     I didn't specifically talk about that in 

13   my surrebuttal testimony.  I explained that my 

14   comparable companies there, that risk reduction is 

15   reflected in the price of their stock, which seven 

16   out of eight companies have some sort of weather 

17   mitigation rate design in place, so that's already 

18   being reflected in the price of the stock and also 

19   the credit rating of the companies. 

20         Q.     Before you filed your direct testimony, 

21   did you look at each of the eight companies and study 

22   their tariff to determine whether the risk associated 

23   with their rate design is similar to the risk of a 

24   rate design that completely eliminates weather risk? 

25         A.     No, I did not. 
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 1         Q.     Can you explain the type or form of rate 

 2   design used by each of the eight companies? 

 3         A.     I don't have the details.  I have these 

 4   Standard & Poor's reports that mention what -- if 

 5   it's a weather normalization clause or a weather 

 6   mitigation rate design.  I don't have details of each 

 7   of those companies. 

 8                MR. THOMPSON:  Your Honor, I'm gonna 

 9   object to this whole line of questioning because, as 

10   you're aware, Staff has moved away from the position 

11   that was announced in Mr. Barnes' filed testimony, 

12   and has instead moved to a position of no revenue 

13   requirement change. 

14                And as Mr. Rackers testified, that 

15   equates to an ROE of about 12 percent.  So I don't 

16   understand how the abandoned position of Staff 

17   continues to be relevant here, and therefore, why we 

18   are enduring a lengthy cross-examination as to how 

19   Mr. Barnes calculated it. 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston, can you 

21   explain why it's relevant? 

22                MR. POSTON:  Well, this testimony has 

23   been offered and accepted, and I believe we deserve 

24   our opportunity to cross-examine this witness on that 

25   testimony. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  The objection is 

 2   overruled. 

 3                MR. THOMPSON:  Could I voir dire a 

 4   moment, your Honor? 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Certainly. 

 6   VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

 7         Q.     Mr. Barnes, if the Commission adopts 

 8   your original ROE proposal, which I believe was a 

 9   range of 8.5 to 9.3, would you agree with me that 

10   that would result in a reduced revenue requirement 

11   for Atmos? 

12         A.     Compared to what the company is 

13   requesting? 

14         Q.     Compared to what they have right now. 

15         A.     Possibly, yes, but I don't know for 

16   sure. 

17                MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Poston is attacking 

18   testimony that, in fact, supports the result that he 

19   wishes to achieve.  So I suppose if he wants to 

20   continue, I will withdraw my objection. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

22   CROSS-EXAMINATION RESUMED BY MR. POSTON: 

23         Q.     Do any of your eight proxy companies 

24   that you identified have a rate design that 

25   completely eliminates weather risk for that company? 
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 1         A.     Seven out of the eight have a weather 

 2   mitigation rate design put in place. 

 3         Q.     And that's not what I asked. 

 4         A.     It -- 

 5         Q.     Do they -- I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 

 6         A.     Yes, all else equal, that would reduce 

 7   the risk for those companies. 

 8         Q.     But would it completely eliminate 

 9   weather risk, those rate designs or those eight 

10   companies? 

11         A.     I don't know the details of each of the 

12   rate designs so I don't know. 

13         Q.     Do any of your eight proxy companies 

14   have a rate design that completely eliminates 

15   conservation risks for that company? 

16         A.     I believe a couple of them do.  I'd have 

17   to look at those but I believe a couple of them do. 

18         Q.     And which companies are those? 

19         A.     Northwest Natural Gas. 

20         Q.     Can you explain how conservation risk is 

21   completely eliminated for that company? 

22         A.     It's my understanding if a customer 

23   wants to, say, put in insulation or new windows in 

24   their home, that would cut back on their consumption 

25   of gas. 
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 1         Q.     There's still a volumetric rate tied 

 2   with that rate design, is that correct, with the 

 3   non-gas portion of that rate design? 

 4         A.     I don't know.  I'd have to refer you to 

 5   Anne Ross with that question. 

 6         Q.     Have you read the testimony of OPC 

 7   witness Barbara Meisenheimer where she states that 

 8   the only state that has approved a rate design like 

 9   Staff's proposal is North Dakota, and in North Dakota 

10   the company accepted a reduced return; have you read 

11   that testimony? 

12         A.     No, I haven't. 

13         Q.     Earlier you stated that you analyzed -- 

14   and I believe this is in your testimony -- you 

15   analyzed research reports from Standard & Poor's and 

16   Value Line investment survey and determined seven out 

17   of the eight proxy companies have a rate design that 

18   mitigates weather, correct? 

19         A.     Correct. 

20         Q.     Is this your only support claim, that 

21   these companies all have weather mitigation rate 

22   design? 

23         A.     Yes. 

24         Q.     Did you include these reports in your 

25   testimony? 
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 1         A.     I don't believe that I did. 

 2         Q.     Even if you were correct in your seven 

 3   out of eight companies have a rate design that 

 4   mitigates the effects of weather, is simply 

 5   mitigating weather risk different than eliminating 

 6   weather risk altogether? 

 7         A.     I'm not sure if I understand your 

 8   question. 

 9         Q.     What -- what do you consider mitigating 

10   weather risk to mean?  Define that term. 

11         A.     It's my understanding -- I understand it 

12   to be if there's a warmer winter, that consumers will 

13   use less gas; therefore, there would be less cash 

14   flow going to the company.  And if it's a colder 

15   winter, more cash flow going to the company based on 

16   their usage. 

17         Q.     So under a mitigating weather risk rate 

18   design, the company would be protected to an extent 

19   from changes in weather, correct? 

20         A.     That's my understanding, yes. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Barnes, could I get 

22   you to speak more toward the microphone? 

23                THE WITNESS:  Certainly, sorry. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thanks. 

25   BY MR. POSTON: 
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 1         Q.     And there's different ways you can do 

 2   that weather mitigating rate design, correct? 

 3                MR. THOMPSON:  Objection, none of those 

 4   are under consideration in this case.  Irrelevant. 

 5                MR. POSTON:  Well, they're relevant 

 6   because he's citing eight companies, seven out of 

 7   eight that he said have weather mitigating rate 

 8   design, and I'd like to explore those. 

 9                MR. THOMPSON:  And he's already agreed 

10   with you that they merely mitigate, they don't 

11   remove.  So what's the relevance Mr. Poston? 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm gonna overrule your 

13   objection. 

14                MR. THOMPSON:  Very well. 

15   BY MR. POSTON: 

16         Q.     Mitigating weather risk is simply 

17   reducing the risk of weather; is that correct? 

18         A.     I would agree with that, yes. 

19         Q.     Is that equivalent to eliminating the 

20   risk of weather altogether? 

21         A.     I don't know. 

22         Q.     Did you analyze your seven companies, 

23   the seven out of eight to determine if they received 

24   a reduced return on equity to account for the 

25   reduction of risk associated with their rate design? 
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 1         A.     No, I did not. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston, do you have 

 3   substantial cross-examination still to go? 

 4                MR. POSTON:  I'm almost at the end. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, since I've 

 6   already interrupted you, I'm going to interrupt and 

 7   just give Dr. Murray some good news and some bad 

 8   news.  The good news is that you are free to leave 

 9   the premises so long as you can be available by 

10   telephone tomorrow.  And would it be possible to be 

11   available on Monday also if there are Commissioner 

12   questions? 

13                DR. MURRAY:  Yes. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  The bad news is there 

15   are substantial delays from airport traffic from 

16   Lambert right now. 

17                DR. MURRAY:  Thank you for the news. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go ahead, Mr. Poston.  I 

19   apologize. 

20   BY MR. POSTON: 

21         Q.     Are there other factors other than 

22   weather that can affect customer usage and affect 

23   earnings due to the existing traditional rate design? 

24         A.     Yes. 

25         Q.     Would customer conservation be a factor? 
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 1         A.     Yes. 

 2         Q.     Would general economic conditions be a 

 3   factor? 

 4         A.     Yes. 

 5         Q.     Would changes in gas appliance 

 6   technology be a factor? 

 7         A.     I believe so, yes. 

 8         Q.     Do any of your comparable companies have 

 9   a rate design that completely eliminates the effect 

10   of conservation, economic conditions or gas appliance 

11   technology? 

12         A.     I don't know the details of those rate 

13   designs. 

14         Q.     Can you please explain where you 

15   considered the business risk of customers in 

16   determining whether recommended -- in determining 

17   your recommended cost of equity for Atmos? 

18         A.     Could you repeat that question? 

19         Q.     Did you consider any customer business 

20   risk in your recommended cost of equity? 

21         A.     Customer business risk? 

22         Q.     I'm sorry, scratch that.  Did you 

23   consider -- hold on a minute, please. 

24                Did you consider the customers' business 

25   risk in determining your recommended cost of equity 
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 1   for Atmos? 

 2         A.     Could you define customer business risk? 

 3         Q.     The business risk that customers face. 

 4         A.     I believe it's reflected in the 

 5   company's credit rating, so indirectly I did consider 

 6   that. 

 7         Q.     Has Staff, to your knowledge, ever 

 8   incorporated a customer's business risk into its 

 9   recommended cost of equity for a public utility 

10   regulated by this Commission? 

11         A.     I don't know. 

12         Q.     Could you please define what you 

13   understand a basis point to be? 

14         A.     A basis point is -- let's say -- 

15   let's -- I prefer to use my schedule at the very end, 

16   schedule 21.  8.59 is my low end of my range, so one 

17   basis point would be 859 basis points, or 8.59 

18   percent. 

19         Q.     Can you quantify the revenue requirement 

20   value of a change in ROE of one basis point? 

21         A.     No.  In this case I don't know what that 

22   number would be. 

23         Q.     Would you -- would you determine that 

24   basis -- would you determine that basis point value 

25   by measuring the change in recommended revenue 
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 1   requirements on Staff's accounting schedule 1 divided 

 2   by change in ROE? 

 3         A.     I'll have to refer you to Steve Rackers 

 4   on that question because I don't know. 

 5                MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank 

 6   you. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Are there 

 8   any questions from the Commission?  Commissioner 

 9   Appling? 

10   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 

11         Q.     Good morning, Mr. Barnes. 

12         A.     Good morning. 

13         Q.     You might want to take this all the way 

14   up to lunch and then we can go and have a snack, 

15   okay?  Would you go to your surrebuttal information, 

16   and you can refer to this in any way you choose, 

17   okay? 

18                But I'm trying to get a better 

19   understanding of OPC's recommendation on common 

20   equity for Atmos.  I think they are recommending 

21   7 percent and you are recommending -- Staff is 

22   recommending a spite higher number, okay?  For me, 

23   very quickly -- I'm still missing something here and 

24   I don't know exactly what it is -- but would you take 

25   the short version and summarize that for me, please? 
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 1         A.     OPC's recommendation? 

 2         Q.     Yes. 

 3         A.     Well, Mr. Trippensee basically uses the 

 4   risk-free rate of the 30-year treasury bond of 5.13 

 5   percent, subtracts that from my embedded cost of debt 

 6   for Atmos of 6.03 percent to arrive at .87, and he 

 7   adds that to the embedded cost of 6.03 to -- which 

 8   arrives at 6.9 and he rounds it up to 7. 

 9         Q.     If the Commission would adopt his 

10   recommendation, what do you see is the difficulty in 

11   that? 

12         A.     Well, I don't agree that using a current 

13   risk-free rate within a historical rate is the 

14   appropriate method to determine the difference 

15   between the embedded cost and the risk-free rate.  I 

16   believe the DCF model and the CAPM model are the 

17   appropriate models to use to determine an ROE.  I 

18   don't agree with his methodology here. 

19                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Thank you.  I'm 

20   sure I'll get Mr. Trippensee to explain his side of 

21   the story there when he reaches the witness stand. 

22   Thank you very much. 

23                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any further 

 

25   cross-examination based on questions from the bench? 
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 1   From Atmos? 

 2                MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly. 

 3   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 4         Q.     Judge Appling just asked you to talk 

 5   about Mr. Trippensee's methodology a little bit. 

 6   Mr. Barnes, have you ever seen this methodology 

 7   presented in any Commission proceeding that you know 

 8   of? 

 9         A.     Not since I've started this position, 

10   no. 

11         Q.     Have you ever come across it in any 

12   financial textbook or economic treatise? 

13         A.     Not that I can recall right now. 

14                MR. FISCHER:  That's all I have.  Thank 

15   you. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Any further cross from 

17   Public Counsel? 

18                MR. POSTON:  No, thank you. 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Any redirect? 

20                MR. THOMPSON:  No, thank you. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Mr. Barnes, 

22   you may be excused for now also.  I will ask you to 

23   remain available for further Commission questions, 

24   should they come up on this subject at a later date. 

25                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  It looks like 

 2   it's almost noon so we will go ahead and take a break 

 3   for lunch.  How much time do you need for lunch?  An 

 4   hour and a half?  Okay.  Let's come back at 1:30 by 

 5   that clock. 

 6                Mr. Poston, please take the opportunity 

 7   to read over your notes and speed up the 

 8   cross-examination when we get back.  And I will ask 

 9   the other attorneys to do the same. 

10                MR. POSTON:  Could you order 

11   Mr. Trippensee to improve his handwriting, please? 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We can go off the 

13   record. 

14                (THE NOON RECESS WAS TAKEN.) 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  I believe we 

16   were ready to begin with Office of Public Counsel's 

17   witness on the revenue requirement, rate of return, 

18   return on equity. 

19                MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  We'd call 

20   Barbara Meisenheimer.  Your Honor, I'll just ask the 

21   other parties if the parties are gonna have questions 

22   of Ms. Meisenheimer on this subject.  She didn't 

23   offer a lot of testimony in this area, but she wanted 

24   to make herself available in case they do. 

25                MR. FISCHER:  The company does not have 
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 1   any cross for Ms. Meisenheimer on this issue. 

 2                MR. THOMPSON:  I might if she reminds me 

 3   what she said about it. 

 4                (The witness was sworn.) 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go ahead, Mr. Poston. 

 6   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 7         Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, did you cause to be 

 8   filed direct, rebuttal and surrebuttal testimony in 

 9   this case that has been marked Exhibits 200, 201, 

10   202? 

11         A.     Yes, I did. 

12         Q.     And do you have changes or corrections 

13   to this testimony? 

14         A.     Yes, I do.  I've prepared a sheet that 

15   lists those corrections to all three pieces of 

16   testimony. 

17                MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'd like to 

18   have this correction sheet marked as Exhibit, I 

19   believe, 204.  We previously marked Mr. Trippensee's 

20   testimony as 203. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Have you given copies of 

22   that to the other parties? 

23                MR. FISCHER:  The company has received 

24   one, yes. 

25                MR. POSTON:  I believe everyone has.  We 
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 1   have extras. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We'll mark that 

 3   as Exhibit 204.  Can I get a copy of it?  And make 

 4   sure the court reporter has one.  I'm sorry.  Did you 

 5   offer your exhibits? 

 6                MR. POSTON:  We offer Exhibits 200, 201, 

 7   202 and 204 and tender Ms. Meisenheimer for 

 8   cross-examination. 

 9                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

10   objection to Exhibits 200, 201, 202 and 204?  If 

11   you need a minute to look at the corrections, 

12   that's... 

13                MR. THOMPSON:  No objection. 

14                MR. FISCHER:  No objection. 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Then I will 

16   receive those into evidence. 

17                (EXHIBIT NOS. 200, 201, 202 AND 204 WERE 

18   RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE 

19   RECORD.) 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there 

21   cross-examination from Atmos? 

22                MR. FISCHER:  No, thank you, not on this 

23   issue. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Staff? 

25                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, your Honor. 
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 1   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

 2         Q.     I'll take you up on your offer, 

 3   Ms. Meisenheimer, to remind me what you said about 

 4   return on equity or rate of return. 

 5         A.     What I said about rate of return or 

 6   return on equity that I'll lump together -- I assume 

 7   you'd be interested in both -- 

 8         Q.     Absolutely. 

 9         A.     -- was I introduced the idea in rebuttal 

10   testimony in response to the Staff's proposed rate 

11   design that, in fact, in the Laclede stipulation, 

12   there was consideration given for the return in 

13   developing that stipulation that I do not believe 

14   that the Staff, in fact, considered at the time 

15   were -- at or before the time that they filed their 

16   direct testimony in rate design.  Were you able to 

17   find that?  I might be able to locate it for you if 

18   it would be helpful. 

19         Q.     I just want you to summarize for me what 

20   you had to say of significance in the area of return 

21   on equity or rate of return. 

22         A.     Okay.  And then I also criticized the 

23   fact that there was no such recommendation together 

24   with the Staff's direct filing.  I introduced 

25   Mr. Trippensee as our witness on that issue 
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 1   specifically, and then I believe that I restated some 

 2   of the same concerns about no adjustment in 

 3   surrebuttal testimony. 

 4         Q.     Thank you.  Now, you would agree with 

 5   me, would you not, that when a customer receives a 

 6   bill from Atmos, the customer is called upon to pay a 

 7   charge for the commodity that the customer has 

 8   consumed as well as a noncommodity charge to the 

 9   company; isn't that correct? 

10         A.     Yes. 

11         Q.     And, in fact, we're here today for a 

12   case to set the amount of that second charge only, 

13   aren't we? 

14         A.     Well, from my perspective, those 

15   charges, the customer charge and volumetric charge 

16   associated with non-gas cost recovery. 

17         Q.     Okay.  I think what I did was, I 

18   attempted to split out the charges into those for the 

19   gas and those that aren't for the gas.  And today 

20   we're here to set charges that aren't for the gas; 

21   isn't that true? 

22         A.     I would agree with that.  I thought you 

23   were talking about a singular rate when you first 

24   asked the question.  I'm sorry if I was confused. 

25         Q.     I'm just a lawyer.  You know, this is 
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 1   deep water for me, numbers, but we'll struggle 

 2   forward.  So let me ask you this:  I have heard you 

 3   testify in many rate cases as to class cost of 

 4   service; isn't that true? 

 5         A.     Yes. 

 6         Q.     And so you are at least generally 

 7   familiar with how utility costs can be divided across 

 8   customer groups and classes? 

 9         A.     Yes. 

10         Q.     And you are -- or are you not at least 

11   generally familiar with the sort of costs that are 

12   incurred by an LDC in providing services to 

13   customers? 

14         A.     Yes, I am. 

15         Q.     Well, let me ask you this:  So far as 

16   you know, do the costs incurred by Atmos in providing 

17   gas service to its customers, are those costs 

18   weather-variable? 

19         A.     Yes. 

20         Q.     So -- 

21         A.     Some of those costs are 

22   weather-variable, yes. 

23         Q.     For example? 

24         A.     For example, to some degree, when mains 

25   are placed, I believe that the engineering models 
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 1   that are used to determine what are, you know, the 

 2   cost-efficient size to place have a lot to do with 

 3   what do you expect the demand to be on that system, 

 4   not just today, but also in the future.  What are the 

 5   characteristics of the service territory, things such 

 6   as density.  I have, in fact, reviewed those types of 

 7   modeling -- engineering models in the past.  So, yes, 

 8   I do think that a portion is weather-sensitive. 

 9         Q.     What portion? 

10         A.     Well, the size of mains when they're 

11   placed, although -- 

12         Q.     What if they're already in the ground? 

13   In other words, what does it -- does the cost 

14   incurred by this company in serving its customers, do 

15   those costs vary with the weather where the 

16   infrastructure is already in existence? 

17         A.     Well, I mean, once -- once the pipe is 

18   laid, certainly that is, you know, the -- the cost is 

19   what the cost is.  How you divide that -- 

20         Q.     Thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Meisenheimer. 

21         A.     I'd be happy to explain my answer. 

22         Q.     I like that phrase, "the cost is what 

23   the cost is."  So if the cost is what the cost is, 

24   and if we divide that cost for each customer class 

25   across the number of customers in the class and the 
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 1   number of billing periods, I mean, why is that an 

 2   unfair way to collect those costs? 

 3         A.     That -- that is one way to divide those 

 4   costs.  I do not think it is the fairest way.  There 

 5   is -- there is the issue of the cost is what the cost 

 6   is.  There is also the issue of whose cost is it. 

 7         Q.     Okay.  Let's talk about whose cost is 

 8   it.  Now, would you agree with me that low-income 

 9   customers are more likely to live in homes that do 

10   not have efficient furnaces and that have not been 

11   weatherized; would you agree with that? 

12         A.     I would not necessarily agree with that, 

13   and I would be happy to explain why. 

14         Q.     So you don't believe there's any chance 

15   of a weather-sensitive noncommodity charge having an 

16   unfair impact on lower-income customers? 

17         A.     That's not what I said.  What I said is 

18   that I don't necessarily agree with that, and I would 

19   be happy to explain my answer. 

20         Q.     Well, but I -- I'm not interested in 

21   having you narrate into the record, so, thank you.  I 

22   won't take you up on that. 

23         A.     Darn it. 

24                MR. THOMPSON:  I have no other questions 

25   for this witness.  Thank you. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Appling, do 

 2   you have any questions for Ms. Meisenheimer on the 

 3   revenue requirement, rate of return, return on equity 

 4   issues?  She will be back for additional testimony. 

 5                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I would just pull 

 6   up my emergency brake until your return, okay? 

 7   We'll -- I'm sorry that I didn't get back down here 

 8   on time, but we'll talk to you next time, okay? 

 9   Thank you very much. 

10                THE WITNESS:  Thanks. 

11                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  I think 

12   that's all -- all the questions from the bench, since 

13   there were none.  Is there any redirect? 

14                MR. POSTON:  Sorry. 

15   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

16         Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, there was two 

17   questions just asked of you where you offered to 

18   expand.  I believe one of them was about companies' 

19   costs varying by weather.  Could you please expand on 

20   those, please? 

21         A.     On just the one about varying by weather 

22   or also -- 

23         Q.     On both of them. 

24         A.     -- the ones about whose cost is it? 

25         Q.     Both questions. 
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 1         A.     Okay.  In fact, it is my testimony that 

 2   not only may costs vary by considerations related to 

 3   weather, but it is also my testimony that costs vary 

 4   according to other factors:  The embedded costs that 

 5   are collected in a rate case vary by other factors, 

 6   and I listed those in my testimony. 

 7                I won't -- I won't repeat them here in 

 8   an effort to save time, but there are costs.  The 

 9   sizing of the system is dependent on the expectation 

10   of weather and customer characteristics and other 

11   things, and is planned for as a whole, not 

12   necessarily by a customer class. 

13                The additional issue is once -- once you 

14   place them in the ground, there is a cost to be 

15   recovered.  Those costs as I believe -- was a 

16   response to a data request that may have made it into 

17   the case, and the company agrees, much of those costs 

18   are common costs. 

19                Common costs are costs that are not 

20   easily assignable to one particular class in any 

21   precise manner, and instead, you have to come up with 

22   reasonable allocations of whose cost is it.  And 

23   typically and historically, this Commission has 

24   determined in gas cases that it is fair for a portion 

25   to be identified as a customer cost, that all 
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 1   customers pay -- similarly situated customers pay the 

 2   same rate.  And similarly situated generally was 

 3   defined by being in the same type of service area 

 4   served by a connected system. 

 5                In addition, there was an additional 

 6   component of cost recovered through volumetric rates 

 7   that the Commission deemed fairly distributed based 

 8   on use of the system so that there is a value of 

 9   service in actually receiving the commodity as 

10   opposed to just having the ability to receive the 

11   commodity.  And with respect to low-income customers, 

12   I think actually that was the other question. 

13         Q.     Yeah.  I asked you to expand on both of 

14   them, so please. 

15         A.     Okay.  I think that I had that one not 

16   separated.  The low-income customers, I am aware of 

17   some arguments that, in fact, low-income customers 

18   may tend to live in less efficient housing.  I am 

19   also aware of studies that indicate that low-income 

20   customers tend to live in smaller housing, so there 

21   may actually be a trade-off between those two 

22   factors. 

23                In this particular case before I filed 

24   rebuttal testimony, I actually took a look based on a 

25   sample of data that the Staff collected regarding 
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 1   low-income customers to determine whether they, in 

 2   fact, did have similar characteristics to the rest of 

 3   the service territory, and related to something that 

 4   Commissioner Appling pointed out, I believe, that I 

 5   think helps explain it. 

 6                You mentioned earlier that, in fact, 

 7   down around the SEMO area, the southeast portion of 

 8   the state, incomes tend to be low.  And what I found 

 9   in the study that I did and I mentioned in testimony, 

10   is that in this case it doesn't appear that 

11   low-income customers' characteristics substantially 

12   differ from those of the rest of the general customer 

13   class, and that may be because just generally, it's a 

14   low-income area down there.  And that may be the 

15   primary driver in other areas that this company 

16   serves.  They don't serve the metropolitan areas of 

17   St. Louis, Kansas City proper, if you will, or 

18   Springfield or Columbia.  So, in fact, the income 

19   levels may be more alike and therefore the usage more 

20   alike. 

21                MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank 

22   you. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

24   Ms. Meisenheimer, you can step down for now.  Ask you 

25   to remain for further questions at a later time. 
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 1   Who's your next witness, Mr. Poston? 

 2                MR. POSTON:  Yes.  We'd call Russell 

 3   Trippensee. 

 4                (The witness was sworn.) 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

 6   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 7         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, did you prepare and 

 8   cause to be filed rebuttal testimony that's been 

 9   marked as Exhibit 203? 

10         A.     Yes, I did. 

11         Q.     Do you have any corrections or changes? 

12         A.     Not to my knowledge. 

13                MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'd offer 

14   Exhibit 203 into the record and tender Mr. Trippensee 

15   for cross-examination. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any objection 

17   to Exhibit 203? 

18                MR. THOMPSON:  No objection. 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, I will 

20   receive it into evidence. 

21                (EXHIBIT NO. 203 WAS RECEIVED INTO 

22   EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE RECORD.) 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any 

24   cross-examination by Atmos? 

25                MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your Honor. 
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 1   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 2         Q.     Good afternoon Mr. Trippensee. 

 3         A.     Good afternoon, Mr. Fischer. 

 4         Q.     I'd like to turn your attention to 

 5   page 11 of your rebuttal testimony at line 18. 

 6         A.     Yes, sir, I'm there. 

 7         Q.     You state there Public Counsel would 

 8   recommend the Commission use a 7 percent return on 

 9   equity; is that correct? 

10         A.     That is correct. 

11         Q.     Would you have any interest in 

12   withdrawing that recommendation in the interest of 

13   moving this along today? 

14         A.     Why don't we see where this goes. 

15         Q.     Okay.  I'll ask you again. 

16   Mr. Trippensee, is this recommendation your own 

17   professional opinion or are you just relaying to the 

18   Commission what Lewis Mills, the Director of the 

19   Office of Public Counsel, might suggest is a 

20   recommendation in this case? 

21         A.     This is my recommendation to this 

22   Commission based on the data available in this case. 

23         Q.     Okay.  On page 1 of your rebuttal 

24   testimony, you testified that you received a 

25   B.S./B.A. degree, major in accounting in December of 
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 1   1977; is that right? 

 2         A.     That is correct. 

 3         Q.     And what does that term -- I wasn't 

 4   familiar with the B.S./B.A.  What does that 

 5   certification mean? 

 6         A.     Bachelor of Science, business 

 7   administration. 

 8         Q.     Okay.  And you also indicate that you've 

 9   acquired the requisite hours for a major in finance; 

10   is that right? 

11         A.     That is correct. 

12         Q.     How many hours of finance would that be? 

13         A.     30. 

14         Q.     30?  Okay.  And how many hours of 

15   accounting would your degree -- 

16         A.     The accounting degree also required 30. 

17   I have 36, I believe. 

18         Q.     Okay.  And did you have any economics 

19   hours? 

20         A.     I have every undergraduate economics 

21   course the business school offered.  I think that was 

22   nine hours of undergrad. 

23         Q.     Okay.  And would it be correct to 

24   conclude that while you have the requisite number of 

25   hours for a major in finance, your actual degree is 
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 1   in accounting; is that right? 

 2         A.     The University of Missouri at that time 

 3   did not, quote, have majors; you just fulfilled the 

 4   requirements for those areas, so I have both. 

 5         Q.     Okay.  So you have basically a business 

 6   administration degree; is that right? 

 7         A.     With an emphasis in accounting and an 

 8   emphasis in finance. 

 9         Q.     Okay.  Have you taken any graduate 

10   classes in accounting, finance or economics since you 

11   graduated in 1977? 

12         A.     From a university, no. 

13         Q.     Have you taken any graduate college 

14   courses since you joined the Public Counsel's office 

15   in '84? 

16         A.     The only -- the formal 

17   university-offered courses, no.  I did take classes 

18   through various seminars and also probably 50 hours 

19   of class for a CPA exam. 

20         Q.     You indicated that you started at the 

21   PSC in August of '77 as an accounting intern and were 

22   later employed in January of 1978 as a public utility 

23   accountant I; is that correct? 

24         A.     Yes, it is. 

25         Q.     And you also indicated you attended the 
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 1   1981 NARUC annual regulatory studies program at 

 2   Michigan State University; is that correct? 

 3         A.     That is correct. 

 4         Q.     Is that something we normally call Camp 

 5   NARUC around the Commission? 

 6         A.     We definitely used to. 

 7         Q.     Okay.  And is that a two-week course on 

 8   basic regulation of public utilities? 

 9         A.     Generally, yes. 

10         Q.     Would you agree that a variety of 

11   professional disciplines, accountants, lawyers, 

12   management services personnel and other professionals 

13   would typically be in attendance at that seminar? 

14         A.     Yes. 

15         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, would you agree that 

16   everyone that attends Camp NARUC is not necessarily 

17   qualified to sponsor expert accounting testimony in a 

18   Commission proceeding? 

19         A.     Definitely if they're a lawyer, that 

20   would be true. 

21         Q.     Okay.  Would you also agree that 

22   everyone that attends Camp NARUC is not necessarily 

23   qualified to sponsor expert testimony on the subject 

24   of what's an appropriate rate of return on equity for 

25   a public utility? 
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 1         A.     That would be true too. 

 2         Q.     Camp NARUC basically gives you another 

 3   view of regulation but not expertise in a particular 

 4   field, wouldn't you agree? 

 5         A.     Correct. 

 6         Q.     Before you left the Commission to go to 

 7   work for Public Counsel, did you ever work in the 

 8   Commission's financial analyst department? 

 9         A.     No, I did not. 

10         Q.     And that's the group at the PSC that 

11   typically provides ROE and capital structure 

12   testimony; is that correct? 

13         A.     That is correct. 

14         Q.     That's the section that Matt Barnes is 

15   currently employed in; is that right? 

16         A.     That is correct.  Mr. Barnes is an 

17   accountant by training. 

18         Q.     Did you ever present testimony on 

19   appropriate ROE for a public utility while you were 

20   employed at the PSC? 

21         A.     No, I did not. 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Trippensee, can I 

23   get you to speak into the microphone a little more? 

24   Thank you.  Or speak up a little louder.  Go ahead. 

25   Mr. Fischer, I'm sorry. 
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 1                MR. FISCHER:  Thank you. 

 2   BY MR. FISCHER: 

 3         Q.     On page 1 of your testimony you also 

 4   indicate that -- on lines 16 and 17, that you left 

 5   the Missouri Public Service Commission's staff in 

 6   June of 1984 as a public utility accountant I and 

 7   assumed your present position; is that correct? 

 8         A.     No, it's not.  I left as a public 

 9   utility accountant III. 

10         Q.     Oh, I'm sorry.  Public utility 

11   accountant III.  You also indicated you're a member 

12   of the Missouri Society of Certified Public 

13   Accountants; is that right? 

14         A.     That is correct. 

15         Q.     Are you familiar with a professional 

16   organization called the Society of Rate of Return 

17   Analysts? 

18         A.     I believe I've heard of them, yes. 

19         Q.     Are you a member of that professional 

20   association? 

21         A.     No, I am not. 

22         Q.     I'd like to ask you to refer to your 

23   schedule, RWT-1.  I believe this schedule lists the 

24   cases in which you filed testimony over the last 25 

25   years or so; is that correct? 
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 1         A.     That is the intent of that schedule.  I 

 2   hope I haven't missed any. 

 3         Q.     Okay.  Based on that list of cases, it 

 4   appears to me that you're reaching a milestone in 

 5   this particular case.  It appears this is your one 

 6   hundredth case that you've submitted testimony. 

 7   Would that be about right, centennial or something? 

 8         A.     Sounds like a good reason for a party, 

 9   but I'll take your count for that, subject to check. 

10         Q.     Okay.  Well, and I wasn't sure whether 

11   you might have had other cases before that time or 

12   not. 

13         A.     Mr. Fischer, I looked at this recently, 

14   and it seems like I've filed more, but -- 

15         Q.     Well, for purposes of this discussion, 

16   let's assume it's 100 and then make it nice and round 

17   numbers.  Out of those 100 cases, would you identify 

18   the number of cases in which you -- in which the 

19   specific purpose and subject of your testimony was to 

20   recommend the appropriate rate of return on equity 

21   for a public utility? 

22         A.     A specific purpose for rate of return I 

23   don't believe was the focus of these testimonies. 

24   Other components of business risk, the appropriate 

25   relationship between rate of return and the revenue 
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 1   requirement have been touched on. 

 2         Q.     So would this be the first case you made 

 3   a specific recommendation on ROE, is that what you're 

 4   saying? 

 5         A.     Where there's a numeric value, yes. 

 6         Q.     Okay.  Would it be correct, then, to 

 7   conclude that with the exception of this case, the 

 8   subject of the testimony and those remaining 99 cases 

 9   dealt with issues other than rate of return on 

10   equity? 

11         A.     As I indicated, I do not believe any of 

12   those other cases have a specific number for equity. 

13   I cannot agree that the subject of return on equity 

14   was not discussed in that testimony.  I did not go 

15   back and look at every issue, but with the variety of 

16   issues I have testified on over the years, rate of 

17   return is an integral part of the revenue 

18   requirement. 

19         Q.     Okay.  We can discuss that in a minute. 

20   Is it correct or could you agree that in the vast 

21   majority of those cases listed on RWT-1 that you were 

22   testifying on accounting-related matters? 

23         A.     I was testifying on revenue- 

24   requirement-related matters.  I have testified on 

25   engineering matters, I have testified on all the 
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 1   components of the revenue requirement in one way or 

 2   another.  I have not made, as I indicated, a specific 

 3   recommendation on return on equity where I have the 

 4   responsibility for that recommendation. 

 5         Q.     When was the last case, other than this 

 6   one, that you did testify on what is an appropriate 

 7   rate of return on equity for a public utility? 

 8         A.     I believe I just indicated I haven't 

 9   gone back and looked at each and every testimony. 

10   Quite frankly, I did not have time to do that. 

11         Q.     But you did -- is it -- is it your 

12   testimony that this is the first case that you've 

13   done a specific number for ROE; is that what you're 

14   telling me? 

15         A.     That is correct.  Some of these 

16   testimonies that dealt with the appropriate -- the 

17   relationship of rate of return and customer deposits 

18   and the appropriate amount of -- the appropriate 

19   return to provide customers and stockholders as one 

20   example where rate of return is an integral part of 

21   what you're terming accounting issue. 

22         Q.     When was the last case in which you 

23   testified on the issue of capital structure of a 

24   public utility, do you recall? 

25         A.     I'm not sure if I've had testimony on 
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 1   the specific issue of capital structure, as I do not 

 2   in this case. 

 3         Q.     On page 1 of your schedule, you list a 

 4   case involving the Northeast Missouri Rural Telephone 

 5   Company, Case Number TR-85-23.  I think it's the 16th 

 6   case listed on that first page.  Do you see that 

 7   case? 

 8         A.     Yes, I do. 

 9         Q.     Do you recall testifying about a capital 

10   structure issue in that case? 

11         A.     Since I'm supposed to tell the truth, 

12   the answer is no, I don't.  I do not go back and 

13   review each -- each -- 

14                MR. FISCHER:  Your Honor, I would ask 

15   the Commission to take administrative notice of its 

16   decision in Case Number TR-85-23 which can be found 

17   at 27 Missouri PSC New Series, pages 369 through 373. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any objection 

19   to the Commission taking notice of that? 

20                MR. THOMPSON:  No objection. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  The Commission will take 

22   notice of that decision. 

23   BY MR. FISCHER: 

24         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, I'd like to show you and 

25   your counsel a copy of that decision. 
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 1   Mr. Trippensee, if you could take a look at that 

 2   decision, and particularly I'm interested in the last 

 3   paragraph on page 372.  Maybe that will refresh your 

 4   memory. 

 5                Mr. Trippensee, do you recall that in 

 6   that case you suggested on behalf of the Public 

 7   Counsel that the Commission utilize a capital 

 8   structure for Northeast Missouri Rural Telephone 

 9   Company by deducting from rate base the entire amount 

10   of some REA debt? 

11         A.     I'd have to look at the entire order 

12   because what I'm reading here doesn't comport with 

13   what I, you know, would believe. 

14         Q.     Let's look at the last paragraph found 

15   on page 372 in that reported decision where it 

16   states, "Public Counsel has created a capital 

17   structure by deducting from rate base the entire 

18   amount of REA debt.  The remaining amount Public 

19   Counsel designates as equity-funded rate base.  The 

20   Commission finds this computation inappropriate as 

21   applied by Public Counsel to the capital structure in 

22   this case."  Do you see that passage? 

23         A.     That's the passage I see, and that's the 

24   passage I don't understand what they're talking 

25   about. 
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 1         Q.     Okay.  Were you the Public Counsel's 

 2   witness in that case? 

 3         A.     I'm in the paragraph before, and my 

 4   concern is debt is not a component of rate base. 

 5   Debt supports components of rate base.  While that 

 6   semantical difference may seem insignificant to some 

 7   people, it's a material difference to me, and my 

 8   problem is I'm not sure if this characterization of 

 9   the testimony is accurate because the 

10   characterization is not something I believe I would 

11   ever have said. 

12         Q.     Did you make a recommendation in that 

13   case on what should be an appropriate capital 

14   structure? 

15         A.     Again, I would have to go back and 

16   review the entire case. 

17         Q.     Well, based on what you have in front of 

18   you, would it be correct to conclude from that 

19   passage that the Commission rejected the capital 

20   structure suggested by Public Counsel in that case? 

21         A.     The Commission rejected capital 

22   structure, but again, their description of why does 

23   not make sense to me. 

24         Q.     Okay.  Well -- 

25         A.     Because they're two different things. 
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 1         Q.     That's fair.  They disagreed with your 

 2   position too, I think.  On page 373 of that decision, 

 3   the Commission stated, "With regard to Public 

 4   Counsel's argument that acceptance of Staff and 

 5   company's position will result in the company earning 

 6   a return through capital structure as well as through 

 7   interest income recorded below the line, the 

 8   Commission would state that it does not believe this 

 9   to be possible.  It is impossible for the company to 

10   earn a double return on cash investments since they 

11   are not included in the rate base agreed to by Staff 

12   and company, meaning that the customers do not pay 

13   the company a return on these funds."  Did I read 

14   that right? 

15         A.     It appears you did. 

16         Q.     And were you the Public Counsel's 

17   witness addressing that particular issue? 

18         A.     I believe that's what the order states. 

19         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, would it be correct to 

20   conclude from that passage that the Commission 

21   rejected the Public Counsel's position in the NEMO 

22   case? 

23         A.     It appears that the Commission did. 

24         Q.     Now, you've mentioned -- you've touched 

25   on ROE issues in other cases while not specifically 
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 1   making an ROE recommendation.  Do you recall if the 

 2   Commission has ever adopted your ROE recommendation 

 3   specifically in any case? 

 4         A.     Since I didn't make one, it would be 

 5   very difficult for them to accept it. 

 6         Q.     Okay.  Would it be correct that of those 

 7   other 99 cases that are listed on your RWT-1, that 

 8   there would have been some other Staff witness or 

 9   perhaps Public Counsel witness that would have 

10   sponsored testimony on the appropriate ROE in those 

11   rate cases? 

12         A.     That would be correct. 

13         Q.     Office of the Public Counsel used to 

14   have a financial analyst on staff; is that correct? 

15         A.     That is correct.  We've had several. 

16         Q.     And who would some of those have been? 

17         A.     John Tuck, Mark Burdette, Amy Levins. 

18         Q.     Jim Bush? 

19         A.     No. 

20         Q.     Bill Thompson? 

21         A.     No. 

22         Q.     What were the professional backgrounds 

23   of the financial analysts that you mentioned that had 

24   been in the office? 

25         A.     Ms. Levins had the same background that 
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 1   I do, effectively a double major, Mr. Burdette had an 

 2   engineering major and a finance major, or actually I 

 3   think it was a finance master's.  Mr. Tuck, I 

 4   believe, had an undergrad in either economics or 

 5   finance and a finance major. 

 6         Q.     In the recent KCPL rate case that the 

 7   hearings have just concluded, is it true that Public 

 8   Counsel sponsored the testimony of Michael Baudino on 

 9   the subject of the appropriate ROE? 

10         A.     Yes. 

11         Q.     He's an outside consultant for the 

12   Office of Public Counsel? 

13         A.     Yes, he was. 

14         Q.     What's Mr. Baudino's professional 

15   background? 

16         A.     Mr. Baudino, I believe, is an economist 

17   by training.  He worked for the New Mexico, I 

18   believe, Public Service Commission staff for 

19   approximately six to seven years, upon which he went 

20   out on his own. 

21         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, are you holding yourself 

22   out to this Commission in this case as an expert in 

23   the area of what is an appropriate rate of return on 

24   equity for a public utility? 

25         A.     I'm holding myself out as an expert in 
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 1   regulatory risk, rate of return for this -- to 

 2   recognize the risk. 

 3         Q.     So the answer -- 

 4         A.     Yes. 

 5         Q.     -- to the question is yes, you are 

 6   holding yourself out as an expert on rate of return 

 7   in this case? 

 8         A.     Yes.  I would point out that the people 

 9   you have discussed, Mr. Tuck, Ms. Levins, 

10   Mr. Burdette, all operated under my direct 

11   supervision for the last ten to 15 years. 

12         Q.     Okay. 

13         A.     All preparation of all testimony was 

14   through -- under my direct supervision. 

15         Q.     At what point in your career do you 

16   believe that you became qualified as -- to sponsor 

17   expert opinions on the issue of rate of return for 

18   (sic) equity for public utilities? 

19         A.     I believe I have -- as a finance major 

20   which I obtained from the University of 

21   Missouri-Columbia, I believe that provides the 

22   requisite basic knowledge.  I believe 29 years 

23   experience in revenue requirement, in reviewing rate 

24   of return testimony, analysis, studies, has amply 

25   provided me the ability to recognize -- to discuss 
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 1   the subject with this Commission. 

 2         Q.     So you're saying that you've been an 

 3   expert since you began in the area 29 years ago? 

 4         A.     I believe you have the educational 

 5   background.  The question is what do you do with it. 

 6         Q.     Okay.  And since that time, you would 

 7   hold yourself out as an expert on ROE? 

 8         A.     I think I've answered that, yes. 

 9         Q.     Okay.  Mr. Trippensee, in the Northeast 

10   Missouri Rural Telephone Company proceeding, Case 

11   Number TR-85-23, do you recall being asked the 

12   following question:  "Are you holding yourself out to 

13   the Commission as an expert in the areas of capital 

14   structure and rates of return, Mr. Trippensee?" 

15         A.     No, I do not remember that question. 

16                MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I'd ask the 

17   Commission to take administrative notice of page 81 

18   of the transcript in Case Number TR-85-23 in a 

19   proceeding held on April 2nd, 1985, and I'd like to 

20   show the witness that page. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

22   objection to the Commission taking official notice of 

23   that record? 

24                MR. THOMPSON:  No. 

25                MR. POSTON:  No. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Then the Commission will 

 2   take official notice of that transcript. 

 3   BY MR. FISCHER: 

 4         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, I'd like to show you a 

 5   copy of that transcript in the case, and I'd refer 

 6   you to the first question and answer on page 81.  On 

 7   that page isn't it true that you were asked the 

 8   question, "Are you holding yourself out to this 

 9   Commission as an expert in the areas of capital 

10   structure and rates of return, Mr. Trippensee?" 

11         A.     That is correct. 

12         Q.     And is it correct that you answered that 

13   question by stating, "Definitely not in the -- in 

14   regard to the area of rates of return.  With regard 

15   to the components of capital structure that support 

16   rate base, yes, I am"; is that correct? 

17         A.     That is a correct reading, yes, sir. 

18         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, did you perform 

19   personally a discounted cash flow analysis as a part 

20   of your rebuttal testimony? 

21         A.     No, I did not. 

22         Q.     Did you perform a capital asset pricing 

23   model analysis as a part of your rebuttal testimony? 

24         A.     No, I did not. 

25         Q.     Did you include in your rebuttal 
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 1   testimony a comparison of the ROE's of similarly 

 2   situated public utilities with Atmos? 

 3         A.     No, I did not. 

 4         Q.     On page 11 of your testimony you 

 5   recommend a 7 percent return on equity which utilizes 

 6   a spread between the risk-free rate and the cost of 

 7   debt; is that correct? 

 8         A.     I believe that's correct, yes. 

 9         Q.     Can you cite any Missouri PSC decision 

10   which has accepted that specific approach that you're 

11   recommending in this case? 

12         A.     First off, you're saying I'm 

13   recommending it.  Let's get something understood 

14   first.  This recommendation is if, and only if, this 

15   Commission adopts the Staff's rate of return which 

16   completely decouples sale -- decouples earnings from 

17   sales. 

18         Q.     Let's assume for purposes of this 

19   question that the Commission does adopt the Staff and 

20   the company's proposals to use the delivery charge. 

21   Is it correct that that's what you're recommending at 

22   7 percent return on equity? 

23         A.     That would be the recommendation under 

24   that unprecedented rate design. 

25         Q.     So would it be correct to conclude that 
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 1   there's no Missouri PSC decision which has accepted 

 2   that specific approach that you're recommending in 

 3   this case? 

 4         A.     There's been no PSC decision that has 

 5   accepted a rate design that would necessitate 

 6   recognition of the risk reduction. 

 7         Q.     And is this the first case in which 

 8   you've recommended this approach? 

 9         A.     It's the first case in which any party 

10   has recommended -- 

11                MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I'm going to 

12   object.  He's nonresponsive.  These are yes or no 

13   questions. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Trippensee, answer 

15   the question. 

16                THE WITNESS:  Could he repeat the 

17   question, please? 

18   BY MR. FISCHER: 

19         Q.     I'm sorry.  Sure.  Is this the first 

20   case you've recommended this specific approach? 

21         A.     Yes, it is, but I would like to qualify 

22   that. 

23         Q.     Okay.  Well, your counsel can redirect 

24   like he did with Barb Meisenheimer.  Can you cite any 

25   Missouri PSC decision in the last 30 years which 
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 1   establishes a rate of return on equity for a gas LDC 

 2   as low as 7 percent? 

 3         A.     I would have to go back and look at all 

 4   the cases.  Prior to double-digit inflation and -- 

 5   beginning in the late '70s, interest rates were -- 

 6   and rate of returns were significantly lower. 

 7         Q.     So the answer to that question, would it 

 8   be no, you can't cite any as you sit there today? 

 9         A.     As I sit here today, the answer would be 

10   no. 

11         Q.     Okay.  I'm sorry to put you through 

12   this.  Would you care to withdraw your recommendation 

13   on 7 percent return on equity? 

14         A.     Let's continue going forward, 

15   Mr. Fischer. 

16                MR. FISCHER:  Thank you very much. 

17   That's all I have. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any 

19   cross-examination from Staff? 

20                MR. THOMPSON:  Why, yes, your Honor. 

21   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

22         Q.     Good morning, or good afternoon, 

23   Mr. Trippensee.  Are you familiar with the direct 

24   testimony filed in this matter by Mr. Barnes? 

25         A.     Yes, I am. 
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 1         Q.     Do you have a copy of that up there? 

 2         A.     Yes, I do. 

 3         Q.     I wonder if you could turn to page 5. 

 4         A.     Of his direct? 

 5         Q.     Yes, sir.  During his examination of 

 6   Mr. Barnes, Mr. Poston very properly focused 

 7   attention on Mr. Barnes' citation of certain 

 8   principles from Hope and Bluefield.  If you take a 

 9   look at the top of page 5, there's three factors that 

10   are listed by Mr. Barnes.  I wonder if you could read 

11   them, starting at page -- excuse me, line 2.  Read 

12   them out loud. 

13         A.     The three factors begin on line 3. 

14   Line 2 refers simply to the -- to the Bluefield case. 

15   Three begins -- first factor is "A return generally 

16   being made at the same time in that general part of 

17   the country"; second factor, "A return achieved by 

18   other companies with corresponding risk and 

19   uncertainties"; and 3, "A return sufficient to ensure 

20   confidence and the financial soundness of the 

21   utility." 

22         Q.     Now, Mr. Trippensee, with respect to 

23   your recommendation for a return on equity in this 

24   case, what exactly did you do to ensure that your 

25   recommendation complies with the first of these 
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 1   factors? 

 2         A.     The basis of my recommendation -- 

 3   contingent recommendation is Mr. Barnes' testimony 

 4   and his, quote, comparable companies.  I believe 

 5   Mr. Barnes' testimony is sound, absent the rate 

 6   design proposed by Staff. 

 7         Q.     Well, as I look at your testimony, you 

 8   constructed your recommendation, did you not, by 

 9   taking Mr. Barnes' risk-free rate; isn't that 

10   correct? 

11         A.     That is correct. 

12         Q.     And his risk-free rate has, in fact, 

13   nothing whatsoever to do with his comparable 

14   companies, does it?  Isn't that simply the rate of 

15   return on a selected federal government security? 

16         A.     It is -- yes -- yes, sir. 

17         Q.     Okay.  So it has nothing to do with an 

18   analysis of comparable companies, does it? 

19         A.     It is part of the analysis of the 

20   overall rate of return. 

21         Q.     And -- 

22         A.     There is no precedent for comparable 

23   companies with the Staff rate design. 

24         Q.     And the second thing you took, as I 

25   recall, was the cost of debt; isn't that right? 
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 1         A.     That is correct. 

 2         Q.     And isn't that, in fact, Atmos's 

 3   embedded cost of debt? 

 4         A.     That is correct. 

 5         Q.     So that has nothing to do with an 

 6   analysis of comparable companies either, does it? 

 7         A.     Cost of debt is a component of cost for 

 8   Atmos.  It is not a component of cost for a 

 9   comparable company. 

10         Q.     So, in fact, you did absolutely no 

11   comparative analysis to reach your recommendation -- 

12   your recommended return on equity; isn't that 

13   correct? 

14         A.     I would disagree.  I looked at 

15   Mr. Barnes' comparable companies that he utilized. 

16   He did not make any adjustment for the risk reduction 

17   associated with Staff's innovative, brand new, 

18   never-tried-before rate design, and Mr. Barnes' 

19   testimony and his comparable analysis served as an 

20   upper end of what a reasonable return would be. 

21                So I disagree with your assertion.  I 

22   simply was trying to quantify what needed to come off 

23   of Mr. Barnes' recommendation based on comparable 

24   companies. 

25         Q.     So are you saying you took Mr. Barnes' 
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 1   recommendation and then made a subtraction to get to 

 2   7 percent? 

 3         A.     It was a consideration in the 

 4   development of the appropriate return.  I have seen 

 5   in -- have never seen a utility -- financial analyst 

 6   be able to specifically quantify how much has to come 

 7   off to represent this much -- this reduction in risk. 

 8   I attempted to quantify that reduction utilizing the 

 9   risk-free rate of return and the relationship of that 

10   risk-free rate of return to the cost of debt, but 

11   Mr. Barnes' testimony was a fundamental component of 

12   that analysis. 

13         Q.     Do you say that in here anywhere? 

14         A.     I believe I just testified to it right 

15   now, sir. 

16         Q.     Okay.  So you would agree with me, then, 

17   that your rebuttal testimony is misleading? 

18         A.     No, I would not agree with you that my 

19   testimony is misleading.  I told you how the 

20   mathematical calculation worked in the testimony.  I 

21   did not put down every consideration, every parameter 

22   that was done. 

23         Q.     Okay.  Now, one of the questions 

24   Mr. Poston had of Mr. Barnes was whether or not 

25   Mr. Barnes could tell us what the revenue requirement 
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 1   impact is of a single basis point change in a return 

 2   on equity recommendation.  I wonder if you can tell 

 3   me that. 

 4         A.     Be happy to.  3,750 basis points -- I 

 5   mean, excuse me, $3,750 per basis point. 

 6         Q.     Okay. 

 7         A.     That's pretty basic in our line of work. 

 8         Q.     Well, as you testified, lawyers couldn't 

 9   do this. 

10         A.     No. 

11         Q.     And so when you rounded up here at the 

12   bottom of page 11, what was the support for that? 

13         A.     Support for that? 

14         Q.     In other words, you said -- 

15         A.     One was -- 

16         Q.     -- using the method that you have 

17   described, as well as the secret and undescribed 

18   aspects of your method that you've testified to 

19   today, you came up with 6.9 percent rounded up to 7 

20   percent.  Well, somebody's gonna have to pay for that 

21   additional revenue requirement, so I'm asking you, 

22   sir, what is your basis to recommend that that be 

23   rounded up? 

24         A.     As I indicated, consideration of 

25   Mr. Barnes' recommendation in this case, which, by 
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 1   the way, was 80 basis points a range, a 

 2   ten-basis-point adjustment, based on my opinion of 

 3   the quality of Mr. Barnes' testimony, and the 

 4   completely unknown effect of this rate design that 

 5   Staff's proposing, appear to be reasonable to myself. 

 6         Q.     Well, now, Mr. Poston characterized this 

 7   rate design as removing weather-related risk. 

 8         A.     Along with conservation, along with gas 

 9   technology, along with a complete -- I think he used 

10   the term decouple. 

11         Q.     So is it unknown or is it known? 

12         A.     The removal of the risk, the valuation 

13   of the risk is completely unknown.  I would point out 

14   that in MGE, the company witness made an arbitrary 

15   25-basis-point adjustment downward if some sort of 

16   rate design like this is adopted.  He also made a 

17   15-basis-point unsubstantiated upward adjustment 

18   because there was no weather-related adjustment -- or 

19   rate design, excuse me. 

20                MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Are there any questions 

22   for Mr. Trippensee on these issues from the bench, 

23   Commissioner Appling? 

24                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I think I'm gonna 

25   pass at this time, Judge. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Chairman? 

 2                CHAIRMAN DAVIS:  I'll pass at this time 

 3   as well. 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any redirect? 

 5                MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 

 6   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 7         Q.     Mr. Fischer questioned you about your 

 8   background in the area of finance. 

 9         A.     Yes, sir. 

10         Q.     And what do you believe to be the 

11   background that you have in finance that qualifies 

12   you to testify for return on equity? 

13         A.     As indicated earlier, I have an 

14   undergrad degree -- or undergrad emphasis in finance. 

15   I, subsequent to that time in the late 1980's, 

16   participated in an extensive class sponsored actually 

17   by the Public Service Commission but through the 

18   University of Missouri to pass the CPA exam.  Finance 

19   is an integral part of the CPA exam. 

20                In the early '90s I became responsible 

21   for the financial analysis department -- if you can 

22   call one person a department -- at Office of Public 

23   Counsel and held that position consistently for 

24   approximately 15 years. 

25                So I reviewed all testimony that went 
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 1   through the Office of Public Counsel and participated 

 2   in the development of it for the rate of return.  I 

 3   did not serve as a sponsor, as I was more -- my 

 4   abilities were better used elsewhere. 

 5         Q.     And Mr. Fischer asked you about your 100 

 6   cases before you made recommendations.  He asked you 

 7   if you made recommendations on ROE.  And out of these 

 8   100, is this the first case that you can recall where 

 9   Staff and the company have proposed to completely 

10   eliminate the company's weather conservation and 

11   other risks as far as they apply to the services 

12   provided by this company? 

13         A.     This is the first case where the Staff 

14   has ever proposed a complete decoupling of earnings 

15   from sales, so Public Counsel or this Commission has 

16   never seen this proposal before. 

17         Q.     So that's why you chose to step up and 

18   file testimony and respond to this? 

19         A.     We had -- the Office of Public Counsel 

20   received this in direct testimony and because of my 

21   background, I was the only person in the office who 

22   could address this, and because of state procurement 

23   procedures, we could not obtain an outside consultant. 

24         Q.     That doesn't minimize the importance of 

25   the issue? 

 

484 of 1082



0173 

 1         A.     It definitely does not minimize the 

 2   importance and the -- of the issue, nor does it 

 3   minimize the fact that neither Staff nor the company 

 4   witness on rate of return utilize any comparable 

 5   companies in their studies that has a complete 

 6   decoupling rate design. 

 7         Q.     And in questioning your -- well, did 

 8   Mr. Fischer question the background of Mr. Barnes? 

 9         A.     No, he did not. 

10         Q.     Are you aware of Mr. Barnes' background? 

11         A.     Yes, I am.  Mr. Barnes has an undergrad 

12   in accounting and a master's in accounting. 

13                MR. THOMPSON:  I object, your Honor. 

14   This certainly goes beyond the scope of anything 

15   we've heard before. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I believe you asked him 

17   about Mr. Barnes' testimony. 

18                MR. THOMPSON:  I didn't ask him about 

19   Mr. Barnes' background. 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm gonna allow it. 

21   Overruled. 

22   BY MR. POSTON: 

23         Q.     I'd like to bring your attention to the 

24   case that Mr. Fischer handed you.  I believe you 

25   still have the book in front of you.  And you started 
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 1   to answer a question regarding the Commission's 

 2   reasoning and why you questioned Mr. Fisher's 

 3   characterization of your position and Office of 

 4   Public Counsel's position.  Can you please explain to 

 5   me what concerns you have about this case and what 

 6   you have before you? 

 7         A.     The first sentence on page 372 of 

 8   volume 27, Public Service Commission reports, states, 

 9   "Public Counsel has created a capital structure by 

10   deducting from rate base the entire amount of the REA 

11   debt." 

12                The REA debt would be in the capital 

13   structure, it would not be in rate base.  Rate base 

14   is the investments of the company, the assets of the 

15   company.  How debt is an asset of the company, 

16   though, in which they're going to earn, it supports 

17   the assets, but that distinction is critical to 

18   anyone understanding what the Office of Public 

19   Counsel's position was in this case.  Those two 

20   things are not together.  They're not on the same 

21   place in the process. 

22                Capital structure supports rate base.  I 

23   don't deduct a component of capital structure from 

24   rate base.  So I don't know what the Commission is 

25   meaning here.  I have not gone back and studied our 
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 1   position in this case, but their reasoning is not 

 2   sound. 

 3                Whoever wrote this order or whoever 

 4   voted for this order -- and Mr. Dority is kind of 

 5   chuckling because one of the people who did may be 

 6   sitting next to me.  Those two things are mutually 

 7   exclusive.  So you can't say because of this, this is 

 8   happening, because they don't go together. 

 9         Q.     So it would help to look at the entire 

10   record -- 

11         A.     Yes, it would. 

12         Q.     -- in this case?  Including the entire 

13   transcript? 

14         A.     Yes, it would. 

15                MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I move that we 

16   take official notice of the entire record in that 

17   case instead of just one page of the transcript. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any way to 

19   limit that to -- 

20                MR. POSTON:  What does that entail? 

21   Does that entail... 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Well, I've never filed a 

23   record on appeal in one of these cases.  Would that 

24   include anything that the Commission took official 

25   notice of? 
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 1                MR. POSTON:  You mean would it include 

 2   what they took official notice of in that case, so it 

 3   could be cases and cases, is what you're saying? 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  No, I -- I just don't 

 5   want to bog down this record with a lengthy record 

 6   from another case.  If there's some way to limit 

 7   that, just the transcript, or just Mr. Trippensee's 

 8   testimony or -- 

 9                MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I placed in front 

10   of the witness the cross-examination that occurred in 

11   that case of the witness that's like 30 pages.  If 

12   you wanted to take that, that's -- I don't have an 

13   objection to that. 

14                MR. POSTON:  I mean, yeah, that 

15   testimony -- and perhaps all of Mr. Trippensee's 

16   testimony, all of Public Counsel's testimony in that 

17   case. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

19   objection to the Commission taking official notice of 

20   those items? 

21                MR. THOMPSON:  If Public Counsel 

22   supplies them.  I mean, I don't think I have them in 

23   my office. 

24                MR. FISCHER:  They're available in 

25   microfilm. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I believe they're 

 2   available in the data center, and Mr. Poston will 

 3   make those available. 

 4                MR. POSTON:  Thank you. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  As soon as the microfilm 

 6   machine is fixed, the Commission takes official 

 7   notice of those items. 

 8   BY MR. POSTON: 

 9         Q.     Mr. Thompson asked you questions about 

10   your calculation on ROE and use of comparable 

11   companies.  Are there comparable companies? 

12         A.     That have this decoupled rate design? 

13         Q.     Yes. 

14         A.     I believe Northeast and -- well, excuse 

15   me.  Northern States Power has a somewhat similar 

16   rate design to what Staff has proposed in this case. 

17   They were not a member of either the comparable 

18   groups by company witness or Staff witness. 

19                Other than that, to my knowledge, there 

20   are no other companies in this country, natural gas 

21   companies, that have this type of rate design.  So 

22   the issue of are there comparable companies, from my 

23   perspective, is somewhat moot because this is new 

24   ground, completely. 

25                MR. POSTON:  That's all the questions I 
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 1   have. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

 3   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 

 4         Q.     I actually have some additional 

 5   questions from Commissioner Murray to ask this 

 6   witness, so I'm gonna backtrack just a little bit. 

 7   And I'm just going to read this.  She's actually 

 8   listening to our internet broadcast. 

 9                So for the following questions 

10   Commissioner Murray would like to figure out how 

11   exactly you calculated the reduction for ROE based on 

12   risk reduction through Staff-recommended rate design. 

13   First question is what number did you begin with? 

14         A.     As far as beginning, I looked at the 

15   Staff testimony of Mr. Barnes, his range, and it was 

16   my opinion that his testimony with a traditional rate 

17   design was reasonable.  So that would constitute the 

18   upper end of any recommendation for the appropriate 

19   rate of return with a completely decoupled rate 

20   design. 

21                I then tried to determine the best way 

22   to measure that reduction in risk.  And absent any 

23   other information available because of the lack of 

24   any comparable company, I simply -- I looked at the 

25   differential between a risk-free rate and the risk 
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 1   that lenders place on the company and took that 

 2   differential and placed it, then, again on top of the 

 3   lender's risk. 

 4                And then, as was pointed out, for -- 

 5   rounded it up, and I simply did that based on 

 6   Mr. Barnes' -- consideration of Mr. Barnes' position 

 7   and just a principle of conservativeness. 

 8         Q.     And so the specific number that you used 

 9   to start with was Mr. Barnes' -- 

10         A.     It served -- it served as the upper end 

11   of -- as kind of a test of reasonableness.  But then 

12   the actual calculation considered the risk-free rate 

13   of return and the cost of debt to Atmos-specific, and 

14   I used Atmos's cost of debt because equity as the -- 

15   to meet the financial metrics, interest coverage, 

16   debt coverage, things along that line, would be 

17   Atmos-specific.  They would not be comparable 

18   companies. 

19                That's why I used that as the reason to 

20   take the spread off of that number versus, say, take 

21   the spread and reduce it from Mr. Barnes' number. 

22         Q.     And what authorities can you cite to 

23   show that your methodology is generally accepted? 

24         A.     I'm unable to cite any methodology 

25   because this is new ground.  I've discussed this with 
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 1   numerous rate of return analysts of utilities over 

 2   the years and Staff members.  Nobody has ever been 

 3   able to try to quantify a -- or been able to quantify 

 4   a risk reduction, the quantification and basis points 

 5   of a risk reduction. 

 6                As I pointed out in MGE, their witness, 

 7   Mr.  Handley, in his direct testimony that's been 

 8   filed with this Commission, just says 25 basis points 

 9   with absolutely no support whatsoever, just his 

10   opinion. 

11         Q.     What return on equity would Office of 

12   Public Counsel recommend without Staff's rate design? 

13         A.     We believe that Mr. Barnes' 

14   recommendation is appropriate as was pointed out 

15   earlier.  That would result in a 1. -- approximately 

16   $1.2 million rate reduction.  To go to zero, that 

17   return on equity, based on Staff's case, moves up to 

18   approximately 12.6 which is even above the company's 

19   request. 

20         Q.     And so in arriving at that return on 

21   equity without Staff's rate design, you're in 

22   agreement with Mr. Barnes' methodology on that? 

23         A.     Yes, Mr. Barnes' methodology was sound 

24   as far as it went with traditional rate designs.  The 

25   issue here is driven by rate design as I indicated in 
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 1   my direct testimony, not by difference with Staff's 

 2   methodology, which we believe was sound in this case. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Are there any 

 4   further cross-examination questions based on my 

 5   questions from Commissioner Murray?  Atmos? 

 6                MR. FISCHER:  Yes, just briefly. 

 7   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 8         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, do you know if there was 

 9   anything added to Mr. Barnes' ROE due to the lack of 

10   a weather-mitigating rate design? 

11         A.     No, I don't. 

12                MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  Thank you. 

13                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Staff? 

14                MR. THOMPSON:  No questions, thank you. 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Any redirect? 

16                MR. POSTON:  No, thank you. 

17                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Thank you, 

18   Mr. Trippensee.  You may step down for now and remain 

19   available for other topics. 

20                I think we're ready to move on to 

21   depreciation, so this is a good time to take a break. 

22   So we'll come back at about ten till according to the 

23   clock in the room which is different than the clock 

24   on the computer. 

25                (A RECESS WAS TAKEN.) 

 

493 of 1082



0182 

 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go ahead 

 2   and go back on the record.  The weather's getting bad 

 3   outside, and we talked about trying to get through a 

 4   little bit more and then recessing until at least 

 5   late tomorrow morning.  I'll reassess that when we 

 6   adjourn here today.  And so let's try to keep things 

 7   moving with our next witness.  Depreciation.  Atmos? 

 8                MR. FISCHER:  Judge, we have listed as a 

 9   witness, Jim Cagle.  He's here mostly to answer any 

10   questions there might be about the depreciation 

11   stipulation.  He did not file prefiled testimony and 

12   we wouldn't offer any, but if someone from the bench 

13   does have any questions about Atmos with respect to 

14   that, we'd be glad to put him up. 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  We don't have any 

16   questions on that today, but if -- it would be likely 

17   that those questions would be on Monday.  Could 

18   Mr. Cagle be available Monday by phone? 

19                MR. FISCHER:  Yes, by phone he could be. 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Shemwell? 

21                MS. SHEMWELL:  Judge, we're prepared, 

22   then, to bring Guy Gilbert to the stand if you don't 

23   have any questions for Mr. Cagle. 

24                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Were there any 

25   other cross-examination questions for Mr. Cagle? 
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 1                MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor. 

 2                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go ahead 

 3   then with Mr. Gilbert.  I guess Mr. Cagle -- there 

 4   could be questions tomorrow for Mr. Cagle, but I 

 5   believe that being available by telephone would be 

 6   sufficient. 

 7                (The witness was sworn.) 

 8                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Shemwell? 

 9                MS. SHEMWELL:  Thank you. 

10   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. SHEMWELL: 

11         Q.     I understand we have agreed to dispense 

12   with the name and so on.  Mr. Gilbert, did you file 

13   testimony in this case that has been marked as 

14   Exhibits 107 for your direct, 108 for your rebuttal 

15   and 109 for surrebuttal? 

16         A.     I have. 

17         Q.     Do you have any corrections to your 

18   testimony? 

19         A.     I do. 

20         Q.     Would you please tell those to the 

21   reporter? 

22         A.     On my direct testimony, Exhibit No. 107 

23   at page 1, line 23, the word deprecation should be 

24   "depreciation" with the insertion of an i. 

25         Q.     Is that Exhibit 107? 
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 1         A.     Yes. 

 2         Q.     Thank you. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm sorry.  Could you 

 4   tell me the page and line again? 

 5                THE WITNESS:  Page No. 1, line 23. 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

 7                THE WITNESS:  And then again at page 6, 

 8   line 23, the last line there, Schedules 2 and 3 

 9   should say "Schedules GCG 2 and 3." 

10                And then again at page 8, line 22, the 

11   same modification, Schedules 2, 3 and 4 should read 

12   "Schedules" -- excuse me, "Schedules GCG 4, 5 and 6." 

13                And then with respect to my rebuttal 

14   testimony, Exhibit No. 108 at page 2, line 6, the 

15   word savage should read "salvage." 

16   BY MS. SHEMWELL: 

17         Q.     Spell check doesn't pick those up. 

18         A.     And that's all I'm aware of at this 

19   time.  Thank you. 

20         Q.     Mr. Gilbert, is your testimony, then, 

21   true and correct to the best of your knowledge and 

22   belief? 

23         A.     I believe so, yes. 

24                MS. SHEMWELL:  I will tender the witness 

25   for cross, Judge.  Thank you. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Are you offering those 

 2   exhibits? 

 3                MS. SHEMWELL:  Yes, I am offering the 

 4   exhibits as corrected. 

 5                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any objection 

 6   to Exhibits No. 107, 108 and 109? 

 7                (NO RESPONSE.) 

 8                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, then I will 

 9   receive those into evidence. 

10                (EXHIBIT NOS. 107, 108 AND 109 WERE 

11   RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE 

12   RECORD.) 

13                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any 

14   cross-examination by Atmos? 

15                MR. FISCHER:  No, thank you, your Honor. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 

17                MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 

18   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

19         Q.     Mr. Gilbert, your prefiled testimony 

20   addresses the issue of depreciation, correct? 

21         A.     That's correct. 

22         Q.     And in your direct testimony you propose 

23   that the Commission order the continuation of Atmos's 

24   current depreciation rates with one exception, that 

25   being the Commission -- that the Commission use the 
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 1   current Butler depreciation rates for Greeley; is 

 2   that correct? 

 3         A.     I believe that's correct, yes. 

 4         Q.     And with the exception of Greeley, is 

 5   your proposal that the Commission order the continued 

 6   use of the depreciation rates that the Commission 

 7   previously ordered for Atmos or the predecessor 

 8   companies? 

 9         A.     That's correct. 

10         Q.     So you're not recommending any changes 

11   to the depreciation rates? 

12         A.     Not to the depreciation rates, no. 

13         Q.     Isn't it true that you recommend using 

14   the current depreciation rates because Atmos failed 

15   to maintain sufficient plant data to enable the Staff 

16   to perform a detailed depreciation analysis? 

17         A.     That's correct.  An actuarially-based 

18   detailed analysis, yes. 

19         Q.     I'd like to briefly go over some of that 

20   missing data.  You testified Atmos provided its final 

21   submission of actuarial data in May 2006, but data on 

22   17 separate accounts was missing; is that correct? 

23   Page 6 of your direct. 

24         A.     There were 17 accounts missing from the 

25   data, yes, the actuarial data. 
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 1         Q.     And you also testified that a 

 2   disproportionate amount of account transactions list 

 3   2005 ending balances, correct? 

 4         A.     I thought that was true, yes. 

 5         Q.     What other items other than ending 

 6   balances should have been shown for each account? 

 7         A.     Well, the major thing that I was seeking 

 8   in the continuing property record was the retirement 

 9   data. 

10         Q.     And would additions, dates of removal -- 

11   removal, cost for removal, were those things that you 

12   would want to see as well? 

13         A.     They are. 

14         Q.     And you also testified that there are 

15   problems in the net salvage data because the company 

16   does not maintain comprehensive retirements in the 

17   CPR as required, correct? 

18         A.     Correct. 

19         Q.     And you testified that because of the 

20   lack of data to perform an accurate depreciation 

21   analysis, it was not possible for Staff to accurately 

22   determine a theoretical reserve for each account, 

23   correct? 

24         A.     That's true. 

25         Q.     So would it be fair to say Staff cannot 
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 1   perform a detailed depreciation analysis because the 

 2   underlying plant data is not known and measurable? 

 3         A.     That's true. 

 4         Q.     And how would you define the term "known 

 5   and measurable"? 

 6         A.     What we look for in the continuing 

 7   property record -- and I believe that's outlined in 

 8   my direct testimony -- let's see here -- at page 3, 

 9   line 12.  "What is the CPR and what is its purpose?" 

10   I detail the information that we look for to be part 

11   of the continuing property record of the company. 

12         Q.     Is concluding whether a cost is known 

13   and measurable a standard criteria when deciding 

14   whether a cost belongs in the company's overall cost 

15   of service? 

16         A.     That has often been a criteria in the 

17   past. 

18         Q.     Staff and Atmos have proposed a negative 

19   amortization of $591,000, correct? 

20         A.     That's true. 

21         Q.     Have you been able to verify the 

22   accuracy of the -- of that figure through an analysis 

23   of Atmos's actuarial data and continuing property 

24   records? 

25         A.     No.  I accepted management's recognition 
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 1   and acknowledgment of an over-accrual of depreciation 

 2   in that amount. 

 3         Q.     Are you familiar with the Uniform System 

 4   of Accounts? 

 5         A.     I believe I am, yes. 

 6         Q.     Could you please tell me what entries 

 7   are made on the company's monthly financial records 

 8   to record depreciation expense? 

 9         A.     Not specifically.  I'm not an 

10   accountant. 

11         Q.     If you don't understand how to make 

12   these basic entries, how are you qualified to testify 

13   that your recommendation doesn't take away amounts 

14   from the depreciation reserve? 

15         A.     The method that we've used to adjust the 

16   depreciation reserve, a negative amortization, is a 

17   method that we have often used to true up 

18   depreciation imbalances in previous cases. 

19         Q.     Are you familiar with the Uniform System 

20   of Accounts, account 403, depreciation expense? 

21         A.     I would -- 403, that's not a 300 series, 

22   so without referring to the Uniform System of 

23   Accounts, I can't, off the top of my head, unless 

24   it's in the schedule here.  I have no accounts that I 

25   study that are numbered 403.  They're all 300 series. 
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 1         Q.     Okay.  So you wouldn't also be familiar 

 2   with account 108, cumulative provisions for 

 3   depreciation of gas utility plant? 

 4         A.     I am aware that the depreciation 

 5   accruals in aggregate are placed in that account. 

 6                MR. POSTON:  I have copies of these 

 7   accounts.  May I approach the witness? 

 8                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, go ahead. 

 9   BY MR. POSTON: 

10         Q.     I've just handed you a description of 

11   account 403; is that correct? 

12         A.     That's what it states, yes. 

13         Q.     Okay.  And I believe on the second page 

14   there is a description of account 108; is that 

15   correct? 

16         A.     Yes. 

17         Q.     Could you please read -- or just read to 

18   yourself 403 and familiarize yourself with it? 

19                MS. SHEMWELL:  Judge, perhaps it would 

20   be helpful before we take the time to do this if we 

21   understood the relevance of the line of questions. 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston? 

23                MR. POSTON:  The relevance is the proper 

24   accounting that needs to occur when the adjustments 

25   that he recommends are made.  These accounts are 
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 1   accounts that also need to be adjusted and it is 

 2   relevant that we discuss those accounts. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Shemwell? 

 4                MS. SHEMWELL:  I would just note that 

 5   Mr. Gilbert has indicated that accounting is not his 

 6   area of expertise, and it's possible that these might 

 7   be areas to be discussed with a witness who is an 

 8   accounting expert. 

 9                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I think that may be the 

10   point Mr. Poston is trying to make. 

11                MS. SHEMWELL:  See, I just -- I just saw 

12   what he was going to hand him, so I don't have the 

13   opportunity to sit here and read it myself, so I 

14   can't really know.  I guess I could look over 

15   Mr. Gilbert's shoulder, but -- 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm going to allow him 

17   to ask questions, but please, let's do cut out 

18   anything that we don't really need. 

19                MR. POSTON:  Okay. 

20   BY MR. POSTON: 

21         Q.     Would you be able to answer this 

22   question:  When a monthly depreciation expense is 

23   recorded in account 403, is that account credited or 

24   debited? 

25         A.     I wouldn't be able to answer that. 
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 1         Q.     On account 108, same question:  When 

 2   monthly depreciation expense is recorded, is that 

 3   account credited or debited? 

 4         A.     I'm not able to answer that question.  I 

 5   don't know when the records of entry were made. 

 6         Q.     So would you know what financial 

 7   statement account 108 would appear in the company's 

 8   records? 

 9         A.     No, I wouldn't. 

10         Q.     Will the current depreciation rates that 

11   you propose be applied to plant and service as of 

12   June 30th, 2006 on a going-forward basis until such 

13   time as that plant is retired or the Commission 

14   authorizes new depreciation rates? 

15         A.     I don't know what date the rates would take 

16   place per the Commission's orders in this case, so... 

17         Q.     If June 30th, 2006 was the update date 

18   for the Staff's determination of rate base, would 

19   that help? 

20         A.     I'm the depreciation analyst.  I'm kind 

21   of like a life insurance agent.  I look at the 

22   utilities's plant and equipment and determine the 

23   serviceability of it and how long it's gonna live and 

24   be used and useful, and then pass those rates on and 

25   any total amounts adjustments that I believe are 
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 1   necessary to bring the reserves back into line, so... 

 2         Q.     Okay.  Do you understand or do you know 

 3   the formula used to calculate depreciation expense? 

 4         A.     There's several different methods, yes. 

 5         Q.     Would you agree that the formula -- that 

 6   one formula would be to calculate depreciation 

 7   expense is to multiply plant and service by the 

 8   depreciation rate? 

 9         A.     Yeah, that's how the depreciation rate 

10   is used, uh-huh. 

11         Q.     And mathematically, can we also 

12   determine the depreciation rate by dividing the 

13   depreciation expense by plant and service? 

14         A.     I believe that's correct. 

15         Q.     And you say your policy would lower 

16   depreciation expense; is that correct? 

17         A.     There would be a reduction to the 

18   aggregate depreciation expense, yes. 

19         Q.     Is the negative amortization the Staff 

20   recommends dependent on the level of depreciation 

21   expense that is recorded each month? 

22         A.     I don't know that the number I produce 

23   is on an annual basis. 

24         Q.     Do you believe this Commission must 

25   authorize Atmos to utilize specific depreciation 
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 1   rates that will apply against monthly plant and 

 2   service balances to determine monthly depreciation 

 3   expense? 

 4         A.     The rates I provide are for an annual 

 5   accrual. 

 6         Q.     Do you believe this Commission must 

 7   authorize the negative amortization in order for 

 8   Atmos to record this -- the reduction of what you 

 9   term net accrual in your surrebuttal testimony? 

10         A.     Could you rephrase the question, please? 

11         Q.     The question is, do you believe this 

12   Commission must authorize the negative amortization 

13   in order for Atmos to record the reduction in what 

14   you term net accrual, on page 2 of your surrebuttal? 

15         A.     I believe in reference to your question 

16   in my rebuttal testimony at page 1, line 18, the 

17   question, "Are there any clarifications, explanations 

18   or amplifications that you would like to provide to 

19   the Commission at this time with respect to your 

20   testimony," I answered, "The only additional 

21   clarification and explanation I would like to offer 

22   is that Atmos management accepted in its own 

23   depreciation consultant's recommendation that as a 

24   whole, the annual depreciation accrual should be 

25   reduced by approximately $591,000.  This reduction 
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 1   should be facilitated by a negative amortization to 

 2   the depreciation reserve account in the amount of 

 3   $591,000 annually." 

 4                And then I go on, "Furthermore," if 

 5   you'd like me to read.  But this is a common 

 6   mechanism that we've used in depreciation 

 7   amortizations on an annual basis, either positive or 

 8   negative, to true up the aggregate reserve for 

 9   depreciation. 

10         Q.     The question was, do you believe the 

11   Commission must authorize the negative -- sorry.  Do 

12   you believe the Commission must authorize the 

13   negative amortization in order for Atmos to record 

14   this reduction in what you term "net accrual"? 

15         A.     The Commission's the ruling authority 

16   with respect to the issues in this case, so to the 

17   extent that this is a question that they've been 

18   asked to decide, I believe that would be the case.  I 

19   mean, they are the authority. 

20                MS. SHEMWELL:  It seems to me Mr. Poston 

21   is asking a question about recording, which I'm not 

22   understanding.  Perhaps that's an accounting question 

23   in order for them to record it in their books. 

24                MR. POSTON:  I'm ready to move on. 

25                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Thank you. 
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 1   BY MR. POSTON: 

 2         Q.     Is it Staff's position that the 

 3   Commission's authorization of specific depreciation 

 4   rates is dependent on the Commission also authorizing 

 5   the negative amortization? 

 6         A.     I think the Commission has -- has the 

 7   authority to choose all or part of any decision. 

 8         Q.     If the Commission rejects your negative 

 9   amortization proposal, do you still recommend keeping 

10   current depreciation rates? 

11         A.     I do. 

12         Q.     And has that been an agreement of the 

13   parties, I believe, keeping the current depreciation 

14   rates? 

15         A.     I believe so with the partial 

16   stipulation and agreement -- nonunanimous partial 

17   stipulation and agreement which I've reviewed earlier 

18   today, that is the case, true. 

19         Q.     Would Staff's proposed negative 

20   amortization change from the $591,000 amount as a 

21   result of new plan additions subsequent to June 30th, 

22   2006? 

23         A.     It is a fixed amortization until such 

24   time as the Commission would rule otherwise. 

25         Q.     And do you know what accounts will be 
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 1   credited to record the 591,000 on the company's 

 2   financial records? 

 3         A.     The aggregate account that I spoke of 

 4   earlier that I believe that all the depreciation 

 5   accruals went into, that would be the account 108, 

 6   but again, I'm not an accountant. 

 7         Q.     So you wouldn't then know what account 

 8   would be debited to record that same... 

 9         A.     No, I would not. 

10         Q.     Is the recording of depreciation expense 

11   based on monthly plant and service balances and 

12   currently approved depreciation rates? 

13         A.     I think I've answered that earlier in 

14   that the depreciation rates that I developed are 

15   based upon an annual basis.  So, you know, frequency 

16   of their booking, again, that's not something I'm 

17   really involved with or privy to. 

18         Q.     Is the depreciation expense a static 

19   number or does it change from month to month as a 

20   plant is added or retired? 

21         A.     Well, I would think that -- well, again, 

22   you're talking on a monthly basis, and the rates I 

23   come up with are annual rates.  But to the extent 

24   that they have added plant over the course of a year, 

25   yeah, I would think that there would be more 
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 1   depreciation accrued then. 

 2                And likewise, if they retired a plant, 

 3   there would be, likewise, a deduction in the amount 

 4   of plant and service.  And that's part of the 

 5   actuarial life characteristics that we get into in 

 6   depreciation. 

 7         Q.     Would you agree that accumulated 

 8   depreciation is a reduction to rate base under 

 9   traditional regulatory procedures advocated by Staff 

10   and used by this Commission? 

11         A.     I believe that's the case. 

12         Q.     I'm sorry? 

13         A.     Yeah, I believe that's the case, uh-huh, 

14   yes. 

15         Q.     Thus, rate base would be larger in the 

16   future absent Commission authorization of a negative 

17   reserve? 

18         A.     I'm not sure I understand. 

19         Q.     I'll move on.  Are you familiar with the 

20   terms "return on" and "return of" capital? 

21         A.     I've heard them used before, yes. 

22         Q.     Would you agree that depreciation 

23   expense represents a return of the capital investment 

24   in plant and service from the ratepayers to the 

25   company? 
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 1         A.     That's true. 

 2         Q.     Would you agree that until such time 

 3   that the ratepayers provide a return of the capital 

 4   investment that the ratepayer provides a return on 

 5   the capital investment through the overall rate of 

 6   return? 

 7         A.     That is also true as I understand it, 

 8   yes. 

 9         Q.     Would you agree that rate base 

10   represents the capital investment of the company used 

11   to provide regulated natural gas service to 

12   Missourians? 

13         A.     As I understand it, yes. 

14         Q.     You've also agreed that plant and 

15   service is included in the rate base? 

16         A.     That's my understanding. 

17         Q.     If future ratepayers are required to 

18   provide a return of capital and a return on capital 

19   as a result of the Commission authorizing a negative 

20   amortization in this case, given all things else 

21   being equal, wouldn't future ratepayers have higher 

22   rates incrementally as it relates to the increase in 

23   rate base resulting from the negative amortization? 

24         A.     Well, I think that gets back to my 

25   direct testimony, and kind of one of the cruxes of 
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 1   the problem that's brought us here to begin with is 

 2   that given the lack of an actuarial database to work 

 3   from and study what the appropriate depreciation 

 4   rates should be, we don't know whether those rates 

 5   would be higher or lower in the future.  So it would 

 6   be a matter of conjecture to say whether it would be 

 7   more or less in the future. 

 8         Q.     But you've simply accepted the 591,000 

 9   based on what Atmos's management believes is 

10   appropriate? 

11         A.     Right.  Because I see that, I view that 

12   as an immediate relief to the current ratepayers in 

13   that it reduces their depreciation expense by 

14   $591,000 per year.  Now, granted, it's going to 

15   increase the amount of rate base that consumers are 

16   going to pay a return on. 

17                However, if we were to use an example of 

18   10 percent for the return on equity for that 

19   additional $591,000 of rate base, it would cost them 

20   $59,100 a year as opposed to the savings of $591,000 

21   a year in depreciation expense.  So the difference of 

22   those two would be the net savings to the current 

23   ratepayers. 

24         Q.     Will the future ratepayers have to repay 

25   that 591,000? 
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 1         A.     At some rate of depreciation. 

 2         Q.     The answer is yes, they will have to 

 3   repay that? 

 4         A.     Yes. 

 5                MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  That's all I 

 6   have. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Are there 

 8   any questions from the bench of Mr. Gilbert? 

 9   Commissioner Appling? 

10                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  No questions. 

11                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right. 

12   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 

13         Q.     Mr. Gilbert, you testified about what 

14   you believe is a violation of the Commission rule 

15   with regard to the recordkeeping. 

16         A.     That's correct. 

17         Q.     And on page 2 of your direct testimony, 

18   is it Staff's position that the Commission should 

19   authorize Staff to seek penalties or to pursue a 

20   complaint if Staff deems it necessary?  Is that what 

21   you're asking there? 

22         A.     During prehearing negotiations, the 

23   company expressed a ready willingness to work with 

24   Staff to come into compliance with the Commission's 

25   rules.  However, based upon the Commission's order or 
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 1   whatever, essentially that item does remain on the 

 2   table. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  All right. 

 4   That's all I have.  Is there any cross-examination, 

 5   based on that question, from Atmos? 

 6                MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your Honor. 

 7   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 8         Q.     Mr. Gilbert, you mentioned the partial 

 9   nonunanimous stipulation and agreement in your 

10   discussion earlier today, but isn't it correct that 

11   the depreciation recordkeeping and reporting issue 

12   has been settled between Staff and Atmos and Public 

13   Counsel in this case now? 

14         A.     For purposes of the stipulation and 

15   agreement, we are going to meet and work together and 

16   hopefully -- and it's intended by that, I believe, to 

17   have the issue resolved by the middle of 2007. 

18         Q.     And assuming that that is done by June 

19   of 2007, won't that go a long way toward resolving 

20   any questions that there are related to the property 

21   records issued? 

22         A.     I believe it would. 

23         Q.     And that would also be true of the 

24   reverse amortization adjustment that's being proposed 

25   by Public Counsel? 
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 1         A.     I'm not sure that I make the connection 

 2   there.  In order for the amortization to be relieved, 

 3   I believe it would be necessary for the Commission to 

 4   order new depreciation rates. 

 5         Q.     And that will happen following the June 

 6   property updates; is that your understanding? 

 7         A.     That becomes a matter of case, but I 

 8   don't know if we would have to file with the 

 9   Commission for rates that would reflect that.  I'm 

10   sorry.  That's not my -- 

11         Q.     But at some point that could happen in 

12   the future, though; is that right? 

13         A.     I would believe so, yes. 

14                MR. FISCHER:  I think that's all I have, 

15   Judge.  Thank you. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

17   anything further from Public Counsel?  Or I'm sorry. 

18   Yes, from Public Counsel? 

19                MR. POSTON:  No, thank you. 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there redirect? 

21                MS. SHEMWELL:  Yes, briefly, thank you. 

22   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. SHEMWELL: 

23         Q.     Mr. Gilbert, are you simply accepting 

24   the problems with recordkeeping that this company 

25   has? 
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 1         A.     No, I am not. 

 2         Q.     And what is your plan of action? 

 3         A.     Well, the plan of action is, as I laid 

 4   out in my direct testimony, would be to fulfill the 

 5   requirements of the Commission's rules, and I think 

 6   I've laid those out with respect to the requirements 

 7   for the continuing property record and timely 

 8   recordkeeping and so forth. 

 9                I think it's further explored and 

10   explained in the nonunanimous stipulation and 

11   agreement where it produces a timeline with which 

12   these goals would be met. 

13         Q.     If they're not met? 

14         A.     The Staff would then have the option to 

15   pursue another course of action. 

16         Q.     I was hearing an implication that either 

17   customers might double-pay for depreciation or Atmos 

18   might double-recover.  Is that your understanding? 

19         A.     No, I don't believe that's the case. 

20         Q.     Do you believe that customers benefited 

21   from your suggested reduction? 

22         A.     Yes, I think that the customers would 

23   see an immediate benefit in the reduction. 

24         Q.     Can you quantify that benefit? 

25         A.     The $591,000 in negative amortization to 
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 1   the depreciation expense. 

 2         Q.     I'd like to clarify, for all of the rate 

 3   base questions.  Do you consider yourself a rate base 

 4   expert? 

 5         A.     No, I do not. 

 6         Q.     You have said that there would be a 

 7   repayment at some rate of depreciation.  Would you 

 8   say what you mean by repayment? 

 9         A.     Yeah, let me clarify that.  As 

10   Mr. Fischer, I believe, pointed out, is that once 

11   Atmos has adequate records in place, the depreciation 

12   study can be conducted.  Staff and the company 

13   would be able to conduct a depreciation analysis and 

14   arrive at what would be true and correct, we would 

15   believe to be true and correct depreciation rates 

16   for those plant and equipment serving Atmos customers 

17   at that time, at which the appropriate return of 

18   the investment could be made to the Atmos 

19   stockholders. 

20         Q.     I may be misremembering, but I thought 

21   earlier you said a return on investment.  But you're 

22   clarifying that it's a return of? 

23         A.     Yes.  Hopefully, I didn't misspeak, but 

24   the depreciation end of things is the return of the 

25   investment. 
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 1         Q.     Can you speculate as to what that will 

 2   be? 

 3         A.     No, I cannot. 

 4                MS. SHEMWELL:  That's all I have.  Thank 

 5   you. 

 6                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay, then. 

 7   Mr. Gilbert, I believe that's all the questions for 

 8   you today.  The other Commissioners could have some 

 9   questions for you, and so I'll ask you to remain 

10   available on future days. 

11                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  I will. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We need to take a 

13   quick break for the court reporter.  So let's take 

14   about a five to seven-minute break and come back at 

15   25 till. 

16                (A RECESS WAS TAKEN.) 

17                (The witness was sworn.) 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  You can sit down, 

19   Mr. Trippensee.  You've been previously sworn.  We 

20   can go back on the record if I didn't say that. 

21   Okay. 

22                We had a little technical difficulty 

23   there, but the court reporter is gonna let me know if 

24   she has further difficulties. 

25                We are gonna go as long as we can, 
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 1   hopefully get through Mr. Trippensee.  If -- we're 

 2   gonna adjourn and reconvene tomorrow at 10:00 a.m. if 

 3   we can.  And I'm getting a calling conference call 

 4   port, and I'll let you know as soon as I have the 

 5   toll-free number in case we need to have some 

 6   witnesses by phone or people listening in by phone 

 7   tomorrow. 

 8                Mr. Trippensee, you were previously 

 9   sworn, and on the issue of depreciation your exhibits 

10   have already been admitted.  Is there 

11   cross-examination from Atmos? 

12                MR. FISCHER:  No, thank you, your Honor. 

13                JUDGE DIPPELL:  From Staff? 

14                MS. SHEMWELL:  Briefly.  Thank you, your 

15   Honor. 

16   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SHEMWELL: 

17         Q.     Mr. Trippensee, I have a question. 

18   Mr. Gilbert has recommended a reduction in 

19   depreciation reserve, correct?  Is that your 

20   understanding? 

21         A.     A reduction in the depreciation reserve, 

22   that is correct. 

23         Q.     And it is only on a going-forward basis, 

24   correct? 

25         A.     That is correct. 
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 1         Q.     And past customers have paid what 

 2   they've paid, right? 

 3         A.     Past customers will have paid those 

 4   monies that he's now wishing to funnel back to 

 5   current -- 

 6         Q.     My question was, they've paid what 

 7   they've paid, right? 

 8         A.     I am just answering your question. 

 9         Q.     And the reserve will continue to grow, 

10   correct, because the total depreciation is greater 

11   than the 591,000? 

12         A.     On a net basis the reserve will continue 

13   to grow. 

14                MS. SHEMWELL:  Thank you.  That's all I 

15   have. 

16                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Commissioner 

17   Appling, do you have any questions for 

18   Mr. Trippensee? 

19                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  No questions at 

20   this time. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Give me just a 

22   moment.  I have one.  Never mind.  I believe my 

23   question's already been answered, Mr. Trippensee.  So 

24   is there any redirect? 

25                MR. POSTON:  Yes, your Honor. 
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 1   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 2         Q.     Ms. Shemwell asked you a question about 

 3   reduction in depreciation reserve going forward. 

 4         A.     Yes. 

 5         Q.     Do you have any concerns with that? 

 6         A.     Yes, I do. 

 7         Q.     Can you please explain that? 

 8         A.     Yes, I can.  The depreciation reserve 

 9   represents the accumulated payments of ratepayers of 

10   the return of plant investment of the company.  Staff 

11   is proposing, without any support, I think, as even 

12   Mr. Gilbert support -- or testified to today, to take 

13   some of those monies and return it to current 

14   ratepayers in the next year. 

15                But what that does not point out is that 

16   future ratepayers, after that first year, are going 

17   to have to repay all $591,000, and until such time as 

18   those amounts are repaid, they will also have to pay 

19   a return on that $591,000.  This also effectively 

20   results in the company having to reinvest in this 

21   company in this rate base by $591,000 because the 

22   capital structure has to support the rate base. 

23                If you increase rate base, the company 

24   has to have either debt or equity that supports it. 

25   So Staff's position is effectively forcing the 
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 1   company to reinvest and then have the ratepayers, 

 2   somewhere down the line, repay them.  They -- the 

 3   Staff is taking two separate adjustments, one, their 

 4   depreciation expense based on depreciation rates that 

 5   they're -- that I believe Mr. Gilbert stated were 

 6   independent, would be the rates be used regardless of 

 7   the 591,000. 

 8                And then they get that number which is 

 9   about $3.3 million -- I believe that's right.  It 

10   happens to be about what the company asks for.  They 

11   are not the same.  And then also then netting it 

12   against this other -- this negative amortization, and 

13   therefore saying gee, the reserve overall will 

14   continue to grow. 

15                Unfortunately, the two adjustments are 

16   separate and distinct, I think, as Mr. Gilbert 

17   recognized when he said that he recommended those 

18   rates if the Commission rejected the negative 

19   amortization. 

20                So simply by netting it together and 

21   squishing it and making it appear as it's not there 

22   doesn't change the underlying factors of what is 

23   causing it.  Right now, that $591,000 of negative 

24   amortization is effectively -- is based on the 

25   comparison of a theoretical reserve to what the 
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 1   actual reserve is. 

 2                I believe I heard Mr. Gilbert say he 

 3   couldn't calculate the theoretical reserve.  That 

 4   does not rise to the level, then, of being a known 

 5   measurable adjustment that this Commission should 

 6   accept rates on. 

 7                MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  That's all I 

 8   have. 

 9                JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Thank you, 

10   Mr. Trippensee.  There may be additional questions on 

11   this topic from the other Commissioners at a later 

12   time. 

13                THE WITNESS:  Fine. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Can we go ahead 

15   and begin with Mr. Smith and get to his -- get his 

16   testimony in the record and so forth? 

17                MR. FISCHER:  Yes. 

18                (The witness was sworn.) 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  And is 

20   this the only day that Mr. Smith is scheduled to 

21   testify? 

22                MR. FISCHER:  I believe so, yes. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go ahead 

24   with him.  Maybe we'll see how it goes.  Maybe we can 

25   get finished with him today too. 
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 1   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 2         Q.     Mr. Smith, just for your information, 

 3   your direct testimony has been marked as Exhibit 

 4   No. 2, your rebuttal has been marked as No. 3 and 

 5   your surrebuttal has been marked as No. 4.  Do you 

 6   have any changes or corrections you need to make to 

 7   any of those exhibits? 

 8         A.     No, I do not. 

 9                MR. FISCHER:  With that, your Honor, I 

10   would move for the admission of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4 

11   and tender Mr. Smith for cross-examination. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any objection 

13   to Exhibit 2, 3 and 4? 

14                MR. BERLIN:  No, your Honor. 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, then I will 

16   admit it into evidence -- or admit those into 

17   evidence. 

18                (EXHIBIT NOS. 2, 3 AND 4 WERE RECEIVED 

19   INTO EVIDENCE AND MADE A PART OF THE RECORD.) 

20                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any 

21   cross-examination from Staff? 

22                MR. BERLIN:  Yes, your Honor.  I just 

23   have a couple quick questions. 

24   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 

25         Q.     Mr. Smith, do you have any studies or 
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 1   any opinion on the amount of gas consumption of 

 2   low-income consumers? 

 3         A.     No, I do not, no. 

 4         Q.     Is there someone in the company who 

 5   might have knowledge of that? 

 6         A.     You can refer the question to Mr. Ellis 

 7   later.  I'm not certain that we've done any studies 

 8   in Missouri.  I believe we may have evaluated it a 

 9   little bit in some other states. 

10                MR. BERLIN:  All right.  Thank you.  I 

11   have no further questions, your Honor. 

12                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Public 

13   Counsel? 

14                MR. POSTON:  No questions, thank you. 

15                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Appling, do 

16   you have any questions for Mr. Smith? 

17                COMMISSIONER APPLING:  No questions for 

18   Mr. Smith. 

19   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 

20         Q.     Okay.  Mr. Smith, you mentioned page 3 

21   of your surrebuttal testimony, the Missouri Energy 

22   Task Force and their adoption of the National Energy 

23   Action Plan for Energy Efficiency? 

24         A.     What page did you say, please? 

25         Q.     On page 3. 
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 1         A.     Okay. 

 2         Q.     Are you familiar with the makeup of the 

 3   Missouri Energy Task Force? 

 4         A.     No, other than to see that resolution. 

 5         Q.     Okay.  And on page 5 of your rebuttal 

 6   testimony, can you explain to me how you arrived at 

 7   the 75 percent on line 7? 

 8         A.     Basically what we did there was we 

 9   agreed with Staff witness Ross's calculations, and 

10   this was our methodology used to arrive at a 

11   potential structure that would be what we referred to 

12   as sculpting the delivery charge. 

13                And the 75 percent was not a real 

14   scientific approach, but what we were looking for 

15   more or less was a summer charge that we felt 

16   wouldn't drive behavior of customers that otherwise 

17   would probably turn off service.  We felt like it was 

18   a little bit closer what the customer -- the 

19   customers would be familiar with in the way we 

20   collected margins under traditional rate designs to 

21   these classes, and -- but yet, still, probably as 

22   Staff is seeking lowering their winter bills. 

23                So we took the 75 percent of the 

24   computed charge by Ms. Ross, made that the summer 

25   rate, and then for the five winter months of November 
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 1   through March, backed into the remainder to equal her 

 2   total revenue for that residential class. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  That's all the 

 4   questions I have for you.  Are there any 

 5   recross-examination questions from Staff? 

 6                MR. BERLIN:  No, your Honor. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 

 8                MR. POSTON:  No, thank you. 

 9                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any redirect? 

10                MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly. 

11   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

12         Q.     The judge asked you about low-income 

13   usage.  Are you familiar with the testimony of Public 

14   Counsel witness Barb Meisenheimer who addressed that 

15   topic earlier today? 

16         A.     I have read her testimony, yes. 

17         Q.     Do you recall that she indicated that 

18   her study showed that low-income was the equivalent 

19   of the average use in all of the Atmos districts? 

20         A.     I do recall that, yes. 

21         Q.     Okay.  And I'm not sure that this 

22   addresses just low income, but I'd like to show you 

23   an exhibit that's attached to Pat Childers' 

24   surrebuttal testimony that talks about the average 

25   annual CCF. 
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 1                MR. FISCHER:  May I approach the 

 2   witness? 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 

 4                MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I have an 

 5   objection.  I'm not sure how this is based off of a 

 6   question that came from the bench. 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Fischer? 

 8                MR. FISCHER:  Well, your Honor, the 

 9   evidence seems to be that the average -- the low- 

10   income has the same usage levels as the average 

11   customer.  I was about to put in front of him the 

12   testimony that shows what the average usage is in our 

13   different districts. 

14                JUDGE DIPPELL:  And that's based on 

15   cross questions? 

16                MR. FISCHER:  It's based on your 

17   question about low-income usage. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Oh, okay.  Well, my 

19   question had to do with the 75 percent. 

20                MR. FISCHER:  Perhaps I'm thinking of a 

21   cross question then.  Okay.  I will withdraw that 

22   question then. 

23                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, you're -- 

24   you're allowed to redirect. 

25                MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  Well, I guess 
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 1   that's right, then.  If it's redirect I can go ahead 

 2   and do that. 

 3                MR. POSTON:  My apologies. 

 4                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

 5   BY MR. FISCHER: 

 6         Q.     I'd like to show you the PJC surrebuttal 

 7   two, pages 1 of 2, and ask you just to read into the 

 8   record the average annual usage for each of the -- 

 9   for residential classes for each of our districts. 

10         A.     I knew I would regret not bringing my 

11   glasses to the stand, but I can -- 

12         Q.     I've got 150s.  Will that do? 

13         A.     Yes, it will do.  It will actually do 

14   perfectly.  Yeah, this will be fine.  Okay.  The 

15   average residential CCF annually in the Butler 

16   division was 761 CCF; in division 29 it was 747 CCF; 

17   in Kirksville, 771; division 97 is 793; division 97 

18   of -- UCG portion of division 97 is 817, and the 

19   southeast Missouri division is 638. 

20                MR. FISCHER:  Thank you.  That's all I 

21   have. 

22                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  All right. 

23   Mr. Smith, again, there may be additional questions 

24   from the other Commissioners so I won't excuse you 

25   completely, but if you are going to be available 
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 1   tomorrow? 

 2                THE WITNESS:  I will be. 

 3                JUDGE DIPPELL:  That will be fine.  If 

 4   you need to be available by telephone, that will be 

 5   fine as well. 

 6                MR. BERLIN:  Judge? 

 7                JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm sorry. 

 8                MR. BERLIN:  Just for purposes of 

 9   clarity -- and I'm just gonna ask the question and 

10   ask you to rule on it -- but Mr. Smith just read into 

11   the record the CCF average annual usage from some 

12   prefiled testimony, and he used some terms that we 

13   had not discussed here today, such as division 29, 

14   division 97, the old UCG. 

15                Perhaps you might be able to say if 

16   that's just exactly what that is based on how he's 

17   been identifying these districts.  This is just for 

18   purposes of clarity. 

19                JUDGE DIPPELL:  That is a good idea. 

20   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 

21         Q.     I believe it's in Ms. Childers' 

22   testimony but... 

23         A.     I would need that. 

24         Q.     If you could just clarify that for this 

25   portion. 
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 1         A.     Okay.  It would appear that division 71 

 2   that I referred to is the Butler division -- or the 

 3   Butler district.  Division 29 is the Greeley area. 

 4   I'm not sure if this is helping or not. 

 5                MR. BERLIN:  I think it is.  Go ahead. 

 6                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Thank you.  The 

 7   70 I've already identified as the Kirksville 

 8   division.  As division 79 -- I'm looking at the cross 

 9   tabs here.  I'm sorry.  That's 97.  I'm sorry.  97, 

10   Palmyra. 

11                MR. BERLIN:  That's division what, 

12   Palmyra? 

13                THE WITNESS:  Palmyra, division 97, 

14   Palmyra.  That was the 793 CCF.  The 817 was in 

15   division 97 UCG, or Neelyville.  And then finally, 

16   division 72, southeast Missouri, is referred to as 

17   the southeast district. 

18                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Did that help, 

19   Mr. Berlin? 

20                MR. BERLIN:  Yes, thank you. 

21                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Thank you.  You 

22   may be excused for now, Mr. Smith, subject to being 

23   available later for additional Commission questions, 

24   if any. 

25                THE WITNESS:  That's fine.  Thank you. 
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 1                JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I think that 

 2   we're gonna call it a day.  And I do have an 800 

 3   number, and I've made some copies and I'll get those 

 4   to you if counsel could give me their contact 

 5   information in case the weather should be so 

 6   awful that we'd need to cancel completely tomorrow. 

 7   Thank you, all, and be careful this evening. 

 8                We can go off the record. 

 9                (WHEREUPON, the hearing of this case was 

10   recessed until December 4, 2006.) 

11    

12    

13    

14    

15    

16    

17    

18    

19    

20    

21    

22    

23    

24    

25    

 

532 of 1082



0221 
 
 1   Opening Statement by Mr. Fischer               12 
     Opening Statement by Mr. Berlin                27 
 2   Opening Statement by Mr. Poston                49 
     Opening Statement by Mr. Fulton                58 
 3    
 4    
                  ISSUE: REVENUE REQUIREMENT 
 5    
 6            ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION'S EVIDENCE 
 7    
     PATRICIA CHILDERS 
 8   Direct Examination by Mr. Fischer              63 
     Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson              65 
 9   Cross-Examination by Mr. Poston                69 
     Questions by Commissioner Appling              74 
10   Questions by Chairman Davis                    75 
     Questions by Commissioner Appling              78 
11   Redirect Examination by Mr. Fischer            80 
 
12   DR. DONALD MURRAY 
     Direct Examination by Mr. Fischer              82 
13   Questions by Commissioner Appling              83 
     Questions by Judge Dippell                     88 
14   Redirect Examination by Mr. Fischer            89 
15    
16                     STAFF'S EVIDENCE 
 
17   STEPHEN RACKERS 
     Direct Examination by Mr. Thompson             91 
18   Cross-Examination by Mr. Poston                93 
     Questions by Commissioner Appling              98 
19   Questions by Chairman Davis                   100 
     Recross-Examination by Mr. Fischer            103 
20   Questions by Chairman Davis                   104 
     Recross-Examination by Mr. Poston             105 
21   Redirect Examination by Mr. Thompson          106 
22    
     MATTHEW BARNES 
23   Direct Examination by Mr. Thompson            108 
     Cross-Examination by Mr. Poston               109 
24   Voir Dire Examination by Mr. Thompson         120 
     Cross-Examination Resumed by Mr. Poston       120 
25   Questions by Commissioner Appling             128 
     Cross-Examination by Mr. Fischer              130 
 

533 of 1082



0222 
 
 1          ISSUE: REVENUE REQUIREMENT (continued) 
 2    
                        OPC'S EVIDENCE 
 3    
 4   BARBARA MEISENHEIMER 
     Direct Examination by Mr. Poston              132 
 5   Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson             134 
     Redirect Examination by Mr. Poston            139 
 6    
     RUSSELL TRIPPENSEE 
 7   Direct Examination by Mr. Poston              143 
     Cross-Examination by Mr. Fischer              144 
 8   Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson             164 
     Redirect Examination by Mr. Poston            171 
 9   Questions by Judge Dippell                    178 
     Recross-Examination by Mr. Fischer            181 
10    
11                    ISSUE: DEPRECIATION 
 
12                      PSC'S EVIDENCE 
13    
14   GUY GILBERT 
     Direct Examination by Ms. Shemwell            183 
15   Cross-Examination by Mr. Poston               185 
     Questions by Judge Dippell                    201 
16   Cross-Examination by Mr. Fischer              202 
     Redirect Examination by Ms. Shemwell          203 
17    
18    
                        OPC'S EVIDENCE 
19    
20   RUSSELL TRIPPENSEE 
     Cross-Examination by Ms. Shemwell             207 
21   Redirect Examination by Mr. Poston            209 
22    
     GARY L. SMITH 
23   Direct Examination by Mr. Fischer             212 
     Cross-Examination by Mr. Berlin               212 
24   Questions by Judge Dippell                    213 
     Redirect Examination by Mr. Fischer           215 
25   Questions by Judge Dippell 
 

534 of 1082



0223 
 
 1                      EXHIBITS INDEX 
 
 2                                      MARKED  RECEIVED 
 
 3   Exhibit No. 1 
     Direct Testimony of 
 4   John A. Paris                        *        ** 
 
 5   Exhibit No. 2 
     Direct Testimony of 
 6   Gary L. Smith                        *        212 
 
 7   Exhibit No. 3 
     Rebuttal Testimony of 
 8   Gary L. Smith                        *        212 
 
 9   Exhibit No. 4 
     Surrebuttal Testimony of 
10   Gary L. Smith                        *        212 
 
11   Exhibit No. 5NP 
     Direct Testimony of 
12   Patricia J. Childers                 *        65 
 
13   Exhibit No. 5HC 
     Direct Testimony of 
14   Patricia J. Childers                 *        65 
 
15   Exhibit No. 6 
     Rebuttal Testimony of 
16   Patricia J. Childers                 *        65 
 
17   Exhibit No. 7 
     Surrebuttal Testimony of 
18   Patricia J. Childers                 *        65 
 
19   Exhibit No. 8 
     Direct Testimony of 
20   Laurie M. Sherwood                   *        ** 
 
21   Exhibit No. 9NP 
     Direct Testimony of 
22   Robert V. Kerley                     *        ** 
 
23   Exhibit No. 9HC 
     Direct Testimony of 
24   Robert V. Kerley                     *        ** 
 
25    
 

535 of 1082



0224 
 
 1                                      MARKED  RECEIVED 
 2    
 3   Exhibit No. 10 
     Direct Testimony of 
 4   Michael H. Ellis                     *        ** 
 
 5   Exhibit No. 11NP 
     Direct Testimony of 
 6   James C. Cagle                       *        ** 
 
 7   Exhibit No. 11HC 
     Direct Testimony of 
 8   James C. Cagle                       *        ** 
 
 9   Exhibit No. 12 
     Direct Testimony of 
10   Thomas H. Petersen                   *        ** 
 
11   Exhibit No. 13 
     Direct Testimony of 
12   Daniel M. Meziere                    *        ** 
 
13   Exhibit No. 14 
     Direct Testimony of 
14   Donald A. Murray, Ph.D.              *        83 
 
15   Exhibit No. 15 
     Surrebuttal Testimony of 
16   Donald A. Murray, Ph.D.              *        83 
 
17   Exhibit No. 16 
     Direct Testimony of 
18   Donald S. Roff                       *        ** 
 
19   Exhibit No. 17 
     Direct Testimony of 
20   Ronald Edelstein                     *        ** 
 
21   Exhibit No. 18 
     Direct Testimony of 
22   Rebecca M. Buchanan                  *        ** 
 
23   Exhibit No. 101 
     Direct Testimony of 
24   Michael Barnes                       *        109 
 
25    
 

536 of 1082



0225 
 
 1                                      MARKED  RECEIVED 
 2    
 3   Exhibit No. 102 
     Surrebuttal Testimony of 
 4   Michael Barnes                       *        109 
 5    
     Exhibit No. 103 
 6   Stephen Rackers' direct 
     testimony                            *        92 
 7    
     Exhibit No. 104 
 8   Stephen Rackers' 
     rebuttal testimony                   *        92 
 9    
10   Exhibit No. 105 
     Staff accounting 
11   schedules                            *        92 
 
12   Exhibit No. 106 
     Corrected Schedule 10                *        92 
13    
     Exhibit No. 107 
14   Direct Testimony of 
     Guy Gilbert                          *        185 
15    
     Exhibit No. 108 
16   Rebuttal Testimony of 
     Guy Gilbert                          *        185 
17    
     Exhibit No. 109 
18   Surrebuttal Testimony 
     of Guy Gilbert                       *        185 
19    
     Exhibit No. 200 
20   Direct Testimony of 
     Barbara Meisenheimer                 *        133 
21    
     Exhibit No. 201 
22   Rebuttal Testimony of 
     Barbara Meisenheimer                 *        133 
23    
     Exhibit No. 202 
24   Surrebuttal testimony of 
     Barbara Meisenheimer                 *        133 
25    
 

537 of 1082



0226 
 
 1                                      MARKED  RECEIVED 
 2    
 3   Exhibit No. 203 
     Direct Testimony of 
 4   Russell Trippensee                   *        143 
 
 5   Exhibit No. 204 
     Correction sheet                     *        133 
 6    
     * Premarked 
 7    
     ** Neither offered nor 
 8   received in this volume. 
 
 9    

10    

11    

12    

13    

14    

15    

16    

17    

18    

19    

20    

21    

22    

23    

24    

25    

538 of 1082



                                                                      227 
 
 
 
          1                 BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
 
          2                          STATE OF MISSOURI 
 
          3                                _____ 
 
          4                      TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
          5                               HEARING 
 
          6                           December 4, 2006 
 
          7                       Jefferson City, Missouri 
 
          8                               Volume 8 
 
          9                                _____ 
 
         10    
              In the Matter of Atmos Energy) Case No. GR-2006-0387 
         11   Corporation's Tariff Revision) 
              Designed to Consolidate Rates) 
         12   and Implement a General Rate ) 
              Increase for Natural Gas     ) 
         13   Service in the Missouri      ) 
              Service Area of the Company. ) 
         14    
 
         15    
 
         16    
                                           _____ 
         17    
                     NANCY M. DIPPELL, Presiding, 
         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF REGULATORY LAW JUDGE. 
                     JEFF DAVIS, Chairman 
         19          STEVE GAW 
                     ROBERT M. CLAYTON, III, 
         20          LINWARD "LIN" APPLING, 
                                 COMMISSIONERS. 
         21                                _____ 
 
         22   REPORTED BY: 
              TRACY L. THORPE TAYLOR, CSR, CCR 
         23   MIDWEST LITIGATION SERVICES 
 
         24    
 
         25    
 
 
 

539 of 1082



 
                                                                      228 
 
 
 
          1                        A P P E A R A N C E S 
 
          2   LARRY W. DORITY, Attorney at Law 
              JAMES M. FISCHER, Attorney at Law 
          3          Fischer & Dority 
                     101 Madison Street, Suite 400 
          4          Jefferson City, Missouri  65101 
                     573-636-6758 
          5    FOR:  Atmos Energy Corporation 
 
          6   DOUGLAS C. WALTER, Associate General Counsel 
                     Atmos Energy Corporation 
          7          PO Box 650205 
                     Dallas, Texas  75265-0205 
          8    FOR:  Atmos Energy Corporation 
 
          9   ROBIN E. FULTON, Attorney at Law 
                     135 East Main Street 
         10          Fredericktown, Missouri  63645 
                     573-783-7212 
         11    FOR:  Noranda Aluminum, Inc. 
 
         12   MARC D. POSTON, Senior Public Counsel 
                     P.O. Box 2230 
         13          Jefferson City, Missouri  65102 
                     573-751-4857 
         14    FOR:  Office of the Public Counsel and the Public 
 
         15   KEVIN A. THOMPSON, General Counsel 
              LERA L. SHEMWELL, Senior Counsel 
         16   ROBERT S. BERLIN, Associate General Counsel 
                     P.O. Box 360 
         17          Jefferson City, Missouri  65102 
                     573-751-3234 
         18    FOR:  Staff of the Missouri Public Service Commission 
 
         19    
 
         20    
 
         21    
 
         22    
 
         23    
 
         24    
 
         25    
 
 
 

540 of 1082



 
                                                                      229 
 
 
 
          1                        P R O C E E D I N G S 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Let's go ahead and 
 
          3   go on the record.  This is Case No. GR-2006-0387.  I'm Nancy 
 
          4   Dippell, Regulatory Law Judge for this matter. 
 
          5                  It is Monday, December 4th, 2006 and we are 
 
          6   here to resume our hearing after some delays because of the 
 
          7   weather.  And we're going to change the schedule around just a 
 
          8   little bit to accommodate some witnesses.  And if there are 
 
          9   Commission questions for the witnesses that we had on 
 
         10   Thursday, if those witnesses aren't available, we're going to 
 
         11   attempt to reach them by telephone and we'll just take it from 
 
         12   there.  I'm happy to see that everyone is at least safe after 
 
         13   the storm. 
 
         14                  So we're going to begin with Mr. Ensrud for 
 
         15   Staff.  And, Mr. Dority, did you have something you wanted to 
 
         16   say before we begin? 
 
         17                  MR. DORITY:  I did, your Honor, thank you. 
 
         18   The company witness for issue No. 4, which is what I 
 
         19   understand we are moving to today, what are the appropriate 
 
         20   miscellaneous charges, is Mr. Mike Ellis.  Mr. Ellis is in 
 
         21   transit this morning.  He will be here arriving around noon or 
 
         22   one o'clock this afternoon. 
 
         23                  It's my understanding from counsel that they 
 
         24   have no questions for Mr. Ellis and I was wondering if 
 
         25   perhaps, just to keep the record straight here, if in terms of 
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          1   order of witnesses, if I might go ahead and offer his 
 
          2   testimony into the record and if the Commissioners have any 
 
          3   questions later today for Mr. Ellis, as I say, he will be here 
 
          4   and available to respond. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I see no problem with 
 
          6   that.  Would there be any objection to Mr. Ellis' testimony? 
 
          7   And what were those numbers? 
 
          8                  MR. DORITY:  Mr. Ellis had Direct Testimony, 
 
          9   which has been previously marked as Exhibit No. 10.  I would 
 
         10   mention, your Honor, that we had a correction to one of the 
 
         11   schedules that was attached to Mr. Ellis' testimony and that 
 
         12   is Schedule MHE-1.  There were some corrections to that. 
 
         13                  Counsel was previously provided copies of that 
 
         14   schedule prior to the hearing getting started last week.  And 
 
         15   I would also note that the copy that was provided to the court 
 
         16   reporter is the corrected schedule. 
 
         17                  So the only question I would be asking 
 
         18   Mr. Ellis, if he were here, was if he had any corrections to 
 
         19   his schedule and those have been incorporated.  So I just 
 
         20   wanted to note that for the record. 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And do I and the Commissioners 
 
         22   have a copy of that?  Has it been -- 
 
         23                  MR. DORITY:  I -- 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I can't recall what you gave 
 
         25   me. 
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          1                  MR. DORITY:  I do have copies available for 
 
          2   you, Judge. 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Do you have any -- 
 
          4                  MR. DORITY:  May I approach? 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  Okay.  Would there be 
 
          6   any objection to Exhibit No. 10 as corrected? 
 
          7                  MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objection, then I 
 
          9   will admit Exhibit No. 10 into evidence. 
 
         10                  (Exhibit No. 10 was received into evidence.) 
 
         11                  MR. DORITY:  Thank you, Judge. 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  By what means of 
 
         13   transportation is Mr. Ellis traveling today? 
 
         14                  MR. DORITY:  He's flying in. 
 
         15                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge -- 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, sir. 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  -- I would like to note for the 
 
         18   record that before we left the hearing, I think it was on 
 
         19   Thursday, I had a question to Mr. Gary Smith who punted the 
 
         20   question to Mr. Ellis, so I will have a question -- 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  You will have a 
 
         22   question.  Okay. 
 
         23                  MR. BERLIN:  -- of Mr. Ellis -- 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 
 
         25                  MR. BERLIN:  -- when he comes in. 
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          1                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I would also note that if 
 
          2   Mr. Ellis for some reason does not arrive, Mrs. Childers can 
 
          3   handle that question today. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Okay.  All right then. 
 
          5   I think then we're ready to begin with Mr. Ensrud. 
 
          6                  MR. REED:  May I? 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go ahead. 
 
          8   MICHAEL J. ENSRUD testified as follows: 
 
          9   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. REED: 
 
         10           Q.     State your name for the record, please. 
 
         11           A.     My name is Michael J. Ensrud. 
 
         12           Q.     Spell your last name. 
 
         13           A.     E-n-s-r-u-d. 
 
         14           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, did you prepare and -- prepare for 
 
         15   filing in this case testimony? 
 
         16           A.     Yes, I did. 
 
         17           Q.     Those were direct, corrected direct, rebuttal 
 
         18   and surrebuttal.  Correct? 
 
         19           A.     Correct.  Four documents. 
 
         20           Q.     All right.  I believe the direct is 
 
         21   Exhibit No. 114, the rebuttal is Exhibit No. 115, the 
 
         22   surrebuttal is Exhibit 116 and the corrected direct is 
 
         23   Exhibit 117.  Am I right? 
 
         24           A.     I'm uncertain as to the numbers assigned. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's correct. 
 
 
 

544 of 1082



 
                                                                      233 
 
 
 
          1                  MR. REED:  Thank you. 
 
          2   BY MR. REED: 
 
          3           Q.     Do you have any corrections to any of that 
 
          4   testimony that you prepared? 
 
          5           A.     Yes.  In relation to the surr-- or the 
 
          6   rebuttal -- or no, surrebuttal.  What I have was on page 6, 
 
          7   lines 9 and 10.  What reads, Likewise, nothing provided 
 
          8   to-date refutes NSF costs and the transfer costs rates 
 
          9   proposed. 
 
         10                  And I would strike "rates proposed by Staff." 
 
         11   It should read, Likewise, nothing provided to date refutes NSF 
 
         12   costs and the transfer costs used by Staff.  That's the first 
 
         13   correction. 
 
         14                  The second one is on Surrebuttal Testimony, 
 
         15   page 9, line 5.  The way it reads today is, Atmos' proposal is 
 
         16   a good transition formula method of allocation whose time has 
 
         17   passed, but a continuation of a long-standing practice -- and 
 
         18   this says -- has merit. 
 
         19                  What I would -- the change I would propose is, 
 
         20   Atmos' proposal is a good transition formula method of 
 
         21   allocation whose time has passed, but a continuation of a 
 
         22   long-standing practice that has merit. 
 
         23                  So with those two changes, plus the changes 
 
         24   that are in the surrebuttal that -- that correct -- or in the 
 
         25   corrected direct that correct certain statements in the Direct 
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          1   Testimony, that -- that would be my testimony today. 
 
          2           Q.     Can you tell us why you filed corrected 
 
          3   direct? 
 
          4           A.     Yes.  There were two DRs that -- that came 
 
          5   late.  And I did not have time to incorporate the -- the facts 
 
          6   that were in that case.  The changes that were provided did 
 
          7   not change my conclusions, however. 
 
          8           Q.     With those corrections, if you were to testify 
 
          9   live and in person today, would it be the same as the way you 
 
         10   testified in these pieces of testimony? 
 
         11           A.     Yes, it would. 
 
         12                  MR. REED:  At this time, Judge, I would move 
 
         13   for admission of pet-- I'm sorry, of the Staff's Exhibits 
 
         14   Nos. 114, 115, 116 and 117. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any objection 
 
         16   to Exhibits 114 through 117? 
 
         17                  MR. DORITY:  No objection. 
 
         18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Then I will receive those into 
 
         19   evidence. 
 
         20                  (Exhibit Nos. 114, 115, 116 and 117 were 
 
         21   received into evidence.) 
 
         22                  MR. REED:  And I tender the witness for 
 
         23   cross-examination. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there any 
 
         25   cross-examination from Atmos? 
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          1                  MR. DORITY:  No questions, Judge. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Let's see.  I guess I should 
 
          3   have started this morning by noting who was present and who 
 
          4   wasn't present.  I do not see anyone present as counsel for 
 
          5   Hannibal Regional or Noranda and we dealt with that on 
 
          6   Thursday so -- 
 
          7                  Public Counsel, any cross-examination? 
 
          8                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, I do.  A few moments ago I 
 
          9   advised the parties that I did not, but that has changed.  I 
 
         10   do have one question.  And it's about the main extension 
 
         11   policy proposal.  On page 13 of -- 
 
         12                  MR. DORITY:  Your Honor, I'm sorry.  I thought 
 
         13   we were going to be handling that issue later today.  I 
 
         14   understood that we were at issue No. 4, which is the 
 
         15   appropriate miscellaneous charges.  And I believe the main 
 
         16   extension is the other tariff issues, No. 7, that would be 
 
         17   addressed later on today at some point. 
 
         18                  Mr. Poston, is that your understanding? 
 
         19                  MR. POSTON:  Yes.  I did it again.  Sorry. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  No problem.  So you 
 
         21   have no questions at this time for Mr. Ensrud? 
 
         22                  MR. POSTON:  No questions.  Thank you. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Hold on just one 
 
         24   moment.  I seem to be having some technical difficulties with 
 
         25   the transmission. 
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          1                  Okay.  Well, I don't have any questions for 
 
          2   you at this time, Mr. Ensrud, but I would ask you to remain 
 
          3   available.  We may have some additional questions from the 
 
          4   Commission later on this topic when you come to testify on 
 
          5   your others. 
 
          6                  THE WITNESS:  All right.  Thank you. 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Thank you.  You 
 
          8   can step down for now. 
 
          9                  Okay.  So the next I believe is 
 
         10   Ms. Meisenheimer on the miscellaneous charges issue. 
 
         11   Ms. Meisenheimer, you were previously sworn so -- 
 
         12                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- you remain under oath.  And 
 
         14   your exhibits were also previously admitted, including the 
 
         15   information on this topic.  So is there any -- we'll just go 
 
         16   then straight to cross-examination. 
 
         17                  Is there any cross-examination from Atmos? 
 
         18                  MR. DORITY:  No questions, your Honor. 
 
         19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  From Staff? 
 
         20                  MR. REED:  No, thank you. 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Hold on just one 
 
         22   moment. 
 
         23                  Okay.  Okay.  I don't believe I have any 
 
         24   questions for you at this time either, Ms. Meisenheimer. 
 
         25                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Thank you. 
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          1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  The Commissioners may have 
 
          2   questions for you later. 
 
          3                  Shall we move on then to the PGA district 
 
          4   consolidation issue? 
 
          5                  MR. DORITY:  Just a moment, Judge. 
 
          6                  Yes, your Honor.  Issue No. 6 is correct. 
 
          7   Thanks. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I was looking to see if 
 
          9   there were any other housekeeping things that we could take 
 
         10   care of since we're getting kind of -- 
 
         11                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I can offer one 
 
         12   housekeeping matter. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Mr. Berlin. 
 
         14                  MR. BERLIN:  In my opening statement, I used a 
 
         15   map of the Atmos service areas. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  And I have premarked that as 
 
         18   Exhibit 100 and I had handed that out during the course of my 
 
         19   opening statement and I would like to move that that be 
 
         20   admitted into evidence. 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any objection 
 
         22   to that Exhibit No. 100? 
 
         23                  Seeing none, then I will admit Exhibit 100 
 
         24   into evidence. 
 
         25                  (Exhibit No. 100 was received into evidence.) 
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          1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I will remind everybody 
 
          2   to turn off your cell phones or other wireless devices if you 
 
          3   haven't done so already. 
 
          4                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, could I ask a tech-- I 
 
          5   have to ask a technical question while we have our 
 
          6   technical -- 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Do we need to take a break? 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  That might be helpful.  Just a 
 
          9   few minutes. 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go off the record 
 
         11   just for like five minutes and plan to resume at a quarter 
 
         12   after 9:00. 
 
         13                  (Off the record.) 
 
         14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go back on the 
 
         15   record.  Okay.  We're going to continue on the PGA district 
 
         16   consolidation.  So shall we start with Ms. Childers; is that 
 
         17   correct? 
 
         18                  MR. DORITY:  Yes, Judge. 
 
         19                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  Yes, Judge. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And, Ms. Childers, you 
 
         21   were previously sworn also, so you remain under oath. 
 
         22                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  You can be seated. 
 
         24                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  And your exhibits 
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          1   were also previously admitted into evidence in their entirety 
 
          2   so we'll just go ahead and begin with cross-examination. 
 
          3                  Is there any cross-examination from Staff? 
 
          4                  MR. BERLIN:  Staff has no questions, Judge. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any cross-examination 
 
          6   on this issue from Public Counsel? 
 
          7                  MR. POSTON:  No questions.  Thank you. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'll ask to take just 
 
          9   one moment and we'll see if there's questions from the Bench. 
 
         10                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, Judge. 
 
         11                  Just a few preliminary questions and I 
 
         12   apologize that I'm in a bit of a rush this morning.  Last week 
 
         13   threw, I think, everybody off, including me and I just wanted 
 
         14   to be clear.  Public Counsel doesn't have any 
 
         15   cross-examination.  Does that mean that you all are in 
 
         16   agreement on the issue or did you all already conclude your 
 
         17   cross-examination? 
 
         18                  MR. POSTON:  No.  We just -- there's no -- 
 
         19   we've just determined there's no questions we want to ask this 
 
         20   witness, but that does not mean we have resolved this issue. 
 
         21                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay.  So you don't 
 
         22   agree, but you're not challenging any of the assertions made 
 
         23   by the witness; is that correct? 
 
         24                  MR. POSTON:  Not through cross-examination. 
 
         25                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Not through 
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          1   cross-examination.  Who is the witness that will be addressing 
 
          2   PGA consolidation for Office of Public Counsel? 
 
          3                  MR. POSTON:  Ms. Meisenheimer. 
 
          4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  And has she already 
 
          5   testified? 
 
          6                  MR. POSTON:  On this issue, no. 
 
          7                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  On this issue, no. 
 
          8   Okay.  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
          9   PATRICIA J. CHILDERS testified as follows: 
 
         10   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         11           Q.     Ms. Childers, apologize for -- I don't even 
 
         12   have my stuff all organized here yet.  Could you just briefly 
 
         13   summarize -- there are two different issues associated with 
 
         14   consolidation, I believe; one relating to district 
 
         15   consolidation and PGA consolidation.  Would you briefly 
 
         16   summarize both of those positions and tell me if there's any 
 
         17   difference between those issues? 
 
         18           A.     Yes, sir.  The company in its original filing 
 
         19   had proposed uniform statewide base rates.  I'm sorry.  We had 
 
         20   proposed a uniform, consolidated statewide purchased gas 
 
         21   adjustment and we had proposed going from the six current base 
 
         22   districts to three. 
 
         23                  We reviewed Staff's recommendations and where 
 
         24   Staff is recommending not going to a consolidated statewide 
 
         25   PGA but going to four, we are willing to accept that 
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          1   recommendation.  We feel like that's a move in the right 
 
          2   direction.  They have grouped the areas geographically by the 
 
          3   pipelines that serve those areas. 
 
          4           Q.     What was the difference in -- if Atmos wanted 
 
          5   to go to -- was it three districts and Staff recommends four 
 
          6   districts?  What is the difference between those two 
 
          7   positions? 
 
          8           A.     Well, the company had recommended a 
 
          9   consolidated statewide PGA.  Staff's recommending four. 
 
         10           Q.     So just one -- so just one -- 
 
         11           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         12           Q.     So just one PGA? 
 
         13           A.     We had recommended one, yes, sir. 
 
         14           Q.     Okay.  Well, I misunderstood -- when you said 
 
         15   we wanted to go to three, I misunderstood what -- basically 
 
         16   the company in its original filing wanted to go to one unified 
 
         17   PGA for all of its districts.  Correct? 
 
         18           A.     That is correct. 
 
         19           Q.     Staff came in and made a recommendation of 
 
         20   four districts rather than the seven -- aren't there seven? 
 
         21           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  And Atmos has come around to -- and 
 
         23   agrees with that effort at consolidation? 
 
         24           A.     Yes, sir.  And if you look at the PGAs that 
 
         25   the company has most recently filed, I believe we filed the 
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          1   PGAs in November to be effective in December.  The PGAs are 
 
          2   very close with the exception of the ACA factor, which will 
 
          3   run for 12 months to recover or refund any over- or 
 
          4   under-recovery.  And if you just look at the PGAs without that 
 
          5   ACA factor, they are, in fact, very close and considerably 
 
          6   lower than the PGAs that were in effect previously. 
 
          7           Q.     Who has the highest PGA among all the 
 
          8   individual districts at this time, do you know? 
 
          9           A.     I believe I do have that with me, if you could 
 
         10   just bear with me -- 
 
         11           Q.     Sure.  Sure. 
 
         12           A.     -- for a moment.  Neelyville and Greeley are 
 
         13   very, very close. 
 
         14           Q.     Do you know what those are offhand? 
 
         15           A.     Yes.  Neelyville is 1.1779. 
 
         16           Q.     1.1-- 
 
         17           A.     779.  And Greeley is 1.15. 
 
         18           Q.     Okay.  Do you have all the PGAs that are close 
 
         19   by there? 
 
         20           A.     Yes, sir, I do. 
 
         21           Q.     Let me ask you this.  Where does the gas come 
 
         22   from that services the territory of Neelyville and Greeley? 
 
         23   What pipeline? 
 
         24           A.     Let's see. 
 
         25           Q.     I need a geography lesson.  That's basically 
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          1   -- 
 
          2           A.     I think I may need one myself.  I can tell you 
 
          3   the pipelines that serve the SEMO area.  I don't recall off 
 
          4   the top of my head which pipeline serves the Greeley area. 
 
          5           Q.     So you don't know where the gas comes from? 
 
          6           A.     No.  I can -- I can probably get that pretty 
 
          7   quickly for you. 
 
          8           Q.     Maybe we can -- I'm sure that's not that 
 
          9   difficult.  I've got a pipeline chart up in my office I'm sure 
 
         10   I could find. 
 
         11                  How about SEMO?  Where does that -- what 
 
         12   pipeline serves -- 
 
         13           A.     SEMO has several suppliers to that area, 
 
         14   Natural Gas Pipeline, TECO, which is Texas Eastern 
 
         15   Transmission, and MRT, which is Mississippi River 
 
         16   Transmission. 
 
         17           Q.     And SEMO, is it basically Gulf of Mexico gas? 
 
         18           A.     Yes.  All of the gas is, yes. 
 
         19           Q.     Yeah.  Okay.  And we don't know where 
 
         20   Neelyville/Greeley comes from? 
 
         21           A.     No, sir.  Not off the top of my head. 
 
         22           Q.     What's the PGA in the SEMO district right now? 
 
         23           A.     The current -- well, the most recently filed 
 
         24   PGA for SEMO is .9513. 
 
         25           Q.     Okay. 
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          1           A.     And I would like to add that the commodity 
 
          2   cost of gas within all of the currently filed PGAs is 
 
          3   approximately -- I think it's 850 an MMBtu.  So the commodity 
 
          4   cost within the PGAs is consistent within all of the filings. 
 
          5   Again, it's the ACA component that results in some difference. 
 
          6           Q.     Why is the commodity the same price for each 
 
          7   of the territories considering they're -- the commodity comes 
 
          8   from different places and most likely would be placed at 
 
          9   different levels? 
 
         10           A.     The PGA filings that we make, we use the NYMEX 
 
         11   pricing, which is one price for all of the areas.  The only 
 
         12   difference added to that NYMEX would be any sort of basis 
 
         13   differential.  And it's really a small component of the total 
 
         14   PGA.  It's so many cents per MMBtu. 
 
         15           Q.     So can you turn that on the flip side and say 
 
         16   that's what Atmos is paying?  It's paying a NYMEX rate with a 
 
         17   differential and then you turn around and apply that to 
 
         18   consumers.  Am I understanding that? 
 
         19           A.     Most of our contracts are tied towards a NYMEX 
 
         20   or -- yes, that's correct. 
 
         21           Q.     Okay.  What is the -- and I think the 
 
         22   districts Canton, Bowling Green, Hannibal, Palmyra are all 
 
         23   very close.  Do you know what those PGA rates are? 
 
         24           A.     Yes, sir.  Bowling Green, Hannibal, Canton and 
 
         25   Palmyra is .8407. 
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          1           Q.     Okay.  And is Kirksville any different? 
 
          2           A.     Kirksville is actually .6860. 
 
          3           Q.     .6860? 
 
          4           A.     And, of course, the PGAs that I've recited 
 
          5   here do include the ACA components.  So that, again, accounts 
 
          6   for the variants.  The commodity cost within all those -- 
 
          7           Q.     So the -- 
 
          8           A.     -- filings is the same. 
 
          9           Q.     Excuse me.  I'm sorry.  I hate to interrupt 
 
         10   you.  The Kirksville rate, rather than reflecting a lower 
 
         11   commodity cost, probably reflects an over-collection? 
 
         12           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay.  So then the consumer would be paid back 
 
         14   in accordance with that rate? 
 
         15           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         16           Q.     Now, the four districts proposed by Staff 
 
         17   would consolidate Hannibal, Palmyra, Bowling Green and Canton. 
 
         18   And I know some of them may already be combined at this time, 
 
         19   but it would consolidate all of those.  That would be one 
 
         20   district.  Kirksville would be a second district.  Southeast 
 
         21   Missouri is a third district.  Neelyville's a -- Neelyville 
 
         22   and Greeley are a fourth district? 
 
         23           A.     Neelyville will actually be included with the 
 
         24   SEMO district.  Butler and Greeley would be a district.  And 
 
         25   you were correct about the Kirksville and the other. 
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          1                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I think Staff has 
 
          2   prepared an exhibit that might be helpful if you want to put 
 
          3   that on the Smart Board there that lays that out. 
 
          4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Has it already been 
 
          5   submitted? 
 
          6                  MR. FISCHER:  I don't know that it's been 
 
          7   sub-- 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I know this is 
 
          9   repetition, so I apologize. 
 
         10                  MR. FISCHER:  No, it's -- we haven't gone over 
 
         11   this ground.  It's just I was aware that there was an exhibit 
 
         12   that they had available. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And is that the HC exhibit? 
 
         14                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, it is. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Do you want to go ahead 
 
         16   and -- 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I don't know.  Perhaps 
 
         18   Commissioner Clayton might be referring to Exhibit 100.  That 
 
         19   was the map I used on my opening statement. 
 
         20                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  That would presume that 
 
         21   I'm aware of what exhibits have actually been offered and 
 
         22   accepted. 
 
         23                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Are you talking about 
 
         24   this (indicating)? 
 
         25                  MR. BERLIN:  Commissioner Appling held up the 
 
 
 

558 of 1082



 
                                                                      247 
 
 
 
          1   exhibit. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  This is the -- 
 
          3                  MR. BERLIN:  I have another copy. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- Exhibit 100, which is the 
 
          5   proposed district consolidation areas. 
 
          6                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Oh, good.  Okay.  Well, 
 
          7   give me just a second to -- may I have a moment to review this 
 
          8   exhibit? 
 
          9                  MR. DORITY:  May I approach? 
 
         10   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         11           Q.     Ms. Childers, are you -- 
 
         12           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         13           Q.     -- finished reviewing? 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15           Q.     I know I was reviewing and then I looked over 
 
         16   and you were still looking down.  I didn't want to surprise 
 
         17   you. 
 
         18                  Why is there a need for having two districts, 
 
         19   one in kind of the northeast region and one in Kirksville?  Do 
 
         20   you know the answer -- the rationale for that?  Is Kirksville 
 
         21   serviced by a different spur or a different offshoot from the 
 
         22   pipeline?  Does it come from Iowa? 
 
         23           A.     I don't know the answer to that question. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay. 
 
         25           A.     Even -- even with these glasses, it's very 
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          1   hard to read this map. 
 
          2           Q.     Yeah, I know.  I understand. 
 
          3           A.     I apologize. 
 
          4           Q.     The territories in the northeast region are 
 
          5   serviced by an Atmos spur that travels all the way up, I 
 
          6   assume, to these northeastern-most towns; is that correct? 
 
          7           A.     It appears that way. 
 
          8           Q.     Do you all have -- are you aware of whether 
 
          9   Atmos has any customers that are served directly off the 
 
         10   pipeline on the spurs on the way up? 
 
         11           A.     Are you -- are you referring to farmtap-type 
 
         12   customers? 
 
         13           Q.     Yes. 
 
         14           A.     No, sir, we do not in Missouri.  We do not. 
 
         15           Q.     You have no farmtap customers at all? 
 
         16           A.     We have no farmtap customers. 
 
         17           Q.     So you've got all that pipeline out there but 
 
         18   nobody draws off of it unless it gets into a city gate? 
 
         19           A.     I guess that would be -- yes, I guess that 
 
         20   would be the assumption.  I know for a fact that we do not 
 
         21   have any farmtap customers. 
 
         22           Q.     When you say you don't have farmtap customers, 
 
         23   do you mean that you don't have the allegedly unregulated 
 
         24   customers out there or that you just include any taps that 
 
         25   come off your intrastate pipeline, you just include them under 
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          1   your tariff? 
 
          2           A.     We include them under our tariff. 
 
          3           Q.     Okay.  So there are some rural folks that 
 
          4   would be drawing some natural gas off the line? 
 
          5           A.     Yes.  They're just not -- we do have farmtap 
 
          6   customers off Panhandle Illinois, but not -- not in the state 
 
          7   of Missouri. 
 
          8           Q.     Okay. 
 
          9           A.     Your statement was correct. 
 
         10           Q.     So they're tariffed? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     Those customers have -- whether the benefit or 
 
         13   whatever of tariffs being in place, are those tariffs separate 
 
         14   and apart from the tariffs for each district? 
 
         15           A.     No, sir, they're not. 
 
         16           Q.     So they're the same.  If they're close to 
 
         17   Hannibal, they're under the Hannibal district? 
 
         18           A.     That would be correct. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  If they're close to -- if they're close 
 
         20   to LaGrange, they're probably under the Canton tariff? 
 
         21           A.     That would be correct. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  That would be for both PGA purposes as 
 
         23   well as the actual distribution cost of gas? 
 
         24           A.     Yes, Commissioner. 
 
         25           Q.     Okay.  All right.  That is helpful.  I need to 
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          1   go back and ask you once again, to explain how each of the 
 
          2   PGAs are established using an identical commodity price 
 
          3   considering that the gas comes from different places.  And 
 
          4   I've been known to make mistakes on understanding the PGA and 
 
          5   ACA process so bear with me. 
 
          6                  With gas coming from different places, 
 
          7   presumably it's priced in different ways and may be completely 
 
          8   different from what the NYMEX price may be on a given day. 
 
          9   Explain to me how all these customers can be paying the same 
 
         10   commodity price. 
 
         11           A.     As you're aware -- and I'm not the -- a PGA 
 
         12   expert, but I'll do -- do my best. 
 
         13           Q.     You're more of an expert than I am, so just go 
 
         14   ahead and fire away. 
 
         15           A.     We file three or four PGAs I believe in the 
 
         16   state of Missouri.  In some states we file monthly, in some 
 
         17   places we file quarterly, but in Missouri we file three or 
 
         18   four times a year.  The PGA filing that we make, we look for 
 
         19   using the NYMEX and that's the commodity cost that we put in 
 
         20   the filing.  And, yes, it is generic within all of the -- the 
 
         21   various PGAs that we file today. 
 
         22                  Of course, we also have the actual cost 
 
         23   adjustment or annual cost adjustment.  I'm not sure which one 
 
         24   it's called in Missouri, but nevertheless, that's the -- the 
 
         25   true-up between the actual cost that we incur and the -- the 
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          1   costs that we estimated for our PGA filing. 
 
          2                  So, yes, although we do use one generic NYMEX 
 
          3   price, yes, there actually is different cost and it's going to 
 
          4   be reflective of any basis differential.  Again, which is not 
 
          5   that significant a component in the rate, however, that would 
 
          6   result in an under-or over-estimate from actual or under/over 
 
          7   cost, actual versus estimate. 
 
          8                  That's the way we've done the PGA for as long 
 
          9   as I can remember.  And it's not precise in the filing, but 
 
         10   then again, as we do the true-up, the customers are made 
 
         11   whole. 
 
         12           Q.     Okay.  Can you tell me why the PGA is so much 
 
         13   higher in the western district, Butler/Greeley area, when it's 
 
         14   serviced by the same pipeline that would service the 
 
         15   northeastern territory? 
 
         16           A.     It would have to be attributable to the ACA. 
 
         17   I can't -- I can't think of another reason why it would be 
 
         18   different.  There -- there are reservation costs and some 
 
         19   storage costs, but again, I think those are rather negligible 
 
         20   too. 
 
         21           Q.     But they would be -- they'd be payable by each 
 
         22   of the groups.  It just suggests because the pipeline is 
 
         23   longer to get to the Hannibal/Canton/Kirksville area that the 
 
         24   transportation costs would be higher? 
 
         25           A.     Yes, sir. 
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          1           Q.     The ACA would be reduced for Butler.  Is there 
 
          2   an intrastate pipeline that services that area?  Is that your 
 
          3   spur that gets down to Butler? 
 
          4           A.     All of the -- all of the pipelines are 
 
          5   interstate pipelines supplying our Missouri areas. 
 
          6           Q.     Intrastate? 
 
          7           A.     Inter. 
 
          8           Q.     Well, the Panhandle Eastern Pipeline is the 
 
          9   interstate, but what is the -- how does the gas get from that 
 
         10   pipeline into Butler and these other communities here in 
 
         11   Bates, Henry and St. Clair County?  I assume that would be 
 
         12   just a spur off the pipeline that you all would have, I'm 
 
         13   assuming. 
 
         14           A.     You've -- you've really asked me a question 
 
         15   that I just don't know.  I'm -- apologize. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay.  Just looking at the PGA rates, it 
 
         17   just -- intuitively it appears to me that -- or appears -- I 
 
         18   don't understand why the gas would be more expensive in the 
 
         19   Butler/Greeley western district as it would be in the 
 
         20   northeast, but perhaps Staff can work that out and explain 
 
         21   that to me when they come up. 
 
         22           A.     Staff might actually have much better 
 
         23   information.  I know they look at the PGAs on a routine basis 
 
         24   and probably know the specific make-ups of the PGA better than 
 
         25   I do. 
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          1           Q.     Okay.  So Atmos and Staff have reached a -- I 
 
          2   guess we'd say a non-unanimous agreement of some sort or at 
 
          3   least identical position in having the consolidation of four 
 
          4   districts that have been identified; is that correct? 
 
          5           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          6           Q.     Okay.  And other than Staff and Atmos being in 
 
          7   agreement, OPC is opposed to it I believe at this point; is 
 
          8   that correct? 
 
          9           A.     That's my understanding. 
 
         10           Q.     Are any other parties involved in this case 
 
         11   opposed to that agreement? 
 
         12           A.     Not to my knowledge. 
 
         13                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay.  Is there 
 
         14   anyone -- any of the attorneys, is that incorrect, that 
 
         15   statement? 
 
         16                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes, Judge, you're correct on 
 
         17   that.  The list of issues does not include any of the other 
 
         18   Intervenors as opposing to or taking a position on this issue. 
 
         19   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         20           Q.     Okay.  Now, on the distribution cost 
 
         21   consolidation issue, that is also your issue; is that correct? 
 
         22           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         23           Q.     All right.  And is there an agreement on that 
 
         24   issue? 
 
         25           A.     Yes, sir. 
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          1           Q.     Okay.  And could you describe that 
 
          2   non-unanimous agreement or stipulation? 
 
          3           A.     The -- the company's proposal and the Staff's 
 
          4   recommendation as far as the consolidation of the base rates 
 
          5   was essentially the same.  We had consolidated regionally as 
 
          6   had the -- as had the Staff as well. 
 
          7           Q.     And that would be just a complete 
 
          8   consolidation -- 
 
          9           A.     No, sir. 
 
         10           Q.     -- or the same four districts? 
 
         11           A.     That would be -- actually for the base rates 
 
         12   it would be three -- three sets of districts per se.  You 
 
         13   would have SEMO and Neelyville; you then would have Butler and 
 
         14   Greeley; and then you would have Kirksville, what used to be 
 
         15   the old United Cities Gas, which would be Hannibal, Canton, 
 
         16   Bowling Green and Palmyra.  So you would basically have a 
 
         17   south, north and west central. 
 
         18           Q.     And Staff's in agreement and Atmos are in 
 
         19   agreement on that consolidation? 
 
         20           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         21           Q.     All right.  Can you identify for me what that 
 
         22   would mean in base rate adjustments as compared to current 
 
         23   rates for customers in the southeastern Missouri region? 
 
         24           A.     I believe I can.  Just bear with me for a 
 
         25   moment.  Attached to my surrebuttal, which is Exhibit 2, 
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          1   page 2 of 2, this would reflect using the most current -- 
 
          2   really looks at the total bill, but it does -- it does use the 
 
          3   most current PGAs that we file. 
 
          4                  But, for example, the SEMO district, the 
 
          5   overall impact in the bill for the customer would be an 
 
          6   increase of $3.16, and that's on line 30.  And that, again, 
 
          7   would include the base rate and the PGA.  The PGA is like 
 
          8   80 percent of the bill and so, you know, it's reasonable to 
 
          9   include that in any sort of calculation to demonstrate impact 
 
         10   to the customer. 
 
         11           Q.     But this would be taking into consideration 
 
         12   new rates as well? 
 
         13           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         14           Q.     I mean new -- I mean all adjustments. 
 
         15   Correct? 
 
         16           A.     Yes, sir.  And then that would be the SEMO 
 
         17   district.  And then, for example, if you go to line 10, which 
 
         18   is the Kirksville rate -- and Kirksville currently has the 
 
         19   lowest base rate, I might point out.  But the impact there on 
 
         20   line 10 would be $105.49 or 12.4 percent increase compared to 
 
         21   4/10ths in the SEMO area. 
 
         22                  And, again, that's looking at the Staff's 
 
         23   recommended consolidation of base into three districts and the 
 
         24   recommendation of the current seven PGAs into four.  So that 
 
         25   exhibit reflects the overall impact. 
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          1           Q.     Can we focus on column D for a second, which 
 
          2   would be the -- 
 
          3           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          4           Q.     -- the delivery charge? 
 
          5                  Would that be the -- would that be the 
 
          6   accurate -- all non-PGA costs -- 
 
          7           A.     Yes, sir, that's correct. 
 
          8           Q.     -- right there? 
 
          9                  Okay.  I guess we can call that the base 
 
         10   rate -- 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     -- cost?  Okay.  Sometimes I want to make sure 
 
         13   we use the right terminology. 
 
         14                  Can you tell me how different -- just focusing 
 
         15   on residential firm service, is there a way to tell the cost 
 
         16   of residential firm service for each district, whether it goes 
 
         17   up or down by looking at this chart, just on the delivery 
 
         18   charge? 
 
         19           A.     No, sir. 
 
         20           Q.     Do you know what the delivery charge is for 
 
         21   each of those districts -- 
 
         22           A.     I know -- 
 
         23           Q.     -- off the top of your head? 
 
         24           A.     I know what the current rates are.  Is that 
 
         25   what you would like the comparison of? 
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          1           Q.     Yeah.  I guess I just -- 
 
          2           A.     If you look at -- 
 
          3           Q.     My confusion is that the dollar change takes 
 
          4   into consideration both the PGA and the delivery.  And I 
 
          5   wanted to be able to identify changes that we would make on 
 
          6   each part of the bill is what I'm trying to do. 
 
          7           A.     Yes.  I understand.  Unfortunately, that's not 
 
          8   shown on this schedule.  If you do look at page 1 of that same 
 
          9   exhibit, you can look at the current -- for example, on 
 
         10   line 1, the current customer charge for Butler is $7 and then 
 
         11   you can look over in the third column and see what the current 
 
         12   base rate is.  But I haven't -- haven't done an exhibit that 
 
         13   would use a typical consumption level to show you how that 
 
         14   would compare to the $19.43 on page 2 of 2. 
 
         15           Q.     Is that an apples-to-apples comparison?  If we 
 
         16   look at line 1, Butler residential firm service, the current 
 
         17   customer charge or delivery charge is $7 and that would go up 
 
         18   to $19.43? 
 
         19           A.     It is not an apples-to-apples comparison.  To 
 
         20   the $7 you would have to multiply the  -- on page 1 of 2, 
 
         21   you'd have to multiply the .1794 -- excuse me .17954 CCF times 
 
         22   a usage level and then compare that to the 19.43. 
 
         23           Q.     And what is that?  So you'd have to multiply 
 
         24   7 times .1-- 
 
         25           A.     No.  You would mult-- the $7 is the monthly 
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          1   customer charge under the current rate design.  To that you 
 
          2   would have to multiply, for example, the usage of 761 CCF 
 
          3   times the .17954 and then would you have to add those two 
 
          4   together.  And that would be the apples-to-apples comparison 
 
          5   with the $19.43. 
 
          6           Q.     I see.  So you're eliminating the volume 
 
          7   pricing -- 
 
          8           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          9           Q.     -- and going to fixed charge there.  So that's 
 
         10   part of the rate design proposal as well? 
 
         11           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         12           Q.     Okay.  Okay.  When Atmos filed its total rate 
 
         13   increase -- or filed its rate adjustment request in this case, 
 
         14   what was the percentage increase in bills that were estimated 
 
         15   for customers in general?  Was there just a general 
 
         16   percentage? 
 
         17           A.     I'm sure there was, but quite honestly, I 
 
         18   don't recall what that overall percentage was. 
 
         19                  MR. FISCHER:  Does 5 percent sound right? 
 
         20                  THE WITNESS:  That sounds right.  And that 
 
         21   would be with the PGA I believe, Mr. Fischer, involved, 
 
         22   5 percent. 
 
         23   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         24           Q.     So that was in general, 5 percent.  For any of 
 
         25   these districts under the non-unanimous agreement right now, 
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          1   does anyone have greater than a 5 percent increase in rates? 
 
          2           A.     In the overall bill? 
 
          3           Q.     Yes. 
 
          4           A.     Yes.  That would be the Kirksville area, which 
 
          5   would be the 12 and -- 12.4 percent.  They would have the 
 
          6   highest.  But, again, currently they're paying the lowest of 
 
          7   any of the districts.  Kirksville's commodity rate or rate per 
 
          8   CCF, for example, is .075 a CCF where the others are like .179 
 
          9   or .252.  So they are -- their charge today is significantly 
 
         10   less than the others; therefore, the impact to -- to 
 
         11   Kirksville would be a little higher. 
 
         12           Q.     Well, if we were to adopt this kind of general 
 
         13   agreement, if the Commission were to adopt that, would 
 
         14   Kirksville customers still be made whole from the overpayments 
 
         15   that they've made in past PGA? 
 
         16           A.     Yes, they would. 
 
         17           Q.     They would? 
 
         18           A.     Yes.  The ACA factors in place today, or the 
 
         19   balance, if you will, will run for -- it will run for as long 
 
         20   as it needs to to zero that out -- as close to zero as we can 
 
         21   possibly get.  And that was Staff's recommendation and the 
 
         22   company accepts their -- their recommendation in that regard. 
 
         23           Q.     In your surrebuttal, Exhibit 2, page 2 of 2 
 
         24   that you referred me to earlier -- 
 
         25           A.     Yes, sir. 
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          1           Q.     -- the delivery charge, if I'm reading this 
 
          2   properly, would reflect three districts.  The Butler district 
 
          3   would be -- Butler and Missouri G would be one district at the 
 
          4   19.43 price; the second would be the Kirksville, Missouri P 
 
          5   and Missouri U for the delivery charge of 20.61; and then the 
 
          6   third, the SEMO district of 13.92. 
 
          7           A.     Yes.  Yes, sir, 13.92 would be SEMO and 
 
          8   Neelyville. 
 
          9           Q.      And Neelyville.  So that would be an accurate 
 
         10   reading on my part -- 
 
         11           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         12           Q.     -- of the three districts? 
 
         13                  Okay.  Now, the delivery charge that is listed 
 
         14   for each of those districts, that fixed charge would be -- it 
 
         15   would be a fixed delivery charge without any volumetric 
 
         16   pricing.  Correct? 
 
         17           A.     That's -- that's correct.  Absent the PGA, 
 
         18   which would remain volumetric. 
 
         19           Q.     For just delivery cost, distribution cost? 
 
         20           A.     Yes, sir, that's correct. 
 
         21           Q.     All of those would fall within these fixed 
 
         22   charges? 
 
         23           A.     Yes. 
 
         24           Q.     And the costs on which these delivery charges 
 
         25   are based in each of these districts would be -- these rates 
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          1   reflect the cost of providing that distribution cost within 
 
          2   those districts? 
 
          3           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          4           Q.     So they're district-specific pricing? 
 
          5           A.     Yes. 
 
          6           Q.     The Butler district or the western district is 
 
          7   very close to the northern or northeastern district.  Why is 
 
          8   the SEMO/Neelyville district, I guess you could say 33, 35 
 
          9   percent lower?  Why are the costs in southeast Missouri 
 
         10   35 percent lower than they would be in the northern areas? 
 
         11           A.     We did not -- we did not shift any costs 
 
         12   within the -- or outside between district to district.  We 
 
         13   took the current cost and the current -- current revenues and 
 
         14   tried to stay revenue neutral within the limited consolidation 
 
         15   that we made.  A lot of the differences are going to be the 
 
         16   result of the many acquisitions that Atmos has had over the -- 
 
         17   you know, the two or three properties that have been acquired. 
 
         18           Q.     So if I were to make the statement that the 
 
         19   distribution costs are -- the pipes in the ground, the meters, 
 
         20   the servicemen and women who would be serving each of these 
 
         21   districts, is there any physical reason why costs are 
 
         22   35 percent lower in southeast Missouri than in the other 
 
         23   areas? 
 
         24           A.     Well, the cost of providing service to the 
 
         25   customers would be the same.  I mean, everybody benefits from 
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          1   the same call center, the -- you know, the same billing 
 
          2   function and so forth.  But you do have different plant 
 
          3   investment in those districts. 
 
          4           Q.     So it's a difference between -- it's a 
 
          5   difference in actual -- 
 
          6           A.     I believe. 
 
          7           Q.     -- plant in service? 
 
          8           A.     I believe it would be the plant in service. 
 
          9           Q.     And you're sure about that or you're making a 
 
         10   stab at it just to -- 
 
         11           A.     I'm -- I'm giving you my opinion. 
 
         12           Q.     Your opinion.  Okay.  Well, in addition to 
 
         13   that, presumably being in the southern side of the state, they 
 
         14   would have lower usage of natural gas and yet their prices are 
 
         15   still lower even though they have lower amount of usage than 
 
         16   other parts of the state.  Do you have any additional 
 
         17   explanation for that? 
 
         18           A.     No, sir. 
 
         19           Q.     Would anyone have an explanation for that or 
 
         20   who would? 
 
         21           A.     You know, I'm -- I'm thinking that Staff 
 
         22   Witness Ms. Ross may.  I hate to -- 
 
         23           Q.     That's all right. 
 
         24           A.     -- punt to Ann, but -- 
 
         25           Q.     That's the most efficient thing to do.  If you 
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          1   got to punt, do it quickly and move on. 
 
          2                  Okay.  Can you tell me in total -- you 
 
          3   mentioned that in Kirksville they would have the highest 
 
          4   increase of 12.4 percent.  Are you able to identify a 
 
          5   percentage for each of the other six or seven districts? 
 
          6           A.     Yes, sir.  That's, again, on page 2 of 2. 
 
          7           Q.     Yeah.  Oh, the percentage change of column K? 
 
          8           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          9           Q.     There it is.  Good.  Good.  Thank you.  Can 
 
         10   you explain to me the difference between residential firm 
 
         11   service, small general service and medium general service? 
 
         12           A.     The small and medium general service, we have 
 
         13   split the current category of just general service, which 
 
         14   would be non-residential and we are accepting Staff's 
 
         15   recommendation as to the volume break.  And I believe -- if 
 
         16   you'll bear with me here. 
 
         17           Q.     So it's purely a volume usage difference -- 
 
         18           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
         19           Q.     -- and -- 
 
         20           A.     Yes, sir.  And that was as suggested by Staff 
 
         21   Witness Ms. Ross.  And I believe the small general service, 
 
         22   the average annual usage will be 1,320 CCF and the medium, 
 
         23   7,300 CCF. 
 
         24           Q.     I'm sorry.  How much was that again? 
 
         25           A.     7,300 CCF for the medium service, I believe, 
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          1   and the small general service would be 1,320.  Again, Ms. Ross 
 
          2   might want to -- to either verify that or -- or tell me that I 
 
          3   misspoke. 
 
          4           Q.     What I'm asking about are other issues that -- 
 
          5   I want to make sure you don't get on a plane and leave before 
 
          6   I have a chance to ask you, but I don't know if now's the 
 
          7   appropriate time. 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  And, Judge, I had 
 
          9   questions about rate design and customer service.  Is now the 
 
         10   appropriate time or -- I'm more than happy to wait.  If 
 
         11   Commissioner Appling has questions on the consolidation 
 
         12   issues, I will certainly defer. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Childers is the person 
 
         14   that's going to testify regarding customer service; is that 
 
         15   correct? 
 
         16                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, that's correct. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And we have not gotten to that 
 
         18   yet. 
 
         19                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We touched on rate design on 
 
         21   Thursday with Mr. Smith as the company witness and he was 
 
         22   going to be available this afternoon for further questions. 
 
         23   I'm sure Ms. Childers would be happy to answer any questions 
 
         24   she can -- 
 
         25                  THE WITNESS:  And I will be here -- 
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          1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- regarding rate design. 
 
          2                  THE WITNESS:  I will be here all day and 
 
          3   tomorrow if necessary as well. 
 
          4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  If you want to punt to 
 
          5   Mr. Smith on the rate design, I'm happy to ask him. 
 
          6                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  He will be the delivery 
 
          7   charge witness. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And we didn't get to the Staff 
 
          9   or Public Counsel witnesses on rate design.  We still have to 
 
         10   go back to that issue.  But as far as the customer service, if 
 
         11   you want to ask those now, I don't think anybody has a problem 
 
         12   with that except Staff's witnesses aren't in the room.  Okay. 
 
         13   We'll wait. 
 
         14                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Let me look over my 
 
         15   consolidation questions.  I may be just about done here.  I 
 
         16   want to make sure I'm following. 
 
         17                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Take all the time you 
 
         18   need. 
 
         19                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  If you want to go 
 
         20   ahead, if you want to ask some questions. 
 
         21                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I don't have any 
 
         22   questions. 
 
         23   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         24           Q.     I know this is somewhere in the testimony and 
 
         25   this is laziness on my part, so I apologize.  Missouri 
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          1   territory G would be the west -- what is that -- is that 
 
          2   Greeley? 
 
          3           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          4           Q.     Kirksville's K.  Missouri P, is that Palmyra? 
 
          5           A.     Yes, sir. 
 
          6           Q.     And then U would be Hannibal, Canton, Bowling 
 
          7   Green? 
 
          8           A.     Correct. 
 
          9           Q.     Okay.  Mr. Smith, the gentleman who is Atmos's 
 
         10   expert on rate design, I have some general questions about 
 
         11   conservation and reducing usage.  Would he be the appropriate 
 
         12   witness or would you be the appropriate witness? 
 
         13           A.     He would be the appropriate witness. 
 
         14           Q.     Okay.  And I think we talked about this 
 
         15   before, about the variations between the commodity price, PGA 
 
         16   and the ACA, how they fluctuate up and down and how it seems 
 
         17   like there are significant differences and swings among those 
 
         18   districts.  Is there a witness that I should direct those 
 
         19   questions to other than you? 
 
         20           A.     Com-- 
 
         21           Q.     Probably a Staff witness, I would think? 
 
         22           A.     That's what I was going to suggest, perhaps a 
 
         23   Staff witness. 
 
         24                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  And that would be 
 
         25   Ms. Ross, Mr. Berlin; is that correct? 
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          1                  MR. BERLIN:  The question is on the swing -- 
 
          2   I'm sorry, Commissioner. 
 
          3                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  On the ACA/PGA and 
 
          4   commodity price differentials, the differences in prices and 
 
          5   why they are the way they are. 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  That would be Tom Imhoff, 
 
          7   Commissioner Clayton. 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Oh, good.  I can't wait 
 
          9   for that opportunity. 
 
         10                  Okay.  Ms. Childers, thank you for my patience 
 
         11   as I fumble through this material.  I may have another 
 
         12   question here in a second or in a little bit as things go 
 
         13   forward, but I appreciate your patience. 
 
         14                  THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.  Thank you. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And I'm just going to 
 
         16   clarify just for the record because Commissioner Clayton 
 
         17   referred to a non-unanimous agreement.  And I believe what he 
 
         18   was referring to was not the written agreement that we have 
 
         19   before us because the PGA consolidation issue isn't part of 
 
         20   that written agreement.  Correct? 
 
         21                  MR. FISCHER:  That's correct, your Honor.  The 
 
         22   company has basically accepted the recommendations of Staff on 
 
         23   a whole variety of issues.  The non-unanimous stipulation 
 
         24   reflects an agreement between Staff, Public Counsel and the 
 
         25   company on a handful of issues.  But for the most part, the 
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          1   company has accepted the Staff's recommendations on both 
 
          2   revenue requirement and rate design proposals and that's 
 
          3   what -- although we have accepted it, we haven't signed any 
 
          4   kind of a Stipulation and Agreement. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Right.  I just wanted to 
 
          6   clarify that when Commissioner Clayton was referring to that 
 
          7   agreement, he was referring to that meeting of the minds on 
 
          8   the positions. 
 
          9                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Those words mean a lot 
 
         10   more than they used to, don't they? 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Then I think that's all 
 
         12   the questions from the Bench.  Is there recross from Staff 
 
         13   based on those questions? 
 
         14                  MR. BERLIN:  One question, Judge. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right. 
 
         16   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
         17           Q.     Ms. Childers, is Staff's proposal for all 
 
         18   classes or is it for residential and small general service 
 
         19   classes? 
 
         20           A.     Residential and small general service. 
 
         21                  MR. BERLIN:  Thank you. 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there anything further from 
 
         23   Public Counsel? 
 
         24                  MR. POSTON:  Just one. 
 
         25   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 
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          1           Q.     Ms. Childers, you indicated that the recent 
 
          2   PGA filings have brought the individual PGA rates closer 
 
          3   together.  Is that what you stated? 
 
          4           A.     Well, it's brought the PGAs down and, yes, 
 
          5   they are closer together than they were the -- some months 
 
          6   ago. 
 
          7           Q.     And how many PGA filings does Atmos make a 
 
          8   year? 
 
          9           A.     We current make seven.  And I believe we can 
 
         10   file -- when we make a filing, we make seven.  And we make 
 
         11   three or four a year. 
 
         12           Q.     And some filings, they may actually be further 
 
         13   apart and some closer together?  I mean, they fluctuate? 
 
         14           A.     That's correct.  Because largely, in my 
 
         15   opinion, due to the ACA, the under/over balance. 
 
         16                  MR. POSTON:  Thank you. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Is there any 
 
         18   redirect examination? 
 
         19                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your Honor, there is. 
 
         20   Could I have just a minute and I'll -- 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go ahead. 
 
         22   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         23           Q.     Mrs. Childers, you were asked some questions 
 
         24   why Kirksville would be treated differently for the PGA than 
 
         25   the Hannibal/Canton area.  And I'd like to refer you to the 
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          1   map.  I think it was a map, you said it was kind of hard to 
 
          2   read.  It may be that we'll have to project this on the screen 
 
          3   to read this, but can you tell that A&R pipeline is the 
 
          4   pipeline that is going across the most northwest part of 
 
          5   Missouri with the spur down to Kirksville? 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And are you referring to what 
 
          7   we marked as Exhibit 100? 
 
          8                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes. 
 
          9   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         10           Q.     I don't know -- 
 
         11           A.     I can't see it, Mr. Fischer. 
 
         12                  MR. FISCHER:  Mr. Berlin, do you know if we 
 
         13   can project that onto the screen and perhaps read it? 
 
         14                  MR. BERLIN:  We can.  We have to put it on the 
 
         15   Smart Board. 
 
         16                  THE WITNESS:  I believe I can finally make 
 
         17   this out.  If I'm looking at the -- the pipe across the top, 
 
         18   that is A&R Pipeline. 
 
         19                  MR. BERLIN:  I think we can magnify the top 
 
         20   part. 
 
         21                  MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  Well, that's much better. 
 
         22   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         23           Q.     And just in terms of why you would have a 
 
         24   separate PGA from the Kirksville area compared to the 
 
         25   Hannibal/Canton area, is it correct that another pipeline, it 
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          1   appears to be Panhandle Eastern, would be -- 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     -- coming across the state to serve the 
 
          4   Hannibal area? 
 
          5           A.     That's correct. 
 
          6           Q.     And would that be one of the reasons why you 
 
          7   might consider a separate PGA if you were trying to key on 
 
          8   pipelines that serve the area? 
 
          9           A.     That sounds reasonable, yes. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  And then let's look at Butler.  It 
 
         11   appears that Panhandle Eastern would serve the Butler area. 
 
         12   Is that your understanding? 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     While it's not shown on that map, do you know 
 
         15   whether the Butler area is also served by Southern Star? 
 
         16           A.     I do not know. 
 
         17           Q.     I'm sorry.  The Greeley area? 
 
         18           A.     Oh, the Greeley area, yes. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  Would that be an explanation why if you 
 
         20   didn't want to go to a statewide consolidation, you might 
 
         21   have -- you have different pipelines serving those three 
 
         22   different areas, the Butler/Greeley area, the Hannibal/Canton 
 
         23   area and then separately Kirksville? 
 
         24           A.     I think that's a reasonable split. 
 
         25           Q.     And then, of course, that SEMO area down in 
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          1   the boot heel would be served by other pipelines? 
 
          2           A.     Yes, that's correct.  At least three. 
 
          3           Q.     Okay.  Commissioner Clayton also asked you 
 
          4   about the fact that the SEMO area has annual consumption 
 
          5   levels that are less than other regions in the state.  Do you 
 
          6   recall those questions? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8                  MR. FISCHER:  When we had I think it was Gary 
 
          9   Smith on the stand, he committed to give the Staff some 
 
         10   information about annual consumption levels of the different 
 
         11   districts and also some LIEAP information. 
 
         12                  Judge, for purposes of this redirect, I think 
 
         13   I'd like to ask that that exhibit be marked.  I think it might 
 
         14   be more efficient to go through it just real quickly now since 
 
         15   it addresses one of the Commissioner's questions. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Let's see.  The 
 
         17   company's next exhibit number is I believe 19.  And what can I 
 
         18   call this?  It says FY 2005 data. 
 
         19                  MR. FISCHER:  I'd say consumption data. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  So this is the 
 
         21   consumption data for Atmos for fiscal year 2005. 
 
         22                  (Exhibit No. 19 was marked for 
 
         23   identification.) 
 
         24   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         25           Q.     Ms. Childers, are you familiar with this 
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          1   exhibit? 
 
          2           A.     Yes, I am. 
 
          3           Q.     Can you explain the column, All Customer 
 
          4   Annual CCFs, what that represents? 
 
          5           A.     Yes.  The annual CCF, for example, Kirksville, 
 
          6   the -- the typical customer in Kirksville -- well, I should 
 
          7   say all customers would use an average of 721 CCF.  A question 
 
          8   had arisen last week as to whether the LIEAP customers, the 
 
          9   low-income customers, typically would use -- would use more or 
 
         10   less. 
 
         11                  So after that question was asked of the 
 
         12   company last week, we were able to query the system and get 
 
         13   some information.  And the exhibit that you have before you 
 
         14   now shows that in all cases, the LIEAP customers, the 
 
         15   customers that are receiving LIEAP funding, actually their 
 
         16   usage is greater than the average. 
 
         17           Q.     And I was actually referring to the SEMO area 
 
         18   where Commissioner Clayton asked about its consumption level. 
 
         19   What would this demonstrate as far as SEMO compared to other 
 
         20   areas of the state? 
 
         21           A.     Lower -- lower usage but lower heating degree 
 
         22   days. 
 
         23           Q.     So that would reflect the fact that it's 
 
         24   warmer in the south? 
 
         25           A.     Yes. 
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          1           Q.     I believe you were also asked a question 
 
          2   regarding the small general service and the medium general 
 
          3   service.  Do you recall? 
 
          4           A.     Yes, I recall that. 
 
          5           Q.     Is it your under-- I think you gave some 
 
          6   annual usage levels for those two classes.  Do you know where 
 
          7   the break would actually occur?  Would it be at 2,000 CCFs? 
 
          8           A.     I believe it is at 2,000.  And I was giving 
 
          9   numbers of -- of average annual usage as opposed to the break 
 
         10   that would be in the tariff itself. 
 
         11                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, if I may interrupt. 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, Mr. Poston. 
 
         13                  MR. POSTON:  Is there any way we can take a 
 
         14   short break so we can talk about this exhibit with the 
 
         15   parties?  There's numbers in here that -- regarding the 
 
         16   billing determinants that we believe we've agreed to among the 
 
         17   parties that appear to be inaccurate and I'd just like to 
 
         18   confer with them about this before we move on if that's 
 
         19   possible. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  There's no problem with that. 
 
         21                  MR. FISCHER:  I can move to introduce it later 
 
         22   after we've had a chance to discuss that if you'd like or do 
 
         23   it now for that matter, but I can finish the redirect as well 
 
         24   if you'd like to do that. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston? 
 
 
 

586 of 1082



 
                                                                      275 
 
 
 
          1                  MR. POSTON:  I would as soon clear it up right 
 
          2   now before we move on. 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's take a short 
 
          4   break.  We'll adjourn until 20 after.  Thank you.  We can go 
 
          5   off the record. 
 
          6                  (A recess was taken.) 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Mr. Poston, did you all 
 
          8   have a chance to work out your -- 
 
          9                  MR. POSTON:  Well, they did explain the 
 
         10   billing determinants concern we had, but we do have additional 
 
         11   concern that there's data in here that we have had no -- 
 
         12   absolutely no opportunity to review and to try to determine 
 
         13   whether we agree with these figures.  Mr. Fischer essentially 
 
         14   just handed his witness a piece of paper allowing her to put 
 
         15   numbers into the record that have not been verified by the 
 
         16   other parties. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, the exhibit 
 
         18   hasn't actually been offered yet.  I realize the witness did 
 
         19   testify -- make some testimony. 
 
         20                  Mr. Fischer, did you have additional redirect 
 
         21   not related to this? 
 
         22                  MR. FISCHER:  I did have a couple other 
 
         23   redirect questions.  And actually regarding the exhibit, we 
 
         24   originally had Gary Smith, who was asked the question about 
 
         25   it, it was probably more appropriate to go through that with 
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          1   him.  I was just trying to short circuit one of the questions 
 
          2   that the Commissioner had asked because I knew the data was 
 
          3   available and we could talk about the other data on here at 
 
          4   some other time during the hearing. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I think I'll let you 
 
          6   offer that in conjunction with Mr. Smith and allow the other 
 
          7   parties the chance to cross-examine and make objections or 
 
          8   whatever is appropriate at that time.  Would you like to go 
 
          9   forward with what other redirect you had on this witness? 
 
         10                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes, thank you, your Honor. 
 
         11   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         12           Q.     Ms. Childers, I believe you were asked a 
 
         13   question regarding -- from Commissioner Clayton regarding 
 
         14   farmtaps.  I wanted to -- if I understood your answer, Atmos 
 
         15   does not have any farmtaps in Missouri; is that correct? 
 
         16           A.     That's correct. 
 
         17           Q.     You mentioned Illinois.  There may be some in 
 
         18   some other states, but in Missouri there aren't farmtaps? 
 
         19           A.     That's correct.  They're all served from our 
 
         20   distribution system. 
 
         21           Q.     So any rural customer or farmer that was 
 
         22   receiving gas from Atmos would be receiving it from behind the 
 
         23   city gate; is that right? 
 
         24           A.     That's correct. 
 
         25                  MR. FISCHER:  I think that's all the redirect 
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          1   I have, your Honor.  Thank you. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Ms. Childers, I'll 
 
          3   let you step down for now but ask you to remain for any 
 
          4   additional questions. 
 
          5                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I believe we're ready then to 
 
          7   go to Mr. Imhoff. 
 
          8                  (Witness sworn.) 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Go ahead, 
 
         10    Mr. Berlin. 
 
         11                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, do I understand we're 
 
         12   continuing with the shortened procedures? 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  We've waived the 
 
         14   preliminary questions for the testimony. 
 
         15   TOM M. IMHOFF testified as follows: 
 
         16   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
         17           Q.     Mr. Imhoff, did you prepare for this 
 
         18   proceeding Direct -- 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     -- Rebuttal and Surrebuttal Testimony? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     Do you have any changes you wish to make to 
 
         23   your direct? 
 
         24           A.     Not at this time. 
 
         25           Q.     Any changes to your Rebuttal -- 
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          1           A.     Not -- 
 
          2           Q.     -- Testimony? 
 
          3           A.     Not at this time. 
 
          4           Q.     To your Surrebuttal Testimony? 
 
          5           A.     Not at this time. 
 
          6           Q.     And as part of your preparation, are you 
 
          7   sponsoring a Missouri pipeline map premarked as 121-HC? 
 
          8           A.     Yes. 
 
          9                  MR. BERLIN:  May I approach? 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 
 
         11                  MR. BERLIN:  I just distributed to the parties 
 
         12   a Missouri pipeline map premarked as Exhibit 121-HC.  And with 
 
         13   that, Judge, I would move that the Direct, Rebuttal, 
 
         14   Surrebuttal Testimony of Mr. Imhoff and the HC Missouri gas 
 
         15   pipeline map that he is sponsoring be admitted into evidence. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any objection 
 
         17   to Exhibits 118, 119, 120 and 121-HC? 
 
         18                  Seeing no objections, then I will admit those 
 
         19   into evidence. 
 
         20                  (Exhibits Nos. 118, 119, 120 and 121-HC were 
 
         21   received into evidence.) 
 
         22                  MR. BERLIN:  Your Honor, Staff tenders this 
 
         23   witness for cross-examination. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there any 
 
         25   cross-examination from Atmos? 
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          1                  MR. FISCHER:  No thank you, your Honor. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 
 
          3                  MR. POSTON:  Yes.  Thank you. 
 
          4   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 
 
          5           Q.     Mr. Imhoff, you were in here when Ms. Childers 
 
          6   just testified.  Correct? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     And did you hear the discussion she had with 
 
          9   Commissioner Clayton regarding how the proposal to consolidate 
 
         10   the PGA areas would address the ACA? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     I believe she stated that that was in Staff's 
 
         13   testimony, that Staff proposed how to handle that? 
 
         14           A.     I believe so.  Let me -- let me -- 
 
         15           Q.     Would you agree with that statement? 
 
         16           A.     Oh, yes.  Absolutely. 
 
         17           Q.     Can you point to me where in your testimony 
 
         18   you discuss how the ACA would be handled? 
 
         19           A.     Well, let me -- I think I misunderstood your 
 
         20   question.  I apologize for that.  Your question was did I 
 
         21   actually state something in my testimony how it relates to the 
 
         22   ACA.  I -- I have gone back through my direct and I do not 
 
         23   have that.  My intention was to have each individual district 
 
         24   take care of their respective ACA balances to zero them out. 
 
         25           Q.     Okay.  But that's nowhere in your filed 
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          1   testimony.  Correct? 
 
          2           A.     That is correct.  It's not in my Direct 
 
          3   Testimony. 
 
          4                  MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  That's all I had. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Commissioner 
 
          6   Appling, do you have any questions on the PGA and district 
 
          7   consolidation for Mr. Imhoff? 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  I think I understand it 
 
          9   very well.  He looks like he's too ready for me this morning 
 
         10   so I won't ask any questions.  No questions, Judge. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Just one moment, Mr. Imhoff. 
 
         12   I'm trying to make sure I don't have any questions for you. 
 
         13                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Judge, I'll ask I 
 
         14   question while you're digging around in your pile. 
 
         15   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 
 
         16           Q.     Just kind of like your face this morning and 
 
         17   didn't want you to get away.  Okay? 
 
         18           A.     Okay. 
 
         19           Q.     Is it my understanding that you agree and 
 
         20   support the Staff and Atmos on this agreement they have on 
 
         21   this rate case?  Do you support it? 
 
         22           A.     For the PGA consolidation? 
 
         23           Q.     Yes.  The portion that you're on, yes. 
 
         24           A.     Yes.  This is the actual Staff proposal and I 
 
         25   believe that the company has agreed to the Staff proposal for 
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          1   A -- PGA's slash ACA districts. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  And that's in each one of the three or 
 
          3   four districts that they're recommending? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay. 
 
          6                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Judge, I just wanted to 
 
          7   make sure that he agreed with what we had here, so I don't 
 
          8   have any more questions.  Thank you very much. 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Thank you. 
 
         10   Mr. Imhoff, are you scheduled to testify on any other topics? 
 
         11                  THE WITNESS:  No. 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Your other 
 
         13   testimony was on class cost of service and that's been 
 
         14   settled, is that correct, or at least partial settlement? 
 
         15                  THE WITNESS:  That's my understanding, yes. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, I know that 
 
         17   Commissioner Clayton has some questions for you and he's 
 
         18   stepped into the other hearing room for the other hearing 
 
         19   that's going on right now -- 
 
         20                  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- so I know that he will want 
 
         22   to call you back to the stand later. 
 
         23                  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I guess was there any 
 
         25   recross-examination based on Commissioner Appling's question 
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          1   from Atmos? 
 
          2                  MR. FISCHER:  No, your Honor. 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Public Counsel? 
 
          4                  MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Then, Mr. Imhoff, 
 
          6   you can step down for now. 
 
          7                  I'm sorry.  Was there redirect? 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  No, Judge. 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Did Ms. Ross make it 
 
         10   in?  Let's go ahead and have Ms. Ross come up. 
 
         11                  MR. BERLIN:  One moment, please, Judge. 
 
         12                  MR. POSTON:  Judge, you wanted us to -- so 
 
         13   you're moving back to rate design before we finish up the PGA 
 
         14   consolidation? 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm sorry.  I thought -- I 
 
         16   thought Ms. Ross was the witness on this topic also.  Is that 
 
         17   not correct? 
 
         18                  MR. BERLIN:  That's correct.  Ms. Ross is a 
 
         19   witness on the rate design. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  PGA. 
 
         21                  MR. BERLING:  Mr. Imhoff is the PGA 
 
         22   consolidation witness. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 
 
         24                  MR. DORITY:  Did Ms. Meisenheimer take the 
 
         25   stand for PGA consolidation? 
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          1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  No, I'm sorry.  I think I must 
 
          2   have messed this up.  My apologies.  I thought Ms. Ross was 
 
          3   listed on the witness list as also being a witness on this 
 
          4   topic.  So I apologize.  We can go to Ms. Meisenheimer. 
 
          5                  MR. POSTON:  Thank you. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Meisenheimer, you've been 
 
          7   previously sworn and your exhibits have been previously 
 
          8   admitted.  So is there any cross-examination on the PGA 
 
          9   district consolidation from Atmos? 
 
         10                  MR. DORITY:  No questions, your Honor. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And is there any 
 
         12   cross-examination from Staff? 
 
         13                  MR. BERLIN:  No questions, Judge. 
 
         14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I guess I should have asked 
 
         15   this before we brought her up to the witness stand. 
 
         16                  Commissioner Appling, did you have any 
 
         17   questions for Ms. Meisenheimer on this matter, the 
 
         18   consolidation? 
 
         19                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Judge, I don't think I 
 
         20   have any questions. 
 
         21   BARBARA MEISENHEIMER testified as follows: 
 
         22   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER APPLING: 
 
         23           Q.     But is this a contested area with you?  This 
 
         24   consolidation okay or is it not okay? 
 
         25           A.     It's not okay.  It is contested. 
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          1                  COMMISSIONER APPLING:  Okay.  I don't think I 
 
          2   have any further questions.  Thank you. 
 
          3                  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Let me regroup. 
 
          5   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 
 
          6           Q.     Okay.  Ms. Meisenheimer, I think I may have a 
 
          7   question for you here.  In your Surrebuttal Testimony on 
 
          8   page 6, you state down at the bottom on line 10 that, I 
 
          9   believe that if the Staff had prepared cost studies for each 
 
         10   of the districts instead of consolidating them into three, it 
 
         11   would have found significant differences in the portion of 
 
         12   mains allocated to classes. 
 
         13                  What is your support for that belief? 
 
         14           A.     I -- I actually did cost studies that were not 
 
         15   consolidated.  Primarily I relied on Staff's data and later at 
 
         16   the time of surrebuttal, I actually used the Staff's mains 
 
         17   allocator as well and I found significant differences in the 
 
         18   mains cost also. 
 
         19                  I might point you to page 11 of my Surrebuttal 
 
         20   Testimony.  There is a table at the top that identifies mains 
 
         21   investment, the distribution mains reserve subtracting the 
 
         22   reserve from the investment -- 
 
         23                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, if I could interrupt, I'd 
 
         24   just like to point out that this area has to do with district 
 
         25   consolidation or service territory consolidation and is not 
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          1   part of the PGA consolidation issue. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I guess I thought we 
 
          3   were doing both issues at once.  I guess I'm confused.  Maybe 
 
          4   we better back up to the beginning here.  Was that not how 
 
          5   they were listed on the -- 
 
          6                  MR. POSTON:  In the issues list they are 
 
          7   listed separately, the PGA -- 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Right.  But on the witness 
 
          9   list that you all agreed to, weren't they -- 
 
         10                  MR. FISCHER:  There are different Staff 
 
         11   witnesses.  I think Ms. Meisenheimer does address both issues 
 
         12   so it's -- 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And is that what Ms. Ross is 
 
         14   scheduled to testify on? 
 
         15                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  So, Mr. Berlin, we do 
 
         17   need to go back to Ms. Ross for the district consolidation and 
 
         18   so forth.  Okay. 
 
         19                  MR. BERLIN:  Correct, Judge. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'll let you testify to 
 
         21   that.  We'll back up and recover that ground later. 
 
         22                  Okay.  Is there any recross based on my 
 
         23   questions or do you -- if you want to handle that when we go 
 
         24   back to that issue, that's fine too. 
 
         25                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I had a question based 
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          1   upon a question from Commissioner Appling. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Go ahead. 
 
          3   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
          4           Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, do you recall being asked 
 
          5   whether this was a contested issue as far as Public Counsel's 
 
          6   concerned on the consolidation of the PGAs? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     Is it correct that in your Rebuttal Testimony, 
 
          9   you state that you find Staff's proposal more reasonable than 
 
         10   the company's regarding the PGA rate consolidation, page 35? 
 
         11           A.     In rebuttal? 
 
         12           Q.     Yes, in rebuttal. 
 
         13           A.     I don't doubt that I said it.  I just thought 
 
         14   I would verify that.  Page 35, can you give me a line number? 
 
         15           Q.     I don't have a line number but it's I think in 
 
         16   the middle there. 
 
         17                  MR. POSTON:  Seven. 
 
         18                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I say, Although I find the 
 
         19   Staff's proposal is more reasonable than the company's, there 
 
         20   is no compelling reason to alter the PGA structure simply to 
 
         21   reduce the administrative burden -- burden on the company. 
 
         22   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         23           Q.     If the Commission did decide that some 
 
         24   consolidation would be appropriate, would you find the Staff's 
 
         25   proposal to be more appropriate than the company's original 
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          1   proposal to consolidate into one PGA? 
 
          2           A.     Yes.  With the qualification that -- as you 
 
          3   heard from Mr. Imhoff on the stand just a few minutes ago, the 
 
          4   Staff's testimony did not address how the ACA would be handled 
 
          5   and carried out for 12 months.  I think he indicated that was 
 
          6   his intention and that's -- that's something that -- that 
 
          7   certainly should be done.  That the -- whatever leftover costs 
 
          8   there are from existing districts, they should be preserved 
 
          9   and carried -- carried through and blended. 
 
         10           Q.     And did you -- 
 
         11           A.     Or not blended across districts.  Sorry. 
 
         12           Q.     Did you also hear Ms. Childers testify that 
 
         13   that was consistent with what the company would propose as 
 
         14   well? 
 
         15           A.     I -- I don't specifically remember exact -- 
 
         16   exactly what she said.  I -- I do remember that the -- the 
 
         17   company has taken the position it agrees with the Staff. 
 
         18           Q.     Okay.  It's your understanding that Atmos is 
 
         19   willing to accept the Staff's proposal on consolidation of 
 
         20   PGAs -- 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     -- in the four districts? 
 
         23                  MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  That's all I have.  Thank 
 
         24   you. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any further 
 
 
 

599 of 1082



 
                                                                      288 
 
 
 
          1   recross-examination from Staff? 
 
          2                  MR. BERLIN:  No, Judge. 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there redirect from Public 
 
          4   Counsel? 
 
          5                  MR. POSTON:  No, Judge.  Thank you. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay then.  Ms. Meisenheimer, 
 
          7   you can be excused until we get to the next issue in which 
 
          8   you're the witness. 
 
          9                  Okay.  I apologize.  I must have been looking 
 
         10   at the original joint issues list when I was making up the 
 
         11   order of witnesses for today so I got confused on the PGA and 
 
         12   district consolidation.  I thought they were all being handled 
 
         13   at one time.  So do we need to then go back to Ms. Childers 
 
         14   for district consolidation? 
 
         15                  MR. FISCHER:  Perhaps we could inquire whether 
 
         16   there's any additional cross of her before -- 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's what I guess I'm 
 
         18   asking.  Was there any additional cross-examination on the 
 
         19   district consolidation? 
 
         20                  MR. POSTON:  No.  I actually went out of order 
 
         21   and asked my questions on Thursday, so -- 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'm picking up where -- 
 
         23   I was more organized on Thursday.  Mr. Berlin? 
 
         24                  MR. BERLIN:  No questions, Judge. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'm not sure if the 
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          1   Commissioner asked his questions on district consolidation 
 
          2   when he had Ms. Childers here before so there may still be 
 
          3   some questions on that.  Commissioner Appling, you don't have 
 
          4   any questions for Ms. Childers on that topic?  Okay.  Neither 
 
          5   do I.  So we will consider Ms. Childers covered in that area 
 
          6   unless there are further Commission questions. 
 
          7                  So then that does bring us to Ms. Ross, who 
 
          8   has not yet been before us today so I know there's at least 
 
          9   something we can do with regards to her. 
 
         10                  (Witness sworn.) 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         12   ANNE ROSS testified as follows: 
 
         13   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
         14           Q.     Ms. Ross, did you prepare Direct Testimony on 
 
         15   rate design in this proceeding? 
 
         16           A.     Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     Did you prepare Direct Testimony on large 
 
         18   customer annualization? 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     And did you prepare Rebuttal Testimony? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     And Surrebuttal Testimony? 
 
         23           A.     Yes. 
 
         24           Q.     Do you have any corrections you wish to make 
 
         25   to that testimony at this time? 
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          1           A.     No. 
 
          2           Q.     Did you update any schedules to reflect the 
 
          3   billing units agreed to in the Stipulation and Agreement? 
 
          4           A.     Yes, I did.  I updated Schedule 1.1 and 1.2 
 
          5   from my Surrebuttal Testimony to update the -- the revenues on 
 
          6   which we calculated the -- the delivery charges.  So I -- my 
 
          7   delivery charges are slightly different than they were in my 
 
          8   surrebuttal. 
 
          9                  MR. BERLIN:  May I approach? 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, sir. 
 
         11                  MR. BERLIN:  I have a copy of the updated 
 
         12   schedule. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  If you could give those all to 
 
         14   me.  And this is the schedule to the Surrebuttal Testimony, 
 
         15   which was marked as Exhibit 113; is that correct?  This is a 
 
         16   corrected schedule or are we marking this as a new exhibit? 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  I'll mark it as a new exhibit, 
 
         18   Judge. 
 
         19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  So the Staff's next 
 
         20   Exhibit number is 137. 
 
         21                  (Exhibit No. 137 was marked for 
 
         22   identification.) 
 
         23                  MR. BERLIN:  Your Honor, I would move that the 
 
         24   Direct Testimony on rate design, the Direct Testimony on large 
 
         25   customer annualization, the Rebuttal Testimony and Surrebuttal 
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          1   Testimony that are premarked from 110 to 113, in addition to 
 
          2   the corrected Schedule 1-1, I believe you marked as 137, be 
 
          3   admitted into evidence. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Would there be any 
 
          5   objection to Exhibits 110, 111, 112 and 113 coming into the 
 
          6   record?  And no objection? 
 
          7                  I'll receive those. 
 
          8                  (Exhibit Nos. 110, 111, 112 and 113 received 
 
          9   into evidence.) 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And would there be any 
 
         11   objection to Exhibit No. 137 coming into the record?  That's 
 
         12   the corrected schedule. 
 
         13                  Then I will receive that into evidence. 
 
         14                  (Exhibit No. 137 was received into evidence.) 
 
         15                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, Staff tenders this witness 
 
         16   for cross-examination. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there any 
 
         18   cross-examination from Atmos? 
 
         19                  MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly, your Honor. 
 
         20   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         21           Q.     Ms. Ross, your corrected Schedule 1-1, I 
 
         22   believe it's entitled Comparison of OPC and Staff Residential 
 
         23   Rate Design Proposal Impact Dollars Updated to Reflect Billing 
 
         24   Units to Stipulation and Agreement.  Would that refer to the 
 
         25   billing determinants that were attached as Attachment A to the 
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          1   non-- to the Stipulation and Agreement that was filed earlier 
 
          2   by the Staff, Public Counsel and the company? 
 
          3           A.     Yes. 
 
          4                  MR. FISCHER:  I think that's all I had on this 
 
          5   topic, your Honor. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Any cross-examination from 
 
          7   Public Counsel? 
 
          8                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 
 
          9   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         10           Q.     Good morning. 
 
         11           A.     Good morning. 
 
         12           Q.     Ms. Ross, Atmos currently provides service to 
 
         13   customers in seven separate districts that have seven separate 
 
         14   residential rates.  Correct? 
 
         15           A.     Correct. 
 
         16           Q.     And your proposal is to consolidate those 
 
         17   districts into three districts.  Correct? 
 
         18           A.     Yes, that's correct. 
 
         19           Q.     And each of your three districts would have a 
 
         20   different residential rate under your rate design proposal? 
 
         21           A.     Each of the districts would have the same 
 
         22   customer charge and a different commodity charge and -- oh, 
 
         23   I'm sorry.  God.  Yes, they would.  The delivery charge would 
 
         24   be different in each district. 
 
         25           Q.     And why are the rates different for each of 
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          1   the three districts? 
 
          2           A.     We're using current revenues to -- to 
 
          3   determine the billing.  The delivery charge and the current 
 
          4   revenues for each district are different. 
 
          5           Q.     So those rates are not cost based then? 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Ross, can I get -- when 
 
          7   you answer, can I get you to turn more toward the microphone 
 
          8   so that it picks you up a little better? 
 
          9                  THE WITNESS:  Sure.  Sure. 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         11                  THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure I understand your 
 
         12   question. 
 
         13   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         14           Q.     You said the rates are based on revenues, so 
 
         15   does that mean the revenues are not based on cost? 
 
         16           A.     That is correct, they are not based on a cost 
 
         17   of service that I did in this case. 
 
         18           Q.     Did the Staff prepare residential cost studies 
 
         19   for all seven districts? 
 
         20           A.     Yes. 
 
         21           Q.     And where do those seven cost studies appear 
 
         22   in testimony? 
 
         23           A.     I'm sorry.  I misspoke again.  They -- we did 
 
         24   three cost of service studies.  I apologize. 
 
         25           Q.     Would you agree that the Staff's class cost of 
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          1   service studies found that the book cost of meters and 
 
          2   regulators is not the same for residential customers 
 
          3   statewide? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Taking everything into account that has been 
 
          6   filed to date in this case, all rounds of testimony, do you 
 
          7   now believe that the embedded cost to serve a customer in one 
 
          8   district is identical to the embedded cost to serve a customer 
 
          9   in any of the other districts? 
 
         10           A.     It depends on what you mean by "district."  I 
 
         11   don't believe that the em-- that the cost to serve a customer 
 
         12   in the northern district is the same as the cost to serve the 
 
         13   customer in the southern district, if that's what you're 
 
         14   asking. 
 
         15           Q.     Well, I'm asking for each of the districts. 
 
         16   Any one district -- 
 
         17           A.     Okay. 
 
         18           Q.     -- is that cost, embedded cost identical to 
 
         19   any of the other districts? 
 
         20           A.     No. 
 
         21           Q.     And in your rebuttal you state there might be 
 
         22   a difference in cost in districts due to the vintage of 
 
         23   distribution equipment -- 
 
         24           A.     Yes. 
 
         25           Q.     -- in different districts.  And why would the 
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          1   vintage be different? 
 
          2           A.     The -- these companies were acquired in three 
 
          3   separate purchases.  Different companies have different 
 
          4   accounting methods.  They might have booked the cost 
 
          5   differently, their depreciation rates might have been 
 
          6   different in the past. 
 
          7           Q.     So the equipment would depreciate differently 
 
          8   depending on the district? 
 
          9           A.     On the books, yes. 
 
         10           Q.     And so would the different vintage equipment 
 
         11   need to be replaced at an equal rate across all districts? 
 
         12           A.     Yes.  I believe so. 
 
         13           Q.     And why do you believe that? 
 
         14           A.     We've had an aggressive service line 
 
         15   replacement program.  Let's just talk about, let's say, 
 
         16   services or meters.  I think that they're replacing the 
 
         17   equipment in all of the districts on an ongoing basis.  I -- I 
 
         18   don't think that -- that the engineers look at the books to 
 
         19   determine when a piece of equipment needs to be replaced. 
 
         20           Q.     So you're saying that they would replace these 
 
         21   at the same rate across all districts? 
 
         22           A.     No.  Not necessarily. 
 
         23           Q.     Did you perform a population density study in 
 
         24   this case to determine to what extent through economies of 
 
         25   scale the cost per district would be different? 
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          1           A.     Would be different from -- when you're talking 
 
          2   about districts, what do you mean?  Do you mean the three -- 
 
          3           Q.     Seven districts. 
 
          4           A.     The seven districts.  Would you repeat your 
 
          5   question? 
 
          6           Q.     Did you do a pop-- perform any type of 
 
          7   population density study to determine differences between 
 
          8   districts? 
 
          9           A.     No, I did not. 
 
         10           Q.     Isn't it true that you stated in your 
 
         11   testimony you did not believe it's necessary to wait for 
 
         12   detailed information to be gathered to perform detailed cost 
 
         13   studies to help determine whether consolidating districts is 
 
         14   reasonable? 
 
         15           A.     Yes, I said that. 
 
         16           Q.     And how long would one have to wait to gather 
 
         17   the necessary information to perform the cost study? 
 
         18           A.     In the case of Atmos, I don't think we could. 
 
         19   I don't think that that information will ever be available. 
 
         20   As our depreciation witness testified, there is some problems 
 
         21   with their books.  I don't think we'll -- we'll ever have 
 
         22   exact information upon which to base customer charges, 
 
         23   commodity rates. 
 
         24           Q.     And that's based just upon the lack of 
 
         25   depreciation data? 
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          1           A.     That's a big part of it, yes. 
 
          2           Q.     And what other type of information would need 
 
          3   to be gathered? 
 
          4           A.     To perform specific cost studies?  I think 
 
          5   that it would -- it would depend on how you want to perform 
 
          6   your study.  If you were doing a replacement cost study, you'd 
 
          7   need to -- to gather information on -- on what it would cost 
 
          8   to current -- you know, to -- if you were putting in the 
 
          9   equipment today.  If you were just looking at historical 
 
         10   costs, you might want to take information and trend it so that 
 
         11   it would all be on the same basis. 
 
         12                  Did I answer your question? 
 
         13           Q.     Well, I was just trying to understand what 
 
         14   information you believe would need to be gathered to do a 
 
         15   thorough cost study. 
 
         16           A.     I think we'd need to know -- as well as those 
 
         17   things, I think we'd need to know the sizes for the various 
 
         18   customer classes, the usage or peak demands.  I think we 
 
         19   would -- it would be helpful to know the equipment that's 
 
         20   currently serving the different classes.  It's hard to answer 
 
         21   because there's several different ways that you could analyze 
 
         22   that, but we would need that type of information. 
 
         23           Q.     And aside from the depreciation data, is any 
 
         24   of this information that would be needed not available to 
 
         25   Atmos? 
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          1           A.     That would be needed to develop detailed cost 
 
          2   studies? 
 
          3           Q.     Correct. 
 
          4           A.     I think that there -- I think that the fact 
 
          5   that there are so many shared services in Atmos would make it 
 
          6   difficult to develop cost studies for each individual 
 
          7   district.  They have a lot of their -- their call centers are 
 
          8   shared.  I believe that their -- their workmen within a 
 
          9   particular geographic district don't just go and, say, work on 
 
         10   Hannibal versus Kirksville.  So I think there are a lot of 
 
         11   shared services.  That would be difficult. 
 
         12           Q.     Aren't those issues that could be worked 
 
         13   through and some kind of an allocation made based on those 
 
         14   costs? 
 
         15           A.     Yes.  I don't know that it could be worked 
 
         16   through, but everybody could come up with some kind of 
 
         17   allocation on those costs. 
 
         18           Q.     Isn't it true that the Staff's accounting 
 
         19   schedule data determines cost for each seven districts? 
 
         20           A.     Yes. 
 
         21           Q.     And did you use that data? 
 
         22           A.     We combined it into three districts and used 
 
         23   it, yes. 
 
         24                  MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank you. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
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          1   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 
 
          2           Q.     Ms. Ross, I've got a couple of questions for 
 
          3   you.  And I apologize if you covered this somewhere in your 
 
          4   testimony and I didn't catch it so -- at the very end of your 
 
          5   Surrebuttal Testimony, page 14, you respond to the company's 
 
          6   proposal that's in their -- in Mr. Smith's Rebuttal Testimony. 
 
          7   And you state that -- you're talking about the sculpting of 
 
          8   rates to lower summary delivery charge.  And you say that 
 
          9   Staff doesn't oppose that proposal but you basically prefer 
 
         10   the 12-month proposal.  Is that Staff's -- is that correct? 
 
         11           A.     That is correct. 
 
         12           Q.     Okay.  Are you saying then that you believe 
 
         13   the sculpting of the rates would achieve the same results 
 
         14   as -- 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     -- Staff's proposal? 
 
         17           A.     Yes.  On an annual basis, it would collect the 
 
         18   same revenues. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  I think some of my questions have 
 
         20   already been answered so -- and I'm sorry.  That was off topic 
 
         21   again, wasn't it?  Okay.  That's why I'm confused.  Those 
 
         22   questions are for rate design, which we haven't gotten to yet. 
 
         23   I was prepared to get to that first thing when we got here. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Would there be any 
 
         25   redirect -- or recross-examination questions based on my 
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          1   questions or if you want to save them for when we get to rate 
 
          2   design, that's okay too.  I'm going to catch up. 
 
          3                  MR. FISCHER:  I'll save the question. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Public Counsel? 
 
          5                  MR. POSTON:  No questions. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any redirect from 
 
          7   Staff based on all of the cross? 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge.  I have one question. 
 
          9   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
         10           Q.     Ms. Ross, do you recall a question that 
 
         11   Mr. Poston asked you regarding cost of service studies? 
 
         12           A.     Yes. 
 
         13           Q.     In each of the three service areas, northeast, 
 
         14   southeast and western, was there a cost of service study 
 
         15   performed for each of those areas? 
 
         16           A.     I believe that there was. 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  Thank you. 
 
         18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right, Ms. Ross, I believe 
 
         19   there will probably be Commission questions based on this 
 
         20   topic as well as the others from some of the Commissioners who 
 
         21   aren't here right now so I would excuse you for now, but would 
 
         22   ask you to come back later to answer those questions. 
 
         23                  THE WITNESS:  Thanks. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Is there going to be 
 
         25   any cross-examination questions for Ms. Meisenheimer on the 
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          1   district consolidation topic? 
 
          2                  MR. BERLIN:  None from Staff, Judge. 
 
          3                  MR. FISCHER:  None from company. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Then I'll just ask 
 
          5   Ms. Meisenheimer to reserve her cross-examination from the 
 
          6   Bench on that or her questions from the Bench on that and 
 
          7   bring you back at a later time for that. 
 
          8                  Okay.  If I'm finally catching up then, I 
 
          9   believe that that is all of the witnesses on both the district 
 
         10   and the PGA consolidation except for whatever Commission 
 
         11   questions we have for those witnesses.  So are we ready then 
 
         12   to move on to the other tariff issues or should we go back to 
 
         13   some? 
 
         14                  MR. DORITY:  Rate design. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Go back to rate design? 
 
         16                  MR. POSTON:  Company witness is not here.  We 
 
         17   could move to one of the other issues. 
 
         18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  The company witness isn't 
 
         19   here -- 
 
         20                  MR. POSTON:  For rate design. 
 
         21                  JUDGE POSTON:  -- for rate design? 
 
         22                  MR. DORITY:  He's already testified. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  He's already -- he testified 
 
         24   on Thursday. 
 
         25                  MR. POSTON:  Oh, okay. 
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          1                  MR. DORITY:  Yeah, we're ready for rate 
 
          2   design. 
 
          3                  MR. POSTON:  Okay.  We are ready. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And it may be that we're in 
 
          5   the same position with regard to that, so let's just find out. 
 
          6   With regard to rate design will there be cross-examination 
 
          7   questions for Ms. Ross from Atmos? 
 
          8                  MR. FISCHER:  I had just a few. 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Then let's go ahead and 
 
         10   bring Ms. Ross right back up.  And I may have another one too 
 
         11   so -- that was quick.  You're still under oath, Ms. Ross.  And 
 
         12   your exhibits have already been admitted based on -- which 
 
         13   included this topic so cross-examination from Atmos on the 
 
         14   rate design issue. 
 
         15                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your Honor. 
 
         16   ANNE ROSS testified as follows: 
 
         17   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         18           Q.     I wanted to follow up on -- in your 
 
         19   Surrebuttal Testimony you talk about the sculpting and 
 
         20   delivery charge.  That's one of the areas that the company has 
 
         21   a slightly different recommendation from Staff; is that 
 
         22   correct? 
 
         23           A.     That's correct. 
 
         24           Q.     Would you explain to the Bench the difference 
 
         25   between company and Staff as you understand it on that issue? 
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          1           A.     Staff believes that it would be appropriate to 
 
          2   charge the same charge year-round because the company incurs 
 
          3   the same costs year-round to -- to serve these customers.  And 
 
          4   that's why we are -- we are suggesting that the delivery 
 
          5   charge be unchanged. 
 
          6                  The company believes that there might be 
 
          7   some -- some -- that customers might prefer a lower charge in 
 
          8   the summer, which they're used to, and so they would like to 
 
          9   sculpt the delivery charge to achieve that.  It would be lower 
 
         10   in the summer and higher in the winter. 
 
         11           Q.     And does Staff -- while Staff would recommend 
 
         12   a flat delivery charge throughout the seasons, does Staff have 
 
         13   concerns or is opposed to the company's proposal on sculpting? 
 
         14           A.     No. 
 
         15           Q.     You also mentioned in your testimony that you 
 
         16   had a table that showed the various usages for I think cooking 
 
         17   only, logs.  Where was that located? 
 
         18           A.     It was -- I think it was on page 6 of my 
 
         19   Surrebuttal.  Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     And I believe at the bottom of page 6 you say, 
 
         21   The low-usage customers on Atmos's system are most likely 
 
         22   customers using Atmos' distribution system to do things like 
 
         23   fuel for gas fireplace logs, cook on a gas stove or use a gas 
 
         24   water heater; is that correct? 
 
         25           A.     That's correct. 
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          1           Q.     And that would be -- the actual average usage 
 
          2   for those uses would be reflected on your table that's 
 
          3   contained on page 6 of your testimony there up above? 
 
          4           A.     I'm sorry.  Could you -- could you repeat 
 
          5   that? 
 
          6           Q.     Yeah.  The annual consumption for those 
 
          7   specific types of usages, the gas fireplace, the stove for 
 
          8   cooking, would be reflected on your table.  Is that what 
 
          9   you're trying to show there? 
 
         10           A.     On the -- the -- the second table that says, 
 
         11   End use? 
 
         12           Q.     Yes. 
 
         13           A.     Yes.  Yes.  Those are estimates, but -- but 
 
         14   that's correct. 
 
         15           Q.     For a customer that only used a gas fireplace 
 
         16   and had only annual use of 84 CCFs per year, under the company 
 
         17   or the -- or the Staff's delivery charge, how would that 
 
         18   impact a customer like that? 
 
         19           A.     It would increase their -- the amount they 
 
         20   paid. 
 
         21           Q.     And why would that be? 
 
         22           A.     Because at the current time, they're not 
 
         23   paying enough to cover their cost of service and the delivery 
 
         24   charge is meant to take them up to the cost of serving them. 
 
         25           Q.     Would it be correct to say then that they're 
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          1   being subsidized today? 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     Is that -- 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay. 
 
          6                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, this is clearly 
 
          7   friendly cross.  Both of these parties are on the same side of 
 
          8   the page on this issue and we have objection to that. 
 
          9                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I would just like to weigh 
 
         10   in on that.  I think we covered that objection on day one of 
 
         11   our hearing.  There has been no order from the Commission 
 
         12   prohibiting cross-examination of company witness -- or the 
 
         13   company cross-examining the Staff witness. 
 
         14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I do believe that I had sort 
 
         15   of led into the original questions that Mr. Fischer was asking 
 
         16   about the difference between -- and there is a position 
 
         17   difference sort of between the sculpting rates and the others, 
 
         18   so those are certainly proper. 
 
         19                  I will ask Mr. Fischer to not make questions 
 
         20   repetitive of the testimony that are in the record, but 
 
         21   Mr. Berlin is correct, there's been no limiting order on 
 
         22   friendly cross-examination that's just simply unnecessary. 
 
         23   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         24           Q.     To the extent -- to the extent that the 
 
         25   company's delivery charge that is sculpted is different from 
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          1   the Staff's flat delivery charge, would the effect on a 
 
          2   low-use customer like a gas fireplace log be any different? 
 
          3           A.     On an annual basis, no. 
 
          4           Q.     Okay. 
 
          5                  MR. FISCHER:  I think that's all I have, your 
 
          6   Honor.  Thank you. 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 
 
          8   cross-examination from Public Counsel? 
 
          9                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 
 
         10   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         11           Q.     Ms. Ross, I'd like to start by discussing the 
 
         12   impacts of your proposal to decouple rates for Atmos.  Do you 
 
         13   know currently what percentage that most customers pay for the 
 
         14   fixed element versus the volumetric element for the non-gas 
 
         15   portion of their rates? 
 
         16           A.     No. 
 
         17           Q.     In your surrebuttal you responded to Public 
 
         18   Counsel's evidence showing the low-use customers would see 
 
         19   52 to 173 percent increase under your proposal.  And you have 
 
         20   three general responses; is that correct?  I believe it's 
 
         21   page 3. 
 
         22           A.     Page 3.  Yes. 
 
         23           Q.     And first, you highlight that 
 
         24   Ms. Meisenheimer's schedule is based on two years of data 
 
         25   rather than one year; is that correct? 
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          1           A.     Yes. 
 
          2           Q.     And do you know where Ms. Meisenheimer 
 
          3   obtained the two-year data for her schedule? 
 
          4           A.     I believe that she -- offhand, no, I don't. 
 
          5           Q.     Looking at that, is that the same data you 
 
          6   obtained -- that you obtained in a data request to Atmos?  Is 
 
          7   that similar data at least, if you don't know if that's the 
 
          8   exact data? 
 
          9           A.     I would need to look at that to -- 
 
         10           Q.     That's not necessary.  Do you believe using 
 
         11   less than all available data and extracting a year's worth of 
 
         12   data would have yielded different percentages? 
 
         13           A.     I'm sorry.  I don't understand your question. 
 
         14           Q.     I guess your criticism is that she used two 
 
         15   years of data rather than one year of data; is that correct? 
 
         16           A.     Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     And would using just one year of data have 
 
         18   yielded a different percentage? 
 
         19           A.     No, it would not. 
 
         20           Q.     Do you mean on average? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     Turning to your Schedule 1 from your 
 
         23   surrebuttal, which I believe has been corrected and is now 
 
         24   Exhibit 137, okay, why did you select 200 CCFs per year as the 
 
         25   low end? 
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          1           A.     We just wanted to run this at various usage 
 
          2   levels and that was arbitrary. 
 
          3           Q.     Have you done any studies to determine the 
 
          4   number of Atmos customers using less than 200 CCFs per year? 
 
          5           A.     No, I have not. 
 
          6           Q.     Do you know how many Atmos customers fall into 
 
          7   each of your different usage amount categories? 
 
          8           A.     No, I do not.  Not -- not in these categories. 
 
          9   I do have some information as to larger categories. 
 
         10           Q.     And turning back to that table that 
 
         11   Mr. Fischer was asking you about on page 6 of your 
 
         12   surrebuttal, your table shows a four-person home using gas for 
 
         13   water heating only would consume approximately 288 CCFs. 
 
         14   Correct? 
 
         15           A.     That's correct. 
 
         16           Q.     If a single ratepayer living alone in a 
 
         17   one-bedroom apartment used gas for water heating only would 
 
         18   you estimate her water heating consumption to be about a 
 
         19   fourth of that? 
 
         20           A.     No. 
 
         21           Q.     And please explain. 
 
         22           A.     I don't think it would be a fourth.  It 
 
         23   wouldn't be this high.  I don't know where it would be, but I 
 
         24   don't think that they use exactly a fourth of the hot water as 
 
         25   a four-person household. 
 
 
 

620 of 1082



 
                                                                      309 
 
 
 
          1           Q.     What would you estimate?  Would you estimate 
 
          2   it to be under 100? 
 
          3                  MR. BERLIN:  Objection.  I think he's calling 
 
          4   for the witness to speculate.  She's already answered that she 
 
          5   doesn't know the question -- know the answer to the question. 
 
          6                  MR. POSTON:  I'm asking her to estimate based 
 
          7   on the data she's reviewed.  I'm not asking her to speculate. 
 
          8                  THE WITNESS:  I'm trying to remember because 
 
          9   I -- 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Wait just a moment, Ms. Ross. 
 
         11   I'll overrule the objection.  Let her estimate, if she knows; 
 
         12   if she doesn't know, she can state so. 
 
         13                  THE WITNESS:  I'm trying to remember because I 
 
         14   looked at some information last night at home in another 
 
         15   context that was talking about housing allowances for 
 
         16   Section 8 housing.  And they actually had an estimate in 
 
         17   there, but I don't -- I don't remember what that was. 
 
         18   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         19           Q.     On Thursday, Commissioner Appling raised a 
 
         20   concern about there being a substantial low-income population 
 
         21   of ratepayers in the southeast Missouri area. 
 
         22           A.     Yes. 
 
         23           Q.     Were you here for that? 
 
         24           A.     Yes. 
 
         25           Q.     And have you provided any studies on the 
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          1   impact that your decoupling proposal could or would have on 
 
          2   low-income and perhaps elderly customers that may be on fixed 
 
          3   incomes? 
 
          4           A.     It would have the same impact on those 
 
          5   customers as it would have on any customer. 
 
          6           Q.     Have you provided any studies? 
 
          7           A.     No. 
 
          8           Q.     And what does Schedule 1 to your surrebuttal 
 
          9   show -- corrected Schedule 1, as the annual increase a 
 
         10   low-income -- or low-use customer in Kirksville will expect to 
 
         11   see if the Commission accepts your rate design? 
 
         12           A.     Kirksville.  And when you say "low-use," do 
 
         13   you mean the 200 user? 
 
         14           Q.     Yes. 
 
         15           A.     Okay.  In Kirksville they would see annual 
 
         16   increase of 148.32 and a monthly increase of 12.36. 
 
         17           Q.     And can you tell me where a low-use customer 
 
         18   on a fixed income will find the additional resources to pay 
 
         19   for that increase if the Commission approves your rate design? 
 
         20           A.     No, I cannot. 
 
         21           Q.     With Atmos agreeing to no increase in revenue 
 
         22   in this case, what will this customer be getting in return for 
 
         23   paying $148 more? 
 
         24           A.     The satisfaction of paying the cost to serve 
 
         25   them. 
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          1           Q.     Isn't it true you testified earlier that you 
 
          2   did not know the cost to serve these customers? 
 
          3           A.     Yes. 
 
          4           Q.     Did you consider whether your decoupling 
 
          5   proposal, if approved, could cause a number of low-use 
 
          6   customers to drop off the system if rates go up substantially? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     Did you somehow incorporate those 
 
          9   considerations into your proposal? 
 
         10           A.     No. 
 
         11           Q.     If a customer drops off the system 
 
         12   permanently, how much will Atmos recover from that customer to 
 
         13   pay for the cost of service line and meter that are no longer 
 
         14   in use? 
 
         15           A.     Nothing. 
 
         16           Q.     Would you agree that space heating and water 
 
         17   heating are the primary drivers that encourage a gas utility 
 
         18   to invest in extending its facilities to serve a new 
 
         19   residential facility and not the smaller users? 
 
         20           A.     Could you rephrase that? 
 
         21           Q.     Would you agree that space heating and water 
 
         22   heating are the primary drivers that encourage a gas utility 
 
         23   to invest in extending its facilities to serve a new 
 
         24   residential community and not the smaller users such as gas 
 
         25   fireplaces? 
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          1           A.     A new residential community? 
 
          2           Q.     Yes. 
 
          3           A.     I don't know. 
 
          4           Q.     In your surrebuttal you state that, Where 
 
          5   decoupling causes certain customer bills to increase, Atmos 
 
          6   will have to compete.  Do you agree with that?  You say that I 
 
          7   believe in page 9 of your surrebuttal. 
 
          8           A.     Yes, I did say that. 
 
          9           Q.     And are you referring -- are you referring to 
 
         10   competition with propane? 
 
         11           A.     Competition with propane, competition with 
 
         12   electric. 
 
         13           Q.     And did you do any studies to determine the 
 
         14   cost it would take a customer to switch to a competitor? 
 
         15           A.     No.  Not in this case. 
 
         16           Q.     I'd like to turn to the issue of conservation, 
 
         17   customer conservation, talk about that. 
 
         18           A.     Okay. 
 
         19           Q.     You state in your Direct Testimony that your 
 
         20   decoupling proposal will remove disincentives for Atmos to 
 
         21   encourage conservation and efficiency; is that correct? 
 
         22           A.     That's correct. 
 
         23           Q.     And will there be a cost associated with Atmos 
 
         24   promoting energy conservation and efficiency? 
 
         25           A.     It's my understanding that Atmos has agreed to 
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          1   promote efficiency, perform audits -- 
 
          2           Q.     That's not my question.  My question is, will 
 
          3   there be a cost associated with these things? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay.  And who will pay that cost? 
 
          6           A.     At this -- during -- under the Atmos proposal, 
 
          7   Atmos will. 
 
          8           Q.     Has Staff made attempts prior to this case to 
 
          9   encourage Atmos to promote energy efficiency and conservation? 
 
         10           A.     This is the first Atmos case -- this is the 
 
         11   first time Atmos has come in for a rate case. 
 
         12           Q.     Does that mean no -- 
 
         13           A.     No. 
 
         14           Q.     -- Staff has not made attempts? 
 
         15                  And do you believe that removing a 
 
         16   disincentive to encourage conservation and efficiencies 
 
         17   achieves the same result as trading an incentive? 
 
         18           A.     Absent knowing what that incentive would be, I 
 
         19   don't know. 
 
         20           Q.     I'd like to turn to page 8 of your 
 
         21   surrebuttal.  And there's a question that asks you, What are 
 
         22   your comments on these bill reduction techniques?  You're 
 
         23   responding to Ms. Meisenheimer.  Could you please read your 
 
         24   sentence that begins at line -- on line 6 and ends on line 8, 
 
         25   that sentence? 
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          1           A.     The suggestion that customers can lower their 
 
          2   bills by reducing consumption ignores the fact that many 
 
          3   customers have already lowered their bills as much as they 
 
          4   possibly can using current information and resources that are 
 
          5   available to them. 
 
          6           Q.     Would you agree that customers -- that many 
 
          7   customers have not lowered their bills as much as they 
 
          8   possibly can? 
 
          9           A.     Yes, I could agree with that. 
 
         10           Q.     Do most Atmos' customers have their 
 
         11   thermostats set as low as they will go? 
 
         12           A.     I do not know. 
 
         13           Q.     Do most Atmos' customers have their homes as 
 
         14   insulated as possible? 
 
         15           A.     I do not know. 
 
         16           Q.     And do most Atmos' customers have the most 
 
         17   efficient appliances? 
 
         18           A.     I don't know. 
 
         19           Q.     And you state, I believe it's the same page, 
 
         20   that a customer can still benefit from conservation under your 
 
         21   decoupling proposal by savings on the gas cost portion of the 
 
         22   bill.  Correct? 
 
         23           A.     That is correct. 
 
         24           Q.     And would you agree that all else equal, the 
 
         25   greater the percentage of gas cost that is tied to usage, the 
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          1   greater the customer's reward would be for conservation? 
 
          2           A.     If you mean -- do you mean the greater the 
 
          3   percentage of gas cost or the greater the percentage of 
 
          4   volumetric cost? 
 
          5           Q.     The greater the portion of the customer's bill 
 
          6   that is tied to -- tied to a volumetric piece, the higher that 
 
          7   is, then the greater their ability to see conservation or see 
 
          8   a bill reduction from their conservation efforts? 
 
          9           A.     That is correct. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  Would you agree that a customer 
 
         11   practicing energy conservation today would see a higher 
 
         12   percentage of savings from the gas cost portion of their bill 
 
         13   than they would have 10 years ago? 
 
         14           A.     Yes, I agree. 
 
         15           Q.     And is that because while the gas cost portion 
 
         16   was rising, the non-gas cost portion of the bill was not 
 
         17   changing equally? 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     And while gas costs were rising, have the 
 
         20   non-gas costs been decreasing, increasing or remaining 
 
         21   relatively the same? 
 
         22           A.     For this company, they've been remaining 
 
         23   relatively the same since they haven't been in for a rate 
 
         24   increase. 
 
         25           Q.     And what impact would that have on the dollar 
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          1   savings, not percentages, that a customer would see on the 
 
          2   non-gas portion of their bill from conservation? 
 
          3           A.     I -- I'm not sure I follow your question. 
 
          4           Q.     Well, you're saying that the non-gas portion 
 
          5   of the bill's going to remain relatively the same.  So to the 
 
          6   extent today a customer has the ability to see savings on the 
 
          7   non-gas portion based on conservation, what impact does the 
 
          8   non-gas portion remaining the same have on the customer's 
 
          9   ability to see conservation benefits? 
 
         10           A.     Mr. Poston, I still don't quite understand 
 
         11   what you're asking. 
 
         12           Q.     Okay.  You've testified that the non-gas 
 
         13   portion of the bill has been relatively the same.  Correct? 
 
         14           A.     Correct.  In dollar terms, yes. 
 
         15           Q.     So a customer conserving, say, 10 years ago 
 
         16   and practicing the same conservation practices today, would 
 
         17   the dollar amount savings that they experience be about the 
 
         18   same? 
 
         19           A.     On the non-gas portion of their bill? 
 
         20           Q.     Right. 
 
         21           A.     That is correct. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  You state in your testimony that a 
 
         23   customer may believe it's -- may believe it is unfair that 
 
         24   part of their bill does not decrease when usage decreases 
 
         25   whether it's due to conservation or warm weather; is that 
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          1   correct? 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     And why would customers believe this is 
 
          4   unfair? 
 
          5           A.     I believe that there will always be resistance 
 
          6   to change.  They might believe that it's unfair because 
 
          7   they're paying the same amount for their delivery service 
 
          8   as -- than they were paying before if -- when they used larger 
 
          9   volumes of gas.  If they don't understand the nature of the 
 
         10   delivery service, then they might think that's unfair. 
 
         11           Q.     Okay.  I'd like to move away from the 
 
         12   conservation and talk about traditional -- your criticisms of 
 
         13   traditional rate design.  And are you familiar with Atmos's 
 
         14   current rate design? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay.  And could you please explain? 
 
         17           A.     Atmos currently has a two-part rate design. 
 
         18   They collect part of their revenues through a fixed charge, a 
 
         19   customer charge, and the other part of their non-gas costs 
 
         20   through volumetric rate. 
 
         21           Q.     And that's a traditional type of rate design? 
 
         22           A      Yes, that's traditional. 
 
         23           Q.     And can you please explain why rate design 
 
         24   traditionally has included a volumetric element in the non-gas 
 
         25   rate? 
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          1           A.     It's my understanding that in the past when 
 
          2   the non-gas portion of the bill was more important, was a 
 
          3   higher percentage of the bill, that that was an attempt to 
 
          4   encourage conservation. 
 
          5           Q.     Isn't it true that under traditional rate 
 
          6   design, rates are normalized for weather so that in the long 
 
          7   term, the weather impact on usage will level out and offer no 
 
          8   benefits on either the customer or the company? 
 
          9           A.     In the long term, that's true. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  And you say in your testimony that the 
 
         11   long-term impact of traditional rate design is that everybody 
 
         12   losses whether usage is more than expected or less than 
 
         13   expected; is that correct? 
 
         14           A.     I'm sorry.  Let me look at that.  That's in my 
 
         15   direct, isn't it? 
 
         16           Q.     Direct, I believe page 12 or 13. 
 
         17           A.     Yes, I did say that. 
 
         18           Q.     Do you agree with that? 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     Did Staff determine in this case that Atmos is 
 
         21   not recovering its cost of service -- or its cost of serving 
 
         22   its customers? 
 
         23           A.     No, they did not. 
 
         24           Q.     Did Staff's testimony conclude that there's 
 
         25   evidence of earning erosion for Atmos? 
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          1           A.     No.  Not that I know of. 
 
          2           Q.     Did Staff's testimony conclude that the 
 
          3   financial health of Atmos is suffering? 
 
          4           A.     That -- I can't answer that question. 
 
          5           Q.     How will Atmos lose if they over-collect, keep 
 
          6   the excess and then are ordered to reduce rates to just and 
 
          7   reasonable levels? 
 
          8           A.     In the context that I was using in here, they 
 
          9   would lose because they had to give the money back if rates 
 
         10   are being lowered to just and reasonable levels. 
 
         11           Q.     And do you know if the Commission relied on 
 
         12   cost studies when it approved the rate design currently in 
 
         13   effect? 
 
         14           A.     Not for all of Atmos's districts.  It's my 
 
         15   understanding that Greeley was the -- the rates for Greeley 
 
         16   were set in an application case. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  For the other six districts, it's your 
 
         18   testimony the Commission did rely on cost studies to set those 
 
         19   rates? 
 
         20           A.     I believe that those rates were all the result 
 
         21   of negotiated settlements.  So to the extent that the 
 
         22   Commission approved those, then yes. 
 
         23           Q.     Do you have reason to believe there was no 
 
         24   cost justification for the Commission when it ordered the 
 
         25   current rate design for Atmos's predecessor companies? 
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          1           A.     I'm not sure how to answer that.  When I 
 
          2   looked back at some of the old cases, I couldn't find a cost 
 
          3   of service study that -- that the rates were definitely set 
 
          4   on.  So, again, I believe that they were somewhere in the 
 
          5   range of reasonableness. 
 
          6           Q.     In your Rebuttal Testimony, page 8 and 9, you 
 
          7   include a table that you claim shows an inequity between 
 
          8   different districts under the current rate design; is that 
 
          9   correct? 
 
         10           A.     Yes. 
 
         11           Q.     And where in your table do you show the cost 
 
         12   to serve each district? 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm sorry, Mr. Poston.  What 
 
         14   page was that? 
 
         15                  MR. POSTON:  Page 8, rebuttal.  Bottom of 
 
         16   page 8, top of page 9. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Go ahead. 
 
         18                  MR. BERLIN:  What testimony? 
 
         19                  MR. POSTON:  Rebuttal. 
 
         20                  THE WITNESS:  Could you repeat your question? 
 
         21   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         22           Q.     Where in your table do you show the cost to 
 
         23   serve each district? 
 
         24           A.     I guess my answer would be to that that I 
 
         25   don't.  I'm basing it on current rates. 
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          1           Q.     Following that table, you say that you've not 
 
          2   seen any justification for this level of cost differential. 
 
          3           A.     I have not. 
 
          4           Q.     Okay.  And what cost differential are you 
 
          5   referring to if you haven't identified the costs? 
 
          6           A.     Perhaps I should have said this level of 
 
          7   revenue differential.  I can't imagine that it costs -- for 
 
          8   example, if you look at the Kirksville/Hannibal district, I 
 
          9   can't believe that it costs about twice as much to serve a 
 
         10   customer in the Hannibal/Canton/Bowling Green district as it 
 
         11   does to serve a customer in the Kirksville district. 
 
         12           Q.     And you're basing that upon? 
 
         13           A.     Experience. 
 
         14           Q.     Just your belief? 
 
         15           A.     My belief. 
 
         16           Q.     Experience? 
 
         17           A.     I talked to our gas safety people, asked the 
 
         18   type of equipment, you know, that a residential customer has 
 
         19   on them in these various districts and it sounds largely the 
 
         20   same. 
 
         21           Q.     And also in your Rebuttal Testimony, I'll move 
 
         22   you back to page 12, you say, The traditional rate design 
 
         23   proposed -- or endorsed by Public Counsel does not do anything 
 
         24   to address the provisions of Senate Bill 179; is that correct? 
 
         25           A.     That is correct. 
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          1           Q.     And you say, The legislature has spoken 
 
          2   through this Senate bill that revenue stability is desirable 
 
          3   for Missouri LDCs; is that correct? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Have you read Senate Bill 179? 
 
          6           A.     Yes, I have. 
 
          7           Q.     Did the legislature say revenue decoupling is 
 
          8   desirable? 
 
          9           A.     I would have to look back at it to see exactly 
 
         10   what they said, exactly how they put it. 
 
         11                  MR. POSTON:  May I approach? 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 
 
         13   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         14           Q.     Can you please identify what I've just handed 
 
         15   you? 
 
         16           A.     This is a copy of the Missouri Revised 
 
         17   Statutes, Chapter 386, Public Service Commission, section 3-- 
 
         18                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I don't have a copy of 
 
         19   that, what he just handed the witness. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston, can you -- 
 
         21                  THE WITNESS:  -- Section 386.266. 
 
         22                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, perhaps we could just take 
 
         23   a quick break and get some copies made if he's going to ask 
 
         24   her a line of questioning. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Are you about to ask Ms. Ross 
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          1   about a statute? 
 
          2                  MR. POSTON:  She's testified in her testimony 
 
          3   about saying the Public Counsel has not considered Senate 
 
          4   Bill 179.  And I just wanted to point out a few provisions in 
 
          5   there.  I mean, it could be just a matter of me just pointing 
 
          6   one out, if that's -- 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm just questioning whether 
 
          8   that's not better pointed out in your brief than on the 
 
          9   witness stand. 
 
         10                  MR. POSTON:  That's fine. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         12   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         13           Q.     Okay.  I'd like to move away from the 
 
         14   residential -- so we're almost done -- and talk about the 
 
         15   other classes. 
 
         16           A.     Okay. 
 
         17           Q.     And you filed testimony in MGE's rate case. 
 
         18   Correct? 
 
         19           A.     That is -- 
 
         20           Q.     GR-2006-0422? 
 
         21           A.     That is correct. 
 
         22           Q.     And did you propose your decoupling rate 
 
         23   design for MGE's small general service class? 
 
         24           A.     I believe -- 
 
         25                  MR. BERLIN:  Objection.  Counsel's question 
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          1   calls for an answer to a case that's currently under 
 
          2   litigation right now and those parties are not present. 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm going to overrule that. 
 
          4   There was testimony -- I thought there was testimony provided 
 
          5   about MGE comparing from Staff not in Ms. Ross's testimony. 
 
          6   I'm sorry.  Mr. Berlin, restate your objection. 
 
          7                  MR. BERLIN:  Well, Judge, my objection is 
 
          8   based on that the MGE rate case is a case that is currently 
 
          9   being litigated before the Commission.  I think it's 
 
         10   irrelevant to this proceeding, number one; and number two, any 
 
         11   questions regarding the MGE rate case I believe would require 
 
         12   that those parties in that case be present so that any 
 
         13   questions regarding that litigated case might be answered by 
 
         14   those parties. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Well, I don't know what 
 
         16   Mr. Poston's question was going to be yet to determine whether 
 
         17   or not it's relevant, but I don't believe it's necessary to 
 
         18   have the other parties to the case present.  If there's some 
 
         19   notice, some -- if some substantive issue comes about that 
 
         20   needs to be notified to the other parties in that case so that 
 
         21   they can respond in that case, the Commission can make such 
 
         22   notice available, but it will be in the transcript. 
 
         23                  So I'm going to overrule the objection.  I'll 
 
         24   let you make an objection regarding relevance once I hear the 
 
         25   question. 
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          1   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
          2           Q.     In the MGE case, did you propose your 
 
          3   decoupling rate design for MGE's small general service 
 
          4   customers? 
 
          5           A.     I'll be honest -- 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  Your Honor, I still have to 
 
          7   object.  I just don't -- that simply is not relevant to this 
 
          8   rate case proceeding. 
 
          9                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, if I may respond. 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston. 
 
         11                  MR. POSTON:  To the extent that Staff did not 
 
         12   propose the same rate design for small general service in that 
 
         13   case, we believe the Commission and the parties here should 
 
         14   understand why. 
 
         15                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, each case comes -- each 
 
         16   case comes to this Commission on its own merits.  This is a 
 
         17   rather unique case, as I indicated in my opening statement and 
 
         18   the opening statement of the parties.  And I still don't see 
 
         19   how what Staff may recommend or may not have recommended in a 
 
         20   case that is currently being litigated right now before the 
 
         21   Commission has any relevance whatsoever to this particular 
 
         22   proceeding.  I have to object on the record strenuously that 
 
         23   MGE be left out of this case. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I don't believe that 
 
         25   anything -- I mean, that case isn't final, it's obviously 
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          1   not -- nothing is final with regard to Staff's position in 
 
          2   that case; however, I believe it might be relevant with regard 
 
          3   to the fact that this -- the history of these cases comes 
 
          4   about at the Commission. 
 
          5                  So I'm going to allow her to answer but the 
 
          6   weight of that will go toward -- I mean the relevance of that 
 
          7   will go toward the weight of the evidence.  Go ahead, 
 
          8   Mr. Poston -- or, Ms. Ross, you can answer his question. 
 
          9                  THE WITNESS:  I have filed so much testimony 
 
         10   in the last two months that I would actually need to go back 
 
         11   to my MGE testimony and look at it.  I think I know why, but 
 
         12   I'd like to review my testimony before I answer. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Are you stating you don't know 
 
         14   the answer? 
 
         15                  THE WITNESS:  Offhand.  I think I know the 
 
         16   answer, but I -- I would hate to say it under oath. 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, if she's being required to 
 
         18   answer that question, then I would ask that we take a break 
 
         19   and that she be given the opportunity to review that 
 
         20   testimony.  If this is the road we're going to go down, then I 
 
         21   believe she needs to be prepared to answer those questions. 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston, do you have a line 
 
         23   of questions on this topic or is your -- 
 
         24                  MR. POSTON:  No. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- question did they offer 
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          1   this decoupling mechanism in the MGE case? 
 
          2                  MR. POSTON:  Yes.  And I was going to then 
 
          3   just follow up, just with -- ask for an explanation as to why 
 
          4   that was not offered in that case. 
 
          5                  MR. BERLIN:  Your Honor, I think that -- if I 
 
          6   understand the point he's trying to make, I think he can 
 
          7   certainly ask questions in a manner that leaves MGE out of 
 
          8   this proceeding. 
 
          9                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'm not trying to 
 
         10   pull MGE into this case.  I'm just trying to understand if 
 
         11   perhaps there were problems with that proposal that they 
 
         12   identified between the time they filed this case and MGE that 
 
         13   perhaps should be brought to light and if those were the 
 
         14   reasons why they did not propose the same thing. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'm going to ask you to 
 
         16   continue with your other questions and we will let Ms. Ross 
 
         17   refresh her memory with regard to her testimony in MGE -- or 
 
         18   proposed testimony, which I'm not even sure what the status of 
 
         19   it is, but let's continue on with your other questions and 
 
         20   come back to this issue. 
 
         21   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  In your Direct Testimony, you discuss 
 
         23   Staff's proposal to break the current small general service 
 
         24   into two services by adding a medium general service. 
 
         25   Correct? 
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          1           A.     Yes, that's correct. 
 
          2           Q.     And you chose 2,000 CCFs as a dividing line? 
 
          3           A.     Yes. 
 
          4           Q.     And your reasoning is that the meter regulator 
 
          5   and service line installed in the customer's premise would 
 
          6   most likely have been larger if the customer was using more 
 
          7   than 2,000 CCFs? 
 
          8           A.     Could you point me to what you're looking at? 
 
          9           Q.     I believe direct, page 6. 
 
         10           A.     Six.  Yes, that's what I said. 
 
         11           Q.     And you used the term "most likely" because 
 
         12   not all equipment installed would follow this strict dividing 
 
         13   line? 
 
         14           A.     I believe that there could be exceptions.  I'm 
 
         15   not sure what would drive the exception in general.  I believe 
 
         16   that -- that they are the same size and that -- that that's a 
 
         17   pretty good dividing line. 
 
         18           Q.     So there could be small general service 
 
         19   customers using more than 2,000 CCFs per year that actually 
 
         20   have a residential type meter? 
 
         21           A.     Only if they had a load factor that was 
 
         22   different from the residential load factor so they -- so they 
 
         23   weren't peaking in the winter and -- they could have the -- 
 
         24   about the same usage if -- or a higher usage if they were 
 
         25   using it steadily all year.  My -- I looked at the load 
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          1   factors of the two groups though and they were -- they were 
 
          2   very close, the residential and the small general service, the 
 
          3   small, small general service. 
 
          4           Q.     So did you do a study to determine how many 
 
          5   customers, under your proposal to divide the small general 
 
          6   service class, would actually pay for larger equipment than 
 
          7   employed to provide service to that customer? 
 
          8           A.     No, I did not. 
 
          9           Q.     And have you submitted any data to show 
 
         10   whether this 2,000 CCF dividing line was followed by Greeley 
 
         11   Gas, United Cities Gas and Associated Natural Gas Company? 
 
         12           A.     I'm sorry.  Could you -- I didn't understand. 
 
         13           Q.     Have you submitted any data in this case to 
 
         14   show whether this 2,000 CCF dividing line was followed by the 
 
         15   three predecessor companies? 
 
         16           A.     No, I have not. 
 
         17           Q.     And what is your recommendation for the 
 
         18   customer charge for the medium general service and large 
 
         19   general service customer? 
 
         20           A.     I believe that in her Surrebuttal Testimony, 
 
         21   Ms. Jackson identified a customer charge of -- I'd have to 
 
         22   look.  Let me look before I say.  I called you Ms. Jackson, 
 
         23   didn't I?  Ms. Childers.  I think it was around $75. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay. 
 
         25           A.     So that would be -- 
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          1           Q.     That's your recommendation? 
 
          2           A.     That would be my recommendation. 
 
          3                  MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank you. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  We will come back 
 
          5   to the other cross-examination question after we've had a 
 
          6   break.  Are there questions for this witness on rate design 
 
          7   from Commissioner Gaw? 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  A few. 
 
          9   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         10           Q.     Ms. Ross, when did you prepare your original 
 
         11   testimony for this case? 
 
         12           A.     My Direct Testimony? 
 
         13           Q.     Your original testimony, yes. 
 
         14           A.     In September 2006. 
 
         15           Q.     All right.  And in regard to the rate design 
 
         16   issue on the Staff's position on placing all of the charges of 
 
         17   the LDC, other than the PGA charges, into a fixed rate charge 
 
         18   for residential consumers, did you decide on that part of your 
 
         19   testimony alone? 
 
         20           A.     Oh, no. 
 
         21           Q.     You consulted with others? 
 
         22           A.     Yes.  We had several Staff discussions. 
 
         23           Q.     All right.  And this position of Staff in this 
 
         24   case in regard to the issue, the customer charge, is this the 
 
         25   first time that Staff has taken this position in regard to 
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          1   placing all of the costs in a fixed charge? 
 
          2           A.     As far as I know, yes. 
 
          3           Q.     And is it the only time Staff has taken the 
 
          4   position since?  Has there been any other case where Staff has 
 
          5   taken this position? 
 
          6           A.     This is the same as my position in the MGE 
 
          7   case. 
 
          8           Q.     And when was the MGE -- when was your 
 
          9   testimony in the MGE case prepared? 
 
         10           A.     I -- I couldn't give you a date with -- 
 
         11           Q.     Was it prior to or subsequent to -- 
 
         12           A.     Subsequent to. 
 
         13           Q.     -- the preparation in this case? 
 
         14           A.     Subsequent.  It was after this. 
 
         15           Q.     And can you tell me, do you know who made the 
 
         16   decision on Staff's part, who had the authority to make the 
 
         17   decision on Staff's part as to your position in this case? 
 
         18           A.     Yes, sir.  It was the division directors. 
 
         19           Q.     Who is that? 
 
         20           A.     Bob Schallenberg, Warren Wood. 
 
         21           Q.     And have they filed any testimony in this 
 
         22   case? 
 
         23           A.     No. 
 
         24           Q.     Are you familiar with whether they had any 
 
         25   discussions with anyone above them in regard to this change of 
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          1   position? 
 
          2           A.     I do not know. 
 
          3           Q.     And are they present in the building today? 
 
          4           A.     I don't know. 
 
          5           Q.     I'll ask counsel in a moment then. 
 
          6                  Can you tell me, to the extent that you know, 
 
          7   whether Staff has taken positions in cases in the past in 
 
          8   opposition to the position that the Staff now takes in this 
 
          9   case regarding this issue of placing all of these costs into a 
 
         10   fixed charge? 
 
         11           A.     Yes.  I believe that we would have in the last 
 
         12   MGE case. 
 
         13           Q.     And do you know whether, in fact, the Staff 
 
         14   has taken positions in other cases in opposition to this 
 
         15   position besides the one that you just stated? 
 
         16           A.     I do not know. 
 
         17           Q.     And who would know the answer to that, 
 
         18   Ms. Ross? 
 
         19           A.     I think Warren -- Warren Wood or Bob 
 
         20   Schallenberg would definitely know the answer to that. 
 
         21           Q.     And are you familiar with the rationale of 
 
         22   previous Staff witnesses who have testified on this subject 
 
         23   who have testified in opposition to the position that Staff 
 
         24   now takes in this case? 
 
         25           A.     When you say "rationale," do you mean their 
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          1   stated reasons, their thinking process? 
 
          2           Q.     Are there other reasons that aren't stated as 
 
          3   an explanation for why Staff takes positions in cases like 
 
          4   this, Ms. Ross?  Is it possible that there are other reasons 
 
          5   besides those stated by Staff in this case for Staff switching 
 
          6   or flip-flopping its position in regard to this issue in this 
 
          7   case? 
 
          8           A.     I'm sorry, sir.  I don't -- I can't answer 
 
          9   that. 
 
         10           Q.     You can't answer it because you don't know or 
 
         11   you can't answer it because of other reasons? 
 
         12           A.     Oh, because I don't know. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay. 
 
         14           A.     Maybe perhaps I don't understand. 
 
         15           Q.     Well, you raised the issue -- you raised the 
 
         16   issue.  You suggested, as I understood it, that there were 
 
         17   other reasons that might not be stated for Staff taking a 
 
         18   position.  I'm just trying to understand what you meant by 
 
         19   that. 
 
         20           A.     Oh, no.  I don't know that. 
 
         21           Q.     You don't know what? 
 
         22           A.     That -- that there are other -- I'm trying to 
 
         23   remember how you said it.  That there are reasons other than 
 
         24   the ones stated that Staff would take that position. 
 
         25           Q.     So you don't know if that might be the case? 
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          1           A.     I do not know. 
 
          2           Q.     Were there discussions about the rationale for 
 
          3   changing Staff's position in this case among Staff? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     And can you tell me whether or not you 
 
          6   included all of those reasons in your testimony? 
 
          7           A.     To the best of my ability, I think so.  There 
 
          8   were -- there were so many -- after we had talked about this 
 
          9   for some time, there were -- there were a lot of reasons that 
 
         10   I believe that this is a good position. 
 
         11           Q.     Why don't you list them for me right now? 
 
         12           A.     Okay.  I think it's fair.  I do think that it 
 
         13   costs the same to -- to serve two residential customers 
 
         14   regardless of what their -- 
 
         15           Q.     So your position that Staff took in the past, 
 
         16   that it was unfair, you disagree with now? 
 
         17           A.     Yes.  I disagree that it's unfair, yes. 
 
         18           Q.     Did Staff take the position that it was unfair 
 
         19   in the past? 
 
         20           A.     Not that I know of. 
 
         21           Q.     And you're familiar with how many cases, 
 
         22   Ms. Ross, where testimony was filed on this issue in the past? 
 
         23           A.     One. 
 
         24           Q.     But you believe there to be multiple cases 
 
         25   where Staff took position in opposition to this position that 
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          1   you're taking in this case.  Correct? 
 
          2           A.     No.  That's -- 
 
          3           Q.     You don't know the answer to that question? 
 
          4           A.     I don't know the answer to that question. 
 
          5           Q.     Have you done no research as to Staff's prior 
 
          6   position on this issue regarding its filings in front of this 
 
          7   Commission? 
 
          8           A.     I have -- I have -- myself, I have not done 
 
          9   that analysis.  As I said, we talked about this numerous times 
 
         10   amongst Staff. 
 
         11           Q.     You're the only witness for Staff filing 
 
         12   testimony on this position.  Correct? 
 
         13           A.     That's correct. 
 
         14           Q.     And yet you have done no research in regard to 
 
         15   the long history that Staff would have had on this issue in 
 
         16   the past to assist this Commission in explaining the Staff's 
 
         17   change of position from its past positions on this issue? 
 
         18           A.     Sir, I've been here 17 years and I can only 
 
         19   remember it coming up one time before. 
 
         20           Q.     So there are many cases where Staff has taken 
 
         21   the position where one fixed consumer charge -- customer 
 
         22   charge is appropriate.  Is that what you're suggesting? 
 
         23           A.     Could you repeat that question? 
 
         24           Q.     I'll have it read back. 
 
         25                  THE COURT REPORTER:  "Question:  So there are 
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          1   many cases where Staff has taken the position where one fixed 
 
          2   consumer charge -- customer charge is appropriate.  Is that 
 
          3   what you're suggesting?" 
 
          4                  THE WITNESS:  No.  This is the first. 
 
          5   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
          6           Q.     This is the first? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     So in the past, Staff has not taken this 
 
          9   position in the 17 years that you have been here; is that 
 
         10   correct? 
 
         11           A.     That is correct. 
 
         12           Q.     So in the past, Staff has taken the position 
 
         13   that that is not the way to handle this particular portion of 
 
         14   the charges for customers; isn't that correct? 
 
         15           A.     I don't know if that follows.  We might have 
 
         16   felt that there were better ways -- 
 
         17           Q.     But you haven't -- 
 
         18           A.     -- at that time. 
 
         19           Q.     -- done any research.  You have not done any 
 
         20   research in order to assist this Commission with the reason 
 
         21   why this Commission might want to change its position on this 
 
         22   issue.  Correct? 
 
         23           A.     That is correct. 
 
         24           Q.     And so if I wanted to ask somebody about the 
 
         25   reason why Staff is taking a position now that was different 
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          1   than what it had taken in the past or the rationale for its 
 
          2   positions in the past, you couldn't help me with that; is that 
 
          3   correct? 
 
          4           A.     I couldn't help you with its rationale for its 
 
          5   positions in the past.  I could tell you why we're taking this 
 
          6   position now. 
 
          7           Q.     That's not what I'm asking you though, is it? 
 
          8           A.     No. 
 
          9           Q.     I'm asking you whether you could help me, and 
 
         10   I think you just answered that and said, no, in regard to 
 
         11   those issues that -- this issue as it has been approached by 
 
         12   Staff in the past.  Correct? 
 
         13           A.     Correct. 
 
         14           Q.     And Staff is offering no other witness for 
 
         15   this Commission to inquire as to what that position has been 
 
         16   in the past.  Correct? 
 
         17           A.     Correct. 
 
         18           Q.     Even though it might appear that Staff is 
 
         19   changing dramatically its position on this issue from what it 
 
         20   has been in the past.  Correct? 
 
         21           A.     That's correct. 
 
         22           Q.     So if I want to find that out, the only way 
 
         23   I'm going to be able to do that is either to just try to sort 
 
         24   through some old cases -- I suppose I could do that.  I could 
 
         25   go back and see -- have somebody research all of the 
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          1   Commission cases where this might have been an issue; is that 
 
          2   true? 
 
          3           A.     Perhaps I'm misunderstanding.  I don't think 
 
          4   that this has been an issue before.  I don't -- I don't think 
 
          5   anyone proposed this so I don't remember there being a lot of 
 
          6   discussion about it. 
 
          7           Q.     You haven't done any research on it though. 
 
          8   You just testified to that; isn't that correct? 
 
          9           A.     I've been here 17 years and I've been involved 
 
         10   in a lot of gas cases.  So, no, I have not done research on 
 
         11   this.  My -- 
 
         12           Q.     You just don't remember, do you, Ms. Ross? 
 
         13   And you haven't done any research on it in preparation for 
 
         14   this testimony; isn't that correct? 
 
         15           A.     It's correct that I haven't done any research 
 
         16   on this, yes. 
 
         17           Q.     And you don't recall whether or not this has 
 
         18   come up before; is that correct? 
 
         19           A.     Not with 100 percent certainty, no. 
 
         20           Q.     So you were listing the reasons why, as I 
 
         21   recall, that this was a good position from Staff's viewpoint 
 
         22   now in opposition to the only case that you recall in the 
 
         23   recent past where the issue has come up.  You said that you 
 
         24   believed it was fair and I believe we got sidetracked.  So 
 
         25   what's the rest of your list of reasons? 
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          1           A.     A big reason that I think this is a good 
 
          2   position is that it removes the disincentive for the companies 
 
          3   to promote conservation.  I've been working with low-income 
 
          4   issues for two or three years now and there's never enough 
 
          5   money to help people pay their bills.  I believe that that -- 
 
          6   that helping people pay their bills is a short-term solution 
 
          7   and it's needed sometimes, but I think we need to move beyond 
 
          8   that and to get to a longer-term solution, which is 
 
          9   conservation. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  What else?  I'm going to come back to 
 
         11   that.  We'll spend a little time on it. 
 
         12           A.     Okay.  Fairness is the big one.  I believe 
 
         13   that there are some subsidiary benefit -- 
 
         14           Q.     You've already said that -- 
 
         15           A.     I have. 
 
         16           Q.     -- one.  I'm just wanting to get your complete 
 
         17   list before I go back and revisit them.  What else?  You said 
 
         18   fairness and you said removing this disincentive for 
 
         19   conservation that the company might otherwise have.  And is 
 
         20   there anything else I should include on that list? 
 
         21           A.     Yes.  I believe that it -- that it works to 
 
         22   spread out the revenues.  It -- it lowers their winter peak. 
 
         23   Not a lot, but some.  I think that's good for customers. 
 
         24           Q.     Anything else? 
 
         25           A.     I'm thinking.  I'm thinking.  I think it sends 
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          1   the correct price signals to customers, especially those that 
 
          2   are looking at coming on the system.  The subsidization, the 
 
          3   cross-subsidization issue, that would be part of the fairness 
 
          4   issue.  Let me look for a second because I do have a list. 
 
          5   That's all that I can come up with right now. 
 
          6           Q.     Okay. 
 
          7           A.     There may be some more in my testimony. 
 
          8           Q.     Well, I'm asking for a complete list.  If you 
 
          9   come up with some before you get down, maybe you could go back 
 
         10   to them. 
 
         11                  Now, let's go back to this question about -- 
 
         12   on this point that you made about spreading out revenues and 
 
         13   lowering the winter peak.  I'm not sure I understand that. 
 
         14   Can you explain that in more detail? 
 
         15           A.     By having a flat charge year-round, it will -- 
 
         16   at the current time, customers pay a lot in their volumetric 
 
         17   rate in the winter just when they're paying a lot for their 
 
         18   gas.  So their -- their winter peak is higher than it would be 
 
         19   if they were paying a flat amount throughout the winter for 
 
         20   their -- for their non-gas -- 
 
         21           Q.     So you -- 
 
         22           A.     -- charges. 
 
         23           Q.     -- were not talking about actually lowering 
 
         24   the amount of gas that was being used during the winter as an 
 
         25   explanation of lowering the peak.  You're talking about 
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          1   lowering the amount of price that a customer might pay at a 
 
          2   particular time of the year? 
 
          3           A.     Yes.  Absent conservation, that is -- 
 
          4           Q.     Your terminology is a little different than 
 
          5   what I'm used to when I'm hearing about lowering peaks so I 
 
          6   wanted to understand what you were saying.  Okay. 
 
          7                  Now, in regard to this position that Staff is 
 
          8   taking, is there anything in your testimony that indicates 
 
          9   that this -- this approach is something that is supported by 
 
         10   anyone in particular?  Are you pointing out anybody else 
 
         11   supporting this position as a rationale for your support of 
 
         12   this new position that Staff is taking? 
 
         13           A.     I -- I'm not sure -- 
 
         14           Q.     Any organizations that might be taking this 
 
         15   position or some entities that you believe may be suggesting 
 
         16   that this is a better approach for regulation? 
 
         17           A.     Oh, yes.  Yes. 
 
         18           Q.     That you cited in your testimony? 
 
         19           A.     There's some that I cited in my testimony. 
 
         20   You can hardly pick up a regulatory magazine without reading 
 
         21   about revenue decoupling. 
 
         22           Q.     Yes.  Most of those revenue decoupling 
 
         23   articles, are they not talking about -- why don't you name the 
 
         24   ones that you've got in your testimony for me, first. 
 
         25           A.     I'm sorry.  Well, I have an article -- I have 
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          1   an article by -- or a -- get the right -- Schedule 3 
 
          2   attachment to my direct is the NARUC Resolution on Energy 
 
          3   Efficiency and Innovative Rate Design. 
 
          4           Q.     What page is that on again? 
 
          5           A.     It's -- it's a schedule attached to my direct. 
 
          6           Q.     What schedule? 
 
          7           A.     3.1, 3.2. 
 
          8           Q.     3.2, is that the one? 
 
          9           A.     It's 3.1 and 3.2, yes. 
 
         10           Q.     Ms. Ross, would it be your understanding that 
 
         11   most of these proposals in regard to decoupling are sung to a 
 
         12   tune that has two parts, one that talks about decoupling and 
 
         13   the other one that talks about conservation? 
 
         14           A.     I'm sorry.  I don't -- what do you mean sung 
 
         15   by a tune that has two parts? 
 
         16           Q.     Maybe I shouldn't be so musical with my 
 
         17   question. 
 
         18                  Let me ask you whether or not it is not true 
 
         19   that when we're talking about decoupling, generally the 
 
         20   discussion includes conservation? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     Isn't that true of this resolution from NARUC? 
 
         23   It does not just talk about the wonders of decoupling.  It 
 
         24   also talks about in order to facilitate conservation; isn't 
 
         25   that correct? 
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          1           A.     Oh, yes.  Yes. 
 
          2           Q.     In fact, decoupling as an issue has arisen 
 
          3   because, in part, of the desire to try to come up with ways to 
 
          4   implement expansive and innovative conservation programs; 
 
          5   isn't that correct? 
 
          6           A.     That's exactly right. 
 
          7           Q.     And, in fact, part of the stumbling block for 
 
          8   getting conservation programs which ought to be done in this 
 
          9   country completed is because utilities seem to resist 
 
         10   conservation programs because they believe -- or seem to be 
 
         11   protecting their self-interest on their bottom line.  And the 
 
         12   thought is that decoupling may assist in lowering that 
 
         13   resistance; isn't that correct? 
 
         14           A.     Sir, I would argue that they're working -- 
 
         15           Q.     Isn't that correct?  I am asking a yes or no 
 
         16   question. 
 
         17                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Could you read the 
 
         18   question back to me, please? 
 
         19                  THE COURT REPORTER:  "Question:  And, in fact, 
 
         20   part of the stumbling block for getting conservation programs 
 
         21   which ought to be done in this country completed is because 
 
         22   utilities seem to resist conservation programs because they 
 
         23   believe -- or seem to be protecting their self-interest on 
 
         24   their bottom line.  And the thought is that decoupling may 
 
         25   assist in lowering that resistance; isn't that correct?" 
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          1                  THE WITNESS:  That is correct. 
 
          2   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
          3           Q.     Okay.  Now, in the articles that you have read 
 
          4   in regard to decoupling, it is true, is it not, that 
 
          5   conservation is always a part of that discussion?  In any of 
 
          6   the articles that you've read, can you name one where that's 
 
          7   not the case? 
 
          8           A.     No, I can't. 
 
          9           Q.     All right.  In this case that's in front of 
 
         10   us, I want you to describe for me in detail all of the 
 
         11   conservation programs that will be implemented as a result of 
 
         12   the adoption of Staff's position on decoupling in this case. 
 
         13   List them for me and give me every detail that you can. 
 
         14           A.     Okay.  Atmos has agreed to put $78,000 into 
 
         15   low-income weatherization. 
 
         16           Q.     $78,000. 
 
         17           A.     78,000. 
 
         18           Q.     How much is that per customer? 
 
         19           A.     2,600, which is the average per household. 
 
         20           Q.     $2,600? 
 
         21           A.     Per household.  And that's the average of the 
 
         22   current -- 
 
         23           Q.     Per customer -- in all of the customers 
 
         24   there's going to be spent $2,600.  What is that, a year, on 
 
         25   all of the customers in Atmos's territory? 
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          1           A.     No.  $78,000 a year on the -- on all of the 
 
          2   customers -- 
 
          3           Q.     My question was, how much does that amount to 
 
          4   per customer, all the customers? 
 
          5           A.     I'd have to -- I don't know. 
 
          6           Q.     You could probably make that calculation.  How 
 
          7   many -- how many -- 
 
          8           A.     I could. 
 
          9           Q.     -- customers does Atmos have? 
 
         10           A.     Let's see.  I don't see my sheet with the 
 
         11   billing determinants on it.  Here we go.  Just a rough 
 
         12   estimate, it looks like they have a little over 50,000 
 
         13   residential customers. 
 
         14           Q.     No, I want to know total of all customers. 
 
         15           A.     I'd have to -- I'd have to sit down and do the 
 
         16   math. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  But you say they have 70,000? 
 
         18           A.     About -- it looks more like in the fifties 
 
         19   just from doing some long division here. 
 
         20           Q.     Fifty -- 50,000 customers? 
 
         21           A.     Uh-huh. 
 
         22           Q.     And they're spending 2,600? 
 
         23           A.     2,600 for 30 customers. 
 
         24           Q.     No, no.  Well, okay.  But 2,600 divided by 
 
         25   50,000 would be how much approximately, do you know? 
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          1           A.     I should. 
 
          2           Q.     Well, I wouldn't expect you to do this in your 
 
          3   head.  If you have calculator -- I'm hearing that maybe it's 
 
          4   78,000 total, but if you can't check that out, that's -- 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I just want to clarify because 
 
          6   I got a little confused.  Ms. Ross, did you say that you 
 
          7   thought there was approximately 50,000 customers system-wide? 
 
          8                  THE WITNESS:  50,000 residential customers 
 
          9   over that, yes. 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Residential customers. 
 
         11                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Yes. 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And you testified that the 
 
         13   first dollar amount was 78,000 was what the company was 
 
         14   proposing? 
 
         15                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  For low -- for low-income 
 
         16   weatherization program. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And that's for 30 households 
 
         18   at $2,600 per household? 
 
         19                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Just wanted to make 
 
         21   sure I had all the numbers straight. 
 
         22   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         23           Q.     So $78,000 total? 
 
         24           A.     Yes. 
 
         25           Q.     As you say, there's about 50,000 residential 
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          1   customers? 
 
          2           A.     Yeah. 
 
          3           Q.     And so if I excluded all the other customers 
 
          4   and just focused on residential, would it sound accurate that 
 
          5   that would amount to about $1.56 maybe -- $1.56 per customer? 
 
          6           A.     Per year. 
 
          7           Q.     Per year? 
 
          8           A.     Yes. 
 
          9           Q.     But that's only going to be used on 
 
         10   30 customers? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     What else? 
 
         13           A.     Atmos has also agreed to do a residential 
 
         14   audit program, efficiency audit program for all customers, not 
 
         15   just low-income customers.  And I believe that the program 
 
         16   will only cost the customer $25.  Atmos will pick up the rest 
 
         17   of the costs. 
 
         18           Q.     What would the rest of the costs be? 
 
         19           A.     There will be an energy audit, so somehow 
 
         20   their usage will be determined.  They'll be counseled as to 
 
         21   where they could save some money. 
 
         22           Q.     Do you know what the rest of the costs would 
 
         23   be in addition to the $25? 
 
         24           A.     Oh, no.  I'm -- I'm a member of the 
 
         25   Weatherization Advisory Policy Committee so I called over to 
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          1   DNR and they said they thought that one would cost somewhere 
 
          2   from 60 to 100 dollars. 
 
          3           Q.     And do know how many of these are going to be 
 
          4   done? 
 
          5           A.     They're going to do as many as ask for them. 
 
          6   There is no upper limit. 
 
          7           Q.     And is there any -- okay.  Is there anything 
 
          8   else? 
 
          9           A.     No. 
 
         10           Q.     What else is being done? 
 
         11           A.     No.  That's it. 
 
         12           Q.     Is that it? 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     Okay.  Thank you.  I'm sorry.  I got 
 
         15   distracted. 
 
         16                  So are you familiar with other kinds of 
 
         17   conservation programs that have been tried around the country? 
 
         18           A.     Tried around the country? 
 
         19           Q.     Yes. 
 
         20           A.     Somewhat, yes. 
 
         21           Q.     Okay.  Can you give me a list of some of 
 
         22   those? 
 
         23           A.     Not offhand. 
 
         24           Q.     Would it be possible for you to come back and 
 
         25   give me that list? 
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          1           A.     Yep. 
 
          2           Q.     You're familiar with the so-called PAYS 
 
          3   program, for instance.  Correct? 
 
          4           A.     Yes, I am. 
 
          5           Q.     Or other programs that are similar to that? 
 
          6           A.     Yes. 
 
          7           Q.     Can you describe that for me? 
 
          8           A.     Okay.  It's my understanding that the PAYS 
 
          9   program -- in the PAYS program, the -- let me think.  It's 
 
         10   been a long time since I've thought about the PAYS program in 
 
         11   detail. 
 
         12                  The company or another party inspects the 
 
         13   residence and recommends cost efficient improvements that they 
 
         14   can make.  There may be a payback period with some of those, 
 
         15   they may need to pay back in -- I forget -- I forget exactly 
 
         16   how that worked.  I'm thinking there was a saying like 80/80. 
 
         17                  Anyway, then they're billed for that on their 
 
         18   electric bill or on their gas bill, they're billed for the 
 
         19   charges.  I don't believe that any improvements are made 
 
         20   unless it's expected that they -- the improvement will save 
 
         21   more for the customer than the amount that they would be 
 
         22   billed. 
 
         23           Q.     But if it's determined that that would be the 
 
         24   case, then they may qualify for these loans.  Correct? 
 
         25           A.     Yes.  Yes. 
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          1           Q.     With the idea that hopefully you will get 
 
          2   overall savings for that individual and for the system if the 
 
          3   residents or business or whoever qualifies is made more 
 
          4   efficient? 
 
          5           A.     Yes. 
 
          6           Q.     Okay.  And what other programs are -- well, if 
 
          7   you want to just look at that and come back, I'll let you do 
 
          8   that -- 
 
          9           A.     I do. 
 
         10           Q.     -- rather than trying to recall off the top of 
 
         11   your head. 
 
         12                  My question then is -- next question is, in 
 
         13   regard to what the company is receiving out of this, how much 
 
         14   do you think that this reduces the risk of the company in 
 
         15   going to this system that Staff proposes? 
 
         16           A.     I couldn't quantify that. 
 
         17           Q.     Do you think it does lower the risk of the 
 
         18   company? 
 
         19           A.     Sir, I'm sorry, but -- 
 
         20           Q.     Isn't it true -- isn't it true that you 
 
         21   testified earlier that this volatility that may exist in 
 
         22   regard to warm weather and other fluctuations, that that can 
 
         23   be of some risk to the company's revenue stream? 
 
         24           A.     It can be of risk to the company and to the 
 
         25   customer as well, yes. 
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          1           Q.     Isn't it true that it can be a risk to the 
 
          2   company?  You just said yes.  Correct? 
 
          3           A.     Well -- 
 
          4           Q.     Oh, are you changing your mind? 
 
          5           A.     No, I'm not changing my mind.  I mean, in 
 
          6   finance, risk is defined as variation.  And so it wouldn't -- 
 
          7   it wouldn't just be the risk of under-recovery in finance.  It 
 
          8   would be the risk of over-recovery as well.  That's why I'm 
 
          9   hesitating.  Yes, I believe that revenue volatility is a risk. 
 
         10           Q.     All right.  So do you believe there is less 
 
         11   risk to the company in its revenue stream if you go to this 
 
         12   proposal that Staff has? 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     All right. 
 
         15           A.     In its revenue stream. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay.  And -- well, I'll just leave it at 
 
         17   that. 
 
         18                  Now, did you file any testimony that 
 
         19   criticized the provision that is in Senate Bill 179 regarding 
 
         20   the surcharge for weather fluctuations or conservation or 
 
         21   other things? 
 
         22           A.     That criticized it? 
 
         23           Q.     Yes, did you? 
 
         24           A.     No, I didn't. 
 
         25           Q.     Are you familiar with Staff's brief in this 
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          1   issue -- in this case regarding this issue? 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     Do you recall Staff criticizing the provisions 
 
          4   in 179 in its brief? 
 
          5           A.     No, I don't recall that. 
 
          6           Q.     Does Senate Bill 179 provide that before the 
 
          7   provisions of the bill are effective, that rules would have to 
 
          8   be adopted by the Commission? 
 
          9           A.     Yes.  That's my understanding. 
 
         10           Q.     Are rules adopted -- have rules been adopted 
 
         11   regarding the provisions of 179 that have to do with weather 
 
         12   normalization or conservation? 
 
         13           A.     No, I don't believe they have. 
 
         14           Q.     Rules have not been adopted nor have they been 
 
         15   started; is that correct? 
 
         16           A.     That's correct. 
 
         17           Q.     And it is a discretionary thing with the 
 
         18   Commission as to whether or not those rules are adopted or 
 
         19   not, do you know? 
 
         20           A.     I believe it's discretionary. 
 
         21           Q.     I'm going to switch topics just for a moment 
 
         22   with you.  I want to ask whether or not you have filed any of 
 
         23   the testimony regarding the reconnection fees when someone 
 
         24   gets off the system and then wants to come back on? 
 
         25           A.     No.  Not in this case. 
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          1           Q.     Do you know who did that? 
 
          2           A.     I believe that was Michael Ensrud. 
 
          3           Q.     Okay. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Ensrud is planning to 
 
          5   re-appear for Commission questions. 
 
          6                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Thank you, Judge. 
 
          7   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
          8           Q.     Can you refresh my memory regarding 
 
          9   non-residential customers?  How are you proposing that their 
 
         10   customer charge be handled? 
 
         11           A.     In the case of the smallest -- small general 
 
         12   service -- 
 
         13           Q.     I want you to go through the list, but go 
 
         14   ahead. 
 
         15           A.     Okay.  Well, in my -- in my testimony I 
 
         16   propose that we take the company's customers that are 
 
         17   currently classified as SGS and split them because I found a 
 
         18   huge variation in the amount of usage.  Some of them use zero, 
 
         19   some of them use close to a million CCFs in one year.  I 
 
         20   suggested that we split out the very small ones, the ones that 
 
         21   are approximately the size of residential customers and use 
 
         22   the re-- residential delivery charge to collect their margin 
 
         23   costs. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay.  And the reason for that is again? 
 
         25           A.     They're small and they're -- they're weather 
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          1   sensitive.  They look a lot like residentials -- 
 
          2           Q.     Okay. 
 
          3           A.     -- if you just look at their characteristics. 
 
          4           Q.     And the other group? 
 
          5           A.     For all the other classes I suggested we would 
 
          6   have a new medium general service class, a large general 
 
          7   service class and a large volume service class.  I recommended 
 
          8   that we go with the traditional rate design on those 
 
          9   customers. 
 
         10           Q.     And the reason for that was why? 
 
         11           A.     They're more diverse.  A residential customer 
 
         12   is a residential customer is a residential customer as far as 
 
         13   the equipment that's serving them, as far as I believe the 
 
         14   amount of capacity the company has reserved for them.  I don't 
 
         15   think that can be said as the customers get larger.  Some of 
 
         16   them are weather sensitive, some of them aren't.  There's a 
 
         17   huge variation in size. 
 
         18           Q.     I'm a little confused -- 
 
         19           A.     Okay. 
 
         20           Q.     -- I think.  Explain to me why you view the 
 
         21   weather sensitivity as a reason to decide whether or not to 
 
         22   put all of the LDCs's charges in a fixed rate charge. 
 
         23           A.     Well, there are a couple of reasons.  There's 
 
         24   a reason -- I believe it's beneficial to the customer to not 
 
         25   have a relatively high volumetric rate to an average customer, 
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          1   space heater, somebody that is going to peak in the winter.  I 
 
          2   think that rate design that has a lot of coast -- a lot of 
 
          3   cost loaded into the volumetric rate is -- is harmful to those 
 
          4   customers. 
 
          5           Q.     I understand your opinion, but it doesn't -- 
 
          6   I'm not getting an explanation. 
 
          7           A.     I don't -- 
 
          8           Q.     Help me to understand what your rationale is. 
 
          9           A.     Could you read the question again, then? 
 
         10                  THE COURT REPORTER:  "Question:  Explain to me 
 
         11   why you view the weather sensitivity as a reason to decide 
 
         12   whether or not to put all of the LDCs's charges in a fixed 
 
         13   rate charge." 
 
         14                  THE WITNESS:  Oh, that's not why I think it's 
 
         15   appropriate to put them all on a fixed charge.  Would you like 
 
         16   for me to explain why I do think it is? 
 
         17   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         18           Q.     Yes.  I'm trying to understand what your 
 
         19   rationale is, so go ahead. 
 
         20           A.     Okay.  I believe that the facilities that 
 
         21   it -- and the cost that a company incurs to serve a 
 
         22   residential customer doesn't vary with the variation in size 
 
         23   of residential customers. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay. 
 
         25           A.     Because when they hook up a residential 
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          1   customer, they're not only hooking them up and providing the 
 
          2   equipment they need for their intended usage today, they also 
 
          3   put in equipment that will serve them if they change that 
 
          4   end-use. 
 
          5                  So, for instance, if somebody gets on -- on 
 
          6   the system today and all they're going to do is cook with a 
 
          7   gas stove -- and we're just talking residentials, they'll put 
 
          8   the exact same equipment outside the house on those 
 
          9   customer -- on that customer as they would on a customer that 
 
         10   came on and said, I'm going to space heat, run a water heater 
 
         11   and cook. 
 
         12           Q.     And why is that? 
 
         13           A.     There's a couple reasons.  One is that the 
 
         14   customer that comes on today that's just planning to cook 
 
         15   with -- with natural gas might decide in five or ten years 
 
         16   that they would like to heat with natural gas.  So they have 
 
         17   to -- they don't want to have to go back up and dig up the 
 
         18   pipe at that point. 
 
         19           Q.     So that's for the company's benefit so they 
 
         20   don't have to do that.  Correct?  Not necessarily for that 
 
         21   particular consumer's benefit that doesn't want any more 
 
         22   service? 
 
         23           A.     Not for that particular consumer.  It would be 
 
         24   for all consumers' benefit because it would drive the cost up 
 
         25   if they -- if they just went in and put in exactly what that 
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          1   person was going to use today and then changed that every time 
 
          2   the customer changed their end-use. 
 
          3           Q.     Go ahead. 
 
          4           A.     A second is that residential customers' usage 
 
          5   is so small that -- that it can be handled by the -- pretty 
 
          6   much the smallest equipment that the -- the company has, the 
 
          7   smallest pipe, the smallest meter.  The mains are put in not 
 
          8   only for one customer, they're put in for groups of customers. 
 
          9   So -- so you -- you know, I can't say the smallest main for 
 
         10   that reason. 
 
         11           Q.     Now, go over to the other side of the equation 
 
         12   where you're talking about those entities that are still going 
 
         13   to have a volumetric component. 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15           Q.     And tell me why for those customers you 
 
         16   believe fixed charge isn't appropriate. 
 
         17           A.     Because if you're talking about a medium 
 
         18   general service customer, for instance, and you talk about 
 
         19   usage variations, you're not talking about a difference in 
 
         20   usage of a few hundred CCFs like you are with residential. 
 
         21   You might be talking about a few thousand or tens of thousands 
 
         22   or even hundreds of thousands of difference -- yikes -- of 
 
         23   usage between customers in the same class when you get to -- 
 
         24   to the larger classes. 
 
         25                  At that point it wouldn't be fair to charge 
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          1   them the exact same charge because they -- they very well 
 
          2   might have different equipment put on them.  You might have 
 
          3   two large general service customers and one is a small grocery 
 
          4   store and the other is a Super Wal-mart.  There's a difference 
 
          5   in size, there's likely a difference in equipment that's -- 
 
          6   that's put on to serve them. 
 
          7           Q.     Isn't an answer to that if you want to -- if 
 
          8   you want to promote your fixed charge, isn't an answer to that 
 
          9   just to have more breakdown in your groups, have more slices 
 
         10   to your groups so that you can more closely match that fixed 
 
         11   component that you are advocating for in the residential 
 
         12   classes? 
 
         13           A.     I guess, yes, although we don't -- we don't 
 
         14   design rates on a per customer basis, which is, you know, 
 
         15   where you could go to that if you went to the extreme. 
 
         16           Q.     But you wouldn't advocate going to that -- 
 
         17           A.     Absolutely not. 
 
         18           Q.     -- extreme, would you? 
 
         19           A.     I wouldn't. 
 
         20           Q.     But you might -- you could see some similarity 
 
         21   if you go into fixed charges as the gold standard that you're 
 
         22   trying to seek for residential customers, having something 
 
         23   similar with smaller slices -- or more slices rather of your 
 
         24   large customers so you could more closely communicate to those 
 
         25   consumers what you're advocating for residential consumers on 
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          1   fixed charges? 
 
          2           A.     You'd have to have a lot of slices. 
 
          3           Q.     But you could do it that way, couldn't you? 
 
          4           A.     Theoretically, yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Did you do any surveys or has the Staff done 
 
          6   any surveys in regard to what consumers would be interested in 
 
          7   regarding going to a fixed charge like you're advocating? 
 
          8           A.     No official surveys, no.  I've talked to -- 
 
          9           Q.     That's okay. 
 
         10           A.     Okay. 
 
         11           Q.     And I think you may have answered this 
 
         12   question, but would you say that based on your experience, 
 
         13   that the LDCs that you work with in Missouri would be 
 
         14   supportive of going to this fixed charge as opposed to having 
 
         15   volumetric component to their LDC charges? 
 
         16           A.     Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     In fact, they advocate for it, do they not? 
 
         18           A.     I can't give you the position of every LDC.  I 
 
         19   know of at least a couple that have advocated for that, yes. 
 
         20           Q.     Who are they? 
 
         21           A.     MGE.  I believe that Laclede actually came in 
 
         22   with that proposal in a previous case.  They -- they ended up 
 
         23   with something similar -- 
 
         24           Q.     And -- 
 
         25           A.     -- but -- 
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          1           Q.     -- that was -- was that the case earlier that 
 
          2   you were referring to when you said that Staff had filed a 
 
          3   position that was opposite to the one that they had filed in 
 
          4   this case? 
 
          5           A.     No. 
 
          6           Q.     Was that a different case? 
 
          7           A.     I was referring to the previous MGE case. 
 
          8           Q.     So you weren't referring to the Laclede case. 
 
          9   And you don't recall what Staff's position was in regard to 
 
         10   that case, the Laclede case? 
 
         11           A.     I read Dr. Proctor's testimony.  And I 
 
         12   remember that he was not in favor of going to a fixed charge. 
 
         13           Q.     Dr. Proctor isn't a witness on this case, is 
 
         14   he? 
 
         15           A.     No, he's not. 
 
         16           Q.     But he has been a witness on this issue in 
 
         17   past cases.  Correct? 
 
         18           A.     In that case I know. 
 
         19           Q.     Yes.  But he did not support the Staff's 
 
         20   position in this case in that case, did he? 
 
         21           A.     Could you repeat that? 
 
         22           Q.     In that case, Dr. Proctor took a position that 
 
         23   was different and in opposition to the position that you're 
 
         24   taking in this case; is that correct? 
 
         25           A.     That is correct. 
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          1           Q.     And do you recall his rationale for his 
 
          2   position? 
 
          3           A.     I believe it was impact concerns for the 
 
          4   low-use customers. 
 
          5           Q.     Was Dr. Proctor consulted in regard to the 
 
          6   position taken by Staff in this case? 
 
          7           A.     I do not know. 
 
          8           Q.     While you were present, was he consulted? 
 
          9           A.     No. 
 
         10           Q.     What is Dr. Proctor's position with this 
 
         11   Commission? 
 
         12           A.     I -- I couldn't give you his title, 
 
         13   Commissioner Gaw. 
 
         14           Q.     Has he been here very long? 
 
         15           A.     Yes, he has. 
 
         16           Q.     How long would you say he's been here? 
 
         17           A.     Twenty-five years, somewhere. 
 
         18           Q.     And is he an economist? 
 
         19           A.     Yes, he is. 
 
         20                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Subject to getting 
 
         21   additional information back so I can continue the questioning, 
 
         22   I'll stop right now.  Thank you, Judge. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I just wanted to clarify.  I 
 
         24   was going to say exactly what it is you wanted Ms. Ross to 
 
         25   provide later? 
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          1                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I believe she was going to 
 
          2   come back and tell me all of the conservation programs that 
 
          3   she has seen around the country. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Around the country? 
 
          5                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Yes.  I think that was it. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And I will just -- Ms. Ross, 
 
          7   is that something that you'll be able to provide during the 
 
          8   course of this hearing or do you expect to provide something 
 
          9   written after? 
 
         10                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I need to ask questions 
 
         11   about those things, Judge, so whenever. 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'll let you work on that when 
 
         13   we're on breaks then. 
 
         14                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Commissioner Clayton, 
 
         16   you had some questions? 
 
         17   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         18           Q.     There were a couple of things if you're going 
 
         19   to be digging for information.  And I don't want to create a 
 
         20   burden that is too great for such a short amount of time.  I'm 
 
         21   interested in conservation as well as energy efficiency 
 
         22   issues.  And there were just some specific points that if you 
 
         23   have specific information, I wanted to mention these and then 
 
         24   you can report back if you have information or if you know 
 
         25   anyone on Staff who has the information. 
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          1                  I know that there is a program in Vermont on 
 
          2   grants for new construction of housing relating to energy 
 
          3   efficiency.  Illinois has a low-income air conditioning and 
 
          4   lighting program on energy efficiency. 
 
          5           A.     Did you say a low-income? 
 
          6           Q.     Low-income, room, air conditioner and lighting 
 
          7   program.  And I may be wrong.  And I don't want you to go 
 
          8   research this unless you -- if Staff doesn't have any 
 
          9   information to support this, I don't expect you to go become 
 
         10   an expert. 
 
         11           A.     The Illinois case I might not because that 
 
         12   would be an electric efficiency program. 
 
         13           Q.     Yeah, yeah, you're right.  You're right. 
 
         14   Thank you.  Wisconsin has a natural gas best practices and 
 
         15   program design. 
 
         16           A.     Okay. 
 
         17           Q.     And thank you for bringing that up.  I'm 
 
         18   looking at a -- if you all have any information on Energy Star 
 
         19   appliances or programs that recommend the use of Energy Star 
 
         20   appliances. 
 
         21           A.     Okay. 
 
         22           Q.     I don't know if the Midwest Natural Gas 
 
         23   Initiative has anything specific -- well, it's about 
 
         24   conservation so it -- I don't know if you all have anything -- 
 
         25           A.     I've -- I've -- 
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          1           Q.     -- any information about that. 
 
          2           A.     I think I do. 
 
          3           Q.     Well, there's a lot of information out there. 
 
          4   It just seems like this is a wonderful opportunity, if we're 
 
          5   going to talk about decoupling, that we ought to be 
 
          6   emphasizing the conservation or providing some leadership 
 
          7   associated with conservation. 
 
          8                  And I think one of the big problems that we've 
 
          9   had nationwide is that there's been, it seems like, not a 
 
         10   clear message on what is the appropriate action to take.  And 
 
         11   I think at our level we need to be providing the guidance, the 
 
         12   suggestions for ratepayers to be -- how they can participate 
 
         13   in these programs.  And I just -- any information that you can 
 
         14   come up with that would support the energy efficiency and 
 
         15   conservation side of this discussion would be very helpful. 
 
         16                  Aside from the weatherization, the 78,000 for 
 
         17   low-income folks and the residential audit information, those 
 
         18   are the only items related to energy efficiency and 
 
         19   conservation included in your testimony -- 
 
         20           A.     Yes. 
 
         21           Q.     -- is that correct? 
 
         22                  And Staff doesn't have any additional 
 
         23   witnesses that will address those issues -- 
 
         24           A.     No. 
 
         25           Q.     -- correct? 
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          1                  Okay.  Does Office of Public Counsel address 
 
          2   this in their testimony that and I may have missed? 
 
          3           A.     I -- 
 
          4           Q.     Do you know? 
 
          5           A.     I don't believe so. 
 
          6           Q.     If you don't know, you don't know. 
 
          7                  Okay.  With this move towards the fixed 
 
          8   delivery charge versus a volumetric rate design, at what point 
 
          9   in the future would you anticipate that Staff would propose 
 
         10   energy efficiency changes or modifications or suggestions or 
 
         11   leadership, however you want to -- how far off in the future 
 
         12   would those suggestions come from Staff, if ever? 
 
         13           A.     For this company or -- 
 
         14           Q.     Yes. 
 
         15           A.     I suppose it would be the next time they came 
 
         16   in for a rate case. 
 
         17           Q.     The next rate case? 
 
         18           A.     Yeah. 
 
         19           Q.     So is there a rationale behind waiting until 
 
         20   the next rate case to address those issues?  Is there reason 
 
         21   to wait that long? 
 
         22           A.     Well, if we were going to -- I know that with 
 
         23   some of the other companies' programs -- I've been involved in 
 
         24   the AmerenUE gas program.  I believe we meet once or twice a 
 
         25   year and go over to see if funds need to be shifted here or 
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          1   there, if rebates changed.  We would -- we would do something 
 
          2   like that on this program. 
 
          3           Q.     Ameren Gas, I think they have a residential 
 
          4   audit of energy usage, don't they? 
 
          5           A.     They have an online audit I believe. 
 
          6           Q.     Well, I think I got a phone call personally 
 
          7   from them doing an audit, but you're not aware of that? 
 
          8           A.     No. 
 
          9           Q.     As an Ameren Gas customer I mean, I got a 
 
         10   call.  It wasn't outside the -- 
 
         11           A.     Right. 
 
         12           Q.     Don't have to file an ex parte here is not 
 
         13   what I'm saying. 
 
         14           A.     No, not the audit.  I'm familiar with their 
 
         15   furnace -- their furnace rebate program. 
 
         16           Q.     How many programs -- would you say -- of all 
 
         17   the LDCs in the state, would you say that AmerenUE Gas is the 
 
         18   most ambitious of all the companies in terms of energy 
 
         19   efficiency or is there another company -- I don't want to say 
 
         20   most ambitious, but  -- 
 
         21           A.     Right. 
 
         22           Q.     -- but who has the most going on right now 
 
         23   that you're aware of? 
 
         24           A.     I know that Aquila -- or what used to be 
 
         25   Aquila had -- it seems like they had several efficiency 
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          1   programs.  It's been a couple years since they've been -- 
 
          2           Q.     That would be Empire now?  The Empire Gas 
 
          3   Companies now? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Did you look at any of those programs prior to 
 
          6   filing your testimony? 
 
          7           A.     Not recently, no. 
 
          8           Q.     Not recently?  Okay.  Are there things being 
 
          9   done in the state with other LDCs that would be appropriate in 
 
         10   this case? 
 
         11           A.     Most, if not all, of the other LDCs do give 
 
         12   money for weatherization. 
 
         13           Q.     Just weatherization? 
 
         14           A.     For the low-income weatherization. 
 
         15           Q.     How about energy efficiency, conservation 
 
         16   programs, Energy Star -- 
 
         17           A.     Yeah. 
 
         18           Q.     -- distribution? 
 
         19           A.     I mean, any of them could be appropriate, yes. 
 
         20           Q.     Okay.  Well, I'm not sure how much time -- how 
 
         21   much time is going to be afforded to you, but I think that 
 
         22   information would also be helpful. 
 
         23           A.     Of the other -- the other utilities in the 
 
         24   state? 
 
         25           Q.     Well, their programs -- I mentioned other 
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          1   states originally and those are just places that I'm aware 
 
          2   have some sort of program.  I don't expect you to become an 
 
          3   expert in an hour and a half on Wisconsin's natural gas usage 
 
          4   reduction program or whatever it is.  I don't expect you to 
 
          5   become an expert. 
 
          6                  However, Staff, in general, should be aware of 
 
          7   other energy efficiency programs that are being done currently 
 
          8   in the state of Missouri.  And I guess, why couldn't those 
 
          9   move over?  If we implement this rate design, then there -- it 
 
         10   seems that there wouldn't be the obstacle that would appear in 
 
         11   other cases.  At the very least, could we consider what is 
 
         12   currently going on with other LDCs in regard to energy 
 
         13   efficiency and conservation? 
 
         14           A.     Sure. 
 
         15           Q.     Does that make sense? 
 
         16           A.     Yes, it does. 
 
         17                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
         18                  THE WITNESS:  You're welcome. 
 
         19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Let's go ahead and 
 
         20   do further cross-examination based on questions from the Bench 
 
         21   and then after we get through as much as we can with Ms. Ross, 
 
         22   then we'll break for lunch.  I think we'll be able to -- 
 
         23   Atmos. 
 
         24                  MR. FISCHER:  Your Honor, I'm going to have 
 
         25   extensive questioning of this witness based upon questioning 
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          1   from the Bench. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 
 
          3                  MR. FISCHER:  I can go forward, but it might 
 
          4   make more sense unless you want to sit here for a while. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, maybe we should 
 
          6   just go ahead -- 
 
          7                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  If we're going to come 
 
          8   back to his questions then, I don't know that -- 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We'll go ahead then and 
 
         10   break for lunch and perhaps we'll give Ms. Ross enough time to 
 
         11   answer Commissioner Gaw's question.  We can pick back up with 
 
         12   Commissioner questions after lunch and then just go straight 
 
         13   through. 
 
         14                  Okay.  Let's break for lunch.  Let's come 
 
         15   back -- it's a quarter 'til 1:00.  Let's come back at 
 
         16   two o'clock.  Go off the record. 
 
         17                  (A recess was taken.) 
 
         18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We'll resume.  Ms. Ross 
 
         19   is retaking the stand and we'll resume with Commissioner 
 
         20   questions.  Perhaps Ms. Ross can update the Commission or, 
 
         21   Mr. Berlin, you had some additional information also.  Perhaps 
 
         22   you'd like to share what you all have been able to put 
 
         23   together at this point. 
 
         24                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge.  In response to 
 
         25   Commissioner Clayton's questions regarding various energy 
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          1   conservation-, weatherization-type programs, over the lunch 
 
          2   break we were able to copy different tariff provisions 
 
          3   reflecting those particular programs.  I'm not sure the best 
 
          4   way to introduce this.  Perhaps by taking administrative 
 
          5   notice or -- 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I think -- 
 
          7                  MR. BERLIN:  We have copies for everyone here. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- I'd like to go ahead and 
 
          9   just go ahead and mark those just as an exhibit just to keep 
 
         10   it straight in the record.  So we could mark those tariffs as 
 
         11   Exhibit 138 and the Commission can take official notice of 
 
         12   those. 
 
         13                  Would there be any objection to the Commission 
 
         14   taking official notice of the tariff provisions of the other 
 
         15   LDCs in Missouri? 
 
         16                  Seeing none, then the Commission will take 
 
         17   notice of those. 
 
         18                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, would now be a good time 
 
         19   to pass out the copies? 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, please.  If you can just 
 
         21   give me six copies and one for the court reporter.  And, 
 
         22   Mr. Berlin, there was one company that you hadn't yet gotten 
 
         23   to; is that correct? 
 
         24                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge.  I have to go through 
 
         25   the list just to keep it organized in my mined here what we're 
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          1   still working on.  Okay.  The next one is Ameren. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  This was just Empire 
 
          3   or -- 
 
          4                  MR. BERLIN:  I think I passed out Empire first 
 
          5   and I now have Ameren.  I don't know if you want to mark them 
 
          6   consecutively as exhibits or if you want to do it under one 
 
          7   exhibit number. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'll just call them one 
 
          9   exhibit, it will just be several parts. 
 
         10                  MR. BERLIN: I'm bringing Southern Missouri Gas 
 
         11   to you, Judge.  This next one, Judge, is Laclede Gas Company. 
 
         12   And the next one, Judge, is MGE. 
 
         13                  (Exhibit No. 138 was marked for 
 
         14   identification.) 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And that's all of the tariffs; 
 
         16   is that correct, Mr. Berlin? 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  That is correct, Judge.  Judge, I 
 
         18   do have one other document here.  I think it's in response to 
 
         19   Commissioner Gaw's questions to -- I'm not entirely sure, but 
 
         20   we have here a -- Responding to the Natural Gas Crisis, 
 
         21   America's Best Natural Gas Energy Efficiency Programs dated 
 
         22   2003.  We have that here as well.  I don't know if -- what the 
 
         23   proper time might be to introduce that. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  This is as good as any.  And 
 
         25   you've given copies of that to counsel.  I'll mark that as 
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          1   Exhibit 139. 
 
          2                  (Exhibit No. 139 was marked for 
 
          3   identification.) 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And then I'll let you offer 
 
          5   that with Ms. Ross if that's -- 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  I think, Judge, that we already 
 
          7   admitted her testimony into evidence according to my records. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  Yes.  I'm sorry.  I 
 
          9   meant -- well, let me just ask Ms. Ross. 
 
         10                  Is this meant to be the list in response to 
 
         11   Commissioner Gaw's question? 
 
         12                  THE WITNESS:  Actually, I think it was 
 
         13   Commissioner Clayton's questions about -- but I think 
 
         14   Commissioner Gaw asked some questions too about programs in 
 
         15   other states.  So it's a lengthy report so I just copied off 
 
         16   through the executive summary and then the -- there's an 
 
         17   appendix at the end that I added.  And I can provide the 
 
         18   entire report if anyone wants that. 
 
         19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And so I guess did you 
 
         20   have other information in response to Commissioner Gaw's 
 
         21   question about conservation programs? 
 
         22                  THE WITNESS:  I do.  I will need to make a -- 
 
         23   to make copies of this.  The Oklahoma Commission Staff 
 
         24   completed a survey on October 27th, a state survey.  And they 
 
         25   asked questions about decoupling and then they asked some 
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          1   questions about incentives -- incentives to promote the 
 
          2   efficient use of energy and about any programs that they might 
 
          3   have.  And I'll make copies of that, but it takes legal paper 
 
          4   and we don't have one. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Commissioner Gaw, does 
 
          6   that give you enough to get started on asking the remainder of 
 
          7   your questions? 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I think it will be a start. 
 
          9   I would like to see the rest of this report that's labeled 
 
         10   Exhibit 139. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Can Staff provide the 
 
         12   Exhibit 139 in its entirety then as a late-filed exhibit?  Is 
 
         13   that okay, Commissioner Gaw? 
 
         14                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Yes, Judge. 
 
         15                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 
 
         16   FURTHER QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  Let me ask you, in regard to 
 
         18   Exhibit 139, first of all, what is this document? 
 
         19           A.     Okay.  Is this the Responding to the Natural 
 
         20   Gas Crisis?  Okay.  This is a report done by the American 
 
         21   Council For an Energy Efficient Economy.  And in 2003, when 
 
         22   the natural gas prices started increasing rapidly and it was 
 
         23   becoming apparent that they were going to stay up, they -- 
 
         24   they did a national survey on the different types of energy 
 
         25   efficiency programs being -- being carried out around the 
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          1   country. 
 
          2           Q.     And the authors here are listed on the front 
 
          3   page, this Dr. Martin Kushler, Dr. Dan York and a Patty Witte 
 
          4   (ph. sps.); is that correct? 
 
          5           A.     Yes.  That's how I'd pronounce it. 
 
          6           Q.     Okay.  And tell me who -- if you know, who the 
 
          7   American Council for an Energy Efficiency Economy is. 
 
          8           A.     I don't -- I don't know well enough to explain 
 
          9   it.  I believe it's a -- it's a national group obviously, so I 
 
         10   guess my answer to that would be I don't know. 
 
         11           Q.     There are acknowledgments on page II.  Do you 
 
         12   see that? 
 
         13           A.     II? 
 
         14           Q.     Yes. 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     It appears that there -- that there are 
 
         17   varying organizations that provided support for the work.  Are 
 
         18   you familiar with any of them? 
 
         19           A.     I've done some research on -- on at least one 
 
         20   of them. 
 
         21           Q.     Can you tell me which one? 
 
         22           A.     Yes.  The New York State Energy Research and 
 
         23   Development Authority. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay.  And who is that? 
 
         25           A.     They're a state body set up by New York. 
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          1   It's -- it's a very comprehensive state organization. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay. 
 
          3           A.     New York's trying to take a very comprehensive 
 
          4   approach to energy efficiency, energy usage.  So it's not all 
 
          5   residential, it's not all low-income, it's just covering the 
 
          6   entire spectrum of -- of energy issues for the state of New 
 
          7   York. 
 
          8           Q.     Okay.  And you're familiar, of course, with 
 
          9   Wisconsin Public Service Commission? 
 
         10           A.     Yes. 
 
         11           Q.     They're listed there.  Correct? 
 
         12           A.     Yes. 
 
         13           Q.     And that would be the body that's similar to 
 
         14   the one here only in Wisconsin? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay.  And then I also note that there's some 
 
         17   utilities that appears there, Excel Energy; is that correct? 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     That's a utility.  Correct?  It says Excel 
 
         20   Energy and the Excel CIP Advisory Group, but I'm just talking 
 
         21   about Excel Energy in my question. 
 
         22           A.     Okay. 
 
         23           Q.     That is a utility.  Correct? 
 
         24           A.     Yes. 
 
         25           Q.     And do you know who the Northwest Natural Gas 
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          1   Company is?  I assume that's a utility, but I don't know. 
 
          2           A.     I believe they're from Washington and, yes, I 
 
          3   believe that's a utility. 
 
          4           Q.     Okay. 
 
          5           A.     It might be Oregon.  I'm not sure. 
 
          6           Q.     Okay.  Gas Networks, do you know who that is? 
 
          7           A.     No. 
 
          8           Q.     I'm not familiar either.  All right.  Have you 
 
          9   reviewed this entire document, not just the executive summary, 
 
         10   at some point? 
 
         11           A.     It's been -- at some point I have.  It's been 
 
         12   a couple of years.  When we were writing the report for the 
 
         13   long-term energy affordability task force report. 
 
         14           Q.     It was one of the documents you looked at 
 
         15   then? 
 
         16           A.     Yes.  Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     And that task force was -- was a task force 
 
         18   that was in operation when?  Within the last two or three 
 
         19   years? 
 
         20           A.     2004 I think is when we filed the report.  It 
 
         21   might have been 2005. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  The programs that are discussed in this 
 
         23   report, are you familiar with the general nature of those 
 
         24   programs? 
 
         25           A.     Not -- not individual programs in detail.  The 
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          1   general nature, yes. 
 
          2           Q.     And in regard to their general nature, do you 
 
          3   have -- did you form some sort of an opinion about whether or 
 
          4   not these programs that are highlighted here in Appendix B, 
 
          5   whether or not those programs were worthwhile and beneficial 
 
          6   to encouraging energy efficiency and conservation? 
 
          7           A.     Well, they were considered the -- America's 
 
          8   best natural gas programs so I assume that they are. 
 
          9           Q.     Did you find -- did you believe that to be 
 
         10   true based upon the information that you reviewed? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     Okay.  And are these programs described in 
 
         13   detail or in sufficient detail to understand generally how 
 
         14   they work in the document when it's -- when the full document 
 
         15   is read? 
 
         16           A.     Yes.  I believe that most of them -- most of 
 
         17   them are. 
 
         18           Q.     Okay. 
 
         19           A.     If not, I'd be glad to research further any of 
 
         20   the programs. 
 
         21           Q.     Do you know enough where you could 
 
         22   individually describe, without going back to the original 
 
         23   document, any of these programs? 
 
         24           A.     Probably not. 
 
         25           Q.     Okay.  Is it your belief that based upon what 
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          1   you testified earlier about in regard to the quality of these 
 
          2   programs, that at least some of these programs would have 
 
          3   beneficial impact in Missouri? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Do you know how these programs generally are 
 
          6   funded? 
 
          7           A.     Some of them are funded through some type 
 
          8   of -- the public charge, the systems benefit charge. 
 
          9           Q.     Okay. 
 
         10           A.     Some of them are funded by the other 
 
         11   ratepayers. 
 
         12           Q.     Yes. 
 
         13           A.     Some of them -- some of them the costs are 
 
         14   absorbed by the company, I guess.  So it would just be all the 
 
         15   different sources of funding.  Some of them probably have some 
 
         16   state funding. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  The Energy Star programs that are 
 
         18   mentioned -- and it appears if I'm looking at this correctly, 
 
         19   that there are several different programs that mention Energy 
 
         20   Star.  Can you tell me just generally how the energy -- first 
 
         21   of all, what is Energy Star? 
 
         22           A.     Energy Star -- it's my understanding that it's 
 
         23   a department of the Department of Energy.  And they certify 
 
         24   equipment as being Energy Star if it meets a certain 
 
         25   efficiency rating. 
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          1           Q.     Okay.  And then if it achieves that rating, 
 
          2   then that designation is marked on the product some way? 
 
          3           A.     Yes.  Yes. 
 
          4           Q.     Does it also apply to ratings of houses 
 
          5   themselves or is it just appliances, or do you know? 
 
          6           A.     I believe it's just appliances. 
 
          7           Q.     You're not sure though.  Right? 
 
          8           A.     No, not -- 
 
          9           Q.     Ms. Ross, is there anyone on Staff that is 
 
         10   more familiar than you are with these conservation programs 
 
         11   that you know of? 
 
         12           A.     There are members of Staff that are -- that 
 
         13   are more familiar with some of the efficiency programs, yes. 
 
         14           Q.     Okay.  Can you name any of them for me? 
 
         15           A.     Yes.  One of them would be Lena Mantle. 
 
         16           Q.     They would love you to name them. 
 
         17           A.     I know.  I didn't want to, but yeah, Lena 
 
         18   Mantle would be a person that's worked with the efficiency 
 
         19   programs for a long time. 
 
         20           Q.     Okay.  Anyone else? 
 
         21           A.     Henry Warren has -- has been working with this 
 
         22   type of program. 
 
         23           Q.     All right.  Anyone else? 
 
         24           A.     No.  Not that I can think of offhand. 
 
         25           Q.     All right.  And are either one of them 
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          1   witnesses in this case? 
 
          2           A.     Henry was a witness on blocking for the -- for 
 
          3   the revenue requirement, but not on efficiency, no. 
 
          4           Q.     Okay.  Now, outside of this list that you have 
 
          5   given to us, are there additional programs that you're 
 
          6   familiar with around the country that you have observed as 
 
          7   having some merit? 
 
          8           A.     Yes.  Although it's hard for me to -- to come 
 
          9   up with the names right away.  I would be glad to do that. 
 
         10   It's hard for me -- 
 
         11           Q.     So there are some, but you would have to go 
 
         12   back and look through your notes and your records and things 
 
         13   to determine what those are.  Would that be -- 
 
         14           A.     Yeah. 
 
         15           Q.     -- the way to capture it? 
 
         16           A.     There's one that comes to mind and it's a 
 
         17   Missouri program that I think is an excellent program. 
 
         18           Q.     What program that? 
 
         19           A.     AmerenUE Gas program. 
 
         20           Q.     Describe it for me. 
 
         21           A.     They have a program where they offer to 
 
         22   residential and then to some extent to small commercial 
 
         23   customers -- they offer rebates for the purchase of furnaces, 
 
         24   I believe boilers, energy measures like thermostats.  And I've 
 
         25   been in on some of the evaluations of that program and it 
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          1   seems to be an excellent one. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  How is that program funded? 
 
          3           A.     It was funded as a result of the last rate 
 
          4   case. 
 
          5           Q.     Yes, it was funded out of company dollars; 
 
          6   isn't that correct? 
 
          7           A.     That's my understanding. 
 
          8           Q.     And do you know or do you recall the amount of 
 
          9   funding for that program? 
 
         10           A.     I want to say a 155,000 a year, but I could 
 
         11   find that number for you easily. 
 
         12           Q.     That would be fine.  It's possible that that 
 
         13   number has varied from one year to another, isn't it? 
 
         14           A.     It has.  It's in -- in -- on the average it's 
 
         15   stayed that amount, the same amount, but the funds have to be 
 
         16   shifted a little bit. 
 
         17           Q.     There may have been some carryover from the 
 
         18   first year into the second year -- 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     -- perhaps; is that correct? 
 
         21           A.     Yes.  Uh-huh. 
 
         22           Q.     And anything else that comes to mind? 
 
         23           A.     No.  Not right offhand. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay.  Now, but, again, that's because at this 
 
         25   point you don't recall everything, not because they don't 
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          1   exist.  Correct?  It's not because you think there are no 
 
          2   other good programs, it's just that you don't recall any 
 
          3   without looking at your notes? 
 
          4           A.     Yes, yes, that's true. 
 
          5           Q.     Now, in regard to the Oklahoma study that 
 
          6   someone referred to, and I don't know if you did or -- 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     -- counsel, but tell me a little about that, 
 
          9   if you would. 
 
         10           A.     Okay.  It's called -- it was called a revenue 
 
         11   decoupling survey.  I have it right here.  They sent a survey 
 
         12   to each of the -- each of the state regulatory bodies.  We 
 
         13   filled ours out, it's -- our information is in here.  I forget 
 
         14   how many -- how many results they had, quite a few. 
 
         15                  It asks questions like, Does your state have a 
 
         16   decoupling statute or Commission rules?  Has your state 
 
         17   initiated formal proceedings concerning gas and electric 
 
         18   industry decoupling, cost recovery mechanisms?  Did your State 
 
         19   Commission hold any technical conferences and/or workshops to 
 
         20   address decoupling of the gas and electric industry?  What 
 
         21   incentives does your State Commission offer to utilities to 
 
         22   promote the efficient use of energy?  And finally, What 
 
         23   programs to promote the efficient use of energy are used by 
 
         24   the gas and electric industry in your state? 
 
         25           Q.     Okay.  And did you say that survey is 
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          1   completed and the results are in that document that you have 
 
          2   in front of you? 
 
          3           A.     Yes.  And it's -- it's less than two months 
 
          4   old.  It's a new one. 
 
          5                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Okay.  Not having a copy of 
 
          6   that in front of me it's a little difficult to ask questions 
 
          7   about it, Judge.  I don't know if that's worthwhile or not at 
 
          8   this stage, but if there were a way that I could look at that 
 
          9   perhaps in a few minutes without just trying to guess what's 
 
         10   on there, I think it would be more efficient. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Can I get someone from Staff 
 
         12   to make some copies of that? 
 
         13                  THE WITNESS:  You have one.  No, I thought 
 
         14   that Tom -- don't you have this (indicating)? 
 
         15                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, can we see what document 
 
         16   she has? 
 
         17                  THE WITNESS:  I have it on my computer.  I 
 
         18   could make more copies. 
 
         19                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, we could have copies of 
 
         20   this made.  I think it's what Commissioner Gaw is asking for. 
 
         21                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  That would be great. 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  If you can do that, we'll try 
 
         23   to keep moving and if the Commissioner has questions after he 
 
         24   sees it, we can always bring Ms. Ross back. 
 
         25                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Thank you, Judge. 
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          1   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
          2           Q.     Ms. Ross, do you know whether we have in this 
 
          3   state any programs, either gas or electric, that implement any 
 
          4   kind of automated thermostat controls? 
 
          5           A.     I believe that Kansas City Power & Light might 
 
          6   have a program like that.  I -- I'm not real familiar with 
 
          7   their case, but I think I've heard that. 
 
          8           Q.     Do you know whether or not there are programs 
 
          9   dealing with thermostat controls that are used for gas 
 
         10   purposes?  Are you familiar with that? 
 
         11           A.     No, I'm -- I'm not.  I -- I have done quite a 
 
         12   bit of reading on prepaid meters.  And I know that with the 
 
         13   prepaid meters there are -- there's the problem with them, of 
 
         14   course, running out -- 
 
         15           Q.     Yes. 
 
         16           A.     -- and it being natural gas.  I'm not sure 
 
         17   whether there would be the same type of problem.  If it was 
 
         18   controlled by an outside source, I suppose not. 
 
         19           Q.     You just don't know the answer to that 
 
         20   question.  Right? 
 
         21           A.     So I don't know the answer. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  And do you have your -- hold on just a 
 
         23   second, please.  I'm sorry.  I'm hoping Commissioner Clayton's 
 
         24   going to have a chance to ask some of these questions in a 
 
         25   moment, but let me just ask generally. 
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          1                  If you would, going to these exhibits that you 
 
          2   have on the different companies in the state, first, let's go 
 
          3   to 138 if you have that.  I think it's 138. 
 
          4           A.     Is that the tariff provisions? 
 
          5           Q.     Yes. 
 
          6           A.     I don't have those exhibits. 
 
          7                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  If counsel could provide a 
 
          8   copy for you. 
 
          9                  MR. BERLIN:  I think that's all of them there. 
 
         10                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 
 
         11   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         12           Q.     Do you have them now? 
 
         13           A.     I have them now. 
 
         14           Q.     I was just waiting for you.  Let me ask you, 
 
         15   the first question is, as far as all of these exhibits are 
 
         16   concerned dealing with these tariffs that were provided as 138 
 
         17   all the way through in subparts, do any of the companies that 
 
         18   are referred to in here have currently a fixed surcharge that 
 
         19   encompasses all of the LDC revenues? 
 
         20           A.     No. 
 
         21           Q.     So at the present time no one has this rate 
 
         22   structure that you're proposing in the state for Atmos. 
 
         23   Correct? 
 
         24           A.     That's correct. 
 
         25           Q.     Now, in regard to the conservation programs 
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          1   that are in these provisions on part -- this should be -- I 
 
          2   think it's part 1 of Exhibit 138, the Empire -- let's just 
 
          3   talk about it from the standpoint of it being Empire's 
 
          4   programs.  Can you tell me whether or not those -- first of 
 
          5   all, what are the programs there, just generally speaking, 
 
          6   very generally -- 
 
          7           A.     Okay. 
 
          8           Q.     -- that refer to conservation or efficiency? 
 
          9           A.     Okay.  Let me make sure they're the same ones 
 
         10   that I have on my list.  Well, I have -- 
 
         11           Q.     I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 
 
         12           A.     That's okay.  I have a document that I made up 
 
         13   a couple of years ago for the task force again.  And actually 
 
         14   I have programs on my document that I don't believe are on 
 
         15   this -- on this exhibit. 
 
         16                  For example, this would have been Aquila Gas. 
 
         17   According to this, they had a -- and I assume still do, a 
 
         18   residential customer purchase plan where they loaned up to 
 
         19   10,000 at prime plus 2 for purchases of NAECA minimum 
 
         20   efficiency rated natural gas heating, cooling or appliances. 
 
         21           Q.     Okay.  Who funded that, by the way?  How was 
 
         22   that funded? 
 
         23           A.     I wasn't involved with it.  I don't know. 
 
         24           Q.     Okay.  If you know though, I'd like to know. 
 
         25   Go ahead. 
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          1           A.     They also do $7,500 exper-- or they have 
 
          2   $7,500 earmarked for experimental commercial energy audits. 
 
          3   If loans are made by outside lenders for natural gas heating 
 
          4   and cooling and other equipment, Aquila will collect payment 
 
          5   through the customer's utility bill. 
 
          6           Q.     Okay. 
 
          7           A.     And those are the two that I have, excuse 
 
          8   me -- that -- and they also have, of course, money -- money in 
 
          9   weatherization. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  What is this one provision -- oh, I 
 
         11   think that's a rate discount only.  I was looking at 25,000 
 
         12   will be used to fund an experimental rate discount.  But that 
 
         13   is -- 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15           Q.     -- that's a discount for low-income 
 
         16   ratepayers.  Correct? 
 
         17           A.     Yes. 
 
         18           Q.     It's not really tied in necessarily to 
 
         19   conservation or efficiency? 
 
         20           A.     No, no. 
 
         21           Q.     Okay.  What about, let's see, 138 part 2, 
 
         22   first of all, which company is that?  Is that Laclede or 
 
         23   Ameren? 
 
         24                  MR. BERLIN:  Should be Ameren. 
 
         25                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I'm sorry.  I'm looking 
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          1   right at it.  It's Ameren. 
 
          2   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
          3           Q.     Now, what is in this one?  Does this 
 
          4   reflect -- does this reflect the programs that you've 
 
          5   discussed earlier? 
 
          6           A.     Some of them.  I think that there might be 
 
          7   more.  Let me look at my list. 
 
          8                  Okay.  I misspoke on the energy efficient 
 
          9   natural gas equipment rebate program.  It was funded at 55,000 
 
         10   per year. 
 
         11           Q.     55,000? 
 
         12           A.     Uh-huh. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay. 
 
         14           A.     They also have -- according to my notes, they 
 
         15   have 150,000 in weatherization -- low-income weatherization 
 
         16   with another 68,000 directed at Scott Stoddard as part of an 
 
         17   experimental program. 
 
         18                  Under commercial industrial efficiency 
 
         19   programs they have the energy efficient natural gas equipment 
 
         20   rebate program.  That's part of the 55,000 that I talked about 
 
         21   before.  Let's see if there's any more on the tariffs. 
 
         22           Q.     And if you would, Ms. Ross, I know I will 
 
         23   forget to ask you this question.  If any of these programs 
 
         24   that we're discussing are proposed in the current case, would 
 
         25   you make note of that on your -- 
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          1           A.     Yes. 
 
          2           Q.     -- when you're going through this? 
 
          3           A.     Yes. 
 
          4           Q.     So far have there been any of these programs 
 
          5   that are proposed in the current case? 
 
          6           A.     No.  Not -- not in the natural gas side. 
 
          7           Q.     Okay.  Anything else on the AmerenUE -- 
 
          8           A.     No.  I don't believe so. 
 
          9           Q.     -- provision? 
 
         10                  There are references to Energy Star in the 
 
         11   tariff.  Correct? 
 
         12           A.     Yes. 
 
         13           Q.     Energy Star rated programmable auto setback 
 
         14   thermostats; is that correct? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     And also regarding the -- probably the program 
 
         17   you were talking about, the residential Energy Star rated 
 
         18   natural gas furnace rebate? 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     And a commercial Energy Star rated natural gas 
 
         21   utilization equipment; is that correct? 
 
         22           A.     Yes. 
 
         23           Q.     When it says commercial Energy Star, that's to 
 
         24   distinguish it from the residential side and -- I assume? 
 
         25           A.     Yes.  And there -- I'm not sure what the 
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          1   definition of the commercial customer is for this, but it's 
 
          2   a -- the smaller general service customers. 
 
          3           Q.     Okay.  All right.  Now, let's look at 138, 
 
          4   part 3.  That's Southern Missouri Gas.  Correct? 
 
          5           A.     Yes. 
 
          6           Q.     And can you tell me generally what programs 
 
          7   are there? 
 
          8           A.     No, I am not familiar with the Southern 
 
          9   Missouri Gas program. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  Just looking at the document, there's a 
 
         11   reference to a program for the use of energy efficient natural 
 
         12   gas water heaters and Energy Star qualified natural gas 
 
         13   furnaces.  Do you see that? 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15           Q.     Do you know generally what that would refer 
 
         16   to? 
 
         17           A.     It sounds as though it would be similar to the 
 
         18   AmerenUE program. 
 
         19           Q.     Just not familiar with the details.  Correct? 
 
         20           A.     Exactly, yeah. 
 
         21           Q.     Okay.  Well, the document has some information 
 
         22   in it so we can look at that. 
 
         23                  And then in regard to part four, that's 
 
         24   Laclede Gas Company's -- 
 
         25           A.     Yes. 
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          1           Q.     -- tariff or a portion of it? 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     Are you familiar with the program in this 
 
          4   tariff? 
 
          5           A.     I am.  I am. 
 
          6           Q.     Tell me what they have in the Laclede tariff. 
 
          7           A.     Okay.  I believe in the last Laclede case 
 
          8   their weatherization -- low-income weatherization funding went 
 
          9   up to $500,000.  In addition, let me see -- they have -- I'm 
 
         10   going to have to look because they have some existing programs 
 
         11   and then we -- we came up with some new ones as well in the 
 
         12   last case. 
 
         13                  Okay.  They have a residential rebate program 
 
         14   for appliances and HVAC equipment for the residential 
 
         15   customers.  Again, they have another one for the commercial 
 
         16   rebates.  Those sound similar to the Ameren program.  They 
 
         17   have rental property rebates where they've set aside a certain 
 
         18   amount for gas utilization equipment rebates for rental 
 
         19   properties of eight units or less.  And this -- this is a neat 
 
         20   program because it rebates 50 percent of the cost of such 
 
         21   equipment up to a maximum of 750 per unit up to 200 rental 
 
         22   properties.  So that's -- 
 
         23           Q.     You like this program? 
 
         24           A.     I do.  I do. 
 
         25           Q.     Is this program included in the recommendation 
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          1   for the current case? 
 
          2           A.     No. 
 
          3           Q.     And, again, you remember to mention that, if 
 
          4   you would -- 
 
          5           A.     Oh, I'm sorry. 
 
          6           Q.     -- if we discuss any of these programs that 
 
          7   are recommended in this case. 
 
          8           A.     I will. 
 
          9           Q.     Thank you.  Anything else here? 
 
         10           A.     Yes, I don't see -- hang on.  Let me see what 
 
         11   I've got on my list.  Now on my list, but I don't see it -- 
 
         12   see it on this list, we've got 50,000 -- an insulation 
 
         13   financing loan program up to -- then this is a program they've 
 
         14   had for a long time, I think, where they loan up to $3,000 for 
 
         15   qualified residential customers at a 3 percent interest rate. 
 
         16           Q.     All right. 
 
         17           A.     It's collected through their bill.  They -- 
 
         18           Q.     Has some similarity -- I don't mean to 
 
         19   interrupt you. 
 
         20           A.     That's okay. 
 
         21           Q.     It has some similarity to a PAYS-type program? 
 
         22           A.     Yes. 
 
         23           Q.     Okay.  Keep -- I'm sorry.  Keep going. 
 
         24           A.     That's okay.  Then they have a 1,000 -- and 
 
         25   this was proposed but -- I believe this one went through -- 
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          1   let's see.  Energy 100,000 -- these are for energy-wise loans. 
 
          2   These are loans of up 10,000 at 3 percent.  Once again, 
 
          3   they're collected through the bill. 
 
          4                  And this -- this was the program I thought I 
 
          5   was talking about a second ago because I -- believe it's this 
 
          6   program that they agreed to not exactly lower their credit 
 
          7   standards, but take on more low-income customers.  I believe 
 
          8   it was people that owned up to eight units in a building. 
 
          9           Q.     Okay. 
 
         10           A.     So -- 
 
         11           Q.     So with the idea that perhaps there would be 
 
         12   more individuals or -- eligible to get more eff-- or 
 
         13   conservation or efficiency matters implemented in additional 
 
         14   buildings, or do you know? 
 
         15           A.     I proposed this one and I -- 
 
         16           Q.     Okay. 
 
         17           A.     -- my thinking was that low-income people 
 
         18   probably have trouble getting credit.  And these programs 
 
         19   are -- or these type of investments sometimes take a big up 
 
         20   front cost.  I bought a furnace through the Ameren program 
 
         21   actually a couple of years ago, but you still have to come up 
 
         22   with -- you may get a rebate, you still have to come up with 
 
         23   the rest of the money. 
 
         24           Q.     Yes. 
 
         25           A.     They might have trouble borrowing the money. 
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          1   They might have trouble with any inspections that have to be 
 
          2   done ahead of time to qualify them for this type of program. 
 
          3   So in the program that we ended up with, there's some 
 
          4   subsidization of those up front costs that hopefully would 
 
          5   remove some of the barriers. 
 
          6           Q.     Do you know whether that has been working as 
 
          7   you envisioned it? 
 
          8           A.     We haven't gotten a report from Laclede yet. 
 
          9           Q.     But you anticipate having some sort of report 
 
         10   feedback so that that can be evaluated? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     Anything else on Laclede -- 
 
         13           A.     That's all. 
 
         14           Q.     -- that relates to efficiency or conservation? 
 
         15           A.     That's all -- yeah, that's all I have on my 
 
         16   list. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  And then, finally, Missouri Gas Energy, 
 
         18   that's part 5 of 138. 
 
         19           A.     Right.  Okay.  MGE has 500,000 in low-income 
 
         20   weatherization going system-wide.  At the current time -- at 
 
         21   the current time, I don't believe they have any efficiency 
 
         22   programs.  At least there's none on my list and I don't see 
 
         23   any on this tariff. 
 
         24           Q.     I'm not sure what this is referring to, but 
 
         25   under terms and conditions is it -- when you say they don't 
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          1   have any, you mean they don't have any other than this 
 
          2   residential weatherization program? 
 
          3           A.     There was -- it was entitled weatherization 
 
          4   program.  Let me see exactly -- yes.  I don't -- I'm not sure 
 
          5   that there aren't any, but I'm not aware of other efficiency 
 
          6   programs offered by MGE. 
 
          7           Q.     But this one does exist, to your knowledge, 
 
          8   this weatherization program? 
 
          9           A.     Oh, yes.  Yes.  It's been going on a long 
 
         10   time, in fact. 
 
         11           Q.     Okay.  All right.  Now, earlier we were 
 
         12   talking about this NARUC resolution in your Schedule -- what's 
 
         13   that, Schedule 3-2.  I'm wondering if you can turn to that for 
 
         14   a moment for me. 
 
         15           A.     I'm there. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay.  First of all, you've already noted this 
 
         17   concern I think in the last Whereas provision, haven't you? 
 
         18   The one that says, Current forms of rate design may tend to 
 
         19   create a misalignment between interests of natural gas 
 
         20   utilities and this customers? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     I wondered if you could read the two Whereas 
 
         23   clauses?  Hold on. 
 
         24           A.     I'm not sure -- 
 
         25           Q.     Just above it. 
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          1           A.     Okay.  Let me find it. 
 
          2           Q.     It starts out with, Whereas, energy 
 
          3   conservation -- 
 
          4           A.     Whereas, energy conservation and energy 
 
          5   efficiency are, in the short term, the actions most likely to 
 
          6   reduce upward pressure on natural gas prices and to assist in 
 
          7   bringing energy prices down to the benefit of all natural gas 
 
          8   consumers; and whereas, innovative rate designs, including 
 
          9   energy efficient tariffs and decoupling tariffs such as those 
 
         10   employed by Northwest Natural Gas, Baltimore Gas and Electric 
 
         11   and Washington Gas in Maryland, Southwest Gas in California 
 
         12   and Piedmont Natural Gas in South Carolina.  Fixed variable 
 
         13   rates -- 
 
         14           Q.     Excuse me.  Is that South Carolina or North 
 
         15   Carolina? 
 
         16           A.     Oh, North Carolina. 
 
         17           Q.     I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 
 
         18           A.     That's okay.  Fixed variable rates, 
 
         19   parenthesis, such as those -- that employed by Northern States 
 
         20   Power in North Dakota and Atlanta Gas Light in Georgia, end 
 
         21   parenthesis, other options, parenthesis, such as that approved 
 
         22   in Oklahoma for Oklahoma Natural Gas, end parenthesis, and 
 
         23   other innovative proposals and programs may assist, especially 
 
         24   in the short run, in promoting energy efficiency and energy 
 
         25   conservation and slowing the rate of demand growth of natural 
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          1   gas. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  Now, my first question is, are you 
 
          3   familiar with any of these particular provisions that are 
 
          4   cited in that whereas provision? 
 
          5           A.     Yes.  I'm familiar with the Atlanta Gas Light 
 
          6   program. 
 
          7           Q.     Okay.  What is that? 
 
          8           A.     It's a program that has I think two different 
 
          9   components to the bill.  There's a customer charge that does 
 
         10   not vary among residential customers. 
 
         11           Q.     Yes. 
 
         12           A.     And then there's a charge -- and it's very 
 
         13   complicated because they have natural gas marketers and -- 
 
         14   and -- but there's more of a demand-related charge that's -- 
 
         15   that's determined from past information about the household. 
 
         16   And somehow it's -- it's allocated among the months.  And I'm 
 
         17   a little fuzzy because it's a very complicated program.  I've 
 
         18   read the tariff. 
 
         19           Q.     Is there an intent there to help encourage 
 
         20   efficiency or conservation with this program? 
 
         21           A.     I -- I don't know. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay.  You would note though, wouldn't you, 
 
         23   just to look back, it does say that these innovative rate 
 
         24   designs, including energy efficient tariffs.  Correct? 
 
         25           A.     Yes. 
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          1           Q.     All right.  Now, in regard to -- are there any 
 
          2   others there that are listed that you're familiar with other 
 
          3   than Atlanta Gas Light? 
 
          4           A.     Well, is the Northern -- if the Northern 
 
          5   States Power is -- is Excel Energy, then I'm familiar with 
 
          6   that, but I'm not sure if those are the same -- 
 
          7           Q.     Okay. 
 
          8           A.     -- company. 
 
          9           Q.     And I don't know the answer to that so -- in 
 
         10   regard to this -- to both of these paragraphs, would you agree 
 
         11   that there is a very significant statement proposed here in 
 
         12   regard to the importance of energy efficiency -- 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     -- and conservation? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     Now, if you would then, we've already talked 
 
         17   about that next paragraph.  Would you read the resolve 
 
         18   paragraph, the first one, please? 
 
         19           A.     Yes.  Resolved that the Natural Association -- 
 
         20   in the National Association of Regulatory Utility 
 
         21   Commissioners, NARUC, convene in its November 2005 annual 
 
         22   convention in Indian Wells, California, encourages State 
 
         23   Commissions and other policymakers to review the rate designs 
 
         24   they -- they have previously approved to determine whether 
 
         25   they should be reconsidered in order to implement innovative 
 
 
 

710 of 1082



 
                                                                      399 
 
 
 
          1   rate designs that will encourage energy conservation and 
 
          2   energy efficiency that will assist in moderating natural gas 
 
          3   demand and reducing upward pressure on natural gas prices. 
 
          4           Q.     All right.  Now, would you agree with me that 
 
          5   the stated purpose then for this resolution is to encourage 
 
          6   energy efficiency and energy conservation? 
 
          7           A.     Would you repeat that? 
 
          8           Q.     Would you agree with me that the stated 
 
          9   purpose for this resolution in the resolution clause that you 
 
         10   just read is to encourage energy conservation and energy 
 
         11   efficiency? 
 
         12           A.     Well -- 
 
         13           Q.     Should we go back and read it again?  Let's 
 
         14   start again and beginning with, In order to. 
 
         15           A.     In order to implement -- in order to implement 
 
         16   innovative rate designs -- is that -- am I where you -- 
 
         17           Q.     Yes. 
 
         18           A.     That will encourage energy conservation and 
 
         19   energy efficiency that will assist -- 
 
         20           Q.     If you would, stop for a moment. 
 
         21           A.     Okay. 
 
         22           Q.     Now, would you agree with me that the stated 
 
         23   purpose of this resolution is to encourage energy 
 
         24   efficiency -- excuse me, energy conservation and energy 
 
         25   efficiency? 
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          1           A.     Yes. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  And then, further, that the reason or 
 
          3   the rationale for doing that is it will assist in moderating 
 
          4   natural gas demand and reducing upward pressure on natural gas 
 
          5   prices? 
 
          6           A.     Yes. 
 
          7           Q.     Okay.  And when we get that additional 
 
          8   information back on the two reports -- 
 
          9           A.     Yes. 
 
         10           Q.     -- we talked about, I'll come back, but I'll 
 
         11   step for now.  Thank you. 
 
         12                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I do have the copies of 
 
         13   revenue decoupling survey responses from other State 
 
         14   Commissions I think that Commissioner Gaw was asking about. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 
 
         16                  MR. BERLIN:  I also would like to note that we 
 
         17   have an additional tariff section for Empire, formerly Aquila, 
 
         18   on residential customer purchase plan and commercial 
 
         19   industrial purchase plan.  This section -- these two tariffs 
 
         20   were just brought to me.  So if it please the Commission, they 
 
         21   can augment the Empire tariffs with this. 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I will add that to our 
 
         23   previously marked Exhibit No. 138, that additional tariff. 
 
         24   And I'll mark the Oklahoma Commission report as Exhibit 
 
         25   No. 140. 
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          1                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Did you all do that 
 
          2   survey over lunch? 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  This is an Oklahoma Commission 
 
          4   survey. 
 
          5                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Oh, the big survey's a 
 
          6   compilation of all states from Oklahoma. 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  This is the Empire tariffs 
 
          9   regarding residential and commercial purchase plans. 
 
         10                  (Exhibit No. 140 was marked for 
 
         11   identification.) 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, Commissioner Clayton.  Do 
 
         13   you want to ask some questions? 
 
         14                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Only if Commissioner 
 
         15   Gaw needs to catch his breath, I guess. 
 
         16   FURTHER QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         17           Q.     Ms. Ross, how you doing? 
 
         18           A.     I'm fine.  How are you? 
 
         19           Q.     When I heard that you had a survey -- because 
 
         20   I missed the beginning when you started back up -- I thought 
 
         21   you went out and did this survey over the lunch hour and I was 
 
         22   going to be very impressed that you all compiled this.  I'm 
 
         23   still glad we have it. 
 
         24                  I wanted to start off with Exhibit 138, part 6 
 
         25   of 6 now as it's revised.  I believe that is -- this is 
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          1   Aquila.  It looks like Aquila Networks.  But this looks 
 
          2   like -- isn't this the one that was adopted by Empire?  Is 
 
          3   there any difference between this one -- 
 
          4                  MR. BERLIN:  The Aquila tariffs were adopted 
 
          5   by Empire, Commissioner Clayton. 
 
          6                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  So part 6 of 6, this is 
 
          7   just identical to -- 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  That would -- I believe item 
 
          9   No. 1 is the Empire tariffs or the adoption of this.  And 
 
         10   so -- 
 
         11                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  It's not identical, I 
 
         12   don't think.  So they'd both be adopted by Empire unless this 
 
         13   one relates to electricity also.  I guess, Mr. Berlin, why 
 
         14   don't you describe what you just gave us so I know what we're 
 
         15   talking about. 
 
         16                  MR. BERLIN:  I handed to you -- let me start 
 
         17   with the Empire District Company.  There is an adoption notice 
 
         18   on the cover page. 
 
         19                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  And that is part 1 of 5 
 
         20   as it's listed -- it's actually part 1 of 6, Exhibit 138. 
 
         21   Correct? 
 
         22                  MR. BERLIN:  Correct.  And that included the 
 
         23   experimental low-income program. 
 
         24                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Yeah. 
 
         25                  MR. BERLIN:  And what I just handed out was 
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          1   another tariff section from Empire 9.06 titled Residential 
 
          2   Customer Purchase Plan and 9.07 Commercial and Industrial 
 
          3   Customer Purchase Plan, sheet No. R-49 and R-50. 
 
          4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay.  So just to be 
 
          5   clear, these sheets have been adopted by Empire as well? 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes. 
 
          7   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
          8           Q.     Okay.  Ms. Ross do you have part 6 of 6, 
 
          9   Exhibit 138, Section 9.06? 
 
         10           A.     Yes. 
 
         11           Q.     Could you just describe these two plans, 9.06 
 
         12   and 9.07, to me? 
 
         13           A.     Okay.  9.06, they will -- they will loan money 
 
         14   at prime plus 2 -- I'm trying to see.  They'll loan up to 
 
         15   $10,000.  It looks like they can loan more than $10,000 at the 
 
         16   company's discretion.  The financing's made directly to 
 
         17   customers and it's for energy efficient equipment.  I'm not 
 
         18   sure what NAECA stands for.  I've heard of it, but I couldn't 
 
         19   name that right now, but it's an efficiency rating 
 
         20   organization, I would suspect. 
 
         21           Q.     So 9.06 is a plan for residential customers to 
 
         22   finance certain energy efficient appliances and equipment? 
 
         23           A.     Yes. 
 
         24           Q.     And 9.07? 
 
         25           A.     Well, it looks like 9.07 is basically the same 
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          1   thing except that the company does not loan the money to the 
 
          2   commercial or industrial -- 
 
          3           Q.     But it's for a commercial, industrial 
 
          4   customer? 
 
          5           A.     Yes. 
 
          6           Q.     And it promotes energy efficient appliance -- 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     -- purchases -- 
 
          9           A.     Yes. 
 
         10           Q.     -- and usage? 
 
         11           A.     Through the offering of a low interest rate, I 
 
         12   believe. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay.  Is this the first time that you've 
 
         14   looked at either of these? 
 
         15           A.     I looked at 9.06 a couple of years ago when we 
 
         16   did the last Aquila case. 
 
         17           Q.     Do you know the age of -- well, actually it 
 
         18   should be fairly apparent here.  Can I look at the bottom of 
 
         19   these tariff sheets and identify the age of the programs?  Is 
 
         20   that an accurate way of determining the age of each of the 
 
         21   programs? 
 
         22                  For example, part 1 of 6 on Exhibit 138, which 
 
         23   is the first ELIP program, it says, Effective date, 
 
         24   October 17, 2004.  Can I assume that this program has been in 
 
         25   existence since October 17, 2004? 
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          1           A.     No.  I don't think so. 
 
          2           Q.     Well, then I was going to ask that for each of 
 
          3   them.  Do you know the age of each of the programs THAT we've 
 
          4   discussed here today? 
 
          5           A.     I know the age of some of them, not each of 
 
          6   them. 
 
          7           Q.     Okay.  Well, I guess starting with -- starting 
 
          8   with part 1 of 6 on the old Aquila Gas ELIP program and the 
 
          9   residential and industrial customer purchase plans for 
 
         10   efficiency equipment, do you know the ages of these programs? 
 
         11   That would be part 1 and part 6 of 6. 
 
         12           A.     Right.  On the ELIP program, it's two or three 
 
         13   years. 
 
         14           Q.     Two or three years old? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay. 
 
         17           A.     That came about in the last Aquila case rate 
 
         18   case. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay. 
 
         20           A.     As far as the second one, no, I don't know. 
 
         21           Q.     So this is pretty close to -- October 17, 2004 
 
         22   date's probably pretty close -- 
 
         23           A.     Yeah. 
 
         24           Q.     -- to -- 
 
         25           A.     It may -- that may be when that was adopted. 
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          1           Q.     Okay. 
 
          2           A.     It seems like longer ago than that. 
 
          3           Q.     I know time passes. 
 
          4           A.     Maybe not. 
 
          5                  MR. BERLIN:  Commissioner Clayton, perhaps I 
 
          6   can clarify that for you. 
 
          7                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Yes. 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  Up in the upper right-hand corner 
 
          9   you'll notice that it says Original Sheet No. 69 under -- I 
 
         10   believe it's the ELIP program. 
 
         11                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  67. 
 
         12                  MR. BERLIN:  67, 68 and 70.  And since it's 
 
         13   the original tariff sheet, it was effective -- down in the 
 
         14   bottom right-hand corner you'll notice the date October 17th, 
 
         15   2004. 
 
         16                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay.  Good.  So that's 
 
         17   1 of 6.  Can we say the same thing for part 6 of 6, the Aquila 
 
         18   residential and industrial customer purchase plan programs, 
 
         19   May 28, 2004? 
 
         20                  MR. BERLIN:  Correct. 
 
         21                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  R-49? 
 
         22                  MR. BERLIN:  That's correct, Commissioner 
 
         23   Clayton. 
 
         24                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Part 2 is AmerenUE. 
 
         25   This has a date effective of -- it says Original Sheet 75, 
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          1   February 18, 1998. 
 
          2                  THE WITNESS:  Then -- 
 
          3                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I don't care who I'm 
 
          4   asking here.  It looks like they are first revised too so 
 
          5   there are some changes, but the original sheet on the 
 
          6   experimental weatherization program appears to be February 18, 
 
          7   1998. 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  That's correct, Commissioner 
 
          9   Clayton. 
 
         10                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Equipment rebate 
 
         11   program is fourth revised so this one doesn't look right.  Do 
 
         12   you all know the date of that, the age of that?  Can we safely 
 
         13   say 1998 also? 
 
         14                  MR. BERLIN:  We don't know that date, 
 
         15   Commissioner Clayton.  We'd have to go back and research it. 
 
         16   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  Do you know, Ms. Ross? 
 
         18           A.     No, I don't. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  I assume the same would be the case for 
 
         20   Southern Missouri, that's in a revised sheet.  Revised sheet 
 
         21   from Laclede goes back at least to 2002, it looks like. 
 
         22           A.     Some of the Laclede programs I think were 
 
         23   new -- at least one of them in the last rate case. 
 
         24           Q.     In the last case.  Okay.  Well, that's 
 
         25   helpful.  I don't need the exact dates.  What I was trying to 
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          1   get a handle on is the amount of age that each of the programs 
 
          2   have so that we can determine their effectiveness or discuss 
 
          3   their effectiveness. 
 
          4                  Before I do that, on the Aquila sheets that 
 
          5   have been adopted by Empire, part 6 of 6, are you recommending 
 
          6   the provisions of that part -- that Exhibit 138, part 6 of 6, 
 
          7   as part of your testimony in this case regarding Amos? 
 
          8           A.     Okay. 
 
          9           Q.     Are you recommending adoption of those 
 
         10   proposals? 
 
         11           A.     Let me find -- so this is the Aquila part 6 of 
 
         12   6, which -- that -- 
 
         13           Q.     That would be the document that Mr. Berlin 
 
         14   gave me. 
 
         15           A.     I know.  Mine aren't marked though is my 
 
         16   problem. 
 
         17           Q.     I had it marked as part 6 of 6.  It was the 
 
         18   residential and industrial commercial purchase programs that 
 
         19   we talked about.  Are you recommending any type of purchased 
 
         20   program for energy efficient appliances in this case? 
 
         21           A.     No, not in this case. 
 
         22           Q.     No.  So you're not recommending these 
 
         23   provisions either -- 
 
         24           A.     No. 
 
         25           Q.     -- associated with Aquila? 
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          1                  Okay.  Are you aware of -- since we've gone 
 
          2   through the existence of each of these programs, are you aware 
 
          3   of any evaluation that has been done on any of the programs to 
 
          4   determine their effectiveness? 
 
          5           A.     Yes.  On the weatherization programs, MGE has 
 
          6   had at least one evaluation done.  I believe there's been an 
 
          7   evaluation on the Ameren gas weatherization program. 
 
          8           Q.     Just on weatherization? 
 
          9           A.     Yes.  Oh, we go through -- there hasn't been a 
 
         10   formal evaluation done on the Ameren Gas equipment rebate 
 
         11   programs, but, again, we meet every year and talk about those. 
 
         12           Q.     So it's not a formal assessment, but you all 
 
         13   kind of -- 
 
         14           A.     It's not by an outside party, but -- 
 
         15           Q.     You all just talk about it and -- 
 
         16           A.     Yes.  Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  What was the result of the MGE and 
 
         18   Ameren Gas weatherization assessments? 
 
         19           A.     I know the -- I believe that both of them got 
 
         20   a good assessment.  I've got -- I've got those documents 
 
         21   upstairs, but I believe that they found that it was 
 
         22   successful. 
 
         23           Q.     Okay.  Anywhere within Exhibit 138 are there 
 
         24   any programs aside from energy efficiency that promote 
 
         25   conservation? 
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          1           A.     Not that I know of. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  Are you aware of programs anywhere in 
 
          3   the country that would relate to conservation aside from 
 
          4   energy efficiency?  Are there separate programs designed just 
 
          5   to promote conservation of energy? 
 
          6           A.     Yes, 
 
          7           Q.     There are? 
 
          8           A.     Although I could -- I do -- I could research 
 
          9   it and find them, but, yes, there are programs that -- I 
 
         10   believe there might be some in California that are tied to 
 
         11   conservation.  I'm not sure if perhaps you get a lower rate. 
 
         12   I believe there's one where if you save 10 percent over your 
 
         13   usage last year -- it's complicated, but there are other 
 
         14   programs that relate specifically to conservation. 
 
         15           Q.     Okay.  So they can be identified as two 
 
         16   separate issues, conservation, energy efficiency? 
 
         17           A.     Yes. 
 
         18           Q.     Okay.  Has anyone on Staff done significant 
 
         19   studies on energy efficiency or conservation in general, not 
 
         20   necessarily for this case, but worked on these issues in an 
 
         21   effort to develop a policy? 
 
         22           A.     I'm not sure how to answer that. 
 
         23           Q.     In English would be -- 
 
         24           A.     There are a couple of Staff members that have 
 
         25   worked on these issues in -- in -- for a long time and have 
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          1   looked at -- into them in great detail. 
 
          2           Q.     The programs that are in place associated with 
 
          3   other LDCs, were those programs put into place because of 
 
          4   Commission Staff research and development or were they put 
 
          5   into place because of utility work or utility design, do you 
 
          6   know? 
 
          7           A.     I would say both.  In some -- some of the 
 
          8   programs came from Staff proposals.  Other programs I believe 
 
          9   were proposed by the company. 
 
         10           Q.     How about the company purchase plans and 
 
         11   rebates?  Who developed those programs, do you know?  If you 
 
         12   don't know, that's -- 
 
         13           A.     Yeah, I'm not sure. 
 
         14           Q.     Okay.  Did you have an opportunity to review 
 
         15   any of the other states that I mentioned on the way in?  I 
 
         16   know that was a very short amount of time.  We talked about -- 
 
         17           A.     I didn't have a chance to read over it, no. 
 
         18           Q.     Didn't have a chance to do that.  Have you 
 
         19   ever studied California's energy efficiency planning and laws 
 
         20   that they've put into place? 
 
         21           A.     Yes.  A little. 
 
         22           Q.     You have. 
 
         23           A.     I've looked over -- I've read a few things 
 
         24   about -- 
 
         25           Q.     Well enough to talk about them or -- 
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          1           A.     Not really. 
 
          2           Q.     Is there anything that you've seen in 
 
          3   California that you thought would be applicable to Missouri 
 
          4   with regard to energy efficiency or conservation? 
 
          5           A.     I'm sorry.  I've looked at so many of these 
 
          6   programs.  I could answer that tomorrow. 
 
          7           Q.     That's okay.  I know you've looked at a lot of 
 
          8   these programs. 
 
          9           A.     Uh-huh. 
 
         10           Q.     Is there any one that jumps out that suggests 
 
         11   that Missouri should be taking a hard look at it in promoting 
 
         12   some of the provisions within those programs?  I know you've 
 
         13   looked at them, but is there anything that jumps out? 
 
         14           A.     No.  Not -- not -- that I could think of. 
 
         15           Q.     Are you familiar with the Midwest Natural Gas 
 
         16   Initiative? 
 
         17           A.     I expect I've read it.  I'm not -- 
 
         18           Q.     But nothing jumps out -- 
 
         19           A.     -- familiar with it. 
 
         20           Q.     -- that would be applicable for -- 
 
         21           A.     No. 
 
         22           Q.     Do you think Missouri does enough with regard 
 
         23   to promotion of the -- well, first of all, do you believe the 
 
         24   Energy Star program is a worthy program that should be 
 
         25   promoted in this state? 
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          1           A.     The Energy Star program -- 
 
          2           Q.     The Energy Star rated appliances for energy 
 
          3   efficiency.  The Energy Star -- do you know what Energy Star 
 
          4   is? 
 
          5           A.     I do. 
 
          6           Q.     The seal of approval that's on the appliances 
 
          7   says energy efficient appliances. 
 
          8           A.     Right.  That they meet a certain minimum level 
 
          9   of efficiency.  Yes, I was -- I'm not sure if you were here 
 
         10   when I was saying earlier that Ameren has a good en-- a good 
 
         11   program that incorporates Energy Star equipment, a rebate 
 
         12   program. 
 
         13           Q.     You think Energy Star -- the Energy Star 
 
         14   program, the certification, is something that ought to be 
 
         15   promoted in the state of Missouri -- 
 
         16           A.     Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     -- regardless of LDC? 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  And you think Ameren Gas's -- or 
 
         20   AmerenUE's rebate program, appliance program is something 
 
         21   that's worthy of consideration in other jurisdictions or in 
 
         22   other -- 
 
         23           A.     Yes. 
 
         24           Q.     -- LDC territories? 
 
         25           A.     I do. 
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          1           Q.     Is that something that we should consider in 
 
          2   this case, in your opinion? 
 
          3           A.     I suppose, yes.  The reason we started smaller 
 
          4   in -- in -- with the Atmos case is that they don't really have 
 
          5   anything going on right now.  So rather than come in -- we 
 
          6   wanted to talk to the company, see what they were capable of, 
 
          7   see what their -- their customers -- they felt that their 
 
          8   customers needed. 
 
          9           Q.     What do you think -- 
 
         10           A.     I suppose -- 
 
         11           Q.     -- Atmos's customers need? 
 
         12           A.     They definitely needed the low-income 
 
         13   weatherization that Atmos has -- has agreed to, because they 
 
         14   haven't had any funds going to low-income weatherization in 
 
         15   the past and there are a lot of low-income customers. 
 
         16           Q.     More than 30? 
 
         17           A.     More than 30. 
 
         18           Q.     How many do you think? 
 
         19           A.     Actually, I think I have -- there's a number 
 
         20   that we have somewhere for LIEAP and I think about 
 
         21   20 percent -- if you took LIEAP and multiplied it by 5. 
 
         22           Q.     20 percent of 50,000 then? 
 
         23           A.     No, no, no.  I think that whatever the number 
 
         24   is -- hang on.  Is this it?  No.  Whatever the number is for 
 
         25   LIEAP -- traditionally I think LIEAP -- about 20 percent of 
 
 
 

726 of 1082



 
                                                                      415 
 
 
 
          1   low-income -- 
 
          2           Q.     20 percent of the LIEAP applications or -- 
 
          3           A.     20 percent of the eligible population applies 
 
          4   for LIEAP. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay. 
 
          6           A.     So you could take that number and multiply it 
 
          7   by something to get to -- 
 
          8           Q.     So 20 percent of the LIEAP population you 
 
          9   identified need.  Were there any other consumer or customer 
 
         10   needs that you identify in your evaluation? 
 
         11           A.     Yes.  Yes.  I think that all customer groups, 
 
         12   not just low-income -- I think that -- that many residential 
 
         13   customers need help with conservation information.  They need 
 
         14   education, they need to know what you can do, how much it 
 
         15   costs. 
 
         16                  For example, I was surprised to find that a 
 
         17   programmable thermostat only costed about 20 bucks.  You know, 
 
         18   I would have assumed that cost a lot more than that.  And as a 
 
         19   result of education actually that I received here at the 
 
         20   Commission, I -- I found that out and I'll never be without 
 
         21   one.  I think -- 
 
         22           Q.     And in response to that, there are those 
 
         23   audits that you have in there -- 
 
         24           A.     Yes. 
 
         25           Q.     -- the customer audits? 
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          1           A.     Yes.  I think it would help the customers 
 
          2   think of things they could do.  I mean, you can only turn your 
 
          3   thermostat down so far.  So perhaps it would give them some 
 
          4   ideas, some technical knowledge.  The utility I think is a 
 
          5   good source of specific technical knowledge that they could 
 
          6   give to the customers, share with the customers. 
 
          7           Q.     Okay.  You mentioned that we should start 
 
          8   small because there isn't much going on with regard to 
 
          9   conservation, energy efficiency. 
 
         10           A.     And they're a small company -- 
 
         11           Q.     They're a small company.  I understand that. 
 
         12           A.     -- in Missouri. 
 
         13           Q.     But we should start small.  Why is that?  What 
 
         14   limitations?  Is it a matter of money?  Is it a matter of 
 
         15   resources? 
 
         16           A.     No.  And maybe my choice of the word "small" 
 
         17   was not good.  I felt like it might be difficult for a company 
 
         18   that hadn't been doing this kind of thing in Missouri to jump 
 
         19   in to some of the programs maybe that the other utilities 
 
         20   have.  Because they have the -- the billing system, the 
 
         21   computer system set up for it, they -- you know, they just 
 
         22   have things in place that Atmos probably doesn't yet. 
 
         23           Q.     Do they have programs in any other states -- 
 
         24   energy efficiency program in other states? 
 
         25           A.     I believe so.  I believe so. 
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          1           Q.     Are there programs that could be adopted here 
 
          2   with some flexibility? 
 
          3           A.     I -- you'd -- you'd have to ask an Atmos 
 
          4   witness that.  I'm not sure. 
 
          5           Q.     So it's something we ought to look into or 
 
          6   perhaps Staff could look into or -- 
 
          7           A.     Sure. 
 
          8           Q.     Okay.  Is there anything else around the 
 
          9   country that you'd want to identify as being a bright spot or 
 
         10   something that we should consider as a shining example of 
 
         11   energy efficiency and conservation? 
 
         12           A.     Not really specific programs.  I think that 
 
         13   there are specific program factors that are -- that are very 
 
         14   important, and one of those being education.  And, again and 
 
         15   again I've read that consumer education probably gives you 
 
         16   about the most bang for the buck as far as conservation and 
 
         17   efficiency goes.  So I definitely think that not only Atmos, 
 
         18   but Missouri could use a lot more education of just its entire 
 
         19   customer base. 
 
         20           Q.     What do you think the Commission's role is in 
 
         21   that educational process? 
 
         22           A.     Well, I think that we -- we can help encourage 
 
         23   the companies.  I think that it -- my opinion now, that it 
 
         24   would be useful to have a statewide-type of program rather 
 
         25   than a utility by utility program, something that's 
 
 
 

729 of 1082



 
                                                                      418 
 
 
 
          1   consistent. 
 
          2                  I think that if the Commissioners, for 
 
          3   instance, were to do public service ads, that type of thing, I 
 
          4   think that would mean a lot and would get people's attention. 
 
          5   So I can see really lots of goals.  I think we could all work 
 
          6   together to further conservation in Missouri. 
 
          7           Q.     Is there anything unique to Missouri that 
 
          8   would delay that discussion or further pursuit of that 
 
          9   education? 
 
         10           A.     Not that I know of. 
 
         11           Q.     I'm looking through this survey and there 
 
         12   aren't that many states that have decoupled. 
 
         13           A.     Which one? 
 
         14           Q.     From the Oklahoma Commission.  I'm not sure 
 
         15   how they defined revenue decoupling.  I'm not sure decoupling 
 
         16   is the same meaning that you go to fixed charges, but if 
 
         17   Missouri -- if we would adopt -- if we would adopt this 
 
         18   decoupling mechanism where we go to a fixed delivery charge, 
 
         19   is it accurate to say that we'd be one of four -- one of five 
 
         20   states in the country that have done this? 
 
         21           A.     I'm not sure that we'd be one of five states. 
 
         22           Q.     You're right.  Maybe it's one of four.  Does 
 
         23   that help? 
 
         24           A.     Somewhere down there.  I think it would be 
 
         25   fair to say that we're -- we would be one of -- one of a 
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          1   handful of states that are doing it this way.  I think that -- 
 
          2   that the various revenue decoupling mechanisms are all trying 
 
          3   to get to the same place.  Some of them use very complicated 
 
          4   rate schemes, some of them adjust usage.  Ours is pretty 
 
          5   simple and straightforward and that's actually one of the 
 
          6   advantages of it. 
 
          7           Q.     Do the other ones that have decoupled, 
 
          8   quote/quote, have programs for energy efficiency or 
 
          9   conservation attached to them? 
 
         10           A.     I'm sure that a lot of them do, yes.  I don't 
 
         11   know that all of them do, but -- 
 
         12           Q.     Would Missouri be the only state that 
 
         13   decoupled without implementing an energy efficiency program, 
 
         14   do you know? 
 
         15           A.     I -- well, if we decoupled without -- without 
 
         16   energy efficiency program, yes. 
 
         17           Q.     We'd be the only state that decoupled -- 
 
         18           A.     Without -- 
 
         19           Q.     -- without having an energy efficiency 
 
         20   program? 
 
         21           A.     Well, I'm not sure I understand, because we -- 
 
         22   we aren't proposing that we decouple without having energy 
 
         23   efficiency programs. 
 
         24           Q.     Right.  That's what I'm saying.  We'd be the 
 
         25   only state doing it this way? 
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          1           A.     Actually, there may be one other. 
 
          2           Q.     Do you know which one? 
 
          3           A.     No.  But I could get that for you.  Because -- 
 
          4           Q.     Well, I got it right here. 
 
          5           A.     -- I read that just recently. 
 
          6           Q.     If you have an idea, I could look it up. 
 
          7           A.     Yeah. 
 
          8           Q.     No.  Ms. Ross, I wanted to -- I'm not going to 
 
          9   ask you any more questions.  Thank you for doing some extra 
 
         10   work over the lunch hour.  I would ask if you do have 
 
         11   additional information that you think would be worthy of the 
 
         12   Commission to consider relating to these issues, I mentioned 
 
         13   some of those programs earlier -- 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15           Q.     -- regarding other states or the Midwest Gas 
 
         16   Initiative or other energy programs, please try to get that to 
 
         17   us.  I know that's kind of an open-ended odd request.  Thank 
 
         18   you? 
 
         19           A.     Well, I do want to -- may I make one more? 
 
         20   Because just flipping through this, this actually isn't the 
 
         21   one I was talking about, but in Ohio, for instance, all they 
 
         22   have are the low-income weatherization programs.  So they -- 
 
         23   they really don't have efficiency or conservation programs per 
 
         24   se.  It's on page 15. 
 
         25                  Tennessee says a few companies have listed 
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          1   conservation tips on their websites.  This is on page 17. 
 
          2   Utah, the gas utility has not offered any incentives yet.  If 
 
          3   the decoupling program is adopted, the utility is set to roll 
 
          4   out some DSM programs to help customers save energy use.  And, 
 
          5   again, in West Virginia the three largest gas utilities 
 
          6   contribute funds to the DOE low-income weatherization program. 
 
          7   Those are things that our -- our companies are doing. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
          9                  Commissioner Gaw, did you have additional 
 
         10   questions? 
 
         11                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Yes.  Hopefully not very 
 
         12   long. 
 
         13   FURTHER QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         14           Q.     Ms. Ross, have you seen any programs where the 
 
         15   rates that were charged for the customer were discounted in 
 
         16   the event that the residential customer or the business 
 
         17   customer was qualified under Energy Star or under some sort of 
 
         18   a rating for the building on efficiency where they actually 
 
         19   received a lower rate? 
 
         20           A.     No.  I think I said I've seen something 
 
         21   similar to that in the California -- in the state of 
 
         22   California, although I think at that point they -- they might 
 
         23   have had to show -- show an actual decreased usage rather than 
 
         24   qualifying by having a certain type of equipment. 
 
         25           Q.     Would that make sense to you?  And I know 
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          1   there are arguments that could be made against it, but could 
 
          2   you see some sense made as an incentive to grant -- that would 
 
          3   be visible and transparent to a consumer if you said to them, 
 
          4   If you meet these set of criteria for energy efficiency for 
 
          5   your residents, you qualify for a discount on your customer 
 
          6   charge? 
 
          7           A.     On your customer charge? 
 
          8           Q.     Or any part of it, but it could be the 
 
          9   customer charge. 
 
         10           A.     Yes.  I think that there might be the usual 
 
         11   problems with rental -- renters, for instance, who don't have 
 
         12   a lot of control over that. 
 
         13           Q.     But I specifically avoided the landlord rental 
 
         14   issue in this because it gets very, very complicated very 
 
         15   quickly. 
 
         16           A.     Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     And it could take us at least a day -- 
 
         18           A.     Yeah. 
 
         19           Q.     -- to go through the set of issues that are 
 
         20   involved in that.  And, of course, you're absolutely right, 
 
         21   that's a very important area that needs to be worked through 
 
         22   if we were -- if we were working on trying to develop an 
 
         23   energy efficiency program -- 
 
         24           A.     Yeah. 
 
         25           Q.     -- and hit that core group of -- where renters 
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          1   are paying the utility rates and the landlord may be 
 
          2   benefitting from the weatherization of the house but may or 
 
          3   may not care. 
 
          4           A.     Yeah.  And I put something in my direct, you 
 
          5   know, saying that that was something we were going to have to 
 
          6   look at. 
 
          7           Q.     But aside from that, if we were dealing with 
 
          8   the customer who actually owned their property and we look 
 
          9   away for the moment on this question from the landlord/tenant 
 
         10   issue, would it not create some transparency in incentives if 
 
         11   you offered a discount if the residents met or the business 
 
         12   met certain qualifications for efficiency in their residence 
 
         13   or their business? 
 
         14           A.     I guess my answer to that would be yes but. 
 
         15   Because you'd still -- I was talking earlier about the problem 
 
         16   of up front costs and the problem of making these investments. 
 
         17   And I think you'd still -- a lot of people would have 
 
         18   trouble making the investments needed to qualify for the lower 
 
         19   rate. 
 
         20           Q.     So you would need some additional program to 
 
         21   help with that part of it, wouldn't you? 
 
         22           A.     To make it a comprehensive program that, you 
 
         23   know, lower income, middle income customers could take 
 
         24   advantage of, yes. 
 
         25           Q.     So if you put those two things together, you'd 
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          1   be down the road a-ways toward creating that kind of a 
 
          2   comprehensive program, wouldn't you? 
 
          3           A.     Yes. 
 
          4           Q.     Let me ask -- and I don't know if you're the 
 
          5   witness on this, so -- and I know you're not up here at the 
 
          6   moment for this so you tell me if you're not the witness for 
 
          7   it.  Okay? 
 
          8           A.     Uh-huh. 
 
          9           Q.     Did you file any testimony regarding the rate 
 
         10   blocks on the gas charges?  Are you familiar with the rate 
 
         11   blocks for gas usage in this -- 
 
         12           A.     For this company? 
 
         13           Q.     Yes.  For this company. 
 
         14           A.     I believe that they have one district, and I'd 
 
         15   have to look to see which one it is, that has blocked rates. 
 
         16           Q.     Everyone else it's just one rate? 
 
         17           A.     Yes.  Everyone else is just one rate. 
 
         18           Q.     On the one district that is blocked, do you 
 
         19   recall which one that is?  And if you don't, that's okay. 
 
         20           A.     No.  I -- let me see.  No, I don't. 
 
         21           Q.     Do you know whether the blocks are increasing 
 
         22   or declining blocks? 
 
         23           A.     No.  Not offhand. 
 
         24           Q.     Were you the one -- 
 
         25           A.     I believe they're declining. 
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          1           Q.     Were you the individual that testified about 
 
          2   the issues relating to that? 
 
          3           A.     I just said that I thought that they -- that 
 
          4   the rates should be not normalized, but standardized and that 
 
          5   I -- I felt -- I believe they're declining block -- 
 
          6           Q.     That -- 
 
          7           A.     -- rates. 
 
          8           Q.     -- that would not be unusual -- 
 
          9           A.     No. 
 
         10           Q.     -- would, it for Missouri? 
 
         11           A.     It wouldn't. 
 
         12           Q.     But a declining block actually is counter to 
 
         13   encouraging conservation, isn't it? 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  That's all.  Thank you. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         17                  Okay.  Before we get into the recross, let me 
 
         18   ask, Mr. Poston, are you still interested in asking your 
 
         19   question about MGE of Ms. Ross? 
 
         20                  MR. POSTON:  If she's had an opportunity to 
 
         21   review her testimony.  I know she had a busy lunch. 
 
         22                  THE WITNESS:  No.  I had a chance to do that. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Ross, can you answer his 
 
         24   question? 
 
         25                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Could you repeat it, 
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          1   please. 
 
          2   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 
 
          3           Q.     I was just trying to understand the difference 
 
          4   between the testimony you filed in MGE and the testimony you 
 
          5   filed in this case, where in this case you proposed your 
 
          6   delivery charge for the small general service class and I do 
 
          7   not believe you proposed that for MGE; is that correct? 
 
          8                  MR. BERLIN:  I want to renew my objection, 
 
          9   Judge, on his line of questions with regard to MGE testimony. 
 
         10   And I want to renew it stating that, number one, it's not 
 
         11   relevant in this proceeding; secondly, whatever was filed in 
 
         12   the MGE case, the case is currently being litigated before the 
 
         13   Commission, has not been admitted into evidence; and finally, 
 
         14   MGE and the parties to that case are not present here today. 
 
         15   So I want to renew my objection and get a ruling. 
 
         16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm going to overrule your 
 
         17   objection. 
 
         18                  You can answer the question, Ms. Ross. 
 
         19                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  No, I didn't propose that 
 
         20   in the MGE case.  I did -- I said that I thought that it 
 
         21   needed to be done, that I felt that their general service 
 
         22   class needed to be split and that we should work on getting 
 
         23   the information to do that, but we didn't have the information 
 
         24   at that time. 
 
         25   BY MR. POSOTON: 
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          1           Q.     And what information was that that was 
 
          2   unavailable? 
 
          3           A.     I think we would need individual customer 
 
          4   information. 
 
          5           Q.     And you had that in Atmos? 
 
          6           A.     I had that in Atmos. 
 
          7                  MR. POSTON:  That's all I have. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
          9                  Were there any additional Commissioner 
 
         10   questions? 
 
         11                  All right.  Let's go ahead and take a 
 
         12   10-minute break until a quarter 'til 4:00 and we'll come back 
 
         13   for recross-examination. 
 
         14                  (A recess was taken.) 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I think we're up to 
 
         16   recross-examination based on questions from the Bench for 
 
         17   Ms. Ross. 
 
         18                  Before we do that though, we had a couple of 
 
         19   exhibits that were requested by the Commission, one of which, 
 
         20   Exhibit 139, has not been provided in full.  So what I will do 
 
         21   is when that is provided, I'll give the parties a chance to 
 
         22   make any objections at that time and admit that later or deny 
 
         23   it depending on the objections. 
 
         24                  But let me ask, has everyone had an 
 
         25   opportunity to look at Exhibit 140, or do you need more time 
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          1   to determine if you would have objections to that?  That's the 
 
          2   Oklahoma Commission report. 
 
          3                  MR. FISCHER:  We have no objection. 
 
          4                  MR. POSTON:  We have no objection to it. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Then I will admit 
 
          6   Exhibit 140. 
 
          7                  (Exhibit No. 140 was received into evidence.) 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Is there further 
 
          9   cross-examination based on questions from the Bench from 
 
         10   Atmos? 
 
         11                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes, your Honor. 
 
         12   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         13           Q.     Good afternoon, Ms. Ross. 
 
         14           A.     Good afternoon. 
 
         15           Q.     It's been a long afternoon, but I have just a 
 
         16   few more questions I'd like to ask you if you would help me. 
 
         17   Commissioner Gaw I believe was the principal Commissioner 
 
         18   asking a number of questions about why the Staff proposed the 
 
         19   delivery charge in this proceeding -- 
 
         20           A.     Yes. 
 
         21           Q.     -- do you recall those? 
 
         22                  On page 11 of your surrebuttal at pages -- at 
 
         23   lines 8 through 9 you state, I want to point out that this is 
 
         24   a wonderful opportunity for this Commission to do a great deal 
 
         25   of good for a great number of people; is that correct? 
 
 
 

740 of 1082



 
                                                                      429 
 
 
 
          1           A.     That is correct. 
 
          2           Q.     Is that still your testimony today? 
 
          3           A.     Yes, it is. 
 
          4           Q.     Is that the reason the Staff is proposing the 
 
          5   delivery charge proposal? 
 
          6           A.     That's part of the reason, yes. 
 
          7           Q.     Okay.  Then on page 12 of your Rebuttal -- or 
 
          8   Surrebuttal Testimony you state, We have an opportunity in 
 
          9   Missouri to align the interests of shareholders and customers; 
 
         10   is that correct? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     Is that still your testimony? 
 
         13           A.     Absolutely. 
 
         14           Q.     Would you explain that concept to the 
 
         15   Commission, why you believe we have an excellent opportunity 
 
         16   to align the interests of shareholders and customers? 
 
         17           A.     At the current time and with the current rate 
 
         18   designs, the utility's caught in the middle.  They -- if they 
 
         19   help their customers by helping their customers lower their 
 
         20   usage, then they -- they're working directly against the 
 
         21   interest of their shareholders.  If they work for their 
 
         22   shareholders' interest, which would basically mean increasing 
 
         23   sales, then they're hurting their customers. 
 
         24                  I think that that's a significant 
 
         25   disincentive.  And if we could decouple the utility's revenue 
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          1   stream from the number of sales it makes, then we could -- we 
 
          2   could get the utilities to be a partner in -- in conservation 
 
          3   and efficiency activities.  And personally I believe that the 
 
          4   utilities are probably the strongest partner we could have. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay.  Commissioner Gaw also pointed you to 
 
          6   the NARUC resolution, which was Schedule 3-2 which is attached 
 
          7   to your testimony.  And I think he asked you about the whereas 
 
          8   clause where it says, Current forms of rate design may tend to 
 
          9   create a misalignment between the interest of natural gas 
 
         10   utilities and their customers.  Do you recall that? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     Is that the misalignment that you're talking 
 
         13   about in your testimony? 
 
         14           A.     Yes. 
 
         15           Q.     So you would agree with the NARUC resolution 
 
         16   on that point? 
 
         17           A.     Yes. 
 
         18           Q.     I believe you testified in answer to 
 
         19   Commissioner Gaw that the biggest reason for supporting the 
 
         20   delivery charge rate design was that it is fair.  Do you 
 
         21   recall that? 
 
         22           A.     Yes. 
 
         23           Q.     On page 6 of your Surrebuttal Testimony at 
 
         24   line 17, you state, The low-usage customers on Atmos's system 
 
         25   are most likely customers using the Atmos distribution system 
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          1   to do things like fuel for gas fire logs, cook on a gas stove 
 
          2   or use a gas water heater.  The customers most likely to use 
 
          3   more natural gas than the average are those heating their 
 
          4   homes with natural gas; is that right? 
 
          5           A.     Yes. 
 
          6           Q.     Ms. Ross, isn't the cost of delivery for a gas 
 
          7   customer using just a gas log the same as the cost of delivery 
 
          8   for space heating, cooking and water heating? 
 
          9           A.     Yes.  I believe that it is. 
 
         10           Q.     And under the current rate structure, would 
 
         11   you agree the gas log customer is not paying the same margin 
 
         12   rate as the full service gas customer, which includes space 
 
         13   heating, water heating and miscellaneous gas usages? 
 
         14           A.     Yes.  That was my testimony. 
 
         15           Q.     Another way to say that is that the gas log 
 
         16   customer is being subsidized by the space heating customer? 
 
         17           A.     Yes. 
 
         18           Q.     Is it fair for the high-usage customer to 
 
         19   subsidize the margin rates for the gas log customer, in your 
 
         20   opinion? 
 
         21           A.     No.  In my opinion, it's not. 
 
         22           Q.     Is it fair for the space heating customer to 
 
         23   subsidize the customer that just uses gas for cooking? 
 
         24           A.     No. 
 
         25           Q.     Ms. Ross, would you agree that the low-usage 
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          1   customer is not necessarily the low-income customer? 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     So we can't equate low usage with low income? 
 
          4           A.     No, no.  I don't believe that we can. 
 
          5           Q.     On page 7, lines 6 through 8 of your testimony 
 
          6   you state that, The same plant investment must be made for 
 
          7   both users and there will not be differences in billing, meter 
 
          8   reading and other expenses; is that correct? 
 
          9           A.     That's correct. 
 
         10           Q.     There you're making the point that the cost to 
 
         11   serve these customers are the same? 
 
         12           A.     Yes. 
 
         13           Q.     But Atmos has the same obligation to serve 
 
         14   these customers whether it's just a gas log customer or a 
 
         15   full-service space heating customer; is that right? 
 
         16           A.     Yes.  It's my understanding that if a customer 
 
         17   calls and asks to be hooked up, that Atmos has to hook them 
 
         18   up. 
 
         19           Q.     So my brother-in-law that just has the gas log 
 
         20   that he turns on at Christmastime, he gets served just like 
 
         21   the customer that has the high-usage space heating 
 
         22   requirements? 
 
         23           A.     Yes. 
 
         24           Q.     I'd like to ask you to turn to your Direct 
 
         25   Testimony at page 9.  At the bottom of page 9 and then 
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          1   carrying over to page 10 I believe you answered the question 
 
          2   about why the Staff is recommending that Atmos collect all 
 
          3   margin costs in a single monthly charge; is that right? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Would you explain your first point there of 
 
          6   why it removes disincentives for utilities to encourage and 
 
          7   assist customers in making conservation and efficiency 
 
          8   investments? 
 
          9           A.     Because utilities no longer lose revenues if 
 
         10   they encourage their customers to use less gas.  That's 
 
         11   basically it. 
 
         12           Q.     The utility is basically indifferent to the 
 
         13   fact if they conserve, use less energy, less gas, it doesn't 
 
         14   hurt their earnings and there's no reason not to help with 
 
         15   efficiency.  Is that what you're saying? 
 
         16           A.     That's true.  It doesn't hurt their 
 
         17   shareholders' interests. 
 
         18           Q.     And it does allow the customers to better 
 
         19   control their bills depending -- even if it's a cold weather 
 
         20   or a warm winter? 
 
         21           A.     It will make -- it will make a little bit of 
 
         22   difference, only a few dollars. 
 
         23           Q.     Can you explain why a customer might be better 
 
         24   off under the Staff's proposed rate design in a cold winter or 
 
         25   a cold day like today? 
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          1           A.     Well, in a cold winter, the customer pays a 
 
          2   piece of the margin or each unit of gas they use.  So in a 
 
          3   cold winter, gas usage will go up and they will pay more.  In 
 
          4   fact, they'll pay more than -- they may more than their cost 
 
          5   of service. 
 
          6           Q.     So in a cold winter, the customer is better 
 
          7   off under the Staff's proposed rate design than under the 
 
          8   status quo; is that right? 
 
          9           A.     Oh, yes.  Any customer using more than the 
 
         10   average for any reason is better off. 
 
         11           Q.     On the other hand, the company's earnings 
 
         12   might be higher in a cold winter, isn't that right -- 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     -- under the current rate design? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     But if we turn that scenario around and we 
 
         17   have a warmer than usual warmer, what would the effect of the 
 
         18   current rate design be on the customer? 
 
         19           A.     The customer would pay less than the cost 
 
         20   required to serve them. 
 
         21           Q.     And the company, in terms of recovering the 
 
         22   cost of service of providing that delivery of service, what 
 
         23   would happen in a warmer than usual winter? 
 
         24           A.     They wouldn't collect all of the -- all of the 
 
         25   revenue required. 
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          1           Q.     Okay.  Let's look at the scenario with your 
 
          2   Staff's proposed delivery charge.  What happens in a colder 
 
          3   than normal winter? 
 
          4           A.     The customer pays let's say $20 regardless of 
 
          5   usage the -- on the margin.  The company collects $20 
 
          6   regardless -- regardless of the customer's usage. 
 
          7           Q.     And during that colder than normal winter, the 
 
          8   customer's going to be paying more in the commodity charges in 
 
          9   all likelihood; is that correct? 
 
         10           A.     Yes.  It's likely that their bill will go up 
 
         11   as their usage goes up. 
 
         12           Q.     So if we keep the current status quo in that 
 
         13   colder than normal winter, we're going to be burdening the 
 
         14   customer with additional margin charges in addition to those 
 
         15   commodity charges; is that correct? 
 
         16           A.     That's correct. 
 
         17                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I object to this 
 
         18   line.  I'm not sure what Commissioner questions these are 
 
         19   following up on. 
 
         20                  MR. FISCHER:  These are following up on the 
 
         21   question that Commissioner Gaw asked why the Staff was 
 
         22   proposing the delivery charge. 
 
         23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'll allow her to answer the 
 
         24   question, but Mr. Fischer, I believe this is in Ms. Ross's 
 
         25   testimony and I think the Commission understands it.  I'll 
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          1   allow you to ask, but -- 
 
          2                  MR. FISCHER:  I'm not sure based on some of 
 
          3   the questions, so I just want to make sure it's in the record. 
 
          4   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
          5           Q.     Let's talk about the conservation programs, 
 
          6   the efficiency programs.  Is it correct that the Staff had a 
 
          7   rate design technical conference where the parties met in June 
 
          8   to talk about the Staff's proposed rate design and other items 
 
          9   that were relevant to that? 
 
         10           A.     Yes. 
 
         11           Q.     Is it your understanding that Atmos has 
 
         12   accepted the Staff's proposal on the delivery charge? 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     That was Staff's proposal; is that right? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     And we discussed it at length during the 
 
         17   technical conference on rate design? 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     It's also the Staff's proposal to have the 
 
         20   company conduct residential energy audits as a part of this 
 
         21   case; is that right? 
 
         22           A.     Yes. 
 
         23           Q.     And is it your understanding that the proposal 
 
         24   of Staff was that it be $25 for any residential customer that 
 
         25   requested an energy audit and that it -- 
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          1           A.     Yes. 
 
          2           Q.     And is it also your understanding that that 
 
          3   doesn't cover the cost of those energy audits? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     And I believe you also proposed that 
 
          6   30 low-income homes be weatherized; is that correct? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     Now, is it your understanding that the company 
 
          9   and Staff have agreed that there would be no increase in 
 
         10   revenue requirement in this case? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     But, to your knowledge, is there any specific 
 
         13   charges, any specific charges included in the company's rates 
 
         14   to cover the cost of these energy efficiency audits or the 
 
         15   weatherization program that is being proposed by Staff? 
 
         16           A.     No, there aren't. 
 
         17           Q.     I think the Commissioners also asked you about 
 
         18   a number of LDC programs that are in existence in Missouri. 
 
         19   Is it your understanding that some are covered by ratepayer 
 
         20   funds and some are not? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     There were also some questions regarding the 
 
         23   Energy Star program.  Is that a program that's mandated by 
 
         24   state statute or where does that come from? 
 
         25           A.     I believe that's a Department of Energy 
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          1   program. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  It's not under the jurisdiction of this 
 
          3   Commission? 
 
          4           A.     No. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay.  And other items that could promote 
 
          6   energy efficiency that aren't under the Commission's 
 
          7   jurisdiction would include things like building codes in local 
 
          8   areas; is that right? 
 
          9           A.     Did you say that are or are not? 
 
         10           Q.     Are not. 
 
         11           A.     Are not.  It's my understanding that they are 
 
         12   not. 
 
         13           Q.     And in this case did Atmos originally propose 
 
         14   a weather normalization adjustment clause? 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     Is it your understanding that the company has 
 
         17   now abandoned that proposal and is endorsing the delivery 
 
         18   charge proposal in lieu thereof? 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     Commissioner Gaw also asked some questions 
 
         21   about the impacts on various customer levels of the Staff's 
 
         22   delivery charge proposal.  Have you reviewed the schedule 
 
         23   that's attached to Pat Childers' Surrebuttal Testimony, 
 
         24   Surrebuttal Schedule No. 2? 
 
         25           A.     Let me see. 
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          1           Q.     I've got a copy of that, if that would be 
 
          2   helpful. 
 
          3           A.     That's okay.  Did you say Schedule 2? 
 
          4           Q.     Yes.  Surrebuttal Schedule 2, page 1 of 2. 
 
          5           A.     I have page 2 of 2.  Hang on. 
 
          6           Q.     Page 2 of 2.  Maybe that's the better 
 
          7   schedule, yes.  Do you have that? 
 
          8           A.     I have them both. 
 
          9           Q.     Does that indicate the impact on a percentage 
 
         10   basis of the proposed delivery schedule and three non-gas 
 
         11   rates and four PGA areas? 
 
         12           A.     Could you repeat that? 
 
         13           Q.     Yes.  Is it your understanding that this 
 
         14   schedule would answer some of Commissioner Gaw's questions 
 
         15   regarding customer impact of the proposed delivery charge rate 
 
         16   design three non-gas areas and four PGA areas? 
 
         17           A.     Yes. 
 
         18           Q.     For example, for a typical residential 
 
         19   customer in the Butler area, the percentage change would be 
 
         20   1.4 percent? 
 
         21           A.     Of -- yes, on their total bill. 
 
         22           Q.     And then on the Greeley area, it actually goes 
 
         23   down by 6.9 percent, is that right, for residential firm? 
 
         24           A.     Yeah.  I'm not -- I don't see Greeley on my 
 
         25   schedule. 
 
 
 

751 of 1082



 
                                                                      440 
 
 
 
          1           Q.     I'm sorry.  It's the second one, Missouri G, 
 
          2   division 29. 
 
          3           A.     Okay.  Okay.  Yes, it goes down 6.9 percent. 
 
          4           Q.     And then just looking at the largest division, 
 
          5   the SEMO division, what does that indicate for the percentage 
 
          6   change for residential? 
 
          7           A.     The change in their total bill would be 
 
          8   .4 percent. 
 
          9           Q.     And the other districts are listed here as 
 
         10   well.  Right? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     The Commissioner asked you some questions 
 
         13   regarding the survey responding to the natural gas crisis, 
 
         14   America's Best Natural Gas Energy Efficiency programs -- 
 
         15           A.     Yes. 
 
         16           Q.     -- do you recall that? 
 
         17           A.     Uh-huh. 
 
         18           Q.     Would you turn to the executive summary?  At 
 
         19   the very first paragraph of that executive summary it 
 
         20   indicates that the year 2003 marked a dramatic turnaround in 
 
         21   the situation regarding US natural gas market.  After many 
 
         22   years of very low prices, there's been roughly a doubling of 
 
         23   gas prices in the wholesale market.  Is that -- would you 
 
         24   agree with that statement? 
 
         25           A.     I think so.  Let me look.  I'm still trying to 
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          1   find it. 
 
          2           Q.     I'm sorry.  I've got a copy too, if you need 
 
          3   it. 
 
          4           A.     Do you?  May I? 
 
          5           Q.     Although I may not be able to read it if I -- 
 
          6           A.     It's here somewhere. 
 
          7                  Thank you.  Okay.  Could you repeat your 
 
          8   question? 
 
          9           Q.     Yeah.  I just read the first two sentences of 
 
         10   that paragraph and ask if you agree with that. 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     And then in the next paragraph it indicates 
 
         13   that in the face of these developments, there's been 
 
         14   considerable re-awakened interest in the subject of natural 
 
         15   gas energy efficiency programs; is that right? 
 
         16           A.     That's correct. 
 
         17           Q.     Is the fact that natural gas prices have gone 
 
         18   up so much one of the reasons why the Staff is interested in 
 
         19   decoupling the rates in this case? 
 
         20           A.     Yes. 
 
         21           Q.     There were also some questions regarding, I 
 
         22   think, some of Ameren's proposals or tariffed efficiency 
 
         23   programs.  Do you recall those? 
 
         24           A.     Yes, I do. 
 
         25           Q.     Now, is Ameren the largest combination 
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          1   electric and gas company in Missouri? 
 
          2           A.     Yes. 
 
          3           Q.     It's several times bigger than even the second 
 
          4   largest public utility in the state, is that right, on a 
 
          5   revenues basis or customer basis, either one? 
 
          6           A.     I couldn't answer that.  I know it's -- it's 
 
          7   quite a bit larger than any of the others. 
 
          8           Q.     Okay.  There were also some questions 
 
          9   regarding Laclede.  That's the largest LDC in the state of 
 
         10   Missouri; is that right? 
 
         11           A.     Yes. 
 
         12           Q.     Do you know if it has more than 500,000 
 
         13   residential customers? 
 
         14           A.     I think so. 
 
         15           Q.     And is it your understanding that Atmos has 
 
         16   about 50,000 residential customers or about 1/10th the size of 
 
         17   Laclede? 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     There was also some discussion of the MGE 
 
         20   tariffed weatherization program.  Paragraph 2 of that sheet 96 
 
         21   of that tariff indicated that MGE's weatherization shall not 
 
         22   exceed 3,000 and is expected to average about $1,750.  Does 
 
         23   that sound right to you?  Is that correct? 
 
         24           A.     You mean is that correct as to what the tariff 
 
         25   says? 
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          1           Q.     Yes.  Paragraph 2, sheet 96. 
 
          2           A.     Yes, that's what it says. 
 
          3           Q.     Okay.  Then on the Empire Exhibit 138, there's 
 
          4   an E paragraph where I believe it indicates that financing in 
 
          5   excess of $10,000 will be at the discretion of the company on 
 
          6   a case-by-case basis; is that right? 
 
          7           A.     Yes. 
 
          8           Q.     Let's go back to that NARUC resolution, which 
 
          9   is attached to your Direct Testimony, Schedule 3-2. 
 
         10           A.     Okay. 
 
         11           Q.     It indicates in the next-to-the-last resolved 
 
         12   clause, NARUC encourages State Commissions and other policy 
 
         13   makers to review the rate designs they have previously 
 
         14   approved to determine whether they should be reconsidered in 
 
         15   order to implement innovative rate designs; is that right? 
 
         16           A.     That's correct. 
 
         17           Q.     Is that what the Staff is proposing to do in 
 
         18   this case? 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     Staff and the Commission have already approved 
 
         21   a rate design in Missouri that does have weather mitigating 
 
         22   effects.  Is that your understanding? 
 
         23           A.     It's my understanding, yes. 
 
         24           Q.     And that would be for Laclede; is that right? 
 
         25           A.     Yes. 
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          1           Q.     It's not a delivery charge, but it's a higher 
 
          2   customer service charge with a high first block; is that 
 
          3   right? 
 
          4           A.     Yes. 
 
          5           Q.     I'd like to refer you to Exhibit 140, which is 
 
          6   the Oklahoma Commission Staff survey.  And I'd like to turn 
 
          7   you to page 13 of 22, which has the Missouri response. 
 
          8           A.     Okay.  I'm there. 
 
          9           Q.     The last sentence of that response indicates, 
 
         10   Also, in many rate cases, Missouri Staff is looking at 
 
         11   changing our policy on customer charges to address this issue 
 
         12   directly without the need to implement surcharge provisions; 
 
         13   is that correct? 
 
         14           A.     That's correct. 
 
         15           Q.     Is that what you're doing in this case, 
 
         16   re-examining rate structures in rate cases? 
 
         17           A.     We are re-examining rate structures in rate 
 
         18   cases.  179 was a peripheral issue. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  That's another thing that you're 
 
         20   addressing in the context -- or at least the weather 
 
         21   mitigating aspects of the policy behind 179.  Is that what 
 
         22   you're saying? 
 
         23           A.     We think of it as being 179 friendly. 
 
         24   We're -- we didn't want to come out with something that was 
 
         25   just absolutely totally against the intent of 179, but we're 
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          1   not trying to address 179. 
 
          2           Q.     I believe Commissioner Gaw also asked some 
 
          3   questions about the status quo rate design and why that wasn't 
 
          4   better. 
 
          5           A.     Yes. 
 
          6           Q.     Do you address that in your Rebuttal Testimony 
 
          7   on page 6? 
 
          8           A.     Yes. 
 
          9           Q.     I'm not going to go through these, but do you 
 
         10   agree that those are still valid criticisms of the status quo 
 
         11   rate design? 
 
         12           A.     Yes. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you, Mr. Fischer. 
 
         14                  MR. FISCHER:  That's all I have. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         16                  Is there further cross-examination based on 
 
         17   questions from the Bench from Public Counsel? 
 
         18                  MR. POSTON:  Yes.  Thank you. 
 
         19   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         20           Q.     Turning back to the Exhibit 140 that 
 
         21   Mr. Fischer just asked you about -- 
 
         22           A.     Is that the Oklahoma one? 
 
         23           Q.     Yeah. 
 
         24           A.     Yeah. 
 
         25           Q.     There was that last sentence, it says, In many 
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          1   rate cases, Missouri Staff is looking at changing our policy 
 
          2   on customer charges to address this issue directly without the 
 
          3   need to implement surcharge provisions. 
 
          4                  Are you saying that that's incorrect, that 
 
          5   that's not why in this rate case you're looking at changing 
 
          6   your policy? 
 
          7           A.     I think that this makes it sound more 
 
          8   important than it was in our decision making. 
 
          9           Q.     So you'd say this is incorrect then? 
 
         10           A.     I don't know if I -- if incorrect would be the 
 
         11   term I'd use.  I'd say that to the extent that it 
 
         12   characterizes our decision process as being one to address 
 
         13   179, that that's incorrect. 
 
         14           Q.     Who prepared this answer? 
 
         15           A.     Warren.  Warren Wood. 
 
         16           Q.     And when Commissioner Gaw first started asking 
 
         17   you questions, one of the first questions he asked you was 
 
         18   about the proposal and how it was developed.  I believe he 
 
         19   asked you if you came up with it alone and you said no, you've 
 
         20   had discussions with other people in Staff.  Correct? 
 
         21           A.     Yes. 
 
         22           Q.     Before you filed your Direct Testimony in this 
 
         23   case, was Mr. Barnes one of the people you spoke with about 
 
         24   this? 
 
         25           A.     We talked to Financial Analysis briefly so 
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          1   that they'd be aware that we were proposing some rate design 
 
          2   changes. 
 
          3           Q.     Did you personally speak with Mr. Barnes about 
 
          4   your Direct Testimony? 
 
          5           A.     No.  I don't believe that I did. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Ross, can I get you to 
 
          7   speak more into the microphone? 
 
          8                  THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  I keep hitting it. 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We do have people listening, 
 
         10   including some of the Commissioners. 
 
         11   BY MR. POSTON: 
 
         12           Q.     And Commissioner Gaw also asked you questions 
 
         13   about what research you've done about past Staff positions. 
 
         14   And to the extent that the issue of how to proportion the 
 
         15   non-gas cost has come up before, is it true that you haven't 
 
         16   considered Staff's rationale in those case in forming your 
 
         17   position in this case? 
 
         18           A.     Could you repeat that question? 
 
         19           Q.     To the extent the issue of how to proportion 
 
         20   the non-gas costs has come up before, is it true that you have 
 
         21   not considered Staff's rationale in those cases in forming 
 
         22   your position in this case? 
 
         23           A.     No. 
 
         24           Q.     What past rationales of Staff have you taken 
 
         25   into consideration? 
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          1           A.     Well, I was involved in a lot of those cases 
 
          2   sometimes peripherally and sometimes I actually worked on rate 
 
          3   design.  Our rationale has changed over the years.  When I 
 
          4   first started, we were -- it seemed like the policy was to go 
 
          5   toward lower customer charges and higher volumetric rates. 
 
          6   That was 15 years ago. 
 
          7                  As time has gone by, as -- if -- if -- as 
 
          8   things have happened, as gas prices themselves have gotten 
 
          9   higher, as there have been talks about shortages, our -- our 
 
         10   decision-making process has changed.  So I'd hate to say I 
 
         11   didn't consider what we'd done in the past because that's not 
 
         12   true. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay.  You also replied, I believe to 
 
         14   Commissioner Gaw, that a flat charge year-round is a benefit 
 
         15   of your proposal; is that correct? 
 
         16           A.     Yes. 
 
         17           Q.     Isn't it true that Atmos' customers currently 
 
         18   have the option of leveling their bills through the level 
 
         19   billing plan? 
 
         20           A.     If they want to completely level their bills, 
 
         21   yes.  But that levels gas costs as well as the margin piece. 
 
         22           Q.     And Commissioner Gaw asked you what other 
 
         23   states are doing with regard to conservation and we've had 
 
         24   those discussions.  Do you believe it can be helpful to this 
 
         25   Commission to look at the other programs and other 
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          1   conservation measures taken by the other states? 
 
          2           A.     Sure. 
 
          3           Q.     And the Exhibit 139, I believe that's the -- 
 
          4   how would you characterize this?  As a report? 
 
          5           A.     Is it the responding to -- 
 
          6           Q.     Yes. 
 
          7           A.     Yes, it was a report. 
 
          8           Q.     And what is the date of this? 
 
          9           A.     The date is December 2003. 
 
         10           Q.     So is it possible that in the three years 
 
         11   since this was written, that there could be better programs 
 
         12   that are out there being implemented by other states? 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14                  MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank you. 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         16                  Is there redirect? 
 
         17                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge.  I'll try to minimize 
 
         18   the redundant questions.  I think Mr. Fischer asked many of 
 
         19   mine. 
 
         20                  MR. BERLIN:  I would like to just note to the 
 
         21   Commission that based upon some earlier questions by 
 
         22   Commissioner Gaw, that Bob Schallenberg is downstairs in his 
 
         23   office and certainly available to address any policy questions 
 
         24   that the Bench may have of him. 
 
         25                  And that Henry Warren -- and this would be in 
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          1   response to Commissioner Clayton's line of questions regarding 
 
          2   block rates -- is available for questions should the 
 
          3   Commission have those. 
 
          4   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
          5           Q.     Ms. Ross, Commissioner Clayton asked you what 
 
          6   the acronym NAECA stood for.  Do you recall that question? 
 
          7           A.     No, I don't recall him asking me what that 
 
          8   stood for. 
 
          9           Q.     He asked you I think in light of the line of 
 
         10   questions with regard to the Empire District tariff and it was 
 
         11   the part 6 of 138, sheet No. R-49, residential customer 
 
         12   purchase plan.  And I believe it was used in the context of 
 
         13   paragraph B, Equipment finance must exceed the NAECA minimum 
 
         14   efficiency requirements. 
 
         15           A.     Yes.  I remember that. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay.  Would you agree with me that the NAECA 
 
         17   stands for the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act? 
 
         18           A.     That -- that would give you NAECA, so yes. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  Mr. Poston had asked you some questions 
 
         20   regarding Staff's proposed rate design.  Is it your opinion 
 
         21   that Staff's proposed rate design gives customers the greatest 
 
         22   break during the winter months? 
 
         23           A.     Yes. 
 
         24           Q.     Isn't the winter months when they need the 
 
         25   greatest pricing help? 
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          1           A.     If they're space heating and/or water heating 
 
          2   customers, yes, the winter months -- their usage will go up in 
 
          3   the winter months. 
 
          4           Q.     And would low-income customers typically 
 
          5   reside in poor housing stock? 
 
          6           A.     Yes. 
 
          7           Q.     And would poor housing stock be a cause for 
 
          8   low-income customers to use more gas during the winter months? 
 
          9           A.     Yes, it could. 
 
         10           Q.     Mr. Poston had asked you about the largest 
 
         11   portion of the gas bill I think in some questions regarding 
 
         12   the effect on conservation.  And I believe that you have 
 
         13   responded that the actual gas cost is the largest portion of 
 
         14   the gas bill; is that correct? 
 
         15           A.     I don't remember responding to that.  I agree 
 
         16   with that statement. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  Would the cost of gas then be an 
 
         18   incentive to conserve gas for a customer? 
 
         19           A.     Yes. 
 
         20           Q.     Okay.  Commissioner Gaw had asked some 
 
         21   questions regarding the traditional rate design or the status 
 
         22   quo rate design.  Would you agree that the status quo rate 
 
         23   design was implemented during a time period where the 
 
         24   utilities needed to offer low customer service charges to 
 
         25   entice customers onto the system? 
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          1           A.     The status quote rate design has been around 
 
          2   for about 100 years so, yes, I would -- I would agree that -- 
 
          3   that that type of rate design was put in place to try to pick 
 
          4   up customers and encourage them to use more. 
 
          5           Q.     So those low customer service charges were set 
 
          6   in order to compete with competitive sources of energy such as 
 
          7   propane? 
 
          8           A.     Yes. 
 
          9           Q.     Are we at a stage now in the natural gas 
 
         10   industry that would be characterized by a mature industry or 
 
         11   one that is undergoing rapid growth? 
 
         12           A.     I believe that it's mature.  In the last few 
 
         13   cases I've participated in, I don't remember the growth rate 
 
         14   in customers as being very large. 
 
         15           Q.     Now, during your tenure here at the 
 
         16   Commission, has a utility ever proposed a fixed variable rate 
 
         17   or a fixed delivery charge such as Staff is proposing in this 
 
         18   case? 
 
         19           A.     I believe that in the last MGE case, that they 
 
         20   proposed a fixed charge. 
 
         21           Q.     Is that the current MGE case? 
 
         22           A.     No.  It would be 2004-0209. 
 
         23           Q.     Okay. 
 
         24           A.     I don't remember whether Laclede did or not. 
 
         25   That might have been one of their proposals as well in their 
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          1   2003 or '4 case. 
 
          2           Q.     Would Staff have any reason to review this 
 
          3   position? 
 
          4           A.     I don't -- could you rephrase that? 
 
          5           Q.     That is, would Staff have any reasons to 
 
          6   consider going to a fixed variable rate or fixed delivery 
 
          7   charge rate design? 
 
          8           A.     So you mean would Staff have any reason to 
 
          9   revisit this -- 
 
         10           Q.     Yes.  That's a better -- 
 
         11           A.     -- rate design? 
 
         12           Q.     -- choice of words, yes. 
 
         13           A.     Yes.  I think that the national dialogue on 
 
         14   conservation and on decoupling has -- has really put this 
 
         15   issue out as something that all the commissions need to be 
 
         16   looking at. 
 
         17           Q.     Okay.  And if a utility's cost of service is 
 
         18   partially recovered by a volumetric rate charge, would the 
 
         19   utility have any reason at all to encourage conservation? 
 
         20           A.     Not voluntarily, no. 
 
         21           Q.     Okay.  With regard to risk, I believe this was 
 
         22   also along the lines of Commissioner Gaw's questions, isn't 
 
         23   there a risk that the company's revenue stream can be 
 
         24   adversely affected by customers that drop off the system? 
 
         25           A.     Yes.  There are cus-- 
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          1                  MR. POSTON:  I'm sorry, objection.  That's a 
 
          2   leading question. 
 
          3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Can you rephrase the question, 
 
          4   Mr. Berlin?  Objection sustained. 
 
          5                  MR. BERLIN:  Yeah, sure. 
 
          6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Can you rephrase? 
 
          7   BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
          8           Q.     Let me ask, do customers dropping off a system 
 
          9   pose a business risk to a utility? 
 
         10           A.     Yes.  That isn't the only risk that the 
 
         11   utility would face though. 
 
         12           Q.     Is that a significant risk? 
 
         13           A.     Yes. 
 
         14           Q.     Have you spoken to any customers or groups of 
 
         15   customers that have indicated any preference of a rate design? 
 
         16           A.     My mother and her friends is about all I've 
 
         17   talked to so, no, not -- not officially. 
 
         18           Q.     Okay.  Now, there were many questions, I 
 
         19   believe, with respect to Dr. Proctor's previous testimony in 
 
         20   past cases.  Are the circumstances that prompted Dr. Prop-- 
 
         21   Dr. Proctor's testimony in past cases, are they -- are those 
 
         22   circumstances the same as the circumstances in the Atmos case 
 
         23   today? 
 
         24           A.     I don't know.  Every case that we do is 
 
         25   different so I think that they very easily could be, but I 
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          1   don't know. 
 
          2           Q.     Now, will customers pay for the $78,000 
 
          3   weatherization program in their rates under Staff's design? 
 
          4           A.     No. 
 
          5           Q.     And, finally, when the Commission issues an 
 
          6   order setting rates, are they deemed -- are the orders of the 
 
          7   Commission that set rates deemed to be just and reasonable? 
 
          8           A.     Yes. 
 
          9                  MR. BERLIN:  Okay.  No further questions, 
 
         10   Judge. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
         12                  All right then.  Ms. Ross, I believe that 
 
         13   concludes that portion of your testimony. 
 
         14                  I think what we're going to do is we're going 
 
         15   to continue on with Ms. Meisenheimer with what Commission 
 
         16   questions we can and get as far as we can today on as many 
 
         17   things as we can.  And then we'll probably end up coming back 
 
         18   tomorrow but we probably will not begin until 1:00 tomorrow 
 
         19   because of conflicts with agenda. 
 
         20                  So let's go ahead and bring Ms. Meisenheimer 
 
         21   up.  Let's see.  Ms. Meisenheimer, you've been previously 
 
         22   sworn, we've already admitted your testimony but we haven't 
 
         23   done cross-examination on this issue.  So we'll begin with 
 
         24   cross-examination by Atmos on rate design. 
 
         25                  MR. FISCHER:  I'll pass the witness at this 
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          1   time. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Staff? 
 
          3   BARBARA MEISENHEIMER testified as follows: 
 
          4   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 
 
          5           Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, do you have a copy of your 
 
          6   Surrebuttal Testimony? 
 
          7           A.     I do.  Is there a page you'd like me to go to? 
 
          8           Q.     Yes.  Page 9.  Go to line 11, please, and 
 
          9   starting with that question on line 11 and read through 
 
         10   line 14. 
 
         11           A.     It says, Have you performed an analysis in 
 
         12   this case that compares low-income household use to average 
 
         13   use per customer? 
 
         14                  The answer is, Yes.  For each district, I 
 
         15   compared the average LIEAP customer use to the average 
 
         16   customer use and found them to be very similar in every 
 
         17   district. 
 
         18                  And maybe to shorten this -- 
 
         19           Q.     Well, Ms. Meisenheimer, I only asked you to 
 
         20   read this, so thank you.  I will follow up with a question 
 
         21   though.  Is that your testimony -- does that remain your 
 
         22   testimony today? 
 
         23           A.     I would add to it that that evaluation was 
 
         24   based on sample data that was -- 
 
         25           Q.     I would like to -- 
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          1           A.     -- gathered by the Staff. 
 
          2           Q.     Is that a yes or no answer?  Is it yes or no? 
 
          3   I mean, does this remain your testimony today? 
 
          4           A.     It's a qualified yes. 
 
          5           Q.     Would you agree that low-income customers tend 
 
          6   to have older, less efficient gas furnaces? 
 
          7           A.     Generally, yes, I -- I'd agree with that. 
 
          8           Q.     Would you agree that low-income customers tend 
 
          9   to have less efficient appliances such as gas water heaters? 
 
         10           A.     I -- I believe that as a general broad 
 
         11   statement, yes, that's probably true. 
 
         12           Q.     And would you agree that low-income customers 
 
         13   tend to have less efficient or inadequate home insulation? 
 
         14           A.     In -- unless they have participated in some 
 
         15   kind of program, then yes, I would say generally overall 
 
         16   across customers, I -- I wouldn't disagree with that. 
 
         17           Q.     Would you agree that when a cold spell hits, 
 
         18   lower-income customers will need to buy more gas to heat their 
 
         19   homes and run appliances than the general population of 
 
         20   customers? 
 
         21           A.     I -- I cannot agree with that. 
 
         22           Q.     Okay. 
 
         23           A.     It may be -- did you want me to explain or -- 
 
         24   was that a no? 
 
         25           Q.     No, I don't. 
 
 
 

769 of 1082



 
                                                                      458 
 
 
 
          1           A.     Okay. 
 
          2           Q.     I'm just trying to understand, you know, your 
 
          3   position. 
 
          4                  Do high-efficiency gas furnaces and 
 
          5   high-efficiency water heaters tend to be expensive items? 
 
          6           A.     Yes. 
 
          7           Q.     Difficult for low-income folks to buy? 
 
          8           A.     Unless they have assistance through some type 
 
          9   of appropriate program that encourages efficiency and 
 
         10   conservation. 
 
         11           Q.     Okay.  Is it expensive to add home insulation? 
 
         12           A.     Yes.  Unless they participate in some type of 
 
         13   efficiency program such as a low-income weatherization program 
 
         14   or other programs such as perhaps PAYS that might assist them 
 
         15   defer the up front cost. 
 
         16           Q.     Are many low-income customers rental-type 
 
         17   customers?  Do many low-income customers live in rental 
 
         18   apartments or other multi-unit dwellings? 
 
         19           A.     I'd say that's a fair characterization, that 
 
         20   low-income might be more likely to be renters. 
 
         21           Q.     Under that scenario, do landlords of these 
 
         22   rental apartments or rental multi-unit dwellings have an 
 
         23   incentive to buy new, high-efficiency gas furnaces or 
 
         24   high-efficiency gas water heaters for their tenants? 
 
         25           A.     Well, it depends on how the -- how their rent 
 
 
 

770 of 1082



 
                                                                      459 
 
 
 
          1   is structured, you know.  If the customer pays their own 
 
          2   utility bills, then no, it would not be likely unless there 
 
          3   were some additional incentives such as a program that 
 
          4   provided a discount on high efficiency provided to building 
 
          5   owners. 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  Thank you, Ms. Meisenheimer. 
 
          7   Those are all of my questions. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
 
          9                  Are there questions from the Bench? 
 
         10   Commissioner Gaw?  Do you want -- if you have to leave -- 
 
         11                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I'm going to go for just a 
 
         12   little while and then I'll need to come back later. 
 
         13   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 
 
         14           Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, in regard to -- first of 
 
         15   all, let me ask you this.  How long have you been with Public 
 
         16   Counsel? 
 
         17           A.     Almost 11 years. 
 
         18           Q.     And have you been involved in very many 
 
         19   rate-making cases involving gas companies in that 11 years? 
 
         20           A.     I've -- not nearly as many as phone cases as 
 
         21   I've been involved in, but yes, I've been involved in I 
 
         22   believe all of the gas cases over the last couple of years. 
 
         23           Q.     During the time frame that you've been there, 
 
         24   have you been at least somewhat familiar with the proposals 
 
         25   that have gone on in regard to rate design? 
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          1           A.     Yes. 
 
          2           Q.     Do you recall ever in the past, other than 
 
          3   this case and potentially this MGE case that's been mentioned 
 
          4   that's currently ongoing, where the Staff has taken the 
 
          5   position it has in this case regarding placing all of the LDC 
 
          6   charges on a fixed charge? 
 
          7           A.     I never remember seeing this before.  It is 
 
          8   not like what -- like what occurred in -- in the Laclede 
 
          9   settlement proposal in terms of rate design.  It has far 
 
         10   different impacts.  I know of no other case where the Staff 
 
         11   has -- has proposed this in gas.  And it is extremely -- it's 
 
         12   of great concern to Public Counsel that the Staff has -- has 
 
         13   taken a position that's even more attractive to the company 
 
         14   than its own proposal. 
 
         15           Q.     Okay.  Let me ask you this then.  So at what 
 
         16   point in time in this case was it first made clear in the -- 
 
         17   avoiding any settlement discussions that might have taken 
 
         18   place, but at what point in time did it become clear that 
 
         19   Staff was taking the position that it is in this case, if you 
 
         20   recall? 
 
         21           A.     Well, I -- I read it in Direct Testimony of 
 
         22   Ms. Ross. 
 
         23           Q.     Okay.  Is that the first time that you have 
 
         24   seen Staff take this position in regard to rate design was in 
 
         25   that particular document?  And I'm not just talking about this 
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          1   case now. 
 
          2           A.     We had -- we had preliminary discussions with 
 
          3   the company, but I honestly cannot remember whether those -- 
 
          4   some of those occurred before testimony was filed or not. 
 
          5   So -- but I can fairly say that my recollection is that we had 
 
          6   not seen something like this from the Staff prior to this 
 
          7   case. 
 
          8           Q.     Okay.  And I recognize that you have made 
 
          9   statements in testimony regarding your views on this, and I 
 
         10   might have actually looked at some of that despite the feeling 
 
         11   of some counsel in this case.  But I would ask you, if you 
 
         12   wouldn't mind, telling me what it is that concerns you about 
 
         13   this type of rate design in regard to the fixed charge 
 
         14   portion. 
 
         15           A.     I have a number of concerns and I'm trying to 
 
         16   make a list so that I can be organized.  I -- I guess let me 
 
         17   start with the issue of what is the need for change.  In this 
 
         18   case, the company certainly came in claiming that it needed an 
 
         19   increase. 
 
         20                  The Staff, in fact, found that this company 
 
         21   needed -- needed their rates decreased.  I think that where 
 
         22   the Staff ended up was $1.2 million in terms of their 
 
         23   testimony.  They have now abandoned that position, instead 
 
         24   being willing to settle for no increase and no decrease as an 
 
         25   outcome and providing this rate design to the company. 
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          1                  So, number one, if the increase -- if there is 
 
          2   no increase -- and I believe that Mr. Imhoff actually in -- 
 
          3   in -- in surrebuttal he may have done some testimony about -- 
 
          4   or actually in rebuttal, he did some testimony about that if 
 
          5   there is no change, then there -- they don't need to do any 
 
          6   shifting, if you will, of the costs between districts and 
 
          7   they'll just collect from each district what it does now and 
 
          8   we're not opposed to that.  That gets us halfway to our 
 
          9   proposal, which is don't change anything without a reason to 
 
         10   do so. 
 
         11                  So this rate design, I think that there are 
 
         12   problems with issues related to compounding as well.  And what 
 
         13   I mean by that is you are compounding the effects in the 
 
         14   Staff's original proposal of shifts between classes upon 
 
         15   consolidation where -- where I don't think there's been 
 
         16   adequate basis for that consolidation.  And those two things 
 
         17   coupled with a rate design that collects all of the money in a 
 
         18   single, flat rate charge means that customers can't even 
 
         19   escape it if it's unfair to them. 
 
         20                  And although Ms. Ross has spoken a lot in this 
 
         21   case about what costs are, she admitted here on the stand that 
 
         22   she doesn't know what the costs are.  And I think that is 
 
         23   very, very important.  We're not opposed to looking at 
 
         24   consolidation, we just don't think that a case where there's 
 
         25   absolutely no reason to do so based on cost is the appropriate 
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          1   time or place to do it. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  And would one of the potential reasons 
 
          3   for -- and I'm not asking you whether Public Counsel would 
 
          4   support this or not, but would one of the potential reasons 
 
          5   for moving toward more of the charges or all of the charges 
 
          6   being fixed on the LDC portion be if there were significant 
 
          7   changes and efforts made on a conservation effort?  Would that 
 
          8   be one factor to look at? 
 
          9           A.     It -- it would be a factor to look at in terms 
 
         10   of what would -- what would get us closer to being willing to 
 
         11   give up -- 
 
         12           Q.     Yes. 
 
         13           A.     -- a customer's ability to control how much 
 
         14   money comes out of their pocket. 
 
         15           Q.     And that statement in regard to customer 
 
         16   control that you just made, is that one of the linchpins of 
 
         17   Public Counsel's position in this case? 
 
         18           A.     Yes.  And one of -- one of the things related 
 
         19   to that that I hadn't gotten to yet, one of the reasons we 
 
         20   oppose this rate design had to do with its impact on low-use 
 
         21   customers. 
 
         22           Q.     All right. 
 
         23           A.     And in my Direct Testimony I did not 
 
         24   specifically make claims about low use versus low income.  And 
 
         25   that is because I -- I had actually looked at some data that 
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          1   the Staff got, it was a small sample of data regarding 
 
          2   low-income customers. 
 
          3                  And it -- based on that small sample -- and, 
 
          4   you know, granted it was a small sample, it didn't seem to me 
 
          5   that there was a substantial or a statistically significant 
 
          6   difference between, you know, anything measurable.  So I 
 
          7   didn't raise that as a separate issue in this case. 
 
          8                  But just as a rule, low use, whether it might 
 
          9   be a single, elderly low-income customer that is also a 
 
         10   low-use customer, whichever, this rate design collects more 
 
         11   from them and substantially more from them. 
 
         12                  And so, you know, I think it's a bigger 
 
         13   problem than just conservation will solve, but conservation is 
 
         14   certainly -- a good conservation program is certainly one 
 
         15   thing that would get us a step closer to -- and other types of 
 
         16   programs -- to agreeing to something. 
 
         17                  And there's also the issue of, you know, risk 
 
         18   to us, what is our risk of losing this issue.  You know, we 
 
         19   agreed in the Laclede case.  We agreed to a stipulation that 
 
         20   had a rate design that, you know, quite honestly, we weren't 
 
         21   really enamored with, but an evaluation of risk and an 
 
         22   evaluation of a number of programs being adopted, including 
 
         23   our GSIP, all of those things combined, those concessions by 
 
         24   the company got us there. 
 
         25                  In this case, I do not feel like concessions 
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          1   of meaning are being offered up here. 
 
          2           Q.     For the customers that you represent? 
 
          3           A.     Right.  Yes. 
 
          4           Q.     And just for the record, what is a GSIP? 
 
          5           A.     Oh, that's the Gas Supply Incentive Plan.  And 
 
          6   I don't -- I certainly don't mean to sound like we would be in 
 
          7   favor of any old GSIP.  We specifically designed one that 
 
          8   Laclede accepted I believe twice. 
 
          9           Q.     Now, you were asked some questions and I want 
 
         10   to get back to -- you were going through some details.  And I 
 
         11   don't want to get too far afield here, but there was -- there 
 
         12   was a set of questions asked by I believe Staff counsel 
 
         13   regarding the impact on low-income customers of this move to a 
 
         14   fixed charge.  Do you recall generally some of those 
 
         15   questions? 
 
         16           A.     Yes.  That -- that if they used more on 
 
         17   average -- 
 
         18           Q.     Yes. 
 
         19           A.     -- and, you know, we need to be sure that 
 
         20   we're talking about on average versus -- I tried to talk more 
 
         21   about what is the range of impacts while the company and the 
 
         22   Staff like to focus on the average. 
 
         23           Q.     Yes. 
 
         24           A.     I like to talk about non-gas costs because 
 
         25   that's what's in this case.  The company and the Staff like to 
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          1   talk about the bill in total because it -- disguises the 
 
          2   change in non-gas cost. 
 
          3           Q.     The change in non-gas cost, in your opinion, 
 
          4   it moves toward more disincentives for conservation rather 
 
          5   than more incentives.  Wouldn't that be true? 
 
          6           A.     Which one?  The delivery charge? 
 
          7           Q.     Yes.  In Staff's position. 
 
          8           A.     Yes.  I believe that that's true.  You get -- 
 
          9   it's literally all you want to draw off the pipe comes at a 
 
         10   flat fixed rate.  It's like a buffet. 
 
         11           Q.     And currently with the volumetric portion, 
 
         12   that does at least provide some degree of disincentive for 
 
         13   more usage? 
 
         14           A.     Yes, it does. 
 
         15           Q.     Now, you said several times, I believe, 
 
         16   correct me if I'm wrong, that there was -- that if there was a 
 
         17   comprehensive program of some sort in regard to this going to 
 
         18   a fixed charge -- I want you to explain, if you would, what 
 
         19   you were talking about if you recall making those statements. 
 
         20           A.     And I want to be clear that even if we got a 
 
         21   comprehensive conservation program, it is -- I would be 
 
         22   surprised to find myself in support of a flat fixed charge 
 
         23   that collects everything. 
 
         24                  Now, if we're talking about something -- a 
 
         25   rate design that allows maybe some additional recovery of 
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          1   non-gas costs on -- in a more predictable manner like maybe a 
 
          2   larger customer charge or other mechanism, then the type -- I 
 
          3   mean, I've already proposed a conservation program. 
 
          4                  I came in I believe it was the last MGE case, 
 
          5   I -- you know, I -- there have been a lot of them.  I believe 
 
          6   it was the last MGE case where I brought in a proposal for the 
 
          7   PAYS program.  Actually, that was -- you know, I can't claim 
 
          8   it entirely as my own.  Henry Warren and Ryan Kind had ex-- 
 
          9   had described some interest in that in -- in electric. 
 
         10                  Public Counsel actually hired a -- the -- a 
 
         11   consultant, the founders of the PAYS organization, to consult 
 
         12   with me regarding how might we do it in Missouri.  We put on a 
 
         13   good case, I believe, for that.  Ultimately, this Commission 
 
         14   decided that it was interested in a PAYS-like program, but did 
 
         15   not direct it to be implemented in that case. 
 
         16           Q.     Now, back to my question again; that is, a 
 
         17   comprehensive program, do you believe it is necessary for that 
 
         18   to be a part of some sort of a move toward some fixed charge 
 
         19   or more of the charge being fixed if it is going to have the 
 
         20   kind of impact that you think from a policy standpoint is 
 
         21   warranted? 
 
         22           A.     I think that there must be something paid back 
 
         23   to consumers.  And a comprehensive conservation program might 
 
         24   be one element of that, as well as things like, you know -- I 
 
         25   like the idea of low-income weatherization. 
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          1                  I don't think that the proposals that the 
 
          2   Staff brought out and the company agreed to in surrebuttal 
 
          3   have enough detail to be sure that they're -- that they'll 
 
          4   actually happen.  So I'm not real comfortable with these 
 
          5   particular proposals, not because I don't think the concepts 
 
          6   would work, but because I don't think there's any detail or 
 
          7   enough detail set out in them. 
 
          8           Q.     Okay.  Do you believe that Staff's position 
 
          9   perpetuates the status quo on conservation and inefficiency or 
 
         10   the lack of conservation and inefficiency among low-income or 
 
         11   other groups? 
 
         12           A.     I think that it worsens. 
 
         13           Q.     So it's not just the status quo, it's even 
 
         14   worse? 
 
         15           A.     I think it's even worse. 
 
         16                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I'm going to have to stop 
 
         17   for how, but I do have more questions. 
 
         18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Clayton, do you 
 
         19   have more questions? 
 
         20   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         21           Q.     Could you repeat everything you said while I 
 
         22   was out of the room? 
 
         23           A.     I'd be delighted to.  Do you really want to 
 
         24   hear it again? 
 
         25           Q.     Well, I didn't hear it the first time, but -- 
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          1   I apologize.  I had to step out.  I might as well put this on 
 
          2   the record.  Our family had a little fender-bender last night 
 
          3   and we have an issue with one of our vehicles, so we are 
 
          4   getting that taken care of as quickly as possible so I 
 
          5   apologize for having to step out. 
 
          6                  Ms. Meisenheimer, can you tell me just, in 
 
          7   general, can you summarize each of the points that you make in 
 
          8   your testimony?  How many issues are we involving?  Is it just 
 
          9   energy efficiency and conservation or are there more issues 
 
         10   than that you're testifying on? 
 
         11           A.     Well, I testified on many issues of -- 
 
         12   primarily our concern is this rate design proposal.  I also 
 
         13   testified on miscellaneous proposed tariff changes. 
 
         14           Q.     Do you testify on PGA or district 
 
         15   consolidation? 
 
         16           A.     Yes.  I testified on both.  Did you -- did you 
 
         17   want to -- 
 
         18           Q.     Anything else? 
 
         19           A.     -- know our position on either of those? 
 
         20           Q.     We'll get to those.  Let's talk about the 
 
         21   issues first.  I want to see which ones I want to talk about 
 
         22   and maybe quickly go through them. 
 
         23           A.     Economic development rider. 
 
         24           Q.     I'm sorry.  Say that again. 
 
         25           A.     Economic development rider.  And I had also 
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          1   filed testimony on research and development, but I think that 
 
          2   that was resolved. 
 
          3                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  That's on the resolved 
 
          4   list.  Company's withdrawn that. 
 
          5                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Non-unanimous 
 
          6   stipulation? 
 
          7                  MR. FISCHER:  No.  We just withdrew it. 
 
          8                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Gotcha. 
 
          9                  THE WITNESS:  I also filed testimony on cost 
 
         10   of service, which is -- since the parties ultimately agreed 
 
         11   to -- to retain the current revenues generated by classes and 
 
         12   just deal with the issue of do you roll them up for 
 
         13   consolidation or not, then the cost testimony that I did, 
 
         14   we've settled away from that. 
 
         15   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         16           Q.     So is that the district-specific cost of 
 
         17   service -- 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     -- or are you talking about class cost of 
 
         20   service or both? 
 
         21           A.     It actually affects both. 
 
         22           Q.     Both.  Okay. 
 
         23           A.     And if I could look at the issues list, I can 
 
         24   make sure. 
 
         25           Q.     Why don't we focus on these since it's 4:55 
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          1   here. 
 
          2           A.     Okay. 
 
          3                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Well, I guess, Judge, 
 
          4   this is my question.  I'm going to have questions regarding 
 
          5   the PGA consolidation, district cost of service consolidation, 
 
          6   and rate design I believe is where I'm going to focus.  Can I 
 
          7   proceed on all those or do you just want me to focus on -- 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  If you would start with rate 
 
          9   design, because that's what we've been talking about, I'd like 
 
         10   to let the parties do their recross on that issue. 
 
         11                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay. 
 
         12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And then I would like to see 
 
         13   if maybe we can skip to Mr. Ellis briefly because he's flown 
 
         14   in and I'm not sure if he's planning on being here tomorrow. 
 
         15   So -- 
 
         16                  MR. DORITY:  Would you like for me to go ahead 
 
         17   and respond? 
 
         18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, if you don't mind, 
 
         19   Mr. Dority. 
 
         20                  MR. DORITY:  Mr. Ellis's testimony has been 
 
         21   received and he is here this afternoon. 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Right. 
 
         23                  MR. DORITY:  He would be available in the 
 
         24   morning.  I think his travel plans were to leave, fly back out 
 
         25   of St. Louis tomorrow afternoon.  So I was going to ask if 
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          1   there are any questions for Mr. Ellis, if they could either be 
 
          2   provided this evening or perhaps in the morning prior to 
 
          3   agenda then that would at least get he and perhaps Mr. Kerley, 
 
          4   I'm sorry, on the stand in the morning. 
 
          5                  Now, Mr. Kerley is the Atmos witness on the 
 
          6   other tariff issues, which is the last segment that we have 
 
          7   not gone to yet.  I don't want to speak for Mr. Poston, but 
 
          8   it's my understanding that neither he nor the Staff had any 
 
          9   questions for Mr. Kerley.  So if the Commissioners had any 
 
         10   questions, again, if we could take those up this evening or 
 
         11   perhaps in the morning, then those gentlemen could at least 
 
         12   have a chance of getting out of here tomorrow afternoon. 
 
         13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And correct me if I'm wrong, 
 
         14   Mr. Dority, but did Mr. Ellis actually testify about the 
 
         15   reconnection charge or that was -- 
 
         16                  MR. DORITY:  That was primarily -- 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  -- Ms. Childers? 
 
         18                  MR. DORITY:  -- Mr. Ensrud had proposed that 
 
         19   and the company has agreed to the Staff's proposal. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  So the only testimony on the 
 
         21   company's part with regard to that issue is just that you 
 
         22   accept Staff's position? 
 
         23                  MR. DORITY:  That's correct. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And Mr. Kerley, what was his 
 
         25   issue? 
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          1                  MR. DORITY:  The other tariff issues which 
 
          2   include the main extension policy, the transportation tariff 
 
          3   changes to that. 
 
          4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, what I want to do 
 
          5   is stay and finish those things, go through the cross or if 
 
          6   there's no cross -- but make sure we've got all of that taken 
 
          7   care of and get whatever Commission questions we have for 
 
          8   those people tonight, if we can, so we can get them back out. 
 
          9                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  What is Mr. Ellis's 
 
         10   topic?  Forgive me for asking. 
 
         11                  MR. DORITY:  It was the miscellaneous tariff 
 
         12   issue. 
 
         13                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  So Mr. Kerley and 
 
         14   Mr. Ellis are the miscellaneous tariff issues? 
 
         15                  MR. DORITY:  One's titled Miscellaneous Tariff 
 
         16   Issues and the other is Other Tariff Issues.  They were broken 
 
         17   apart in the issues list.  For instance, the miscellaneous 
 
         18   included the late payment fees non-sufficient funds, those 
 
         19   sorts of issues. 
 
         20                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I'm not going to have 
 
         21   any questions for those two witnesses.  So as far as -- I was 
 
         22   going to say, if you wanted -- because I think we're going to 
 
         23   have to come back for Commissioner Gaw.  He's not going to let 
 
         24   Ms. Meisenheimer off the hook that easily, so -- but I don't 
 
         25   think I'm going to have any questions, Judge.  So I can either 
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          1   proceed or -- 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, I don't believe 
 
          3   that there are any Commission questions for either Mr. Ellis 
 
          4   or Mr. Kerley.  Would there be -- are there going to be 
 
          5   cross-examination questions for either of those witnesses? 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, with regard to 
 
          7   Mr. Ellis -- 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 
 
          9                  MR. BERLIN:  -- there is a rate design 
 
         10   question that Gary Smith punted to him. 
 
         11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's right.  You had one. 
 
         12                  MR. DORITY:  But I believe Mr. Smith is the 
 
         13   witness that is going to re-answer that question and put that 
 
         14   exhibit in is my understanding. 
 
         15                  MR. BERLIN:  Okay.  I have no problem with 
 
         16   that, Judge. 
 
         17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Mr. Poston, were you 
 
         18   going to have questions for either of those two company 
 
         19   witnesses? 
 
         20                  MR. POSTON:  No, Judge. 
 
         21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Well, then seeing no 
 
         22   questions for them, I thank Mr. Ellis for making the effort to 
 
         23   be here today.  I apologize.  Okay.  So I will excuse those 
 
         24   two witnesses. 
 
         25                  MR. DORITY:  Thank you, Judge.  We really 
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          1   appreciate it. 
 
          2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  They can be on their way. 
 
          3   This whole schedule has been a little hectic so -- what I 
 
          4   would like to do then is go ahead and -- Commissioner Clayton, 
 
          5   while we've got Ms. Meisenheimer on the stand, if you want to 
 
          6   ask your rate design questions, why don't we do that and then 
 
          7   take up the other issues that you might have questions for. 
 
          8   I'd like to get as much accomplished tonight as we -- as you 
 
          9   feel like staying for. 
 
         10                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I'm not -- I'm not 
 
         11   going to go that long.  I assure everyone that I'm not going 
 
         12   to go that long. 
 
         13   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         14           Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, do you make a proposal for 
 
         15   energy efficiency and conservation in your testimony? 
 
         16           A.     I do not. 
 
         17           Q.     Do not.  Okay.  Is there any energy efficiency 
 
         18   or conservation program that the Commission could implement 
 
         19   that, in your opinion, would justify the rate design that the 
 
         20   Staff has proposed and the company has agreed to? 
 
         21           A.     I can think of no conservation program that is 
 
         22   going to justify a rate design that collects everything 
 
         23   through a fixed cost.  If you want to move more toward 
 
         24   collecting through fixed cost, I had originally -- or I had in 
 
         25   the MGE case, the last MGE case, proposed a PAYS plan that was 
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          1   thoroughly discussed in the context of that case. 
 
          2                  Ultimately, the Commission decided that it was 
 
          3   interested in PAYS, but did not go forward with the PAYS 
 
          4   program.  We would have happily spoken to this company about 
 
          5   developing some type of PAYS conservation program in exchange 
 
          6   for a more reasonable rate design, but that's not what we have 
 
          7   in this case at this point. 
 
          8           Q.     Do you know of any state in the nation that 
 
          9   has a rate design where 100 percent of the delivery costs are 
 
         10   in a fixed rate? 
 
         11           A.     I know of one that is not quite as extreme as 
 
         12   this.  And that is North Dakota. 
 
         13           Q.     And they do 100 percent of the delivery costs 
 
         14   in a fixed charge? 
 
         15           A.     And -- and in -- it was done through a 
 
         16   settlement where the parties agreed to -- 
 
         17           Q.     So is that a yes? 
 
         18           A.     Yes. 
 
         19           Q.     They do 100 percent of their fixed costs? 
 
         20           A.     Yes. 
 
         21           Q.     And that was North Dakota? 
 
         22           A.     The -- there is also an -- an Atlanta -- 
 
         23   Atlanta Gas Light.  They collect everything through a fixed 
 
         24   charge, but the issues are how is the fixed charge determined 
 
         25   and was -- did it affect like the return, if you will, that 
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          1   the company was allowed. 
 
          2           Q.     In those cases or in this case, when you say 
 
          3   the issue? 
 
          4           A.     That -- that's what I'm saying is different 
 
          5   about this proposal than those.  In one of those, the company 
 
          6   accepted a lower return.  In the other one in Atlanta, I 
 
          7   believe customers actually have a choice of gas -- of 
 
          8   marketer.  So they get some competition in their commodity 
 
          9   rate. 
 
         10                  And the actual fixed charge the way that it's 
 
         11   developed takes into account what the usage is at, if you 
 
         12   will, the premise.  So a customer that conserves under that 
 
         13   program actually sees some kind of benefit from it, unlike 
 
         14   this plan that the Commission Staff is proposing to you. 
 
         15           Q.     Was it Atlanta Gas Light -- was that where the 
 
         16   competition in the commodity purchases occurred? 
 
         17           A.     They can choose from different marketers, I 
 
         18   believe, to provide their commodity.  I actually have a little 
 
         19   handout that I think makes that clear if you'd like me to make 
 
         20   copies of it.  I printed it from their website. 
 
         21           Q.     Sure. 
 
         22           A.     Okay.  I will -- 
 
         23           Q.     I mean, unless there's any opposition.  I 
 
         24   don't know if there's a problem with that. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I don't see any such 
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          1   opposition, but perhaps we should let the parties see it 
 
          2   before -- 
 
          3                  MR. FISCHER:  That would be our request, if we 
 
          4   could look at it before we have to answer that question. 
 
          5                  THE WITNESS:  And it is available on that 
 
          6   company's website.  It's a description of how their rates are 
 
          7   determined.  So -- and it wouldn't hurt me to make a better 
 
          8   copy of it. 
 
          9   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         10           Q.     That's all right.  You can make a copy of it 
 
         11   and then give it to us later unless there's an objection. 
 
         12                  North Dakota, you say there was a reduction in 
 
         13   the rate, you said, or was it a reduction in the revenue 
 
         14   requirement or reduction in the ROE?  What did you mean 
 
         15   reduction? 
 
         16           A.     In the revenue requirement.  The parties 
 
         17   agreed to take two alternatives to their Commission and let 
 
         18   their Commission pick.  One of those alternatives had 
 
         19   everything recovered in a fixed rate and a total lower revenue 
 
         20   requirement or -- I don't even know -- if it's a settled 
 
         21   amount of money, I don't even know -- I guess you still call 
 
         22   it a revenue requirement, a target. 
 
         23                  The other proposal actually maintained a rate 
 
         24   design more traditional like what we have here where there is 
 
         25   a fixed portion of non-gas recovery and volumetric portion and 
 
 
 

790 of 1082



 
                                                                      479 
 
 
 
          1   gave the company a higher overall revenue requirement.  And 
 
          2   the parties just agreed to take these two options to the 
 
          3   Commission and let them pick. 
 
          4           Q.     Do you recall what the return on equity was on 
 
          5   the fixed charge in North Dakota?  Did they have an agreement 
 
          6   on the ROE? 
 
          7           A.     They -- I think it was done -- what I read 
 
          8   presented it in total dollars. 
 
          9           Q.     Okay.  Do you recall what the ROE would have 
 
         10   been in the Atlanta Gas Light case for the distribution 
 
         11   company? 
 
         12           A.     No.  At that -- at the point I was writing 
 
         13   this testimony, I was primarily concerned with the structure 
 
         14   of the rate itself and -- and I did not dive into all the 
 
         15   underlying revenue requirement type information and rate -- 
 
         16   like ROE versus ROR. 
 
         17           Q.     In the MGE case and the program that you 
 
         18   suggested, is it primarily focused on low-income or 
 
         19   lower-income customers or is it everyone or -- 
 
         20           A.     It -- it is -- it could be everyone.  The idea 
 
         21   is that primarily the thing -- or the primary obstacle that 
 
         22   keeps people from efficient -- or attempting to be more 
 
         23   efficient in their use is generally the up front cost.  It's a 
 
         24   big investment to do a lot of these efficiency measures. 
 
         25                  And so what PAYS -- the PAYS program was 
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          1   designed to do is that it puts up the money.  You create a 
 
          2   pool of money.  Customers can draw on this pool of money to 
 
          3   make those initial investments.  And then over time, the 
 
          4   customer pays back that money that they borrowed from the 
 
          5   pool.  So the pool is replenished and they pay it back in a 
 
          6   way that their total bill is actually lower on a monthly basis 
 
          7   because they are saving more than they're paying back. 
 
          8           Q.     But it's not restricted to a particular income 
 
          9   class, or is it? 
 
         10           A.     No, it is not.  And I believe that when I 
 
         11   proposed it -- I should be careful because I think I actually 
 
         12   did put a cap on it.  If you made above a certain amount of 
 
         13   money per year, you wouldn't qualify.  I can't remember if it 
 
         14   was $150,000 or something. 
 
         15           Q.     You couldn't resist, could you? 
 
         16           A.     But the -- I couldn't resist.  Well, I didn't 
 
         17   want anybody claiming, oh, you're going to have millionaires 
 
         18   taking advantage of this program.  So -- 
 
         19           Q.     Well, if we instituted the program that you 
 
         20   suggested in the MGE case, would you then support -- be in a 
 
         21   support to support the rate design supposedly agreed to in 
 
         22   this case? 
 
         23           A.     I -- as I tried to explain earlier and maybe 
 
         24   didn't do it well enough -- 
 
         25           Q.     Just say yes or no. 
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          1           A.     -- I would not -- I could not support this 
 
          2   extreme proposal. 
 
          3           Q.     No would be the answer then.  Correct? 
 
          4           A.     No. 
 
          5           Q.     Okay.  Can you explain to me what percentage 
 
          6   of the cost of service being placed in fixed rates would be a 
 
          7   level that you could support if implemented with a program 
 
          8   such as Pay as you Save or another conservation, slash, energy 
 
          9   efficiency program?  Is it easy to identify 60 percent, 80 
 
         10   percent? 
 
         11           A.     I -- I can, you know -- this Commission 
 
         12   actually did for MGE allow it to recover 55 percent of its 
 
         13   costs as a fixed rate.  And I've said in I believe the current 
 
         14   MGE case that we're not going to oppose that.  Could we go to 
 
         15   something more?  It would depend on how good the conservation 
 
         16   program was and if there were additional programs that went 
 
         17   with it.  So, no, I can't give you a number. 
 
         18           Q.     So let's think about what with your answer was 
 
         19   here.  You said that you wouldn't oppose if 55 percent were 
 
         20   placed in fixed rates? 
 
         21           A.     Because we've already -- we've already done 
 
         22   that in another case.  You already decided that was okay. 
 
         23           Q.     But there is potential that you could agree to 
 
         24   more depending on the program? 
 
         25           A.     Yes.  I can't -- I don't have authority to 
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          1   pick a number without running that by my attorney and by my -- 
 
          2   ultimately by my boss. 
 
          3           Q.     Okay. 
 
          4           A.     I -- personally I think depending on what the 
 
          5   programs were, we could see to go, you know, maybe something 
 
          6   more than 55 percent. 
 
          7           Q.     What is so magical about 55 percent? 
 
          8           A.     You chose that number before in MGE. 
 
          9           Q.     I'm talking about from your perspective.  I 
 
         10   don't know if it was me that picked it either. 
 
         11           A.     The last MGE case I think you -- you were one 
 
         12   of the Commissioners still -- I think. 
 
         13           Q.     You think? 
 
         14           A.     I think. 
 
         15           Q.     Maybe you can check that out. 
 
         16                  Is there anything magical about 55 percent 
 
         17   that Office of Public Counsel would be willing to not oppose 
 
         18   or whatever your language? 
 
         19           A.     I think it's fair to say the reason we 
 
         20   wouldn't oppose 55 percent is because it's -- it's a threshold 
 
         21   you've already -- this Commission has already used. 
 
         22           Q.     So there's nothing magical from your 
 
         23   perspective other than that the Commission has suggested a 
 
         24   willingness to adopt 55 percent? 
 
         25           A.     Yes.  I don't -- I don't know whether I would 
 
 
 

794 of 1082



 
                                                                      483 
 
 
 
          1   have, on my own, even gone to 55 percent. 
 
          2           Q.     Okay.  Now, you've mentioned a lot about 
 
          3   conservation.  Does the Public Counsel have a position 
 
          4   regarding energy efficiency, the Energy Star program, 
 
          5   education of the public on energy efficiency?  Is there an 
 
          6   official position that Public Counsel has? 
 
          7           A.     Public Counsel has tried to be very supportive 
 
          8   of implementing efficiency and conservation program that -- 
 
          9   that can be shown to, you know, be of benefit to the entire 
 
         10   customer base.  In gas it's a little harder to find those than 
 
         11   it is in electric because of the nature of the service. 
 
         12           Q.     On energy efficiency? 
 
         13           A.     In terms of what can benefit the entire 
 
         14   customer base.  In electric where you're talking about 
 
         15   electric generation and potentially having to build new 
 
         16   generation facilities, there's -- you really -- you know, it's 
 
         17   more clear that you're creating a benefit to all the other 
 
         18   customers by not -- by conserving. 
 
         19           Q.     Why do you say that? 
 
         20           A.     Because it costs a lot of money, say, for 
 
         21   example, to build a new power plant.  If you can avoid that 
 
         22   through conservation, you're benefiting all the customer base. 
 
         23   In gas, how -- what's the likelihood that this -- you know, a 
 
         24   reduction in my use is going to affect the natural gas price 
 
         25   overall? 
 
 
 

795 of 1082



 
                                                                      484 
 
 
 
          1           Q.     Does that mean you don't buy into the 
 
          2   statement that some energy efficiency groups have said 
 
          3   where -- and I don't even know if this is accurate, but like a 
 
          4   reduction of 5 percent of the overall natural gas usage would 
 
          5   reduce the price of natural gas by 25 percent?  I make that 
 
          6   statement because it is an assertion that's been made by 
 
          7   energy efficiency groups in some form of what I just said. 
 
          8   Does that mean that you disagree with reducing the overall 
 
          9   usage of customers will not benefit all the customers? 
 
         10           A.     I've done no elasticity study to determine 
 
         11   what's the relationship between a reduction in quantity of a 
 
         12   certain amount and a change in the price of a certain amount 
 
         13   so -- 
 
         14           Q.     So I guess that would be -- 
 
         15           A.     It's not fair for me to say. 
 
         16           Q.     -- no? 
 
         17           A.     No. 
 
         18           Q.     No, you don't buy that? 
 
         19           A.     No.  I can just say no. 
 
         20           Q.     Yeah.  Okay. 
 
         21           A.     Did you want me to go on about the Energy Star 
 
         22   and the efficiency programs? 
 
         23           Q.     Yeah.  Do you believe that the Commission has 
 
         24   a role in -- well, first of all, do you believe it's a good 
 
         25   program?  Should we be promoting it?  Should we be taking 
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          1   steps here to make people aware of the Energy Star program, 
 
          2   make people aware of energy efficiency? 
 
          3           A.     Yes.  We -- we have actually -- Public Counsel 
 
          4   has actually worked with companies in an attempt to get them 
 
          5   to promote more efficient use by their customers.  I think it 
 
          6   was Southern Missouri Gas that was mentioned here.  They have 
 
          7   a tariff. 
 
          8                  Also, we have participated in the Ameren 
 
          9   groups that have reviewed the programs that Ameren is 
 
         10   promoting.  I -- I do have a little bit of concern about the 
 
         11   Ameren programs that over time they've been reducing the types 
 
         12   of efficiency measures that are available to customers through 
 
         13   that program; in other words, the smaller, less expensive ones 
 
         14   they didn't find there was a big take rate for those so 
 
         15   they -- they trimmed those from the program, if you will. 
 
         16                  But in terms of encouraging people to install 
 
         17   more efficient home heating and -- I think it's been a very 
 
         18   good program. 
 
         19           Q.     The Ameren program? 
 
         20           A.     Yes.  Funded by ratepayers. 
 
         21           Q.     Is it your opinion that energy efficiency and 
 
         22   conservation programs should be funded by ratepayers or funded 
 
         23   by the company or both? 
 
         24           A.     Or I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  That's funded by 
 
         25   shareholders.  I'm sorry.  That was my -- I misspoke.  The 
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          1   Ameren program is funded by shareholders.  It was, if I 
 
          2   remember correctly, a result of the last complaint case that 
 
          3   created a program. 
 
          4                  Because, as a rule, some programs I think can 
 
          5   reasonably be funded by shareholders and certainly ratepayers 
 
          6   may have a reason to contribute to some.  Let me give you an 
 
          7   example.  In a case where a company is trying to compete -- 
 
          8   say, for example, you have a gas company that's trying to 
 
          9   compete with a propane dealer, the state -- or the 
 
         10   shareholders may have an interest in providing additional 
 
         11   benefits to their customers that draw customers to them, and 
 
         12   one of them is to encourage ways where the customer's total 
 
         13   bill will be lower. 
 
         14                  In other cases where you have a program that 
 
         15   can be shown to benefit the entire customer base or meet some 
 
         16   other goal such as substantially targeting reductions in 
 
         17   uncollectibles and other things, there may be a reason for 
 
         18   residential customers and other customer groups to help fund 
 
         19   those measures.  And we've supported both.  Our office has 
 
         20   supported cases where discounts were provided or measures were 
 
         21   supported by shareholders and in -- and there are cases where 
 
         22   they've been supported by ratepayers. 
 
         23                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I don't have any other 
 
         24   questions at this time.  If you can submit that document you 
 
         25   referenced earlier to the parties, make sure there are no 
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          1   objections; and if there are, we can take that up.  But 
 
          2   subject to looking over that, possibly asking a question about 
 
          3   that, I don't have anything further for this witness tonight 
 
          4   on this issue. 
 
          5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Ms. Meisenheimer, tell 
 
          6   me again exactly what that item you had was. 
 
          7                  THE WITNESS:  What it is, is I printed it off 
 
          8   Atlanta Gas Light's website.  It is a description for 
 
          9   customers, available to customers to read that describes their 
 
         10   basic -- how their basic rates are determined.  And it goes 
 
         11   through actually a series of Q and As for customers to help 
 
         12   them understand better how their bill will be calculated.  And 
 
         13   it has numerical examples.  So it's a publicly available 
 
         14   document.  It's not something I got -- 
 
         15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Just to keep track of 
 
         16   things on the record, I'm just going to mark that as -- I'll 
 
         17   mark it as a -- I've been marking the others in order as if 
 
         18   they were Staff exhibits, but they were Commission exhibits 
 
         19   when they were requested from the Commissioners, but I'm just 
 
         20   going to keep in that line. 
 
         21                  So I'm going to mark that just for 
 
         22   identification purposes as Exhibit 141.  And if you could make 
 
         23   copies of that and provide that Mr. Poston as a late-filed 
 
         24   exhibit, then we'll take objections at that time. 
 
         25                  All right.  I know that Commissioner Gaw has 
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          1   additional questions for Ms. Meisenheimer, so do you prefer to 
 
          2   ask your recross questions now while they're fresh in your 
 
          3   memory or save them until Commissioner Gaw is finished? 
 
          4                  MR. FISCHER:  Given the time, I can save 
 
          5   those. 
 
          6                  MR. BERLIN:  Staff would prefer to wait until 
 
          7   he's finished. 
 
          8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's stop then with 
 
          9   Ms. Meisenheimer on this topic until another day. 
 
         10                  All right.  Let's go ahead and take a 
 
         11   10-minute break.  I think our court reporter might need a 
 
         12   little break.  And in that time we'll talk off the record a 
 
         13   little bit more about the schedule and then see where we are. 
 
         14   So let's break until 5:30 by that clock. 
 
         15                  I will note that I imagine the front doors to 
 
         16   the building will be locked so if you go outside, you may need 
 
         17   a Staff person to let you back in.  So let's go off the 
 
         18   record. 
 
         19                  (A recess was taken.) 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We discussed about 
 
         21   scheduling after the -- or during the break and what we're 
 
         22   going to do is we're going to put Mr. Smith back up to talk 
 
         23   about rate design, we're going to ask him Commissioner 
 
         24   Clayton's questions and I may have a couple and then we'll 
 
         25   have him come back tomorrow for Commissioner Gaw's questions. 
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          1   And after we're finished with him tonight, we will break until 
 
          2   one o'clock tomorrow.  So can we have Mr. Smith back on the 
 
          3   stand, please? 
 
          4                  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  You were previously 
 
          5   sworn and your exhibits have already been admitted so you can 
 
          6   go ahead and sit down.  I'll just remind you that you're still 
 
          7   under oath. 
 
          8                  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 
 
          9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And Commissioner Clayton. 
 
         10                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, Judge. 
 
         11   GARY SMITH testified as follows: 
 
         12   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 
 
         13           Q.     Mr. Smith, good evening.  We'll try to get out 
 
         14   of here in short order.  I won't keep you too long. 
 
         15                  What is the flag that's on your lapel? 
 
         16           A.     This is a little company logo, Atmos Energy 
 
         17   and the American flag. 
 
         18           Q.     American flag.  Good.  Good.  I couldn't tell 
 
         19   when you walked by.  I didn't know if it was a particular 
 
         20   state. 
 
         21                  Where are you from? 
 
         22           A.     I live in Kentucky. 
 
         23           Q.     Kentucky.  What part of Kentucky? 
 
         24           A.     A little place called Owensboro right along 
 
         25   the Ohio River. 
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          1           Q.     That's a big river down there. 
 
          2           A.     It is. 
 
          3           Q.     Mr. Smith, you have basically adopted the rate 
 
          4   design -- or your company has adopted the rate design proposed 
 
          5   by Staff; is that correct? 
 
          6           A.     Yes. 
 
          7           Q.     Could you explain to me the difference between 
 
          8   the rate design that was proposed by Staff versus what Atmos 
 
          9   originally filed? 
 
         10           A.     Well, Atmos originally filed for higher base 
 
         11   charges, among other things that were sponsored by 
 
         12   Ms. Childers, in addition to other service charge changes and 
 
         13   so forth.  One -- one feature of our proposed rate design was 
 
         14   weather normalization of which I was the sponsor. 
 
         15                  And then really as you stated, the Staff 
 
         16   proposal was for the delivery charge.  And as the company 
 
         17   really considered the totality of their proposal, the zero 
 
         18   revenue increase, the rate design, the -- the weatherization, 
 
         19   etc., you know, then the company did more or less adopt their 
 
         20   rate design or recommend their rate design. 
 
         21           Q.     In the original testimony filed by Atmos -- 
 
         22   and if this goes to another witness, I apologize, just 
 
         23   identify what you know and what you don't know and we'll move 
 
         24   on.  That's okay.  No penalties for that. 
 
         25                  What percentage of the delivery cost was 
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          1   placed in a fixed rate in Atmos's original case? 
 
          2           A.     You know, I don't have that information.  That 
 
          3   was not something I sponsored.  That would have probably been 
 
          4   Pat Childers. 
 
          5           Q.     Well, I've already lost that opportunity.  You 
 
          6   don't have an estimate or any idea off the top of your head? 
 
          7           A.     I'm sorry, I do not.  Because the rate 
 
          8   structures here in Missouri are somewhat complicated because 
 
          9   of the multiple rate divisions that we have. 
 
         10           Q.     Okay.  So basically your role was just weather 
 
         11   normalization; is that right? 
 
         12           A.     That's correct. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay.  You didn't testify to change in the 
 
         14   revenue requirement at all in your testimony? 
 
         15           A.     No, I did not. 
 
         16           Q.     Okay. 
 
         17           A.     You know, I should clarify that when the 
 
         18   delivery charge did come up in the Direct Testimony of the 
 
         19   Staff and so forth, then I did expand my -- my role into -- 
 
         20   into that element of the rate design as well. 
 
         21           Q.     Well, on the weather normalization was your 
 
         22   testimony basically in the form of an amount of revenue to 
 
         23   somehow normalize weather patterns and establish more 
 
         24   stability in the rate? 
 
         25           A.     We proposed actually a mechanism that we 
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          1   employ in several other jurisdictions which mathematically 
 
          2   protects the customer from variations in the margin collected 
 
          3   due to weather.  And it -- and it obviously stabilizes that 
 
          4   feature for the company as well. 
 
          5           Q.     Obviously the Staff's rate design would 
 
          6   stabilize it even more, wouldn't it? 
 
          7           A.     Yes, it -- it does.  It's also weather 
 
          8   mitigating in that for the two classes of customers that it -- 
 
          9   that the delivery charge applies to, the residential class and 
 
         10   small general service class then, that would be a mitigation 
 
         11   completely of weather for those classes, but not for the 
 
         12   others. 
 
         13           Q.     Okay.  Are you aware of whether Atmos has any 
 
         14   conservation or energy efficiency programs in any of its other 
 
         15   jurisdictions, any of its other territories in other states? 
 
         16           A.     You know, I can -- I can speak to Kentucky 
 
         17   where I live.  There is a weatherization -- low-income 
 
         18   weatherization program that we employ.  But it sounds somewhat 
 
         19   similar to the -- to the program that is proposed here. 
 
         20           Q.     That's the only program.  Nothing relating to 
 
         21   general conservation or energy efficiency that you're aware 
 
         22   of? 
 
         23           A.     Not that I'm aware of.  Not that I'm aware of. 
 
         24           Q.     But you probably wouldn't know?  It doesn't 
 
         25   sound like that's your area of expertise. 
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          1           A.     I'm pretty sure that if they exist, they would 
 
          2   be few.  I'm not -- I think I would be aware of it if they 
 
          3   were prevailing throughout the company. 
 
          4           Q.     Okay.  If the Commission were to adopt the 
 
          5   rate design that shifts the cost of service into a fixed 
 
          6   charge, can you think of any reasons why the company would be 
 
          7   opposed to energy efficiency programs or conservation 
 
          8   programs? 
 
          9           A.     Well, you know, I think that in that regard, I 
 
         10   guess what we would have to consider really is how those 
 
         11   programs would work and the -- the cost responsibilities of 
 
         12   those programs.  I was able to arrive today so I've heard a 
 
         13   lot of the dialogue in regard to the other programs in 
 
         14   Missouri and so forth that have been discussed after lunch. 
 
         15                  Of course, in our case, we really more or less 
 
         16   endorsed the Staff plan in aggregate of so many features, 
 
         17   mainly the revenue requirement and so forth.  So one would 
 
         18   have to consider expanding those programs, you know, really 
 
         19   the economics on the shareholders probably is one of the first 
 
         20   things that we would want to look at.  And then really because 
 
         21   of our -- 
 
         22           Q.     Well, let me phrase -- 
 
         23           A.     -- lack of experience -- 
 
         24           Q.     -- phrase the question this way.  I mean, I 
 
         25   don't want to cut you off, but let me rephrase the question. 
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          1   If you remove the aspect of financial contribution, whether it 
 
          2   be from shareholders versus ratepayers, if you remove that 
 
          3   item of discussion, let's just say we threw an amount in 
 
          4   rate-base.  Would there be any opposition or problem of the 
 
          5   company for implementing some sort of energy efficiency or 
 
          6   conservation program? 
 
          7           A.     I think the company is very open to discussing 
 
          8   that.  I mean, we really do not want to see customers consume 
 
          9   any more than they need to consume. 
 
         10           Q.     So if we remove the incentive to sell the gas 
 
         11   and you're making your money on the fixed charge, you don't 
 
         12   have weather as a component anymore and you eliminate the 
 
         13   whole need for creating demand.  That would be an instance of 
 
         14   where conservation, energy efficiency would be in line with 
 
         15   goals of the company.  Correct? 
 
         16           A.     Absolutely. 
 
         17           Q.     Now, from your limited role -- and I'm 
 
         18   probably going to go down a path where you're not the right 
 
         19   witness to ask, and I let Ms. Childers off the hook without 
 
         20   laying into her more this morning. 
 
         21                  But what would it take to instigate 
 
         22   discussions about energy efficiency an conservation programs 
 
         23   if this type of rate design were utilized? 
 
         24           A.     Well, I think the company would be willing to 
 
         25   sit down with the interested parties to discuss a program.  We 
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          1   are interested in the economics of such programs where -- it's 
 
          2   interesting because what I was going to state, as you 
 
          3   clarified, is, you know, with -- with our little experience at 
 
          4   such programs, we just want to make sure that the value of 
 
          5   such programs hits the right customers. 
 
          6                  And often what you have, regardless of who the 
 
          7   payor is, whether it appears to be the shareholder or the 
 
          8   ratepayer, you know, sometimes the program cost can really be 
 
          9   greater than the benefits derived from that program and that 
 
         10   would be something we would want to understand better. 
 
         11           Q.     Where have you seen that occur?  What 
 
         12   experience have you seen where the program costs exceeded the 
 
         13   benefits? 
 
         14           A.     Well, you know, I can't say that -- I don't 
 
         15   want to extend beyond my expertise, but I've been involved in 
 
         16   discussions of such programs before.  And I guess it's based 
 
         17   upon those discussions that I'm left with some concern that 
 
         18   that may be the case. 
 
         19           Q.     In what jurisdictions have those conversations 
 
         20   occurred, do you know? 
 
         21           A.     They've been multi-jurisdictional, that's why 
 
         22   it's hard.  But I do know that California is often cited, not 
 
         23   by me but by others, in these discussions that seem to be more 
 
         24   familiar with the details, that it may be one of those type of 
 
         25   states. 
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          1                  Of course, I believe that it would be pointed 
 
          2   out that their drivers of cost, of energy costs and their 
 
          3   environmental concerns and their growth, I think there's a 
 
          4   number of factors that -- that -- that -- that although others 
 
          5   may view them as having crossed that line, maybe for their 
 
          6   case it's appropriate.  I'm not trying to judge that.  But I'm 
 
          7   just saying it would be difficult to take their circumstances 
 
          8   and overlay them on ours. 
 
          9           Q.     Do you all have territories in California? 
 
         10           A.     We do not. 
 
         11           Q.     You do not.  Atmos is the largest natural 
 
         12   gas-only utility in the United States; is that correct? 
 
         13           A.     That is -- yes, that's correct. 
 
         14           Q.     And you are not aware of any -- you personally 
 
         15   are not aware of any existing energy efficiency or 
 
         16   conservation programs that are done by Atmos anywhere in any 
 
         17   of its territories? 
 
         18           A.     No, I am not. 
 
         19           Q.     Okay.  And you cannot testify as to any 
 
         20   particular state that you would see as a shining example of an 
 
         21   effective and worthwhile energy efficiency or conservation 
 
         22   program? 
 
         23           A.     That's true.  I would not be able to do that. 
 
         24                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you very much. 
 
         25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 
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          1   QUESTIONS BY JUDGE DIPPELL: 
 
          2           Q.     I just had a couple of questions, Mr. Smith, 
 
          3   really quick.  In your testimony, in your Direct Testimony at 
 
          4   page 12 you testified about -- when you were testifying about 
 
          5   the weather normalization, you were saying that there 
 
          6   basically wouldn't be any additional cost to administer that 
 
          7   or let me make sure -- is that what you said?  Is that what 
 
          8   you said? 
 
          9           A.     Which line number? 
 
         10           Q.     I'm looking at line No. 11 -- starting at line 
 
         11   No. 11. 
 
         12           A.     That -- yes, we're saying that there's no -- 
 
         13   computer programs or data collection systems would have to be 
 
         14   developed. 
 
         15           Q.     Right.  With regard to the Commission -- or 
 
         16   the Staff's delivery charge proposal, do you know if there 
 
         17   would be any additional costs with that? 
 
         18           A.     There would not be, no. 
 
         19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  And that is actually my 
 
         20   only question.  So with that then, we will go ahead and 
 
         21   adjourn for the evening.  I'll ask you to remain -- to come 
 
         22   back tomorrow for additional Commissioner questions. 
 
         23                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, there was one question 
 
         24   from Gary -- from Mr. Smith's earlier testimony that he did 
 
         25   not have information readily available for related to -- I 
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          1   think a question both from Staff counsel and Commissioner 
 
          2   Appling related to low-income annual usage of typical 
 
          3   customers. 
 
          4                  And we have an exhibit that the parties have 
 
          5   seen now, but would it be appropriate to deal with that 
 
          6   tonight? 
 
          7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  Yes. 
 
          8   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
          9           Q.     Okay.  Mr. Smith, do you recall a question 
 
         10   from I think Mr. Berlin regarding LIEAP customers and how 
 
         11   their annual usage compared to other typical customers? 
 
         12           A.     Yes, I do. 
 
         13           Q.     Have you caused to be prepared an exhibit 
 
         14   which would answer that question? 
 
         15           A.     Yes, I have 
 
         16                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I'd ask -- I'm not sure. 
 
         17   Did we mark this earlier?  We may have marked it already. 
 
         18   It's the FY 2005 data is what it was titled. 
 
         19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 
 
         20                  MR. BERLIN:  Exhibit 19. 
 
         21                  MR. FISCHER:  Exhibit 19? 
 
         22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We marked it as Exhibit 19. 
 
         23   BY MR. FISCHER: 
 
         24           Q.     Mr. Smith, do you have Exhibit 19 in front of 
 
         25   you? 
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          1           A.     Yes, I do. 
 
          2           Q.     Was this exhibit prepared by you or under your 
 
          3   direction? 
 
          4           A.     Yes, it was. 
 
          5           Q.     And does the information contained herein, is 
 
          6   it accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief? 
 
          7           A.     Yes, it is. 
 
          8                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I'd move for the 
 
          9   admission of Exhibit 19 in answer to those questions. 
 
         10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any objection 
 
         11   to Exhibit 19? 
 
         12                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, your Honor.  We'd object to 
 
         13   this exhibit.  We have had no opportunity to verify the 
 
         14   numbers in this exhibit or the underlying data.  And these 
 
         15   numbers did not appear in any of the pre-filed testimony and 
 
         16   for these reasons we object.  I'm sorry.  Just I guess the 
 
         17   LIEAP customer use data. 
 
         18                  MR. BERLIN:  Judge, I'd like to weigh in on 
 
         19   that. 
 
         20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, Mr. Berlin. 
 
         21                  MR. BERLIN:  Under the direction of 
 
         22   Commissioner Appling -- and perhaps he made it a rhetorical 
 
         23   comment, but he had expressed great desire to understand the 
 
         24   low-income impact of Staff's rate design, the same rate design 
 
         25   adopted by the company. 
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          1                  In going back last week, I had asked Mr. Smith 
 
          2   a question regarding low-income customers and their annual 
 
          3   consumption of gas as it relates to the annual average 
 
          4   customer consumption of gas.  At that time he had indicated 
 
          5   that -- and this goes back last week -- that Mr. Ellis would 
 
          6   be better able to answer that question. 
 
          7                  And I believe that since then, the company has 
 
          8   been able to respond to that question.  It was one that I 
 
          9   asked and I know one that Commissioner Appling has a great 
 
         10   interest in.  And I believe it to be highly relevant to the 
 
         11   rate design question and certainly relevant by way of 
 
         12   Ms. Meisenheimer's Rebuttal Testimony which contains results 
 
         13   of her study. 
 
         14                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I have not objected 
 
         15   to relevancy.  The data that this purports to show could be 
 
         16   relevant.  That's not what I'm saying.  I'm saying we haven't 
 
         17   had an opportunity to look at it and verify it and so we don't 
 
         18   know if these numbers are accurate. 
 
         19                  MR. BERLIN:  Okay.  This information is 
 
         20   relevant in the sense that it is probative of the effect that 
 
         21   Staff's rate design has on low-income customers.  The company 
 
         22   has prepared information or had information available, but I 
 
         23   was unable to cross Mr. Ellis last week on this. 
 
         24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'm going to take the 
 
         25   easy way out and reserve my ruling until tomorrow.  It's too 
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          1   late to think too hard at this point so we're going to go 
 
          2   ahead I believe and adjourn until one o'clock tomorrow.  Thank 
 
          3   you.  We can go off the record. 
 
          4                  WHEREUPON, the hearing was adjourned until 
 
          5   December 5, 2006 at 1:00 p.m. 
 
          6    
 
          7    
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 1                      P R O C E E D I N G S 

 2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We'll go ahead and go on 

 3   the record.  Good afternoon.  This is Case GR-2006-0387, 

 4   and this is December 5th in the afternoon.  We're 

 5   reconvening the hearing.  My name is Nancy Dippell.  I'm 

 6   the Regulatory Law Judge.  And we're going to begin with 

 7   just a couple of housekeeping things.  We left pending an 

 8   objection to Exhibit 19.  Mr. Poston, you wanted to make a 

 9   remark? 

10                  MR. POSTON:  Yeah.  We were going to 

11   withdraw our objection to that exhibit being introduced in 

12   evidence.  We have some follow-up questions that we would 

13   like to introduce on redirect of Ms. Meisenheimer.  So I 

14   understand there will be no objections to those, so we 

15   withdraw our objection. 

16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Then I will receive 

17   Exhibit 19 into evidence. 

18                  (EXHIBIT NO. 19 WAS RECEIVED INTO 

19   EVIDENCE.) 

20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And I also received copies 

21   of the complete Exhibit 139 from Staff counsel, and you 

22   gave copies to the other counsel, is that correct, 

23   Mr. Berlin? 

24                  MR. BERLIN:  I did. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I'm not going to rule on 
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 1   that.  I'm going to let you-all have a chance to look at 

 2   that, since it's rather lengthy, unless you know that you 

 3   don't have objections to it. 

 4                  (No response.) 

 5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'll give you-all a 

 6   chance to look at that in its entirety, and you can make 

 7   objections -- I'll set a time for that. 

 8                  MR. POSTON:  Judge, we also have the 

 9   Atlanta Gas Light exhibit webpages that Ms. Meisenheimer 

10   talked about. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  That was marked 

12   as Exhibit 141. 

13                  (EXHIBIT NO. 141 WAS MARKED FOR 

14   IDENTIFICATION BY THE REPORTER.) 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Has counsel had a chance to 

16   look at this?  Do you need more time? 

17                  (No response.) 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Berlin, have you had a 

19   chance to look at this? 

20                  MR. BERLIN:  I have just glanced over it. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'll give you more 

22   time.  We'll -- 

23                  MR. POSTON:  Judge, you said this is 141, 

24   right? 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  It's as if it had a 

 

822 of 1082



0511 

 1   Staff number, but -- okay. 

 2                  Okay.  I said we were going to begin, we 

 3   were going to call Mr. Smith back up to the stand, and 

 4   finish with Commissioner questions.  We're not going to 

 5   have any further Commissioner questions, but we did have 

 6   some recross, is that correct, based on yesterday's 

 7   Commission questions? 

 8                  MR. BERLIN:  That's correct. 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  So let's go ahead 

10   and call Mr. Smith back up. 

11                  Mr. Smith, you were sworn in yesterday and 

12   your exhibits have been admitted -- or you were sworn in 

13   Thursday, I think? 

14                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  So you remain under oath in 

16   this proceeding. 

17                  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Is there 

19   cross-examination based on questions from the Bench from 

20   Staff? 

21                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge.  I have just a 

22   couple questions. 

23   GARY L. SMITH testified as follows: 

24   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 

25           Q.     Mr. Smith, are you familiar with the 
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 1   Atlanta Gas Light Company? 

 2           A.     Yes, sir. 

 3           Q.     Were you present during the line of 

 4   questionings -- questioning yesterday with regard to 

 5   Atlanta Gas Light? 

 6           A.     Yes, I was. 

 7           Q.     Are you aware or can you tell me what their 

 8   authorized rate of return is? 

 9           A.     Yes, I can.  Their authorized rate of 

10   return is 10.9 percent. 

11                  MR. BERLIN:  Staff has no further 

12   questions. 

13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Is there any further 

14   cross-examination from Public Counsel? 

15                  MR. POSTON:  No. 

16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Is there 

17   redirect? 

18                  MR. FISCHER:  Just a little bit. 

19   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

20           Q.     Mr. Smith, Commissioner Clayton asked you, 

21   I think, to compare the weather normalization adjustment 

22   mechanism that Atmos originally had proposed in this case 

23   to the Staff's proposed rate design.  Would you elaborate 

24   a little bit on your answer on that, compare the 

25   differences? 
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 1           A.     And I believe that's in regard to the 

 2   weather mitigating impact of either rate design? 

 3           Q.     Yes, please. 

 4           A.     Well, both, you know, the -- I guess 

 5   basically, you know, if you look at it, there is 

 6   weather -- there's pretty full weather mitigating 

 7   coverage under the delivery charge rate structure for the 

 8   residential class and for the small general service class. 

 9   And if you look at the original proposal by the company, 

10   we proposed to do really two things in regard to weather 

11   mitigation.  One is a modest move of the base customer 

12   charge, and secondly the weather normalization adjustment, 

13   which I sponsored. 

14                  Actually, that weather normalization 

15   adjustment was to apply to the residential and commercial 

16   class.  And so really for the two service types that are 

17   subject to the delivery charge rate structure, I would 

18   kind of view it as there's pretty full weather mitigating 

19   effects of the delivery charge rate structure that would 

20   have been basically the same under the proposal of the 

21   company. 

22           Q.     I believe the Commissioner also asked you 

23   about what percent of fixed costs were included in the 

24   company's original customer service charge.  Have you had 

25   a chance to check the answer to that? 
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 1           A.     I did.  As I suspected, that was in 

 2   Ms. Childers' testimony and that was in her prefiled 

 3   direct.  And basically in her testimony on page 9, 

 4   line 25, she references a table, which is also adjoining 

 5   her testimony, which points out that really under the 

 6   proposed rate design by the company, we were going to 

 7   have 39 percent of our total revenue would be through the 

 8   customer charge. 

 9           Q.     But am I correct that as a part of that 

10   proposal, you also had the WNA? 

11           A.     That is correct, yes.  Layered on top of 

12   that for residential an and commercial, we have had WNA. 

13           Q.     And how would that affect the overall 

14   weather mitigating impact of both combined proposals? 

15           A.     As I say, really for the residential and 

16   the small general service, I look at both as being full 

17   weather mitigating rate designs.  For the other classes of 

18   service, there isn't any weather protection for the 

19   company or for the customer. 

20           Q.     I believe there were also some questions 

21   regarding the limited number of companies that had the 

22   fixed delivery charges.  Do you recall those? 

23           A.     Yes, I do. 

24           Q.     Could you also indicate whether there are 

25   other companies that have other weather mitigating 
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 1   adjustment mechanisms? 

 2           A.     Yes, and I've not attempted to recount 

 3   those, but when you're looking at weather mitigating rate 

 4   designs, even just through the weather normalization 

 5   adjustment mechanism itself, for example, by last count 

 6   there are nearly 20 states that have such mechanisms 

 7   approved by one or more utilities in their service area. 

 8   And I believe that I counted nearly 40 utilities by my 

 9   last count that have weather normalization, weather 

10   mitigating rate designs. 

11           Q.     Okay.  And in the discussion with 

12   Commissioner Clayton, while you were talking about the 

13   Staff's rate design proposal, I think you also indicated 

14   that the company chose to abandon its original weather 

15   normalization adjustment proposal.  Would you explain why 

16   they did that, why you did that? 

17           A.     Well, we did that -- in my prefiled 

18   testimony, I also talked a little bit about decoupling 

19   mechanisms and the dilemma that is faced by utilities in 

20   this environment that we're in.  But really in this case 

21   when the Staff proposed a delivery charge, Staff witness 

22   Ross made some pretty compelling arguments for the 

23   delivery charge rate structure. 

24                  The ones that really struck me, resonated 

25   well with me was, for one, the rate design that she 
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 1   proposed that the Staff was proposed was simple, it was 

 2   understandable by the customers and, unlike many other 

 3   decoupling mechanisms that are cropping up throughout the 

 4   US, it didn't have a correction factor component whereby 

 5   you go back in and calculate the dollars lost to 

 6   conservation and get a little bit -- those are much more 

 7   complicated and certainly, from the customer standpoint, 

 8   not as understandable. 

 9                  And then finally, I think she made some 

10   very good points that I had not seen raised in the way 

11   that she did in her testimony which dealt with the cost to 

12   provide service, and the examples that she used were 

13   really small, low-use customers, say logs-only-type 

14   customers, and that the cost really to serve them is no 

15   different than a larger multi-appliance residence.  And I 

16   thought that was a good compelling argument. 

17                  So those were the primary reasons why we 

18   were drawn to endorse their rate design. 

19                  MR. FISCHER:  I believe that's all I have, 

20   Judge.  Thank you. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, I 

22   believe that concludes your testimony, and you may -- this 

23   is the last issue, right, for you, the only one for you? 

24                  THE WITNESS:  I believe it is. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  You may be excused. 
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 1                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

 2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right, then.  I 

 3   believe we also concluded Ms. Ross' testimony on the 

 4   rate design issue, and we were going to go back and 

 5   complete Ms. Meisenheimer's testimony on rate design 

 6   with Commissioner questions.  So if we could have 

 7   Ms. Meisenheimer to come back to the stand. 

 8                  Ms. Meisenheimer, you've also been 

 9   previously sworn, and your exhibits have been previously 

10   admitted, and I'll just remind you that you're still under 

11   oath. 

12                  Commissioner Gaw, did you remember where 

13   you left off? 

14   BARBARA MEISENHEIMER testified as follows: 

15   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

16           Q.     It's a little off topic from where we were 

17   yesterday, but let me -- you have testified, I believe, in 

18   regard to this disconnection charge, and I'd like to ask a 

19   few questions about that. 

20           A.     Okay. 

21           Q.     First of all, can you briefly describe the 

22   proposal for the disconnection charge that I believe Staff 

23   has and Atmos is in the same position, if I'm correct.  If 

24   I'm not correct, tell me. 

25           A.     And are you talking about the seasonal 
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 1   disconnect -- 

 2           Q.     I am. 

 3           A.     -- aspect. 

 4                  Okay.  The -- the Staff proposes to have 

 5   customers that have been -- or that leave the system 

 6   voluntarily to repay, if you will -- or to pay, not to 

 7   repay, but to pay any lost delivery charge that the 

 8   customer might have avoided, so the Staff wants its 

 9   delivery charge and to, on a mandatory basis, allow the 

10   company to recover that equivalent amount of revenue from 

11   customers if they voluntarily leave the system and sign 

12   back up. 

13           Q.     Now, how long would they have -- how long 

14   would they have before that would not apply, if you know? 

15           A.     I'm going to -- I'm going to have to look 

16   in Mike Ensrud's testimony.  He specifically addressed 

17   that, and I -- 

18           Q.     I can -- 

19           A.     I want to say a year, but I need to verify 

20   that.  He's not shaking his head, so yes, one year. 

21           Q.     Okay.  So if they -- if they reconnect 

22   after a year's period, then this penalty wouldn't apply? 

23           A.     Yes. 

24           Q.     But if they reconnect within the year 

25   period, then it would apply? 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2           Q.     Now, what if they moved from one residence 

 3   to another and there was a time frame in between when they 

 4   weren't hooked up?  Would they pay that -- would they pay 

 5   that additional amount during the time when they weren't 

 6   hooked up if they change residences but both times they 

 7   were being served by Atmos? 

 8           A.     I'm sorry, .I'm not sure of Mr. Ensrud, his 

 9   intention on that, and I think it's fair to let him 

10   characterize his position on that. 

11           Q.     Okay. 

12           A.     In the event that he were to propose that a 

13   customer moving from one location to another should have 

14   to pay it, I don't think that would be appropriate, just 

15   like I don't think it's really appropriate to force the 

16   customer to pay for service when they don't use it. 

17           Q.     So Public Counsel opposes this position, 

18   correct? 

19           A.     Yes. 

20           Q.     Now, have you ever seen this kind of a 

21   proposal before, and if so, when? 

22           A.     I have not seen this type of proposal 

23   coupled with a delivery charge that collects everything on 

24   an equal basis from residential customers.  And there are 

25   companies and, in fact, this company in its -- in a number 
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 1   of its districts has a mechanism by which it can recoup a 

 2   portion of costs that is the customer charge for a number 

 3   of months if a customer disconnects.  And I actually have 

 4   that detailed information in something I could root out, 

 5   if you need that level of detail. 

 6           Q.     I'm not sure that I do, but would it tell 

 7   me how -- what's in existence now compares to this 

 8   proposal -- 

 9           A.     Well -- 

10           Q.     -- in regard to the impact on a consumer? 

11           A.     Typically, traditionally, we have 

12   determined a customer charge, and what's included in that 

13   customer charge includes things like the cost of the meter 

14   and the cost of the service line, those things which are 

15   dedicated on the customer's premise to serving the 

16   customer.  And so in that case, where the company tradit-- 

17   or already has mechanisms in place to go back and collect 

18   revenue that it did not collect because the customer was 

19   not taking service, it would have, in theory, recovered 

20   the cost of the service line and the meter and the other 

21   dedicated at the premise revenue, if you will.         The 

22   Staff's proposed delivery charge, however, collects the 

23   entirety of non-gas cost from residential customers.  So a 

24   customer that took no service at all in terms of volumes 

25   would not only be forced to pay the cost of the meter and 
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 1   the service, but they would also be asked to pay toward 

 2   the other costs of the system, whether or not they took 

 3   volume one. 

 4           Q.     Explain the distinction you're making, if 

 5   you would. 

 6           A.     Well, I think that it makes a large 

 7   difference in terms of dollars that a customer would have 

 8   to pay if they -- let's say they disconnected for a month, 

 9   and certainly it's going to depend on what month it is, 

10   but let's say there's a $7 customer charge.  The 

11   customer's off for a month.  They have to pay an 

12   additional $7 plus reconnection charges, things like that 

13   to get back on the system. 

14                  In the case of the delivery charge and -- 

15   and I don't have the updated number.  It varies by 

16   district.  Let's say that the Staff's proposed delivery 

17   charge in an area is $20.  Then that means the customer 

18   who's off for a month has to pay back $20 instead of $7. 

19   Actually, I keep using the word pay back, but I don't mean 

20   that.  It's not a -- it's not that the customer owes it 

21   from my perspective.  It's instead that the company is 

22   allowed to charge it to the customer. 

23           Q.     And what I was really asking is, do you 

24   believe that that is unfair or inappropriate and, if so, 

25   how? 
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 1           A.     I believe that it is unfair and 

 2   inappropriate.  The -- the company lays service pipe and 

 3   obviously, you know, has a customer base.  That customer 

 4   base varies.  Some costs are not directly attributable to 

 5   a particular customer.  Instead they're common costs that 

 6   must be allocated in some fashion, and typically the value 

 7   of service, the theory of value of service says there's a 

 8   value in both having access to and in actually utilizing 

 9   facilities. 

10                  So I think it's fair and appropriate that 

11   both elements be recognized in designing rates, and that's 

12   traditionally supported a customer charge and a volumetric 

13   rate. 

14           Q.     And in this case the proposal is not for 

15   that, but all of them to be in the one fixed charge.  So 

16   how is that -- how does that match up with what you just 

17   said? 

18           A.     Well, it is not consistent with a 

19   traditional mechanism which values of service to both 

20   aspects, access to and use of, instead of -- 

21           Q.     I'm sorry.  Can you give me an example of 

22   what you mean as a portion of what is access to and then 

23   the other portion that you refer to?  Can you give me an 

24   example of what you're referring to? 

25           A.     Well, and please feel free to stop me if 
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 1   I'm not headed in the -- 

 2           Q.     Obviously I am, but go ahead. 

 3           A.     Certainly there are facilities on a premise 

 4   that are dedicated to that premise, and in my perspective 

 5   more than a particular customer, because there's the issue 

 6   of renters and whether the Staff is going to apply the 

 7   same policy to renters as non-renters.  But the meter, the 

 8   service line, those are more obviously dedicated to a 

 9   premise and that's the piece that has traditionally been 

10   collected in a customer charge.  This company, some other 

11   companies, but I don't believe all districts for all 

12   companies have the ability to recoup that if the customer 

13   chooses not to take service for some number of months. 

14           Q.     Okay.  There's some other portion of the 

15   charge that you think really isn't attached to the 

16   premises, right? 

17           A.     Not -- not directly attributable to a 

18   premise. 

19           Q.     And can you give me an example of something 

20   that fits into that category? 

21           A.     Mains, measuring equipment also, you know, 

22   traditionally we have assigned costs where expenses follow 

23   plant.  So the expenses associated with, say, for example, 

24   mains would be allocated traditionally in the same 

25   mechanism as the main plant would be.  So in addition to 
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 1   just the actual physical facilities, a lot of the expenses 

 2   including directly attributable expenses and then some cut 

 3   of the overhead costs also tend to be allocated in that 

 4   same fashion, and I might point out that the Staff, in 

 5   fact, in preparing their own cost studies used that 

 6   traditional method. 

 7           Q.     And when you're using that method, the kind 

 8   of services that you're referring to, the mains and the 

 9   overhead, would that generally be more attributable to -- 

10   in the rates as to the volumetric portion? 

11           A.     Yes. 

12           Q.     All right.  So Staff is in this -- in its 

13   proposal, even though you've just testified that they -- 

14   that they used this in their analysis, they have ignored 

15   that traditional way of allocating to some degree those 

16   costs between a volumetric and a fixed charge? 

17           A.     Yes.  There is a disconnect between their 

18   cost studies and their cost methodology and their rate 

19   design proposal. 

20           Q.     Who did their cost studies, do you know? 

21           A.     Tom Imhoff sponsored the cost studies.  I 

22   believe that Dan Beck also worked with developing some of 

23   the allocators.  Ms. Ross actually crunched some numbers 

24   in term of the large customer usage patterns, and I think 

25   there were other people.  There were a couple of people, I 
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 1   think, that worked on weather normalization.  All of those 

 2   different aspects go into portions of developing the cost 

 3   study, but the cost study witness was Tom Imhoff. 

 4           Q.     Okay.  Was that cost study done before 

 5   Staff formulated its direct testimony on rate design? 

 6           A.     It was filed with the rate design.  I'm not 

 7   sure, you know, before -- all I know is what they said 

 8   when they filed, and the cost of service I saw at the same 

 9   that I saw this rate design proposal. 

10           Q.     If I were looking at -- well, let me ask 

11   you this:  In looking at the cost study that you're 

12   referring to, did it infer a certain appropriate division 

13   in rates between a volumetric and a fixed charge amount, 

14   do you know? 

15           A.     Yes, I do know.  I actually -- 

16           Q.     Can you go into that a little bit for me? 

17           A.     I'd be happy to.  Actually, as part of 

18   our -- as part of our preliminary agreement in this case 

19   with respect to the exchange of data, the Staff provided 

20   to me their work papers, including their cost of service 

21   studies.  And typically I rely on a lot of the data 

22   produced by Staff to do my own cost studies, and in fact, 

23   as this case progressed, I ultimately agreed to use their 

24   mains allocator. 

25                  But the Staff, just like our cost study, at 
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 1   one step in their process they sort out what are the costs 

 2   of, say, for example, services, and what are the cost of 

 3   meters in total?  What's the total dollar amount that's 

 4   going to be allocated to each customer class?  And so you 

 5   are able to divide that by the number of customers in that 

 6   district, if you will -- the Staff used three, I used 

 7   seven -- and that would come up with the portion of those 

 8   costs that are going to be allocated if you did it on a 

 9   per customer basis, which the customer charge 

10   traditionally is. 

11                  So the Staff actually did have in their 

12   studies -- I think it's a historic thing.  I don't know if 

13   they're going to try and change that in the future or not, 

14   but historically they've calculated that inside their cost 

15   studies, and I believe they relied on it in testimony in 

16   the past. 

17                  Now, I don't -- what I remember seeing 

18   specifically are the plant-related accounts, and so, you 

19   know, had identified as being related to a customer 

20   portion.  And I don't know if, you know, they intend to 

21   change that going forward so it won't be -- so it won't 

22   disagree with their rate design or not. 

23           Q.     If you were looking, again, at their cost 

24   studies and their allocation, if the rate design had been 

25   similar to that, would the current rate design in the 
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 1   division between that Atmos is using now, would it vary 

 2   far from those cost studies in regard to what should be in 

 3   volumetric and what should be in fixed charge, if you 

 4   recall? 

 5           A.     Yes.  Yes. 

 6           Q.     In what way?  Give me some -- 

 7           A.     Well -- 

 8           Q.     -- inclination. 

 9           A.     The Staff's cost studies would pick up 

10   certain elements of plant cost, primarily the meter and 

11   the service, the cost of the service line at the premise, 

12   and they would capture that in those costs which they 

13   would later identify as being customer related and recover 

14   through a customer charge. 

15                  In this case, it literally takes every type 

16   of cost -- the rate design from a theoretical perspective 

17   takes every type of cost and recovers it as part of a flat 

18   fixed rate. 

19           Q.     That's the proposal that Staff has? 

20           A.     That's the proposal. 

21           Q.     Now, what I'm asking you at this point is, 

22   does the cost study, if it were split along the lines that 

23   you have traditionally seen Staff do it, would it -- would 

24   it be close to the current, not the proposal, but the 

25   current split that we have in Atmos, if you recall? 
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 1           A.     There were a number of districts. 

 2   Actually, I may have that information right here with me. 

 3           Q.     Okay.  Good. 

 4           A.     The west central rate district which 

 5   includes Greeley and Butler, and this is -- this is a copy 

 6   of the Staff's cost study that I printed off.  It was the 

 7   work papers that supported direct testimony. 

 8           Q.     Okay.  Is it marked as an exhibit, do you 

 9   know? 

10           A.     No.  I have all three and would be happy to 

11   make you copies if you would like them. 

12           Q.     Perhaps if we're going to get into too much 

13   detail on the numbers, we would want to do that.  I'll ask 

14   the Judge how she would prefer to handle the record. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I can certainly mark that 

16   as an exhibit or I'll -- you say there's three? 

17                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  The main purpose at this 

18   point, Judge, is in the event we're talking about numbers 

19   off of a document, there be some identification of that 

20   document in the record. 

21                  THE WITNESS:  I'm looking at what I have 

22   printed off as the second page, and if you decide you'd 

23   like them, you know, I'll certainly be happy to number the 

24   pages to correspond to this discussion.  That's -- 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And this is, you said, the 
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 1   cost studies from Staff? 

 2                  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

 3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That was to support -- 

 4                  THE WITNESS:  Their direct testimony.  It 

 5   was filed -- it was the work papers from their direct 

 6   testimony.  And they may have changed some numbers, you 

 7   know, along the way to agree with their accounting 

 8   schedules.  Okay. 

 9   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

10           Q.     Now, is any of this HC, highly 

11   confidential? 

12           A.     I don't believe that the -- that the 

13   structure of the Staff's cost study could really be 

14   considered highly confidential.  I can talk generally 

15   about that.  There are specific numbers that are 

16   allocated, like tens and hundreds of thousands of dollars 

17   of, if you have any interest in those, but I think I can 

18   shorten the answer. 

19           Q.     That would be good. 

20           A.     And what I tell you I don't think would be 

21   highly confidential. 

22           Q.     Okay. 

23           A.     All right.  The -- this is the Staff's cost 

24   study, as I said, for the west central rate district, 

25   keeping in mind the Staff did three consolidated areas. 
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 1   Even though their accounting Staff did seven revenue 

 2   requirements, the Staff combined and only did three class 

 3   cost of service studies. 

 4                  All right.  On the second page of this, the 

 5   Staff has identified -- and I did verify that these cells 

 6   actually pull from numbers and they're entered elsewhere 

 7   in their studies.  They weren't just hard-coated leftover 

 8   things.  There are some titles.  One is total revenue to 

 9   collect from class, and then a subtitle of that, amount to 

10   be collected in customer charge, and then identifies a 

11   group of costs.  One of them is direct service line cost. 

12   Another is direct meter cost.  Another is direct regulator 

13   cost.  And those three categories of cost actually have 

14   numbers in them. 

15                  Then there's some other things below it, 

16   and I don't really know whether because of the Staff's 

17   rate design they're doing this part specifically 

18   differently or not.  I didn't go back and compare to like 

19   their cost studies in the ANG case or anything, but they 

20   have direct billing costs, direct meter reading costs and 

21   direct customer service costs, all three have zero in 

22   them. 

23                  Anyway, the next line says dollars to 

24   collect in customer charge, and it comes up with a total 

25   amount of dollars.  They do a little gyration for 
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 1   transport customer adjustment.  Come up with the remaining 

 2   dollars, divide by the number of bills, so that this gets 

 3   you a per bill customer charge, and so it's titled 

 4   customer charge from COS, which typically means cost of 

 5   service, in this case $6. 

 6           Q.     That would be the fixed charge or variable 

 7   charge? 

 8           A.     And then they have customer charge rounded 

 9   to $7. 

10           Q.     All right. 

11           A.     But I mean, I actually went in and looked 

12   at these numbers, and it looked to me like the Staff did 

13   not, in fact, actually just round each of these.  Where 

14   they were -- where they were different, one of them 

15   actually should have rounded to 6 and instead it was hard 

16   coated 7.  So I think maybe the Staff might have been 

17   considering -- I don't really know why they did it, but I 

18   don't think the rounded number is actually correct for 

19   each of the districts, just a qualification. 

20                  And similar, but the reason that I say that 

21   is because the Staff did something similar for the other 

22   two districts, and while it rounded to -- while in its 

23   cell it calls rounded to, they put the same number.  It's 

24   not really the same if you actually do the rounding 

25   mathematically.  So while it appears that, you know, they 
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 1   round all to the same for each district, that's not really 

 2   the case if you were to actually do the calculation. 

 3   That's what I was trying to say. 

 4           Q.     Okay. 

 5           A.     Did you need anything more than that? 

 6           Q.     What I'm asking you is, based on the cost 

 7   studies that you have there, can you -- is there a way to 

 8   derive what would be an appropriate split between 

 9   volumetric and fixed charges if you were using cost 

10   studies as a guide? 

11           A.     Well, if the cost studies, the 

12   customer-related portion of the cost studies, directly 

13   assignable cost looks to be something more in the 

14   neighborhood of 6 to $7. 

15           Q.     Okay.  And as you go through the other 

16   districts, can you give me a number for them? 

17           A.     Yeah.  What I was -- what I was trying to 

18   say is I think they end up almost identical for the 

19   districts, that piece of it, although that's not exactly 

20   the case because the numbers aren't -- they're hard coated 

21   in some cases. 

22           Q.     Thank you.  I think that clarifies that 

23   part for me. 

24           A.     Okay. 

25           Q.     So the other portion of whatever the 
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 1   charges would be would fall into a volumetric rate? 

 2           A.     Yes. 

 3           Q.     Yes. 

 4           A.     Typically.  And as I said, you know, the 

 5   Staff may or may -- they may or may not.  If they were 

 6   proposing a traditional rate design, I'm not sure if they 

 7   would want to capture other things in that basket.  I'm 

 8   sure that Tom Imhoff or Dan Beck, who's been doing these 

 9   cost studies for years, could tell you about that. 

10           Q.     Okay.  Now, what are the current fixed 

11   customer charges in those districts? 

12           A.     I have these on a worksheet, and I'm hoping 

13   I actually have it with me today.  They vary from -- I 

14   mean, I can give you an idea without -- 

15           Q.     Well, if you have a range, that would be 

16   helpful. 

17           A.     I believe the range is from $5 up to maybe 

18   $9.05. 

19           Q.     Okay.  And Staff's proposal again is to go 

20   to what fixed charge? 

21           A.     It varies by district, and I really do need 

22   that sheet to be able to answer these questions well.  I 

23   calculated them based on the billing determinants that 

24   have been agreed to in the case. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Meisenheimer, is that 
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 1   the same as what Ms. Childers had attached to her 

 2   surrebuttal at -- page 1 of 2 of her Schedule 2 of her 

 3   surrebuttal had the current -- currently effective rates, 

 4   including a customer charge, or is what you're talking 

 5   about different? 

 6                  THE WITNESS:  I do remember talking at this 

 7   hearing about what they were and confirming -- confirming 

 8   that I agreed with them, but for some reason I was 

 9   thinking that that was as compared to Ms. Ross' testimony. 

10                  I hid them right in the front.  All right. 

11   Here we go.  Are you interested in what they would be on a 

12   consolidated basis as the Staff's proposed or 

13   unconsolidated? 

14   BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

15           Q.     Why don't you give me both? 

16           A.     Okay. 

17           Q.     I want the unconsolidated ones first. 

18           A.     Unconsolidated first.  Kirksville 11.94; 

19   Butler 18.67; SEMO 13.86; UCG 25.33; Palmyra 14.12; 

20   Greeley 25.37; Neelyville 18.28. 

21                  On a consolidated basis, Kirksville 20.61; 

22   Butler 19.43; SEMO 13.92; UCG 20.61; Palmyra 20.61, 

23   Greeley 19.43, Neelyville 13.92.  And those are based 

24   on -- or the way I got the calculation is I took the 

25   revenues that have been agreed to in this case by district 
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 1   and divided by the customer bills that have been agreed to 

 2   in this case by district. 

 3           Q.     Okay. 

 4           A.     And then I combined where there was a 

 5   consolidated district as proposed by the Staff. 

 6           Q.     Okay.  I apologize for jumping around here, 

 7   but you filed testimony, I know, along with Mr. Trippensee 

 8   in regard to an appropriate ROE; is that correct? 

 9           A.     Primarily I introduced Mr. Trippensee as 

10   the witness on that issue.  I did mention -- I did mention 

11   that, you know, we believe it's appropriate that there be 

12   some consideration, I think I said some things probably 

13   about the Laclede stipulation, which I participated in, in 

14   working on, and then I think I also mentioned something on 

15   the North Dakota rate design where there was a different 

16   revenue requirement offered. 

17           Q.     Would you feel comfortable in answering 

18   questions in regard to a reduction in ROE because of a 

19   decreased amount of risk? 

20           A.     To the extent my expertise allows as an 

21   economist, and, you know, to the extent I worked a little 

22   bit in this area before.  But as a general rule, you know, 

23   if it gets very complicated, it would probably be better 

24   to talk to Mr. Trippensee. 

25           Q.     Well, if it does, just let me know. 
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 1           A.     Okay. 

 2           Q.     I'm interested just in general at this 

 3   point in the -- in the concept of risk to the company, and 

 4   whether or not moving to a fixed charge as opposed to a 

 5   fixed charge plus a volumetric charge increases, decreases 

 6   or leaves risk the same for the company. 

 7           A.     When you allow the company a fixed recovery 

 8   and couple it with a mandatory recovery mechanism that 

 9   benefits the company, then you certainly reduce the 

10   company's risk of not earning a level that will satisfy 

11   investors. 

12           Q.     And if you -- just generally, how is that 

13   risk lowered? 

14           A.     The company -- the company's revenue stream 

15   is less dependent on the weather.  Each year there is more 

16   certainty that the company will achieve a certain level of 

17   performance from the viewpoint of shareholders, and 

18   therefore, it appears to be less risky investment. 

19           Q.     Generally, when -- is a company's risk of 

20   importance in traditional ratemaking and making decisions 

21   about what the appropriate return on equity should be? 

22           A.     Generally, yes.  If you would like to go 

23   more into it, this would be close to where I'll pass it 

24   off. 

25           Q.     All right.  And Public Counsel has proposed 
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 1   a reduction in ROE if the Staff's proposal on rate design 

 2   is adopted; is that correct? 

 3           A.     Yes. 

 4           Q.     Now, do you know whether Staff proposed as 

 5   a part of its ROE recommendation that their resulting 

 6   recommendation included a reduction because of the 

 7   lowering of risk with the fixed rate?  Do you know the 

 8   answer to that? 

 9           A.     I believe the answer to that is no, and I 

10   base that on a number of things.  One of them is that 

11   Ms. Ross agreed or admitted that she had not spoken to 

12   Mr. Barnes prior to Mr. Barnes filing his testimony.  It's 

13   my recollection from prehearing -- discussions at the 

14   prehearing conference that, in fact, the Staff had not 

15   included a consideration of a reduction of rate of return. 

16                  Certainly that was an issue near and dear 

17   to our hearts.  We wanted to talk about that.  We talked 

18   about it at length in Laclede, and it -- as you know, the 

19   Laclede stipulation specifically indicates that return was 

20   considered in developing the stipulation in the case where 

21   we gave them a rate to design which reduced their weather 

22   risk, and we felt that was appropriate. 

23                  We believe it would be appropriate in this 

24   case, as it would be in the future as well.  In cases 

25   where you reduce a company's weather risk, you know, I 
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 1   think it's reasonable and fair to customers to account for 

 2   it by a lower return. 

 3           Q.     In some of the discussions in the 

 4   Prehearing Briefs, if I recall correctly, there was 

 5   some -- some discussion about an allegation or a question 

 6   of whether or not Atmos might actually be overearning.  Is 

 7   that true, that there's some discussion of that?  Do you 

 8   know? 

 9           A.     I -- I know that that is an issue for us. 

10   I actually spoke about it in my testimony and would be 

11   able to address it. 

12           Q.     I'm interested in knowing, first of all, 

13   does Public Counsel believe that currently Atmos is 

14   overearning? 

15           A.     This is an area where we typically rely on 

16   the Staff.  We have a limited accounting staff of two 

17   that's working on all the cases -- 

18           Q.     All right. 

19           A.     -- in the state, and the Staff, the 

20   Staff's, you know, witnesses filed testimony that was 

21   supported in -- not just presented in direct, supported in 

22   rebuttal, and also in surrebuttal that they believed the 

23   company was earning by approximately 1.2 -- overearning by 

24   1.2 million.  So I assume that the Staff could support 

25   their claims. 
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 1           Q.     Well, but Staff isn't taking a position in 

 2   this case, are they, that there should be a reduction in 

 3   revenues by that 1.2 million? 

 4           A.     That's true.  They're willing to go to 

 5   zero.  I'm not entirely clear why. 

 6           Q.     In other words, what you're saying is 

 7   they're willing to not advocate for a reduction in the 

 8   revenues of the company, even though they appear to have 

 9   filed testimony that suggests there is that overearning 

10   occurring? 

11           A.     Yes. 

12           Q.     I assume that's not Public Counsel's 

13   position? 

14           A.     No.  I mean, we -- I'm not really our -- 

15   I'm not an accountant, and we have Russ Trippensee who 

16   watches over that area for us and might be better able. 

17                  But, you know, to the extent that we review 

18   and rely on the Staff's testimony in those areas, and I 

19   think that there was one -- one issue maybe that 

20   Mr. Trippensee still had a concern with with respect to 

21   the Staff's revenue requirement, one or two, but as a rule 

22   we supported the Staff's decision and were concerned that 

23   they appeared to be leaving $1.2 million on the table in 

24   this case. 

25           Q.     There is that $78,000 or something, though, 
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 1   that's being contributed for conservation efforts? 

 2           A.     Well, that's another area where I don't 

 3   think that the details are concrete enough to ensure that 

 4   this is actually going to happen in any reasonable time 

 5   frame.  There's not detail about who's going to run this 

 6   program.  I'm not sure if the Staff is now proposing that 

 7   the company do it, contrary to the Staff's position in 

 8   past cases where local community action agencies handle 

 9   those type of programs. 

10                  I don't think there's enough detail for us 

11   to feel confident that that will actually happen any time 

12   soon to aid those -- you know, to provide weatherization 

13   to those 30 homes. 

14           Q.     Now, so I think you've answered this 

15   question.  I don't want to belabor this.  So you believe 

16   there is a significant benefit to the company in going to 

17   this rate design? 

18           A.     Absolutely.  They like it better than what 

19   they proposed themselves. 

20           Q.     What makes you say that? 

21           A.     They have abandoned their own position 

22   proposing a weather normalization adjustment instead to 

23   give up $3.3 million that I assume they believe that they 

24   needed in order to go to zero and get this rate design. 

25           Q.     Is it understandable that they would prefer 
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 1   this rate design, in your opinion, based upon your 

 2   experience, to the one they proposed initially?  Is it 

 3   understandable that that would be more beneficial to the 

 4   company than the one the company actually proposed? 

 5           A.     I think when you balance the support from 

 6   the Staff, together with the revenue stream that it 

 7   produces, against the past decision of this Commission not 

 8   to accept a weather normalization in another case, so when 

 9   you consider all of those factors, then yes. 

10           Q.     Now, I want you to tell me, because I've 

11   heard testimony, the suggestion that this is going to 

12   benefit those people that you represent, this rate design. 

13   And I'd like to hear your view on whether -- what your -- 

14   your opinion on that position. 

15           A.     There are some customers that would benefit 

16   under this rate design.  High use customers are going to 

17   get a bargain compared to what they've been paying.  I 

18   mean, I reviewed underlying data from a subset of 

19   customers based on testimony or data that Anne Ross 

20   requested from the company and found that, you know, the 

21   usage might vary from 200 CCF annually up to, I believe 

22   one of the levels I saw was 2700 CCF annually.  So there's 

23   a huge difference in some cases between the usage of 

24   individual customers. 

25                  Those high use customers, they're going to 
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 1   benefit because they won't pay as much.  Low use customers 

 2   are going to be negatively impacted.  They are going to 

 3   pay more, and that varies by district.  There's also this 

 4   issue of or this -- the consolidation issue also creates 

 5   issues between how our customers in the current districts 

 6   are affected.  Say, for example, Kirksville.  When you 

 7   combine kirksville with other areas, is Kirksville -- or 

 8   is there the amount that they pay distorted from what it 

 9   was?  Yes, it will be.  So there are impacts both just on 

10   low use customers within a district and there are impacts 

11   across districts that are being proposed to be 

12   consolidated. 

13                  Also, another problem that -- a serious 

14   problem that I see with this rate design is the Staff 

15   proposed it for the smallest small general service 

16   customers, and I did an analysis, and it's in my 

17   testimony, and I felt that I did that very conservatively, 

18   and what it showed was that if you go from 2,000 CCF per 

19   year, where you'll pay the residential delivery charge, to 

20   2,001 CCF, you could pay substantially more. 

21                  It creates discontinuity in terms of the 

22   rates, and I -- honestly, I do not feel that there is 

23   substantial evidence the Staff has provided with any 

24   numbers backing it that you should rely on to impose this 

25   type of rate design in a case where you're not going to 
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 1   give a company any increase. 

 2           Q.     So overall, I assume that it's Public 

 3   Counsel's view that those that you represent are more 

 4   harmed -- there's a net harm to the group as a whole? 

 5           A.     Yes, in this case, and also potentially in 

 6   the future, if the Staff continues to propose this type of 

 7   a rate design.  I mean, where does it stop?  Does it stop 

 8   at natural gas or do they then decide that they need to 

 9   introduce this into electric?  Do they think it needs to 

10   apply to generation facilities where the fixed -- where 

11   the costs are primarily fixed? 

12                  I mean, I see this -- this proposal is bad 

13   in this case.  It is bad policy.  I cannot recommend that 

14   you would adopt this.  I hope you won't.  It would be even 

15   worse to spread this type of policy, not just in this 

16   state but then to other states that go, oh, let's go look 

17   at what other states are doing.  Here's Missouri, they've 

18   got this rate design, and maybe we ought to look into it. 

19                  So this is not a model.  There may be 

20   models for us to adopt in Missouri, and Public Counsel has 

21   proposed programs.  We are willing to look at rate designs 

22   that accomplish additional conservation in energy 

23   efficiency.  This is not the one.  Send us to the table -- 

24   may I read you something that you guys said? 

25           Q.     Well, let me -- well, let me ask you what 
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 1   it is. 

 2           A.     It's from the MGE case.  It's what the 

 3   Commission said about the PAYS program that I'd proposed 

 4   in this case. 

 5           Q.     MGE case, regarding? 

 6           A.     It's in the Order. 

 7           Q.     Regarding a question of a rate design that 

 8   was similar to the one that's proposed? 

 9           A.     No.  It discusses the customers -- or the 

10   Commission's interest in the PAYS program. 

11           Q.     Why don't you just refer to it, and then we 

12   can read it? 

13           A.     It -- essentially what I think it says is 

14   that the Commission is interested in the PAYS program. 

15   You're interested in conservation and efficiency.  You, 

16   however -- or the Commission, the majority of the 

17   Commission felt that it was appropriate to look at that in 

18   a broader -- to address it in maybe -- maybe a statewide 

19   consideration. 

20                  But, I mean, those kind of things, if you 

21   allow this type of rate design now, where you give a 

22   company everything that it could ask for and more, without 

23   reasonable concessions that benefit customers, it will -- 

24   it will never bring them to the table. 

25           Q.     Is implementing a move toward design, 
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 1   toward a fixed charge an opportunity for your office, for 

 2   conservation advocates and others to propose a more 

 3   comprehensive overall policy that perhaps results in a 

 4   more beneficial structure and conservation and efficiency 

 5   effort for consumers and overall for the interests of 

 6   saving energy in this state? 

 7           A.     Yes, and in a manner that is responsible 

 8   towards the ratepayers that will fund those programs. 

 9           Q.     And is the carrot that brings the company 

10   to the table on those discussions, at least one of the 

11   carrots, the very thing that Staff appears to be giving to 

12   the company here, a fixed rate design? 

13           A.     Yes.  As I said, I don't know that Public 

14   Counsel would be willing to go to a fixed recovery because 

15   I think that there are just -- I mean, I think from a 

16   costing perspective, the methodology is not -- it's not 

17   appropriate. 

18           Q.     I understand that's your position, but I'm 

19   asking you whether or not this is a carrot that normally 

20   would be available in those kind of discussions with all 

21   of those interests that we were just lining up? 

22           A.     Sure.  Yes. 

23           Q.     And the carrot is being fed in this case by 

24   Staff without any real concessions from the company in 

25   regard to an overarching overall efficiency and 
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 1   conservation effort, wouldn't you say? 

 2           A.     Yes, I would. 

 3           Q.     So if we're out of carrots, how do we get 

 4   this discussion to occur? 

 5           A.     Well, I'm not sure that we will, and I'm 

 6   not sure that you're going to see the companies back for a 

 7   while.  So, you know, you give them this rate design, even 

 8   though there's not support for it based on cost, even 

 9   though theoretically I don't think it's good.  I don't 

10   know what will bring them back to talk about conservation 

11   programs. 

12                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  That's all I have, 

13   Judge.  Thank you. 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

15   further cross-examination based on questions from the 

16   Bench from Atmos? 

17                  MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly, your Honor. 

18   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

19           Q.     Good afternoon, Ms. Meisenheimer. 

20           A.     Good afternoon. 

21           Q.     I've got a few questions based upon 

22   questions received yesterday from Commissioners and maybe 

23   a couple from today's discussion. 

24           A.     Okay. 

25           Q.     If you have a minute.  Am I correct that 
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 1   you've not proposed any weatherization or energy 

 2   efficiency programs in your testimony in this case? 

 3           A.     That's true, and I'd like to explain why. 

 4           Q.     That's all right.  You can do that on 

 5   redirect. 

 6           A.     Okay. 

 7           Q.     And no other witness for Public Counsel has 

 8   suggested that Atmos initiate any specific weatherization 

 9   or energy efficiency program in Public Counsel's prefiled 

10   testimony; is that correct? 

11           A.     That's correct. 

12           Q.     Am I correct that you testified that in 

13   your opinion there is no energy efficiency program that 

14   would justify the adoption of Staff's proposed delivery 

15   charge in your discussion with the Commissioner? 

16           A.     I don't doubt -- I don't doubt that I said 

17   that, I don't disagree with it, but I don't specifically 

18   remember saying it.  The transcript will show whether I -- 

19   you know, that's exactly what I said or not.  In terms of 

20   agreeing with that general theme, yes, I agree. 

21           Q.     I think you indicated to the Commissioner 

22   that even if they proposed energy efficiency plans, that 

23   wouldn't have been enough to get the Public Counsel on 

24   board the delivery charge proposal? 

25           A.     Not this proposal.  There may be other 
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 1   proposals that would not be -- or that, you know, we might 

 2   ultimately agree to.  This one is extreme. 

 3           Q.     I understood your answer to Commissioner 

 4   Clayton, too, you indicated that even if the Commission 

 5   adopted the PAYS proposal in this case, which I don't 

 6   think anybody's proposed, but it they did, Public Counsel 

 7   would not be supporting Staff's delivery charge; is that 

 8   true? 

 9           A.     That's true. 

10           Q.     Public Counsel is not supporting any 

11   weather normalization mechanism in this case or any other 

12   case; is that correct? 

13           A.     We settled with Laclede.  We entered a 

14   stipulation with Laclede. 

15           Q.     Was that a weather normalization adjustment 

16   clause? 

17           A.     It was a weather mitigation rate design. 

18   So, you know, if you're talking about did the mechanics 

19   work exactly the same way, I would say no.  Did the result 

20   provide them less susceptibility to weather risk?  Yes. 

21           Q.     Okay.  But as far as a weather 

22   normalization clause, you haven't expressed any support 

23   for that concept in this case; is that correct? 

24           A.     That's correct. 

25           Q.     And is it also true that in the workshops 
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 1   related to SB 179, you haven't been a big supporter of 

 2   that  concept either? 

 3           A.     I didn't participate in those. 

 4           Q.     Do you know if the Office of Public Counsel 

 5   has supported weather normalization clauses in the context 

 6   of those workshops? 

 7           A.     I don't specifically know.  I'd be 

 8   surprised if we had. 

 9           Q.     Would you expect your position on weather 

10   normalization adjustment clauses to change in the future, 

11   your office's position? 

12           A.     I don't know what those things might look 

13   like, and so I can't say -- I can't say unequivocally no 

14   at this point. 

15           Q.     Has Public Counsel made any proposals in 

16   this case that would reduce the impact of weather on 

17   customers' bills? 

18           A.     No. 

19           Q.     And I believe you've indicated in your 

20   rebuttal testimony at page 23 that you agree that Staff's 

21   proposed delivery charge would reduce the effects of 

22   weather on customers' bills.  It's at line 15.  Is that 

23   right? 

24           A.     I'm going there. 

25           Q.     Okay. 
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 1           A.     23, line 15? 

 2           Q.     Yes. 

 3           A.     What I say is I agree that the delivery 

 4   charge will reduce the effect of weather on customers' 

 5   bills, but I disagree that mandatory imposition of such an 

 6   effect as would occur under the Staff's delivery charge 

 7   is -- delivery charge proposal is desirable. 

 8           Q.     So you disagree with the policy, but you 

 9   don't disagree with the effect that the Staff's proposed 

10   rate design would do.  It would reduce the effect of 

11   weather on customers' bills; is that right? 

12           A.     I -- I agree that it will reduce the effect 

13   of weather on customers' bills.  I don't think that's a 

14   good thing. 

15           Q.     I understand.  And has Public Counsel made 

16   any proposals in this case that would reduce the impact of 

17   weather on the volatility of the company's earnings? 

18           A.     No. 

19           Q.     And on that page 32 of your rebuttal, 

20   lines 3 through 5, you indicate that the company's 

21   original weather normalization adjustment proposal -- 

22           A.     If I could get there and then hear the 

23   question, it will help me so I won't have to -- 

24           Q.     I'll try to slow down.  I apologize.  I was 

25   referring to page 32. 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2           Q.     At your lines 3 through 5. 

 3           A.     Okay. 

 4           Q.     Is it true that you indicate that the 

 5   company's original weather normalization adjustment 

 6   proposal would create fluctuating rates?  That was one of 

 7   your criticisms of it? 

 8           A.     Effective rates, yes. 

 9           Q.     Would you agree that the Staff's proposed 

10   delivery charge would be a fixed rate and not a 

11   fluctuating rate? 

12           A.     Well, I mean, here I was talking about 

13   effective rates, which include volumetric-based rates. 

14   The Staff's would have absolutely no volumetric-based 

15   rates. 

16           Q.     So the answer is yes? 

17           A.     It would literally be a rate. 

18           Q.     So the answer to my question would be a 

19   yes? 

20           A.     Well, I don't think it's apples to oranges, 

21   or I don't think it's apples to apples.  I think it's 

22   apples to oranges. 

23           Q.     Okay.  So are you disagreeing that the 

24   Staff's proposed delivery charge would not be a 

25   fluctuating rate?  It's a fixed rate, that's by 
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 1   definition, isn't it? 

 2           A.     It is a single fixed rate. 

 3           Q.     And then on page 13 of your surrebuttal 

 4   testimony, you state that, in my opinion, taking no action 

 5   in response to Senate Bill 179 in this case is preferable 

 6   to taking the wrong action.  Is that right?  Is that what 

 7   you said? 

 8           A.     Yes. 

 9           Q.     Isn't that a statement of Public Counsel's 

10   bottom line position in this case, that you believe taking 

11   no action to address the issue of weather mitigation on 

12   customers' bills is the approach the Commission should 

13   take in this case? 

14           A.     Yes, where the company is not underearning, 

15   has agreed to a zero increase in revenue requirement, yes, 

16   I think no change is an appropriate place to be. 

17           Q.     Public Counsel just doesn't believe that 

18   the Commission should take any action which would address 

19   the issue of weather mitigation on customers' bills; is 

20   that correct? 

21           A.     That's overly broad.  If you're asking me 

22   in the context of this case under the conditions that I 

23   just mentioned, then my answer would be yes.  If you're 

24   asking me in a broader sense, then no, that might not be 

25   my answer. 
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 1           Q.     Is it correct that Public Counsel is 

 2   supporting basically the status quo or the existing rate 

 3   design in this case? 

 4           A.     Yes.  The one that was approved by the 

 5   Commission previously, yes. 

 6           Q.     You had quite a discussion about the cost 

 7   of service studies in this case, and I'd ask you to turn 

 8   to your surrebuttal testimony, your surrebuttal Schedule 

 9   SUR-1? 

10           A.     Yes. 

11           Q.     This schedule shows the revised results of 

12   the Public Counsel's cost of service study; is that 

13   correct? 

14           A.     Yes. 

15           Q.     And the first page of that schedule related 

16   to the Butler district shows that the residential class 

17   would need to increase by 13.22 percent to equalize the 

18   class rates under your cost of service study; is that 

19   correct? 

20           A.     Yes, and I would like to qualify that. 

21           Q.     Well, your counsel can ask you about that. 

22   Just looking through those briefly, your cost studies 

23   would indicate Kirksville's residential rates would need 

24   to go up by 17.616 percent to equalize rates of returns on 

25   classes; is that true? 
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 1           A.     Yes, with the same qualification. 

 2           Q.     And Neelyville at 23.19? 

 3           A.     Yes, with the same qualification. 

 4           Q.     And Palmyra at 5.24? 

 5           A.     Yes. 

 6           Q.     And SEMO -- 

 7           A.     With the same. 

 8           Q.     -- at 14.80? 

 9           A.     Yes, with the same. 

10           Q.     And United Cities at 1.40; is that correct? 

11           A.     Yes, with the same qualification. 

12           Q.     In this case, isn't it true that Staff, 

13   Public Counsel and the company have agreed there won't be 

14   any -- won't be any class shifts to the residential class 

15   even though your cost studies indicate that increases 

16   might be appropriate; is that true? 

17           A.     Yes, as I will qualify on redirect 

18   hopefully. 

19           Q.     Okay.  And also you had a discussion with 

20   Commissioner Gaw regarding whether the Staff's proposed 

21   rate design would benefit customers that you're 

22   representing.  Do you remember that discussion? 

23           A.     I'm sorry.  Can you repeat that? 

24           Q.     Yeah.  Do you recall the discussion you had 

25   with Commissioner Gaw regarding whether the Staff's 
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 1   proposed rate design would benefit customers that you 

 2   represent? 

 3           A.     Yes. 

 4           Q.     And I think you indicated that high use 

 5   customers are going to get a bargain, I think was the term 

 6   you used? 

 7           A.     Yes. 

 8           Q.     Does Public Counsel represent high use 

 9   residential customers in this case? 

10           A.     Sure. 

11           Q.     I believe you indicated that low use 

12   customers would be negatively impacted; is that right? 

13           A.     Yes. 

14           Q.     And Public Counsel would represent low use 

15   customers in this case; is that true? 

16           A.     Yes, that's true. 

17           Q.     And I'd like to refer you to Exhibit 19. 

18           A.     I don't know what exhibit -- 

19           Q.     I'm sorry.  It's that one about the LIHEAP 

20   customers that we talked about just before we started 

21   back. 

22           A.     Is it what you provided, what the company 

23   has submitted? 

24           Q.     Yeah.  And I'm going to ask you to take a 

25   look at that and assume that the data is correct. 
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 1           A.     And I also need to verify which document it 

 2   is.  I've now received two documents from the company, one 

 3   you sent to me in e-mail today. 

 4           Q.     The first cover sheet.  Let's look at the 

 5   one that we marked as Exhibit 19, and I can show you a 

 6   copy of that. 

 7           A.     I'm sorry.  I'm going to have to get you to 

 8   give me a copy. 

 9           Q.     I sure will. 

10           A.     Thanks. 

11           Q.     Assuming that that data is correct, would 

12   you agree with me that this indicates that LIHEAP 

13   customers, those Low Income Housing Assistance Program 

14   customers on annual bases in 2005 would actually by higher 

15   than average usage levels in each of those districts? 

16           A.     If this were the relevant data and it were 

17   correct, then yes, I would agree with. 

18           Q.     For example, the largest -- or in Butler, 

19   which is the largest difference, there's 2.5 percent, and 

20   the data -- we don't have to go through it, but those 

21   customers you would represent as well, correct? 

22           A.     Yes. 

23           Q.     And so those high use customers would be 

24   benefiting by the Staff's rate design; is that correct? 

25           A.     Yes.  I mean, I don't dispute that there 
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 1   are customers that will not pay as much if the Staff's 

 2   rate design is approved. 

 3           Q.     And you represent those customers as well? 

 4           A.     Yes, Public Counsel represents those 

 5   customers. 

 6           Q.     You were also asked some questions about 

 7   Atmos overearning.  Is it correct that Public Counsel has 

 8   not filed a complaint in this case? 

 9           A.     That's true. 

10                  MR. FISCHER:  I believe that's all I have, 

11   your Honor.  Thank you very much. 

12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

13   further cross-examination from Staff? 

14                  MR. BERLIN:  Yes, Judge. 

15   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BERLIN: 

16           Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, you were just asked some 

17   questions, I believe, from Commissioner Gaw regarding 

18   Staff's class cost of service study and the resulting 

19   customer charges.  Do you have your worksheets in front of 

20   you? 

21           A.     I have copies of the Staff's cost studies 

22   that I printed off, and I do have them with me. 

23           Q.     What value does the sheet say for -- the 

24   sheet say for residential in the amount of customer 

25   service? 
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 1           A.     Which district, please? 

 2           Q.     Southeast. 

 3           A.     And I'm sorry, I need you to tell me again 

 4   which account. 

 5           Q.     I'm looking at the worksheet and the amount 

 6   for customer service costs, meter reading costs, billing 

 7   costs. 

 8           A.     As I believe I indicated to Commissioner 

 9   Gaw, those numbers are zero. 

10           Q.     Do you believe those numbers, those values 

11   are actually truly zero? 

12           A.     In terms of the portion that the Staff 

13   would normally allocate -- I mean, we're not saying that 

14   there. 

15           Q.     Is it yes or -- 

16           A.     No costs. 

17           Q.     You believe those numbers are truly zero? 

18           A.     They say zero on the document, yes. 

19           Q.     Do you believe that that could be an error 

20   in that spreadsheet? 

21           A.     If the Staff made an error, I assume the 

22   Staff would correct it. 

23           Q.     So would correcting that error likely 

24   increase the resulting customer charge? 

25           A.     If you raise those, if you raise that 
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 1   number from zero to a positive value, yes, it would. 

 2           Q.     Thank you.  With regard to the 

 3   disconnection charge questions asked to you by 

 4   Commissioner Gaw earlier, you were asked about the impact 

 5   on a customer.  Have you performed any studies as to what 

 6   impact that would be to disconnect seasonal disconnect 

 7   customers? 

 8           A.     I'm not sure what type of study you might 

 9   be asking me about. 

10           Q.     Well, did you do any studies with regard to 

11   customer impacts regarding seasonal disconnects? 

12           A.     In terms of, say, how many actual customers 

13   that it might affect based on historic data, I mean, 

14   Mr. Ensrud did an analysis, and I didn't provide any 

15   rebuttal to his analysis, or maybe I'm thinking about 

16   another one.  Never mind.  I'll take that answer back. 

17           Q.     Let me clarify the question.  Did you do 

18   any studies with regard to customer impacts, customer 

19   impact on seasonal disconnects on all ratepayers?  What is 

20   the impact on ratepayers of the seasonal disconnects? 

21           A.     I did not perform a separate study on that. 

22   It was taken into account when I did. 

23           Q.     Okay.  Thank you. 

24           A.     I was trying to tell you that's where it 

25   was included in the studies I did. 
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 1                  MR. BERLIN:  I'll let counsel cover that on 

 2   redirect. 

 3                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, wasn't that the 

 4   question? 

 5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  He asked if she ever 

 6   performed any studies.  She said no. 

 7                  THE WITNESS:  I -- 

 8   BY MR. BERLIN: 

 9           Q.     Now, would it be fair to say that the 

10   customers who remain on the system pay for that customer 

11   who opts off the system for some period of time? 

12           A.     I can't agree with that because I believe 

13   it's a simplistic characterization.  It's not accurate. 

14           Q.     Do the cost of distribution mains vary with 

15   the amount of volume that flow through them? 

16           A.     Yes.  Would you like me to explain?  Maybe 

17   it would help if you tell me whether you want to know 

18   about short-run or long-run costs. 

19           Q.     Well, in answer to the question, you do -- 

20   is it correct to say that you do not believe that -- or 

21   you do believe, if I heard you correctly, that the costs 

22   related to distribution mains varies with the amount of 

23   volume that flows through them? 

24           A.     In the long run, yes, I do. 

25           Q.     All right.  Thank you.  Are you aware that 
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 1   the companies, the comparable companies that Staff witness 

 2   Barnes used in his analysis on ROE have weather mitigating 

 3   rate designs? 

 4           A.     I have -- I have very limited knowledge on 

 5   this.  I mean, I did review some types or some companies 

 6   that may have been on his list.  I should probably pass 

 7   this type of a question to Mr. Trippensee who specifically 

 8   addressed it.  He would have been the witness.  I don't 

 9   know if he's coming back or not. 

10           Q.     Were you here on Thursday when Staff 

11   witness Rackers testified? 

12           A.     I was here for at least part of it, maybe 

13   all of it.  I can't recall. 

14           Q.     Can you recall the list of reasons that 

15   Mr. Rackers gave with regard to not pursuing a complaint 

16   case? 

17           A.     I remember some of them. 

18           Q.     Can you recall those? 

19           A.     As I said, I recall some.  I don't know if 

20   I recall all.  If you could list them for me, I can verify 

21   that I remember him talking about them. 

22           Q.     I believe yesterday Commissioner Gaw asked 

23   you a question about the rate design technical conference. 

24   Do you recall that that rate design technical conference, 

25   was that held prior to the filing of testimony? 
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 1           A.     We've had many conversations.  I can't 

 2   remember the names of each of the meeting that we have. 

 3   I'm sorry. 

 4           Q.     If you can't recall, then -- 

 5           A.     I just -- I mean, if you're asking me 

 6   whether we met with the company before we filed testimony, 

 7   then that may be the case. 

 8           Q.     Well, were you invited to the rate design 

 9   technical conference? 

10           A.     My difficulty is that you're calling it the 

11   rate design technical conference, and I'm having 

12   difficulty remembering which name with which meeting.  I 

13   feel confident that I was there.  Does that help? 

14           Q.     Is your answer that you were invited to the 

15   rate design technical conference? 

16           A.     I'm sure Public Counsel would have been 

17   invited to that.  I participated in some meetings.  I 

18   don't know that I participated in all.  I was working on a 

19   number of other cases at the time. 

20           Q.     In your opinion, what defines a low use 

21   customer? 

22           A.     Well, generally when I was talking about 

23   low use customers, I was talking customers that are below 

24   a reasonable range at the average.  There was specific 

25   data that we looked at.  And so often when I talked about 
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 1   low use customers in my testimony, I was talking about 

 2   specific categories of customers as defined in that data 

 3   set. 

 4           Q.     Is your answer that -- and I'm not trying 

 5   to put words in your mouth, but what I think I heard was 

 6   that low use customers fall below the average use? 

 7           A.     Well, it was a little more qualified than 

 8   that.  I would say that it wouldn't need to be like just a 

 9   few below the average.  It would have to be within a range 

10   or beyond a range around the average. 

11           Q.     What range is that? 

12           A.     When I talked about low use customers in my 

13   testimony, often I was specifically referring to data that 

14   was grouped in some cases that went as low as 200 CCF per 

15   year. 

16           Q.     What -- 

17           A.     And I have it in schedules.  I mean, I can 

18   refer you to schedules. 

19           Q.     What does a low use customer typically use 

20   gas for? 

21           A.     Well, I think there are a number of things 

22   a low use customer could use gas for.  Ms. Ross talked 

23   about some things.  They may also be someone who keeps a 

24   thermostat just extremely low, barely -- 

25           Q.     Would low use customers be ones that use 
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 1   gas fireplaces? 

 2           A.     They may also have alternative forms of 

 3   heat.  They may have a wood stove that they run for, you 

 4   know, the majority of the time and I mean, I don't think 

 5   it's that simple to characterize. 

 6           Q.     Did you do any studies on determining what 

 7   a low use customer is? 

 8           A.     No, and I didn't dispute categories gen-- 

 9           Q.     Thank you.  That answers my question.  In 

10   your mind, where does the PGA rate have to go before a 

11   customer will conserve the use of gas solely based on PGA 

12   rate? 

13           A.     Well, I mean, from an economic perspective, 

14   generally there is some level of elasticity between price 

15   and quantity, and therefore customers, you know, in theory 

16   should respond to increases in price, so that as price 

17   increases, it should become more and more important to 

18   them to conserve.  They should have more and more interest 

19   in conservation. 

20           Q.     Can you give me a rate that triggers a 

21   customer's incentive to conserve? 

22           A.     No. 

23           Q.     With regard to Staff's delivery charges, 

24   there's still a risk that during the cold winter months 

25   that customers will not be able to pay their bill? 
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 1           A.     Sure. 

 2           Q.     Would that risk fall under the subject of 

 3   uncollectible expense, uncollectibles? 

 4           A.     If it went uncollected long enough, yes. 

 5           Q.     And would not the cold weather be a cause 

 6   of uncollectibles? 

 7           A.     Yes.  Colder than normal weather especially 

 8   when coupled with higher gas cost, sure. 

 9           Q.     Okay.  I have -- I have here some questions 

10   that go to some -- a line of questions from Commissioner 

11   Gaw, I believe, yesterday regarding Staff's rate design 

12   compounding effects and unfairness.  And perhaps to follow 

13   along, it might be easier to follow the actual pieces of 

14   the exhibit that I have, Judge.  So may I approach? 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  And this exhibit that 

16   you're handing out is what you used in your opening? 

17                  MR. BERLIN:  That's correct.  It's also 

18   part of Anne Ross' surrebuttal and rebuttal testimony. 

19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I don't believe we 

20   previously gave this specific document an exhibit number, 

21   since it was part of the other exhibits, but I think just 

22   to keep the record straight, it might be a good idea if we 

23   did, so I'm going to go ahead and assign it Exhibit 

24   No. 142. 

25                  (EXHIBIT NO. 142 WAS MARKED FOR 
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 1   IDENTIFICATION BY THE REPORTER.) 

 2   BY MR. BERLIN: 

 3           Q.     Ms. Ross, do you have that document that I 

 4   just handed out to you? 

 5           A.     I'm Ms. Meisenheimer and I do have it. 

 6           Q.     Ms. Meisenheimer, excuse me.  In looking at 

 7   the front page of that, would you agree that the average 

 8   residential annual CCF usage for the northeast Missouri 

 9   service territory is 836 RCF? 

10           A.     I agree that that's what the number on the 

11   thing says.  If you'll give me a minute, I can verify that 

12   I agree with the number.  I assume you'd like me to do 

13   that. 

14           Q.     Go ahead. 

15           A.     And this is for, yes, residential. 

16           Q.     Maybe to save time, would you agree 

17   that the number, the average number is somewhere around 

18   830 CCF? 

19           A.     I mean, I have them -- I have done that 

20   calculation by district, and provided that, you know, 

21   those numbers can be derived from the billing units we 

22   agreed to in the case, then I wouldn't dispute them. 

23           Q.     Okay.  Going to the next page is a graph or 

24   a chart rather, and on top you'll note the northeast 

25   Missouri service territory.  Now, let's say, for example, 
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 1   that I'm a -- I'm a somewhat average but actually a 

 2   conserving gas user and I have a modest home in Hannibal, 

 3   and you also have a modest home, but you live in 

 4   Kirksville.  Now, if I'm about 86 percent of the average 

 5   720 CCF in my gas purchases and you're also at 720 CCF but 

 6   you live in Kirksville, is it fair that the Hannibal 

 7   customer pays $106 more a year than does the Kirksville 

 8   customer for provision of the same residential gas 

 9   service? 

10           A.     It may be, depending on the plant and other 

11   facilities that have been put in place over time to serve 

12   those customers. 

13           Q.     So you believe that the cost of Atmos today 

14   to provide gas service to my home in Hannibal costs twice 

15   as much as what Atmos pays to provide gas service to you 

16   at your home in Kirksville; is that correct? 

17           A.     It may be, and if you have a copy of the 

18   Staff accounting schedules for the Hannibal/Canton/Bowling 

19   Green area versus the Kirksville area, maybe I can help 

20   explain why, why those might be closer to the case. 

21           Q.     Do you believe that the costs associated 

22   with that are related to the past operational realities of 

23   the predecessor companies? 

24           A.     Yes.  That doesn't mean they've changed for 

25   this company -- 

 

879 of 1082



0568 

 1           Q.     Thank you. 

 2           A.     -- that bought them. 

 3           Q.     You answered the question.  Is it Public 

 4   Counsel's position, then, that Hannibal, Canton and 

 5   Bowling Green customers should pay $106 or almost double 

 6   what a Kirksville customer pays? 

 7           A.     It might be appropriate, depending on the 

 8   facilities that are in place to serve them, the historic 

 9   cost and other considerations that have occurred over time 

10   to result in the embedded cost. 

11                  MR. BERLIN:  Staff has no further 

12   questions. 

13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

14   redirect? 

15                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 

16   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

17           Q.     Yesterday Mr. Berlin asked you questions 

18   about your position regarding LIHEAP and low use 

19   customers.  Do you recall those?  And he referred you, I 

20   believe, to page 9 of your direct testimony. 

21           A.     Yes, or -- 

22           Q.     Surrebuttal testimony.  Do you recall which 

23   testimony it was? 

24           A.     Let me find -- 

25           Q.     Surrebuttal, page 9. 
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 1           A.     Okay. 

 2           Q.     I believe the question he asked was whether 

 3   you still believe that the average LIHEAP customer use 

 4   compared to the average customer use were similar; is that 

 5   correct? 

 6           A.     To be similar in every district, I believe 

 7   is what I said at line 14 of page 9 of my surrebuttal. 

 8           Q.     Would you believe it would assist the 

 9   record if your supporting work papers that support that 

10   statement were entered into this case? 

11           A.     I do, and I should -- I feel like it would 

12   be fair for me to explain a little bit the development of 

13   those calculations. 

14           Q.     Let me -- 

15           A.     Okay. 

16                  MR. POSTON:  May I approach, your Honor? 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes.  And this was the 

18   other exhibit that you mentioned earlier, Mr. Poston? 

19                  MR. POSTON:  One of two. 

20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  One of two.  I will mark 

21   this particular exhibit, I believe your next number, 205. 

22                  (EXHIBIT NO. 205 WAS MARKED FOR 

23   IDENTIFICATION BY THE REPORTER.) 

24   BY MR. POSTON: 

25           Q.     Do you have what's been marked as 205? 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2           Q.     Can you please identify this exhibit? 

 3           A.     Yes.  This is actually a copy of something 

 4   that I produced when I was first considering what to do in 

 5   terms of filing testimony in this case and it -- behind it 

 6   is included the data that I relied upon.  The data is 

 7   provided in request to Data Request responses to the 

 8   Staff.  Part of it was provided in response to Anne Ross, 

 9   who asked about the company -- about LIHEAP customers and 

10   their winter usage, and the rest of it was the actual 

11   billing data that's not normalized that was requested from 

12   the company. 

13                  This is --this is the update that the 

14   company provided.  They had provided a previous set of 

15   data, and then updated it through June of 2006.  And what 

16   the document or what the spreadsheet shows -- I didn't 

17   actually use this in direct testimony, and that was 

18   because I didn't find any substantial difference between 

19   LIHEAP customers and the average customers, so I didn't 

20   feel it was fair for me to be criticizing proposals based 

21   on differences that I didn't really believe existed.  So I 

22   didn't use this. 

23                  However, I had done it, and later Ms. Ross 

24   made some unsubstantiated claims about low-income 

25   customers and impacts, and I made a simple statement, in 
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 1   response the Staff later has come back and wanted to make 

 2   an issue about what data I relied upon.  I had actually 

 3   looked at data -- two sets of data.  One of them dealt 

 4   with a small sample of customers.  This data was actually 

 5   or was characterized in the data response, it was 

 6   responding to a Staff request that asked for the average 

 7   LIHEAP for each district. 

 8                  In particular Ms. Ross asked for, for each 

 9   of Atmos' six rate districts, please provide the average 

10   monthly usage and/or bill frequency analysis for all 

11   customers receiving LIHEAP energy assistance grants in the 

12   2004-2005 heating season, as well as the number of 

13   customers receiving these grants during that time period. 

14   Please provide the same information for customers 

15   receiving LIHEAP EA in the 2005-2006 heating season. 

16                  So I had two years of heating season data. 

17   I compared the period where I also had billing data from 

18   the company, and so what you see at the top is for each 

19   month, I went through and for each district calculated the 

20   difference between the average bill -- these are not 

21   normalized by the way -- and the LIHEAP usage, and if you 

22   look over at the side, I mean, you can see that probably 

23   the one that looks farthest apart is Greeley.  The rest 

24   look fairly chose together. 

25                  I didn't believe that any of these were so 
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 1   far apart that they would be statistically significant in 

 2   terms of the difference.  And that's what my statement was 

 3   based on, and why I didn't distinguish specifically 

 4   between LIHEAP customers and the average customers in 

 5   statements that I made. 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Poston, I see that on 

 7   the back chart or papers attached it says highly 

 8   confidential.  Should Exhibit 205 be marked as HC? 

 9                  MR. POSTON:  Yeah, I just noticed that 

10   myself.  I believe it should. 

11                  THE WITNESS:  No. 

12                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, the company will waive 

13   any concern about that. 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

15                  THE WITNESS:  When I received it, it was 

16   marked highly confidential in the file, and all I did was 

17   print off the file so you could see the actual category. 

18   BY MR. POSTON: 

19           Q.     And, Ms. Meisenheimer, you were in here 

20   when -- well, of course, you were in here because 

21   Mr. Fischer asked you to look at an Exhibit 19 regarding 

22   LIHEAP data, fiscal year 2005; is that correct? 

23           A.     Yes. 

24           Q.     Have you seen any other data regarding the 

25   calculation Atmos did when it came up with these numbers? 
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 1           A.     Yes.  We contacted the company this morning 

 2   when there was an attempt yesterday to introduce data that 

 3   I felt like we hadn't seen the support for.  The company 

 4   provided to us this morning the background information 

 5   that they used, and I have seen -- I have reviewed that. 

 6   There appears to be -- I mean, the company relied on this 

 7   fiscal year 2005.  In addition, what was contained in that 

 8   material that was provided to us was a two-year average 

 9   which, in fact, shows that for SEMO the average customer 

10   use is lower than if you only looked at 2005.  And it's 

11   actually -- since SEMO constitutes the vast majority of 

12   customers and also the vast majority of LIHEAP customers, 

13   I think in total it has -- it heavily weights the results. 

14   So... 

15           Q.     So would the impact of Staff's rate design 

16   proposal have a much heavier impact on this SEMO area 

17   because of this data? 

18           A.     I think it would more heavily affect SEMO 

19   in terms of the -- at least for that period of time, that 

20   two-year average period of time, LIHEAP -- there were 

21   LIHEAP customers used less in SEMO than the average 

22   customer. 

23                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'd like to have 

24   another exhibit marked. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  That will be 
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 1   Exhibit 206. 

 2                  (EXHIBIT NO. 206 WAS MARKED FOR 

 3   IDENTIFICATION BY THE REPORTER.) 

 4   BY MR. POSTON: 

 5           Q.     Would you please identify Exhibit 206 for 

 6   me?  Just briefly identify. 

 7           A.     Okay.  This is a copy of a worksheet that 

 8   was provided in response to our inquiries regarding the 

 9   backup support for the LIHEAP average use to average 

10   customer use on a district basis that was introduced as 

11   a -- or the company would like to introduce as an exhibit 

12   in this case. 

13                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I move for the -- 

14   to have Exhibits 205 and 206 entered into the record. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

16   objection to Exhibits 205 and 206? 

17                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, could I just ask a 

18   question to clarify what the nature of the exhibit is? 

19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 

20                  MR. FISCHER:  Ms. Meisenheimer, is this 

21   just a copy of what the company provided to you or did you 

22   modify it in some way? 

23                  THE WITNESS:  I did not modify it.  This 

24   is -- this is -- there might have been additional sheets 

25   provided, but I did not modify this data in any way. 
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 1                  MR. FISCHER:  So this is just a copy? 

 2                  THE WITNESS:  This is what the company 

 3   provided as they provided it. 

 4                  MR. FISCHER:  I have no objection.  No 

 5   objection, your Honor. 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objection, I'll 

 7   receive 205 and 206 into evidence. 

 8                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, on 205 I also had a 

 9   question regarding whether we needed to object to that or 

10   not.  We did not see that.  Could I ask just a question 

11   about that as well? 

12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes, I'm sorry. 

13                  MR. FISCHER:  Before I waive an objection 

14   on that, I think on the stand perhaps yesterday you 

15   indicated that your study of the LIHEAP customers was 

16   based on, I think you called it a small sample of 

17   customers? 

18                  THE WITNESS:  There were two parts to the 

19   LIHEAP data.  Did you want me to explain? 

20                  MR. FISCHER:  I was going to ask, does this 

21   represent this small sample that you were talking about? 

22                  THE WITNESS:  No.  This is an additional 

23   element of the research that I did that I -- that I didn't 

24   mention yesterday, but I did -- I did review the material 

25   at the exact same time as I reviewed a sample of data.  I 
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 1   received multiple data in the same data set. 

 2                  MR. FISCHER:  So 205 does not directly 

 3   support your statements in your testimony.  It's something 

 4   in addition to what you were talking about in that 

 5   testimony? 

 6                  THE WITNESS:  It's attempted to clarify why 

 7   I said in my testimony that I felt that the usage was 

 8   approximately the same. 

 9                  MR. FISCHER:  Is 205 based on a larger 

10   sample than the one you used earlier? 

11                  THE WITNESS:  It's all the same data that I 

12   reviewed at the very beginning when I was preparing 

13   testimony.  I've not reviewed additional data or anything. 

14   It was just a clarification.  I've looked at a ton of data 

15   in this case. 

16                  MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  I was just curious.  I 

17   think you said it was based on a sample of five LIHEAP 

18   customers in each of the districts, and I was just 

19   asking -- really kind of trying to clarify whether 205 is 

20   based upon that sample of five. 

21                  THE WITNESS:  It came out of the same data 

22   set.  They were different sheets in the same data set, and 

23   we were having discussion yesterday, my memory was not 

24   entirely clear on this issue, and this is to clarify, this 

25   is -- 
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 1                  MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  I understand. 

 2                  THE WITNESS:  -- what I relied on for my 

 3   testimony. 

 4                  MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  But it is based on a 

 5   sample of five for each of the districts? 

 6                  THE WITNESS:  These are all based on, I 

 7   believe, all the LIHEAP customers by district.  I misspoke 

 8   when I said that I had reviewed a sample.  I had reviewed 

 9   samples of five customers.  I had also reviewed this 

10   (indicating). 

11                  MR. FISCHER:  I have no objection, your 

12   Honor. 

13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  So both 

14   Exhibits 205 and 206 are entered into evidence. 

15                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 205 AND 206 WAS RECEIVED INTO 

16   EVIDENCE.) 

17   BY MR. POSTON: 

18           Q.     Yesterday, I'm not sure of where the 

19   question came from, but there was questions about customer 

20   programs that promote energy efficiency that Public 

21   Counsel's office has endorsed. 

22           A.     Yes. 

23           Q.     And there was discussion about the PAYS 

24   program.  Could you please explain a little more, what is 

25   the PAYS program? 
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 1           A.     The PAYS program, it stands for Pay as You 

 2   Save.  It's a program that provides a pool of money that 

 3   customers withdraw upon to implement efficiency measures 

 4   in their homes to defray the up-front costs.  They then 

 5   repay the money they used over a period of time out of 

 6   a -- out of savings that are achieved on the bill due to 

 7   lower use. 

 8           Q.     And why didn't Public Counsel propose that 

 9   in this case? 

10           A.     There are a couple of reasons.  One of them 

11   has to do with the decision of the Commission in the MGE 

12   case, GR-2004-0209.  The Commission expressed an interest 

13   in the PAYS program, indicated that it believed that it 

14   needed to be a broader discussion than in a particular 

15   rate case.  And so, you know, we would -- we would be 

16   interested in participating in that, we believe it's a 

17   good thing to do.  I have not proposed this program in 

18   additional rate cases since then, in part due to that 

19   decision. 

20                  In addition, Public Counsel has limited 

21   resources.  We have been very focused on what we view as 

22   an extreme rate design and responding to that.  That has 

23   taken a great deal of my time in preparing data to support 

24   my statements, and so there is also an issue of we just 

25   did not have the time to bring in, you know, to do the 
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 1   type of substantial review across the country that I 

 2   believe is appropriate for us to be reviewing what other 

 3   alternatives are out there. 

 4           Q.     Did any of the other parties ask Public 

 5   Counsel if we would consider conservation programs? 

 6           A.     I don't remember that specific -- well, I 

 7   don't remember specific discussions about a particular 

 8   program until I saw the Staff in testimony, which I think 

 9   is a response to our testimony, criticizing the fact there 

10   was none proposed. 

11                  We certainly would be open to discussing 

12   conservation programs, and actually when I started out in 

13   this case, what I proposed was that since you don't have 

14   good cost data upon which to grant any changes in the rate 

15   design, that you do a spinoff case and talk about rate 

16   design based on gathering appropriate data and conducting 

17   cost studies. 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Ms. Meisenheimer, I'm going 

19   to ask, you answered Mr. Poston's question, and -- 

20                  THE WITNESS:  And went on. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And kept going. 

22                  THE WITNESS:  Sorry. 

23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Let's just answer the 

24   questions and let's keep things moving. 

25                  MR. POSTON:  I wasn't going to object. 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I understand. 

 2   BY MR. POSTON: 

 3           Q.     Today you were asked a question about 

 4   seasonal disconnects from Commissioner Gaw. 

 5           A.     Yes. 

 6           Q.     Is customer service a cost that you had not 

 7   tied to a specific premise? 

 8           A.     I'm sorry.  I don't understand the 

 9   question.  I'm sorry. 

10           Q.     I'll move on.  I believe Mr. Fischer asked 

11   you questions about your surrebuttal schedules, and I 

12   believe he started with SUR-1, and he highlighted under 

13   Butler district the figure you have under residential, do 

14   you see the 13.22 percent? 

15           A.     Yes, I do. 

16           Q.     Could you please explain further these 

17   figures and why you've included this in your testimony? 

18           A.     Yes.  I performed class cost of service 

19   studies not because I felt that there was good data upon 

20   which to base class cost of service studies, but instead 

21   to attempt to do the best I could with the data that was 

22   available.  I -- the Staff prepared three studies.  I felt 

23   that it was important, given that the Staff accounting 

24   department prepared different district costs for all seven 

25   districts, they went in and actually looked at the 
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 1   historic cost, the embedded cost, came up with what they 

 2   believe the costs were, based on history, and I felt that 

 3   it was appropriate to look at a class cost of service 

 4   marrying that level of detail to see what potentially 

 5   could be the impacts, even within consolidated districts. 

 6                  And I feel like I was very clear in my 

 7   direct testimony that I didn't feel that there was 

 8   appropriate data provided upon which to produce reliable 

 9   results that could be the basis for change.  I also 

10   pointed out in my rebuttal testimony where I believe that 

11   Mr. Dan Beck raised a number of questions with the 

12   underlying cost information. 

13                  So while certainly there are particular 

14   numbers stated in here in terms of percent and changes, 

15   and I believe that Mr. Fischer walked me through ones for 

16   the Butler district, Kirksville, Neelyville, Palmyra, and 

17   SEMO, and UCG also, I believe, I think that these 

18   are -- they're something for us to look at, but I don't 

19   really consider them to be as -- I don't consider the 

20   Staff studies or the statewide work that the company did 

21   to a limited degree, I don't believe that they're a 

22   reasonable basis to change customer rates in this case. 

23           Q.     You were also asked a question, if you 

24   performed studies on seasonal disconnects, and you said 

25   no, but wanted to explain.  What was your explanation? 

 

893 of 1082



0582 

 1           A.     I didn't produce a separate study on 

 2   seasonal disconnects.  I did take into consideration 

 3   seasonal disconnects when I determined customer impacts 

 4   because I was working under the assumption -- I did a 

 5   schedule where I showed customer impacts of the different 

 6   rate designs, and one part of Staff's rate design proposal 

 7   is this coupling, the delivery charge mechanism where they 

 8   collect all non-gas costs in a single flat rate with the 

 9   policy of the customers pay even when they don't use 

10   service for certain months. 

11                  So I actually -- when I calculated what the 

12   cost a customer would pay would be, I actually included 

13   the concept of that the customer would pay even if they 

14   weren't taking service at that time.  So to that extent, 

15   seasonal disconnects were included in a portion of the 

16   analysis I did for this case. 

17           Q.     And you were asked a question by Mr. Berlin 

18   regarding to costs for distribution mains, and could you 

19   please explain the short-run and long-run costs that you 

20   identified? 

21           A.     Yes.  Primarily what I was trying to point 

22   out was that in the long run, companies design their 

23   systems to meet anticipated load of existing customers and 

24   future customers.  Typically designing those systems 

25   involved many considerations of cost and physical 
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 1   characteristics of both the lay of the land and the 

 2   materials that are available to design a system with. 

 3                  And so, in fact, a company might very well, 

 4   depending on what those are, their anticipated demand and 

 5   other costs and physical characteristics, they might very 

 6   well change the amount of capacity that they make 

 7   available throughout their system.  And so customer use 

 8   might very well impact the long-run cost.  So long-run 

 9   costs are not fixed, is what I was trying to point out. 

10           Q.     And Mr. Berlin asked you a question about 

11   the cost among districts.  I believe you had answered that 

12   the embedded costs were different, and is there anywhere 

13   in your testimony you can point me to, and the Commission 

14   to support your statement? 

15           A.     Well, I think that there are a number of 

16   things in my testimony and elsewhere in the documents in 

17   this case.  On page 11 of my testimony -- 

18           Q.     Which testimony? 

19           A.     Page 11 of my surrebuttal testimony, I 

20   include a table which does, in fact, show a difference in 

21   the mains investment for Palmyra, UCG and Kirksville.  I 

22   took these numbers, these plant investments and these 

23   distribution main reserve account levels.  These are out 

24   of the Staff's accounting data.  And what I was trying to 

25   show there is that the investment per customer might be 
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 1   significantly different as a base, based on, you know, 

 2   maybe it was due to what the predecessor companies did. 

 3                  That's fine.  The predecessor companies are 

 4   not irrelevant if that plant is still in the ground.  And 

 5   you might notice that the net distribution mains plant per 

 6   customer for Kirksville is less than half of what it is 

 7   for UCG.  So -- 

 8           Q.     And is UCG, is that what -- what district? 

 9           A.     Hannibal, Canton. 

10                  MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  That's all I have. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you. 

12   Ms. Meisenheimer, I believe that concludes your testimony 

13   on the rate design portion. 

14                  THE WITNESS:  Thanks. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We're going to take 

16   a ten-minute break.  When we come back, we're going to 

17   switch gears.  We're going to go back to return on equity 

18   and those issues, we're going to have Commission 

19   questions, and I think we'll start with Staff witness Matt 

20   Barnes.  So we can come back in ten minutes. 

21                  We're off the record. 

22                  (A BREAK WAS TAKEN.) 

23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We're going to shift back 

24   to Commissioner questions for Mr. Barnes, who was 

25   previously sworn in, and I'll just remind you, Mr. Barnes, 
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 1   that you're still under oath in this proceeding. 

 2                  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

 3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And your exhibits have all 

 4   been entered.  Commissioner Gaw, do you have questions for 

 5   Mr. Barnes on rate of return, return on equity, revenue 

 6   requirement? 

 7   MATT BARNES testified as follows: 

 8   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

 9           Q.     Mr. Barnes, let me ask you just a few 

10   questions.  Hopefully that will be it.  Can you tell me 

11   whether or not you believe that Staff's rate design 

12   results in less risk to the company that and -- excuse 

13   me -- that Staff's proposal for rate design for the 

14   company results in less risk for the company than its 

15   current rate design? 

16           A.     From the way I understand, all else being 

17   equal, yes, it would reduce the risk. 

18           Q.     Okay.  And your calculation of an ROE in 

19   this case resulted in what?  What was the result? 

20           A.     The return on equity piece? 

21           Q.     Yes. 

22           A.     8.59 to 9.39 percent. 

23           Q.     All right.  And how did you generally, just 

24   very generally arrive at that? 

25           A.     I used a comparable company analysis, a 
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 1   group of seven limited distribution companies that are 

 2   classified as LDC companies by Edward Jones, and that was 

 3   my first piece of my selection for those companies, and I 

 4   performed a DCF analysis on those group of companies and 

 5   used a capital asset pricing model to check the 

 6   reasonableness of my results. 

 7           Q.     All right.  And the results that you -- 

 8   that you achieved, give me the two general areas of spread 

 9   on the ROE, on the CAPM and DCF. 

10           A.     The DCF after my proposed dividend yield 

11   was 4.4 percent, which is a growth rate of 4.35 to 5.15 

12   percent, to arrive at 8.59 to 9.39 percent for the DCF 

13   model. 

14           Q.     Right. 

15           A.     And for the CAPM, using the geometric CAPM 

16   cost of common equity, I arrived at 9.17 percent. 

17           Q.     Okay.  So the CAPM, in your opinion, 

18   verified that your range was not inappropriate -- 

19           A.     Correct. 

20           Q.     -- in the DCF? 

21           A.     Correct. 

22           Q.     Now, of the companies that you examined, 

23   how many of them had a rate design similar to the one that 

24   Staff has proposed? 

25           A.     The seven out of eight had a weather 
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 1   mitigation rate design that specifically AGL Resources 

 2   has, my understanding, rate design that is similar to what 

 3   Staff is proposing. 

 4           Q.     Okay.  So what type of weather mitigation 

 5   clause did they have, the other companies? 

 6           A.     Give me a second here.  I'm going to go 

 7   through the Standard & Poors research reports that I 

 8   relied on and go through each company to tell you what 

 9   they have.  And if it's okay, can I just read from these 

10   reports what Standard & Poors says? 

11           Q.     That would be fine. 

12           A.     Each regulated -- this is for AGL 

13   Resources.  Each regulated utility benefits from some 

14   combination of performance-based rate plans, weather 

15   normalization mechanisms and purchased gas clause, each of 

16   which causes regulated cash flows to be stable, 

17   predictable and insensitive to commodity price 

18   fluctuations.  That was from the Standard & Poor's rating 

19   director research report dated August 4th, 2006. 

20           Q.     And do you know, did you study what the 

21   makeup of those rate designs were, other than what you 

22   just read to me? 

23           A.     I did not. 

24           Q.     You don't know the details of how those 

25   rate designs are put together; is that correct? 
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 1           A.     No, I do not. 

 2           Q.     Do you believe that there is a difference 

 3   in the ROE that should be awarded to a company if it does 

 4   have a rate design similar to the one that Staff proposed, 

 5   as compared to a company exactly the same except that the 

 6   rate design is similar to the one that the company now 

 7   has? 

 8           A.     Should there be a difference in the ROE, is 

 9   that -- 

10           Q.     Yes. 

11           A.     -- between what the company has proposed 

12   compared to what they have now? 

13           Q.     Yes, all other things being equal. 

14           A.     All other things being equal, which in my 

15   opinion does reduce the business risk, I would think that, 

16   yes, a reduction would be needed, but it's very difficult 

17   to quantify how much of a reduction. 

18           Q.     Okay.  And you haven't done that 

19   specifically; would that be correct? 

20           A.     Not specifically, but -- 

21           Q.     But do you think you have some portion of 

22   the risk adjustment factored in because of the group of 

23   companies that you use? 

24           A.     That's correct. 

25           Q.     Okay.  But you don't know the specifics of 
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 1   the rate design in order to tell me whether -- what the 

 2   details are in order that I could assess whether this is 

 3   an apples to apples comparison on rate design? 

 4           A.     I do not, just based on these reports that 

 5   I have. 

 6           Q.     Did you have anything to do with any 

 7   analysis of whether or not this company might be 

 8   overearning? 

 9           A.     No, I did not. 

10           Q.     Okay.  Who would be the ones that would 

11   have done that? 

12           A.     I believe Steve Rackers would be the one to 

13   ask. 

14                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  That's all I have. 

15   Thank you, Judge.  Thank you. 

16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Commissioner 

17   Clayton? 

18                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, Judge. 

19   Just a few. 

20   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

21           Q.     Mr. Barnes, I want to be clear just on a 

22   few things.  Your surrebuttal testimony states that the 

23   return on equity component is a range of 8.59 to 9.39; is 

24   that correct? 

25           A.     That's correct. 
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 1           Q.     Did that position change at all from your 

 2   either rebuttal or direct testimony? 

 3           A.     No, it did not. 

 4           Q.     So the ROE didn't change at all with the 

 5   rate design that the -- well, some of the parties 

 6   supposedly agree to? 

 7           A.     No, it did not. 

 8           Q.     It did not change? 

 9           A.     No, it did not. 

10           Q.     Okay.  Does that mean that you don't see 

11   any difference in risk from an investor's point of view 

12   with the original rate design proposed by the company and 

13   the rate design that has now been proposed by the Staff? 

14           A.     It's possible that investors may perceive 

15   that as being less risky.  Again, that's hard to quantify, 

16   I believe I've reflected that in my comparable group 

17   analysis because seven out of eight companies has some 

18   sort of weather mitigation rate design in place. 

19           Q.     Do any of your comparables have the 

20   100 percent in the fixed delivery charge? 

21           A.     I don't know specifically. 

22           Q.     What -- do any of them have 80 percent of 

23   their delivery costs in a fixed charge? 

24           A.     I do not know.  I'd have to look -- I have 

25   not looked at the specifics of each rate design for those 
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 1   companies. 

 2           Q.     When you say weather normalization 

 3   component, what did you mean by that? 

 4           A.     From the Standard & Poors research reports 

 5   that I have, they list -- they normally refer to it most 

 6   of the time as weather mechanism or weather normalization 

 7   clause that's in place. 

 8           Q.     What does that mean, though?  What is a 

 9   weather normalization clause? 

10           A.     It's my understanding that if, say, in the 

11   wintertime is more warmer than normal, that it would be 

12   less revenues that the companies receive. 

13           Q.     I understand what the problem of weather 

14   fluctuations would be, but how do the companies address 

15   that in your comparables? 

16           A.     It's reflected in the company's price stock 

17   or the price of the stock and the credit rating assigned 

18   by Standard & Poors. 

19           Q.     How do they address that in rates to -- 

20   with the fluctuations in weather, weather normalization is 

21   to make it more steady, I would assume, and avoid 

22   fluctuations in usage.  Is that a fair assessment?  Do you 

23   agree with what I just said? 

24           A.     I believe that would be a fair assessment, 

25   yes, but I don't know the specifics of how that would -- 
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 1           Q.     In your comparables, do they use a 

 2   surcharge or do they just use a component built into the 

 3   revenue requirement, or is there another component in the 

 4   rate design or do you know? 

 5           A.     I don't know. 

 6           Q.     You don't know? 

 7           A.     No. 

 8           Q.     So your comparables only have -- it's your 

 9   testimony that the comparables only have some form of 

10   weather normalization, but you don't know what kind of 

11   weather normalization it is? 

12           A.     No, I do not.  The only one I -- the only 

13   company I do know of is AGL Resources, that they have a 

14   rate design that's similar to what Staff is proposing. 

15           Q.     What company is that? 

16           A.     Atlanta Gas and Light. 

17           Q.     Oh, Atlanta Gas and Light. 

18           A.     Yeah.  That's the only company I'm familiar 

19   with that has -- 

20           Q.     And what return on equity does Atlanta Gas 

21   and Light have? 

22           A.     They've been authorized a 10.9 percent. 

23           Q.     10.9? 

24           A.     Yes. 

25           Q.     Is it a comparable company to Atmos Gas? 
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 1           A.     I believe it is, yes. 

 2           Q.     How come you didn't suggest a 10.9 ROE? 

 3           A.     That was just -- my analysis didn't come up 

 4   to that number.  I base it on my group of comparable 

 5   companies, and my proposed growth rate range for the -- 

 6   based on those companies applied to Atmos. 

 7           Q.     Do you leave the 100 percent in fixed 

 8   costs, would you agree that it is the ultimate in weather 

 9   normalization?  It's about as far as you can go in 

10   mitigating fluctuations in usage due to weather? 

11           A.     From what I understand with some of the 

12   rate designs that I have briefly looked at, I believe so. 

13           Q.     Okay.  And by eliminating fluctuations in 

14   weather, does that improve the risk profile of the 

15   company?  Does it make them less risky? 

16           A.     All else equal? 

17           Q.     Well, yes, all else being equal. 

18           A.     Yes. 

19           Q.     It does? 

20           A.     Yes.  And let me restate my answer.  I 

21   can't say if it would reduce 100 percent, but it's pretty 

22   close, I would think.  I would think more than 80 or even 

23   90, but I don't know about 100 percent. 

24           Q.     Why not 100 percent? 

25           A.     From what I have discussed with other 
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 1   members of Staff, Laclede has a -- Laclede Gas has a 

 2   weather normalization clause, I believe, and that they're 

 3   exposed to about 3 percent of weather, from what I 

 4   understand.  So it's not completely eliminated, but it's 

 5   very close. 

 6           Q.     But this goes farther.  This doesn't have 

 7   any volumetric -- according to the Staff proposal, there 

 8   is no volumetric change in the price of the delivery cost 

 9   because it's 100 percent on a fixed charge that everybody 

10   would pay.  So how is it not 100 percent mitigated from 

11   weather or removed from weather effects? 

12           A.     I don't have an answer for you.  I don't 

13   know. 

14           Q.     Don't know.  Okay.  What was the proposed 

15   rate design at the time you suggested the 8.59 through 

16   9.39, what rate design were you using or were you -- 

17           A.     At the time, I -- at the time I filed 

18   direct, I knew rate design was an issue, but I did not 

19   know the details of what Staff was going to propose at 

20   that time. 

21           Q.     So to you, does rate design matter?  Does 

22   the rate design matter for how you -- how you evaluated 

23   return on equity? 

24           A.     I believe that it does, and with my 

25   comparable group analysis, I believe that's already been 
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 1   reflected in the comparable group stock price and credit 

 2   rating.  So I felt that there was no need to make a 

 3   reduction, lower my recommended ROE. 

 4           Q.     Well, I guess just before we talk about 

 5   changing it, maybe I jumped the gun too much.  Before we 

 6   talk about any potential changes, but looking at the rate 

 7   design, let me ask the question this way:  Did you look at 

 8   rate design when you developed your range of 8.59 through 

 9   9.39, rate design for Atmos in this case? 

10           A.     No, I did not. 

11           Q.     You did not.  Does that mean that rate 

12   design was not important in your evaluation of what the 

13   ROE should be for Atmos? 

14           A.     I believe it is important.  I just -- 

15           Q.     But you didn't look at it? 

16           A.     At the time, I did not know the rate design 

17   proposal was going to be this big of an issue until OPC 

18   filed. 

19           Q.     But you didn't know what the rate design 

20   was at all.  It doesn't matter if it's at issue.  You're 

21   saying that rate design doesn't matter in your assessment 

22   of return on equity, aren't you? 

23           A.     I believe that it does matter, but -- 

24           Q.     But you didn't look at it? 

25           A.     Correct. 
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 1           Q.     With the Staff proposal on rate design, 

 2   do you understand -- how we've talked about it here, do 

 3   you understand how the rate design works, as Staff -- as 

 4   your colleagues have proposed? 

 5           A.     I think I have a general understanding that 

 6   all the costs associated with delivering the gas is going 

 7   to be rolled into a fixed cost for the customer. 

 8           Q.     And you have some knowledge of the rate 

 9   design of your comparable companies? 

10           A.     Just general, just if they have some sort 

11   of weather mitigation rate design in place, that's all I 

12   know.  I don't know the specifics. 

13           Q.     Do the rating agencies look at rate design? 

14   Do they look at rate design in determining how a company 

15   is rated? 

16           A.     That's one of the risks that they look at, 

17   yes. 

18           Q.     When they look at it, how deep into rate 

19   design do they look?  Do they look at it like, as you've 

20   said, as just say, well, whether they have some weather 

21   normalization factor built into rates, or do they look 

22   deeper or do you know? 

23           A.     I don't know without talking to them. 

24           Q.     Okay.  Would you agree with me that a rate 

25   design that's based on fixed rates gives a greater 
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 1   assurance that the company will have revenues to meet 

 2   their authorized rate of return?  Do you agree with that 

 3   statement? 

 4           A.     I think they have a greater chance of 

 5   recovering those costs. 

 6           Q.     Okay.  And with a greater chance, does that 

 7   mean we should increase their authorized rate of return, 

 8   decrease their authorized rate of return or just leave it 

 9   the same? 

10           A.     I believe that it should be left the same, 

11   based on my analysis. 

12           Q.     You think it should be -- so you believe 

13   that they -- that if they have a greater opportunity to 

14   earn their rate of return or meet their revenue 

15   requirement, they have a greater opportunity to do that, 

16   you do not believe there should be any reflection in their 

17   authorized rate of return? 

18           A.     Their authorized rate of return, yes, I 

19   believe that that would deem a lower amount of ROE.  By 

20   how much, I can't quantify that. 

21           Q.     Okay.  So you believe it should be reduced, 

22   but you don't know how much? 

23           A.     Correct. 

24           Q.     Okay.  Why didn't you -- why didn't you 

25   reduce -- why didn't you file in your testimony somewhere 
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 1   suggesting a reduction in ROE based on that rate design in 

 2   line with what you've just said? 

 3           A.     I believe it's already reflected in my 

 4   analysis, in my comparable group analysis, so there was no 

 5   need to make a further adjustment downward. 

 6           Q.     How could it be reflected when you didn't 

 7   contemplate the rate design in the first place?  How could 

 8   it be contemplated? 

 9           A.     It's contemplated in the stock price of the 

10   company and the credit rating of the company, of my 

11   comparable companies. 

12           Q.     I'm not following.  I'm not following.  I'm 

13   not following your analysis. 

14           A.     My comparable group analysis, seven out of 

15   the eight companies have some sort of weather mitigation 

16   rate design in place.  And I don't know the specifics of 

17   each of those rate designs.  I believe that in my 

18   comparable companies, each one of those, that risk is 

19   reflected in the stock price of those companies, which is 

20   part of the DCF model.  It's also reflected in the 

21   company's credit rating. 

22                  And I believe that if -- and I have not 

23   discussed this with Standard & Poors, but if there is a 

24   significant reduction in risk, that they would have a 

25   higher credit rating, and the average of my credit rating 
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 1   for the group was A credit rating. 

 2           Q.     So basically you look at their credit 

 3   rating? 

 4           A.     Correct. 

 5           Q.     You don't look at any other factors? 

 6           A.     Correct.  The credit rating, and that's 

 7   based on an aggregating.  All the risk combined is 

 8   reflected in their credit rating, one of those being rate 

 9   design or weather mitigation rate designs that are in 

10   place for the company. 

11           Q.     So to you, credit rating is the only factor 

12   that should be reviewed in establishing an ROE? 

13           A.     On an aggregate level, yes. 

14                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

15                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I was through, but now 

16   I'm not. 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Gaw, you had 

18   additional questions? 

19   FURTHER QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

20           Q.     Is it your testimony, Mr. Barnes, that this 

21   Commission should just defer to credit rating agencies in 

22   determining what an ROE should be?  Is that what your 

23   testimony is? 

24           A.     No, I don't believe that the Commission 

25   should set the return on equity based on my recommendation 
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 1   of my comparable group analysis. 

 2           Q.     I thought you just testified that your 

 3   analysis was entirely based upon their credit rating? 

 4           A.     Part of that and the DCF model that's based 

 5   on the stock price for each company in that DCF model. 

 6           Q.     How did the credit rating agencies play 

 7   into your setting of the ROE in your recommendation here? 

 8           A.     Based on each company's credit rating, I 

 9   believe that they reflect that risk in their credit 

10   rating, and for what -- on my Schedule 19 I show the 

11   credit rating for each company and also, the lower the 

12   credit rating, riskier that company is; the higher the 

13   credit rating, the less risky that they are. 

14                  Most of my companies are in the A range, 

15   and if it has not been reflected, then they would be 

16   deemed more risky.  I believe that as Standard & Poor's 

17   and other credit rating agencies that have reflected that, 

18   that's -- that's one of the things that I looked at 

19   besides running the DCF model and the CAPM model. 

20           Q.     But your testimony, your recommendation 

21   here is entirely, as I understood it earlier, based upon 

22   the running of the DCF model, correct? 

23           A.     Yes. 

24           Q.     That's your range, it matches exactly what 

25   your calculation was under the DCF model, correct? 
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 1           A.     Correct. 

 2           Q.     And would it be accurate to say that the 

 3   way that the input comes in from the credit agencies is 

 4   because that's how you chose your comparable part? 

 5           A.     No.  I chose my comparables based on a 

 6   group selected by Edward Jones.  That was what I started 

 7   with. 

 8           Q.     And did you choose those comparables 

 9   intentionally looking for companies that had some weather 

10   mitigation rate design? 

11           A.     That was not one of my criteria, no. 

12           Q.     How did it end up that you had seven of the 

13   eight companies with that type of design, just purely by 

14   accident? 

15           A.     Just by reading the Standard & Poors, what 

16   the issue reports by Standard & Poor's, by reading those, 

17   that's how I determined what -- if they had some type of 

18   weather mitigation rate design in place. 

19           Q.     But that was after the fact, after you had 

20   already chosen those companies? 

21           A.     That is true, yes. 

22           Q.     So my question is, is it not just by 

23   accident, then, that you came up with these seven of eight 

24   companies that just happened to have a weather mitigation 

25   provision? 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2           Q.     Even though -- 

 3           A.     It's possible, yes. 

 4           Q.     Even though -- well, is that not the case? 

 5   I'm trying to understand how you chose these companies, 

 6   and if you chose these companies because they had some 

 7   weather mitigation provision, that's fine.  I just want to 

 8   know if that was the case. 

 9           A.     That was not one of my criteria, no. 

10           Q.     So by accident, we have seven of the eight 

11   here that have a weather mitigation provision? 

12           A.     It looks that way. 

13           Q.     Which you determined after the fact when 

14   you found out that rate design was going to include 

15   something that insulated the company from fluctuations in 

16   weather, fluctuations in conservation, fluctuations from 

17   anything that has to do with those kind of events? 

18           A.     After I filed direct testimony, that's when 

19   I found out that these companies did have weather 

20   mitigation rate designs. 

21           Q.     That's despite the fact that there -- at 

22   least according to the survey we saw a while ago, only 

23   four of the 27 states that responded, including Missouri, 

24   that has a weather mitigation or has some sort of a rate 

25   design provision that takes into account weather 

 

914 of 1082



0603 

 1   mitigation? 

 2           A.     I'm not familiar with that study. 

 3           Q.     That's all right.  It was introduced 

 4   yesterday, so I understand if you weren't.  And then after 

 5   you found out that rate design was one of the things that 

 6   you needed to take into account, you did nothing further 

 7   to determine what the type of weather mitigation 

 8   provisions were in those comparables, correct? 

 9           A.     That's correct.  I'd have to call each 

10   state or the company to find out, and I have not done 

11   that. 

12           Q.     And you have not done that.  So we don't 

13   know and the Commission cannot know based on your 

14   testimony and your study how insulated the companies are 

15   from fluctuations in weather, efforts of the customers to 

16   conserve, other factors that may be a part of what sets 

17   the risk of these companies? 

18           A.     That would be correct. 

19           Q.     If it turned out that the rate design in 

20   this case was left as it is currently, would you then 

21   suggest that this Commission should raise the ROE in this 

22   case from your recommendation?  That's not my last 

23   question. 

24           A.     I would suggest that the Commission still 

25   utilize my analysis that I have done here. 
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 1           Q.     Okay.  So in other words, you would not 

 2   recommend raising the recommendation; is that correct? 

 3           A.     Correct. 

 4           Q.     Explain that for me, please. 

 5           A.     I will try.  Again, I'm going to refer back 

 6   to my comparable company analysis.  I believe all the risk 

 7   factors have already been contemplated in each company's 

 8   stock price and the credit rating.  If something changes, 

 9   I'd probably have to just go back and look at it in more 

10   detail.  I can't give a definite answer how much it should 

11   be raised or if it should really go up at all. 

12           Q.     What would you look at? 

13           A.     I would start with some other companies 

14   that have a rate design like Atmos has and go back and 

15   look at factors of those companies and determine if 

16   they're comparable to use in performing an analysis based 

17   on that. 

18           Q.     Would you -- that would have other 

19   characteristics that were similar to Atmos as well? 

20           A.     Correct. 

21           Q.     And you'd have to go through and process 

22   that, correct? 

23           A.     Correct. 

24           Q.     Would you also perhaps go back and look at 

25   the comparables that you have utilized to see whether the 
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 1   weather mitigation provisions that they have are of enough 

 2   significance to warrant using a different set of 

 3   comparables? 

 4           A.     I could do that, yes. 

 5           Q.     Would that be appropriate? 

 6           A.     If Atmos keeps the same rate design? 

 7           Q.     Yes. 

 8           A.     I think it would be one criteria to use, 

 9   yes. 

10                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Okay.  Thank you. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Clayton. 

12   FURTHER QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

13           Q.     Mr. Barnes, how -- what division of which 

14   department are you in? 

15           A.     I'm in the financial analysis department. 

16           Q.     And that's under utility services? 

17           A.     That's correct. 

18           Q.     And how many Staff members are in the 

19   financial services -- 

20           A.     Just two. 

21           Q.     -- division? 

22                  You and who? 

23           A.     David Murray.  And our supervisor, Ron 

24   Bible, but he's out at the moment. 

25           Q.     He's out?  Isn't he back from Iraq? 
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 1           A.     He's been in an accident. 

 2           Q.     Oh, sorry to hear that. 

 3           A.     He's going to be out for a little bit.  So 

 4   it's technically three people we have. 

 5           Q.     Technically three.  That's down because you 

 6   used to have at least one other in that department? 

 7           A.     That's correct.  At one time we had -- 

 8   including the supervisor, we had four. 

 9           Q.     You had four? 

10           A.     Yes. 

11           Q.     Mr. Kiebel, I think? 

12           A.     That's correct. 

13           Q.     What did you-all do when Mr. Bible was in 

14   Iraq? 

15           A.     Bob Schallenberg was our supervisor.  We 

16   reported directly to him. 

17           Q.     Is he doing -- is he doing any of the 

18   financial services work right now? 

19           A.     Yes, he is. 

20           Q.     He is.  Okay.  How many rate cases are you 

21   working on right now where you're the ROE man or person? 

22           A.     This will be -- this is actually my second 

23   one.  I just filed testimony in the Algonquin Water case 

24   that's currently pending.  I just filed direct last 

25   Thursday, I think. 
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 1           Q.     So Algonquin, Atmos? 

 2           A.     And Kansas City Power & Light. 

 3           Q.     KCP&L.  And then are you participating in 

 4   any other cases? 

 5           A.     Just some small water and sewer cases. 

 6           Q.     Like how many?  Just some small water and 

 7   sewer, how many of those? 

 8           A.     Approximately -- I don't know the exact 

 9   number.  Probably five. 

10           Q.     Five small companies.  Would you say 

11   Mr. Murray's load is about the same? 

12           A.     Same as mine, my load? 

13           Q.     Yeah.  Does he have three or four big cases 

14   and -- 

15           A.     Yes. 

16           Q.     -- a handful of small cases? 

17           A.     Yes. 

18           Q.     Okay.  Is that -- well, who else is 

19   handling the financial side of ROE analysis with Mr. Bible 

20   out and just the two of you there now? 

21           A.     That's it. 

22           Q.     That's it.  So just the two of you? 

23           A.     Yes. 

24           Q.     Who was the ROE witness in Empire, 

25   Mr. Murray? 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2           Q.     And you did KCP&L, Atmos.  Does Mr. Murray 

 3   have MGE? 

 4           A.     Yes. 

 5           Q.     Ameren? 

 6           A.     That's being consulted out. 

 7           Q.     Consulted out? 

 8           A.     Yes. 

 9           Q.     And Aquila? 

10           A.     That's also being consulted out. 

11           Q.     That's going to be consulted out.  Am I 

12   missing any? 

13           A.     I've heard Missouri-American's going to 

14   file. 

15           Q.     They've been saying that for a long time. 

16   Laclede just filed, but that's awfully early.  Is the 

17   workload more than what it has been in recent years? 

18           A.     Yes, it is. 

19           Q.     Can you give me a comparison of how the 

20   workload compares? 

21           A.     Since I've been with the Commission, which 

22   is going on a little over three years now, I would say 

23   this is the busiest year that I've experienced since I've 

24   been here. 

25           Q.     Okay.  Do you-all feel like you're pretty 
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 1   much pushed to the limit?  I mean, would you have room to 

 2   take on another big case yourself or could Mr. Murray take 

 3   on another big case? 

 4           A.     I think we're being pushed to the limit. 

 5   That's why we're consulting some of these out because it's 

 6   just so much of a workload. 

 7           Q.     You've been with the Commission three 

 8   years; is that right? 

 9           A.     Yes, sir, going on three and a half now. 

10           Q.     Three and a half.  Me too.  Three and a 

11   half.  When did you start? 

12           A.     June of 2003. 

13           Q.     Me too.  No kidding.  We ought to get a pin 

14   together sometime. 

15           A.     We can do that. 

16                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I don't have any 

17   other questions.  Thanks. 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Is there 

19   recross-examination based on questions from the Bench from 

20   Atmos? 

21                  MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly. 

22   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

23           Q.     Mr. Barnes, did you have the occasion to 

24   review the prepared surrebuttal testimony of the Atmos 

25   witness on ROE, Don Murry, Exhibit No. 15? 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2           Q.     And do you recall that his surrebuttal 

 3   testimony did go through your comparable gas companies one 

 4   by one and discuss the revenue stabilization adjustments 

 5   that those companies had or other weather normalizing? 

 6           A.     Yes, he did. 

 7           Q.     And is it your understanding that these 

 8   were not just fixed charge rate structure, but they also 

 9   included either weather normalization adjustments or some 

10   other revenue stabilization adjustment mechanisms? 

11           A.     Based on what he testified to, yes, that's 

12   what I understand. 

13           Q.     And his analysis agreed with yours that 

14   seven out of the eight companies that you had in your 

15   comparables had some sort of weather mitigating or revenue 

16   stabilization adjustment -- 

17           A.     Yes. 

18           Q.     -- is that your memory? 

19                  Okay.  And if I recall, the Staff filed a 

20   range of ROEs in this case like you typically do; is that 

21   right? 

22           A.     That's right. 

23           Q.     And that covers a variety of risks, all 

24   kinds of risk that might be affecting companies; is that 

25   right? 
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 1           A.     Yes. 

 2                  MR. FISCHER:  Okay.  That's all I have. 

 3   Thank you. 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

 5   further cross-examination from Public Counsel? 

 6                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, thank you. 

 7   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 8           Q.     Mr. Barnes, on the seven out of eight 

 9   comparable companies, did you analyze those companies for 

10   any other type of risk that they may have in addition to 

11   weather? 

12           A.     Just their business risk, financial risk. 

13   As far as specific details, it's reflected in their credit 

14   ratings and capital structure. 

15           Q.     Did you look -- with the Atlanta Gas 

16   and Light, did you consider the effect that a company 

17   operating in a market in which the gas bills are 

18   actually -- scratch that. 

19                  Did you consider the regulatory market that 

20   AGL works in when you wrote your testimony? 

21           A.     The regulatory environment? 

22           Q.     Yes.  Sorry.  Thank you. 

23           A.     No, I did not. 

24           Q.     So is the company that works in an 

25   environment that's different where gas marketers are used, 
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 1   is that something that should be considered? 

 2           A.     I think it's considered on an aggregate 

 3   level, all the risks.  That's one of them, I would think. 

 4           Q.     And do you know if Atlanta Gas and Light 

 5   has exposure to manufactured gas plant cleanup costs? 

 6           A.     I don't know. 

 7           Q.     Can those type of cleanup costs represent a 

 8   major risk exposure for a company based on site-specific 

 9   information? 

10           A.     I don't know. 

11                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I don't know if I 

12   offered Exhibit 141.  It was the Atlanta Gas and Light 

13   website that Ms. Meisenheimer testified to earlier.  I 

14   just don't remember if I offered that one. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  It was sort of requested 

16   during her Commission questions, so no, it wasn't 

17   officially offered, but I'm -- 

18                  MR. POSTON:  Well, I would like to offer 

19   that one based on Ms. Meisenheimer's earlier testimony. 

20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

21   objection to Exhibit 141?  That was the Atlanta Gas and 

22   Light website information.  Have you-all had an 

23   opportunity now to look at it, I hope? 

24                  MR. FISCHER:  No objection from Atmos. 

25                  MR. THOMPSON:  No objections. 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Then I'll 

 2   accept Exhibit 141 into evidence. 

 3                  (EXHIBIT NO. 141 WAS RECEIVED INTO 

 4   EVIDENCE.) 

 5                  MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank you. 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there redirect? 

 7                  MR. THOMPSON:  Why, yes, your Honor. 

 8   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

 9           Q.     You testified, Mr. Barnes, to both 

10   Commissioner Gaw and Commissioner Clayton -- sorry, your 

11   worship -- that you thought that the adoption of Staff's 

12   rate design would result in less risk for Atmos, but that 

13   you believed it was hard to quantify how much less; isn't 

14   that correct? 

15           A.     Yes. 

16           Q.     Would you quantify it the way 

17   Mr. Trippensee has? 

18           A.     I don't believe so. 

19           Q.     And with respect to your ROE 

20   recommendation, Staff's current case is a no change in 

21   revenue requirement; isn't that correct? 

22           A.     Yes. 

23           Q.     And that was a development that occurred 

24   after you had submitted your original testimony, isn't it? 

25           A.     That's my understanding. 
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 1           Q.     So Staff's present revenue requirement 

 2   recommendation, in fact, doesn't rely on your ROE 

 3   recommendation, does it? 

 4           A.     I don't think so.  I don't know what number 

 5   they would have used for their revenue requirement. 

 6           Q.     Mr. Trippensee testified yesterday it would 

 7   equate to about 12.5.  Do you disagree with that? 

 8           A.     No, I don't. 

 9                  MR. THOMPSON:  No further questions. 

10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Mr. Barnes, I 

11   believe that concludes your testimony.  I believe you may 

12   be excused.  I'd like to -- next we'd like to have 

13   Mr. Trippensee on the same issues. 

14                  Mr. Trippensee, again I'll remind you that 

15   you were previously sworn.  You remain under oath in this 

16   proceeding. 

17                  THE WITNESS:  I understand that. 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Gaw, do you 

19   have questions for Mr. Trippensee on these issues? 

20                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Yes. 

21   RUSSELL TRIPPENSEE testified as follows: 

22   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

23           Q.     Mr. Trippensee, let me start by asking you 

24   about the ROE.  Your recommendation in this case is for an 

25   ROE of 7 percent; is that correct? 
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 1           A.     I believe that is correct, yes, sir. 

 2           Q.     Now, is that based upon the assumption that 

 3   a rate design were adopted similar to what Staff proposes? 

 4           A.     That would be correct.  It's if the Staff 

 5   rate design is rejected by this Commission consistent with 

 6   past Commission decisions, Public Counsel would support 

 7   the range filed by Staff witness Barnes. 

 8           Q.     All right.  Now, first of all, help me to 

 9   understand why you believed it was appropriate to discount 

10   the ROE to 7 percent from that range that Staff witness 

11   Barnes supports because of the rate design change. 

12           A.     The rate design change that the Staff 

13   proposed in their direct testimony and has been accepted 

14   by the company creates a virtual guarantee of a revenue 

15   stream from the customer classes affected for this 

16   company.  A basic fundamental of risk that a company faces 

17   is business risk, and a primary measure of business risk 

18   is the variability of the revenue stream and thus the 

19   variabilities of earnings on the company or the resulting 

20   variability of earnings for that company. 

21                  If you suggest I will reduce that risk, 

22   there should be -- if the ratepayer is required to 

23   significantly reduce that risk, the ratepayer should also 

24   then see a corresponding reduction in the cost that is 

25   incorporated into the revenue requirement found 
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 1   appropriate by this Commission. 

 2           Q.     Is it your belief that the rate design 

 3   proposed by Staff represents a significant decrease in 

 4   that risk? 

 5           A.     Yes, I do. 

 6           Q.     And tell me why that is your belief. 

 7           A.     That belief is based on the concept that 

 8   commodity -- changes in the usage by customers creates the 

 9   difference in revenue streams for the customer classes 

10   involved.  If you eliminate that commodity component, all 

11   that is left in the mathematics of calculating their bills 

12   is the number of customers. 

13                  Atmos has had a fairly stable, slightly 

14   growing customer base over the last three years data 

15   available to me in public record.  There's no reason to 

16   believe a significant decline in their customer base is 

17   going to occur.  Thus, their revenue stream is virtually 

18   assured, and to the extent there's growth, it's actually 

19   going to increase a little bit, which would benefit the 

20   stockholder. 

21           Q.     Once the rates are set in the rate case, 

22   then going forward the revenue stream would be based upon 

23   the set number of customers that they had during the test 

24   year, I assume? 

25           A.     The billing determinants the parties have 
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 1   agreed to, yes. 

 2           Q.     And then going forward, then there could 

 3   actually be some increasing revenue stream because of 

 4   increasing customers, that's historically been what's 

 5   occurring? 

 6           A.     That would be my expectation, yes, sir. 

 7           Q.     And then you would have eliminated what you 

 8   consider the primary risk factor for the company? 

 9           A.     With regard to their business risk and that 

10   variability, yes.  The rate design, as it's proposed, goes 

11   well beyond what was contemplated in Senate Bill 179, 

12   which discussed weather and conservation.  This discusses 

13   all variability. 

14           Q.     All right.  Would you -- would you give me 

15   some examples of some additional variability that would be 

16   outside of what was contemplated by 179, if you can? 

17           A.     Variability as an example, general reading 

18   I've done indicates that housing stock, new housing stock 

19   is growing in size relative to average, what's in place. 

20   I have no reason to believe Atmos' service area, as varied 

21   as it is throughout the state, is not experiencing the 

22   same thing.  So even with -- even with good insulation, 

23   with good -- with modern day Energy Star appliances, that 

24   type of activity is going to increase the per use customer 

25   usage on an average basis. 
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 1                  Energy Star appliances, it may be a 

 2   semantical difference, but Public Counsel doesn't view the 

 3   purchase of a new appliance to replace one that is broken 

 4   as being conservation.  If that type of appliance is the 

 5   only one available, that's all the customer can purchase. 

 6   So that would be -- it's not a conscious decision by the 

 7   customer, it's simply a replacement of what they had. 

 8   That would be a couple of examples. 

 9           Q.     So how does that play into the 

10   variabilities of the company?  I'm not sure I follow. 

11           A.     Well, to the extent that that variability, 

12   the risk is either way, up or down. 

13           Q.     Okay. 

14           A.     And assurance is what business risk is 

15   associated with.  If you can reduce the variability either 

16   up or down, that reduces the risk from the investor 

17   standpoint.  If you are guaranteed a revenue stream, you 

18   have a lower risk.  I think Staff witness Ross talked 

19   about variability up and down as a lose/lose.  It's not 

20   that at all. 

21           Q.     Okay.  There's also in 179 the company 

22   mechanism that provides for that weather moderation 

23   provision or weather catchup provision and the 

24   conservation provision that provides for additional 

25   recovery.  There's a lag time in 179, isn't there, in that 
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 1   recovery or -- 

 2           A.     Yes. 

 3           Q.     -- payment out? 

 4                  Does that also add or increase risk? 

 5           A.     Elimination of lag would also reduce risk. 

 6   Cash flow is a major factor to rating agencies, to the 

 7   investor.  I mean, you can have an income statement that 

 8   shows you're making a profit, but you can also be broke 

 9   cash-wise and be out of business if you're insolvent. 

10           Q.     This rate design that Staff is proposing 

11   is -- it eliminates that lag time that would be in a 

12   179-type provision, doesn't it? 

13           A.     Yes, it does.  One of our other concerns 

14   with 179 is all the parties are involved in that case or 

15   will be involved.  This is one of our smaller utilities, 

16   and it's a -- without adequate data, I think 

17   Ms. Meisenheimer addressed, to make this dramatic a 

18   change, without looking at all the factors and how it 

19   affects across the entire state, it's just not something 

20   Public Counsel believes is a good policy for this 

21   Commission or good procedure to develop policy for this 

22   Commission. 

23           Q.     Okay.  Now, you -- your discount here to 

24   7 percent is somewhere around 1 and a half to over 

25   2 percent discount, isn't it? 
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 1           A.     Compared to the Staff range -- 

 2           Q.     Yes. 

 3           A.     -- that would be correct. 

 4           Q.     And how did you come up with that amount of 

 5   reduction? 

 6           A.     Business risk is the risk of the 

 7   variability.  The company would still incur financial 

 8   risk, which is, as I believe I defined in my testimony, 

 9   the additional risk placed on the common stockholders as a 

10   result of financial leverage.  So they will still face 

11   that.  So I looked at the difference between the 

12   completely risk free rate as identified by Mr. Barnes.  I 

13   believe his was approximately 5 percent.  It's since 

14   declined in more current Staff testimony to around 4.75. 

15                  I looked at the difference between risk 

16   free rate and the debt cost of the company, which would be 

17   the -- a risk that debt holders would -- risk premium that 

18   debt holders would require and assign then the same risk 

19   premium to stockholders for their financial leverage, 

20   financial risk issues.  I then rounded it up to 7 percent 

21   just to be conservative for lack more of a reason than 

22   that, just simply to be conservative, because I think as 

23   Mr. Barnes testified, as I discussed this morning in 

24   deposition, I have not seen anybody make a firm hard 

25   calculation.  I've not seen any discussion -- theoretical 
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 1   discussion of how to do it. 

 2                  Public Counsel was trying to present this 

 3   Commission with something that was based on some hard data 

 4   and just not simply, as in the case of testimony that's 

 5   been filed in the MGE case by the company witness, just 25 

 6   basis points based on his opinion.  We tried to look at 

 7   firm data. 

 8           Q.     Okay.  So your calculation at 7 percent, 

 9   you didn't give us a range here, right? 

10           A.     I didn't give you any flexibility.  I'm 

11   sure the Commission will take that flexibility if they 

12   think it appropriate. 

13           Q.     If there was, would you -- did you make any 

14   calculations that would have provided any flexibility in 

15   that number? 

16           A.     I don't think I made any calculations that 

17   would provide it.  I would simply say that if you're 

18   looking at a range, it would be somewhere between the 

19   7 percent and the low end of Staff's filed testimony. 

20           Q.     Okay.  Now, and that's what you meant when 

21   you said you were being conservative with 7 percent? 

22           A.     Yes. 

23           Q.     Okay.  Now, let me ask you this:  You were 

24   just here when Staff witness Barnes was testifying, 

25   correct -- 
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 1           A.     Yes, I was. 

 2           Q.     -- just before you? 

 3                  And he testified to, if I remember 

 4   correctly, that seven of the eight companies that he 

 5   examined had some sort of weather mitigation provision 

 6   according to information he looked at.  Did you hear him 

 7   testify to that generally? 

 8           A.     Yes, I did. 

 9           Q.     Do you know or have you looked at the rate 

10   designs of those companies that are in his group of 

11   comparables? 

12           A.     I looked at some of the rate designs. 

13   Probably the one I've seen most is the Atlanta Gas.  It is 

14   a rate design that is somewhat similar to what Staff has 

15   proposed here, but it is based on premise-specific 

16   information and not average just all customers pay the 

17   same.  It looks at specific capacity demanded by that 

18   premise before the rate is set.  So in that regard, it is 

19   definitely different. 

20                  Secondly, Atlanta Gas has marketers 

21   involved in their process.  They are truly a local 

22   distribution company.  They do not produce the gas for 

23   their customers -- 

24           Q.     I see. 

25           A.     -- so that is another major factor as -- as 
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 1   events over the last five years have shown us with 

 2   marketers. 

 3           Q.     Do they have retail competition there? 

 4           A.     Between the marketers, yes, they do, it's 

 5   my understanding.  I also noticed on their website it 

 6   appears they have a manufactured gas cleanup fee, which 

 7   would indicate they have some exposure to manufactured gas 

 8   plants, which is a significant -- potentially significant 

 9   factor for the company as -- 

10           Q.     Risk factor? 

11           A.     -- a definite high risk factor because you 

12   have costs that are unknown, and you have federal 

13   government and Super Fund involvement, and there are very 

14   strict protocols for cleaning up those sites if, in fact, 

15   they're identified and the company has found to be the 

16   last deep pocket available to take care of those 

17   obligations. 

18           Q.     Did you look at any of the other companies 

19   in regard to rate design? 

20           A.     I did.  There was some different -- I think 

21   most of the companies involved had some clauses, unlike, 

22   say, a Laclede-type weather mitigation rate design, they 

23   had more clauses than a rate design. 

24           Q.     What does that mean, that they had clauses? 

25   Explain that. 
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 1           A.     It would be a clause would be a charge that 

 2   would be a separate charge to the customer to catch up or 

 3   to refund revenue flows that differentiate, were different 

 4   than what was expected due to weather.  I believe one of 

 5   them also did have a conservation clause included in that. 

 6           Q.     Okay.  So would you regard those clauses as 

 7   being less comprehensive than the one proposed by Staff in 

 8   this case? 

 9           A.     The proposal in Staff's case eliminates all 

10   variability. 

11           Q.     So in regard to comparing risk clauses that 

12   you have described, all other things being equal to the 

13   clause that is -- or to the rate design proposed by Staff 

14   for Atmos, would you say the risk is lower for Atmos, all 

15   other things being equal? 

16           A.     Yes. 

17           Q.     And so therefore, would you also say that 

18   the ROE that should be recommended, all other things being 

19   equal, in comparing Company A that has rate a clause like 

20   you describe to Company A with a rate design like Staff 

21   has proposed, that the ROE for the company when it has 

22   Staff's design should be lower? 

23           A.     I believe the answer to that is yes, and 

24   that's the underlying premise of Public Counsel's 

25   testimony. 
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 1           Q.     Okay.  And it sounds like, if I'm following 

 2   you, that from your analysis, you are building your 

 3   recommendation on ROE at least in part from a risk-free 

 4   environment up, rather than taking Staff's original 

 5   recommendation and working down, but I'm not sure if I'm 

 6   following that exactly. 

 7           A.     The calculation itself is built that way 

 8   from risk free up to the extent Staff's testimony would 

 9   serve at the upper bounds if, in fact, you were looking at 

10   a range.  We tried to develop in this case a specific 

11   number, and we worked it off of the risk-free rate. 

12           Q.     Now, are you familiar with the issue of the 

13   company's -- the company at least at some point having 

14   been alleged to be overearning? 

15           A.     Yes, I am. 

16           Q.     Would you mind giving me just a very quick 

17   background of whether or not Staff at some point in time 

18   offered testimony or suggested that indeed the company was 

19   overearning? 

20           A.     I believe Staff's direct testimony asserted 

21   that on a going-forward basis, if current rates were 

22   maintained, that the company would overearn by 

23   approximately 1.2 at the mid point of -- I believe it was 

24   the midpoint.  It might have been at the high end of 

25   Mr. Barnes' recommendation on rate of return on equity. 
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 1                  Subsequent to that time, Staff made some 

 2   corrections and adjustments in their case, but I believe 

 3   Mr. Rackers testified last Thursday that those corrections 

 4   and adjustments did not materially change the 1.2 number, 

 5   negative number. 

 6           Q.     In other words, they would still be 

 7   overearning using Staff's recommended ROE? 

 8           A.     That would be correct.  And I think 

 9   Mr. Rackers testified to the fact that Staff believes 

10   those -- that number is still defendable and -- based on 

11   the practices and the recommendations that Staff made in 

12   their direct testimony. 

13           Q.     Do you agree with Staff in regard to those 

14   questions? 

15           A.     Yes, I do. 

16           Q.     Does Public Counsel? 

17           A.     With one exception. 

18           Q.     All right.  Go ahead. 

19           A.     That exception is an issue before this 

20   Commission with regard to a negative amortization of the 

21   depreciation reserve. 

22           Q.     And how does that impact the outcome? 

23           A.     That actually would raise the 1.2 or make 

24   it a smaller decrease.  It would move it $591,000 closer 

25   to zero.  So that would make it 6 -- a little over 
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 1   600,000 negative. 

 2           Q.     So -- 

 3           A.     On that issue.  And then there's the rate 

 4   of return, which takes it back the other direction, if the 

 5   Staff rate design is accepted.  If the Staff rate design 

 6   is not accepted, Public Counsel's recommendation, based on 

 7   the Staff work that they believe is defendable, is in the 

 8   neighborhood of 600 to 750,000 negative. 

 9           Q.     All right. 

10           A.     I'd have to go back and look at exactly the 

11   range created by Mr. Barnes' ROE recommended ranges. 

12           Q.     So, Mr. Trippensee, Public Counsel's 

13   position is that Atmos is currently overearning but that 

14   the amount of the overearning is impacted by the rate 

15   design and by this negative amortization issue.  Am I 

16   following? 

17           A.     In general terms, yes, but I do like to 

18   say, Commissioner, that since the rate case is a 

19   forward-looking item, that they would overearn in the 

20   future. 

21           Q.     Thank you for that correction.  So that is 

22   Public Counsel's position? 

23           A.     Right, because the Staff, this Commission 

24   uses year-end rate base, things along that line.  We're 

25   not going back and looking at actual.  Probably over 
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 1   95 percent of the revenue requirement has been adjusted in 

 2   one way or another from the test year. 

 3                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I thought I had 

 4   something else, but I'm not seeing it right now, so thank 

 5   you. 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Commissioner 

 7   Clayton? 

 8                  (No response.) 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there further 

10   cross-examination based on questions from the Bench, from 

11   Atmos? 

12                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, we had extensive cross 

13   earlier in the proceeding.  I'm going to largely stand on 

14   that, but I did have a couple things I just wanted to 

15   clarify.  It won't take very long. 

16   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

17           Q.     Mr. Trippensee, is it your understanding 

18   that Atlanta Gas is part of AGL resources, which is a 

19   holding company? 

20           A.     That's my understanding. 

21           Q.     Are you also aware that they operate in a 

22   number of states, Virginia, Tennessee, Florida and New 

23   Jersey? 

24           A.     I did not look at the extent of their 

25   service companies. 
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 1           Q.     So you didn't study whether weather 

 2   mitigation occurs in all of those states? 

 3           A.     No, I did not. 

 4           Q.     And do you know if they have marketers in 

 5   all those states? 

 6           A.     Since I didn't study those states, the 

 7   answer would be no. 

 8           Q.     You also brought up manufactured gas plant 

 9   remediation.  Are you aware that Atmos had an AAO case 

10   pending in front of this Commission a few years ago 

11   involving a similar plant in the Hannibal area? 

12           A.     Yes, I am. 

13           Q.     And are you also aware that Atmos serves 

14   the New Orleans area? 

15           A.     That's not the Missouri jurisdiction. 

16           Q.     No, it's not.  But would you agree with me 

17   the company did face a significant weather risk last 

18   summer that wouldn't be reflected in any kind of a 

19   normalization clause there? 

20           A.     If they can find that manufactured gas 

21   plant site after last summer, they may still have some 

22   liability. 

23           Q.     That would be true if New Madrid's 

24   earthquake goes off, too? 

25           A.     We may become part of Iowa and that would 
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 1   be true. 

 2                  MR. FISCHER:  Thanks a lot.  That's all I 

 3   have. 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

 5   further cross-examination from Staff? 

 6                  MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Judge.  Thank you. 

 7   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON: 

 8           Q.     Mr. Trippensee, during one of your answers 

 9   to Commissioner Gaw, you referred to Laclede-type weather 

10   mitigation rate design.  Do you recall that response? 

11           A.     I remember referring to it, yes. 

12           Q.     Would you be surprised if I told you that 

13   when this Commission granted Laclede a weather mitigation 

14   rate design, that its credit rating was downgraded? 

15           A.     Would I be surprised? 

16           Q.     Would you be surprised, sir? 

17           A.     Based on my conversation with Standard & 

18   Poors, I would not be surprised at anything they do, since 

19   they didn't know that Kansas City Power & Light built a 

20   power plant. 

21                  MR. THOMPSON:  Judge, could I get a yes or 

22   no answer? 

23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Mr. Trippensee, can you 

24   answer Mr. Thompson's question.  Would you be surprised -- 

25                  THE WITNESS:  I think I said I would not be 
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 1   surprised at anything at Standard & Poors, so, no, I would 

 2   not be surprised. 

 3                  MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Trippensee. 

 4   No further questions of this witness. 

 5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  I believe that 

 6   concludes Mr. Trippensee's -- oh, I'm sorry.  Is there 

 7   redirect? 

 8                  MR. POSTON:  No, your Honor, thank you. 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I believe that concludes 

10   your testimony on this topic or these topics.  Before you 

11   step down, Mr. Trippensee, I'm going to see, would it be 

12   possible, Mr. Dority, to get Dr. Murry on the phone at 

13   this time or -- 

14                  MR. DORITY:  We can certainly try.  I 

15   didn't know if we would have any notice in the regard, but 

16   he's supposed to be standing by. 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We can take a break and try 

18   to set that up, and then we'll move on from there. 

19                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Judge, if that's 

20   going to be a hardship on him, if he has to be tracked 

21   down, it's not worth it, because I don't have that many 

22   questions. 

23                  MR. FISCHER:  I have a cell phone number 

24   and that's how we track him down. 

25                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  If he's going to be 
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 1   somewhere where he -- that makes it difficult, I just -- 

 2                  MR. FISCHER:  We're at the discretion of 

 3   the Commission on that. 

 4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Jim, we know you 

 5   are.  We appreciate that.  But if you find he's at the 

 6   club or something like that, don't bother him, okay. 

 7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Let's take a ten-minute 

 8   break, see if Dr. Murry is available and I'll bring a 

 9   phone in here. 

10                  Thank you.  You can go ahead and step down, 

11   Mr. Trippensee. 

12                  Let's go off the record. 

13                  (A BREAK WAS TAKEN. 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Dr. Murry wasn't 

15   available, so we're going to just keep going.  We are 

16   going to go to the other tariff issues and also pick up 

17   some Commissioner questions on the miscellaneous charges 

18   issues. 

19                  So Staff's witness Mr. Ensrud has come to 

20   the stand, and he was previously sworn.  So, Mr. Ensrud, 

21   you may remain under oath.  That's correct, you were 

22   previously sworn? 

23                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, I was. 

24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  You remain under 

25   oath.  So your exhibits have already been admitted.  Was 
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 1   there cross-examination on the other tariffs issues from 

 2   Atmos? 

 3                  MR. DORITY:  No questions, your Honor. 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  From Public Counsel.? 

 5                  MR. POSTON:  Yes, just one.  Thank you. 

 6   MICHAEL J. ENSRUD testified as follows: 

 7   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

 8           Q.     I'm going to ask you a question about the 

 9   line extension policy. 

10           A.     All right. 

11           Q.     And in your direct testimony you say that 

12   Atmos proposes to use a computer model to estimate the 

13   cost of the main extension and the revenue that will be 

14   derived; is that correct? 

15           A.     Which line?  I address it in both 

16   surrebuttal and direct, if I remember right. 

17           Q.     Well, actually, I can't find the line.  I 

18   might have given you the wrong page number.  But is that 

19   your testimony? 

20           A.     That's generally -- generally, yes, that 

21   they use a scientific approach in that they use both a 

22   computer model and in that they use traditional finance 

23   principles to generate a rate. 

24           Q.     Okay.  Will you please explain in detail 

25   how that model works and what assumptions are made that go 
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 1   into that model? 

 2           A.     In its entirety, general discussion of what 

 3   it is is basically a model that determines cost.  It bases 

 4   the price of a project to construct that project, meaning 

 5   building in such things as time, labor, duration of the 

 6   project and et cetera.  So there were a number of factors 

 7   that were discussed as being included in the cost 

 8   component. 

 9                  Once you've got a cost that is 

10   representative of a specific project, the next step is you 

11   would take the rate of return that the Commission granted 

12   in the case, take that times the projected revenues.  They 

13   project out the revenues based upon the size of the house, 

14   the type of the house and et cetera.  And so you take the 

15   return times the projected revenues.  That's the offset to 

16   the -- that specific project.  That's how you determine 

17   what the -- what the offset is for a project that would be 

18   specific to you. 

19           Q.     So have you studied this model itself and 

20   seen how it -- 

21           A.     I was provided the model, but I've not done 

22   a whole lot with it.  Most of it was based upon 

23   discussions with various company members as to how it 

24   functions. 

25                  MR. POSTON:  That's all I have.  Thank you. 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Are there 

 2   questions from the Bench, then, for Mr. Ensrud?  And 

 3   Commissioner, this involves both the other tariff issues 

 4   and the miscellaneous issues. 

 5                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Yes, I appreciate that, 

 6   Judge.  Thank you. 

 7   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER GAW: 

 8           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, I want to go to the 

 9   connection/reconnection and transfer charges, and first of 

10   all, can you tell me under Atmos' current tariffs what 

11   the -- what those charges are? 

12           A.     For connection and transfer, there is no 

13   charge today, for the cost of dispatching, someone calling 

14   a dispatch board and then sending someone out to connect 

15   it to.  So those two, the current cost is zero. 

16           Q.     Okay. 

17           A.     In relation to the reconnection charge, I 

18   believe I have a copy somewhere of their existing rates. 

19   For reconnections today, the -- the normal business hour 

20   would be for Areas P and U 40 bucks, for Areas P K and 

21   S -- or B -- excuse -- B, K and S, $30, and for Area G, 

22   $25. 

23           Q.     Okay.  That's the -- 

24           A.     That's normal business hour reconnection. 

25   And I propose a $24 rate. 
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 1           Q.     Okay.  So you're proposing $24, and the 

 2   rates that you just read me are all above that?  I'm 

 3   sorry.  I was reading while you were talking. 

 4           A.     All of the normal hours are higher than 

 5   what I propose.  So my rates are lower than -- than the 

 6   existing rates for those.  In relation to -- to the 

 7   outside business hour connections, reconnections outside 

 8   the traditional business hour, it would be -- I propose 

 9   50, and there is one for areas P and U that was a $51 

10   charge.  So for that one it's going down, but for the 

11   other areas, my $50 is higher than the 40 or the 25. 

12           Q.     Okay. 

13           A.     The net impact of it all is $29,000 less. 

14   If you took the test year, priced out the test year, mine 

15   would produce $29,000 less on the reconnection rates. 

16           Q.     Now, that is without considering this 

17   additional charge that you're proposing, correct, this 

18   makeup of misdelivery charges? 

19           A.     That is true.  That is just for the 

20   dispatch service. 

21           Q.     Now, in regard to this so-called makeup 

22   amount, first of all, give me an example of how that would 

23   work. 

24           A.     If someone -- if someone were to go off the 

25   system either by saying, it's summer, I don't need your 
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 1   service, thank you very much, or if they just simply don't 

 2   pay and go off in March, they come back on four months 

 3   later, whatever the delivery charge is, which ranges 

 4   between 15 and $20 approximately, you would be charged for 

 5   the cost of sending a person out to reconnect you, and 

 6   they would make up all the fixed costs that occurred for 

 7   the period that you were out. 

 8           Q.     Okay.  So in addition to the connection 

 9   charge of $24 or $50, whichever it is, you would pay this 

10   additional makeup charge, correct? 

11           A.     Correct. 

12           Q.     Now, that would be a charge that you would 

13   pay if you were disconnected for anywhere up to a year? 

14           A.     Correct. 

15           Q.     And do we have this type of a reconnection 

16   charge currently for another gas company in the state? 

17           A.     We have it in a certain form for Atmos for 

18   Area S.  Let me just read the connection.  This language 

19   is not exactly verbatim, but the content is pretty close 

20   all the way through.  I can read as many as you want, but 

21   the flavor of one will get you there. 

22                  This schedule is a continuous service 

23   schedule.  If service is disconnected at the request of 

24   the customer and thereafter restored at the same location 

25   for the same occupant within 12 months, period.  Following 
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 1   the date service was disconnected, a reconnection charge 

 2   will become due and payable when service is restored of 

 3   transportation service reconnection charges equal to the 

 4   monthly customer charge times the number of months or 

 5   fractions of months that service was disconnected. 

 6                  Essentially the same principle.  One of the 

 7   problems they have today is that they have a computer 

 8   problem where they have to flip between screens.  For 

 9   administrative sake, I would accept where they simply take 

10   the number of days that you were disconnected, which is on 

11   one screen, divide by 30, and that would be the charge. 

12   In all cases, that would generate -- you would pay at 

13   least -- or you would pay no more than what you would 

14   under counting up the charges that were missed. 

15           Q.     All right.  Now, so is Atmos the only 

16   company in that one geographic area, is that the only 

17   company that has this type of provision in the state right 

18   now? 

19           A.     For the counting of them, they are the only 

20   ones. 

21           Q.     Okay.  Now, in regard to -- and, of course, 

22   this current provision that's in this one area of Atmos -- 

23           A.     Well, it's actually in three areas. 

24           Q.     Three areas.  Excuse me.  Which three 

25   areas? 
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 1           A.     Area S, Area B and Area K. 

 2           Q.     And this is with the customer charge which 

 3   is just the fixed charge and does not -- would not include 

 4   the volumetric component, correct? 

 5           A.     That is -- that is absolutely correct. 

 6           Q.     So the amount here, even in those areas, 

 7   would be going up significantly? 

 8           A.     Right.  There's also one other thing I want 

 9   to bring to your -- 

10           Q.     Would it not, it would be going up 

11   significantly? 

12           A.     It would go from -- yes. 

13           Q.     And then go ahead.  I'm sorry.  I'll let 

14   you finish. 

15           A.     There's one other aspect that's a little 

16   bit different.  In discussing, you know, what they have 

17   today, one of the problems is that a person has to 

18   request, at the request of the customer. 

19           Q.     Yes.  I was going to get to that. 

20           A.     Okay. 

21           Q.     So let me ask you that question.  In the 

22   proposal that you have, is this limited just to cases 

23   where the customer has requested the disconnection? 

24           A.     No. 

25           Q.     So you would also require a customer who is 

 

951 of 1082



0640 

 1   disconnected for other reasons other than their choice to 

 2   have to pay this additional charge on reconnection as 

 3   though they had been receiving the service the entire 

 4   time? 

 5           A.     If there's no change in cost on the short 

 6   run, that seems appropriate to me.  That is a correct 

 7   understanding. 

 8           Q.     I'm not asking for your analysis at this 

 9   point.  Is that true, that they would be required to 

10   pay -- 

11           A.     Right. 

12           Q.     -- that amount as though they were 

13   continuing to receive service for the entire time they 

14   were disconnected? 

15           A.     I would eliminate the distinction between 

16   people who request disconnection and those who are 

17   disconnected by not -- 

18           Q.     But the answer to my question first is yes, 

19   correct? 

20           A.     Correct. 

21           Q.     Now, so would you say that the customers 

22   that generally are disconnected have any demographic that 

23   tends to be true in regard to their incomes?  In other 

24   words, are low-income customers potentially more likely to 

25   be disconnected or do you know? 
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 1           A.     My dealings would indicate that there 

 2   probably is some correlation of that, but there's also 

 3   a -- 

 4           Q.     There is a connection, correct? 

 5           A.     There would be propensity for low-income 

 6   people probably to be disconnected more than high-income 

 7   people. 

 8           Q.     Okay.  Now, so -- 

 9           A.     Not a perfect match, but close. 

10           Q.     -- this provision then will have a 

11   disproportionate impact on low-income customers, wouldn't 

12   you agree? 

13           A.     More of them will pay, but given the 

14   demographics of the Atmos territory, more of them would 

15   benefit under the other plan, under my plan than exist 

16   today.  More would pay, there's no debate about that, 

17   but -- 

18           Q.     Okay. 

19           A.     But given the statistics of the components 

20   of the numbers, you can calculate or back into about 

21   30,000 customers qualify for low-income in the Atmos area. 

22   About 10,000 engage in disconnect, summer disconnect or 

23   disconnect.  Therefore, you have 10,000 who benefit from 

24   the practice, but 30,000 poor -- not poor -- low-income 

25   who pay more than they otherwise would because of the 
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 1   practice. 

 2           Q.     Do you have that on paper somewhere? 

 3           A.     I have Exhibit 19.  I'll tell you how I got 

 4   into it.  I have Exhibit 19, which dealt with the number 

 5   of LIHEAP customers that were available, which was 6,105. 

 6   Ms. Ross talked yesterday about that only one in five on 

 7   average take.  If you take that figure times five, you 

 8   come up with 30,000 customers. 

 9           Q.     Wait a minute.  Hold on.  What figure? 

10           A.     The 6,105, which is the cumulative number 

11   of customers, if you run a tape -- 

12           Q.     Cumulative number of customers who are 

13   what? 

14           A.     Who are -- 

15           Q.     Who are you talking about? 

16           A.     Who are users of LIHEAP. 

17           Q.     Is that the total number of LIHEAP 

18   qualified customers -- 

19           A.     No. 

20           Q.     -- or users? 

21           A.     That's the number of users. 

22           Q.     In the entire Atmos territory in Missouri? 

23           A.     That's the representation of -- 

24           Q.     Do you know how many qualifiers for LIHEAP 

25   there are in the entire territory? 
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 1           A.     Because by what -- 

 2           Q.     Do you know the answer to that question? 

 3           A.     Yes, you can calculate that. 

 4           Q.     What is the entire number of customers that 

 5   are qualified for LIHEAP in that territory? 

 6           A.     Using the factor that Ms. Ross had, it 

 7   comes out 30,000. 

 8           Q.     30,000.  So there are 30,000, and only a 

 9   little over 6,000 are actually receiving the benefits to 

10   which they are -- 

11           A.     Right. 

12           Q.     -- otherwise entitled if it were not for 

13   budgetary problems, correct? 

14           A.     That would be -- yes, that would be one of 

15   the conclusions.  But my point -- 

16           Q.     So in other words, at this point in time, 

17   those low-income consumers who may be disproportionately, 

18   as you testified to, impacted by this additional fee 

19   that's going to be tacked on to those who are 

20   disconnected, they are in a position where they're going 

21   to be, as I understand it, be subject to this additional 

22   amount of money upon reconnection? 

23           A.     Only 30 -- well, yes, that would -- that in 

24   itself was true. 

25           Q.     Okay.  Now, does Staff believe that 
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 1   low-income consumers will pay for this out of some new 

 2   income sources that they may have as a result of this 

 3   policy if it's adopted? 

 4           A.     No.  My point -- 

 5           Q.     Does this give access to additional LIHEAP 

 6   dollars, for instance, to customers that may try to be 

 7   reconnected?  Is that possible? 

 8           A.     No, but it would reduce their rates. 

 9           Q.     Well, Staff was proposing at one time that 

10   rates be lowered in this case, were they not, Mr. Ensrud, 

11   and now Staff is proposing that there is no lowering of 

12   rates; isn't that correct? 

13           A.     That's my understanding. 

14           Q.     That would have lowered their rates as 

15   well, wouldn't it? 

16           A.     Yes. 

17           Q.     Yes.  And so it would have also lowered 

18   their rates, would it not, or at least it wouldn't have 

19   increased the rates of those who were trying to be 

20   reconnected if you hadn't proposed, assuming the 

21   Commission would adopt, this additional fee for 

22   reconnection? 

23           A.     If they adopt the initial -- the additional 

24   fee for reconnection, the hope would be or the desire, 

25   results would be that less people would engage in summer 
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 1   disconnect, which transfers cost to those who remain on 

 2   the system year round. 

 3           Q.     How much of a reduction in the rates that 

 4   Staff is proposing is reflected by this change?  How many 

 5   dollars of reduction are in this rate case as a result of 

 6   this proposal by Staff? 

 7           A.     None. 

 8           Q.     Now, if I were an individual that -- I'm 

 9   seeking clarification here.  If I'm an individual that 

10   seeks disconnection because I want to move to another 

11   place -- 

12           A.     Right. 

13           Q.     -- in the same Atmos territory, am I 

14   subject to this proposal from Staff? 

15           A.     No, you're not.  It's only if you jump in 

16   and out at the same location. 

17           Q.     Okay.  So it's tied specifically to a 

18   particular location, correct? 

19           A.     It is. 

20           Q.     Now, what if I move temporarily out of 

21   my -- of this house and move back within a year, but I 

22   have left the premises and come back, then what? 

23           A.     The charge would be applicable because the 

24   same name would be being pulled back up on the screen as a 

25   reconnection. 
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 1           Q.     What if I'm a renter, I move out, move to 

 2   another residence for a while, and then six months -- and 

 3   I establish service there, and then I move back, do I have 

 4   to pay? 

 5           A.     In that odd occurrence, the way I 

 6   understand it, because the name would -- they do a search 

 7   of the new name compared to the old name, and I don't 

 8   know -- I don't believe there is a search for an 

 9   intermediate name, and it was within the 12 months, with 

10   all those caveats, I think you would. 

11           Q.     Why should that individual have to pay? 

12           A.     Under those specific -- under those 

13   specific odd circumstances, there is some inequity in the 

14   plan. 

15           Q.     Of course, I could also move -- even though 

16   the answer would be the same, I could move outside of the 

17   Atmos territory and move back into the same residence and 

18   have the same predicament, correct? 

19           A.     Right.  If it's a mechanical process, that 

20   would also generate. 

21           Q.     And that would be true even if I were a 

22   renter in that house, not just that I own the house and 

23   decided to disconnect, move and then come back, it would 

24   also be true if I were a renter and terminated my rental 

25   arrangement, went to another residence, and then moved 

 

958 of 1082



0647 

 1   back and entered into a new agreement, correct? 

 2           A.     In that odd situation, that would be 

 3   correct, my understanding. 

 4           Q.     Now, let me go to a different category for 

 5   a moment.  I want to ask you -- on the same general topic, 

 6   though.  I want to ask you about your level of knowledge 

 7   as to these districts and whether or not any of them have 

 8   any presence of propane.  Do you know? 

 9           A.     It's rural Missouri, so yeah, there are 

10   probably -- there are probably propane dealerships who 

11   are -- who are fairly available.  I mean, I don't consider 

12   any of the -- even Kirksville and stuff like that is not 

13   major metro areas. 

14           Q.     So let's assume, then, that I have a house 

15   and I have decided I've had enough of paying these natural 

16   gas prices and I'm going to switch to propane.  I'm off 

17   for a few months, less than a year, and I decide I want to 

18   go back.  Your proposal, does it make me pay for all of 

19   those charges that I would have incurred in the event that 

20   I had stayed hooked up to the natural gas service and had 

21   the propane service at the same time? 

22           A.     That would have been one of the many 

23   charges, yes. 

24           Q.     So I would be paying both for this gas 

25   connection and for my propane service, connect? 
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 1           A.     You would have paid all the costs 

 2   associated with the tank and converting all your -- 

 3           Q.     Isn't that correct, Mr. Ensrud, I would be 

 4   paying -- 

 5           A.     Yes, you'd pay an abundance of different 

 6   costs. 

 7           Q.     I would be paying for those gas charges as 

 8   though I were hooked up if I wanted to go out and try the 

 9   propane tank, correct? 

10           A.     Yes. 

11           Q.     And, Mr. Ensrud, does this Commission 

12   engage in interfering with competition between the natural 

13   gas providers and propane as a matter of policy? 

14           A.     Probably not, but it should reflect costs. 

15           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, is it not true that by doing 

16   this, if this Commission were to approve your proposal, 

17   Staff's proposal in this case, we would be creating a very 

18   significant disincentive for individuals who wish to 

19   switch to propane because they would have to repay -- if 

20   they decided they didn't like it, they would have to pay 

21   for their service as though they continued to be hooked up 

22   to the gas service; isn't that correct? 

23           A.     There would be abundance of -- 

24           Q.     Isn't that -- 

25           A.     Cost is a -- 
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 1           Q.     Isn't that correct?  That's a yes or not. 

 2   Isn't that correct? 

 3           A.     In that particular instance, yes. 

 4           Q.     All right.  Thank you. 

 5           A.     But there would be a number of costs. 

 6           Q.     Did Staff make a decision to in regard -- 

 7   did it make its decision for this proposal taking into 

 8   account the fact that this is a -- has an impact, a 

 9   negative impact on a consumer's right to choose between 

10   natural gas and propane service?  Did that weigh in to the 

11   Staff's decision in proposing this plan for reconnection? 

12   Do you know? 

13           A.     Yeah, there was discussion about -- about 

14   that this would be a deterrent to some things, but the 

15   proper allocation of costs was an overriding concern. 

16           Q.     So in other words, the Staff has 

17   consciously decided that it's appropriate to create 

18   disincentives to switch away from natural gas service, 

19   correct? 

20           A.     Some viewed it -- no.  The discussion was 

21   that there might be an incentive to convert to gas, to 

22   propane or other or all-electric homes in that now I see 

23   on my bill what used to be a $7 bill is now a 15 or $20 

24   bill.  I may have greater motivation to convert.  That was 

25   the most -- that was it.  It wasn't that you lock in 
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 1   customers.  It's that you may scare away people, that 

 2   existing customers may look at the -- go 15, 20 bucks, I'm 

 3   going to migrate to something else. 

 4           Q.     So in order to counteract that, you 

 5   proposed -- Staff has proposed that it is more difficult, 

 6   then, to leave by adopting this -- 

 7           A.     No. 

 8           Q.     -- this reconnection fee, correct? 

 9           A.     We gave credence to that -- to that 

10   argument, but the final justification was the inequitable 

11   distribution of costs was an overriding factor and that 

12   setting the proper pricing signal, if you drive people 

13   off, that's part of the market. 

14           Q.     Did you consult with any of the propane 

15   dealers in the state when you made this decision or this 

16   recommendation -- 

17           A.     No. 

18           Q.     -- analysis? 

19                  Did you give them any notice that you were 

20   making this kind of a proposal in this case?  Did you have 

21   any discussion with them that you were going to do this 

22   kind of proposal? 

23           A.     No. 

24           Q.     Do you believe the propane industry in this 

25   state would be pleased with your recommendation? 
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 1           A.     Yes, I think -- I think they'd be -- 

 2           Q.     You think they would be pleased? 

 3           A.     I think they would look at this as a 

 4   potential -- 

 5           Q.     With this reconnection fee? 

 6           A.     Yeah, because -- well, with the 

 7   reconnection fee.  With the delivery charge, it would act 

 8   as a disincentive to propane or to a motivation to convert 

 9   to propane. 

10                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Thank you, sir.  I think 

11   that's all. 

12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I don't believe 

13   Commissioner Clayton had any questions for you, 

14   Mr. Ensrud.  So is there further cross-examination based 

15   on questions from the Bench from Atmos? 

16                  MR. DORITY:  Just a couple, your Honor. 

17   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DORITY: 

18           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, regarding your seasonal 

19   disconnect customer analysis, would it be appropriate to 

20   characterize the focus of your approach as dealing with 

21   customers who interrupt service for an interim period of 

22   time? 

23           A.     Correct. 

24           Q.     And is it your testimony that 1/10, 

25   7,000 out of 70,000 Atmos customers disconnect for a month 
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 1   or more every year? 

 2           A.     Right, and reconnect is my understanding. 

 3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Can I get you to speak into 

 4   the microphone? 

 5                  THE WITNESS:  And reconnect. 

 6    BY MR. DORITY: 

 7           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, on pages 11 through 13 of your 

 8   surrebuttal testimony, you address some of the concerns 

 9   raised by OPC witness Meisenheimer concerning the 

10   reconnection fee.  Would that still be your testimony 

11   today? 

12           A.     Yes, it would. 

13                  MR. DORITY:  I believe that's all I have, 

14   Judge.  Thank you. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

16   further cross-examination from Public Counsel? 

17                  MR. POSTON:  Yes.  Thank you. 

18   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POSTON: 

19           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, would your proposal for 

20   seasonal disconnects place greater strain on LIHEAP funds 

21   in order to reconnect these customers? 

22           A.     Yes, there would be a -- there would be an 

23   increase for those who engage in seasonal disconnect, but 

24   eventually those who stay on the system would pay less, so 

25   over time, over a long period of time, there could be 
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 1   countervailing effects.  But probably you are correct in 

 2   that the primary effect would be that it would draw LIHEAP 

 3   funds to a greater degree to those people. 

 4           Q.     If a student living in Kirksville renting 

 5   an apartment leaves for the summer, comes back, would they 

 6   have to pay to catch up? 

 7           A.     To the very same apartment, yes. 

 8           Q.     How about an elderly resident that's in an 

 9   unfortunate accident and must be hospitalized for ten 

10   months, family shuts off service? 

11           A.     To reconnect, there would -- that charge 

12   would be -- would come into play for any of these. 

13           Q.     And all of the months that she was 

14   hospitalized? 

15           A.     For the interim months, the charge would be 

16   applicable. 

17           Q.     And how about a soldier that's deployed to 

18   Iraq for 11 months, must disconnect, would the soldier 

19   when he returns have to pay? 

20           A.     Be kind of cold on his family, but I guess 

21   that's possible. 

22           Q.     If he has no family. 

23           A.     In those rare instances, it would come into 

24   play. 

25           Q.     So your proposal for seasonal 
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 1   disconnections is not taking into account the reason why 

 2   people may have to disconnect? 

 3           A.     Yes, it did, because most of them 

 4   probably -- the assumption is that most of them do it to 

 5   save money and come back on board at a later time, thereby 

 6   shifting costs to those who stay on the system year round. 

 7           Q.     So that's just an assumption that doesn't 

 8   take into account these examples? 

 9           A.     The specific examples, that's correct. 

10                  MR. POSTON:  Thank you.  That's all I have. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there redirect from 

12   Staff? 

13                  MR. REED:  Yes, thanks.  I'll be brief, 

14   though. 

15   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. REED: 

16           Q.     Mr. Ensrud, how big a problem is it, the 

17   seasonal disconnect problem? 

18           A.     One in ten Atmos customers engage in that 

19   type of activity, so I see it as a fairly big problem. 

20           Q.     And what's the number?  What's one in ten 

21   mean? 

22           A.     7,000 out of 70,000 are off the system for 

23   a month or more each year. 

24           Q.     If a -- if a customer has to pay the 

25   additional charges, the makeup charges, how's that worked 
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 1   out?  Is it one large payment? 

 2           A.     No.  There were terms set forth.  If it was 

 3   a forced disconnect, the additional rules would apply for 

 4   repayment.  If someone had contacted and said, I would 

 5   like to leave for the summer, or the example where someone 

 6   closes their home for whatever reason for a while, under 

 7   most circumstances they would have up to three months.  If 

 8   you were off for one month, you'd have a month to repay. 

 9   If it was two, it was two.  If it was three, it was three. 

10   After three, you had three months to repay the obligation. 

11   So it could be distributed over time. 

12           Q.     So if you were off the system for 11 

13   months, you would have how long to repay? 

14           A.     Three months. 

15           Q.     You would have three months? 

16           A.     Right.  That's the maximum. 

17           Q.     Who pays -- when customers disconnect for 

18   the summer, for instance, who pays the costs for that sort 

19   of customer? 

20           A.     What happens is really -- it really isn't a 

21   deferral of costs.  The revenue stream is suppressed or 

22   lowered, and so, therefore, you need to spread the cost 

23   over lesser number of billing increments, and that 

24   inflates the rate is what it really does. 

25           Q.     It inflates the rates for the rest of the 
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 1   customers? 

 2           A.     It inflates the rates for the rest -- for 

 3   those who stay on year in and year out, that inflates the 

 4   rates for those. 

 5           Q.     Is Staff in cahoots with the propane 

 6   industry on this proposal? 

 7           A.     No.  As I say -- as I say, the initial view 

 8   of this was that it was a windfall for the propane, not 

 9   that it was a detriment to them. 

10           Q.     Is LIHEAP granted according to need or to 

11   income, do you know? 

12           A.     My understanding is an income based.  It's 

13   based upon housing, I believe, or something. 

14           Q.     What about the size of the bill, how does 

15   that factor in? 

16           A.     I'm not sure. 

17           Q.     If Staff's reconnection charge is adopted 

18   by the Commission, will the actual lower reconnection 

19   charge be realized by the customers? 

20           A.     You're talking about the element for 

21   dispatching a person and for having the person drive out 

22   there, yes, it would be -- my rate is 24 -- 24 -- my 

23   proposed rate is $24. 

24           Q.     During questions from Commissioner Gaw you 

25   were -- you had mentioned that you believe that more of 
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 1   the customers would benefit from this proposal that you've 

 2   offered.  Why is that? 

 3           A.     More of the low-income customers would 

 4   eventually benefit. 

 5           Q.     Explain why. 

 6           A.     All right.  Because if you take -- if you 

 7   take the figure of 6,105 and you take what -- 

 8           Q.     What is 6,105? 

 9           A.     That is the number -- that is the number of 

10   Atmos customers receiving LIHEAP benefits.  Take that 

11   times five, which is what witness Ross said was the number 

12   of people who -- that only one on five actually apply for 

13   LIHEAP and get it compared to those that are eligible, 

14   that's a typical figure.  You end up with a figure of 

15   30,000 out of the 70,000 customers who actually qualify 

16   for LIHEAP, which to me translates to low-income. 

17                  If only 10,000 -- or if only 7,000 are 

18   availing themselves of the savings from LIHEAP, you end up 

19   with the low-income subsidizing the low-income in that 

20   30,000 pay higher rates because the 7,000 engage in this 

21   foisting of cost off on to other people. 

22                  MR. REED:  Thank you. 

23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Thank you, 

24   Mr. Ensrud.  I believe that is all the questions for you, 

25   and you may be excused. 
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 1                  Before we go to another witness, let me 

 2   just make sure we don't have -- I know we had some child 

 3   care issues and other conflicts yesterday.  Is everyone 

 4   able to stay this evening? 

 5                  We're going to keep going with the other 

 6   tariff issues, then.  Was there cross-examination for 

 7   Ms. Meisenheimer on these issues?  Staff? 

 8                  MR. REED:  No. 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Will you have questions for 

10   Ms. Meisenheimer on -- I think you asked questions about 

11   the reconnection fee, Commissioner, already. 

12                  All right.  If there's no questions, then, 

13   for her, Commissioner Clayton didn't have any on those 

14   issues. 

15                  MR. DORITY:  Your Honor, if I might? 

16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 

17                  MR. DORITY:  Mr. Kerley was the Atmos 

18   witness regarding the other tariff issues.  I don't know 

19   if just to keep the record straight, if you would like for 

20   me to go ahead and offer his testimony at this point. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That will be fine. 

22                  MR. DORITY:  I would offer the direct 

23   testimony of Robert Kerley, which has been previously 

24   marked as Exhibit No. 9NP and 9HC, into the record. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And would there be any 
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 1   objection to Exhibits 9NP and 9HC? 

 2                  (No response.) 

 3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Hearing none, I will 

 4   receive those exhibits into evidence. 

 5                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 9NP AND 9HC WERE RECEIVED 

 6   INTO EVIDENCE.) 

 7                  MR. DORITY:  Thank you, Judge. 

 8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We previously excused 

 9   Mr. Kerley as there were no questions for him. 

10                  All right, then.  I think we can go back. 

11   Commissioner Gaw, did you have any questions for -- on 

12   depreciation for any of the witnesses? 

13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I was going to defer to 

14   Commissioner Clayton on that. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Clayton told 

16   me he only has questions related to the PGA consolidation 

17   and the district consolidation.  And did we have 

18   Mr. Cagle?  We haven't had Mr. Cagle here yet, or we 

19   haven't introduced his testimony either. 

20                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, we could offer that 

21   testimony.  He didn't specifically address the negative 

22   amortization issue.  He was just available in the event 

23   the Commissioners had any questions from the Atmos 

24   perspective, and I don't think there were any at that 

25   time.  But he did have some testimony that we could offer 
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 1   on other issues. 

 2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  We haven't 

 3   previously offered that? 

 4                  MR. FISCHER:  No. 

 5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Let's go ahead at 

 6   this time then and take that up. 

 7                  MR. FISCHER:  That would be James Cagle's 

 8   direct testimony, Exhibit No. 11NP and 11HC.  Would move 

 9   to have that offered at this time. 

10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

11   objections to Exhibit 11NP and HC in the record? 

12                  MR. REED:  No. 

13                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, then I will 

14   receive those exhibits into the record. 

15                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 11NP AND 11HC WERE RECEIVED 

16   INTO EVIDENCE.) 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Then I believe since 

18   there are no further Commission questions on depreciation, 

19   that that will conclude Mr. Trippensee's testimony also, 

20   and he may be excused. 

21                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Wait.  Just kidding. 

22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Got me.  Okay.  Then let's 

23   move on to the PGA consolidation.  I know Mr. Imhoff is 

24   anxiously waiting.  We also have Ms. Childers available 

25   for the company, and I believe you were on the stand 
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 1   previously, weren't you, Ms. Childers? 

 2                  Commissioner Clayton, did you have 

 3   questions for Ms. Childers on the PGA consolidation? 

 4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I think I've already 

 5   addressed those. 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Then let's move on to 

 7   Mr. Imhoff.  And Mr. Imhoff, we previously swore you in, 

 8   so you remain under oath in this proceeding.  Your 

 9   exhibits have been previously admitted. 

10                  MR. DORITY:  Your Honor, I'm sorry to 

11   interrupt. 

12                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's all right. 

13                  MR. DORITY:  I just received a call from 

14   Dr. Murry.  He would be available should the Commissioners 

15   desire to ask him any questions, and I just wanted to 

16   alert you to that. 

17                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Did you want to do 

18   him now? 

19                  MR. DORITY:  I can let him know the time 

20   frame. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  He's available immediately 

22   or we can -- 

23                  MR. DORITY:  He can do it now, or if you 

24   want to give me a time slot, I can try to check his 

25   availability.  We'll just work with you in whatever way we 
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 1   can. 

 2                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I'm at your 

 3   disposal.  It doesn't -- if you want to do him now or -- 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Could you ask Mr. -- or 

 5   Dr. Murry to stand by until we finish with Mr. Imhoff and 

 6   then we'll -- hopefully that will be within the next 15, 

 7   20 minutes. 

 8                  MR. DORITY:  Sure. 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  Commissioner 

10   Clayton, do you have questions for Mr. Imhoff on PGA 

11   consolidation? 

12   THOMAS M. IMHOFF testified as follows: 

13   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

14           Q.     Mr. Imhoff, thank you for being patient 

15   with us here.  First of all, I want to make sure that I'm 

16   asking you the right questions.  There's been some 

17   confusion on some witnesses in the past.  Are you the 

18   witness for both the PGA consolidation as well as district 

19   consolidation? 

20           A.     No.  I am only the witness for the PGA 

21   consolidation. 

22           Q.     Okay.  And then Ms. Ross would have been 

23   the witness on that issue for Staff? 

24           A.     That is correct, on the margin rate 

25   consolidation. 
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 1           Q.     Okay. 

 2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And she is available to 

 3   return for Commission questions. 

 4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I've had already my 

 5   shot at Ms. Ross.  I don't want to cause her any more 

 6   grief. 

 7   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

 8           Q.     Mr. Imhoff, Staff's original proposal is 

 9   what is in supposed agreement between you and the company 

10   right now; is that correct? 

11           A.     That is correct. 

12           Q.     And that proposal would be to reduce the 

13   PGA filings of the, is it seven districts currently into 

14   four districts; is that correct? 

15           A.     That is correct. 

16           Q.     If Atmos hat not requested consolidation 

17   into -- if they hadn't requested any consolidation for PGA 

18   filings, can you tell me whether Staff would have made 

19   this proposal of consolidation into four districts? 

20           A.     I don't really know whether or not we would 

21   have. 

22           Q.     So it is possible that you and that Staff 

23   made this proposal based in response to a different 

24   consolidation proposal? 

25           A.     Basically, yes. 
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 1           Q.     Now, is it also possible that you-all could 

 2   have made this proposal even if they hadn't brought up 

 3   consolidation? 

 4           A.     Yes. 

 5           Q.     Well, let's address that scenario.  In 

 6   Staff's opinion, or in your opinion, whichever -- I'm not 

 7   sure if there's any difference between Staff's opinion and 

 8   your opinion -- but are you testifying that consolidation 

 9   under the four PGA districts is preferable to maintaining 

10   the seven districts right now? 

11           A.     Yes, I am. 

12           Q.     Why is that? 

13           A.     You have one company, and they are now 

14   currently doing all the purchasing for all of the various 

15   districts.  One of the -- as part of their hedging 

16   strategy, that they're purchasing blocks of gas for their 

17   Missouri jurisdiction.  I did combine the Butler/Greeley 

18   districts into one because their primary source of gas 

19   comes from the Mid Continent Basin. 

20                  And I also proposed that the 

21   SEMO/Neelyville be combined because they do have similar 

22   pipeline.  I realize SEMO has three different pipe -- 

23   three to four different pipelines feeding it, but they do 

24   have NGP&L, which is the pipeline that feeds the 

25   Neelyville district, also feeds part of the SEMO district 
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 1   as well. 

 2           Q.     Is it significant that different pipelines 

 3   are involved in each of these different districts?  Is 

 4   that a significant factor? 

 5           A.     That was one of the factors, yes.  I also 

 6   look at the -- 

 7           Q.     I understand, but that's a significant 

 8   factor? 

 9           A.     Yes. 

10           Q.     Okay.  Is the price of gas, of the actual 

11   commodity, does it vary from pipeline to pipeline? 

12           A.     There's not much difference in the price of 

13   the transportation for each of the various districts, no. 

14           Q.     I don't think I said transportation.  I 

15   said the commodity, the actual natural gas coming through 

16   the pipeline.  Is there -- 

17           A.     Oh, okay. 

18           Q.     Does the price of the gas -- 

19           A.     I'm sorry. 

20           Q.     -- differ by pipeline? 

21           A.     You're kind of confusing me whenever you 

22   say that the price is different by the pipeline. 

23           Q.     I don't want to confuse you, so -- 

24           A.     When they purchase it -- when they purchase 

25   it from the various gas supply basins, they do have a 
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 1   price there.  When I look at the overall transportation 

 2   price itself, there's not that much difference in the 

 3   commodity part of the transportation. 

 4           Q.     You're confusing me now. 

 5           A.     Okay. 

 6           Q.     So you've got to pay -- 

 7           A.     Well -- 

 8           Q.     Hang on.  Hang on now.  Mr. Imhoff, really, 

 9   I don't want to belabor this and I want to get through 

10   this.  So let me try to work us down a path here.  For an 

11   LDC to supply gas to its customers, it has to buy the 

12   commodity from somewhere, correct? 

13           A.     Correct. 

14           Q.     All right.  Then it's got to pay to 

15   transport that commodity to its system.  Would you agree 

16   with that statement? 

17           A.     Yes. 

18           Q.     Now, that would be the transportation cost 

19   for the service, correct? 

20           A.     Correct. 

21           Q.     Now, that's separate than the commodity 

22   cost, actual buying the molecules of gas, correct?  Are 

23   they separate or are they the same? 

24           A.     Well, when you transport gas over the 

25   interstate pipeline, you have a reservation charge, which 
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 1   is the fixed charge, but you also pay a certain rate on 

 2   the commodity piece.  They do have a small volumetric 

 3   rate.  That's what was kind of throwing me. 

 4                  If you're talking about when they purchase 

 5   it from a gas supplier, I can -- since they're purchasing 

 6   it -- I'll take, for instance, Butler and Greeley.  They 

 7   are purchasing their gas from the same supply basin, so 

 8   the rates are basically the same as far as the cost of the 

 9   commodity.  Even though it's being transported over two 

10   different pipelines, they're still pulling it over the 

11   same -- they are purchasing it from the same supply basin. 

12           Q.     So one gets it from Panhandle Eastern, the 

13   other one from Williams? 

14           A.     I believe it's Southern Star, yes. 

15           Q.     Yes, it's Southern Star? 

16           A.     Yes.  I'm sorry.  Southern Star. 

17           Q.     All right.  Well I'll check on that.  So is 

18   gas that comes out of Panhandle Eastern Pipeline, does it 

19   cost the same as gas that comes out of say the MRT line? 

20           A.     It depends on the supply.  It depends on 

21   where they are purchasing -- where they are purchasing the 

22   supply of gas.  Most likely it's not because most of the 

23   gas that's flowing over the MRT Pipeline is coming down 

24   from the Gulf. 

25           Q.     So you'd agree with me that the price is 
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 1   different of -- that gas costs different amounts of money 

 2   depending on where it comes from and which pipeline it is 

 3   in, correct?  Would you agree with that statement? 

 4           A.     I would agree that -- 

 5           Q.     Do you agree with the statement, yes or no? 

 6   I don't want any more explanations.  Yes or no? 

 7           A.     Yes. 

 8           Q.     You agree or disagree? 

 9           A.     Yes, they do have different prices. 

10           Q.     Okay.  Now, explain to me how the 

11   company -- how does the company hedge or make purchases of 

12   gas when the supplies come from different places, when it 

13   has supplies coming from the Gulf, from the Panhandle, and 

14   I assume from the Rocky Mountains for a bit of -- I assume 

15   ANR Pipeline comes out of the Rocky Mountains; is that 

16   correct? 

17           A.     I don't really know for sure on that. 

18           Q.     You don't know.  Okay.  Well, tell me, how 

19   does the company hedge, how does it do its purchasing for 

20   gas that comes from different places over different 

21   pipelines going into different regions? 

22           A.     Because when they purchase blocks of gas or 

23   they're purchasing the various molecules through their 

24   various hedges, they do a -- they do have a hedging 

25   program.  They do very -- 

 

980 of 1082



0669 

 1           Q.     Do they have to have a separate hedging 

 2   program for each area? 

 3           A.     No, they do not have a separate hedging 

 4   program.  They have one overall hedging program. 

 5           Q.     Okay.  So are they buying the gas from the 

 6   same person for each of their districts, the same company, 

 7   the same companies potentially? 

 8           A.     I don't know for a fact, but I would assume 

 9   that they purchase from different companies, but they are 

10   purchasing as far -- as far as part of their portfolio, 

11   they try to get the best deal they can from wherever. 

12           Q.     I would hope that they try to get the best 

13   deal. 

14           A.     Yes. 

15           Q.     But don't they have to have a separate 

16   hedging plan for each area?  I mean, how do you hedge over 

17   even four districts let alone seven districts?  Don't you 

18   have to have a separate hedging program for each area? 

19           A.     This company does not.  They have one 

20   overall hedging program strategy, and they purchase their 

21   various blocks of gas for each individual district, but 

22   they do have an overall -- 

23           Q.     So an overall hedging plan, does that mean 

24   that, you know, they -- 

25           A.     Some of it also depends on their storage as 
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 1   well.  Some -- some of their districts they have more 

 2   storage than others.  So that is also a part of their 

 3   hedging strategy.  So they can purchase the cheaper gas 

 4   during the summer and they can put it in storage. 

 5           Q.     What I'm trying to understand, the reason 

 6   why I'm asking all these preliminary questions is that I 

 7   don't understand the entire PGA/ACA process, and I'm 

 8   trying to get a handle on why the PGA rates vary so much 

 9   from district to district.  And since we're talking about 

10   consolidating these districts and potentially causing an 

11   11 percent increase in Palmyra and Kirksville, some of 

12   these other places, I'm trying to get a handle on why 

13   their prices are the way they are right now. 

14           A.     Okay. 

15           Q.     And looking at the commodity, I think 

16   Ms. Childers said the other day that they are hedged at an 

17   $8.50 per million BTU price.  And I'm trying to understand 

18   how they could have an $8.50 price for the commodity when 

19   the gas comes from potentially three or four or more 

20   pipelines.  It comes from three pipelines in the south, 

21   two pipelines in the west, and potentially two pipelines 

22   in the northeast. 

23                  And what I'm trying to understand is, how 

24   does a hedging strategy work with seven districts and with 

25   four districts and why are the prices different?  That's 
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 1   where I'm trying to go, and I'm not getting there.  So can 

 2   you help me get there?  Do you understand what I said? 

 3   Show me some acknowledgement. 

 4           A.     I'm trying to -- 

 5           Q.     Did I confuse you? 

 6           A.     -- sort it out? 

 7           Q.     Did I confuse me? 

 8           A.     Well, I'm a little confused.  I can tell 

 9   you what the current cost of gas for each individual 

10   district as they are today, the actual cost of the 

11   commodity. 

12           Q.     So it's not accurate to say that they're 

13   hedged at $8.50 for each of their districts?  That's 

14   basically just an average or -- 

15           A.     I believe that that was an overall average 

16   from the company witness. 

17           Q.     That is a -- that is a misunderstanding on 

18   my part.  So that is helpful. 

19                  So basically there's going to be a 

20   different commodity price for gas in each of these 

21   districts, correct? 

22           A.     Yes. 

23           Q.     All right.  And then in addition to that 

24   commodity price, you've got the transportation costs? 

25           A.     Yes. 
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 1           Q.     All right.  So you've got a PGA, I think, 

 2   currently right now in Kirksville of 68.6 cents per CCF, 

 3   which I believe is the lowest of all of the systems; would 

 4   you agree with that? 

 5           A.     Yes, with the caveat that that is net of 

 6   their ACA factor. 

 7           Q.     I understand.  So they've got to probably 

 8   have a significant ACA there? 

 9           A.     Yes. 

10           Q.     Can you tell me why Kirksville has such a 

11   high ACA? 

12           A.     We've noticed with this particular company, 

13   Atmos, it's like a pendulum swing.  We go from a huge 

14   overcollection one year to a huge under collection the 

15   next year, and it's -- it's been something that we've been 

16   trying to work with the utility as far as to try to work 

17   out how they can either overestimate what their PGA rate 

18   should be or grossly underestimate what their PGA would 

19   be. 

20                  I'm -- I think that after this last session 

21   with them, I believe we have that particular problem 

22   worked out.  I'm hoping that we shouldn't see very much 

23   change in their ACA factors itself.  Some of the -- now, 

24   some of their ACA factor would be attributable to the 

25   weather because if it is warmer than normal and they try 
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 1   to hedge a certain percentage, if they don't sell those 

 2   volumes but they already purchased them, they will have an 

 3   undercollection of their gas costs itself. 

 4                  But if you would like, I could tell you 

 5   what their -- what the respective current costs of gas are 

 6   for each of the districts. 

 7           Q.     Will, let's ask that.  The northeast -- the 

 8   northeastern district, the Hannibal, Canton, Bowling Green 

 9   and Palmyra district that Staff has proposed to be 

10   consolidated, did I accurately describe the region? 

11           A.     No.  They will not be consolidated. 

12   Kirksville will still -- 

13           Q.     Did I say Kirksville? 

14           A.     -- remain by itself.  No, but -- 

15           Q.     I said Hannibal, Canton, Bowling Green -- 

16           A.     They're not changed by this either. 

17           Q.     -- Palmyra. 

18           A.     They're not changed by this either.  They 

19   currently have the same PGA rate.  So -- 

20           Q.     But they're not in the same district right 

21   now, are they? 

22           A.     Yes, they are. 

23           Q.     They are? 

24           A.     Yes, they are. 

25           Q.     Is it not true that Missouri P is Palmyra 
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 1   and Missouri U is Canton, Bowling Green? 

 2           A.     This is -- yes, but if you look at their 

 3   PGA rates, they are the same.  They were combined, oh, 

 4   gosh, it's probably been about seven or eight years ago. 

 5           Q.     I thought there were -- I thought there 

 6   were seven PGA districts, correct? 

 7           A.     The way that the tariffs are currently set 

 8   up -- I'm sorry.  It's not as easy as saying yes or no.  I 

 9   apologize for this. 

10           Q.     We notice that witnesses in this room have 

11   difficulty saying yes or no, and it's not -- I don't want 

12   to single out anybody, but there are a lot of witnesses 

13   who have trouble saying yes or no, and everything always 

14   has an explanation. 

15           A.     All right.  Well, the way the Hannibal, 

16   Canton, Bowling Green, Palmyra district is sets up, even 

17   though they have the same rates, they still have to file 

18   separate PG -- PGA rates because of the predecessor 

19   companies that were -- 

20           Q.     Because they're in a separate district, 

21   correct?  They're considered a separate PGA district, 

22   right?  No? 

23           A.     No.  No.  They -- they are classified as 

24   the same PGA rate district.  They -- 

25           Q.     So you're saying that they're not -- 
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 1           A.     Every time that Atmos files -- every time 

 2   that Atmos files their PGA rate for what's classified as 

 3   the United District, which is -- which is the Hannibal, 

 4   Canton, Bowling Green, Palmyra, it's the same PGA rate, 

 5   it's the same ACA factor.  Although when the company files 

 6   it, due to predecessor companies, they have to file them 

 7   as separate PGA tariffs, but they still have the same PGA 

 8   rate and the same ACA factor. 

 9           Q.     So there's no consolidation in northeast 

10   Missouri, nothing's changing in northeast Missouri? 

11           A.     Correct. 

12           Q.     So who is changing then, because Kirksville 

13   you're leaving alone? 

14           A.     Yes.  I am combining Butler and Greeley 

15   districts, and I am combining the SEMO with Neelyville. 

16           Q.     Okay.  Well, if Palmyra and Hannibal and 

17   all them are already included, why are Palmyra's rates 

18   going up 11 percent and Hannibal's rates are going down 

19   5 percent or whatever it is, if they're the same?  Am I 

20   wrong? 

21           A.     I don't believe that the PGA rate 

22   percent -- I mean, you might be talking about the margin 

23   rate, but not the PGA, because the PGAs are the same. 

24           Q.     I'm going to have to find my schedule. 

25           A.     I'm sorry, but... 
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 1           Q.     What schedules -- Ms. Childers, what 

 2   schedule were we on?  Is that in your rebuttal testimony? 

 3                  MS. CHILDERS:  It was in the surrebuttal. 

 4                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Surrebuttal.  I'm 

 5   looking at direct. 

 6   BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

 7           Q.     Well, since Commissioner Gaw isn't here, 

 8   I'm going to blame him for losing that. 

 9           A.     Excuse me, Commissioner.  I'm looking at 

10   this schedule, and that pertains to the margin rates, not 

11   the PGA. 

12           Q.     So to make the statement that there are -- 

13   that there are six or seven PGA districts is not accurate? 

14   There are not six -- is it six or is it seven?  Maybe it's 

15   just six. 

16           A.     It's just six, but when they file for the 

17   Hannibal, Bowling Green and Palmyra, they still have to 

18   file separate tariffs. 

19           Q.     Okay.  So the Palmyra increase for 

20   residential firm service, I'm looking at PJC surrebuttal, 

21   page 2 of 2, it says, residential firm service, Missouri P 

22   or Palmyra has increase of 8.8 percent, while in Missouri 

23   U, which an Hannibal, Canton and Bowling Green, has a 

24   reduction of 4.4 percent, that's based purely on the 

25   delivery charge change, is what you're saying? 
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 1           A.     That is correct. 

 2           Q.     Okay.  So in northeast Missouri there is no 

 3   consolidation? 

 4           A.     That's correct. 

 5           Q.     That is helpful.  Now, what is the 

 6   commodity price of -- do you know what the commodity price 

 7   is in this north-- I don't even know how to call it, the 

 8   Palmyra/Hannibal consolidated PGA district? 

 9           A.     I can tell you what the current -- I'm 

10   sorry.  I can tell you what the current cost of gas is for 

11   the Hannibal/Canton area, which does not take into 

12   consideration the ACA factor.  This is what -- 

13           Q.     Yeah.  I just want the commodity price. 

14           A.     -- they currently have.  Okay.  It is 

15   .93070 per CCF. 

16           Q.     .93070? 

17           A.     Per CCF. 

18           Q.     Kirksville? 

19           A.     Kirksville is .90290 per CCF. 

20           Q.     .9020? 

21           A.     No.  It's .90290 per CCF for Kirksville. 

22           Q.     Okay.  And then the Butler and Greeley are 

23   being combined? 

24           A.     Yes. 

25           Q.     Now, are they the same right now? 
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 1           A.     No.  Butler's current cost of gas is 

 2   .87880.  Greeley's current cost of gas is .84790. 

 3           Q.     Okay.  And then southeast? 

 4           A.     Okay.  SEMO is 1.01100 per CCF.  Neelyville 

 5   is currently at 1.01240 per CCF. 

 6           Q.     That makes sense.  That makes sense. 

 7   Ms. Childers was on the stand, was it yesterday, last 

 8   week, I don't even know when it was, and we were talking 

 9   about this, and what I didn't understand was why the PGA 

10   price, why the PGA in Butler and Neelyville, which gets 

11   their gas presumably from the same place, very similar 

12   pipelines, was higher than what Hannibal was or what 

13   Palmyra, Canton, but it's not.  The commodity price is 

14   lower. 

15                  So all these differences in the PGA are 

16   just basically messed-up ACA balances; is that correct? 

17           A.     That's correct. 

18           Q.     Now, does this -- well, whoever's being 

19   consolidated, is anybody being consol-- Butler and -- 

20           A.     Butler and Greeley. 

21           Q.     And Greeley.  So B and G are being 

22   combined? 

23           A.     That is correct. 

24           Q.     So will there be a Missouri P and U anymore 

25   after this case?  You're laughing.  This is serious stuff. 
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 1   Or will it just be called P and U. 

 2           A.     Hopefully it will just be called U, United, 

 3   which will have the Palmyra, Hannibal, Canton, Bowling 

 4   Green, which currently have the same rates anyway. 

 5           Q.     Okay. 

 6           A.     The unfortunate thing is that since they 

 7   were owned by different predecessor companies, in their 

 8   tariff book we have a PGA tariff language for each 

 9   individual one, which I would like to eliminate so we can 

10   actually make the -- 

11           Q.     Is it different? 

12           A.     No. 

13           Q.     Is the PGA language different? 

14           A.     No. 

15           Q.     Are the balances done differently? 

16           A.     No.  They are all calculated out the same 

17   way. 

18           Q.     Okay.  Well, that makes -- logically 

19   speaking, the commodity price matches up what the 

20   conventional wisdom to me would be, that Kirksville would 

21   pay -- well, that Butler and Greeley would pay the lower 

22   rate because it had the gas that's less distance to travel 

23   to get to Hannibal, and Kirksville gets its gas off that 

24   ANR Pipeline, which is probably Rocky Mountain, which is 

25   probably a little cheaper, and that SEMO and Neelyville 
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 1   have the most expensive gas because it comes from the 

 2   Gulf. 

 3                  Now, those statements, are those accurate 

 4   statements, do you think?  Did I accurately characterize 

 5   those prices? 

 6           A.     The way the prices are set today, yes. 

 7           Q.     Now, is the Staff making recommendations 

 8   for any other changes in the PGA/ACA process, aside from 

 9   consolidating Butler and Greeley and Neelyville? 

10           A.     Other than eliminating the repetitive PGA 

11   tariff language for each individual section. 

12           Q.     So no, so basically they're just being 

13   consolidated? 

14           A.     Correct. 

15           Q.     Butler and Greeley are similar.  Who gets 

16   the increase?  Does that mean that Greeley gets a slight 

17   increase by consolidating Butler and Greeley? 

18           A.     Yes, they will. 

19           Q.     Okay.  And then who gets -- is SEMO and 

20   Neelyville, are you consolidating anyone there or am I 

21   making that up? 

22           A.     No, no.  I am consolidating the SEMO and 

23   Neelyville. 

24           Q.     Who gets the increase there? 

25           A.     Actually -- 

 

992 of 1082



0681 

 1           Q.     Looks pretty close? 

 2           A.     Yeah.  You're talking .0014 cents per CCF. 

 3   So it's -- you really can't calculate it. 

 4           Q.     Okay. 

 5           A.     I figure that if you had an individual 

 6   in -- actually, Neelyville would see a very slight 

 7   decrease, and the SEMO customers won't even realize it 

 8   because of the difference in size of the district. 

 9           Q.     Are the PGA and ACA balances, are the 

10   problems with overcollection and undercollection because 

11   of the number of filings that Atmos does on an annual 

12   basis? 

13           A.     I think that's part of it.  I think they 

14   wait -- it could be that they may wait too long to file if 

15   they were in a large undercollection, or if they're in a 

16   large overcollection, maybe they wait too long.  I'm not 

17   exactly sure.  there could be a number of circumstances. 

18           Q.     Okay.  We got to where I wanted to go.  We 

19   just took a different path than what I thought we were 

20   going to take. 

21           A.     I'm sorry it took so long. 

22           Q.     No.  That's quite all right.  We've been 

23   here a long time. 

24                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, Tom. 

25                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Commissioner 

 2   Gaw, you didn't have any questions? 

 3                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  I'll pass. 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there further 

 5   cross-examination based on those from the Bench from 

 6   Atmos? 

 7                  MR. FISCHER:  Just briefly, your Honor. 

 8   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 9           Q.     Mr. Imhoff, would you agree that the cost 

10   and benefits of Atmos' hedging program are allocated 

11   throughout the company's service area in Missouri? 

12           A.     Yes, I would. 

13           Q.     And would you also agree that the Staff's 

14   consolidation proposal is actually quite modest, what 

15   you're really doing is moving the two smallest areas like 

16   Rich Hill into Butler and Neelyville into the SEMO area? 

17           A.     I'd agree with that, yes. 

18           Q.     And Kirksville isn't being changed because 

19   it's on ANR, where the Hannibal/Canton is still on 

20   Panhandle Eastern?  It's really a pipeline issue there, is 

21   that the reason the Staff is keeping those separate? 

22           A.     That's the main reason, yes. 

23           Q.     And if I told you that ANR Pipeline 

24   actually is served out of Mid Continent but might be 

25   connected to the Rocky Mountain region, would that sound 
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 1   consistent with what your understanding might be? 

 2           A.     Yes, it is. 

 3                  MR. FISCHER:  I think that's all I have. 

 4   Thank you. 

 5                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there further 

 6   cross-examination from Public Counsel? 

 7                  MR. POSTON:  No questions. 

 8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any redirect? 

 9                  MR. REED:  No, thank you. 

10                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right, then. 

11   Mr. Imhoff, I believe what conclude your testimony, and 

12   you may be excused from this hearing. 

13                  Do you think it's still possible to get 

14   Dr. Murry on the phone at this point? 

15                  MR. DORITY:  Yes, ma'am. 

16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Let's take a three-minute 

17   break, long enough to set up the phone and get him on the 

18   line.  Go off the record. 

19                  (AN OFF-THE-RECORD DISCUSSION WAS HELD.) 

20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  We've returned to 

21   the record.  We have Dr. Murry on the telephone.  And, 

22   Dr. Murry, you were sworn in the other day in this 

23   proceeding, and I'll just remind you that you remain under 

24   oath. 

25                  THE WITNESS:  I understand. 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Some of the 

 2   Commissioners have questions for you, and so I will turn 

 3   it over to Commissioner Gaw, do you have -- or did you 

 4   want Commissioner Clayton? 

 5                  COMMISSIONER GAW:  Pass to Commissioner. 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Clayton? 

 7                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, Judge. 

 8   DONALD MURRY, Ph.D., testified as follows: 

 9   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

10           Q.     Dr. Murry, thank you very much for being 

11   available.  This is Robert Clayton.  I'm one of the 

12   members of the Commission.  Can you hear me? 

13           A.     Yes, I can. 

14           Q.     Hopefully we're not bothering you at too 

15   exotic a location here today. 

16           A.     No.  That's fine.  I understand. 

17           Q.     Good.  I wanted to ask you a handful of 

18   questions that I tried to dictate to my staff upstairs 

19   while I was out of town for the hearing, and I think it 

20   was suggested that maybe it would better -- that I was 

21   dictating too many questions and that maybe I ought to ask 

22   them myself.  So I appreciate you being available. 

23                  First of all, I just wanted to ask a few 

24   basic questions.  You're from Oklahoma, Dr. Murry? 

25           A.     Yes.  I live in Oklahoma, and I also live 
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 1   in Florida.  I'm here at the Oklahoma City office, 

 2   University of Oklahoma. 

 3           Q.     Okay.  And do you consult strictly for 

 4   natural gas utilities or do you consult for all utilities? 

 5           A.     I consult for natural gas utilities and 

 6   also some electric utilities, some cooperatives, and I 

 7   work for other groups as well -- 

 8           Q.     Okay. 

 9           A.     -- over the time. 

10           Q.     Okay.  It is my understanding -- well, let 

11   me ask you this:  Your analysis in this case suggested 

12   what return on equity for Atmos Energy? 

13           A.     I recommended 12 percent as a -- actually, 

14   I recommended a range of 11 and a half to 12 and a half, 

15   but I recommended 12 percent as a recommended return. 

16           Q.     Okay.  And were there any unique 

17   characteristics for Atmos that caused you to make that 

18   recommendation? 

19           A.     Yes, I'd say there were a number.  Of 

20   course, I applied the DCF and CAPM analyses.  I looked at 

21   returns of comparable companies, and the returns of 

22   comparable companies were running in the 11 and a half 

23   range.  But Atmos has a very low equity ratio relative to 

24   most gas distribution companies in today's market, 

25   including comparable companies that I reviewed. 
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 1   43 percent equity is really quite low, a lost cost total 

 2   cost of capital as well. 

 3                  The return for Atmos has been relatively 

 4   low to the industry and to the comparable companies I 

 5   analyzed. 

 6           Q.     When you say the return, you mean -- 

 7           A.     The return to common stock that they've 

 8   been earning recently.  I think -- I think my schedule has 

 9   them at 9 percent currently, and the -- my Schedule 6, I 

10   guess, has an estimated return of 8.5, and I think now 

11   it's up to -- I think it's at 9 percent by my 

12   recollection, but that's not in my schedule. 

13           Q.     Were there any unique causes for that 

14   particular return that you identified in your analysis? 

15           A.     No, I guess I couldn't -- I couldn't 

16   identify specifically.  It might be a -- I mean, I would 

17   be speculating to say that.  I think it's possible it has 

18   to do with the -- with the impact of bringing together the 

19   two companies, the Texas company into the company.  So 

20   there may be some effects that are not necessarily 

21   Missouri regulatory effects that have brought it down. 

22                  But the return in 2005 was 8 and a half 

23   percent according to ValueLine.  2004 it was 7.6 percent. 

24   So in the last several years Atmos has been relatively low 

25   in the industry as far as returns are concerned. 
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 1           Q.     Would you agree that in part that was due 

 2   to weather fluctuations or do you think it's other factors 

 3   primarily? 

 4           A.     I guess I have no reason to believe it was 

 5   due to weather.  I can't say it was not. 

 6           Q.     You just don't know.  That's okay. 

 7           A.     I really can't say that I know, but I have 

 8   no reason to believe it was weather. 

 9           Q.     Are you aware of how many states -- excuse 

10   me.  I'm sorry, Doctor. 

11           A.     No.  I'm sorry.  I couldn't hear that. 

12           Q.     Are you aware of how many states Atmos 

13   provides LDC natural gas service at this time? 

14           A.     I believe it's -- I believe it's 12, but 

15   I'm not positive.  It's in that general number. 

16           Q.     Did you do a comparison of the authorized 

17   returns in the other 11 states in which Atmos has a 

18   presence? 

19           A.     No, I didn't for this particular case. 

20   I've been familiar in the past, but I don't -- I can't 

21   recall exactly what the other returns are that have been 

22   allowed in other states. 

23           Q.     Have you testified for Atmos in other 

24   states, in other -- 

25           A.     Yes, I have. 
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 1           Q.     -- rate cases in other states? 

 2           A.     Yes, I have. 

 3           Q.     What were your recommendations for return 

 4   on equity in those other states for Atmos? 

 5           A.     It's been in the general -- generally in 

 6   the same range.  I think it's been in the 11 and a half, 

 7   11 and three-quarters, 12 percent range, depending on 

 8   circumstances in that particular state, often the capital 

 9   structure. 

10           Q.     How many -- and in how many states would 

11   you have -- have you testified on behalf of Atmos, would 

12   you say? 

13           A.     Well, over the years I've testified in a 

14   number of states.  I'm sure it's been close to six, eight 

15   or more. 

16           Q.     Okay.  And in those six to eight, would 

17   you -- would you believe that your recommendations for ROE 

18   have been in that 11 and a half to 12 and a half range? 

19           A.     Well, I think -- I would think that's been 

20   consistent in the last -- in the last couple of cases, the 

21   last few years, last two or three years, but I think going 

22   back it's probably been lower than that because interest 

23   rates have been moving up in the last two years, and I 

24   don't recall specifically. 

25           Q.     So there was a time when you recommended a 
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 1   lower ROE in one of Atmos' states? 

 2           A.     I can't -- I can't say that for certain, 

 3   but I think that's probably true. 

 4           Q.     Okay.  So considering that you just in 

 5   recent years, if we focus on your recent testimony, that 

 6   your recommendations have been between 11 and a half and 

 7   12 and a half in the states where you've recently 

 8   testified, does that -- can I take from that the inference 

 9   that the specific characteristics of the system in each 

10   state plays very little into the analysis of what the 

11   return on equity ought to be in a given territory? 

12           A.     No, I don't think so.  I think -- I think 

13   there obviously is an overall risk to the company that 

14   obviously using another word, I guess, spills from one 

15   state to the other or would affect jurisdiction.  I do -- 

16   I did testify recently in Texas, and I recommended 

17   11.75 in Texas, and the difference there is the capital 

18   structure in Missouri is a very low capital structure, and 

19   that's why I think 12 percent's more appropriate. 

20           Q.     Okay. 

21           A.     But I think the characteristic of the state 

22   definitely has a bearing, but there are characteristics of 

23   the state -- of the company overall, such as its bond 

24   rating, it does raise money on the national markets, of 

25   course, and those risk factors affect the company wherever 
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 1   it is. 

 2           Q.     Wherever it is.  So you believe that 

 3   Missouri's a more risky state than Texas to do business? 

 4           A.     I'm not referring to the business risk 

 5   particularly.  I do think that the capital structure in 

 6   Missouri is very low, and so in that sense, I think one 

 7   has to take it into account in selecting allowed return. 

 8   There is that difference. 

 9           Q.     Are there any other elements of risk that 

10   would be greater in Missouri than in, say, Texas, other 

11   than capital structure? 

12           A.     I don't know that I can identify any that I 

13   think I'd uniquely relate to Missouri.  I think in the 

14   past the weather adjustment may have been a bigger issue 

15   in Missouri, but I understand that's proposed in this -- 

16   in this case, and so that -- that may have been mitigated 

17   because of the proposal in this case. 

18           Q.     Does the 12 percent recommendation that 

19   you've made, does that take into consideration weather 

20   volatility and problems with weather normalization in 

21   Missouri? 

22           A.     I think -- I think it does.  My view of the 

23   of the weather normalization issue, as I pointed out in my 

24   rebuttal, most gas distribution companies now have some 

25   kind of a vehicle for dealing with that, but I'm not 
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 1   persuaded that variability is, in fact, a risk, because if 

 2   you look at most of the weather proposals, they have an 

 3   upside and a downside mitigating factor. 

 4                  So on one hand it removes the risk of a 

 5   very cold winter from the ratepayers, but on the other 

 6   hand, of course, it removes the risk of a very warm winter 

 7   from the company and the stockholders.  What that has done 

 8   essentially is collapsed the distribution of likely 

 9   possible outcomes going forward.  It doesn't move the 

10   expected value in the eyes of an investor. 

11                  And so just reducing the variability I 

12   don't think is an important risk factor.  I can't say some 

13   people wouldn't consider it a factor they want to 

14   consider.  But if you think about it, unless it changes 

15   the expected return to an investor, it probably doesn't 

16   affect the investor's willingness to invest, if you will. 

17   And so the -- so just collapsing that distribution itself 

18   is not necessarily a reduction in risk. 

19                  I think it's probably -- I think it's 

20   advantageous, but I think it's advantageous both to the 

21   company as well as the stockholder -- or as well as the 

22   ratepayer, and it probably means the company doesn't have 

23   to spend so much money on short-term borrowing.  It 

24   probably reduces some of the operating issues the company 

25   might have in maintaining a revenue stream and balancing 
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 1   with its gas requirements. 

 2                  So I think there's probably some benefits, 

 3   but those should flow through on a cost to the company as 

 4   well. 

 5           Q.     Well, I appreciate that.  I want to go back 

 6   to a statement where I thought you said that there was a 

 7   component of the 12 percent return on equity that took 

 8   into consideration weather normalization problems in 

 9   Missouri, and maybe I misheard you on that. 

10           A.     I said in the past.  I felt like in the 

11   past Missouri was a Commission -- or that Missouri had 

12   more difficulty in flowing through fuel costs on the 

13   electric side.  That was in the literature.  I look at 

14   things that investors might be aware of, not trying to be 

15   judgemental on my own, just saying that I know that was an 

16   issue in some financial literature.  And I think there's 

17   been a question of the recovery of gas costs.  I thought 

18   that might be important in Missouri.  I don't -- 

19           Q.     I'm sorry, Dr. Murry.  How does recovery of 

20   fuel costs relate to the analysis of the ROE on Atmos? 

21           A.     It doesn't at all.  No, it doesn't at all. 

22   I just said that was a matter that was in financial 

23   literature.  It doesn't affect Atmos at all. 

24           Q.     Okay.  I was just -- I wasn't sure how -- 

25   okay.  So I think you also mentioned that an investor's 
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 1   going to look at the amount of revenue that is coming in 

 2   to the company to ensure that there will be a sufficient 

 3   return to -- return on common stock.  I'm not sure if I 

 4   heard that properly, but I thought I heard you say that 

 5   the revenues of the company were very important in 

 6   determining what a return on equity ought to be. 

 7           A.     I'm not sure exactly what that question 

 8   pertains to.  I don't remember exactly that sentence.  But 

 9   yes, revenues, of course, are important to an investor. 

10           Q.     And we've talked a lot about weather, but 

11   would you not agree that the rate design that's been 

12   proposed by the Staff would completely remove weather as 

13   any sort of risk factor for the shareholders in this case? 

14           A.     I'm not sure I'd say -- I'm not sure I'd 

15   say completely. 

16           Q.     Well, tell me how weather would -- 

17           A.     It certainly mitigates it, as I understand 

18   the proposal. 

19           Q.     Tell me how weather would play any role on 

20   the revenues of the company if this rate design is 

21   adopted. 

22           A.     Well, it would affect the amount of sales. 

23           Q.     But if sales aren't dependent for the 

24   company's delivery costs, then why would weather make a 

25   difference? 
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 1           A.     I'm not sure that -- I'm not sure to the 

 2   extent it would, the way you used it, and I said I'm not 

 3   positive it removes all of it.  It has a factor, of 

 4   course. 

 5           Q.     Could you give me an example of where 

 6   weather would play a factor? 

 7           A.     If it changes the sale, if it changes the 

 8   sales and the adjustment of the -- of the cost of gas, it 

 9   may affect the company's short-term borrowing and some of 

10   its operating costs, and I don't know whether -- I can't 

11   say that it does.  I can't say that it doesn't.  But the 

12   volumetric piece fluctuates, as I understand the proposal, 

13   and I haven't studied the proposal in great detail. 

14           Q.     Do you think the proposal is -- 

15           A.     I understand there's a straight fixed 

16   variable proposal. 

17           Q.     So there's no variable, there's no 

18   volumetric pricing for the distribution costs; is that 

19   your understanding of the rate design? 

20           A.     I just understood it was a straight fixed 

21   variable rate design.  That's all I understand. 

22           Q.     A straight fixed variable.  I thought it 

23   was a straight fixed delivery charge without any variable 

24   component. 

25           A.     I think -- I think the delivery charge is 
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 1   in the fixed component. 

 2           Q.     100 percent of it's in the fixed component, 

 3   correct? 

 4           A.     That's my understanding, yes. 

 5           Q.     Okay.  So if 100 percent is in a fixed 

 6   charge, how does weather affect the revenues of the 

 7   company under this type of rate design? 

 8           A.     If I understand the rate design correctly, 

 9   there is a change in the volumetric sales. 

10           Q.     I don't think that's correct. 

11           A.     Okay. 

12           Q.     Have you -- have you been given an 

13   opportunity to review the rate design that's been 

14   proposed? 

15           A.     I have not looked at the rate design in 

16   detail, no. 

17           Q.     Okay.  Would a rate design -- so you 

18   haven't done any analysis on the effect of the rate design 

19   on what -- what the impact would be on revenues and 

20   correspondingly what the return on equity ought to be for 

21   common equity? 

22           A.     I have not considered whether this rate 

23   design would have an appreciable effect upon the -- upon 

24   the cost of equity. 

25           Q.     I'm sorry.  Would you repeat that for me? 
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 1           A.     I said I've nod made a detailed analysis of 

 2   the effect of the rate design upon the cost of equity. 

 3           Q.     So then if the Commission were to adopt 

 4   this rate design, then would you agree that it would be 

 5   inappropriate to adopt your recommendation for return on 

 6   equity because you haven't taken into consideration that 

 7   factor in the case? 

 8           A.     No, I don't think I would go that far.  I 

 9   pointed out in my testimony, I thought the total range 

10   that's relevant was 11 and a half to 12 and a half, and I 

11   would -- and I think that if the Commission should adopt 

12   that, it certainly would be appropriate to go to the low 

13   end of my range. 

14           Q.     So is there any rate design that -- any 

15   rate design that would be available that would cause you 

16   to reevaluate the overall range? 

17           A.     I would have to know the specific rate 

18   design, I think. 

19           Q.     How about if the company were -- 

20           A.     Excuse me.  I looked at financial issues, 

21   and such things as the coverage ratio is still very thin 

22   given this capital structure, and I think those are -- I 

23   think that's a more important issue than the rate design 

24   issue is the amount of coverage for the interest. 

25           Q.     Is it an important factor when determining 
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 1   a return on equity percentage to look at the stability of 

 2   the revenues and the lack of volatility of the revenues of 

 3   a company?  Is that an important factor? 

 4           A.     No.  I've already -- that's in my direct 

 5   testimony, and I said that earlier.  I don't think the 

 6   volatility of revenues is very important to investors.  I 

 7   think the expected return is important to investors. 

 8           Q.     Okay. 

 9           A.     And let me give you an example.  Let me say 

10   it this way.  If you have a stock that was -- you expected 

11   it to trend upward but it was highly volatility, that 

12   would probably be a stock that you prefer over stock that 

13   was trending downward that was not volatile, let's say it 

14   just went straight down and followed a trend line 

15   perfectly.  But the alternative would be a stock that's 

16   going up, but it's volatile.  You'd probably prefer the 

17   stock going up that's volatile over the one going down. 

18                  So the reason, that tells you there's 

19   something more to risk than volatility.  That's my point. 

20           Q.     Okay.  So it would be your testimony that 

21   the -- that the rate design that's been proposed by the 

22   Staff really isn't that important financially speaking? 

23           A.     I think it probably -- no.  I think it 

24   probably is, because the weather is being captured -- as I 

25   understand, the weather variability is being captured in 
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 1   the fixed portion, and I said that I think it would 

 2   probably justify going to the low end of my range or 

 3   making some consideration, but I don't think it's a major 

 4   consideration.  25 basis points, 50 basis points at the 

 5   most would be in the rate design. 

 6           Q.     I know you're a financial witnesses, but 

 7   wouldn't this -- this type of rate design tend to shift 

 8   more risk to ratepayers than to shareholders?  Would you 

 9   agree with that statement? 

10           A.     I don't -- I don't see how it does.  I know 

11   that's -- I know some people would contend that, and let 

12   me explain.  As an economist, I look -- I look at a 

13   straight fixed variable rate, and I go back to when FERC, 

14   I guess originally maybe even FBC, but FERC certainly 

15   started looking to this sort of rate design.  The 

16   intention was treating it more as a market efficiency rate 

17   design, a market efficient rate design as opposed to one 

18   that would shift any kind of risk. 

19                  I don't see how it can shift risk to 

20   ratepayers if the ratepayers are, in fact, benefiting 

21   because they're no longer exposed to a very cold winter. 

22   They are benefiting from that as well as -- they also 

23   don't have -- they have less volatility in their payments 

24   as well.  So I think there are benefits on both sides. 

25           Q.     I didn't think volatility was important. 
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 1           A.     What's that? 

 2           Q.     I didn't think volatility was important. 

 3           A.     I don't think it's as important -- I'm 

 4   talking about to the investor.  I don't think it's that 

 5   important to the investor.  I think vol-- the point is, 

 6   there may be some investors who think it's important, but 

 7   I'm trying to tell you, risk is much more complicated than 

 8   that, and I don't think there's any question about that. 

 9   Decrease in volatility does not necessarily remove risk. 

10           Q.     So in your analysis of the company, if you 

11   were looking at this company, it doesn't make any 

12   difference in how we -- how we -- how we design the rate 

13   structure or it matters very little, is that a correct -- 

14           A.     I think -- no.  I think the rate structure 

15   is very important.  Now I'm speaking as an economist 

16   dealing with rates and the signals they send.  Let me 

17   speak to the concept of a straight fixed variable.  The 

18   way the economic literature speaks to it, and what I think 

19   was why FERC started looking to it, you look to providing 

20   the service of a customer even if they don't take any 

21   service. 

22                  That supposedly rich couple leaves the 

23   country and tours during the winter and they have no 

24   consumption.  They should still be charged for the 

25   connection to their -- to their domicile, and they should 
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 1   pay for that fixed cost of making that connection.  And 

 2   there's no -- and that's a very fair charge. 

 3                  On the other hand, if a person uses a lot 

 4   of gas and spreads those costs over a long period of time, 

 5   they should pay for that volumetric service.  You sort of 

 6   think of this -- you sort of think of this as two 

 7   different products, if you will, and they're being priced 

 8   separately. 

 9                  And that's kind of an economic efficient 

10   way to look at this kind of rate design, and I think -- I 

11   think most economists look at it that way.  You're 

12   capturing the fixed costs in one component, and you're 

13   capturing the variable costs pretty much in the other 

14   component, and then the people make the right economic 

15   decision because the signals are captured in those two 

16   separate components. 

17                  And, you know, I've taught this in graduate 

18   seminars on rate design, and I think as an economist 

19   that's the way I would look at it.  So I think the rate 

20   design is very important, but to an investor, I don't 

21   think it is as important as it probably should be from a 

22   policy standpoint of rate design. 

23           Q.     When you make your recommendation for the 

24   12 percent, are you a wearing an economist's hat or are 

25   you wearing a different hat? 
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 1           A.     Well, I guess it's partially economist's 

 2   hat, but I think it's more a financial economics -- 

 3           Q.     So you basically -- 

 4           A.     -- than a micro-economist. 

 5           Q.     Basically you've worn two hats in your 

 6   testimony here today? 

 7           A.     Well, I'm trained as an economist and as an 

 8   area in finance, and I guess I merged the two. 

 9           Q.     Do you get to charge twice for that? 

10           A.     No, I don't, unfortunately. 

11           Q.     You ought to look into that. 

12                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, 

13   Dr. Murry. 

14                  THE WITNESS:  Sure. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you, Dr. Murry.  Is 

16   there any additional cross-examination based on those 

17   questions from the Staff? 

18                  MR. REED:  I'm sorry.  From Staff?  Yes. 

19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 

20   RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. REED: 

21           Q.     Dr. Murry, can you hear me? 

22           A.     Yes, I can. 

23           Q.     With the straight fixed variable rate 

24   design, which part of the customer's bill is fixed? 

25           A.     Excuse me? 
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 1           Q.     Which part of the customer's bill is fixed 

 2   and which part is variable? 

 3           A.     Well, traditionally the fixed portion is 

 4   based on capacity, the ability to -- the requirement to 

 5   serve.  Let me put it that way.  If you follow those -- 

 6   the logic that I was presenting in treating it as a two 

 7   component charge, an economic efficient argument, the cost 

 8   associated with being able to serve and standing by to 

 9   serve would be the fixed portion, and the variable portion 

10   would be the portion based on how much you use, and that 

11   would be true for any utility. 

12           Q.     Are weather mitigating rate designs in 

13   other states designed to collect the company's fixed 

14   costs? 

15           A.     Have to look -- have to look at the 

16   individual, individual rate designs.  Are you referring to 

17   weather?  I want to make sure I'm following the question. 

18           Q.     I'm asking about the weather mitigating 

19   rate designs in other states.  Does that make sense? 

20           A.     Yes, I think it does.  And let me say that 

21   I can't say -- I think you know I've not made a study of 

22   all other weather rate designs in all other states, but 

23   I've looked at a number.  I looked at some in relation to 

24   this case, and I looked at others, and I can't cite 

25   specifically any that have, but I can say with certainly 
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 1   that the various weather mitigating rate designs are 

 2   very -- they vary over a wide range that I view, and they 

 3   seem to have a lot of different components and different 

 4   approaches. 

 5           Q.     Dr. Murry, has it been your experience in 

 6   other states that an adjustment is made to ROE when a 

 7   weather mitigating rate design is put in place? 

 8           A.     I can't cite a specific example, but I 

 9   think the answer is undoubtedly yes, in some states. 

10                  MR. REED:  That's all I have. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

12   anything further from Public Counsel? 

13                  MR. POSTON:  No questions. 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Is there any redirect? 

15   REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

16           Q.     Dr. Murry, this is Jim Fischer representing 

17   Atmos.  I just wanted to clarify, when you were talking 

18   about the capital structure varying from state to state, 

19   is it true that Atmos uses a consolidated capital 

20   structure and what you were talking about was the capital 

21   structure that might exist depending on a specific test 

22   year involved in a case? 

23           A.     It might be based on different test years, 

24   yes, and different circumstances of the company.  For 

25   example, the recent acquisition in Texas reduced equity 
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 1   ratio a great deal, which is the one being used in this 

 2   case.  So a capital structure in a prior period of time or 

 3   one that did not recognize the debt that was used for that 

 4   acquisition, capital structure would be quite different, 

 5   even though it was the capital structure of the company as 

 6   a whole. 

 7           Q.     And I believe you mentioned that many 

 8   companies have some sort of weather mitigation measure. 

 9   Did you look at some of those in your surrebuttal 

10   testimony? 

11           A.     Yes, I did.  I spelled those out in my 

12   surrebuttal testimony. 

13           Q.     Okay.  I believe you looked at seven out of 

14   eight of those that the Staff had in their comparables, is 

15   that right, that had a weather mitigation measure of some 

16   sort or a revenue stabilization measure? 

17           A.     That is correct.  Of the eight companies 

18   that were in the Staff witness', Mr. Barnes' testimony, 

19   seven had some weather mitigation -- 

20           Q.     And if I understood what you -- 

21           A.     -- component. 

22           Q.     If I understood what you were saying in 

23   answer to Commissioner Clayton, you view volatility, the 

24   risk of weather as greater to the consumer than it really 

25   is to the investor; is that right? 
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 1           A.     That the volatility affects the consumer 

 2   more than the investor? 

 3           Q.     Yes. 

 4           A.     Yes, I think -- I think it doesn't affect 

 5   greatly because it doesn't change the expected returns. 

 6   It reduces the volatility, but it doesn't increase the -- 

 7   or decrease the expected returns.  It increases the range. 

 8           Q.     That would be because cold weather means 

 9   higher bills if more costs are recovered in the volumetric 

10   charges; is that what you're saying? 

11           A.     That's correct. 

12                  MR. FISCHER:  I think that's all I have. 

13   Thank you. 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Thank you 

15   again, Dr. Murry, for being available. 

16                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Can I ask a 

17   question? 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Oh, I'm sorry. 

19                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I hate to do this. 

20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Commissioner Clayton wants 

21   to ask one more. 

22   FURTHER QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

23           Q.     Dr. Murry, just on that last question, I 

24   understand the concern about fluctuations of volatility 

25   for a customer, but also the problem with the return on 
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 1   common stock that you suggested was a problem for Atmos, 

 2   that could also be blamed on warm winters, could it not? 

 3           A.     Of course it could. 

 4           Q.     So that would be added risk to the company 

 5   that an investor would consider; would you agree with 

 6   that? 

 7           A.     Of course investors would consider it, 

 8   sure. 

 9           Q.     So warmer weather and fluctuations in 

10   weather from that standpoint are greater risk for an 

11   investment; you'd agree with that statement? 

12           A.     A series of warm winters is a risk to 

13   investors, a series of winters that would be very warm 

14   back to back or something, so anomalous winter is a risk 

15   to the investor. 

16                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you. 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there any 

18   additional cross-examination based on the Commissioner's 

19   last question? 

20                  MR. REED:  No. 

21                  MR. POSTON:  No. 

22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Any redirect? 

23                  MR. FISCHER:  No, your Honor. 

24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Thank you, 

 

25   Dr. Murry, again for being available, and you may be 
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 1   excused. 

 2                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you very much. 

 3                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  We'll sign off.  Thank you. 

 4                  Okay.  Commissioner Clayton has a few 

 5   questions related to customer service issues, and so we're 

 6   going to ask Ms. Kremer to come forward even though she 

 7   didn't -- wasn't scheduled to be a witness.  Have her come 

 8   forward, and then we'll wrap up the remaining issues. 

 9   There were no additional questions on the other issues, 

10   but I want to make sure we got all the parties' questions, 

11   and so we'll run through those things after we finish with 

12   Ms. Kremer, and then I think we'll be able to conclude. 

13                  (Witness sworn.) 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Let's see.  I 

15   don't believe we've had Ms. Kremer's testimony, prefiled 

16   testimony put in the record yet, have we? 

17                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  So if I wouldn't 

18   have called Ms. Kremer, you-all wouldn't have put her 

19   testimony in the record? 

20                  MR. REED:  We'd have caught it at some 

21   point. 

22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's part of what we're 

23   going to do after we finish with her.  Go ahead, Mr. Reed. 

24                  MR. REED:  What number is it, Judge, 

25   because I don't have the chart? 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  It's No. 122, 123HC, 124 

 2   and 125. 

 3   LISA A. KREMER testified as follows: 

 4   DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. REED: 

 5           Q.     Ms. Kremer, are you the same person who 

 6   caused to be recorded or documented the testimony and 

 7   exhibits No. 122, 123, 124 and 125? 

 8           A.     Yes. 

 9           Q.     Do you have any changes or corrections to 

10   that? 

11           A.     I do, a couple of small changes.  In my 

12   direct testimony, on page 19, line 7, FY should just be 

13   calendar year instead of fiscal year.  And then in our 

14   supplemental report, this is in the HC portion of that 

15   report, page 6, but I think I can make this correction 

16   without needing to go in-camera.  But it's the second 

17   sentence there, the word a should be at. 

18           Q.     Any others? 

19           A.     No, sir. 

20                  MR. REED:  At this time, Judge, I'd move 

21   for admission of Exhibit 122 through 125. 

22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Would there be 

23   any objections to those exhibits? 

24                  (No response.) 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, then I will 

 

1020 of 1082



0709 

 1   receive Exhibits 122, 123HC, 124 and 125 into the record. 

 2                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 122, 123HC, 124 AND 125 WERE 

 3   RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE.) 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And I'm going to skip any 

 5   cross-examination and go straight to the Commissioner's 

 6   questions, and then you'll -- if you have any 

 7   cross-examination, you can add that at that point. 

 8   Commissioner Clayton. 

 9                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Thank you, Judge. 

10   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

11           Q.     Ms. Kremer, thank you for being patient 

12   here today, sticking around.  I know the hour's late, so 

13   I'll be brief. 

14                  You filed testimony relating to customer 

15   service performance; is that correct? 

16           A.     That's correct. 

17           Q.     Okay.  And you found some deficiencies in 

18   customer performance associated with this company; is that 

19   correct? 

20           A.     Yes, sir. 

21           Q.     Could you just briefly summarize those 

22   deficiencies? 

23           A.     Primarily in the area of call center 

24   performance.  Back in GM-2000-312, when Atmos purchased 

25   the Associated Natural Gas properties, we as a condition 
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 1   to that merger set out some customer service measures for 

 2   their call center with respect to abandoned call rate and 

 3   average speed of answer, and we've been monitoring the 

 4   company.  The company has been providing us quarterly 

 5   reports, like many utilities do. 

 6                  And in 2004 and 2005 we noted some 

 7   deviation from those metrics where the company was not 

 8   quite meeting what they had indicated that they would.  So 

 9   we've been trying to send some inquiries to Atmos.  Over 

10   the course of the last couple of years, performance would 

11   improve and then dip down again, and we just felt that it 

12   was incumbent upon us to go ahead and file testimony in 

13   this case, indicate this to the Commission. 

14                  We've asked for monthly reporting from 

15   Atmos instead of quarterly, with will give us an 

16   opportunity to monitor a little more carefully.  We've 

17   asked them to formalize a disaster recovery plan because 

18   they've indicated that that's part of the reason that 

19   their performance declined.  Metarie, Louisiana was hit by 

20   Hurricanes Katrina and Rita.  They also indicated that the 

21   higher natural gas prices had increased call volumes 

22   coming into the center, and so they couldn't meet those 

23   metrics. 

24                  We think the monthly reporting will help, 

25   them formalizing their disaster recovery plan, and then we 
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 1   have a commitment from Atmos that they fully expect to be 

 2   in compliance with the metrics in 2006.  We've seen an 

 3   increase in staffing to their call center, which is a good 

 4   indication to us. 

 5                  So I think we're on -- I think we're on 

 6   track, but we just wanted to send -- really I guess to put 

 7   the Commission on notice that we've been concerned and 

 8   also with the company. 

 9           Q.     Now, when you found those performance 

10   metrics, did you do any study of the consumer complaints 

11   that have come through the consumer services department? 

12           A.     Yes, sir, we did. 

13           Q.     Is that where -- now, is that in addition, 

14   complaints or problems in addition to what you've already 

15   testified about or are they one and the same? 

16           A.     Let me recall what we actually did here. 

17   We did a couple of things because we had gotten an order 

18   from the Commission probably a couple of months ago that 

19   identified three questions that the Commission wanted us 

20   to ask, and part of those questions I think included 

21   looking back at customer complaints for a period of 

22   approximately two and a half years, which we did. 

23                  We also, when we filed our direct 

24   testimony, we did look through customer complaints, I 

25   think it was 2005 going forward, just to see were any 

 

1023 of 1082



0712 

 1   customers complaining about call center performance. 

 2                  And what we did was actually read through 

 3   all of the documentation on each of those complaints.  And 

 4   we did find a few, and then we also sat in and listened to 

 5   the local public hearings in Kirksville and in Sikeston, 

 6   and we heard some remarks on call center performance. 

 7                  So I hope that answers your question, but 

 8   yes, we know that some customers have expressed concern 

 9   about getting through to the call center. 

10           Q.     Did you find any other problems or patterns 

11   aside from people just upset with the price of gas? 

12           A.     Well, yes, we did.  I think there -- there 

13   were several concerns identified with customers not 

14   seeming to understand how the company's budget bill 

15   program worked.  And so in rebuttal testimony we kind of 

16   presented that information, and Atmos has committed again 

17   on that, we actually have a Nonunanimous Stipulation & 

18   Agreement with Atmos, and we've asked them to do some 

19   things with respect to budget bill education of their 

20   customers, also better training for their call center reps 

21   to understand how Missouri's budget bill program works, 

22   and they've again committed to doing these things. 

23           Q.     Okay.  Also filed in this case there was a 

24   J.D. Power survey.  Did you have a chance to review that? 

25   I thought I filed it. 
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 1           A.     Commissioner Clayton, I'm not sure if I 

 2   looked at that or not in this case, I have seen those 

 3   surveys.  I'm just not sure if I've looked at that.  That 

 4   was filed in this case, the Atmos case? 

 5           Q.     I thought I had filed it.  I wanted to get 

 6   it -- I wanted to get it in the record, because I didn't 

 7   want to surprise anyone.  basically it just had a 

 8   general -- it had a generating of natural gas companies on 

 9   customer service or at least on customer opinions. 

10           A.     Okay. 

11           Q.     And Atmos rated underneath the average, and 

12   I wanted, I guess, your -- and since you didn't look at 

13   it, you can't do this, but I wanted your opinion on what 

14   something like that would mean in customer service 

15   performance analysis. 

16           A.     And forgive me.  I vaguely remember seeing, 

17   but I'm not sure if that's something that I got from Atmos 

18   in the context of a data request response.  I may have 

19   that in my -- may I have just a moment and let me look 

20   through? 

21           Q.     If you don't have it, don't worry about it. 

22   I've got one more witness I've got to talk to. 

23           A.     Okay.  All right.  I didn't find it in my 

24   data requests. 

25           Q.     Didn't find it? 
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 1           A.     Didn't find it, but that seems -- 

 2           Q.     I filed it in advance.  Plenty of notice 

 3   for parties to see it.  Anyway, the gist of the filing, it 

 4   was something that I received in the mail and it was from 

 5   J.D. Power.  It had the rankings of certain companies, and 

 6   it broke them into regions, and the southern region, for 

 7   some reason Atmos was included in that region, and then it 

 8   had rankings of out of 900 or 1,000 points, and it started 

 9   off at the top, so and so had 900.  It worked down for an 

10   average of around 600 points or something, and then Atmos 

11   was a few slots underneath that. 

12                  I didn't know if you had any experience 

13   with surveys of that type, whether there was any -- 

14   whether there was any guidance or information we could 

15   take from it to improve customer service or whether those 

16   things are simply not helpful. 

17           A.     Well, I know a little bit about J.D. Power 

18   surveys.  It's my understanding -- and Pat can correct me 

19   if I'm wrong on this -- that companies usually pay to 

20   participate in those surveys.  Typically, though, from a 

21   staff's perspective, there can be value in those types of 

22   surveys, but a lot of times encourage the companies to 

23   perform their own surveys of their own customers and try 

24   to determine some level of satisfaction with that. 

25                  We know that Atmos has done customer 
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 1   surveys in the past.  I don't know if they're currently 

 2   doing that or not.  But I know that in 2001, I believe in 

 3   2000 they were doing customer surveys. 

 4           Q.     Well, Ms. Kremer, are you -- will your 

 5   involvement with customer service performance end with 

 6   Atmos at the conclusion of this case? 

 7           A.     Do you mean just that -- 

 8           Q.     Is there any monitoring going forward? 

 9   Will you be working with the company to ensure -- 

10           A.     Yes. 

11           Q.     -- that they follow through with their 

12   commitments? 

13           A.     Yes, sir.  In fact, right now the last -- I 

14   guess the last six years or so, we've had quarterly 

15   reporting from Atmos.  So we've been able to monitor them 

16   I would say fairly carefully.  And attached somewhere -- 

17   well, let's see if that was in my direct testimony.  I 

18   believe it was.  You will see some mention of a number of 

19   inquiries going back and forth to them over the course of 

20   a couple of years asking them, you know, what are the 

21   reasons for the decline in performance, what are you doing 

22   about it, their responses about increased staffing and so 

23   on. 

24                  And the monthly reporting will just let us 

25   do that a little more carefully.  It will give us a 

 

1027 of 1082



0716 

 1   quicker response time.  When we see a decline in 

 2   performance, we can send some inquiries at a quicker rate 

 3   than they we currently can quarterly. 

 4                  So absolutely, we'll be monitoring them. 

 5   We also plan to verify that the things that they've 

 6   committed to do in the Stipulation & Agreement they do. 

 7   In probably three to six months we'll be asking them.  If 

 8   we haven't received their disaster recovery plan, we'd 

 9   like to get a copy of that.  We'd like to know what 

10   improvements they're making to their call center, you 

11   know, getting back to the disaster recovery plan, the call 

12   scripting, you know, what are customer reps instructed to 

13   tell customers when there's a period of heavy call volume. 

14           Q.     So the answer to the question is no, your 

15   involvement will not end, you'll have ongoing -- 

16           A.     You're right. 

17           Q.     -- ongoing discussions and oversight for 

18   the future? 

19           A.     Yes, sir, you're right. 

20                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Judge, I don't have 

21   any other questions.  Ms. Kremer, thank you very much for 

22   being here tonight. 

23                  THE WITNESS:  You're welcome. 

24                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Would there be 

25   any questions for Ms. Kremer from Atmos? 
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 1                  MR. FISCHER:  Just a couple. 

 2   CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FISCHER: 

 3           Q.     Ms. Kremer, the company has accepted your 

 4   recommendations in this case; is that right? 

 5           A.     That's correct. 

 6           Q.     And those are embodied in the Partial 

 7   Nonunanimous Stipulation & Agreement that we filed earlier 

 8   in the case? 

 9           A.     That's correct. 

10           Q.     Okay.  Let's see.  I think Public Counsel, 

11   Staff and the company are all parties to that.  Is that 

12   your understanding? 

13           A.     Yes, sir. 

14           Q.     And in the response that you filed related 

15   to customer complaints at the Public Service Commission, 

16   if I look at service quality, it looks like you had no 

17   service quality complaints in 2006 and four in 2005 -- 

18   this would be on page 1 of your Staff response -- and 

19   eight in 2004? 

20           A.     That's correct. 

21           Q.     Okay.  Does it surprise you that a company 

22   that suffered through a couple hurricanes would have more 

23   call volume than others? 

24           A.     It doesn't surprise me, Mr. Fischer. 

25   Again, I make the point, as I attempted to do in direct, 
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 1   that it wasn't just -- I think we were noticing a decline 

 2   in performance even prior to the hurricanes.  So the 

 3   company indicated the higher natural gas prices as being 

 4   one reason for that.  The addition of Mississippi Valley 

 5   Gas into the system increased the call volume. 

 6                  So certainly those hurricanes, we can 

 7   understand that, and the higher natural gas prices, but 

 8   we -- what we're saying now, barring any unforeseen 

 9   natural disasters, performance should improve on a 

10   going-forward basis. 

11           Q.     And Atmos is committed to that? 

12           A.     That's right. 

13                  MR. FISCHER:  Thank you very much. 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you.  Is there 

15   anything from Office of Public Counsel? 

16                  MR. POSTON:  No, thank you. 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Staff? 

18                  MR. REED:  No. 

19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Thank you, Ms. Kremer.  And 

20   I believe Commissioner Clayton had some questions on the 

21   same topic for Ms. Childers. 

22                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Could I just ask her 

23   from back there?  Is that all right?  I think she's sworn 

24   in. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's fine. 
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 1                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  Don't you have a mic 

 2   back there.  There's no need to come up.  Mr. Fischer, you 

 3   don't want to have too good of cross on this subject, all 

 4   right?  You're doing an awfully good job there. 

 5   PATRICIA J. CHILDERS testified as follows: 

 6   QUESTIONS BY COMMISSIONER CLAYTON: 

 7           Q.     Ms. Childers, I think you were the first 

 8   witness I talked to at the beginning of this case, and 

 9   presumably you're going to be the last, I think, also, 

10   mercifully so. 

11           A.     Yes, sir. 

12           Q.     You've seen the filings that I had made in 

13   this case relating to customer service? 

14           A.     Yes, sir, I have. 

15           Q.     And you've also been to Hannibal and you 

16   saw where no one -- one person showed up to testify? 

17           A.     Yes.  I was at all those local meetings. 

18           Q.     Knocked the wind out of my big customer 

19   service stuff because no one showed up in Hannibal, right? 

20           A.     That's correct. 

21           Q.     But I did file some things that suggested 

22   that there were problems in customer service.  I've also 

23   heard suggestions that there are problems because of calls 

24   going to a call center versus a local number being 

25   available, and I know that there are economics of -- that 
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 1   just don't make it feasible to have a local number. 

 2                  What I wanted to ask you is, is Atmos 

 3   wiling to take steps to try to cure whatever deficiencies 

 4   that may be out there even if they may not be so great 

 5   to -- that have been suggested by others? 

 6           A.     Yes.  For example, reporting the metrics 

 7   monthly and notifying the Staff when we have higher call 

 8   volumes, staffing levels.  Ms. Kremer has never been shy 

 9   about calling the company when she's seen the metrics 

10   decline, and we welcome her inquiries and will continue to 

11   try to improve our customer service, yes. 

12           Q.     What is your response to that survey that 

13   was filed?  Have you ever seen that before? 

14           A.     I have.  We -- I'm hooking at the -- I 

15   don't know that the page is numbered, but where we appear 

16   low in the customer satisfaction study on the south 

17   region, we compare favorably when you look at us in 

18   comparison to the other Missouri LDCs. 

19           Q.     I think all Missouri LDCs were below the 

20   average, I think. 

21           A.     Yes, I'm familiar with it. 

22           Q.     Do you believe that suggests a problem or 

23   do you believe that you-all just should have saved your 

24   money and not gotten in the survey? 

25           A.     I think these results can always be 
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 1   beneficial.  You can certainly see where the trends are, 

 2   and I think what we can do is we can inquire about some of 

 3   the other companies that seem to perform better than us. 

 4   So we like to participate in these surveys.  It's 

 5   sometimes very telling. 

 6           Q.     Well, the only thing I will say is that the 

 7   problems that I've heard both in this case and in a prior 

 8   life and before the case seem to be problems with lack of 

 9   communication being made between the call center employees 

10   and the people who call in or perhaps a lack of 

11   understanding or unwillingness to understand the problem. 

12   Utility bills always seem to hit home very close for 

13   certain folks. 

14                  Some of the problems that I've seen should 

15   have been handled and perhaps they could have just been 

16   handled better and they never would have gone beyond where 

17   they were.  I'm sympathetic to the concerns in Metarie. 

18   My roommate in college is from Metarie and lived in 

19   Houston for six months after the hurricane.  So I'm well 

20   aware of the problems that they had down there. 

21           A.     We can always do a better job, and 

22   certainly we can provide the customer more information and 

23   committed to do so on our budget billing process, and we 

24   can do better scripting for our call center reps as well. 

25                  COMMISSIONER CLAYTON:  I appreciate that, 
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 1   and I appreciate your comments here this evening.  And 

 2   mercifully, I have no other questions. 

 3                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

 4                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be anything 

 5   from Staff on this topic for Ms. Childers? 

 6                  MR. REED:  No. 

 7                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Office of Public Counsel? 

 8                  MR. POSTON:  No. 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Atmos, any redirect? 

10                  MR. FISCHER:  No, thank you. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  Commissioner 

12   Clayton, I believe, indicated he didn't have any other 

13   questions on the other topics.  So let me just run through 

14   a couple things and make sure what we have and haven't 

15   covered.  I can't recall if myself or Commissioner Appling 

16   asked questions of Ms. Meisenheimer on rate of return or 

17   return on equity and if I gave adequate opportunity for 

18   recross-examination and redirect.  Does anybody know that 

19   they have anything that I missed on that? 

20                  MR. DORITY:  No, Judge. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I will assume that I 

22   just didn't check it off my list. 

23                  We did not actually get Ms. Childers on the 

24   stand with regard to the PGA consolidation.  Was there any 

25   cross-examination for her on that topic?  I attempted to 
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 1   ask her some questions, I think, out of turn.  Okay. 

 2   There's no cross-examination on that topic. 

 3                  The same with Ms. Meisenheimer.  Well, I 

 4   think she was cross-examined on that.  Was there adequate 

 5   opportunity on district consolidation for recross and 

 6   redirect?  Did that get covered? 

 7                  MR. DORITY:  Yes, Judge, from our 

 8   standpoint. 

 9                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

10                  MR. POSTON:  We're okay. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Just wanted to make sure. 

12   It got a little confusing.  I wanted to make sure. 

13                  Okay.  So I have that we covered, then, all 

14   of the topics and recovered all of the topics.  Is there 

15   any issue or any witness that anyone feels that they 

16   failed to get an adequate opportunity to question? 

17                  (No response.) 

18                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, then let's 

19   move to the exhibits that we haven't yet introduced. 

20   Atmos? 

21                  MR. DORITY:  Your Honor, we would 

22   understand that the testimony of Atmos witness Gary Smith, 

23   which comprise Exhibits 2, 3 and 4, have been offered and 

24   received.  The testimony of Patricia Childers, being 

25   Exhibits 5NP, 5HC, 6 and 7 have been offered and received. 
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 1                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 

 2                  MR. DORITY:  The direct testimony of Robert 

 3   Kerley, Exhibits 9NP and 9HC, offered and received.  The 

 4   direct testimony of Michael Ellis, Exhibit No. 10, was 

 5   offered and received.  The direct testimony of James 

 6   Cagle, Exhibits 11NP and HC, was offered and received. 

 7   And the direct and surrebuttal testimony of Donald Murry, 

 8   Exhibits 14 and 15, were offered and received. 

 9                  At this time Atmos would offer the direct 

10   testimony of John Paris, Exhibit No. 1; the direct 

11   testimony of Laurie Sherwood, Exhibit No. 8; the direct 

12   testimony of Thomas H. Petersen, Exhibit No. 12; the 

13   direct testimony of Daniel Meziere, Exhibit No. 13; the 

14   direct testimony of Donald Roff, Exhibit No. 16; the 

15   direct testimony of Ronald Edelstein, Exhibit No. 17; and 

16   the direct testimony of Rebecca Buchanan, Exhibit No. 18. 

17   And it's my understanding that Exhibit No. 19, the LIHEAP 

18   schedule that Mr. Smith offered -- I'm sorry -- sponsored 

19   has been offered and received.  I believe that's all of 

20   the exhibits that I'm showing for Atmos. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That is the same that I 

22   have.  Would there be any objection to those exhibits that 

23   have just been offered? 

24                  MR REED:  No objection. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  No objection. 
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 1                  MR. POSTON:  No objection. 

 2                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, then I will 

 3   receive those exhibits into evidence. 

 4                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 1, 8, 12, 13, 16, 17 AND 18 

 5   WERE WAS RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE.) 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Then Staff, do you have 

 7   additional -- I have that your exhibits 100 through 125 

 8   have been admitted, and that we still have not admitted 

 9   126 and 127HC, which are the testimony of Dan Beck, 127, 

10   which is also Dan Beck, 129 through 136, which are -- is 

11   it Began, Began, Gray, Hagemeyer, Hanneken, Lock, Meyer, 

12   Warren and Wells.  Are you offering those at this time? 

13                  MR. REED:  I would, Judge, move for 

14   admission of all those exhibits you just mentioned. 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

16   objection be Exhibits 126 though 136? 

17                  MR. POSTON:  I didn't hear you mention -- 

18   did you mention 128, Daniel Beck? 

19                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Yes. 

20                  MR. POSTON:  Okay.  No objections. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing no objections, I 

22   will receive those into evidence. 

23                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 126 THROUGH 136 WERE RECEIVED 

24   INTO EVIDENCE.) 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  And we also -- I believe we 
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 1   got all of Office of Public Counsel's exhibits in, with 

 2   the exception that when Ms. Meisenheimer was testifying 

 3   and she had the work papers of Staff, I would like to mark 

 4   those as -- give them an exhibit number so that because 

 5   they were referred to, I don't necessarily -- I'm not 

 6   asking you to offer them.  Just I would like, though, to 

 7   get copies of them and mark them as an exhibit number just 

 8   so that the record is complete. 

 9                  MS. MEISENHEIMER:  I have it.  I can run 

10   copies now if that would be convenient. 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  You can provide them later. 

12   What I will do is reserve an exhibit No. 143.  That wasn't 

13   offered, but I'm just -- I'll let you-all decide what to 

14   do about that. 

15                  MR. POSTON:  Your Honor, I'll go ahead and 

16   offer that exhibit. 

17                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  I'm going to -- I'm 

18   going to have you -- I'm going to allow you to take a 

19   chance to review it when we actually get the copies and 

20   make any objections later on that.  So I will note that 

21   it's been offered, and I will set a time for objections to 

22   that and also to the large study that was Exhibit 139. 

23                  MR. DORITY:  Your Honor, what was the 

24   exhibit on the work papers? 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  The work papers I'm going 
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 1   to mark as Exhibit No. 143. 

 2                  MR. DORITY:  Thank you. 

 3                  MR. REED:  And, Judge, I think there's 

 4   another exhibit we may want to put into that category. 

 5   Yesterday I think Commissioner Clayton had asked some 

 6   questions of Ms. Ross about information from other states, 

 7   which we have available now, and so I would need an 

 8   exhibit number for that and would move for admission of 

 9   the exhibit.  I can distribute that to the parties, and 

10   then if an objection is -- 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Let's do that.  I'll mark 

12   that as Exhibit No. 144. 

13                  MR. REED:  How many copies do I need for 

14   the Bench? 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  You need six for the Bench 

16   and one for the court reporter.  And I'll just call that 

17   the response of Ms. Ross to questions from the Bench. 

18                  (EXHIBIT NO. 144 WAS MARKED FOR 

19   IDENTIFICATION BY THE REPORTER.) 

20                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I will set a time for 

21   responses to all of those exhibits. 

22                  JUDGE REED:  And, Judge, I think there's 

23   additional information coming that will be part of Exhibit 

24   No. 144, which we'll distribute as soon as we can. 

25                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay.  So this is Part 1 of 
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 1   144.  Part 2, still to come. 

 2                  Okay.  The other exhibits that haven't been 

 3   entered into the record, I actually excused Mr. Fulton 

 4   with Noranda before he had an opportunity to offer his 

 5   exhibits. 

 6                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, on behalf of my friend 

 7   Mr. Fulton, I would move for the admission of his exhibit. 

 8                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Would there be any 

 9   objection to Exhibits 400, 401 and 40? 

10                  (No response.) 

11                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing none, I'll receive 

12   those into the evidence. 

13                  (EXHIBIT NOS. 400, 401 AND 402 WERE 

14   RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE.) 

15                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  All right.  The other thing 

16   that we -- that I want to get cleared up on the record is 

17   I have reserved dates for a true-up hearing, but it's my 

18   understanding that the parties do not believe that a 

19   true-up is necessary in this case; is that correct? 

20                  MR. FISCHER:  Yes. 

21                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Okay. 

22                  MR. REED:  That's right. 

23                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  That's what Mr. Berlin told 

24   me the other day.  All right, then.  I will cancel that 

25   reserved hearing dates for the first week in January, I 
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 1   believe.  We'll also need to set a briefing schedule, but 

 2   I'm not going to do that here tonight.  It will probably 

 3   be just a standard one-round briefs. 

 4                  MR. POSTON:  Judge, I believe you'd ordered 

 5   a 30-page limit.  Is that still in play? 

 6                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  I did order a 30-page page 

 7   limit.  If anyone believes that they need more than 30 

 8   pages, they're welcome to ask permission to file a larger 

 9   Brief.  I assure you that I will be fairly lenient in 

10   those requests. 

11                  MR. FISCHER:  Judge, I had on my calendar 

12   that that date had already been set.  I might be wrong 

13   about that.  January 12th, does that -- 

14                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  For the Briefs? 

15                  MR. FISCHER:  For the Briefs, yeah. 

16                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Excellent.  Then I won't 

17   have to do that.  I'm just making sure I got everything. 

18   That is everything on my list that I believe we still 

19   needed to accomplish.  Does anyone have anything further 

20   this evening? 

21                  (No response.) 

22                  JUDGE DIPPELL:  Seeing nothing further, I 

23   believe that conclude the hearing and we are adjourned. 

24   Thank you. 

25                  WHEREUPON, the hearing of this case was 
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